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a separatist movement comparable to the Spanish ETA or the militant factions
of the IRA that some years ago were able to strike targets on a recurring basis
all over Spain and the United Kingdom, respectively. There is a bleeding
insurgency going on in Balochistan at present but the Baloch guerrillas have
kept their ambit of activities confined to their province thus far.

In psycho-ideological terms, however, the Pakistan nation has been fed,
since the early twenty-first century, on propaganda that a grand conspiracy
hatched by Hanud-Yahud-Ansara (Hindus, Jews, and Christians) exists. In a
nutshell, the argument is that since Pakistan is the only Islamic nation that
possesses nuclear bombs, it is on the hit-list of all those forces hell-bent on
reducing Muslims to subjugation and slavery, and thus subverting the
triumph of Islam in all the nooks and corners of the world. Such an idea is
extremely tempting to anyone who believes in the eternal conflict between
Dar-ul-Islam and Dar-ul-Harb.

? Indeed, conspiracies against Pakistan may exist, but it can also be a self-
fulfilling prophecy. What cannot be denied, however, is that most, if not all,
acts of violence and terrorism that spill blood in Pakistan are home-grown.,
Home-grown terrorism, in turn, comprises different factions and groups with
anti-minority, anti-women, and patently sectarian and sub-sectarian agendas.e
Since at least December 2003, when an assassination attempt was made on
General Pervez Musharraf, Pakistani officials and government installations
and buildings, including those of the armed forces, have been the objects of
vicious terrorist, attacks by home-grown extremist organi tions‘on the
grounds that by joining the Bush administration’s so-called ‘war on terror,
the Pakistani rulers have betrayed global jihad."

Home-grown terrorists cannot possible hit targets all over society without
some help and assistance from rogue elements within the security and
military forces, both serving and retired. Therefore, defeating the real or
imaginary conspiracy against Pakistan requires that home-grown terrorist
cells and networks are uprooted and destroyed.

* It is possible that if Pakistan can successfully deal with terrorism at home,
and learns to behave responsibly in the regional and international domains,
the perecived international detractors of Pakistan can be'persuaded to change
their attitude towards it. After all, Pakistan is a nuclear power and it is never
going to be easy to treat it unfairly if it is willing to adhere to the rules of the
game, which apply under international law in regard to relations between
states. On the other hand, the constant violation of the rules of the game by
a state is a sure recipe for conspiracies to be plotted against it by those who
feel threatened by it. It is, of course, not as simple as that but more or less this
is how states behave in the international arena. There are very few permanent
friends and permanent enemies in the international system of states.

 Pakistan's geostrategic location has, in the past, been appreciated narrowly
in military and security terms by both the Pakistani power elite and the major
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powers and superpowers. In this study, the military and security aspect is
dealt with at great length! However, one can change the focus to more
lucrative ends as well. The twenty-first century is being celebrated as the
Asian Century. Actually, the Asian Century began to gestate in the 1960s and,
ironically, Pakistan was one of the earliest beneficiaries. In the first half of
the 1960s, its economy performed so well that it won admirers in several
Southeast Asian countries which studied its industrial planning and later
became engines of economic growth.

It all started, however, farther away in East Asia. Japan, ravaged and
destroyed during the Second World War, rose from the ashes to become the
paragon power-horse of industrial and economic development in the early
1960s. From the 1970s onwards, several Southeast Asian countries embarked
upon a transformation that earned them the title of ‘Asian Tigers. China
followed suit in the 1980s, and it is now the second largest power of the
world. India jumped onto the bandwagon of economic development in the
1990s and has been performing impressively. It seems that the movement of
economic growth and development in Asia is following a westerly direction;
now, it is Pakistan's turn to benefit from it.

¢ Pakistan's ideal geographical location qualifies it to partake in the new
opportunities that are currently available. Nations have to seize the moment
that history, or rather the historical moment, offers“that moment seems to
be now for Pakistan. Pakistan’s cultural and religious links with West Asia
and Central Asia can be(enviable/assets, especially with regard to the
emerging Central Asian republics where the situation is of a virgin nature.
Pakistan's professionals, semi-skilled and unskilled workers can be mlereslmg
for many markets in Central Asia. Admittedly, the situation in Afgh
is currently bad, and Iran and Saudi Arabia are hurdles to the normali tion
of politics in the Persian Gulf, but that is not necessarily the situation in
Central Asia. Therefore, Pakistan need not wait for some ideal or optimal
situation to some lbouL It can decide to opt out of ideological politics in
favour of enli For such to succeed, a
needs to be done within Pakistan. In this inquiry, those problematic aspects
are identified and analysed in an historical perspective. This study covers the
events till the end of December 2011.

One thing needs 1o be noted with regard to the references from
newspapers: | have referred to their online editions. They are easily accessible
in the archives maintained by the newspapers on the Internet.

Ishtiaq Ahmed
Sollentuna (Greater Stockholm)
9 September 2012
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The Fortress of Islam: A Metaphor for
a Garrison State

This study seeks to solve the following puzzle: in 1947, the Pakistan
military was poorly armed and lacked the infrastructure and training
needed to function as an effective branch of the state. It was not directly
involved in politics. Over time, not only has it become a middle-range
power possessing nuclear weapons, it has also become the most
powerful institution in the country with de facto veto powers over
politics. How and why did this happen and what were its consequences?
The clues are to be found in a unique mix of real and imagined
existentialist threats to Pakistan, and the nature of international politics
in which the emerging bipol rivalry between the United States of
America and the former Union of Soviet Socialist Republics was
exploited by the Pakistani rulers—civil and military—to market
Pakistan as a frontline state against the latter in the hope that the former
would supply them with the weapons needed to offset the advantage
India cn;oycd over it in terms of size, resources, and other such facmrs
liti and their factionali
conflict and mslab:lny whnle the civil servants, and later lhe military,
came to represent stability. Additionally, a lack of clarity on national
identity drove Pakistan towards a search: for an Islamic identity that
should alse be democratic. However, over time, this acquired more and
more dogmatic features and fund: list overtones. The convergence
of such external and internal factors created the metaphor of Pakistan
being a fortress of Islam.

1 first heard the phrase ‘fortress of Islam| in relation to Pakistan, at
the end of 2001 or early 2002 when more than a million Indian and
Pakistani troops were amassed on their mutual international border as
well as the Line of Conlrol in the divided Jammu and Kashmir state.
This d ilization had been provoked because some
lmhlants. allegedly linked to Pakistan, atmnpted a daring attack on the




Indian Parliament while it was in session. The terrorists failed to entet
Parliament House but six policemen, one civilian, and five raiders were
killed in the shootout. The Indian government was furious, and the
Indian media and political parties reacted with great revulsion to the
atrocity and called for revenge. Another war between the two major
South Asian nations seemed imminent. All-out war between the two
nuclear powers would have rendered large parts of the subcontinent
uninhabitable for thousands of years. Bill Clinton observed that, in case
of a nuclear war between the two rivals, India could wipe out 120
million of Pakistan’s 170 million population but not before 500 million
of its own citizens were annihilated (Jha 2009).

Dressed in full military attire, with all his medals pinned on smartly,
General Pervez Musharraf addressed the Pakistani nation on national
television. He assured the people that their armed forces were fully
prepared to face any threat or aggression from India. In doing so, he
used the expression ‘Pakistan Islam ka gila hai’ (Pakistan is the fortress
of Islam)] That struck me as peculiar since Musharraf generally avoided
Islamist jargon but, on that occasion, took recourse to what the Islamists
and ult: ionalists had been cultivating for a long time: that Pakistan
represented a superior military tradition, historically and contem-
poraneously, though as far as the latter part of the claim was concerned
it was quite unwarranted given the history of India-Pakistan armed
encounters. Had war broken out, it would have been the fifth military
confrontation between the two countries since August 1947—when
both gained independence as a result of the partition of British India.
From its very inception, Pakistan has been beset by the question of
security: India has been identified, historically, as the villain of the
piece, and Afghanistan its sidekick if ruled by hostile forces demanding
a redrawing of the Afghani Pakistan border. Indeed, the feeling of
being beleaguered is imperative in order to construct a strong and
‘formidable’forttess—a ‘garrison; the Pakistahi‘cstablishinént staked its
dominant position in Pakistani society by prioritizing security and
defence.

Now, the metaphor ‘fortress of Islam’ carries multi-layered
connotations in both Urdu and English. Musharraf had most likely used
it to underline the Pakistan military’s role as the core element in the
composition of a fortress. A gila, or fortress, includes not only the
armed soldiers but also those who live inside it and perform multifarious
civilian tasks and functions and thus itute a viable ity. It
is, ipso facto, a garrison community, vigilant and armed to defend and
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assert its independence, to thwart aggression, and to carry out punitive
actions against enemies. Simultaneously, a garrison is also an outpost
of a state, kingdom, or empire. Historically, garrison towns were set up
by empires to guard their frontiers. In fact, empires themselves
represented proto-garrison states (Yong 2005); during the Cold War,
garrison states emerged as part of the global contest between the United
States and the Soviet Union.

Pakistan became a beneficiary of lhe(Cold War military contest
between the two rival superpowers, the United States and the Soviet
Union, by aligning militarily with the former. The initiative to solicit
the United States’ help came from the Pakistani power elite, both civil
and military. Initially, the Americans were not keen as the focus was

on Western Europe, and the United States was involved in building
an alfiance in that theatre, It was d with the lish
of the North Atlantic Tre-ty Organization (NATO). However, relentless
lobbying by Pakistan finally convinced the Americans/to co-opt
Pakistan into their worldwide strategy, to contain the spread of Soviet
communism.)The fact that Indian Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru
decided not to align with either of the superpowers (Ganguly 2010: 1-2)
inadvertently helped Pakistan's case for co-optation by the United States
in its policy of containing communjsm. It began with a first consignment
of armament in 1951, followed byfformal military alliances in 1954°and
1959. During the 1960s, that alliance became more or less dormant as
_lstrust and misgivings emerged between the two sides.
~“Consequently, Pakistan sought to develop a strategic understanding
with China, which in turn had strained relations with India. Later,
furtherl diversification of dependence)was attempted by Pakistan—on
Saudi Arabia. The three donors represented very different ideologies:>
the United States as the leader of the capitalist-liberal world China as
the challenger to Soviet domination within the
and Saudi Arabla as the leader of Islamic fundamentalism. The
Communist takeover of power in Afghanistan in 1978, the capturing of
power by the Shiite Ayatollahs in Iran, and the arrival of the Red Army
W:lm vigorously revived the Paki l.lhlpcc This time
, a very prominent Saudi and a significant, though less visible,
Chinese partnership was informally added to that alliance. While the
United States and Clum were in it because of an overriding anti-Soviet
lgmdn the United States joined forces with Saudi Krabia to contain the
spread of Iranian millenarian islam as well. All three donors could
realize their objectives via Pakistan. This created a situation that the
~—




Pakistani power elite tried to exploit to its advantage: to what extent it
succeeded in that endeavour will be assessed in the course of this
investigation. v

Suffice it to say that at least from the 1980s onwards( hawkish
Pakistani military officers began to nurture a vision of Pakistan that
went beyond the confines of the territorial nation-state) Along with
hard-core Islamists, the hawks began to imagine Pakistan as a great,
expansive, regional power extending to western and central Asia and a
liberated Kashmir free from Indian occupation. More ambitious
projections of such an ambition were about Pakistan serving as the
launch pad for a worldwide jihad (holy war) to restore the caliphate that
once represented Muslim power in world politics but had been in
decline since at least the nineteenth century. That caliphate had been
abolished in 1924by the Turkish reformer Mustafa Remal Ataturk. It is
important to note that such pan-Islamist ambitions began to be
nurtured in a world order that no longer permitted military expansion
and empire-building.

Pan-Islamism_was, therefore, incongruent with the post-Second
World War world order based on the presumption of the legal equality
of all states. Territorial ambiguity was to be eliminated and replaced by
states with clear demarcation of their boundaries. In reality, however,
the international system lacked a chain of command comparable to the
structure of power and authority within states. Rather, the international
system represented global and regional asymmetries of power. The two
superpowers—the United States and the Soviet Union—and several
major powers, middle-range powers, small states, and banana republics

p d scope for and dj Such an international
system was anarchic, ithstanding the p p of a stable
world order.

The worldwide Islamist revival in the wake of the Afghan jihad
tendered Pakistan wa key player in the imoginatior of those Muslims
seeking the creation of an Islamic super-state in southern, central, and
portions of western, Asia as preparatory to the resurrection of the
universal caliph C quently, a possible ion of the
metaphor about the fortress of Islam could be that not only did such
forces aspire that Pakistan should be an independent sovereign state,
both militarily vigilant and strong, but also a champion ready to take
on any threats faced by the universal Muslim Ummah. Whether this
was sheer bluster on the part of Musharraf, or delusion on the part of
the wider Islamist and ultra-nationalist lobbies in Pakistan, or a serious
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assertion of the role they wanted to ascribe to Pakistan in regional and
world politics is beside the point. In political terms, such imagination
ascribed a deeper ideological connotation to the ‘fortress of Islam’. "
‘That trend has grown over time and acquired virtually pathological
di ions. With few excepti porary Pakistani talk shows
churn out such images as variations on the ‘fortress’ theme many times
a day. Right-wing political pzies and leaders, as well as journalists,

revel in peddling such images( Pakistani textbooks are replete with the

glorification of Muslims who defeated Hindus in the pasT, as well as the

of sp PP ly won by Pakistan over
Indta on the battlefield since 1947. (At the core is the emphasis on
maintaining a powerful military. Such fmilitaristic imageryhas, over
time, #arned ‘Pakistan ihe reputation of being the t’}l‘;nlre of
i al te .7a rogue .and similar sensational
Jescriptions. That such grand visions of[liiiﬁrr){ t
ifagined while Pakistan largely remained an underdeveloped and poor
nation, nowhere near the take-off stage of economic transformation as
an ‘industrial and military power that could susiain regional or
‘worldwide jihad, was indicative of the profound hold that an idealized
pastcould exercise to generate delusions of grandeur. ~ ’

PAKISTANI ANALYsTS ¥

Ayesha Jalal (1990), Hasan-Askari Rizvi (2000, 2003), Husain Haqqani
(2005), Hassan Abbas (2005), Ahmed Rashid (2009), Zahid Hussain
(2008), and Shuja Nawaz (2008) have produced empirically rich studies

® /on the rise of the military as the most powerful institution in Pakistan.
" In reality, it is the very large Pakistan Army that calls the shots; the air
force and the navy are much smaller forces. Such L ism has been
panied by the appropriation of a sub I chunk of the meagre

#aaree reasurces of the poor and underdeveloped country by Its armed
fofces. Thus, Tor exariiple, a 12 per cént hike in expenditure on defence
Fas been included in the budget Tor 2011-TZ. Raja Muhammad Khan
fas argued that despite the increase; it is a deciine in military spending
from 2.6 per cent for 2010-11 to 2.4 per cent of the GDBf He argues
that while threats to Pakistan's existence continue to be posed by India}
which ha{constm(ly been modernizing its armed forces and greatly
increasing spending on them—$34 billion as compared to Pakistan’s
$5.57 billion— Pakistan's economy cannot sustain an arms race and
therefore must Tnstead focus on maintaining a credible deterrent
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(meaning nuclear weapons and missile technology) (Khan 2011).
Ahmad Faruqui (2003) has made a similar recommcndation.)
emphasizing a smaller but better trained and equipped army.

It is to be noted that in March 2011, the Stockholm International
Peace Research Institute (SIPRI) described India as the largest importer
of arms in the international market (SIPRI, 14 March 2011). From the
Pakistani point of view, it meant a helghlencd threat from India; hence
the emphasis on security and so also the
increasing expenditure it entails. However. defence spending needs to
be put into perspective by relating it to spending on health and
education{In 2009, Pakistan spent 23.1 per cent on defence, and only
1.3 per cent on health and 7.8 per cent on education. In comparison,
India spent 18.6 per cegMon de{ence. 3 4 per cent on health, and 12.7
per cent on maintain a balance
between defence and dc\clcm_m or welfare Spending: many
déveloping countries are able to do the same (Visual Economics 2010).Y
However, this is not true of Pakistan and India—though the latter has
a much bigger economic base to support its defence expenditure. Both
are guilty of gross neglect of the basic social and economic rights of
their citizens. However, while the Indian economy has becn performing

) impressively for several years, this is not true for Pakistan,, In the third
annual report, released by the Lahore-based Institute of Public Policy
on | June 2010, it was noted that the Pakistan economy was in a terrible
shape. The authors noted, ‘Of prime concern is the near total breakdown
in the delivery of basic public services like power, gas and water’ (IPP's
Third Annual Report 2010: 3).'The ruling class pays little or no tazes,
especially the powerful landowners, while enjoying luxury, privileges,
and perks (ibid.). It is the urban middle and lower-middle classes that
have to cope with no respite from the soaring heat during the summers;
it is industry that remains at a standstill during the frequent load-
shedding, thus exacerbating the abject .poverty, illiteracy. and. discase
afflicting huge portions of the population.

Mazhar Aziz’s (2008) point of dep: in explai the d
of the Pakistan military is institutional theory and the concomitant
path-dependency it entails. The argument is that if civil institutions arc
not firmly anchored in the polity, the state apparatus represented by the
military and civil bureaucracy come to dominate the political system.
Such domination means the military manages the civil affairs of the
state as well. As a result, civil institutions suffer diminution of authority
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and fail to entrench. Once that happens, a path is established that the
polity later follows.

Ayesha Siddiqa has propounded a political economy basis to explain
the domination of the military. She developed a framework, deriving
from Hamza Alavi's notion of a post-colonial state, in which she has
demonstrated that the political economy of the military’s so-called
institutional interests in actual practice means control by senior military
officers over vast economic and financial sources lhrough ownership of
agricultural land, real estate, busi and ind | ises. Such
control over the economy means that even when the mlhlary is not
directly in power, the higher officer class is able to wield enormous
influence in Pakistani politics. Thus, the higher military officers’
interests become institutional interests and are conflated with the
interests of the nation. She has estimated that the legally acquired assets
of the generals vary from Rs 150 to 400 million; indirect economic
power would be much greater. She has asserted that their active
involvement in the development of real estate has made them the new
land barons of Pakistan (2007: 174-205).

THE PosT-COLONIAL STATE HYPOTHESIS

In his essay. ‘The State in Post-Colonial Societies: Pakistan and
Bangladesh’ (1972)—premised on the neo-Marxist dependency school
of political economy that identified a global structure of capitalism
centred on the United States, with the underdeveloped nations of Asia,
Africa, and Latin America as the penphery—(Hamza Allvlﬁon@l to
explain the peculiar balance of power between the classes and the post-

colonial state.(Classic Marxist theory of the state is pre
assumption that the state is merely an instrument of expl
hands of the ruling class. H 7, during crises, the state
felative autonomy vis-d-vis the classes -nd mediate their
avi asserted that the relative autonomiy of the state was a
cBhstant in post-colonial states such as Pakistan. Arguing thus, he
observed that ‘Pakistan represented a continuation of the colonial
imbalance between state and society, the friner being more developed
than the Tartér. Additionally, the political party that demanded, and won,
Pakistan was essentially a oné-man show with the founder of Pakistan,
Mohamiiad Ali Jinnah, enjoying supreme powers. After his death, the
Musliri League quickly di disintegrated and, therefore, could not establish
cnvnlun hegemony. As a result, the civil service and the military—two




blished by British colonialism in India—bs the
institutions that constituted an oligarchy that came m dominate both
politics and ics. Because of his k, Alavi,
in passing, noted that the domination of the oligarchy began at the very
onset—although he does not provide empirical evidence to support it.
In any case, Alavi argued that the ollgarchy en;oyed relauve autonomy
vis-a-vis the poli neo- isie (Western
capitalism centred on the United States) and the two indigenous
exploitative classes, consisting of the Pakistani bourgeoisie and the
landowners }Such autonomy enabled the Sligarchy to médiate between
their interests, which no longer conflicted but were compl y: all
three classes exploited and appropriated the surplus produced by the
labour of the Pakistani workers and peasants. Further, he argued that
lhe two mdlgenous classts—llle Pakistani bourgeoisie and the
were ‘underdevel " In doing so, he contrasted the
bourgeoisie in the West, which Ied lhe struggle for democracy, with the
bourgeoisie of a post-colonial state such as Pakistan, which needs the
state to restrict democracy in order to grow and expand. As regards the
landowning class, there is no historical record of it leading the struggle
for democracy anywhere and, therefore, Alavi must be thinking
essentially about the Pakistani bourgeoisie in relation to democracy.
Proceeding further, the author makes useful distinctions between right-
wing conservative generals, radical left and right-wing elements, and
hawks. Each category of military personnel was linked to different
classes and class fractions. He noted that the radicals had mostly been
of the right-wing persuasion. The hawks represented those elements
that were interested in maintaining and guarding the interests of the
army (ibid., 67-69).

Alavi hinted at, but did not develop and work out, the political
implications ‘and ramifications of a post-colonial oligarchy’s relative
uutonomy in rclation to intornational capitalism during: the Cold War:
Also, the significance of the Cold War during that period did not receive
‘much attention from him. Moreover, a problem with the dependency
perspective, subscribed to by Alavi, was that it assumed a rather fixed
structure of explollallon of Iht periphery by the centre.

Such a persp iated and thus d the
ideologi and military competiti lhal was going on during the Cold
War. Equally, it did not take into account the anarchic nature of
international relalion(;akis\an came to play an important role in that

competitiony Its importance lay not in providing a surplus to




+coacae

THE FORTRESS OF ISLAM: A METAPHOR FOR A GARRISON STATE

imperialism but in being of vital geostrategic importance to the Cold
WaTofeaver. even as a post-colonial state, Pakistan's location in South
Asid, Tar away from the United States, enabled joy
autonomy, when compared to Latin i ountries that were in
W' 50 t say, of the United States. In the overall dynamics of
‘War, and the variability in the international system, a scope
Tor divérsification of dependerice and concomitant alliance-building
existed—wHItH Thé Pakistani state took advantage of, thoiigh such room
iV ¥ or onial dependency vis-
4-vis the United Statés and, Tater, other major players as wcll

, TOWARDS A THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

(Samuel Edward Finer's famous The Man on Horseback: The Military in
Politics, published originally in 1962 and revised in 1976, drew attention
to the fact that military cougs were taking place in states that were
neither liberal d ist, but were ies and
oligarchies. Many states in Asla, Africa, and Latin America fitted that
description, }"he m:hmry took over the reins of power in such countries
because it posse superior and ar It could
ensure slabllny and security, if not democratic fréedom, 0, according
t\'l"nﬂ, military takeovers are facilitated when, instead of democracy,

ic and oligarchic regifes exist{T his makes a great deal of sense’

as Pakistan has failed to develop into a modern democracy. Not only

that, but radicali trémism, and terforisiii have und
Pakistan's chances of becoming a credible modcnu Muslim state. 7~
All such were poorly anticipated by the Western

development theogy of the 1960s. On the contrary, the military was
conceived ol as afmodernizing forcﬂm countnes deficient in a strong /
iddle class Samuel ingt of such a
view, asscrted that | poor, resource- deﬂdenl soclclles lacking a strong
middle dasylnd entrcpreneunal skills, the men in uniform could
become the ‘agents oF economic and social development as well as of
political stability and institution- building (Hunf gton
However. he made the mclsive oﬁstrvauon. Prol onged military
ipation in politics inevitably means the mnlmr; reflect the
d.wmons stresses, and weaknesses of politics’ (il ) Huntington
'never addressed the deeper ideological and culmral roots of military
power and prestige. On the other hand, the connection that Finer made
between autocracy and the rise of the military opens avenues for




probing the deeper historical, cultural, structural, and ideological
factors of Pakistani autocracy.  ~

/3 THE NATIONAL SECURITY STATE

/\/ The National Security State Doctrine was established by the US National
Security Act of 1947, during Harry Truman’s presidency, as the
beginning of an assault on the New Deal state his predecessor had
established, as well as a worldwide offensive to contain the spread of
communism and Soviet influence. Jack Nelson-Pallmever identified
seven characteristics of the hational security state/as it evolved
internationally with US assistance:
e
’:I) The ary is the highest authority./It claims the role of the
guardian of national interest"and extends its influence over
political, cconomic, and military affairs. .-
A national security state views democracy with suspicion. Even if
a fagade of democracy is maintained formally, real powers reside
with the military.
3 The military wields suhslanlla{poluical and economic power.
4.;Such a state is obsessed with enemics, both external as well as
internal. .

é} Enemies are described as cunning and “ruthless. Therefore, all
means 1o crush them are considered legitimate.
The! national security state restricts public debate and li
popular participation through secrecy or intimidation.

7) It expects the church to mobilize its financial, ideological, anc

theological resources to support the national security state
(Nelson-Pallmeyer 1993: 35-40).

Nelson-Palimeyer asserted that while the United States justified it
invasion of Iraq in 1991 as punishment for Saddam Hussain's invasior
of Kuwait—because he had disturbed the regional and internationa
peace—it itself was, simultaneously, deeply involved in subversive
warfare in Central America, which made the economies of that regiot
crumble and caused widespread misery and poverty. Even in the Unitec
States, poverty has been agg) d while e wealth
in fewer hands than before (ibid., 18-32). .




THE GARRISON STATE CONCEPT

It seems Nelson-Pallmeyer was not familiar with an almost identical
concept—of the garrison state—advanced by Harold Lasswell in the late
1930s, which the latter further developed in the backdrop of the rising
tide in Nazi Germany. The advantage with the garrison state concept is
that Lasswell vividly depicted the social and cultural characteristics of
the specialists on violence—the military—who dominate society. Thus,
it furnishes an opportunity to probe the role of religious-cultural
traditions as well. In this regard, it is worth recalling that Max Weber
had made a very incisive observation that the warrior class came to
Jominate Muslim societies at a very early stage, with the result that the
erstwhile trader’s value system that the Prophet Muhammad (PBUH)
repreun\rd was eclipsed and receded into the background (Weber 1993:
262-. 3) “Moreover, the garrison state concept links up with the
‘indigenous historical roots of thdPakistani garrison slalgfrom the pre-
colonial and colonial periods. In other words, the domination of the
Pakistan military cannot be explained merely as"an éffeci of the Cold
War Father, it is a peculiar evolution of historical and -
internal and external factors, as well as religious-cultural and social

almtnsmnsf/

v/ PRE-COLONIAL GARRISON TOWNS

In the ancient and medieval periods, when states were not yet
established in the formal sense of fixed territorial entities, large
kingdoms and empires were sustained garrison towns playing a central
role in thagdecentralized structure of poweyThz Roman Empire was
maintained over a number of centuries because of the strong garrison
towns that represented Roman power in distant lands far removed from
Rome. Ultimately, those garrison towns sought to reproduce the
supremacy of Rome over the subject people in the lands conquered by
the Roman armies. In the conquest of northern India by the Turco-
Afghans durjng the eleventh to thirteenth centuries, garrison towns
manned by Muslim-Turkish horse-troops, many of them slaves, played
a pivotal role. The troops were small in number and represented a
monetized type of economy and wealth transactions, whereas the vast
peasantry that surrounded the garrison towns lived a separate, detached
Tife subsisting on a na(urilm—ommea to

Eﬁﬁ atYhat time; their conversion to Islam picked up pace sometime




from the sixteenth century onwards (Wink 1997). The garrison towns
‘became the fulcrum of both the sedentary world of nomadic, mobile
wealth and expansion’ (ibid., 212). The garrison towns were not
necessarily located on the frontiers; rather, they were the embattled
arena in which ‘fusion of settled society and frontier ultimately took
place’ (

Gamsons continued to be part of the Mughal Empire as well as of
the Indian British Empire. In the contemporary period, garrison
outposts and towns continue to be found in India and Pakistan. Their
main function has been to keep centrifugal tendencies in the outlying
provinces and regions in check—in particular, to cirb separatism and
secessionism. Such places represent urban paraphernalia, with its
trappulg_of moderhity and centrism that clash with the power and
influence of the traditional tribal and clan chiefs. Pakistan inherited
Séveral garrison forts in Balochistan and the North-West Frontier
Province from the British Raj. Their numbers have grown, as have some
neéw ones been established in Sindh as well.

THE BRITISH INDIAN EMPIRE: A GARRISON STATE

Unlike most historians and political scientists who emphasize the role
of civilian institutions in the sustenance of the British Indian Empire,
Tan Tai Yong has argued that British rule in India was mediated
through a garrison state. The British were fully aware of the fact that
they ruled India through force, and could hold on to it for the same
reason (Yong 2005: 23). Therefore, they needed to maintain a strong
and formidable British Indian Army. Recruited locally, but mainly
under the command of British officers, the British Indian Army
comprised select castes belonging to specific regions (ibid., 57-97).
Moreover, from the second half of the nineteenth century, the fear of a
‘Russian advance into India'began to haunt British strategic planning.
Because of its geographical location, the Punjab in north-western India
becare the natural frontline province Trom which the British partook
in the Great Game against perceived Russian threats (ibid., 69).
Consequeiily, a strong but dependent army, with a large Punjabi
componint‘ was raised. It was sent to serve in foreign lands and took
part in both the First and Second World War

al f British rule in the Punjab were the Punjabi
landlords;the vas{ majority 6f whom were Muslims. They were staunch
supporters of the Raj. Pakistan inheriied a large portion of that army
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and, indeed, the powerful Muslim landlord class of Punjab that had
Been Toyal to British rule until almost the end of the colonial era (ibid.,
Z30-80). That garrison state began to weaken as the two competing
nationalist Thovements—led by the Indian National Congress and by
IYA Muslim League—could not agree on a power-sharing formula to
keep India united. Not only did it culminate in the division of India,
mso in a bloody partition of tlle Punjab. Participation of demobilized
Punjabi soldiers in the | rioting was a i feature of
the vic iolence and bloodshed that took place in the Punjab. Nevertheless,
‘the rump of the civil-military regime, éspecially in western Punjab, was
quickly restored to constitute the mainstay of the new state of Pakistan’
(lbld 308). Tan Tal Yong went on to remark:

'yThe story of the militarization of colonial Punjab can therefore be crucial in
explaining the character of post-colonial state of Pakistan. While the
‘interplay of domestic, regional and international factors’ in the post-1947
period may have facilitated the dominance of the bureaucracy and the
military in the evolving structure of the'Pakistani state, it can be suggested
that the rise of a Punjabi-controlled military-bureaucratic oligarchy which
was organized and powerful enough to wrest control of, and dominate, the
post-indcpendence state of Pakistan stemmed from developmenis in colonial
Punjab during the first half of the twentieth century. (Ibid., 308-309).

€ The bottom line of Tan's argument is that the structure of power that
devolved upon Pakistan was such that the colonial garrison state could
continue in Pakistan, albeit in the context of regional and international
onditions. This is interesting because the idea of making Pakistan a
gartison slau(re‘ay to serve external palrons)prcdales the creation of
Paluslan itself. Mohammad Ali Jinnah and his close associates begln to
whcul 'US interest in Pakistan, as a garrison state, before it actually came
into bemg v

7
HAROLD LASSWELL’S GA STATE

As a political science concept, the garrison state)was pr by the
American political scientist Harold Lasswellin 1937. me lte in'the
context of the (Sino- -Japanese war, /it was premised on the basic
amunptnon lhal leclu?logual clunges within the military alter the

y i and the larger civilian
societies/\n 1942, he further refined it as the rise of Nazism and fascism
posed a grea"l thiéat to Westérn democracy. Lasswell made the




controversial assertion that the garrison state would emerge in modern
industrial societies where the specialists on violence would capture the
leadership, thus establishing the y of the military over the state
and society (Stanley 1997: 2- 23). - Lasswell (1997: 59) wrote:

( The military men who dominate a modern technical socicty will be very
different from the officers of history and tradition. It is probable that the
specialists on violence will include in their training a large degree of
expertness in many of the skills that we have traditionally accepted as part
of modern civilian management. )

Further, he argued that an officer corps, recruited from a broad social
base rather than the traditional narrow social basg of ruling or
aristocratic families, would dominate the garrison statq. The aim would
be to create a large and comp military force dominated by a corps
of officefs that could provide a broad range of societal services besides
he garrison state would strive to manage the economy and
production in order to provide employment and other services, but the
aim would not be to create an active citizenry but rather its opposite:
( an obedient and docile” populai n/indoctrinated to believe in the
inevitability of wat and the need to maintain the g garnson state. To carry
it concerted propaganda and indoctrination in the ‘socialization of
danger! technology would be put to full use (ibid., 64-6)." As the
garrison state would grow stronger and more firmly entrenched: )

L] (Deci.smns will be more di | than de ic, and i
practices long connected with modern democracy will disappear. This means
that instrumental democracy will be in abeyance, although the symbols of
mystic ‘democracy’ will doubtless continue. Instrumental democracy is
found wherever authority and control are widely dispersed among the
members of a state. Mystic ‘demacracy’ is not, strictly speaking, democracy
at all, because it muy be found: where autherity amd contrul are highly
concentrated yet where part of the established practice is to speak-in the
name of the people as a whole. Thus, any dictatorship may celebrate its
“democracy’ and speak with contempt of such ‘mechanical’ devices such as
majority rule at elections or in legislatures (ibid., 66-7). )

* The main hypothesis advanced was that ‘societies which are faced with
a chronic threat of modern war are likely to become garrison states’
(ibid., 22). Further, that ‘the presence of continued crises radically alters
the structure of societies’ (ibid., 32). In short, ‘A culture under constant
threat of war would presumably develop a significant level of fear, which
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would, in turn, serve as a spur toward the consolidati
enterprise’ (ibid., 26).

.
SECURITY, THREAT, AND THREAT PERCEPTION

All states maintain armies and weapons to defend themselves against
aggression o to launch offensive actions on enemies. According to the
Realism paradigm, it is in the very nature of the beast, so to say, because,
iithe international arena, the Hobbesian state of nature still prevails
and states and their governments have to be prepared for conflict
(Morgenthau 1948; Waltz I979{}Machia\’eﬂi had, of course, used the
realism argument to justify all the acts of the Prince that made the State
strong, including the use of lies, deceit, and force to crush internal
pposil He had ad d the influential thesis that nations
preserved their freedom if they maintained strong and powerful
armies—which has served as a cornerstone of state-building projects in
the modern period. However, at what point does realism become
perverted into cynicism, so that deception and manipulation simply
become instruments to preserve a regime rather than to advance the
interests of the nation—this was not clearly identified by him. Suffice it
to say, he was not an advocate of perpetual manipulation and force as
guarantors of the well-being of the nation and state. He relativized the
notion of power to suggest that, through education and reform, people
can be groomed 1o become responsible citizens so that a republic based
on the rule of law can be established."His emphasis on a strong army,
however, remained an essential part of his theory of the modern state
hi 1982)°S i the perceived threat to their existence
from external and internal sources is acute and overwhelming, and
security becomes a paramount concern of the state.

Security, it may be noted, is an aspect of threat perception. Scholars
draw a distinction between the terms ‘threat’ and ‘threat perception’
(Walt 1987). Whereas the former simply means the possibility of trouble
or danger, the latter refers to how trouble or danger is sensed or felt.)

. Pervaiz Igbal Cheema has written, ‘Perceptions can deviate from reality

as a result of incorrect information or misinformation or factual
distortion or because of the incumbent force of preconceived ideas and
the professional bias of the perceiver’ (1990: 68)YOne can develop this
argument further and say that the threat perception can be exaggerated
or underplayed because those authoritatively defining and describing it

e e Sl — "
can use their vantage position to manipulate the Tacts to serve their
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vested interests. Thus‘ for example, an exaggeration of the threat to
national security can be used to justify hw%n defence or
ofi The maintenance of a very large fighting force. At the bottom of all
descriptions of threats to national security and survival, by the rnlh\ary.
is the claim that the state has scarce resources at its disposal.

{

PAKISTAN AND US CONTAINMENT OF SOVIET
COoMMUNISM

The gprnson state that I.asswell feared could emerge in the United States
never happened i survived, i ding the
scourge of witch-hunting of suspected leftist intellectuals and public
figures during the McCarthy era which lasted from the end of the 1940s
to the end of the 1950s. In 1962, Lasswell re-examined the garrison state
hypothesis, in light of the fact that total war through nuclear weapons
was a distinct possibility. He recognized that while the world was not
‘moving soon into a world relatively free of the chronic threat of serious
coercion, a pollcy mal fzvoured enhancmg human dignity and lhus
“civilianis " in opp to “mili " could help in

effective institutions of free society’ (Lasswell 1997: 106-7). In other
words, Lasswell wanted public policy to strengthen civilian hold over
the state to obviate the garrison state emerging in the US.

However, the fear that the military could acquire excessive power
and influence was even expressed by President Dwight D. Eisenhower,
a hero of the Second World War. He warned against the rise of the
military-industrial complex in the US, which was linked to the
obsession that the Soviet Union would launch a nuclear attack. On 17
January 1961, Eisenhower succinctly observed:

This conjunction of an immense military establishment and a large arms
Industry is'néw In thé Améritan ckpériénée. The (ol Influence, economic,
political and even spiritual, is felt in every city, cvery State house, and every
office of the Federal government. . . . In the councils of government, we must
guard against the acquisition of unwarranted influence, whether sought or
unsought, by the military-industrial complex. The potential for the
disastrous rise of misplaced power exists and will persist. We must never let
the weight of this combination endanger our liberties or democratic
processes. We should take nothing for granted. Only an alert and
knowledgeable citizenry can compel the proper meshing of the huge
industrial and military machinery of defence with our peaceful methods and
goals, so that security and liberty may prosper together.
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Significant in such a description was the possibility that the arms
industry could manipulate information and distort the threat scenarios
to serve its own sectional interests. In other words, Eisenhower feared
it would ‘turn the US into a garrison state, with an economy dominated
by military spending and civil liberties eroded’ (Schwartz 2005).
Ironically, such a realization did not dissuade Eisenhower from actively

g a policy of i of Soviet power through the
estabhshmem of military bases worldwide. In order to realize such an
objective, he sought military alliances with other nations (Kux 2001:
51). Thus, the Eisenhower administration followed an active policy of
garrison-building all over the world.

In the 1970s, such obsession reached new heights as authoritarian
regimes headed by military strongmen and civilian dictators were co-
opted into the containment of communism strategy. As a result, the
United States was constantly engaged in armed conflicts and wars in
many regions of the world. Wars in Indo-China were the most
gruesome manifestation of such a policy. Subverting democratically-
elected governments perceived to be inimical to US interests became
part of such a policy. The classic case was Chile, in 1973, when an
elected government under the leftist president, Salvador Allende, was
overthrown in a bloody military coup masterminded by the CIA. The
system of military bases survived the end of the Cold War and the
collapse of the Soviet Union, as other threats appeared on the horizon,
especially from radical Islam and China. \ e,
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GARRISON STATES IN POST-COLONIAL CONTEXTs AT

The leaders of Pakistan began to seek US help even before the state was
founded, marketing it as afgeostrategic ally against Soviet communism./
That policy was pursued relentlessly when the country came into being. /
Initially, the United States was not keen to co-opt Pakistan since
building NATO remained its main priority. However, by 1951, there was
a change in the US perception of Pakistan's usefulness{when Eisenhower
became president, Pakistan became one of the chief beneficiaries of the
(worldwide garrison-building slralegy,hal the new administration had
adopted-fgarrison states tmcrgcd in Asia and Africa in the 1950g/and
1960s (LaPorte 1969: 842). } Besides Pakistan, garrison states were
supported by the United States in Israel, Turkey, Taiwan, South Korea,
and Indonesia. The Soviet Union promoted garrison states in Eastern
Europe, the Middle East, and in Southeast and East Asia. After the Cold
. n:




PAKISTAN—THE GARRISON STATE

War, things began to ‘dnange)Thrkey. Taiwan, Indonesia, and South
Korea made the gradual transition to democracy, but retained a strong
military organization,/In the case of Israel, notwithstanding regular
elections, Israel has behaved like a garrison state because of its wars with
the Arab states, the Arab populations’ hostility to its existence, and
resistance towards it in the occupied territories (Stanley 1997: 35;
Stanley and Segal 1997 132). Israel’s pohcy of oc:upllwn and ﬂkpl
of Palestinian land has d the
border controls, entry and exit checkpoints, and high walls to scpanle
Jews from Arabs. Thus, Israel is a very visible garrison state,
notwithstanding its regular elections and democracy that clearly
privileges Jews over non-Jews.

+ More importantly, Pakistan and India attained independence in mid-

August 1947 through a partition of the British Indian Empire. However,
India_be Eecame a democra:)' that, "over time, has only deepened
ZOIO

ian Navy, told me that the
supremacy of the Indian Parliament and the right of the elected
government to make political decisions has never been challenged in
India/C dore Bhaskar has inctl ised his ideas in an
article in the Pakistani weekly, The Friday Times (Bhaskar 2008). It is
to be noted that India’s woes, about external threats, are not confined
to Pakistan—against whom it has fought sevetal wars—but also with
the much stronger China.

Brigadier (Retd.) A.R. Siddiqi, in the preface of his book, The
Military in Pakistan: Image and Reality, has described the Pakistani state
in terms that are strikingly similar to Lasswell’s. He has written:

Since there is no other institution to rival the military in orgamuuon and
discipline. above all, jn.its, cqntyol, of the WI“V“F'"" qf yiofence, its image
grows apace, and presently regches a point of predominance and power
where it becomes an object of mass reverence or fear. A sort of (sic]
prussianism is born to produce an army with a nation in place of 2 nation
with an army. The national identity and interest is progressively subordinated
to the growing power of the military image (1996: ii)., -

The erstwhile Muslim League elite did express a commitment to
democracy. For the most part, it was going to be Muslim democracy,
also called spiritual d or Islamic d y. What such

rhetoric implied was that democracy was to be qualified by Islamic
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prerequisites. In other words, Pakistan was not to be the usual type of
secular democracy. In my book, The Concept of an Islamic State: An
Analysis of the Ideological Controversy in Pakistan (1987), 1 demonstrated
X ithstanding an imagination that furnished an inexhaustibl
scope for playing with words and flirting with logic and common sense,
Islamic qualifications to democracy defeated the purpose of democracy.
Contemporary democracy assumes the equality of all citizens
irrespective of differences based on birth, race, ethnicity, religion, and
gender. The Pakistani modernist rulers, who held power from 1947 to
1977, failed to provide an alternative to the Islamic state: on the
contrary, more and more dogmatic features were added to the Pakistani
national identity until, in 1977, General Muhammad Zia-ul-Haq set
aside the charade of democracy and went about constructing Pakistan
as the fortress of Islam, braced with not only military but also repressive
legal and cultural measures.

Consequently, contemporary Pakistan 'bears the hallmarks of not
only a fortress state, but also a society with garrisons studded all over
it to ward off various assaults: political, ideological, sectarian, military,
and so on. In such circumstances, it is not surprising that the military
has become the most powerful institutiony It exercises de facto veto

owers over both internal and external policies. According to one
Ssﬁr.n;m akistan had: 650,000 active military personnel;
528,000 active military reserve; and 302,000 active paramilitary units
(Global Fire Power, 2011). An’earlier estimate by Ayesha Siddiqa gave
a breakdown 0£.550,000 military personnel; 45,000 air force personnel;
25,000 navy personnel (Siddiqa 2007: 59))The Pakistan armed forces
have been an attractive avenue for educated young men; those who join
it become part of a fraternity that is powerful and privileged. Over the
years, recruitment has been d ized so that rep ion from
the middle and lower-middle classes has increased though, in ethnic
terms, the Punjabis are still preponderant (Nawaz 2008). Until the
beginning of the 1990s, 75 per cent of the army continued to be
recruited from the Punjab and the North-West Frontier Province
(NWEP). Moreover, recruitment continued to take place from the same
narrow regional base: the districts of Rawalpindi, Jhelum, and
Campbellpur (now known as Attock), now reconstituted to include
Chakwal, Khushab, and Mianwali in Punjab; and, two districts from
NWEP, Kohat and Mardan. Together, they represented only 9 per cent
of the male population of Pakistan (Cohen 1998: 44). Shuja Nawaz,




Based on separate GHQ (army headquarters) data for soldiers and officers
Punjab shows an overall decline in recruitment of soldiers from 63.86 poi
cent in 1991 to 43.33 in 2005, with Central Punjab outpacing Northerr
Punjab, the traditional recruitment ground, by 7,500 to 5000 recruits ir
2005. Southern Punjab has 1,800 recruits. Recruitment from the NWFP anc
FATA (Federally Administered Tribal Arcas) increased from 2091 to 22,
per cent, Sindh rose from 8.85 to 23.02 per cent—with rural Sindk
accounting for the majority of the recruits (5,095 to 2,500 in 2005)—in
Balochistan. it rose from 0.49 to 1.52 per cent in 2005 with 200 urban to 30t
rural recruits in 2005, and in Azad Kashmir and the Northern Arcas
recruitment rose from 5.86 to 9.70 per cent
Looking at the officers commissioned into service during the perio

1970-89 in comparison with 19%0-2006, we also sec a change in the relative
share of different parts of the country. The Punjab rose marginally from
66.46 10 66.93 per cent, but within the Punjab there are notable changes in
the home districts of the officers, shifting to the more populous and
emerging urban centres of Central and even Southern Punjab. This is in line
with urbanization trends nationwide. These bigger cities and towns are also
the traditional strongholds of the growing Islamist parties and conservatism
ate with the petit bourgeoisie (2008: 571).

Nawaz described them as ‘Zia bharti’ or ‘Zia recruitment, during the
period when General Muhammad Zia-ul-Haq was Pakistan's military
dictator (1977-1988). He has suggested that the men recruited during
this period would be in commanding positions in the twenty-first
century (ibid., 572). Despite the changes that are underway, the largely
Punjabi- Pukhtun military has been viewed with suspicion and fear in
the provinces that are poorly represented in it—particularly so in
Balochistan where the military, in response to having to crush several
uprisings wnd : s has responded by building
garrison outposts and bases. That trend started soon after the princely
tate of Kalat was annexed in 1948. During the first military government
of Ayub Khan, garrisons began to be built on a larger scale—a trend
that has continued.

However, on the whole, the expansion of Pakistans armed forces has
been in response to India constantly upgrading its armed forces, thus
aggravating Pakistan's sensc of insccurity. For example, in 2008 India
had 1,325,000 active military personnel; 1,155,000 active military
reserve; and 1,293,300 active paramilitary units (Global Fire Power,

1di
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2011). India has currently surpassed even China i
spending.

[} \ International relations scholars, such as Barry Buzan, have argued
that as rival or enemy states improve their armed might, they compel
each other into an arms race. As a result, better and more lethal
weapons are acquired, and quently the d ities of
such states increase. However, improvement in destructive capamy does
not decrease the sense of insecurity; rather, it diminishes it so that the
rival or enemy states strive to obtain even better and more destructive

(Buzan 1991). Acquisition of weapons of mass destruction,
such as nuclear weapons, is the ultimate heightener of insecurity. It is,
therefore, a vicious circle that acquires a life of its own.

FroM THE HORSE's MOUTH

The Pakistan military does not deny its power but asserts that l’a.klslans
integrity and survival is gravely th d by its d

India (Khan 2006; Khan 1973: 1-4; Khan 1988: 8-17 and IJS-W) "The
former Head of the Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI), Lieutenant General
(Retd.) Asad Durrani, described Pakistan as a ‘national security state.
The same assessment was made by the former Chit ErmJ_'rmySIaﬁ'
(COAS), General Mirza Aslam Beg, Lieutenant General (Retd.) Ashraf
Qazi (also former Head of the ISI), and Brigadier (Retd.) Yasub Ali
Dogar, the ISI Director of Afghan Affairs (1991-1992). v

“Their standpoint was that Pakistan had to ensure its survival in the
face of a constant threat posed to iis secum'y by India. All three pointed
out that the Tatter is m"h"ﬁ’g-‘?‘in terms of Pofp'Tlruon and territory;
iCinitiated nuclear w aponis testing m 1974; |\ spends enormous
amounts of money buylng  arms, and possessés one of the largest
militaries in the world; and has been at war with Pakistan on several
occasions, with the 1971 waf ng in the break-up of Pakistan,
Consequently, Pakistan must maintain a credible defence against Indian
designs. With regard (_ovgls_(rpendence on'the United States, former
COAS General Jehangir Karamat, Licufenant General (Retd.) Asad
burnm Lieutenant General (Retd.) t Ahmed, Mx;of General
(Rzld) Mahmud Ali Durrani, Major General (Retd.) Sarfraz Igbal,
Brigadier (Retd) Dogar, and Colonel (Retd.) Aslam Cheema told me
miﬁsun coozerale vith |h¢ Americans,  only to the extent that its
own interests are served. ener;l Aslm_\_ ngmd__umlemm
General (Retd.) Hamid Gul (also former Head of the ISI) were of the




view that it has not been in Pakistan's interest to support the US-led
uar on terror. Referring to Chma a5 an all weather friend is part of the
military dp on Saudi Arabia arouses
léss enthusiasm among |h¢ liberal and secular sections of the higher
oﬁ‘ icers’ cadre. Lieutenant General Javed Ashraf Qazi and Major Agha
yun Amin frankly criticized General Muh d Zia-ul-Haq for
introducing fundamentalist |dcas |nlo the Pakistan Army and thus,
ively, affecting its p!

Mosl of them discounted the argument that the creation of a
powerful military necessarily resulted in military domination over civil
institutions. Rather, they blamed inept and corrupt politicians for
creating dangerous law and order situations that have necessitated
military intervention)Conspiracies hatched by regional nationalists and
secessionists, hell-bent on breaking up the country, also figured in the
interviews. Almost invariably, the officers said that they were not
opposed to democracy, and readily conceded that military interventions
were not good for the country and, more importantly, adversely affected
the professionalism of the military. In short, they described their
praetorian role as not one of their choosing but of necessity. Pakistani
columnist Shahid Slddlqlll has succinctly captured this line of reasoning
in the first speech of the four coup-makers: Ayub Khan, Yahya Khan,
Zia-ul-Haq, and Musharraf. According to Shahid Siddiqui, the generals
suggested:

> [t}hat the country is on the vegge of destruction, condemn the politicians

~ and the toppled government, pat |hc peopl(' on Ih(' back, lionize the army,

g the takeover as p publicly the

~ ‘reluclamcc with which they had to take the action, suggest that the action

™ is taken in the interest of the greater interest national interest, claim that the

country has been saved by this action and promise greener pastures for the
‘masses. (anud in Wasecm 2009 ZOI)

One can wonder whether Siddiqui was being sarcastic or simply stating
the considered opinion of the generals who took over the reins of power.
Both interpretations contain a grain of truth. It is to be noted, however,
that there is an absence of any reference to the external threat posed by
India in the imization of military tak The takeovers have
essentially been driven by internal developments, though the fact that
the military had become more powerful facilitated the takeovers and,
in the process, established a precedent that tempted the generals to
assert thtmselves with greater confidence in relation to the politicians.
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A D1SSENTING VIEW FROM INSIDE

There is a countervailing standpoint within the armed forces on the
‘India-as-external-threat’ thesis, as well as on the military taking charge
of Pakistan to save it from predatory politicians or hostile secessionists™”
Air Marshal (Retd.) Asghar Khan, who is generally celebrated as the
man who organized and trained the Pakistan Air Force, has taken the
view that the four wars with India were the result of Pakistani
adventurism; they lacked a clear objective and, therefore, caused more
harm than good to_Pakistan (Khan 2005: 235-46). Asghar Khan has
ali6" Eisputed that the military interventions and dominant role the
l’ﬂuslan Army acquired were the result of either Tack of good political
I¢adership or vile plots to break-up Pakistan. He has identified
politicians whose activities have harmed the cause of civil rule and
democracy but has maintained that such things happened because the

ilitary was willing to go along with their negative politics (Khan 2008:
T1=13). It may be added that such views are not uncommon; privately
and anonymously, military officers critique the generals for developing
polmca.l ambitions.

THE PoST-COLONIAL GARRISON STATE

THEORY RECAPITULATED

It can be argued that if a state is beset by the fear of foreign aggression,
it can acquire the characteristics of a garrison state. This is possible in
an industrially-backward society, as it an industrially- advanced

society, because a garrison state is ially driven by the p
of threats and an ability to arm itself against them.

Tor the emergence of a garrisor

Pakistan.

Fear of foreign aggression and internal subversion, concomi
a weak base for democracy and an opportunity for a s

fAumber of speci te ner
farnish the basis for g building to post-coloni states.

1f such a state can‘$olicit the support of a powerful patron state, or
states, willing to strengthen its economic and mililary power, the
problem of devel can be ci d and it can acquire
characteristics of a gamson state by building up its military capabilities.
( However, foreign economic and military aid also means that the
donor state gains influence over the post-colonial state) Carrot and stick
r—
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tactics are usually employed to extract compliance from the recipient
post-colonial state. v

Given the anarchical nature of international politics, room for
manocunre exists even for a dependent post-colonial state. The latter
can resist donor pressure through the diversification of dependence,
although the donors enjoy an advantage over the latter. __[gms
longest and deepest dependence has been on the United States; China
and Saudi Arabia are the two other main donors.

In addition to the fear of foreign aggression, historical and cultural
factors can help generaté an ideology of the garrison state. The core
elements of such an ideology will be a damning narrative about the
ntifiy, a victimhood self-identify, and an imperative to maintain a
strong and powerful militar:

Moreover, for an ndcologlcal state such as Pakistan, the question of
national identity contains dimensions that refer to higher purposes and
the aims and ob;ecmes of such a state. Political Islam, in its various
inc and i furnishes idcational and ideological
inspiration from which state ideology can be derived.

Pakistan can continue as a post-colonial garrison state as long as the
donors are willing to provide it with the required resources, and it can
convince or coerce its population that the struggle for survival
necessitates prioritization of the allocation of scarce resources to
security and defence.
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British, American, and Soviet Attitudes
Towards the Pakistan Scheme

GREAT BRITAIN

The demand for Pakistan emerged in the aftermath of the 1937
provincial elections in which the All-India Muslim League suﬂered a
heavy defeat despite its claim of rep ing the Muslim

of India. On the other hand, the Indian \auonal Congress won 711 oul
of a total of 1,585 general seats. Congress formed ministries first in six,
and later eight, provinces. In the strategic north-western zone of the
subcontinent, it was the regional Muslim-dominated parties that won
most of the reserved seats for Muslims. There is some evidence that an
agreement existed between the provincial Congress and Muslim League
in the United Provinces of northern India to form a coalition
government, but Congress reneged on this after the Muslim League was
routed. In reaction, the Muslim League sct out on a separatist course
that culminated in the partition of India (Jalal 1985; Seervai 1989;
Wolpert 1984). In 1939, the Second World War broke out and the
British committed India to the war without consulting the Indian
leaders. The Congress ordered its ministries to resign in protest, and
began to agitate for immediate self-rule. The British interpreted
Gongress’ lack of suppert as betrayal in their hour of need. The Muslim
League, after some hesitation, decided to support the war effort.

MusLiM LEAGUE DEMANDS SEPARATE MUSLIM STATES

On 23 March 1940, the Muslim League formally demanded the creation
of separate Muslim state/states in the Muslim-majority zones of north-
western and north-eastern India. The Muslim League had been
encouraged to demand a separate state by Viceroy Linlithgow who had
conveyed the message through Sir Muhammad Zafrulla Khan, a
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BRITISH. AMERICAN, AND SOVIET ATTITUDES

prominent leader of the pro-British Ahmadiyya community. The idea
was to pressurize the assertive Congress leaders, who were refusing to
cooperate in the war effort in spite of forming the government in eight
provinces (Khan 1987: 29-30). However, the British were under
pressure from the Americans to take measures to transfer power to
Indian hands. Prime Minister Winston Churchill sent Sir Stafford
Cripps to India, in March 1942, to probe the possibility of a transfer of
power to the Indians but within the framework of a dominion. The
Cripps Mission alluded obliquely to the establishment of a separate
Muslim dominion, but did not guarantee it. Both the Congress and the
Muslim League rejected its recommendations as it did not satisfy their
basic demands: the former wanting independence in a united India, and
the latter separate statehood (Mansergh and Lumby 1970: 745-51).
In August 1942, M.K. Gandhi launched the Quit India movement.
Gandbhi calculated that the British were weak and beleaguered, and that
a popular uprising would spontaneously break out which would force
the British to leave. It proved to be a delusion. The Congress did not
enjoy such overwhelming support and the regional leaders, especially
in key provinces such as Punjab from where a substantial portion of the
colonial Indian Army was recruited, were solidly behind the war effort.
On the national level, the Muslim League was supporting the British.
Viceroy Lord Linlithgow cracked down lly and, within weeks,
the Congress leadership was behind bars. Volatile and Jefiant sections
of the public were intimidated into submission through public floggings
and other severe punishments. The Quit India movement earned the
Congress Party the unmitigated contempt of the British while the
Muslim League and its leader, Mohammad Ali Jinnah, began to be
recognized as an important ally (French 1997: 149-72, 198; Sarila 2005:
135-9; Talbot 1996: 134).

wc\)\)Q\\
VICEROY LORD WAVELL MA et "\ N ‘6\‘9/

Field Marshal Lord Wavell bmmc lhe viceroy of India on 20 Odober
1943. Although his pred:
the movement launched by Gandln. Wavell was convinced (Iul India
could not be ruled for very long. The Muslim League’s popularity had
muened dramatically whlle the Congress leaders remained in
ion. Wavell ized a confe at Simla, in June 1945, to
probe the terms for the transfer of power to Indian hands. Congress
leaders were released from jail, a few days earlier, where they had been
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kept since their arrests at the time of the Quit India movement in
August 1942. Jinnah insisted that the Muslim League alone could
nominate Muslim delegates to the conference; Wavell conceded to this.
The Simla Conference ended in failure but, in practical terms, Jinnah
emerged as the sole spokesman of the Muslims (Jalal 1985). Provincial
elections were announced for early 1946. In December 1945, Wavell
prepared a top secret document, the Breakdown Plan, for a quick
withdrawal in case the law and order situation got out of hand. The plan
recommended that if the Musli s insisted then India should be
partitioned to create a Muslim-majority Pakistan. However, large non-
Muslim populations could not be compelled to remain in Pakistan.
Therefore, the provinces of Bengal and Punjab should be partitioned so
that non-Muslim majority areas would be excluded from Pakistan and
instead given to India. Wavell believed that such a radical division of
India, which would result in a much smaller Pakistan, would dissuade
Jinnah from insisting on the partition of India (Mansergh and Moon
1976: 700-701). He also proposed an international border between the
two states (ibid., 912). The Radcliffe Award of 17 August 1947, which
fixed the international India-Pakistan boundary, was almost a ditto
copy of the border demarcated by Wavell. Such recommendations
remained top secret, shared only by a select number of officials in
London and Delhi.

FEBRUARY 1946 PROVINCIAL ELECTIONS

hile, Jinnah inued his relent] paign to garner support
for the Pakistan scheme. In order to muster support from the Muslim
voters, Jinnah sought the support of the ulema (clerics) as they already
had access to existing networks—through the mosques and religious
ceremonies and activities. From 1944 onwards, the ulema and pirs
(spiritunl guides and 1eachers) were mobikized 10 support the demand
for Pakistan. Pakistan was projected as an Islamic utopia where social
justice and piety would prevail in accordance with the lofty vision of
true Islam. Consequently, the Muslim League exploited Islamic
sentiments, slogans, and heroic themes to rouse the masses during their
public meetings and mass contact campaigns. This has been stated
clearly in the fortnightly confidential report, of 2 February 1946, sent
to Viceroy Wavell by the Punjab Governor Sir Bertrand Glancy:




The ML [Muslim League} orators are becoming increasingly fanatical in
their speeches. Maulvis [clerics] and Pirs [spiritual masters) and students
travel all round the Province and preach that those who fail to vote for the
League candidates will cease to be Muslims; their marriages will no longer
be valid and they will be entirely excommunicated. . .. It is not easy to
foresee what the results of the elections will be. But there seems little doubt
the Muslim League, thanks to the ruthless methods by which they have
pursued their campaign of ‘Islam in danger’ will considerably increase the
number of their seats and unionist representatives will correspondingly
decline (Carter 2006, 171).

Similar practices were prevalent in the campaigns in the North-West
Frontier Province (now Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa). Erland Jansson noted
in his doctoral dissertation, India, Pakistan or Pakhtunistan?:

The Pir of Manki Sharif.  founded an organisation of his own, the
Anjuman-us-asfia. The organisation promised to support the Muslim League
on condition that Shariat would be enforced in Pakistan. To this Jinnah
agreed. As a result the Pir of Manki Sharif declared jehad to achieve Pakistan
and ordered the members of his anjuman to support the League in the 1946
elections (p. 166).

In this regard, Jinnah’s letter of November 1945 to Pir Manki Sharif is
quite revealing. He wrote:

It is needless to emphasize that the Constituent Assembly which would be
predominantly Muslim in its composition would be able to enact laws for
Muslims, not inconsistent with the Shariat laws and the Muslim will no
longer be obliged to abide by the Un-lslamic laws (Constituent Assembly of
Pakistan Debates, Volume 5, 1949, p. 46).

The Muslim League swept the polls. It won 440 out of 495 seats reserved
for Muslims. The Indian National Congress won most of the general
seats, 905 out of 1585 seats. Earlier, in July 1945, the Labour Party had
come to power in the UK. Prime Minister Clement Attlee was not averse
to a quick transfer of power to the Tndians, but he wanted India to
remain in the British Ci th ferabh divided
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PARISTAN—THE GARRISO.

BRITISH MILITARY’S PERSPECTIVE ON INDIA AND
PAKISTAN

The position of the British military establishment, in May 1946, was
that Britain should maintain effective control over India and that India
should remain united, even if substantive self-government was granted
toit. It wuuld mean that, for many yurs to come, Britain would share

y with the Indian lead p for the defence and security of
a unl(ed lndla The key to the realization of such an objective would be
a strong and united Indian Army. Thus, on 1] May 1946, Field Marshal
Sir Claude Auchinleck prepared a top secret note on ‘The Strategic
Implications of the Inclusion of “Pakistan” in the British Commonwealth!
In a long and detailed study of the pros and cons of partitioning India
and thus creating Pakistan—either as one unit in the north-west of the
subcontinent, or as two with the second part in the north-cast zone—he
concluded that it would not serve British interests in the Indian Ocean
because it would be a weak state in military and economic terms
whereas a stronger India, estranged from Britain, could move closer to
the Soviet Union. In the end of his report he summed up his position:

This view was not necessarily shared by his peers. General Mayne
underlined the section ‘which | consider essential .. to the British
Commonwealth” and wrote ‘1 do not’ in the margin (ibid.). General
Officer Commander-in-Chief of the Eastern Command, Lieutenant
General Sir Francis Tuker, took up cudgels on behalf of Pakistan. He
was contvihced' that Hinddist was a supetstitious ¢reed and that the
caste system prevented the establishment of national solidarity among
the Hindus. Therefore, unless a buffer was created, the oppressed Indian
masses would find the communist ideology's strong emphasis on
equality and social emancipation an allurement they would not be able
to withstand (Tuker 1951: 537-54). Proceeding from such a pessi istic
view of Hindu India, Tuker opined:



produced and if we could orient the Muslim strip from North Africa through
Islamia Desertia, Persia. Afghanistan to the Himalayas, upon a Muslim
power in Northern India, then it had some chance of halting the filtration
of Russia towards the Persian Gull. These Islamic countries, even including
Turkey, were not a very great strength in themselves. But with a northern
Indian Islamic state of several millions it would be reasonable to expect that
Russia would not care to provoke them too far (ibid., 26-27).

THE CABINET MISSION PLAN

The July 1945 British election proved a major upset as Winston
Churchill's Conservative Party was comprehensively defeated, and
Labour's Clement Attlee became prime minister. He despatched three
cabinet ministers, in early l946 to pmbe the pncondlllons fora |ransfer
of power. As they cond and negoti for
a transfer of power, preferably to a united India, they found Congress
unwilling to make any concessions on its goal of a united India with a
strong centre, while the Muslim League held fast to its demand for a
separate Pakistan. Jinnah d ded a 50:50 i

in government, even though the Muslims constituted roughly one-
fourth of the total Indian population (Moore 1983: 556-7). Consequently,
on 16 May 1946, the Cabinet Mission announced its own scheme. It
rejected Pakistan’s demand as impractical but recognized Muslim
concerns:

This decision does not however blind us to the very real Muslim
apprehensions that their culture and political and social life might become
submerged in a purely unitary India, in which the Hindus with their greay
superior numbers must be a dominating element (Mansergh and Moon
1977: 586).

The solution offered by the Cabinct Mission Plan included, among other
things, the establishment of a union of India embracing British India
and the prmcely states, which would deal with foreign affairs, defence,
and i The federal g would have powers to
raise finances for those three arus of government activity. Three
sections or groups would be constituted by the provinces. Group A
would include the Hindu-majority provinces of Madras, Bombay,
United Provinces, Bihar, Central Provinces, and Orissa. Group B would
include the Muslim-majority provinces of the north-west: Punjab,
North-West Frontier Province (now Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa), and Sind




(Sindh). Group C would include the Musli
north-east: Bengal and Assam. Moreover:

The constitutions of the Union and of the Groups should contain a provision
whereby any Province could, by a majority vote of its Legislative Assembly,
call for reconsideration of the terms of the constitution after an initial period
of 10 years and at 10 years intervals thereafter’ (ibid.).

In a resolution passed on 24 May 1946, Congress stated that it was not
agreeable to the proposals since it believed that an independent India
‘must necessarily have a strong central authority capable of representing
the nation with power and dignity in the councils of the world’ (ibid.,
679-80). For its part, the Muslim League passed a resolution on 6 June
1946 in which it regretted that the demand for Pakistan had not been
fully conceded but, nevertheless, accepted the Cabinet Mission’s
proposals because the idea of Pakistan was inherent in them ‘by virtue
of the compulsory grouping of the six Muslim Provinces in Sections B
and C’ (ibid., 837).

On 16 June 1946, the Cabinct Mission proposed the formation of an
interim government. On 25 June, the Congress Party's working
committee rejected the pmposal to form an interim government but
accepted the i posals and suggested that it would put
its own interpretation on (hc Cabinet Mission Plan. The same day, the
Muslim League accepted the proposals for an interim government but
rejected the idea that the Congress could place its own interpretation
on the British plan (ibid., 1032-49). On 10 July, in a press conference
in Bombay, Nehru stated that Congress would not be bound by any
agreements when it entered the Constituent Assembly (Mansergh and
Moon 1979: 25). The Muslim League, in a statement on 29 July, declared
itself greatly perturbed by Nehru's nmarks on the grounds that it made

the Luguc took the decision to withdraw its suppon for the (.ahme!
Mission Plan and threatened to resort to direct action to achieve
Pakistan (ibid., 135-9). It fixed 16 August as the date for the direct
action.

INTERIM GOVERNMENT AND COMMUNAL Ri10TS

To the great surprise of the Muslim League, Wavell invited Jawaharlal
Nehru to form an interim government. On 13 August, Nehru wrote to
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Jinnah inviting his P in the ion of a p I
national government. However, the direct action call resulted in
exceptionally barbaric communal rioting in the port city of Calcutta.
While the initial attacks were carried out by Muslim hoodlums, there
was a fierce retaliation by the Hindus a few days later which resulted in
a bloodbath that claimed 2000-4000 lives; some 100,000 were rendered
homeless as shanty towns and other poor localities were torched and
pillaged (ibid., 239-40; 293-304).

However, the interim government took office on 24 August;
Jawaharlal Nehru was its vice president while the viceroy remained its
chief executive. The government renewed its efforts to convince the
Muslim League to join it. The League made its joining the cabinet
conditional on the recognition of its status as the sole representative of
the Indian Muslims. This was agreed, and the League took the decision
to join the cabinet on 15 October. However, mutual suspicion and
animosity among the members of the interim government proved to
be too strong. The Congress and Muslim League ministers worked at
cross-purposes. In the absence of a power-sharing formula being agreed
upon at the centre, the partition of India became a very distinct
possibility.

Also, the Calcutta killings proved to be a contagion; communal riots
broke out in many parts of India. In Bombay, Muslims and Hindus
clashed; the resulting deaths were in the hundreds on both sides. In
Noakhali, East Bengal, Muslims attacked Hindus and killed about 400.
The Hindus retaliated—on 27 September, and then again on 25 October
which continued into the first week of November—with barbaric
revenge attacks on the Muslims in Bihar. According to some observers,
it was the Hindu workers who had escaped the Muslim fury in Calcutta,
and returned to Bihar, who wreaked havoc on the Muslims. The
governor of Bihar, Sir H. Dow, pointed out that the Congress
government in Bihar did little to etop the carnage (Mansergh and Moon
1980: 38-9). As many as 5000 people were slaughtered in Bihar, almost
entirely Muslims (ibid., 188). Smaller riots followed in the northern
Indian province of United Provinces‘In December 1946, bloody rioting
targeting the Hindu-Sikh minority took place in the North-West
Frontier Province. In early March 1947, bloody rioting took place in a
number of cities in Punjab. Some 2000 to 5000 people were killed
(Ahmed 2012: 127-193).




20 FEBRUARY 1947 STATEMENT AND MOUNTBATTEN AS
LAsT VICEROY

On 20 February 1947, Attlee announced the intention of His Majesty's
Government to definitely transfer power to the Indians by June 1948.
Attlee chose a cousin of the King, Lord Louis Mountbatten, as the last
viceroy to India—to oversee and manage the transfer of power. The
bloodbath that had taken place in the Punjab had deeply antagonized
the Sikhs (Mansergh and Moon 1980: 965-69). Since the passing of the
Lahore Resolution in March 1940, the Sikhs had insisted that if India
was divided on a religious basis, the Punjab should also be so divided
so that arcas where the Hindus and Sikhs were in a majority would be
separated from the Muslim-majority parts of the Punjab. The Congress
Party supported this Sikh demand in a resolution dated 8 March 1947
(Ahmed 2012: 139).

Mountbatten took over power on 24 March 1947, and started
protracted parleys with Indian leaders of all communities over the
transfer of power. He had been specifically tasked to ensure that, united
or divided, India remained in the British Commonwealth. One of
Jinnah's confidants, the nawab of Bhopal, sent a telegram to Mountbatten
in which he suggested that, if Pakistan was granted, Jinnah could be
persuaded ‘.0 remain within the Commonwealth’ (Mansergh and Moon
1981: 36). However, the viceroy tried to convince Jinnah not to demand
the division of India because a united India would be a strong and
powerful nation whereas Pakistan would be economically and militarily
weak. Jinnah remained unimpressed. Rather, he insisted that a separate
Pakistan would seck membership of the Commonwealth, which should
not be denied to it. In the Viceroy's Personal Report No. 5 dated 1 May
1947, Mountbatten noted that Jinnah told him:



assured me that the British people would never stand for our being expelled.
Sir Stafford Cripps informed me that he could not answer how the legislation
would be framed and whether we should be given the opportunity of
deciding whether to stay in on our own (ibid., 541).

The viceroy replied to Jinnah that, although he agreed with him
emotionally, if only one part—Pakistan—remained in the
Commonwealth, and on that basis retained British officers and received
British help, it would create an odd situation if it went to war with the
other part that had opted out of the Commonwealth. Therefore,
Mountbatten warned him to be prepared for Pakistan's request to join
the Commonwealth to be refused if India did not join it. To this, Jinnah
reportedly retorted that he would rely on the power of appeal to the
Commonwealth, over the heads of His Majesty's Government; he was
confident that he would receive support from the British people (ibid.).

On the other hand, Mountbatten noted that, within the Congress
Party, ‘violent discussion is going on to this effect. As they now
realise Jinnah's game and are beginning to be very frightened by its
consequences on the rest of India’ (ibid., 542). Yet, the viceroy believed
that, in order to convince the Congress leaders to remain in the
Commonwealth, it was necessary to emphasize that Pakistan wanted to
remain i it, and to remain outside would not be beneficial for India
(ibid.).

SUPPORT FOR PAKISTAN FROM HEADS OF THE BRITISH
ARMED FORCES

At this stage, there was a dramatic change in the attitude of the British
military on partition and the creation of Pakistan. Thus, senior military
and civil officers—RAF Marshal Lord Tedder (in the chair), Admiral
Sir John 11.D. Cunningham, Field Marshal Viscount Montgomery ot
Alamein, Lieutenant General Sir Leslie C. Hollis, Minister of Defence,
AV. Alexander, Chief of the Viceroy Staff, Lord Ismay, and Major
General R.E. Laycock—in a memorandum prepared at the meeting of
the Chiefs of Staff Committee in London on 12 May 1947, strongly
suppor\ed the assumption that u would be good for Britain |f Pakistan

ined in the C The di d the final
proposals for the partition of India, which was presumed to be the basis
of the political settlement. It was expected that Pakistan would comprise




PRESSURE ON CONGRESS TO AGREE TO INDIA
REMAINING IN THE COMMONWEALTH

hile, M batt d to work on keeping the whole of
India in the Commonwealth. He exerted intense pressure on the




Congress leaders; most came around to the view that membership
would be beneficial to them. In the minutes of the twenty-seventh
Viceroy Staff Meeting dated 7 May 1947, it was stated that Sardar Patel
had been won over and that Nehru, too, would agree (ibid., 659). The
Oonguss left wmg. led by Jawaharlal Nehnl. had initially resisted India
inion in the Ci h as they wanted compl

md:pendence

In an undated report—presumably early May—of the minutes of the
Viceroy’s twenty-ninth Staff Meeting, it was recorded, ‘HIS
EXCELLENCY THE VICEROY said that he considered it most desirable
that, if Dominion status was to be granted to India before June 1948,
the grant should take place during 1947" (ibid., 702-3). He stated the
real advantage of keeping India in the Commonwealth in the following
words:

From the point of view of Empire defence an India within the Commonwealth
filled in the whole framework of world strategy; a neutral India would leave
a gap which would complicate the problem enormously; a hostile India
would mean that Australia and New Zealand were virtually cut off (ibid.,
704).

Mountbatten appears to have calculated that if the Congress Party
agreed to India remaining in the Commonwealth, it was in British
interests to transfer power quickly so that it would become a fait
accompli and thus obviate further wavering by the Indian leaders. It was
clear, by the middle of May 1947, that both India and Pakistan would
remain in the Commonwealth.

THE PARTITION PLAN OF 3 JUNE 1947

The announcement of a Partition Plan, on 3 June 1947, was the most
important step towards the creation of Pakistan. It drastically expedited
the transfer of power from June 1948, as had been announced on 20
February 1947 by Attlee, to mid-August 1947—that is, in less than
eleven weeks. It envisaged a Pakistan comprised of two separate
geographical entities, East and West Pakistan, where the Muslims were
in a majority. Moreover, the Partition Plan stipulated that the legislative
assemblies of Bengal and Punjab would vote on partitioning their

i itp dap dure that required the members of the
Bensal and Pun;ab assembhes. elected in the 1946 provincial elections,
to be divided into two blocs—East and West Bengal, and East and West
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Punjab—on a notional basis of contiguous Muslim and non-Muslim
districts, deriving from the census of 1941. If a simple majority of either
part voted in favour of the partition of their province, this would be
implemented (Mansergh and Moon 1982: 89-94). /

On 20 June, the Muslim-majority eastern bloc 106-35 votes
against the partitioning of Bengal, while the non-Muslim majority
western bloc voted in favour of partition by a division of 58-21
(Chatterji 1999: 168-194). The Punjab Assembly voted on 23 June: the
Muslim-majority western bloc voted by 99-27 against partitioning
Punjab, whereas the non-Muslim-majority eastern bloc voted by 50:22
in favour of it. During 21-31 July, territorial claims by the conflicting
parties were presented before the Bengal and Punjab boundary
commissions. The fundamental principle identified, to determine the
distribution of territory, was contiguous Muslim and non-Muslim
majority areas. However, it was qualified by considerations of ‘other
factors’ which were left undefined. The arguments put forth were based
on zero-sum tactics that nullified any consensus on the distribution of
territory. Even the judges nominated by the two sides made partisan
recommendations (Ahmed 1999: 149-53). Therefore, the Chairman of
the Boundary Commission, Sir Cyril Radcliffe, prepared an award
which, although ready on 13 August, was not made public until 17
August—that is, after India and Pakistan had become independent! It
created considerable bitterness on both sides. In Pakistan, particularly,
it was assailed as a conspiracy hatched by Nehru and Mountbatten to
compel Radcliffe to award Muslim-majority areas to India. /

THE UNITED STATES

Prior to the Second World War, the United States took only cursory
interest in the politics of the subcontinent. That changed once war broke
out. From 1940 onwards, it began to keenty follow developments in
India and started advising Winston Churchill to grant self-rule to the
Indians. When the Muslim League passed the Lahore Resolution,
demanding the partition of India, it went largely unnoticed in the
United States.

THE ATLANTIC CHARTER

On 12 August 1941, US President Franklin D. Roosevelt and British
Prime Mi ister Winston Churchill, and their staffs, met in utmost



secrecy on a warship in the Atlantic Ocean to discuss general strategy
vis-a-vis the Axis Powers during the war. The meeting resulted in the
two leaders signing the Atlantic Charter, the precursor to the United
Nations Charter. The Atlantic Charter publicly denounced Nazi
Germany and the use of force and aggression. Furthermore, it stated
that sovereignty should be restored to people who had been deprived
of it. Churchill interpreted the reference to the restoration of sovereign
rights to people in a limited sense, to those countries that had been
forcibly annexed during the Second World War. Roosevelt considered
it a general principle for decolonization. In order to mislead the
American president, Churchill lied to Roosevelt and told him that 75
per cent of the Indian Army comprised of Muslim soldiers (French
1997: 136-9). He portrayed the Congress Party as a cover for Brahminic

priesthood and its beastly caste system, as well as Japanese sympathizers

in a secret alliance with the Nazis (ibid., 139-64). Although such
information dampened US pressure for a while, the United States kept
the pressure on. Towards the end of the Second World War, thousands
of American soldiers were stationed in north-eastern India but, on the
whole, much of Roosevelt's contemporaneous information was derived
from some diplomats and visiting US media reporters.

A ViISION OF COLLECTIVE SECURITY

The British had been engaged in the Great Game with, first, Czarist

Russia and, later, the Soviet Union for more than a century. In that long

period, the British establishment had acquired deep suspicions about

Russian i ions which, following the Bolshevik lution, had
f d into veritable anath

YALTA CONFERENCE

Such a pessi istic viewpoint was not shared by Roosevelt. Thus, for
example on 11-14 February 1945, when Roosevelt, Churchill, and Stalin
met at Yalta to discuss the post-war reorganization of Europe, Roosevelt
was convinced that if Stalin was conceded a legitimate role in Eastern
Europe, the latter would be amenable to working with the West in the
interest of world peace and democracy. The Soviet Union accepted
Roosevelt's invitation to join the United Nations (Ray 2004: 10). The
Soviet Union also committed itself to entering the war against Japan, 90
days after the defeat of Nazi Germany, and to the holding of elections
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in Poland which, at that time, was under a pro-Soviet regime. On that
occasion, while speaking in the House of Commons, Churchill
remarked:

The impression | brought back from Crimea, and from all other contacts, is
that Marshal Stalin and the Soviet leaders, wish to live in honourable
friendship and equity with the western democracies. 1 also feel that their
word is their bond. I know of no government which stands to its obligations,
even in its own despite, more steadily than the Russian Soviet government
(ibid., 35).

However, in July 1945, Churchill dramatically altered his stand when
he made the famous ‘Iron Curtain’ speech in which he denounced the
Soviet Union as the greatest peril to post-war peace. In the British
security paradigm, the containment of the Soviet Union was paramount
to its position on South Asia. Therefore, the Pakistani scheme began to
receive British support towards the end of their rule, when it was
realized that the Indian Army could not be kept united and that the
Muslim League and Muslim officers in the armed forces wanted a
separate state. Such a state was considered to be more amenable to being
co-opted into a military alliance than an India under the leadership of
Nehru.

REALISM REPLACES LIBERAL IDEALISM IN US FOREIGN
PoLicy

Roosevelt died on 12 April 1945, soon after being elected president for
the third time. His successor, Vice President Harry Truman, was deeply
sceptical about Stalin's peaceful intentions. Powerful right-wing
Republicans ensured that the president took a hard-line against the
Soviet Union. Aswini Ray calls it an intellectual coup that replaced
liberal idealism based on international cooperation with hard-core
realism rooted in the inevitability of war and conflict between states
(2004: 3-5). Such a significant change was manifest in the unfriendly
and rude attitude Truman adopted when he received Soviet Foreign
Minister Molotov in Washington on 23 April 1945, and was supported
by Republican Senator Arthur H. Vandenberg, who was opposed to the
concord that was announced at Yalta (Horowitz 1967: 37). The hawks
were hoping that the Soviet Union would react by boycotting the San
Francisco Conference—which had been called for by Roosevelt, before



his death, to formally launch the United Nations. The Soviet Union
attended the conference in a constructive manner, and accepted the
essentially liberal framework for world peace that the United States had
proposed (ibid., 38; Ray 2004: 16).

The Truman administration continued to provoke the Soviet Union.
Moreover, in accordance with the pledge given at Yalta to Roosevelt by
Stalin, the Soviets began to prepare to enter the war against Japan in the
Far East, 90 days after the defeat of Germany. Before that could happen,
in August, the United States dropped atom bombs on Japan. These two
blasts claimed 400,000 Japanese lives; the Japanese surrendered. The
explosion of the atom bombs greatly aggravated the Soviet sense of
insecurity. The Soviets had paid a staggering price in lives during the
war—at least 20 million Soviet citizens were killed and its villages and
towns had been ravaged in a manner hitherto unknown; her industries
were in ruins, and food production was greatly reduced. At that point
in time, it hardly had the means to embark upon an arms race with the
United States. On the other hand, the latter had greatly increased its
national wealth through the production of armament. In any event,
notwithstanding transformative change in US perceptions about the
Soviet Union under Truman, there was no change in policy towards the
freedom struggle in South Asia. Consequently, pressure on the British
government for an early transfer of power in a united India remained
undi  ished.

MusLIM LEAGUE LEADERS WOO AMERICANS

Jinnah and other Muslim League leaders were acutely aware of the
United States’ rise as the leader of the Western world. Consequently, the
lack of US interest in, and support for, Pakistan was a cause for concern
for them. :2 lmi. later the first Pakistani ambassador to the
United States, a visit 10 the United States in November 1946, wrote
to Jinnah emp g the imp of g the A I He
said, ' have learnt that sweet words and first impressions count a lot
with Americans’ (Kux 2001: 260). Earlier, Jinnah had appeared on the
cover of Time magazine; his rise in politics had been described as ‘a
story of lust for power, a story that twists and turns like a bullock-cart
track in the hills’ (ibid.). Such negative profiling by the US
administration and media did not deter the Muslim League. On 27
December 1946, Liaquat Ali Khan wrote to the US Charge d'Affaires to
India, George Merell, that the massacre of Muslims in Bihar could result
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in chaos and tempt the USSR to move into the subcontinent (Sar(ila
2005: 259). Such a tactic failed to make an impact. On 4 April 1947, the
US Undersecretary of State, Dean Acheson, sent a telegram to the
American embassy in London, in which he wrote, ‘Our political and
economic interest in that part of the world would best be served by the
continued integrity of India’ (quoted in Sarila 2005: 263).

On 1 May 1947, Jinnah told Raymond Hare of the US State
Department that the ‘establishment of Pakistan is essential to prevent
“Hindu Imperialism” from spreading into Middle East; Muslim
countries would stand together against possible Russian aggression and
would look to us for assistance’ (quoted in Kux 2001: lJ).’Sﬁll. the
United States remained unenthusiastic about gaining Pakistan as an ally
at the expense of India (Sarila 2005: 311). Unlike the British whose
obsession with a perceived Russian thrust for warm waters southwards
had resulted in the Great Game between them for more than a century,
the American concerns in Asia were driven largely by concerns of a
communist takeover in China where their nationalist allies, the
Kuomintang, had for quite some time been facing defeat. A united India
with a large army was considered important to contain the Chinese in
Asia (Kux 2001: 15-16). Nevertheless, once India and Pakistan emerged
as separate states, the United States exchanged messages of goodwill
with both (ibid., 7-16).

THE SoVIET UNION

The Soviet Union's policy on the colonial question was premised in
Vladi ir Lenin's famous tract, Imperialism, the Highest Stage of
Capitalism (1917). In it, he argued that Karl Marx’s dialectical
understanding of the role of British colonialism in India, as both the
destroyer of the old order and the harbinger of the new, modern,
capitalist one, had become obsolete. Eyropean colpnial powers were
exploiting the cheap labour and raw materials of the colonies through
direct investment in the colonies, while obstructing indigenous

prise and i C quently, the Soviet Union became a
supporter of decolonization. However, Soviet support before the end of
the Second World War, against various European colonialisms, was
more in terms of spreading Marxist li and ging the
formation of communist parties in the colonies. The exception was
China where it originally advised the ists to subsume their




struggle under the nationalists, but later supported them when the
communists and nationalists clashed.

THE INDIAN FREEDOM STRUGGLE

Some Indians—Hindus, Muslims, and Sikhs—visited the Soviet Union
shortly after the Russian Revolution and came back greatly impressed.
Among the early arrivals from India were a large number of Muslims
who left India during the Hijrat movement of 1920 (Reitz 1995) that
evolved when the Khilafat movement (1919-1924) failed to convince
the British not to dismember the Ottoman Empire (Qureshi 1999).
Some returned to India, committed to an overthrow of colonial rule and
i Notwith ding severe repression, some s:clmns of the
pulation were radicalized: the ganized a number of
slnkts among industrial workers and peasant agitations. The British
response was to initiate conspiracy cases against them (Antonova,
Bongard-Levin, and Kotovsky 1979: 176-93) and to mete out harsh
punishments including the death sentence and long prison terms; some
were sent to the Andaman Islands for life.

The Soviet Union ged the Indian ists to join the
freedom movement against colonial rule. However, conflict between
the communist and Congress leaders, over the aims of the freedom
movement and the strategy needed to realize freedom from colonial
rule, made them difficult partners. Moreover, in the late 1930s, the
Soviet politburo took a radical leftist line on India and supported a
militant class struggle as against Gandhi’s non-violent movement. Stalin
believed that the aim of the Gandhian strategy was ‘to keep the people
disarmed and to retard progress’ (Sarila 2005: 309-10). The Soviet
leader was worried about a united India becoming a vast base for the
British military after independ Further plications arose when
the Indian communists joined hands with the British once the Soviet
Union was attacked by Germany. Suddenly, Indian communist
propaganda which, hitherto, had described the war as an imperialist
conflict began to portray it as a people’s war. Many communists took
up jobs in the colonial administration and became allies of the
government. That created further tension between the Congress and
the Communist Party of India (CPI), because the former remained
opposed to the war effort (Antonova, Bongard-Levin, and Kotovsky
1979: 224-9).




THE PAKISTAN SCHEME

The attitude of the Soviet leaders towards the Pakistan scheme was
confused and ambivalent. On the one hand, they considered it a
flection of British divide-and-rule policy. On the other hand, the CP1
began to portray the demand for Pakistan as a progressive movement
of the oppressed Muslim minority for liberation from the stranglehold
of Hindu lenders and capitalists. It was a diction of the
Soviet state’s official position on nations that rejected religion as a basis
for claiming the status of a nation. Anyhow, the CPI stand—that the
Muslims of India were a nation—was formulated in 1944 by a leading
theorist of the party, Dr G. Adhikari (1944). The CPI enjoined its
Muslim cadres to join the Muslim League and help it acquire a more
class-based political approach instead of only a religious one. Muslim
communists took a leading part in the 1945-46 Muslim League election
campaign. In the key province of Punjab, communist orators such as
C.R. Aslam and Abdullah Malik addressed public gatherings along with
Muslim clerics, projecting Pakistan as a socialist paradise where Islamic
socialist justice would prevail (interviews with Pakistani communists).
Such overtures, however, did not receive a friendly response from the
Muslim League leaders who looked upon them with great suspicion.
heless, the Soviet demician, Yuri Zhukov, who visited India
in March 1947, returned with the belief that the creation of Pakistan
would not harm Soviet interests in the subcontinent.
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The Colonial Roots of the Pakistan Army
X

1857 MUTINY OR WAR OF INDEPENDENCE

In the late eighteenth century, the English East India Company started
recruiting soldiers of Indian stock into their army. As a result, the
Bengal, Bombay, and Madras armies came into being. Recruitment of
Punjabis into the Bengal Army, especially Sikhs, had begun but their
numbers were small until 1857 (Yong 2005: 38). The loyalty of the
Bengal Army (consisting not only of Bengalis but also Northern Indians
from Bihar and the United Provinces or UP) was subverted in 1857
when a mutiny erupted amongst the Indian sipahis (soldiers, hence
sepoys). The mutiny has been hallowed as the First War of Independence
in nationalist Indian and Pakistani writings. It was triggered by a
combination of accumulated grievances against the racist attitude of the
British officers as well as an immediate reaction to the introduction of
a newly introduced cartridge, reportedly laced with cow and pig fat, to
be used in the new Enfield rifle. It had to be chewed open before the
gunpowder could be poured into the rifle. High-caste Hindu, as well as
Muslim, sepoys found such a procedure revolting since the rules of
purity, as prescribed by their religions, were being violated. Most of the
sepoys who took part in the uprising had been recruited from Bengal,
the United Provinces (Uttar Pradesh), and Bihar. Such units were also
posted in the Punjab, and there were mutinies in some places in that
province too (Yong 2005: 44-49).

The rebels proclaimed the Mughal Emperor, Bahadur Shah Zafar,
their sovereign. Some Hindu princes and princesses, who had previously
accepted the Company's paramountcy, also joined the uprising because
they were adversely affected by the Doctrine of Lapse—which gave the
East India Company's government the right to annex princely states if
there was no natural heir and one was not adopted in good time. Other
disgruntled forces that joined the movement were the warlords and
religious figures. The descendants of Shah Waliullah issued a fatwa,



calling it a jihad. The followers of Syed Ahmed Shaheed Barelvi, know:
as Wahabis, also participated in the battles that ensued against th
British (Allen 2006). However, most princes, both Hindu and Muslir
kept away or even sided with the British while the participation of th
common people was isolated, sporadic, and spontaneous.

To defeat the rebels, the British mobilized former Sikh soldiers of th
deceased Maharaja Ranjit Singh, as well as Sikh princes and larg
contingents of Muslim soldiers from north-western India provided b;
Muslim tribal and clan leaders from the Punjab and the Trans-Frontie
Areas. Taking part in warfare as mercenaries, was an establishec
tradition in these regions. Ironically, just a few years earlicr, the Britist
had used soldiers from Bengal, Bihar, and UP to defeat the Sikh armies
which had resulted in the Punjab being annexed in 1849. Afterwards
those Punjabi notables who had sided with the British were rewardec
with titles and land grants in the Punjab and the settled areas known a
the Trans-Fronticr Areas—which, in 1905, were named the North-Wes
Frontier Province. Thus, a structure of loyal landlords was consolidated

In any case, the 1857 uprising lacked effective leadership and cleal
objectives. Initially, the rebels killed many Englishmen including thei
families; but, the counterattack by the British was even bloodier anc
vengeance was wreaked without any sense of proportion or mercy. The
British were later to allege that a grand conspiracy had been hatched by
the Muslims, with Bahadur Shah Zafar at the centre of the plot, tc
establish an Islamic state in India. The facts, however, suggested thal
such a role was thrust upon him by the mutineers and he himsell
wanted to avoid confrontation with the East India Company (Dalrymplc
2006: 439-43). The British were particularly repressive towards the
Muslim rebels and inflicted extreme punishments on them. while the
collaborators from among them were rewarded. Jawaharlal Nehru
observed succinctly: . the heavy hand of the British fell more on the
Moslems than on the Hindus' (1955: 460).

Indian soldiers from ! regional backg d inued
to serve in the army. There were also purely British units, which were
not part of the Indian Army but were part of the British Army. With
regard to the Indian Army, the colonial government’s most significant
policy decision was to exclude the rebellious castes and tribes of
northern India and Bengal, who had been at the helm of the mutiny,
from recruitment opportunities. Instead. emphasis was shifted to the
Punjab. Given the geographical contiguity of the Punjab to the Pushto-
speaking regions in the north-west, beyond which lay Central Asia, it




became the nodal point from which the British launched activities
purporting to expand British influence in Afghanistan and the khanates
in Central Asia. Consequently, in the Great Game that had already
begun in the early nineteenth century between Britain and Czarist
Russia to dominate and bring the peoples of Central Asia under their
spheres of influence, Punjab’s key role was keenly appreciated by the
British (Yong 2005: 67-69).

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE INDIAN ARMY

In 1895, the existing military structures were reorganized into the
Indian Army. It absorbed the armies of the Bengal, Bombay, and Madras
presidencies, as well as the growing body of soldiers from north-western
India. Thenceforth, preference was given to Punjabis in the Indian
Army. The Indian Army served as the linchpin upon which British
power and authority rested (Haq 1993: 1-22; Riza 1989: 75; Yong 2005:
68). A so-called ‘martial races theory’ was adopted, which justified
restrictive sclection of Muslims, Hindus. and Sikhs from specific castes
and regions in the Punjab—which meant developing a firm structure
of dependence, among the Punjabis, on the Raj as well as bonds of
loyalty among the upper-crust of Punjabi society. While Rajputs from
all the three religious communities were recruited from across the
province, special emphasis was given to three regional caste groups: the
Khalsa Sikhs of the Jat (Jatt in Punjabi) caste from central Punjab,
especially those of the Majha region around Amritsar; Muslim tribes of
northern Punjab, such as the Awans, Ghakkars, Janjuas, and Tiwanas
(the latter two being Rajputs), especially those from the Salt Range tract
comprising the districts of Rawalpindi, Jhelum, and Shahpur; and
smaller numbers of Hindu Jats of Rothak and Hissar from south-eastern
Punjab (present-day Haryana), and some Dogras from Kangra (Yong
2005: 70-8).

These three major groups faced acute economic hardship in their

districts—overpopulation and land ion in the Majha, scarce
and poor-quality land in the rain-fed broken hills of the Salt Kange. md
recurring famines in the south districts.

enmity existed between the Sikhs and the Muslims of the Salt Range
because the Sikh ruler of the kingdom of Lahore in central Punjab,
Mahargja Ranjit Singh, had inflicted defeat on the elders of the latter
and cuntailed their powers. These three groups did not share strong
fraternal bonds and were recruited in different companies and



regiments, but under the overall unified command of British officer
(ibid., 78-90).

Besides such careful selection, based on ‘class’ and ‘military districts
the British evolved a sophisticated system of rewarding those connecte
to the army. Regular pay and allowances, pensions, and other economi
benefits were available to the soldiers as well as those who helpec
recruit them. The develop in the late ni h century, of on«
of the largest irrigation systems in the world, in western Punjab, hac
resulted in a network of irrigation canals, barrages, and dams bein
built to provide irrigation water to the agricultural areas known a.
‘canal colonies. The bencficiaries of the land allotments were the
peasantry, mainly from the overpopulated, land-fragmented Eas
Punjab, as well as personnel from the Indian Army (Ali 1989). Other:
to benefit were tribal and clan leaders, village headmen, zaildars
sufedposhs, and so on who helped recruit men for the army. Titles such
as Khan Bahadur, Rai Bahadur, Nawab, and even Sir were conferred or
them. Simultaneously, the government maintained the threat of
cancellation and confiscation of titles and land grants if their bearers
did not cooperate in supplying soldiers to the Indian Army and in
containing trouble in their areas.

Moreover, through the Land Alienation Act of 1901, the British made
sure that its rural support base in the Punjab was safeguarded against
moneylenders and the rising urban entreprencurs. The extent of Punjabi
involvement in the Indian Army can be gauged from the fact that out
of a total of 683,149 combatant troops recruited in India between
August 1914 and November 1918, about 60 per cent were Punjabis
(Yong 2005: 70-98). It is no wonder that, at the beginning of the
twenticth century, Punjab was celebrated as the ‘sword arm of the Raj.
The Indian Ar y was deployed in war theatres in Europe and the
Middle East during the First World War. Initially, the Indian Army was
exclusively comprised of British officets but, in 1917, it was decided that
Indians should also be included in the officer corps. The first Indians
were commissioned in 1919,

MusLIMS IN THE INDIAN ARMY

Notwithstanding a large Muslim presence in the Indian Army, suspicion
and wariness existed in the military establishment about them (Khan
2006: 49). As mentioned earlier, prejudice had persisted since 1857 that
Muslims played the major role in the mutiny of 1857. Before the First



‘World War, there were purely Muslim battalions—that was to change
later. Indian Muslims were extremely worried about Turkey joining the
war, in alliance with Germany and against Britain. When that happened,
it became clear that Indian Muslims would be fighting fellow Muslims.
At the time, the Ottoman Sultan was considered the leader of the

tdwide Sunni Muslim ities. However, the British were able
1o procure fatwas (religious decrees) from mainstream Barelvi-Sunni
ulema (clerics) and pirs (spiritual divines) to the effect that since the
Ottomans were not from the Prophet’s Quraish tribe they could not be
the caliphs of the Muslims and claim the Sunni Muslims’ allegiance.
Therefore, according to the clerics and spiritual divines, Turkey's
participation in the war was not an Islamic war (Alavi 2002; Qureshi
1999: 76). Such a fatwa was important as the Barelvi school had a
stronghold in Punjab and the North-West Frontier Province from where
a very large number of soldiers were recruited into the Indian Army.

Classic Sunni political theory restricted the right to the caliphate to
the Quraish tribe, while Shia thf@r{;‘ ;larrowcd down the leadership
exclusively to the Imam: with Ali a$ the first Imam, and then his direct
descenglans through his marriage 1o the daughter of the Prophet, T8V
Fatima. The centrality of the caliphate, to Islamic power, dimi ished
over the centuries after the later caliphs lost control over their vast
empire that had come into being through conquest during Ap 632-750.
In 1258, the Mongols laid waste to Baghdad and, with it, ended the line
of caliphs in the Arab heartland that traced their descent from the
Quraish. In the thirteenth century, the Syrian, Ibn Taymiyyah, began to
argue that the spiritual leadership of the Muslim community resided in
the custodians of the Islamic faith, the ulema, and therefore rejected the
centrality of the caliph to Islamic power. Ibn Khuldun went even further
and made the Quraish descent to the caliphate a purely historical fact
and not a religious one. However, in 1774, the caliphate theory was
revived, albeit in a modified manner. The precondition of Quraish
descent was waived to enable the Ottoman Sultan to claim equal status
in his negotiations with Czarina Katherine, who claimed to represent
the Orthodox Christians (Ahmed 1987: 56-60; Faruki 1971: 142-51).
In the twentieth century, the Ottoman Sultan symbolized the fagade of
Islamic power and inty in a world i ingly dominated by the
Christian powers of the West.

Despite the fatwas, some minor mutinies occurred among Muslim
soldiers reluctant to fight fellow Turks—the Ottoman Sultan had
entered the war on Germany's side—the most notable took place in




Singapore in February 1915, when some Muslim soldiers killed som
British officers (Qureshi 1999: 78-79). At the same time, ironically
resentment towards Ottoman rule over the Middle East had beei
growing among the Arabs—something the British made full use of t
instigate the Arab revolt of 1916. In any event, at the start of the Firs
World War, the British had obtained a fatwa against the Ottomans
clearing the way for the Indian Muslims to fight against the Turk
during the First World War.

When the War ended, British policy changed: purely Muslim unit:
were not established because Muslim soldiers were deemed susceptibl(
to pan-Islamic appeals. Besides the religious factor, which particularly
affected the loyalties of the Muslim troops, a general feeling of alienatior
was prevalent among the Indian personnel. The future founder o
Pakistan, Mohammad Ali Jinnah, who was already a leading voice ir
Indian politics, began to advocate the ‘Indianization of the army’ By
that, he meant that there was a need for a greater representation of
Indians in the officer corps. He also demanded that a military academy
on the model of Sandh should be established in India. His
was that such inclusive measures would generate loyalty to the King-
Emperor and enhance the Indian sense of participation in the
functioning of the Indian Empire. In this connection, he delivered four
speeches between March 1924 and March 1928, reiterating the need for
more Indian officers (ibid., 240-77). In 1931, he pointed out that out
of 3000 officers, only 70 to 71 were Indians (Jafar, Rehman and Jafar
1977: 240). His efforts, and that of other members of the Indian
Legislative Council, resulted in more Indians being granted the King's
Commission. The Dehra Dun Military Academy was established in
1932, At the start of the Second World War, there were 333 Indian
officers, as against 3031 British officers (Amin 1999: 61).

‘THE PUNJAB UNIONIST PARTY AND ARMY

RECRUITMENT
The Punpab Unionist Party was founded in 1923. Although
ly Muslim in ition, its first leader, Sir_Eazl-i-

Hussain (d. 1936), managed to moblhze landowning interests across the
religious divides and establish a stable inter-communal political order.
His successor, Sir Sikander Hayat Khan (d. 1942), and Sir Chhottu Ram
(d. 1945), the leader of the Hindu Jats of eastern Punjab, continued to
work in alliance with the Sikh Khalsa Nationalist Party led by Sir Sunder



IAL ROOTS OF THE PAKISTAN ARMY

Singh Majithia and Sir Joginder Singh. The Unionists and their Sikh
allies were British loyalists who provided political stability and,
notwithstanding some radical influence on sections of the Sikhs, the
Punjab remained the most loyal as well as the most favoured province
of the British. When the Second World War broke out, Sir Sikander
declared that half a million men from the Punjab would be recruited
into the army (Ahmed 2012: 61). Altogether, 2.5 million men served in
the Indian Army during the War (Marston 2009: 471), resulting in a
further increase of Indian officers, but few were promoted to senior
positions. Thus, for example, as late as 1946 only one Indian, K.M.
Cariappa, had been promoted to the rank of full Brigadier and four to
temporary brigadiers (Riza 1989: 100). Some became colonels, but most
retired as majors and captains.

It is noteworthy, 36 per cent of the men in the Indian Army were
recruited from the Punjab. The actual number of combatants from the
Punjab increased though, in absolute numbers, the share of the Punjab
went down to one-third of the Indian Army. The martial race theory
was practically abandoned and the doors were opened to a wider pool
of people from all over India, as well as from castes and tribes in the
Punjab that hitherto had not been included among the martial races
(Haq 1993: 80). In spite of such significant changes, the martial castes
and tribes continued to be the major component of the Punjabis in the
armed forces. During the Second World War, the Indian Army fought
not only in Europe, Africa, and the Middle East, but also in Southeast
Asia,

No Muslim state was involved in the Second World War, but
misgivings against the Muslims remained steadfast among the policy
makers. Even as late as 1947, there were no exclusively Muslim units
whereas there were purely Hindu and Sikh ones (Mansergh and Moon
1981: 35). According to Noor-ul-Haq, before 1939, the Muslim and
Hindu components of the Indian Army were about 38 per cent each.
After 1942, the Muslim percentage declined to about 32 per cent while,
by the end of 1945, the Hindu percentage had increased to about 47 per
cent (Haq 1993: 83). The figures that Haq has given apply to India as a
whole. He does not mention the situation in the Punjab, where it was
reversed. The Sikh intake declined because of the spread of communist
influence in central Punjab, while that of the Muslims quadrupled. The
percentage of the total male population enrolled in the Indian Army,
especially from the western districts of Rawalpindi, Attock, and Jhelum,
reached 15 per cent (Yong 2005: 290-91). The regional emphasis on




i assumed a p d western province complexion. ‘By
1943, Punjabi Muslims and Pathans accounted for 25 per cent of the
annual intake into the army, while the Sikhs and Hindu Jats accounted
for roughly 7 and 5 per cent respectively’ (ibid., 291).

With regard to the command structure, there was a significant
increase in the number of Indian officers during the Second World
‘War, but as noted already, they held middle level and lower positions.
By 1946-47, almost 80 per cent of the officers were Indians, mostly
Hindu (Cohen 1998: 6). Except for the establishment of the Indian
National Army (INA) by the Japanese, from among the Indian soldiers
and officers that they had captured, the Indian Army as a whole
remained loyal to the King-Emperor (Hamid 1986: 15-22). There was,
however, an abortive uprising of Indian naval ratings in February 1946
(Haq 1993: 132-37).

DIVIDING THE ARMED FORCES

As mentioned earlier, the British establishment believed, almost until
the time of the partition, that the Indian Army should not be divided
even if India was partitioned (Nath 2009: 514). However, as soon as
Mountbatten became viceroy on 24 March 1947, he began to consider
the possibility of the division of the Indian armed forces if India was
partitioned. He probed this with the commander-in-chief, Field Marshal
Auchinleck, on 28 March during one of his earliest meetings with top
British civil and military officials. Auchinleck expressed the view that
it would take ‘from five to ten years satisfactorily to divide the Indian
Army’ (Mansergh and Moon 1981: 35). However, the Muslim League
refused and insisted that Pakistan would need its separate military.
‘When Mountbatten again took up this issue, conveying the Muslim
League's complaint to Auchinleck, that Muslims were underrepresented
in the Indlan Army; the latict dismissed it us'intcorrect and stated that
the proportion of Muslims in the army was 29 per cent—though it had
dropped from 37 per cent before the War because the number of
Madrasis had risen from a mere 3 to 20 per cent. He reiterated that
dividing the army would be a very difficult task and would take a long
time to complete (ibid., 223-5).

H b had become i ingl inced that
India would be partitioned as the chances of agreement between the
Congress and Muslim League, or between the Muslim League and the
Sikhs in the Punjab, had begun to fade away as they assumed




as, from the second half of May,
noung in the Pun;ab was again on the rise, Auchinleck was compelled
to consider the division of the armed forces once more. On 27 May, he
submitted a detailed note in which he elaborated the very serious
practical difficulties in managing such a division. He wrote that there
were no ‘Muslim’ units or ‘Hindu’ units in the navy and air force. All
units were religiously mixed. However, in the army, there were certain
fighting units (battalions and regiments) that consisted of, ‘as far as rank
and file are concerned, wholly of Hindus or wholly of Muslims, but this
does not apply to their officers. British, Muslim, and all other classes of
Indian Officers are completely mixed throughout the Army without any
regard to their race or religion’ (ibid., 1005). He strongly emphasized
that till such time that the process of dividing them was not completed,
it must be ‘centrally conlrollzd until it is completed, unltss lhere is to
be a complete admini: breakdownand ac

of the Armed Forces' (ibid., 1005-6).

3 JUNE 1947 PARTITION PLAN

The long-standing arguments to effect a smooth partition of the armed
forces became irrelevant after the British government announced the
Partition Plan on 3 June 1947—which dramatically moved forward the
date for the transfer of power from June 1948 to mid-August 1947. A
day before the public announcement of the Partition Plan, a conference
paper entitled, ‘The Admi istrative Consequences of Partition’,
redrafted on Mountbatten’s instructions and detailing different
aspects for effecting the colonial state’s division of assets, was
discussed. A Partition Committee, headed by the viceroy and
comprising senior civil and military officers and representatives of the
main political parties, was to oversee the partition process. With
regard to the military, it stipulated that a Defence Committee for the
division of the Indian armed forces would be set up by the commander-
in-chief, who would also establish sub-committees as deemed
necessary. The Defence Committee was to report directly to the
Partition Committee (Mansergh and Moon 1982: 56). From 12-26
June 1947, its members, besides the viceroy, were Liaquat Ali Khan and
Abdur Rab Nishtar of the Muslim League, and Sardar Vallabhbhai
Patel and Dr Rajendra Prashad of the Congress Party. On 27 June, its
name was changed to the Partition Council, and Mohammad Ali
Jinnah replaced Abdur Rab Nishtar.



COMMITTEE FOR THE RECONSTITUTION OF THE
INDIAN ARMED FORCES

On 15 June, Field Marshal Auchi lab d the ittee he hac
set up for the reconstitution of the Indian armed forces and the sub-
committees. The Armed Forces Reconstitution Committee was to be
assisted by the Navy Sub-Committee, Army Sub-Committee, and Ail
Force Sub-Committee. Senior British and Indian officers were includec
in the main committee and sub-committees (ibid., 410-13). The Indiar
personnel of the three branches were to be given a choice to opt for
cither India or Pakistan, subject to acceptance by the governments of
the two dominions (ibid., 412).

On 16 June, Mountbatten met with some of his senior advisers
including V.P. Menon, and informed them that ‘Auchinleck was now
satisfied that the division of the Indian Armed Forces could be carried
out without vitally impairing their efficiency, provided that there was
goodwill and trust, and provided that political pressure was not applied
to hurry the process unduly’ (ibid., 419-20). So, a fundamental change
had taken place in the commander-in-chief’s views on the division of
the armed forces; he now argued that instead of 5-10 years, as he had
previously argued, the task could be accomplished in a few weeks.

On 20 June, Mountbatten met Liaquat Ali Khan who, among other
things pertaining to the armed forces, informed him that ‘he and Mr
Jinnah were resolved that they would not take over the reins of
Government in Pakistan unless they had an Army on the spot, and
under their control’ (ibid., 534). Moreover, Liaquat expressed the view
that, ‘it would help to steady matters if British troops were to remain
while the Indian Army was under process of transition’ (ibid.). A twist
to the division of the armed forces occurred when Jinnah told
Mountbatten, on 23 June, that ‘the Muslims no longer had faith in Field

» Mazshal Auchinleck,and they, would,much prefer to see someone else
in his place’ (ibid., 582). Mountbatten disagreed strongly and replied
that ‘there was no more reliable or respened officer in India than Field
Marshal hinleck’ (ibid.). th did not convey
Jinnah's opinion to Auchlnleck becauu we will learn that, in the days
ahead, Auchinleck’s position turned out to be sympathetic to Pakistan—
on the grounds that a proper and fair distribution of the joint assets of
the armed forces was not allowed by India.

Also, on 23 June, the Field Marshal submitted a note to Mountbatten
in which he argued that while the original date of transfer of power was




June 1948, but as the date had been drastically brought forward, a
complete nationalization of the armies of India and Pakistan would not
be possible and that British officers would be needed by both for some
time (ibid., 583-4). On 24 June, Field Marshal Viscount Montgomery
met Jinnah and Nehru separately in Delhi. Jinnah wanted the
withdrawal of British troops only after 15 August, as trouble was
expected; both wanted some British officers to serve in the armed forces
of their respective countries (ibid., 607-8).

In a meeting of the Partition Committee on 26 June, which Liaquat
Ali Khan, Sardar Patel, Dr Rajendra Prashad, Abdur Rab Nishtar, Lord
Ismay, Sir E. Mieville, Mohamad Ali (Chaudhri Muhammad Ali), A.H.
Patel, and Osman Al (! iat) attended, bers such as
Sardar Baldev Singh and Field Marshal Auchinleck were also present.
Auchinleck informed them that while the division of the armed forces
would take place before partition, nationalization would have to wait
and that British officers would be needed during the transition (ibid.,
652-3). Moreover, until the division was completed, administrative
control for the whole army would remain with a joint headquarters
under the commander-in-chief (ibid., 654). He also informed them that
a reasonable principle for the division ‘would be to move units
composed predominantly of Musli s to Pakistan and the rest to India
respectively’ (ibid.).

Auchinleck only learnt about Montgomery’s meeting with Jinnah and
Nehru informally and hoped to receive formal confirmation. On 26
June, he made it clear, in a brief note, that Jinnah should not expect
British troops to be used to curb communal disturbances. They were to
be used strictly in ‘protecting British life’ (ibid., 660-61). Meanwhile, in
a meeting of the chiefs of staff in London on the same day, the opinion
was expressed that both India and Pakistan would be well-advised to
retain British troops for at least 2 to 3 years, during which period both
states could organize themselves better to ward off forcign aggression
(ibid., 665-71).

A detailed note, dated 27 June, prepared by H.M. Patel—a bureaucrat
nominated to the Partition Council by the Congress Party—on the
instruction of Mountbatten took up different problems relating to the
division of the armed forces, and also discussed the terms of reference
of the Armed Forces Reconstitution Committee. Most centrally, it was
to make proposals for the division of the Royal Indian Navy, Royal
Indian Army, and the Royal Indian Air Force. It stated, ‘For the




successful division of the Armed Forces, the services of a number o
British officers now serving will be required’ (ibid., 699).

TROOP COMPOSITION IN EARLY JULY 1947

On 1 July 1947, the Indian Army comprised 373,570 Indians: 154,78(
or 41.4 per cent Hindus; 135,268 or 36.2 per cent Muslims; 35,390 o1
9.5 per cent Sikhs; 16,382 or 4.4 per cent Christians and others; anc
31,750 or 8.5 per cent Gurkhas (Husain 1999). Thus, of the 2.5 millior
who had been mobilized during the Second World War, most had been
demobilized and sent home while some were sill stationed abroad. In
addition, much smaller numbers were also serving in the navy and air
force in July 1947. British troops in India, at that time, consisted of only
six battalions (Mansergh and Moon 1982: 976).

On 8 July, Nehru informed Mountbatten that ‘a British Commander-
in-Chief and a number of British senior commanders are being asked
to stay on' (Mansergh and Moon 1983: 14). With regard to Pakistan,
Jinnah told Mountbatten that ‘the C-in-C of Pakistan and several of the
senior officers retained will similarly be British® (ibid., 21). On 9 July,
Mountbatten informed the Governor of the Punjab, Sir Evan Jenkins,
that:

The Commander-in-Chief has asked me urgently to impress on all governors
that, in order to carry out the propused reconstitution of the Armed Forces,
it is necessary that as many troops as possible should be released from their
duties in aid of the civil power so that they can be concentrated in their
normal locations (ibid., 34-5).

At a mceting on 10 July, it was decided that, on 15 August 1947, the
Army Headquarters of cach Dominion would become responsible for
operational control of ‘all Indian formations and units within their
respective territories. The present Armed Forces Headquarters will
continue to exist and will become Supreme Headquarters' (ibid., 75).
Moreover, with effect from 15 August, ‘British formations will come
under command of the Major General British Troops in India, who will
be responsible directly to the Supreme Commander’ (ibid.). In a
meeting between Mountbatten and Auchinleck on 15 July, the latter
noted that Sardar Baldev Singh, who was defence member of the
interim government at that time, had spoken ill of British officers and
‘had become quite intolerable recently and was dictated by his inane



desire to do down Pakistan at all costs during the partition of the Armed
Forces; whereas the British officers were anxious to see ordinary fair
play’ (ibid., 165-6).

The India Independence Act of 18 July 1947 referred, only briefly, to
provisions being made for the ‘division of the Indian armed forces of
His Majesty between the new Dominions, and for the command and
governance of those forces until the division is completed’ (ibid., 242).
While such moves were underway in India, opinion in London
continued to be that the two dominions, as members of the British
Commonwealth, should continue to be linked to Britain through
defence and security arrangements. On 24 July, secretary of state for
India and Burma, the Earl of Listowel, conveyed these ideas to Prime
Minister Attlee. While, on the one hand, Britain would ensure that
British troops remained in the subcontinent to thwart the invasion of
these two dominions, on the other hand, India and Pakistan would
provide access to strategic airfields, as well as the cooperation of their
armed forces, in case of British interests being threatened in a war.

However, mutual help was to be freely decided by the two dominions;
even if they did not join the war, they were to provide bases and other
facilities (ibid., 314-21). The Earl of Listowel did not dwell on another
possibility—what would happen if India and Pakistan went to war
against each other. Since both would be members of the Commonwealth,
the role of the former paramount power would become very difficult to
define. Therefore, he did not express an opinion on such a situation.
Earlier, Mountbatten had exerted greal pressure on both to join the
C Ith and had d

In a letter dated 26 July to Mountbatten, Jawaharlal Nehru opposed
the appointment of Chaudhri Muhammad Ali as financial adviser for
military finance to the commander-in-chief because he had opted for
Pakistan. Nehru wanted someone else as the financial adviser on India
to the commander-in-chief, or possibly a joint Military Finance and
Accounting Organi tion under Chaudhri Muhammad Ali or a British
officer. Nehru plained that the d hief’s attitude was
not in line with the position that Congress had developed. As supreme

der, for a short itional period, he would not ‘be free to
carry out administration in accordance with his own ideas’ (ibid., 366).

The point Nehru was making was that Auchinleck would have to
abide by the policies the Indian government would make during that
period. Mountbatten reported at the 65(I| Staff Meeting, on zs luly, (hn
the Indian position had been explained to the




that Chaudhri Muh d Ali was not acceptable to India—and that
he understood it and would make the required changes. More
importantly, it was clarified that, apart from some minor clashes
between the two dominions in which British officers in the employ of
the two dominions may play a role, they would not do so if it escalated
into a war between them (ibid., 374).

The chief of general staff in India, Licutenant-General Arthur Smith
prepared a top secret document dated 29 July that was ‘not to be
divulged to Indians’ (ibid., 394), and which was only to be shared by
the highest level of British officers that were going to serve with India
and Pakistan; when they left, all copies of it were to be destroyed. It
stated that, after 14 August, British troops could not be used to save
Indian lives in communal disturbances in either India or Pakistan. They
could, however, be used in a communal disturbance to protect British
lives (ibid., 395).

A personal report of the viceroy dated 1 August mentioned, among
other things, the formula upon which the division of the armed forces
would take place:

1 should explain that we have been working on the basis of communal
proportions in dividing the fighting services, the smaller partner by far
being, of course, Pakistan. In the case of the Army this was the obvious
method of dividing the actual soldiers since there was no shortage of
equipment, and it worked out at a rough proportion of 70:30. In the case of
the Navy it worked out at about 60:40, but as India [sic] have a far bigger
coastline with more harbours and a far greater proportion of the trade to
guard, the actual ships were divided in the proportion of 70:30. When it
came to the Air the communal proportions worked out at 80:20. As there
were ten squadrons to divide (2 transports and 8 fighters) the India
representatives claimed 8. The Armed Forces Reconstitution Committee
recommended that on the [sic) analogy of the naval partition the

to guard (ibid., 446).

Such a decision did not please the Indian representatives in the Armed
Forces itution C i noted Mountb Previously, they
had turned down Mountbatten's suggestion that India should send air
squadrons to help Pakistan if there was trouble with the tribes in the
North-West Frontier Province. However, they agreed that if Pakistan
was invaded by Afghanistan or any other foreign power they would
consider lending their squadrons to Pakistan. However, ‘They now took




the line that even to give Pakistan one of the squadrons to which they
[India] would be entitled would be equivalent to giving them India’s
facilities to use them against the tribes’ (ibid., 447). Moreover, Sardar
Patel infuriated Jinnah and Liaquat by referring to the tribes of the
North-West Frontier Province as ‘our people’s more significantly, he
suggested that Auchinleck and his senior commanders ‘are becoming
pro-Pakistan, whereas in fact they are, of course, merely trying to be
fair' asserted Mountbatten (ibid.).

With specific regard to the Pakistan Army, Mountbatten wrote on 8
August that General Messervy—who was going to be the commander-
in-chief of the Pakistan Army—had informed him that after Pakistan
became independent, there would be only 35 battalions left at the
disposal of Pakistan, instead of the current 67, including 5 British
battalions. This would create a dangerous situation on the North-West
Frontier border. Therefore, ‘up to 10,000 demobilized Punjabi
Mussalmen and Pathan infantrymen should be re-enlisted for the
Regular Army as soon as possible, wrote Messervy (ibid., 600). He also
suggested that Pakistan should declare that there was no question of
altering the border with Afghanistan, now or in the future
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The First Kashmir War, 1947-1948

Pakistan and India became independent on 14 and 15 August 1947,
respectively. However, the Radcliffe Award, which fixed the
international border between them, was publicly announced afterwards
on 17 August 1947. The Pakistan that emerged was ‘moth-eaten, as its
founder, Mohammad Ali Jinnah, had famously exclaimed, in
exasperation. when he realized after the announcement of the 3 June
1947 Partition Plan that the Muslim-majority provinces of Bengal and
Punjab may not be awarded to Pakistan as a whole. By the last week of
that month, it was certain that Bengal and Punjab would be divided. In
Bengal, Radcliffe gave away some Muslim majority districts or portions
to India but, 1 ly. placed the Chi g Hill Tracts—which
was predominantly comprised of Buddhist and Animist tribes—in
Pakistan, even when they and their leaders wanted to be in India (Banu
1991: 240).

The award on Punjab was even more controversial. It was ready by
13 August but made public on 17 August, i.c. after Pakistan and India
had become independent. It pleased neither India nor Pakistan, though
both accepted it as legally binding (Ahmed 2012: 273-76). Pakistan
developed an acute sense of injustice because Gurdaspur district, which
had a very slight Muslim majority (51 per cent), was split. Three of the
four tahsil revenue and unit smaller than a district—
which were mainly located on the castern bank of the river Ravi, were
given to India. Such a decision was attributed to a purported conspiracy,
hatched by Mountbatten and Nehru, to provide India with a dirt road
to the Kashmir Valley via the Pathankot tahsil of the Gurdaspur district
Morcover, some portions of Lahore district, that had Sikh majorities,
were taken away and given to East Punjab to make the border between
Lahore on the Pakistani side and Amritsar on the Indian side more or
less equidistant. The final border was almost a ditto copy of Viceroy
Lord Wavell's top secret Demarcation Plan of February 1946, which was
an auxiliary to the Demarcation Plan of February 1946; the latter had
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been prepared by Viceroy Wavell as part of the Breakdown Plan of
December 1945. Wavell had argued that Amritsar, a non-Muslim
majority district of the Lahore division and a sacred city for the Sikhs,
would remain in India. Therefore, the adjoining Muslim-majority
tahsils to the left of Amritsar—Batala and Gurdaspur—and the whole
of the non-Muslim majority Ferozepore district on the right of Amritsar,
including its abutting Muslim-majority tahsils of Ferozepore and Zira,
would remain in India. Thus, Amnmr would not protrude mto
Pakistani territory and so face p ity and an exi:

risk (Mansergh and Moon 1976: 912).

On the other hand, the Sikhs were denied Nankana Sahib, the
birthplace of the founder of their religion, Guru Nanak. Additionally,
Sikh and Hindu claims on Lahore, Lyallpur, Montgomery, and many
other districts of Lahore division, on the basis of overwhelming
property ownership, were also rejected (Ahmed 1999: 153-4).
Wrangling about the division of territory was greatly exacerbated by the
fact that the partition process proved to be a very bloody affair. It
resulted in the biggest forced migration of people in modern history:
an estimated 14-18 million crossed the India-Pakistan border. It was
also the first experiment in ethnic, or rather religious, cleansing in the
Punjab—almost no Hindu or Sikh was left in the Pakistani West Punjab.
Equally, in East Punjab, the Muslims were nearly wiped out except for
in the tiny princely state of Malerkotla. Anywhere between a million
and two million people perished in the partition of India, of which
500,000 to 1,000,000 were the Hindus, Muslims, and Sikhs of the
Punjab. At least 90,000 women were abducted, many were raped, and
some were never recovered (Ahmed 2012: xxxvi-xxxviii).

The international border in the Punjab was drawn frightfully close
to Lahore, the designated capital of the Pakistani West Punjab and
arguably the most important city of Pakistan in 1947. Other major
towns, such as Sialkat, were. also. not far from the border. In case of a
successful advance by the Indian Army in the Pakistani Punjab, West
Pakistan could easily be split into two. On the opposite side, in East
Punjab, Amritsar and Ferozepore were equally close to the border, and
Jullundhar and Hoshiarpur were not very far. However, India had vast
space at its disposal, to furnish it with strategic depth. Its key cities of
Delhi, Bombay, and Madras were safely removed from the border.

Moreover, there was 1000 miles of Indian territory between East and
West Pakistan. Pakistan's worries did not stop at its border with India.
On the western border, Pakistan inherited the Durand Line which




de oy

THE FIRST KASHMIR WAR,

"l

p

-

divided the Pakhtun tribes of India and Afghanistan. Pakistan wanted
the status quo to be maintained; something the Afghans were oppcs:d
to. Therd’ore Afghani d its displ by

k b p of the UN Afghani: however, had ami:abl:
relations with India. From a military and defence point of view, Pakistan
was in an exceptionally vulnerable situation at the time of its birth.
Earlier, during the 1946 provincial elections, the Frontier Congress,
which was supported by the Khudai Khidmatgars of Abdul Ghaffar
Khan, won 30 seats including 19 Muslim seats, while the Muslim League
secured 17 seats (Ahmed 1998: 184). Yet, after a referendum that
allowed only two options: the province could either join India or
Pakistan, the province was allotted to Pakistan. The Frontier Congress
wanted a third option, namely the creation of an independent state of
Pakhtunistan. As this demand was overruled by the British, the Frontier
Congress boycotted the referendum. Thus, out of a total electorate of
572,798 only 292,118 cast their votes. Votes cast for Pakistan were
289,244 and for India 2874. This meant that 50.5 per cent votes were
cast for Pakistan (Jansson 1981: 222).

Balochistan, the largest area in West Pakistan in ter s of area but
the most sparsely populated, became part of Pakistan in a different
manner. British Balochistan acceded to Pakistan in 1947 through the
decision of the Shahi Jirga—a consultative assembly whose members
were nominated by the government. The Khan of Kalat, however,
declared himself independent on 11 AnE:st 1947—until, under the
threat of military action, the State of Kalat ‘acceded’ to Pakistan at the
end of March 1948. On 1 April 1948, the Pakistan Army was sent into
Kalat. The Khan had already signed the accession bill on 27 March, but
his younger brother, Prince Abdul Karim, declared a revolt against
Pakistan, Although some skirmishes took place, the rebels were finally
defeated (Harrison 1981: 22-23). Sindh, in southern West Pakistan, was
the only province that was awarded to Pakistan without any change in
its boundaries.

Under the circumstances, while being a South Asian state, Pakistan
could claim geographical and cultural linkages beyond South Asia. West
Pakistan was geographically and culturally linked to central and west Asia.
East Pakistan was located on the border with Southeast Asia. Communist
movements were prevalent in many parts of Southeast Asia; in China, the

ists were ging as powerful competitors for power against
the nutionalists. Given such a sui generis location, Pakistan was in a
position to serve as an outpost for military action to other regions.
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However, such potential for worldwide military assignments was onl:
hypothetical in 1947. Pakistan was to receive assets from the Britist
Indian Army in the proportion of 64:36; India was to receive the greate
share since it was larger in terms of territory and population—ir
roughly the same proportion. Consequently, Pakistan received siy
armoured divisions while India received fourteen. Pakistan was giver
eight artillery regiments while forty were given to India; eight infantry
regiments were awarded to Pakistan, and twenty-one to India. Moreover
there was an acute dearth of officers and technically trained personne
in Pakistan (Cohen 1998: 7). Viceroy Mountbatten had established thc
Joint Defence Council (JDC) comprising himself, the defence ministers
of India and Pakistan, and Field Marshal Claude Auchinleck—who, or
15 August 1947, was appointed Supreme Commander of both the
Indian and Pakistani armies. The ]DC had been tasked to complete its
work of dividing the armed forces and military assets by the end of
March 1948 (Cheema 2003: 18). However, according to Pervaiz Iqbal
Cheema, the |DC could not work properly because the Indians did not
cooperate and exerted immense pressure on Governor-General
Mountbatten—Mountbatten served as Governor-General of India after
independence—to abolish the JDC, which he did. Cheema has
remarked:

Auchinleck had predicted that Pakistan would not get its share of military
assets, and that proved to be the case. Pakistan's Foreign Minister later
informed the UN Security Council that the Indians as well as Lord
Mountbatien had failed to honour their pledges to deliver Pakistan its proper
share, and ‘out of 165000 tons of ordnance stores due to Pakistan only 4703
tons were delivered by 31st March 1948’ That meant that only 3 per cent of
the total allocated stores were delivered. Not a single one out of 249 allocated
tanks was delivered and whatever Pakistan received in terms of ammunition
or other items of military stories was cither damaged or unserviceable or
obsolete. Moreover, India inherited all the ordnance factories, as these were
situated in areas that formed part of India, and Pakistan was deprived of the
compensation that would enable it to build its own (ibid.)



This ambition could not be sustained because of many reasons. Since
Jinnah had left Delhi, he could not influence what was happening
India any longer. This problem was compounded by the fact that
Mountbatten was not the governor-general of both India and Pakistan—
which further weakened Pakistan's ability to be represented in Delhi.
Auchinleck had found Jinnah's abrupt departure to Karachi especially
dangerous as Pakistan no longer had a leader of stature present in
Delhi—where the Supreme Commander had his office—to represent it
while ncgotiations were taking place. The Field Marshal expressed this
in the following words:

Pakistan representation has undoubtedly suffered from the fact that her
Government is in Karachi and not in Delhi and this has resulted on more
than one occasion in my having to suggest or present the case for Pakistan,
which is undesirable as it has undoubtedly increased the already strong and
carefully fostered conviction of members of the Indian Cabinet and their
subordinate officials that 1 and the olficers of Supreme Commanders
Headquarters are biased in favour of Pakistan (quoted in Oshorn 1994: 173).

Nevertheless, Auchinleck continued to insist on a fair division of the
colonial Indian Army’s joint assets, only to face increasingly hostility
from India. The Indian government began a concerted campaign to
demand that he be removed from the position of Supreme Commander.
By 26 September 1947, Mountbatten gave in to such pressure and wrote
to the field marshal that the Indian government wanted his removal. He
told him that the Pakistan government would oppose that, but only to
draw capital out of the situation. He informed Auchinleck that, ‘It is
only a while ago that they were pressing for your removal on the
grounds of your anti-Moslem ' (ibid., 186). batten was
referring to what Jinnah had stated some months earlier about the
Muslim League having no faith in the ﬁeld marshal. It is clear that

was no longer i d in ing the ficld marshal.
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Jinnah had rebuffed Mountbatten by denying him the position o
governor-general of Pakistan as well. Such a rebuff, in all probability
prejudiced Mountbatten against Pakistan though the truth is that, a
lustunul l Au@m,l\e!nedloml’ahmnlufwshm
and other British officials, ir
early October, that he had decided to leave Delhi by 30 November anc
to close his office on 31 December 1947. He also informed Jinnah. Or
16 October, when the Joint Defence Council (JDC) met, Jinnah objectec
to the decision, asserting that the task of dividing the assets had not
been completed and, therefore, such a decision was unacceptable
Mountbatten countered by stating that most of the assets had been
divided and whatever was left to be sorted out could be done by the
commanders-in-chief of the two armies (both were Englishmen). On
21 October, the Indian govemment pubhdy endorsed the early closure
of the Supreme Ci Thereafter, some legal
quibbling followed about whether the Joint Defence Council could alsc
be dissolved before April 1948 (ibid., 187-98). The British government
had already been won over by Mountbatten's,argument, to the idea of
winding up the Supreme Commander Headquarters. The JDC also lost
its relevance in the subsequent months. In any case, by 7 November
1947, of all d and artillery regi had been
pleted in both directi imilarly, all infantry units from India to
Pakistan, and all except one from Pakistan to India, had also been
completed (Amin 1999: 78). However, with regard to equipment and
ilitary hardware, Pakistan did not receive its due share of the military
sets, as Cheema has noted.

GETTING STARTED
Although some industrialization had been t; place in British India
nning of the twentieth century, this was In areas that
remained in India. The level of education in Pakistan was extremely
low, and overall social development poor. Pakistani society comprised
of rich landlords, a small intelligentsia, and millions of peasants,
artisans, and other poor. A substantial middle-class was conspicuous by
its absence. Pakistan's exchequer was nearly empty when it began its
journey as an independent state. In the regard, it is important to
mention the famous fast-unto-death that Mahatma Gandhi undertook
to force the Indian government to give Pakistan its due share of Rs 550
illion from a common kitty bequeathed by the colonial state. The




argument that Nehru and Home Minister Patel pleaded, for withholding
the cash, was that Pakistan would buy arms to sustain its ongoing covert
military activities in Kashmir. However, they had to give in to Gandhi’s
pressure (Ahmed 2010).

In any case, lack of capital and infrastructure created a basis for
soliciting foreign help and aid—to finance Pakistan's modernization and
development (Burki 1991: 111). However, attention to modernization
and development was eclipsed by security concerns immediately after
Pakistan came into being. The India Independence Act of 15 June 1947
had left the status of the princely states contentious. On the one hand,
they were free to decide their future and could, in principle, remain
independent but were expected to negotiate their relationships with the
two successor states of India and Pakistan. Most of the princely states
that were surrounded by Indian territory sought merger with India. The
same happened in Pakistan. The princely states of Bahawalpur,
Khairpur, Makran, Lasbela, Chitral, Dir, Swat, Amb, and Phuira sought
merger with Pakistan (Gankovsky and Gordon-Polonsk 1972: 97-
98). On the other hand, there were some cases where annexation by
India and Pakistan was controversial, and in some cases involved
military action. Thus, for example, Kalat State in Baluchistan declared
independence on 11 August 1947 but was coerced into acceding to
Pakistan at the end of March 1948. Hyderabad State, ruled by a Muslim
but with a population that was 89 per cent Hindu and totally surrounded
by Indian territory, declared itself independent but was militarily
annexed by India in September 1948. Junagarh and Manavadar, two
small states on the Kathiawar Peninsula, were ruled by Muslims but
their populations were overwhel ingly Hindu. Their rulers decided to
join Pakistan even though their states lay well within Indian territory.
Pakistan accepted such a procedure; India did not (Fyzee 1991: 331).
Uprisings took place in the two states and, in October-November 1947,
Indian troops moved in. In January 1948, Pakistan raised the question
of the annexation of these states by India at the UN Security Council.
A plebiscite, arranged by India, indicated that the people of these states
wanted to join India. The government of Pakistan, however, refused to
recognize the validity of the plebiscite (Gankovsky and Gordon-
Polonskaya 1972: 165). But, none of these issues embittered relations
between India and Pakistan more than the dispute over the princely
state of Jammu and Kashmir—more on that below.

The most pressing problem that Pakistan faced immediately upon
attaining independence was the influx of millions of refugees, especially
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in West Pakistan and specifically in West Punjab. Uprooted, devastated,
and traumatized, the refugees needed food, shelter, and medical
attention. The relief camps that were established proved woefully
inadequate and it took a long time for the refugees to be rehabilitated.
Amid such egregious difficulties, the Kashmir conflict erupted and, for
more than a year, military hostilities continued between Pakistan and
India over the possession of Kashmir.

THE FIRST KASHMIR WAR

The princely state of Jammu and Kashmir was purchased from the
British by Gulab Singh Dogra, a Rajput Hindu ruler of Jammu, who
paid Rs 7.5 million for the annexation of the Kashmir Valley and other
adjoining territories—previously a part of the Sikh kingdom of Punjab
under Ranjit Singh. The total area of the undivided pre-Partition Jammu
and Kashmir state, in 1947, was 85,783.096 sq miles. There was an
overall Muslim majority of 78 per cent. Technically, the lapse of
paramountcy on British withdrawal meant that the princely states could
declare themselves independent. However, they were expected to join
either India or Pakistan. On the other hand, the legal right to sign the
Accession Bill was vested in the ruler, who was expected to take the
wishes of his people into consideration. The Maharaja wanted to retain
his princely state’s independence and therefore did not seek merger with
cither India or Pakistan. He even negotiated a standstill agreement with
Pakistan, from where much of the food items and other essential
supplies were traditionally acquired by his government. He had also
offered a standstill agreement to India, but no response had been
received from it (Teng 1990: 33). As mentioned earlier, the Radcliffe
award had provided a dirt road, to India, to Kashmir via Pathankot in
(Iw Punjab. Such vague guldzhnes left it entirely to the discretion of the
to choose thein rel. hips: with India and Pakistan. Both
Cow;nss and the Muslim League had begun to vie with each other over
Kashmir. The National Conference, led by Sheikh Abdullah from the
Kashmir Valley, was allied to the Congress while the Muslim Conference
of Chowdhary Ghulam Abbas from Jammu was pro-Pakistan. However,
the influx of tribesmen from Pakistan made the Maharaja change his
mind.
Major General (Retd.) Shahid Hamid, Private Secretary to
Auchinleck, has asserted that Ram Chandra Kak, a Kashmiri Brahmin
and the premier of Kashmir, advised Maharaja Hari Singh to join




Pakistan, warning him that the Muslims of Kashmir would rebel if he
acceded to India; he, however, started encashing his assets in Kashmir
and transferring the money to India and the United Kingdom.
Moreover, he secretly began negotiating the terms of accession to India,
which would maintain the independence of his princely state. But then,
his Muslim subjects of Poonch rebelled, and the Kashmir army sent to
quell the rebels joined them instead (Hamid 1986: 272-5). Hamid made
this observation:

As long as there was hope that wise counsel would prevail and the Maharajah
would respect the wishes of his people [to join Pakistan], the tribesmen were
held back from entering Kashmir. Once it was known that Hari Singh was
likely to accede to India, they could not be held back any more and started
infiltrating Kashmir (ibid., 275)

Hamid does not provide conclusive proof that the Maharaja was indeed
thinking of acceding to India. To say that it was ‘known that Hari Singh
was likely to accede to India’ is, at most, a strong suspicion. Meanwhile,
the communal riots that were raging in Punjab quickly spread to
Kashmir. In the Poonch region, on 24 August, an uprising started in
reaction to firing on a political meeting being held in a village in that
district by the Kashmir State Force. The rebels massacred many Hindus
and Sikhs. Nearly 60,000 demobilized ex-servicemen joined the
rebellion; they began to harass the Kashmir forces and disrupted traffic
on the roads and bridges. Most of the Muslim members of the Kashmir
army deserted and joined the rebels (Amin 1999: 88). Anti-Muslim
riots, in turn, broke out on a large scale in Jammu. Jammu'’s Muslims
were killed in the thousands, and more than half a million fled to
Pakistan.

The key figure in the raid on Kashmir, Akbar Khan, has provided
detailed information on the whole Kashmir project in his book, Raiders
in Kashmir (1992). He has argued that, without Kashmur, Pakistan
would always be vulnerable to Indian attack if India placed its troops
on the western border of Kashmir from where it could easily threaten
Pakistan's security between Lahore and Rawalpindi. Moreover, West
Pakistan’s agricultural economy was dependent on the rivers entering
its territory from Kashmir. Mian Iftikharuddin, Rehabilitation and
Refugee Minister in the Pakistani Punjab government, was tasked, by
the Muslim League leaders, to contact the Kashmiri leaders with a view
to convincing them to accede to Pakistan. While some money would be



made available to them, the action had to be unofficial and no Pakistan
troops or officers were to take an active part in it. As Director o
‘Weapons and Equipment at GHQ, Akbar Khan knew that there was ¢
serious shortage of arms and ammunition as most of it still lay in India
Weapons of the Pakistan Army could not be used without the

of the C der-in-Chief, General Messervy. So
explonm;nprevnoucprrmdﬂn Akbar Khan had 4000 rifles issued tc
the Punjab police (ibid., 20).

Akbar developed an overall plan that included a number of entry
points into Kashmir, and other details about how to launch and
coordinate the whole operation. He gave it to Iftikharuddin who took
it to Lahore where a conference was held in the office of Sardar Shaukat
Hayat—who was also a mi ister in the Punjab government. Akba:
Khan has complained that his plan was not considered and the one by
Shaukat Hayat adopted instead (ibid., 18-22). Besides, Prime Ministe
Liaquat Ali Khan, the others present were Finance Minister Ghulam
Mohammad, Mian Iftikharuddin, Zaman Kiyani (formerly an officer
in Subhash Chandra Bose’s Indian National Army), Khurshid Anwar
(a commander of the Muslim League National Guards), Sardar Shaukat
Hayat, and Akbar Khan himself. He has described the attitude of the
people present as enthusiastic but ‘there was no serious discussion of
the problems involved' (ibid., 23). The whole operation lacked effective
central control.

Shaukat Hayat and Khurshid Anwar mistrusted each other and were

not going to cooperative with each other. At that stage, although Akbar
Khan had no responsibility for the Kashmir project, he took Brigadier
Sher Khan, who was head of intelligence, into confidence; the latter
provided him with information and assistance. A number of other
officers from the army and air force also helped with clothing,
ammunition, and some weapons and ammunition. Meanwhile, India
had begun to complain. that Rakistan was vielating the standstill
agreement with Kashmir by applying economic pressure on it to accede
to Pakistan. The economic pressure included an economic blockade on
essential supplies of k petrol, foodstuffs, and salt.
India complained that Pakistan had tampered with the railway service
between Jammu and Sialkot. Meanwhile, even the pro-India Sheikh
Abdullah had been criticizing the Maharaja for not doing anything to
assuage the fears of the Kashmiri Muslims who were afraid that the
violence against Muslims in East Punjab could also spread to Kashmir.
Akbar Khan then made a startling remark:




As even Sheikh Abdullah was putting the blame on the Maharajah, it seems
that the latter could not bring himself to accede to India, and he was unable
to find any excuse for inviting Indian assistance, But, then, suddenly at this
stage, the whole situation was radically altered by the entry of Frontier
tribesmen into Kashmir on the 23rd of October. This event was of such
significance tha it led to the accession of the State to India within four days
(ibid., 27).

Apparently, Akbar Khan was not informed about the entry of the
tribesmen; Khurshid Anwar was the person who gathered the lashkar
(army). A telegram was sent from the Pakistan GHQ to the commander-
in-chief of India informing him that 5000 tribesmen had attacked and
captured Muzaffarabad and Domel. The tribal attack was a roaring
success, according to Akbar Khan, but it meant that India was bound
to respond to it. He has written, ‘In Delhi, on the third day of the attack,
the Indian Service Chiefs were ordered, in expectation of the
Mabharajah’s appeal for help, to prepare troops to Kashmir. ~ Next
morning when the tribesmen captured Baramula, 35 miles from
Srinagar, the Maharajah decided he was going to have no more
nonsense’ (ibid., 28-9). The Maharaja fled, totally traumatized, to
Jammu. He reportedly instructed his ADC that ‘if in the morning Mr
V.P. Menon did not return from India with help, it would mean that
everything was lost and in that case the ADC was to shoot him in his
sleep!” (ibid., 29).

Hari Singh requested help from India on 24 October. India
dispatched V.P. Menon to Srinagar, who told the Maharaja that Indian
troops would be sent only if he acceded to India. The Maharaja,
according to India, signed the accession bill on 26 October 1947. On 27
October, as Commander-in-Chief General Messervy was on leave,
Governor-General Mohammad Ali Jinnah ordered the acting
Commander-in-Chief, General Gracey, to attack Kashmir. However, the
Supreme Commander of bmh the armies, Field Marshal Auchinleck,

led it and th d to withdraw all British offi hich
made Jinnah change his mind (Amin 1999: 91). Akbar Khan has
claimed that, many years later, he learnt that Jinnah had ordered an
attack upon Jammu on the 27th but Gracey refused to comply without
first seeking permission from Auchinleck, who refused it (Akbar 1992:
33-34). He explains other reasons that Gracey may have given:

More likely, that General Gracey had persuaded the Quaid-e-Azam to
withdraw his orders after giving him his reasons which might have been, for



instance, that the Pakistan army was still being organised, that a neutra
Boundary Force under another General still existed in the Punjab, and th(
British Government would most probably withdraw all British officers from
the army in case of a war between two Dominions (Khan 1992: 34).

About eti ian troops entered Kashmir territory, Akbai
Khan wrote:

The tribesmen had reached here [Baramula which was only 35 miles from
Srinagar] on the 26th. Until then Kashmir had not acceded to India and
Indian troops had not been flown in. The State troops thoroughly
demoralized, had retreated in disorder. Only 35 miles remained of level
road and virtually no resistance. The tribesmen had barely two hour
journey left—and before them lay Srinagar, trembling, seemingly at their
mercy. But the tribesmen had not moved forward that day, nor the next
day. When at last they had advanced on the 28th, they had encountered the
Indian troops that a hundred aircraft had been bringing in since the
previous day (ibid., 39).

The tribesmen indulged in looting, plundering, and rape (Cloughley
2000: 14). Akbar Khan has not mentioned these incidents. In a moment
of exuberance, he claimed that the Indian armed forces were only twice
the strength of the Pakistan ones and that, in the past, smaller armies
have successfully defeated larger ones. Moreover, he boasted that: ‘Had
they [the Indians] gone into East Pakistan, they would have exposed
East Punjab against which, they feared, we could open the flood gates
of 200,000 armed tribesmen and this was a paralysing thought' (Khan
1992: 35). P bly, he was ing that the trib 's notoriety
for cruelty and barbarism would deter India from attempting to gain
the upper hand against Pakistan. He does not consider an Indian
counter-move into West Punjab, in the event that its troops were on the
verge of losing Kashmir to the Pakistani tribesmen and irregular and
tegular forcés. Carrylng on with the narrative, he stated that a liberation
committee was formed; Liaquat Ali Khan informed the committee that
the fighting had to go on for the next three months so that Pakistan's
political objective could be achieved through negotiations and other
means. Akbar did not explain the political objective. In any event, he
saw the tribal lashkar for the first time on 29 October at Muzaffarabad
(later capital of Pakistani Azad Kashmir) and was ecstatic. He has
noted:




Thereafter, the author goes into the details of what followed—more
tribesmen poured into Kashmir. However, they soon began to fall back,
instead of advancing, as the Indians struck back. The tribesmen’s skills
at sniper shooting and other guerrilla tactics did not prove useful in the
plains of the valley. Nor did Pakistan fully support them by trying to
capture Jammu, asserts Akbar Khan. By 5 November, the major portion
of the tribal lashkar had withdrawn from Kashmir. Meanwhile, the
Indians kept bringing in more forces and skirmishes continued through
the winter. In the middle of February 1948, Akbar Khan was relieved,
on his request (ibid., $3-80).

Sir George Cunningham. an old NWFP-hand who served as
governor of the NWFEP till the beginning of 1946 and then rcturned to
Britain, was invited, on 4 July 1947, to return and assume that office
again by the colonial government. Jinnah had requested his services but
Cunningham was reluctant; he obliged when Mountbatten supported
Jinnah's request, and took the oath of office on 15 August. At that time,
there was some uncase about the NWFP government being headed by
the pro-Congress Dr Khan Sahib. On 23 August 1947, Jinnah amended
the 1935 Government of India Act to legalize the dismissal of the
government of Dr Khan Sahib and, instead, a Muslim League-led
government under Abdul Qayyum Khan was appointed. Cunningham
was uncasy about the constitutional propriety of such a decision but
went along (Norval 1968: 130). The change of government resulted in
attacks on the Hindu and Sikh minoritics who were forced to flee to
India. News of the atrocities against Muslims in East Punjab had
incensed the Pakhtun tribesmen and they wanted to Kill or drive the
non-Muslims out of NWFP. Cunningham was opposed to the invasion
of Kashmir by tribesmen but they had already entered Kashmir through
Punjab. On 25 October, Colonel Iskandar Mirza (later president of
Pakistan) arrived from Lahore and gave hi the following background
to the invasion:

He told me all the underground history of the present campaign against
Kashmir, and brought apologics from Liaquat Ali for not letting me know
anything about it sooner. Liaquat had meant to come here last week and tell



me about it personally but was prevented by his illness, which seems to b
fairly serious heart trouble. Apparently Jinnah himself heard of what wa
going on about fifteen days ago, but said ‘Don't tell me anything about it
My conscience must be clear’ Iskandar is positive that Hari Singh means 1
join India as soon as his new road from Pathankot is made, which might b
within three months. He has got a lot of Sikhs and Dogras into Poonch anc
Jammu, and has been trying to shove Muslims into Pakistan in accordanc(
with the general Indian strategy. It was decided apparently a month ago tha'
the Poonchis should revolt and should be helped. Abdul Qayyum was in i
from the beginning. British Officers were kept out simply not to embarras
them (ibid., 140-41).

Cunningham goes on to say that more and more tribesmen werc
pouring into Kashmir, but Indians troops began to land in Srinagar on
27 October. He flew to Lahore the next day to attend a conference where
senior generals such as Gracey and Auchinleck were also present, as
well as Jinnah, Liaquat, and other Muslim League leaders. Jinnah made
a case for the right of intervention, asserting that Hari Singh's accession
to India was fraudulent—Cunningham claimed he could not understand
how it was fraudulent (ibid., 142-3). Jinnah wanted to send regular
Pakistani troops into Kashmir but let himself be persuaded, by Gracey,
that since Pakistan was weak it was not in its interest to send in soldiers
and risk an escalating war with India. Jinnah then talked to Gracey and
Mudie (Governor of Punjab), urging them to actively support the
struggle to save the lives of Kashmiri Muslims.

In any case, by November, the tribesmen had begun to return from
Kashmir, laden with loot. In an interview in Noida, outside Dethi,
granted to me on 10 November 2010, Lieutenant General (Retd.) Kudip
Singh Khajuria told me that he was then a young lad living in Srinagar.
Not only did the tribal lashkars loot and pillage property, but they also
carried away young Sikh girls in large numbers who were later sold off
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he wrote, 1 could have found half a dozen excellent grounds for
resigning in the last two weeks or so, but 1 feel that we may be able to
get the thing gradually under control again and that one must try to see
it through' (ibid., 147). According to an estimate he made on 7
November, some 7000 tribesmen were in Kashmir at that time, not far
from Srinagar. However, they then made contact with the Indian troops
outside Srinagar and suffered heavy casualties. He noted that, because
of the excesses of the tribesmen, ‘many Muslims of Kashmir would have




voted to adhere to India and not to Pakistan if a plebiscite had been
held then’ (ibid., 148). Moreover, Cunningham thought that ‘the time
for obtaining India’s agr to a plebiscite ended when the tribes
were in ascendant in the vale of Kashmir; even the Chief Minister
[Qayyum Khan) told him that those who were organising the Kashmir
operations ‘were fed up with our tribesmen’ (ibid.).

Major (Retd.) Agha Humayun Amin has referred to three principal
parties that were involved in the whole invasion affair. Of the three,
‘One side was the Muslim League leaders like Shaukat Hayat (an ex-
major), Iftikharuddin and Khurshid Anwar who had been ordered by
Mr Jinnah to do something to help the Kashmiri Muslims ' (Amin
1999: 89). Amin also noted, ‘It may be noted that Mr Jinnah had
ordered General Gracey the British Acting Commander-in-Chief ..to
attack Kashmir' (ibid., 91).

Ayesha Jalal has observed:

One has perforce to conclude that the government of Pakistan with the
connivance of the Frontier ministry was actively promoting the sentiments
that had encouraged the tribesmen to invade Kashmir. Admittedly, the
Pakistani leadership refrained from officially committing the army in
Kashmir. But they did so because of the severe shortage of arms and
ammunition, not because this was the preferred course of action. If they had
been in a position 10 do so. the Muslim League leaders, with Jinnah's
blessings. would have thrown in the army behind the tribal effort.  The
Commander-in-Chief of the Azad forces was a Pakistani army officer,
Colonel Mohammad Akbar, who went under the pseudonym of ‘General
Tariq’ [legendary conqueror of Spain in the cighth century] and was known
10 be in dose contact with Qayyum Khan and through him with Jinnah and
the League leaders in Karachi. (1990: 58-9)

OFFICIAL WAR BETWEEN INDIA AND PAKISTAN

Governor-General Jinnah promoted Gracey to Commander-in-Chiet in
February, as General Messervy retired. By then, Pakistan had procured
some armaments from Britain. This time, Jinnah was able to convince
Gracey to commit Pakistani regular troops to the war. Officially, the
first Pakistani formation entered the fighting in the latter half of April
1948. The two sides fought each other in appalling conditions and in
difficult terrain. However, by May, the Indians had started to gain the
upper hand (Cloughley 2000: 20). The Indians did not hesitate to use
air power and artillery, and drove the Pakistani forces out of some major
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locations that they had captured earlier. On the other hand, Pakistan
was successful in capturing the northern areas—Gilgit and its adjoining
areas—but, as 1948 progressed, the Indians started winning back some
of the locations; the Pakistanis also achieved success in some theatres.
Given the vast area of the state, the war remained a collection of several
battles while the political leaderships negotiated the terms for a
ceasefire. Shaukat Riza has observed, ‘On 30 December [1948] both
sides saw the wisdom of ceasefire’ (Riza 1989: 297).

THE UN SEcurITY COUNCIL

While hostilities were underway, political moves had also been going
on. On 1 January 1948, the Indian government took the Kashmir
dispute to the United Nations. It alleged that regular Pakistani troops
were fighting in Kashmir and that they should be expelled. That, of
course, was true, though Pakistan initially denied any direct
involvement. On 25 March 1948, Sheikh Abdullah became the prime
minister of Jammu and Kashmir. Such formalities apart, it was not
certain that, following the communal rioting that had taken place in
different parts of the State, Sheikh Abdullah commanded the support
of the Kashmiri Muslims. He needed express guarantees from the Indian

government to ince his ially Muslim i that
joining India was better for lhem dlln becoming a part of Mllllllll
Pakistan. These g lly, required recog; of

Kashmir's amanomy (Navlakha |99l 2953)

India assured the UN that the accession of Kashmir was only
provisional and that the ultimate status of Kashmir was to be determined
through a free and universal plebiscite. However, both India and
Pakistan took the position that the Kashmiris could choose to join
cither India or Pakistan. The idea of a separate Kashmiri state was

.overruled by both. The Security Council Resolution on the Kashmir

problem, which laid down the terms for the settlement, was passed on
21 April 1948. It prescribed that a plebiscite would be held under UN
supervision once peace had been established. Pakistan was to see to it
that the tribesmen and Pakistani nationals vacated the territories of the
state before the plebiscite was held. Thereafter, the Indian government
was to withdraw its own troops gradually, in stages, until only a
minimum number required for the maintenance of law and order
remained (Jain 2007a: 7-8; Haque 1992: 74; Subrahmanyam 1990:
142-46).



Article B.7 of the resolution stated: ‘The Government of India should
undertake that there will be established in Jammu and Kashmir a
Plebiscite Administration to hold a plebiscite as soon as possible on the
question of accession of the State to India or Pakistan” A UN Com-
mission composed of Czechoslovakia, Argentina, Belgium, Colombia,
and the United States was set up to look into the Kashmir problem. The
resolution recognized India’s legal presence in Kashmir, resulting from
the signing of the Accession Bill. However, armed clashes between India
and Pakistan continued and their troops remained in the state.

Finally, a ceascfire was arranged by the United Nations which came
into effect on | January 1949. By that time, less than one-third of the
Kashmir state had come under Pakistani control. In July 1949,
agreement was reached on the cease-fire line (later known as the Line
of Control) and United Nations observers were stationed on both sides
of it to monitor it. In subscquent years, Pakistan was to reiterate its
demand for a plebiscite while India was 1o overrule it on the plea that
Pakistani forces were occupying parts of the State and. therefore, the
holding of an impartial plebiscite was out of the question (Choudhary
1991: 40-42).

Tt seems that the Pakistani objective of pushing the international
border as far into Kashmir as possible succeeded in that western
Kashmir came into Pakistani possession. Pakistan was, of course,
haping to acquire the rest through the auspices of the United Nations;
India, instcad. demanded that Pakistan must withdraw trom those areas
under its control. Pakistan-administered Kashmur was named Azad
Kashmir. Such posturing was to characterize the two countr
standpoints in the years ahead. India later asserted that the acc
had been confirmed by a vote of the Kashmir Assembly in 1954 and,
therefore, it had become permanent and irrevocable. An Article 370 was
incorporated into the Indian constitution recognizing Kashmir's special
status within the Indian union Pakistan asserted that since the
Kashmiri subjects living in Azad Kashmir had not voted for accession
it was not valid (Ahmed 1998: 144-6).

ion

MILITARY IMAGE BUILDING

In terms of the garrison state’s image building, the most important
aspect of the Kashmir War of 1947-48 was the legend of a brave
Pakistani fighting force that militarily annexed one-third of Kashmir.
Valiant Muslim fighters fought a much bigger enemy and won many a
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laurel on the battlefield. Such claims were accepted by the people as
there was a long tradition of smpng praises (o the warriors of Islam.
The poet Iqbal had p yed such in his inimitabl
many years earlier when he wrote about the past glory of Muslim
soldiers:

Yeh ghazi ye terey pur israr banday

These warriors, these mysterious creatures of thine, Oh, God
Jinhen tu ne bakhsha hai zaug-e-khudai

Whom thou hast blessed with the passion of lording it over.

Shahadat hai magsood-o-matloob-i-momin
The aim of the true Muslim is martyrdom

Na mal-ghanimat na kishwar kushai
neither war booty nor conquest

(Siddiqi 1996: 2)

This was not exactly true of the tribal elements who looted, plundered,
and raped their way into the Kashmir Valley. It is also quite
extraordinary that just when millions of people were moving across the
India-Pakistan border with the gigantic attendant problems of
relocation and resettlement on the one hand, and at the same time the
Pakistani establishment had to consolidate the authority of the state
over a vast region, they were willing on the other hand, to risk a conflict
with India that, in the worst of circumstances, would have meant a war
that may not have been confined to the disputed state of Jammu and
Kashmir. It was such risk-taking that Air Marshal Asghar Khan must
have had in mind when he described the Kashmir war as a misadventure.
In any case, a romance between the Pakistan military and the Pakistani
nation, especially the Punjabis, took root by design as the military,
.deliberately, exuded. such a belief. which. was. fully supported by the
government and media.

The blame for the failure to capture the whole of Kashmir was laid
at the door of the British officers, on both sides, who allegedly conspired
with Mountbatten to deprive Pakistan of its rightful claim to the
Muslim-majority state of Jammu and Kashmir. In particular, the ire was
reserved for Auchinleck and Gracey (Amin 1999: 91). Considering that
Jinnah promoted Gracey to Commander-in-Chief of the Pakistan
Armed Forces in February, a good three months after he allegedly
refused to attack India, the accusation makes no sense; it seems to be
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an afterthought. Within the army, the hawks, with Akbar Khan as their
spokesman, began a whispering campaign against Prime Minister
Liaquat Ali Khan for having agreed to the ceasefire. In any case, the
Kashmir dispute became the focal point of Pakistan’s foreign policy.
That it was built into the vagaries of the transfer of power, and had
caused a war between India and Pakistan, meant that it helped the
military build a strong case for not only a formidable defence capability
but also the belief that it alone could force India to resolve the Kashmir
dispute. India and Pakistan both suffered some 1500 fatalities each,
while those injured were even more (US Library of Congress).

UN INITIATIVES

In any event, the Indian government had begun to doubt the wisdom
of taking the Kashmir dispute to the Security Council. Intelligence
reports were warning that Sheikh Abdullah’s popularity was declining
and, thercfore, the support of the Muslim majority in a plebiscite could
no longer be taken for granted. A number of experts were appointed,
by the Security Council, to advise on the steps needed to resolve the
Kashmir dispute. The first was General McNaughton of Canada who
prescribed demilitarization on both sides of Kashmir—which the
Indians rejected out of hand, and Pakistan accepted with minor changes
(Schaffer 2009: 28). He was followed by Sir Owen Dixon of Australia
who realized that Indian intransigence made it impossible to hold a free
and fair plebiscite covering the entire state. He then suggested that the
plebiscite should be held only in the Kashmir Valley, while other parts
should be divided on an ethnic basis between the two rivals. US policy
on Kashmir was formulated by Assistant Secretaries George McGhee
and John Hickerson. Both concluded that the resolution of the Kashmir
dispute was vital for the establishment of peace in South Asia. They held
Indias Intransigence responsible for the lack of progress on settling the
dispute. They also noted that India was determined not to hold an
overall plebiscite (ibid.,, 29). On 30 March 1951, the UN Security
Council adopted Resolution 91, which called upon India and Pakistan
to accept arbitration to be carried ‘out by an arbitrator, or a panel of
arbitrators, to be appointed by the President of the International Court
of Justice after consultation with the parties.
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JuLy 1951 INDIAN MILITARY EXERCISES

India had carried out military exercises in 1950, which Pakistan
perceived as threatening. However, it was not until July 1951 that large-
scale Indian military exercises along the border with Pakistan began to
be interpreted, by Pakistan's leaders, as demonstrations of Indian
designs against Pakistan. Suddenly, some 200,000 Indian troops faced
about 70,000 Pakistani soldiers along the Punjab border. There were
two Indian destroyers in the Gulf of Kutch, south of Pakistan's first
capital, Karachi. India also deployed three brigades near the border of
East Pakistan (Cloughley 2000: 31). Both sides began to move their
troops closer to the border. These movements were observed and
reported by foreign correspondents, including those of the Manchester
Guardian, the Daily Telegraph, and the Times. These British newspapers,
along with the US newspapers the New York Observer and the New York
Herald Tribune, condemned India’s actions (ibid., 31).

During this period, Nehru and Liaquat were engaged in brisk
correspondence. Liaquat offered a peace plan that Nehru rejected. Brian
Cloughley summed up India's attitude in the following words: ‘It seemed
that India simply did not want to withdraw its troops, did not want to
hold a plebiscite in Kashmir (to which it had agreed), and was not
prepared to renounce the use of force or declare it would not attack
Pakistan’ (ibid.) As India began to gain international recognition as a
leader in the developing world, it became increasingly averse to offers
by other statesmen to proffer their good offices to resolve the Kashmir
dispute (ibid., 32).

Both sides now assumed quite different positions in international
politics. While Pakistan embarked on a concerted effort to win
economic and military aid from the US, India evolved a strategy that
projected it as a neutral power. After 1954, Pakistan entered into a treaty
of cooperation with the US on military matters, and joined SEATO and
CENTO, while India assumed ‘a leading role in the Non-Aligned
Movement. Both states became adversaries in the international tug of
war between the US and the Soviet Union.
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Wooing the Americans, and
Civil-Military Relations

Mountbatten had noted that Pakistan would always feel insecure vis-a-
vis India; and, the moth-eaten Pakistan that emerged on 14 August 1947
greatly accentuated that sense of vulnerability because of the ultimate
division of Bengal and Punjab. As noted already. offers to rent out
Pakistan's services and facilities to the West pre-dated the creation of
Pakistan. ’Vlargam Bourke-White of Life magazine covered the partition
of India and published photographs and ¢ on what happened
during those days. She interviewed Jinnah in September 1947. He told
her that Islam was democratic and Pakistan would be a democracy, but
she doubted the reasonableness of such a claim given the remnants of
feudalism in Pakistan as well as the totalitarianism and extremism in
the Islamic heritage (Bourke-White 1949: 92). More importantly, Jinnah
had offered to make Pakistan a frontline state in the West's strategy to
contain Soviet communism. He told her:

ite made the following remarks:

In the weeks to come | was to hear the Quaid-i-Azam's thesis echoed by
government officials throughout Pakistan. ‘Surely America will build our
army’ they would say to me. ‘Surely America will give us loans to keep Russia
from walking in’ But when I asked whether there were any signs of Russian
infiltration, they would reply almost sadly, as though sorry not to be able to
make more of the argument. ‘No, Russia has shown no signs of being
interested in Pakistan!




‘This hope of tapping the US Treasury was voiced so persistenty that one
wonders whether the purpose was to bolster the world against Bolshevism
or to bolster Pakistan's own uncertain position as a new political entity.
Actually, I think it was more nearly related to the even more significant
bankruptcy of ideas in the new Muslim state—a nation drawing its spurious
warmth from the embers of an antique religious fanaticism, fanned into a
new blaze.

Jinnah's most frequently used technique, during the struggle for his new
nation, had been the playing of opponent against opponent. Evidently, this
technique was now to be extended into foreign policy (ibid.. 93).

Bourke-White's observations are amply corroborated by the minutes
of a cabinet meeting on 7 September 1947. Jinnah told the ministers,
‘Pakistan [is] a democracy and communism (does) not flourish in the
soil of Islam. It [is] clear therefore that our interests {li¢] more with the
two great democratic countries, namely the United Kingdom and the
US, rather than with Russia’ (Kux 2001: 20). Jinnah also alluded to the
Great Game logic when he asserted, ‘The safety of the North Western
Frontier [is) of world concern and not merely an internal matter for
Paluslan alone’ (ibid.). He asserted that the Russians were behind

istan’s demand for Pakhtuni: Such lacllcs were meant to
make the Ameri ippreciate Pakistan’s ge in
any strategy purporting to contain Soviet mﬂncnu. not cmly in South
Asia but also in the Middle East and Southeast Asia.

The United States remained uninterested. The US policy of
containment, at that time, was focused on Europe where the Soviet
Union had begun flexing its muscles to assert its sphere of influence in
eastern and central Europe. The United States combated it through the
Marshall Plan, which provided much-needed economic aid, not only to
war-ravaged Britain and France but also to the main enemy during the
Second World War, Germlny Truman announced lhe Truman
Dootrine, which was the begi g of @ crusade ngainst
(Horowitz 1967: 67-8). The Suvm Union and its allies were practically
excluded from benefiting from it because the plan was perceived as one
that was aimed at preventing the industrialization of Eastern Europe
and, instead, of rendering them merely as producers of agricultural
goods (ibid., 70-4). Also, a Soviet request for a US loan of US$6 billion
was rejeﬂed As l.he Cold War gained momentum, the United States

d its d ic and ic offensive by consolidating
its sphere of influence in Europe through a military pact, the North
Adlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), in 1949.




Jo

\

"OOING THE AMERICANS, AND CIVIL-.

However, the orbit of the Cold War could not have been confined to
Europe. Events in eastern Asia dragged the emerging superpowers
towards that region. The bloody civil war between Chinese communists
and nationalists entered a decisive phase. The former were winning and
the nationalists, who had received help from the United States, were fast
losing. On 21 September 1949, Mao Zedong declared the Chinese
People’s Republic; the nationalist leader, Chiang Kai-shek, was forced to
flee to Taiwan (Young 1993: 107-8). In Korea, the communists were
being drawn into a conflict with the pro-Western forces in the south of
the peninsula. Both the United States and the Soviet Union were being
forced to supply weapons to their allies far beyond Europe (ibid.,
112-3). Amid all this, South Asia was, by comparison, still peaccful and
without any serious ideological conflict.

As far as Pakistan was concerned, South Asia, in 1947, was peripheral
to the US foreign policy objective of containing Soviet influence and
power. Thus. when Pakistan requested military material and assistance
to the tune of some USS$2 billion for five years—$170,000,000 for the
army, $75,000.000 for the air force, and $60,000.000 for the navy—it
was rejected out of hand. Instead, on 17 December 1947, Pakistan
received a mere $10 million relief grant. which was 0.5 per cent of what
it had requested. Dejected, the Pakistani Forcign Minister, Sir
Muhammad Zafrulla Khan, expressed his disappointment in the
following words: ‘well-known friendship of Pakistan toward the US and
Pakistan’s obvious antipathy to the Russian ideology would secm to
justify serious consideration by the US government of the defence
requirements of Pakistan’ (Kux 2001: 21). /

Such utterances did not make much of an impact on the US. It
continued to look upon India as the rightful product of a prolonged
freedom struggle, while Pakistan was deemed a product of negative
politics based on communal differences and atavistic passions. The US
imposcd an informal arms cmbargo on India and Pakistan when war
broke out between them in 1948 (Jain 2007a: 297-8). President Harry
Truman urged the two governments to work together in the interest of
peace and to move forward with their social and political progress (Kux
2001: 30).

Pakistan, however, persisted in its efforts to cultivate the Americans,
inviting even lower-ranking officials to important functions and parties.
Jinnah and his sister, Fatima, cven tried to convince the Americans to
rent his house in Karachi but, to their disappointment, the Americans
rented a smaller and cheaper place as Pakistan was not an important
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station for them at that time (ibid., 25). Thus, for the first year and
half after Pakistan came into being, its leaders kept up their charn
offensive on the i A dip in that relationship occurred in mid
1949 when Truman invited the Indian Prime Minister, Jawaharla
Nehru, to visit the US but a similar invitation was not extended to hi.
Pakistani counterpart, Liaquat Ali Khan.

Meanwhile, the Soviet Union exploded nuclear devices in Augus
1949; the self-fulfilling prophecy of a communist threat had becom:
real. The emerging communist superpower was no longer seeking
cooperanon and help from the US. Both began to confront each othe
in logical and political propaganda and were involved in ongoing
violent conflicts, as in East Asia. Such posturing from both side:

d tensions worldwide. For the Pakistanis, nothing would have
made a greater impact on the Americans than to make them believe
that the Soviet Union was seeking good relations with Pakistan. This
was achieved by Pakistani diplomats when they got the Soviet Union tc
invite the Pakistani prime minister on a friendly visit. It is to be noted
that the two countries had not as yet established embassies in each
other’s capitals. The Pakistani ambassador to the US, Ispahani, described
such a move as ‘a masterpiece in strategy’ (Kux 2001

It certainly had the anticipated effect on the United States, which
became aware of the need to balance the invitation to Nehru with a
similar gesture to Pakistan. US Assistant Secretary of State McGhee
travelled to Karachi in December 1949 to personally extend an
invitation to Liaquat to visit the United States. Liaquat did not visit the
Soviet Union—the reasons for that are not very clear but apparently
both sides lost  terest when it became known that the Pakistani prime
minister was prioritizing the visit to the United States.

Liaquat's visit was scheduled for May 1950. In the meanwhile, US-
Soviet relations had worsened and a military conflict between their
ideological protégés in Karea was imminent. The US State Department
proffered a brief to Truman highlighting US-Pakistan relations and
policy implications. It was observed that Liaquat was pro-West, but
could not openly profess such a preference because of misgivings about
western imperialism in Pakistan. It was pointed out that Pakistan had
received very little economic or military aid. It was also noted that US
policy on Palestine had been seen as pro-Israel in Pakistan and resulted
in demonstrations. Most importantly, it was stated:




Liaquat visited the US in May 1950. In response to a question from a
reporter about how ]arge a slandmg army Pakistan wanted to have, he
said it depended on V ‘If your country will

guarantee our territorial integrity, I will not keep any army at all’ (ibid.,
35). During the same trip, Pakistan supported the US position on Korea,
but when a tangible request to send troops as part of the UN contingent
was made, Liaquat found a way out by saying that ‘as long as Pakistan
felt threatened by India, he could not commit his country’s limited
security resources for other causes’ (ibid., 38). During his three-week
long trip, Liaquat made a positive impression on the Americans. McGee
found him to be ‘a man we could do business with' In contrast, he had
found Nehru, who had visited carlier in October 1949, ‘vague and
shifty: The Americans also disapproved of his neutralist foreign policy
(ibid., 35-6).

In any event, in spite of the positive impressions, Liaquat was unable
to make any breakthrough in getting the US to provide Pakistan with
the cconomic and military aid it wanted. US foreign policy continued
to give greater priority to India, while acknowledging the importance
of Pakistan as well. Thus, on 25 January 1951, President Truman
approved a study which stressed that:

The loss of India to the Communist orbit would mean that for all practical
purposes all of Asia will have been lost; this would constitute a serious threat
ccurity position of the United States. The loss of China, the
e threat to Indachina and balance of Southeast Asia, the invasion
of Tibet, and the reverses in Korea have greatly increased the significance to
the United States of the political strategic manpower and resource potential
of the countries of South Asia and madc it more important that this potential
be marshalled on the side of the United States. India, especially, and Pakistan
as well, possess leaders having great prestige throughout the whole of Asia;
the future support of these countries diplomatically and in the United
Nations is of great importance; India in particular has certain strategic
materials of importance to our national defense...’ (Jain 2007b: 15).




A former governor of the North-West Frontier Province, Sir Olaf Caroe,
who was generally considered to be hostile to the Congress Party during
the freedom struggle, took up cudgels on behalf of Pakistan in 1951—as
a state central to Western interests in the Middle East. He wrote, ‘India
is no longer an obvious base for Middle East defence: it stands on the
fringe of the defence periphery. Pakistan on the other hand lies well
within the grouping of South-Western Asia. (Caroe 1951: 180) Caroe
was particularly convinced about the role of air power in future
struggles, and of Pakistan being vital for providing air bases to the West.
Olaf’s view, however, was not the official policy of Britain.

A tilt, apparently towards Pakistan and away from India, took place
at a conference of US ambassadors in Sri Lanka during 26 February-2
March 1951. In it, Nehru's neutral line in international politics was seen,
with dismay, as a hegemonic move and it was suggested that the United
States should actively oppose Nehru's efforts and expose the fallacious
basis of Indian foreign policy because it ignored the dangers posed by
international communism. It was agreed, at that conference, that the US
should deal firmly with Nehru but cultivate Pakistan as a friendly
country. Pakistan's geostrategic location, close to the Gulf oil fields, was
also recognized as significant for the Western allies to take advantage
of. It was also observed that the Persian-Iraq sector could not be
defended without help from Pakistan. It was urged that Pakistan should
be given territori against agg: ly, it was
recommended that the US and Britain should quu-.kly build up its armed
forces. This, however, did not receive support from the British foreign
office as it was feared that both India and Afghanistan would be
alienated (Jalal 1990: 125-6).

GENERAL AYUB KHAN CULTIVATES THE AMERICANS

‘Pakistan’s first Muslim Commlndcr -in- Cluef Guur-l Mohammad
Ayub Khan, an unabashed an ked upon a relentl
effort to try to convince lh¢ us to co-opt Pakistan in its strategy to
contain the Soviet Union (Cheema 1990: 146-8). In the autumn of 1951,
a Pakistan mission arrived in Washington to seck arms but, since
Pakistan had not sent troops to Korea, the Americans were not
forth g with any major i The foiling of a pro-Soviet
military coup in Pakistan by Ayub Khan, earlier in March 1951, had
gained him admirers in the US administration; his personal charm also
seemed to have had a ious infl on the US ini
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In late 1951, Henry Byroade, who was more sympathetic to the
Pakistani overtures, became the US regional assistant secretary. He
began to believe that a ‘defense arrangement extending from Turkey to
Pakistan—a geographical arch of Muslim, but mainly non-Arab states—
bolstered by small amounts of military assistance from the US, would
help stabilize the region and make it less vulnerable to Soviet inroads’
(Kux 2001: 47).

Within US domestic politics, the McCarthy era saw a major
onslaught on political freedom. An arch right-wing politician, Senator
Joseph McCarthy of the Republlcan Party embarked upon a vicious

paign, with the of the intelli and security
communities, to purge America of people who were allegedly engaged
in ‘un-American activities. His witch-hunt searched for real and
imaginary communists and leftists in all walks of life, and particularly
targeted entertainment professionals in Hollywood. Hundreds of
screenwriters, actors, directors, musicians, and others were blacklisted
and denied employment in the field because of their political beliefs or
associations, real or suspected (Buhle and Wagner, 2003). As the Cold
War began to gather storm with lmnacmg intensity, the newly-
ies were p 1 to take sides. The polarization
that followed led more and mou governments to fear war. A burgeoning
arms industry, in collaboration with other sections of big business,
began to set the agenda for US foreign policy—through a power elite
that existed in the State Department as well as in the US Congress and
the Pentagon (Ray 2004: 18-34).

THE EISENHOWER PRESIDENCY

Dwight D. Eisenhower, supreme commander of the Allied forces during
the Second World War and an American war hero, was clected president
of the United States in 1953 on the ticket of the Republican Party.
Eisenhower was very mindful of preserving Tiberty at home, but
advocated building security pacts worldwide to contain the Soviet bloc
(Cheema 1990: 145). As noted already, while he was wary about the
growing power of the arms industry and warned about its adverse
impact on the liberal frecdoms of the American nation, Eisenhower
backed a policy of establishing military bases all over the world to
contain the Soviet Union. His secretary of state, John Foster Dulles, was
also convinced about the need to contain ‘Godless Communis

Looking at the Asian continent, they were attracted to Pakistan's
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geostrategic significance as the arenas of tension and future conflict:
had expanded well beyond Europe. Both Eisenhower and Dulles founc
Pakistan amenable to their worldview. In May 1953, Dulles visited Indiz
and Pakistan. In their meetings with him, the Pakistani leaders ‘stressec
their all to the anti ist cause and emph. d Pakistan'

ire to join the free world’s defence team’ (Kux 2001: 55).

General Ayub gave a strategic assessment of Pakistan's situation tc
the US secretary of state, fashioned on the classic Great Game doctrine
and highlighted ‘the possibility of a massive Soviet invasion through the
warm waters of the Arabian Sea. The proposed reform was an expanded
Pakistani army properly equipped for the task of blocking the Soviets
(ibid., 55). He spoke enthusiastically of the Pakistan government's
willingness to cooperate with the supply of manpower and bases (ibid.
55). In order to allay US concerns about the impact on India, Ayub
Khan argued, ‘If Pakistan were strengthened by US economic and
military aid, it would result in India dropping its present intransigent
attitude [on Kashmir]' (ibid., 55). Upon his return to Washington,
Dulles gave a very favourable impression of Pakistan. He claimed to
have been impressed by the ‘martial and religious qualities of the
Pakistanis' (ibid., 56). In contrast, he found Indias Prime Minister
Nehru to be an ‘utterly impractical statesman’ (ibid., 56). Thereafter, a
process was set in motion which cul inated in Pakistan being described
as the United States’ ‘most allied ally in Asia’ (ibid., 70).

In his autobiography, Unlikely Beginnings: A Soldier’s Life (2003),
Major General (Retd.) Abu Bakr Osman Mitha wrote that all officers of
the rank of Licutenant Colonel, and the General Headquarters (GHQ).
were asked to give their opinion as to whether Pakistan should accept
military aid. About his response he wrote:

I recommended that we should not because accepting aid would prevent us
from developing our own arms industry and then we would be at the mercy
of the Americans. As a country we would develop a beggar mentality,
However, the authorities decided otherwise and a United States Military Aid
and Advisory Group (USMAAG) commanded by a boor  lled Col. Brown
arrived and was located at the GHQ (Mitha 2003: 165).

DEFENCE AGREEMENT AND MILITARY PACTS

The cumulative effect of such interactions and overtures was that a
US-Pakistan Mutual Defense Agreement was eventually signed on 19
—_—



€t

r'\
ICANS, AND CIVIL-MILITARY RELATIO

May 1954. It was laid down that the US would provide Pakistan with
‘equipment, materials and services or other assistance’ consistent with
the Charter of the United Nations. In this regard, Clause 2 of Article 1
is particularly interesting. It reads:

The Government of Pakistan will use this assistance exclusively to maintain
its internal security, its legitimate self-defence, or to permit it to participate
in the defence of the arca, or in United Nations collective security
arrangements and measures, and Pakistan will not undertake any act of
a  ression against any other nation. The Government of Pakistan will not,
without prior agreement of the Government of the US, devote such
assistance to purposes other than those for which it was furnished (Jain
2007a: 303)

. Pakistan with its lobbying that
Pakistan was willing to play an important role in containing Soviet
influence not only in South Asia but also in the Middle East as well as
in South East Asia. In the autumn of 1954, a high-powered Pakistani
team consisting of Prime Minister Mohammad Ali Bogra, General Ayub
Khan, and Chaudhri Muhammad Ali visited the United States. They
persisted that Pakistan needed more than just $30 million in assistance.
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On that occasion, Dulles retorted that he ‘thought Pakistan had
undertaken its anti-communism stand because it was right, not just to
make itself eligible for certain sums of dollar aid’ » 68). To the
Pakistanis, such sermonizing did not mean much and they kept
insisting on a sharp increase in economic and military aid, until their
strategy finally prevailed when Bogra met Eisenhower. The net gain for
Pakistan was a secret aide-memoire that provided a steep increase in
economic aid as well as a total defence programme costing, altogether,
US$171 million. It was to equip four army infantry and 1.5 armoured
divisions, provide aircraft for six air force squadrons, and supply twelve
vessels for the navy (ibid., 69).

This breakthrough was celebrated by the Pakistani establishment
with great gusto. They expressed their gratitude by Pakistan joining the
South East Asia Treaty Organization (SEATO) in September 1954—
their claim to membership deriving from the fact that East Pakistan was
in proximity to South East Asia even though Pakistan had a rather poor
military presence in that part of the country. Pakistan followed up on
the policy of participating in US-sponsored military pacts by joining
(hc Baghdad Pact in 1955, and its successor, the Central Treaty

in 1959, hington only became a formal member of
lhe SEATO. From the Pakistani point of view, such membership was
incontrovertible evidence of its willingness to play the role of a frontline
state against the Soviet Union. As a Muslim nation with declared
commitment to containing the spread of communism in three
geographical regions—South Asia, South East Asia, and the Middle
East—Pakistan gained a rather unique reputation as America’s ‘most
allied ally in Asia, noted Ayub Khan (2006: 151). That meant that
processes were set in motion to establish routine connections and
networks between the Pakistani and US military and security
establishments.

However, the US remamed mindful of the need to cultivate the
Indians as well. By 1955, the US had provided seventeen C-119G aircraft
to India under a programme of some $33 million in military aid, and
also approved the sale of British radar equipment. The US hoped that
these moves would help dissuade India from buying sixty Soviet light
bombers (Nawaz 2008: 131). While this did not please Pakistan, the US
remained steadfast in cultivating India as well in its larger policy of
bracing India as a democratic alternative to both Soviet and Chinese
communism.
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It is worth noting that these crucial foreign policy decisions, to align
with the West, were taken by the Pakistan government without proper
debate in Parliament. When there was a debate in 1954, the opposition,
mainly from East Pakistan, strongly opposed such moves (Ray 2004:
81). Thus from the very beginning, such matters were determined by a
narrow power elite; the politicians were reduced to second fiddle while
the civil servants and military formed the ‘bureaucratic-military
oligarchy’—a description made famous by Hamza Alavi (1972).

INTER-SERVICES INTELLIGENCE (ISI) 1o\~ \C)L(a

The ISI was established in 1948 with a view to representing all three
services—the army, navy, and air force—in a single organization. It was
the brainchild of Major General R. Cawthome, an Australian who was
then deputy chief of staff in the Pakistan Army. Apparently, there had
been a lack of dination between the intelli agencies of the
three services during the Kashmir War. The ISI was to prevent the
recurrence of such lapses in information and intelligence. It was tasked
to collect, analyse, and assess external intelligence, both military and
non-military. Initially, it had no role in the collection of internal
intelligence, except in NWFP and Pakistan-administered Azad Kashmir.
Later, it was to acquire a greater role in the domestic arena, but gained
international recognition during the so-called Afghan jihad—which it
conducted in close cooperation with the American spy agency. the CIA
(Ahmed 2010). \
-
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THE SPECIAL SERVICES GROUP (SSG)

The US helped Pakistan build a very special clite commando force, the
$SG. Lieutenant Colonel Ghulam Jilani Khan has presented an
exhaustive account of the history. evolution, composition, and tasks
undertaken by the SSG in a 479-page SSG: Tarikh key Ayeney Mein [The
S$SG in the Mirror of History) (2004). While it has been written with
great passion, the author has had to essentially rely on interviews with
people who had served in it because its charter remains classified. The
$SG was initiated as an clite group in 19§J_A with the support of the
US military, but became fully operational in 1956—with its headquarters
at Cherat, near Peshawar, and another facility at Attock Fort. Essentially,
it came into being to facilitate the US war strategy against the Soviet
Union. In case of a Soviet advance into Pakistan or neighbouring
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Afghanistan and other territories, the SSG was to assist in launching a
guerrilla resistance. Its first commanding officer was Mitha. He has
presented some fascinating details of the interaction between US and
Pakistani military personnel; Americans were sent to Cherat and Attock
Fort, while Pakistanis were sent to the US for training.

The selection process was very rigorous and few Pakistanis managed
to qualify to be admitted to the SSG. In those days, there was no
relaxation during Ramazan and food was served to those who chose not
to fast. Also, the prevailing traditions among the senior officers were
very much those that characterized the British military, trained at
Sandhurst and at similar institutions in the colonies. Interaction
between the Americans and Pakistanis resulted in some friendships and
bonding, but Brigadier Mitha was wary of the close relations because
he suspected that most of the Americans worked for the CIA (Mitha
2003: 209). Moreover, the Americans tended to act in a superior way
and looked down on their Pakistani counterparts. It appeared as though
they felt that they deserved to be treated specially, which was resented
by the Pakistani officers (ibid., 209-214). In other words, while both
sides lived together and intermixed, they also maintained their separate
identities and were suspicious of each other.

THE EISENHOWER-DULLES DOCTRINE

The Eisenhower-Dulles Doctrine was propounded in 1957 to contain
Soviet influence in the Middle East. It was formulated in the background
to the Suez crisis of 1956. A tripartite force, consisting of French,
British, and Israeli troops, committing aggression on Egypt did not
receive US support. On the contrary, the US forced Israel out of the
Sinai. However, that policy was not consolidated in seeking a closer
understanding with Nasser, whose radical nationalism became suspect
i the anti-communist crusaden John Foster Dulles. Instead,
the Americans decided to co-opt Saudi Arabia as their main ally in the
region. The latter was a major producer of oil; US policy, since the time
of Franklin Roosevelt, had been to protect it, and thus US interest in its
oil. Moreover, the Americans believed that Saudi Arabia enjoyed a
special status among Muslims because Islam originated there and the
holiest Muslim sites were located on its soil. CIA Director Allen Dulles,
and his brother, John Foster Dulles, sought to build an alliance with the
Saudi Wahabis against Nasser. The measures taken included the secret
strengthening of the Egyptian fund: list Muslim Brotherhood




against Nasser (Dreyfuss 2005: 120-25). Moreover, in 1962, the Muslim
World League was founded with US connivance. Centred on the holy
city of Makkah, it included well-known figures of the radical-right
political Islam, including the chief ideologue of Islamism in Pakistan,
Abul Ala Maududi. It established a network that sought to advance the
Islamist agenda all over the Muslim world (ibid., 131-35). However, a
1956 US study on the Middle East cast doubts about Pakistan’s
usefulness in the Middle East. By 1957, Eisenhower and Dulles had
come around to the view that India’s neutralism was not against
American interests. On the contrary, doubts began to be expressed
about close alignment with Pakistan. Eisenhower called the military
agreement with Pakistan ‘perhaps the worst kind of a plan and decision
we could have made. It was a terrible error, but we now seem hopelessly
involved in it' (Kux 1992: 84). The Americans were not convinced that

| s anti- i was the prime reason for it
secklng an alliance with them. A US intelligence report made the
following remark:

THE MILITARY AND INTERNAL PoLITICS

The two external concerns of Pakistan—conflict with India and help
from the United States—proceeded more or less on the basis of
consensus between the politicians and the civil and military
buruucrac-es Pakistan also valued its membership of the British

and on the military level as well

P

(Soha:l 1991).

THE RAWALPINDI CONSPIRACY CASE OF 1951

From the outset, some ultra-nationalist Muslim officers resented the
British officers holding superior positions in the military. Such
resentment, coupled with a belief that Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan
had not risen to the occasion and backed the Kashmir war whole-
heartedly, began to give shape to a plot to overthrow the government
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and establish a patriotic regime. However, intelligence about the
conspiracy reached the government. In early March 1951, Prime
Minister Liaquat Ali Khan announced that his government had
uncovered a plot to overthrow the government involving some officers
of the armed forces and some leading members of the Pakistan
Communist Party. It was alleged that the conspirators intended to ‘create
commotion in the country by violent means and to subvert the loyalty
of the Pakistan defence forces’ (quoted in Gankovsky and Gordon-
Polonskaya 1972: 175).

The central character of the case was Major General Akbar Khan,

¢ who had played a prominent role in the Kashmir War of 1948.

According to Asghar Khan, a large reception had been arranged on 14
NAugust 1947 on the lawns of the Governor-General's House in Karachi.

reportedly, complained to Jinnah about the British holding senior posts
in the country's armed forces, Jinnah retorted: ‘Never forget that you
are the servants of the state. You do not make policy. It is we, the
people’s representatives, who decide how the country is to be run. Your
job is only to obey the decisions of your civilian masters’ (2005: 3).
Ayesha Jalal has drawn attention to the fact that the very strong urge,
among Pakistani officers, for quick promotions served as a ‘cold sore
for Britain's post-war strategic designs. It was not only a main factor
hastening the departure of some 400 to 435 British officers in the
Pakistan army, but a major barrier to pulling it firmly behind Britain’s
policing efforts in the Near and Far East’ (Jalal 1990: 117). The British
tried, unsuccessfully, to delay that from happening; they, instead, tried
to secure promotions to key positions of officers with reliable pro-
Western sympathies. Ayub Khan's promotion, in January 1951, as
Pakistan’s first Pakistani commander-in-chief was based on his pro-
Western orienlzlion.’ Apparently, such officers were amenable to a
partition. of Kashmir. along the ceasefire line (ibid., 118-19).

In contrast, Akbar Khan, the ‘hero’ of the Kashmir war, was
frustrated by Pakistan’s acceptance of the ceasefire, which he believed
had benefited India. Akbar was known to express his feelings against
the government, including the prime minister, in very strong language.
Having collected a number of like-minded army and air force officers,
and some leaders of the Communist Party, he entered into a conspiracy
to plan the overthrow of the government. The plan, allegedly, was that
Liaquat Ali Khan and Governor-General Khawaja Nazimuddin would
be arrested. Then, the governor-general would be forced to dismiss the

\‘f/omc of the officers had been invited to take part. When Akbar Khan,




government. Akbar Khan would form the government and order
general elections, which had not been held in Pakistan since

dence. The new gor ent would allow the C ist Party
to participate in the political process; the communists’ activities had
been severely restricted as Prime Mi ister Liaquat dealt with them with
a heavy hand.

Apparently, the central government was aware of the disgruntled
Young Turks for half a year. It was a time when ‘British, American and
Pakistani intelligence began their joint operations against pro-Soviet
propaganda, both within and outside the armed force' (ibid., 120).
Anyhow, the conspiracy, if it was at all serious, was exposed and the
plotters arrested. The courts sentenced the civilians to four years in
prison and a fine of Rs 500 each. The military officers reccived various
sentences, ranging from three to seven years. General Akbar Khan was
sentenced to twelve years of exile from public life (Gankovsky and

Gordan-Polonskaya 1972: 175-6).

A
ASSASSINATION OF PRIME MINISTER ¢ o

<
Li1AQUAT ALl KHAN

On 16 October 1951, Liaquat Ali Khan was assassinated by an Afghan,
Said_Akbar, who shot the prime minister dead during a public meeting
in Rawalpindi. The assassin was shot dead by a police officer. Was it the
misdeed of a single person or a conspiracy involving others? As the
assassin was shot at the scene, the case was not satisfactorily investigated
and details remained inconclusive. At any rate, with Liaquat gone, no
other leader of national stature was around to lcad the nation.
Thenceforth, senior civil servants began to dominate the political scene.
Asa first indication, the rather weak but affable Bengali leader, Khawaja
Nazimuddin, who was serving as the governor-general at the time, was
made prime minister; a senior burcaucrat, Mahk Ghulam Mohammad,
who was scrving as the finance minister became the governor-general.
As Pakistan had not adopted a new constitution, the government
machinery was still largely based on the 1935 Act which reposed real
powers in the governor- g:ncral (Ahmed 1998: 172).

(o Righ
THE ANTI-AHMADIYYA R|o1's OF 1953

While the Rawalpindi conspmcy case was an example of military
officers aspiring to take over power, an entirely different situation arose
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in 1953 when they were ordered to intervene and establish law and
order—when the ulema launched the Khatam-e-Nabuwat (finality of
the prophethood of Muh d [pBUH]) in 1953. The roots
of the conflict went back to the early twentieth century when Mirza
Ghulam Ahmad (1835-1908), born at Qadian in the Punjab, be‘gaTlo
claim that he was a prophet who received revelations from God. Mirza
also claimed to be carrying the attributes of Jesus and of the Hindu god,
Krishna. He rejected jihad against the British. Such claims were
unacceptable to the Sunni and Shia ulema, who denounced him as an
imposter. After his death, the Ahmadiyya movement went through a
period of internal rift. A minority, called the Lahori party, broke away
asserting that Mirza was not a prophet but a mujadid (reviver of Islam),
while the majority, known as the Rabwah party, clung to the belief that
he was a prophet (Court of Inquiry 1954: 187-200).

In 1912, his son, Mirza Bashiruddin Mahmud Ahmad, made a
statement to the effect that those Muslims who had not converted to
Ahmadiyyat were outside the pale of Islam (Jones 1989: 200; Court of
Inquiry 1954: 1999). In reaction, the ulema denounced the Ahmadis as
heretics. During the colonial period, the Ahmadis received government
protection and patronage. Although opposed to jihad, they were serving
in large numbers in the Indian Army. In some of the Ahmadiyya
writings, it was suggested that if British rule ended they would succeed
as the new power in India (Court of Inquiry 1954: 196). Moreover, their
literature was full of sycophancy towards the colonial authorities. In any
event, they were able to win some converts in Punjab. Nevertheless,
some prominent Ahmadis, among whom Sir Muhammad Zafrulla Khan
was the most well-known, played a leading role in the struggle for the
creation of Pakistan. Jinnah reposed complete trust in him—to plead
the Muslim League's claims to territory in the div of Punjab before
the Punjab Boundary Commission. Jinnah later rewarded him with the
position of Pakistan' first foreign minister. Ironically. when Jinnah died,
Forcign Minister Zafrulla did not take part in the funcral prayers, as
was the standard practice of the Ahmadis (ibid., 199).

The Khatam-e-Nabuwat movement was revived by the ulema, who
feared that the Ahmadis were conspiring to capture the state. The
spiritual head of the Ahmadis, Mirza Bashiruddin Mahmud Ahmad,
made an inflammatory speech in Quetta, ‘in which he openly advocated
the conversion of the population of the Province [Baluchistan] and the
use of that Province as a base for further operations’ (ibid., 261). Such
statements incited a reaction from the mainstream ulema who called
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for direct action (mass agitation) against the Ahmadis. The ulema also
demanded that since Pakistan was an Islamic state, only Muslims could
hold key positions in the state. Therefore, it was asserted that since
Ahmadis held beliefs that were irreconcilable with Islam, they should
be removed from key positions. Consequently, in March 1953, a violent
agitation broke out in the Punjab. Direct action quickly degenerated
into violent attacks on Ahmadis; many were killed and the looting of
their property was widespread. Prime Minister Khawaja Nazimuddin
imposed martial law in the Punjab, and the agitation was crushed. The
military acted swiftly and firmly. —

A Court of Inquiry headed by two judges of the Lahore High Court,
Justice Muhammad Munir and Justice Rustum Kayani, was set up to
enquire into the causes of the disturbances and rioting. The Munir
Report, as it came to be known, carried out a lengthy examination of
the ideological basis of the ulema’s agitation. In the extended question
and answer sessions with the spokespersons of the different Sunni sub-
sects, and the Shias, the judges noted that not only did the ulema want
the Ahmadis to be declared non-Muslims—and therefore removed from
key posts—but they also believed that those Ahmadis who had not ~
inherited their beliefs from their parents and had voluntarily converted

to that faith were guilty of apostasy and should be punished with death
(ibid., 218-20). In the section dealing with ‘Responsibility for the
Disturbances, the Inquiry blamed not only the ulema and other anti-
Ahmadiyya movements such as the Ahrar for fomenting the riots, but
noted that Ahmadi propaganda and attitudes had played an important
role in precipitating the crisis. It was pointed out that many prominent
Muslim Leaguers, whose party was in power in the Punjab, were actively
involved in the anti-Ahmadiyya disturbances (ibid., 237-262).

The report also suggests that the anti-Ahmadiyya controversy was
exploited by the Punjab Chiefl Minister, Mian Mumtaz Daultana, to
bring down the central government of Prime Minister Khawaja
Nazimuddin; both belonged to the Muslim League (ibid., 262-286). The
military acted with great firmness. At that time, the Ahmadi component
was quite substantial in the officer corps. Licutenant_General Azam
Khan, who was made chief martial law administrator in the Punjab,
ordered stern action. Rioters were fired upon and, within a few days,
law and order had been established. Some of the ringleaders were tried
under martial law and sentenced to death; those sentences were later
commuted to an overall clemency and they were released.

7
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CONSTITUTION MAKING

Internal squabbles and intrigues amongst the Muslim Leaguers greatly
weakened the party and undermined its prestige. Liaquat evaded
elections, primarily because he had no constituency from which to
ensure his election—that fear and diffidence became an excuse for his
lesser to also postp general electi Equally, the
Pakistan Constituent Assembly’s members had been elected in 1946,
even though the Muslim League never attended its sessions to frame a
constitution for a united India. Many of them were now members of
the Pakistan Constituent Assembly, which was to frame a constitution
for Pakistan. In an address to the bers of the Pakistan Consti
Assembly on 11 August 1947—three days before Pakistan achieved
independence as a separate state for the Muslim nation of India—the
founder of Pakistan, Mohammad Ali Jinnah, made a speech in which
he observed:

You are free; you are free to go to your temples, you are free to go to your
mosques or to any other place of worship in this State of Pakistan. You may
belong to any religion or caste or creed—that has nothing to do with the
business of the State. ... We are starting with this fundamental principle
that we are all citizens and equal citizens of one State. . . . I think we should
keep that in front of us as our ideal and you will find that in due course
Hindus would cease to be Hindus and Muslims would cease to be Muslims,
not in the religious sense, because that is the personal faith of each
individual, but in the political sense as citizens of the State (Speeches of Mr
Jinnah 1976: 403-4).

Jinnah's speech generated endless controversy as it negated the
confessional basis on which the demand for Pakistan was made. The
Qquestion in everyone's mind was: if Pakistan was going to be a secular

ad been a liberal
eeping before he began to

champion a separate state for Muslims in a predominantly Sunni
envnronmenl Once he look up the cause of separate Muslim
ionhood, he i loyed religious criteria for justifying
that. By the early 1940s, he had rea.l:zed that Pakistan could be brought
into being only if the ulema were mobilized to win the broad sympathies
of the Muslim masses. Accordingly, the Muslim League allied itself with
the largest group among the religious leaders—that of mainstream




Sunnis belonging to the Barelvi school who controlled thousands of
mosques and Sufi shrines. From around 1944 onwards, Islamic slogans
and emotional appeals in favour of Pakistan became the standard
practice of the Muslim League election campaign. Such a strategy paid
rich dividends when elections were held in 1946.

The Shia minority was wary of a Muslim state that might be based
on Sunni principles coming into being. Similarly, the Ahmadiyya sect,
considered to be heretics by both the Sunni and Shia ulema, was also
reluctant to support the demand for a separate Muslim state because of
fear of persecution. To all such doubters, Jinnah assured that Pakistan
would not be a sectarian state. Consequently, in addition to the various
sections of the Sunni majority, the Shia minority and the Ahmadiyya
also supported the demand for Pakistan. Moreover, when Pakistan came
into being, Hindu and Christian minorities were also residing in its
territorics, especially in East Pakistan where they constituted 23 per cent
of the population.

Given the diverse sectarian and religious composition of Pakistan,
Jinnah was probably proposing that Muslim nationalism, which had
served as the basis for claiming separate statehood, should be supplanted
by an inclusive concept of Pakistani nationalism. If one reads the text
carefully, there can be no doubt that he was advocating the privatization
of religion. Current definitions of secularism emphasize the following:
the state must guarantee individual and corporate freedom of religion,
deal with the individual as a citizen irrespective of his religion. and it
must not constitutionally privilege a particular religion nor seek either
to promote or interfere with religion (Ahmed 1987: 36).

After Jinnah's death on 11 September 1948, the succeeding
governments suppressed that specch. Tt was deleted from government
compilations of Jinnah's speeches. In any event, Pakistani left-wing
liberals and Marxists continued to invoke that speech in defence of a
secular-democratic Pakictan while right-wing liberals, conservatives.
and Islamists described it as a statement in favour of an ideal Islamic
state which, they believed, practised religious tolerance during the pre-
colonial era, Jinnah’s immediate successors, however, were keen to find
a synthesis between his sccular-liberal vision for Pakistan and the fact
of Muslim nationalism. Consequently, on_7 March 1949, the prime
minster moved the Objectives Resolution, which Proclaimed that
sovereignty belonged 1o God: the members of parliament, it was
suggested, had merely been del of I king in
accordance with the law of God (Commuen! Assembly Debates, vol. V:




1949: 1-2). The ulema interpreted this as recognition of the supremacy
of the Sharia (dogmatic Islamic law). The prime minister and his
modern, educated colleagues explained that it did not mean a theocracy
or a rejection of democracy and minority rights; rather, democracy and
minority rights were to be sublimated in accordance with Islamic
precepts (ibid., 1-49). Besides the novel Islamic features of Pakistani
d the Constil A bly also had to find a formula that
would make Pakistan a federation with a distribution of powers
acceptable to the various nationalities of Pakistan. From the very
beginning, the Bengalis, who alone constituted a majority of the total
Pakistani population, as well as the smaller nationalities of Baloch,
Pakhtuns, and Smdhu developed gnevances over what they alleged was
Punjabi domi (Gank and Gordon-Pol: ya 1972).

Outside parliament, the ulema under the leadership of the Jamaat-
e-Islami’s Abul Ala Maududi had begun to campaign for an Islamic
constitution (Ahmed 2009: 159-60). The 1952 Basic Principles
Committee recommended a board of experts who were to ascertain
whether a law made by the legislature was commensurate with Islam.
Also, it was proposed that approval by the Muslim members of the
legislature was to be decisive for law making.

It recommended a bicameral national parliament with parity of
representation between the units of East and West Pakistan, though the
East Pakistan population alone constituted a majority. In 1955, the West
Pakistani provinces of NWFP, Punjab, Sindh, and the Balochistan
territories were amalgamated to constitute a single West Pakistan
province amid strong opposition from Bengali, Baloch, Pakhtun, and
Sindhi nationalist leaders (Gankovsky and Gords lonsk 1972).

BUREAUCRATS CONSOLIDATE THEIR HOLD OVER THE
PouiTicAL PrOCESS

The utter incompetence and patent mediocrity of the Pakistani
politicians largely paved the way for senior bureaucrats to consolidate
their hold over the political system. Prime Minister Nazimuddin proved
incompetent in dealing with a food and economic crisis that hit
Pakistan; his go 's worries were agg d by a balance of
payment crisis as well as budgetary difficulties (Callard 1957: 22).
People all over Pakistan began to display considerable restlessness. On

17_April 1953, Governor-General Ghulam Mohammad dismissed
Nazimuddin. His choice of prime mi _ister was even more arbitrary. He




i i [ \’Q ot ‘\'Q\Eﬁ

ILITARY RELATIONS

summoned Pakistan's ambassador to the United States, Mohammad Ali
Bogra, also a Bengali like Nazimuddin, to Pakistan and made him prime
minister. The only apparent qualification Bogra had for the job, besides
his Bengali ethnicity, was his reputation as a devout pro-American
diplomat. In the provincial elections held in East Bengal in March 1954,
a united front of a number of parties opposed to West Pakistani
domination won 223 out of a total of 237 seats reserved for Muslims
(Gankovsky and Gordon-Polonskaya 1972: 201). The landslide victory
of those opposed to a strong and overbearing central government
created panic in Karachi.

The central government reacted by alleging that the Jugtu Front, as
the alliance was called, had conspired with the Pakistan Communist
Party to undo the unity of Pakistan The Jugtu Front government was
dismissed, and a ban imposed on the Communist Party in July 1954.
Major General Iskander Mirza, an army officer who had changed career
and become a civil servant, was made governor of East Bengal (Callard
1957: 24). Nevertheless, infighting between different factions of the
central elite continued. Prompting by a number of disgruntled members
of parliament helped Bogra develop enough confidence to challenge the
indomitable Ghulam Mohammad. With the help of the members of
parliament, the 1935 Act was amended to preclude the governor-general
from acting except under advice of his prime minister.

The governor-general struck pre-emptively. He ordered Bogra and
some other ministers, as well as Ayub Khan, who had gone to the US
to return. According to Ayub Khan, Ghulam Mohammad offered him
the powers to produce a constitution in three months, which he refused.
Many ups and downs and palace intrigues followed. Finally, on 24
October 1954, the Pakistan Constituent Assembly was dissolved by
Ghulaf Mohammad on the grounds that it had become unrepresentative
and had failed to produce a constitution. A pliable Pakistan Supreme
Court, headed by Justice Muhammad Munir, provided him with a legal
cover to dissolve the Constituent Assembly under the so-called Doctrine
of Necessity. There was, however, a dissenting note, written by Justice
AR. Cornelius, who pleaded for the sovereignty of the parliament
(Nawaz 2008: 126). Ghulam Mohammad again invited Ayub to join the
‘cabinet of talents This time he agreed and became defence minister
(Khan 2006: 68-70). It is worth noting that Ayub’s term as commander-
in-chief was to be completed in 1954.

Ayub agreed to join the cabinet only if he could retain the post of
commander-in-chief. He also secured an extension to his term as



der-in-chief. Ghulam Moh d, however, had to pull back
because of bad health in 1955 and Iskander Mirza, became governor-
general. Both Mirza and Ayub Khan were stoutly pro-American—the
former actually outdid the latter in his manifest preference for
Pakistan becoming a protégé of the United States. The US was taking
a keen interest in the developments taking place in Pakistan. Admiral
Arthur W. Radford, who visited Pakistan during that period, was
basically pleased that the military was in a robust position. He wrote
that ‘Pakistan was a potential ally of great importance, and . . . from
a military point of view, they have a trained armed force which no
other friendly power can match, not even the Turks’ (quoted in Nawaz
2008: 125).

1956 CONSTITUTION

Amid the bad news, the country also had some basis to celebrate. The
new Constituent Assembly worked under the leadership of Prime
Minister Chaudhri Mub d Ali—also previously a b inthe
financial services—who had replaced Bogra. The Consutuem Assembly
worked to give the nation a constitution that was promulgated on 23
March 1956—exactly sixteen years after the Lahore Resolution of 1940
when the demand for Pakistan had been made by the Muslim League.
And so, Pakistan ceased to be a British dominion. The 1956 Constitution
declared Pakistan an ‘Islamic Republic: It provided for a parliamentary
form of government with a popularly elected prime minister as head of
the gove and a presid lected by the bers of the
national and provincial Ieglslllure-—as head of state. A blcamzrll
legislature, based on the principle of parity, was laid down. Both Be:
and Urdu were to be the national languages of Pakistan. Fundamental
rights” were guaranteed for all citizens of Pakistan. However, some
specific_Islamic provisions were included. Thus, for example, the
pmidem of Pakistan would be a Muslim. All existing laws were to be
brought in consonance with the Quran and Sunnah (practices of the
Prophet Muhammad (pBUH]), and no law would be made that was
repugnant to Islam. The president would set up an organization for
Islamic research and instruction in advanced studies to assist in the
reconstruction of Muslim society on a truly Islamic basis (Constitution
of the Islamic Republic of Pakistan 1956).

Amid much fanfare, Iskander Mirza became the president while
Chaudhri Muhammad Ali remained prime minister but only for a short
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while. He was followed, as prime minister, for short spurts of time by
Huseyn Shahced Suhrawardy, Ibrahim Ismail Chundrigar. and Eirgz
Khan Noon. The situation in the provinces was equally pathetic. Quite
simply, political instability in Pakistan was ubiquitous and endemic.

PROVINCIAL GRIEVANCES AND ATTEMPT TO SECEDE
BY KALAT

Grievances had begun to emerge among the Bengali, Baloch, Pakhtun,
and Sindhi politicians almost immediately after Pakistan came into
being. The irony was that although. during the negotiations with the
Congress leaders, the Muslim League had championed a loose
federation, once Pakistan came into being, the external as well as
internal situation of Pakistan was such that it could only be ruled with
the help of a strong centre. Historically, the locus of power in Pakistan
was centred on the Punjab—from where the armed forces were mainly
recruited. In the powerful civil service, the Urdu-speaking migrants
were well-represented, followed by the Punjabis and some Pakhtuns. At
any rate, separatist tendencies were to be found in all the provinces and
nationalities that felt alienated from the perceived alliance in the centre
between the Punjabis and Urdu-speakers. Nothing expressed this more
dramatically than the alleged attempt, by the Khan of Kalat, to exploit
the deteriorating situation in Pakistan to make another bid to secede in
1958. Such developments were, according to Ayub Khan, breeding great
consternation among the armed forces:

References

Ahmed, Ishtiag, 1987, The Concept of an Islamic
Controversy in Pakistan, London: Frances Pinter.

Ahmed, Ishtiag. 1998, State. Nation and Lthniity m Contem
and New York: Pinter Publishers.

Alavi, Hamza, 1972, “The State in Post-Colonial Socictics. Pakistan and Bangladesh. New
Left Review. 1774 July- August




Amin, Agha Humayun, 1999, The Pakistan Army till 1965, Arlington, VA: Strategicus and
Tacticus.

Banw, R-A., 1991, ‘Ethnic Conflict, Autonomy, Democracy and National Integration: The
Case of Chittagong Hill Tracts in Bangladesh in Lindgren, G.L., Nordquist, K., and
Wallensteen, P. (cds.), Peace Processes in the Third World, Uppsala: Department of |
Peace and Conflict Research.

Bourke- White, Margaret, 1949, Halfway to Freedom, New York, Simon and Schuster.

Buhle, Paul, and Wagner, David, 2003, Hide in Plain Sight: The Hollywood Blacklistees in
Film and Television, 1950-2002, Paigrave Macmillan, New York.

Burki, Shahid Javed, 1991, Pakistan: The Continuing Search for Nationhood, Boulder,
Colorado: Westview Press.

Callard, Keith, 1957, Pakistan: A Political Study, London: Allen and Unwin.

Callard, Keith, 1959, Political Forces in Pakistan 1947-1958, New York: | titute of Pacific
Relations.

Caroe, Sir Olaf, 1951, Wells of Power, London: Macmillan.

Cheema, Pervaiz Iqbal, 1990, Pakistan's Defence Policy, 1 7-58, London: Macnillan

Press.

Choudhary, 5., 1991, What is the Kashmir Problem?, Luton: Jammu Kashmir Liberation
Front.

Cloughley. Brian, 2000, A History of the Pakistan Army: Wars and Insurrection, Karachi:
Oxford University Press.

Dreyfuss 2005.

Gankovsky, Y.V., and Gordon-Polonskaya. L.R., 1972, A History of Pakistan (1947-1958),
Lahore: People’s Publishing House.

Harrison, 5.5., 1981, In Afghanistan’ Shadow: Baluch ism and Soviet

DC: Caregie for Peace.

Horowitz, David, 1967, From Yalta to Vietnam, Harmondsworth, Middlesex: Penguin

Books.

Jain, Rashmi (ed.), 2007s, The United States and Pakistan 1947-2006: A Documentary
Study, New Delhi: Radiant Books.

Jain, Rashmi (ed.), 2007b, The Ummt States and India 1947-2006: A Documentary Study,
New Delhi: Radiant Books.

Jalal, Ayesha, 1990, The State of Martial Law: The Origins of Pakistans Political Economy
of Defence, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jones, K.W., 1989, The New Cambridge History of India: Socio-Religious Reform
Movements in British India, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Khan, Ghulam ilani (Lt Col, Retd.). 2004, SSG Tarikh ke Aine Main, Cherat: Headquarters

SSG.

Khan, Moliammad Aydb, 2006, Friends not Musters, lslamiabad: Mr Books.

Khan, Muhammad Akbar, 1992, Raiders in Kashmir, Lahore: Jang Publishers.

Khan, M. Asghar, 2005, My Political Struggle, Karachi: Oxford University Press.

Kux, Dennis, 1992, India and the United States: Estranged Democracies, Washinglon DC:
National Defense University Press.

Kux, Dennis, 2001, The United States and Pakistan 1947-2000: Disenchanted Allies, New
York: Oxford University Press.

Mitha, Major General A.O., 2003, Unlikely Beginnings: A Soldier's Life, Karachi: Oxford
University Press.

Nawaz, Shujs, 2008, Crossed Swords: Pakistan, its Army, and the Wars Within, Karachi:
Oxford University Press.






N

\5(94 The First Military Takeover
®

The assassination of Liaquat Ali Khan, in 1951, set in motion the
internal slide of Pakistani politics. From 1951 onwards, when US
military aid began to arrive, the military establishment became the most
powerful entity in the country and enhanced its clout over the decision-
making process, especially pertaining to defence and foreign policy
(Siddiqa 2007: 71). From such a point of advantage, it could appropriate
more than one-fourth of the annual budget, as the US intelligence
report has indicated.

THE Coup SET IN MOTION

In any event, a scuffle took place between the government and the
oppositional members of the East Pakistan Legislative Assembly on 21
September 1958. It was followed, two days later, by a hand-to-hand fight
between them. Chairs, microphones, tables, and rods were deployed.
The deputy speaker, Shahid Ali, was badly injured and later died from
his injuries. Earlier, in May 1958, Dr Khan Sahib of the Republican
Party had been nuuimleyd_m;vm political scientist
Khalid bin Sayeed portrayed the situation in the following words:

Pakistan was very much like Hobbes' state of nature where every politician
or provincial group fought against ‘cvery other group. It was b ceaseless and
ruthless struggle for power. Most of the leaders thought of themselves, their
families, or at best their provincial groups and did not give a second thought
to Pakistan. Pakistan needed a desperate remedy for its ma.ludy (quoted in

Rizvi 2009: 84).
el

Such developments sufficed to set the coup in mouon Al 8pm,on7
October 1958, Mirza abrogated the Consti d marti

law throughout Pakistan, dismissed the cemrll and provincial
governments—the National and Provincial Assemblies—and appointed




Ayub as the chicf martial law administrator (ibid.. p. 86). Ayub, in turn,
with Mirzas approval, imposed martial law throughout the country
from midnight 7-8 October.

Ayub claimed that the coup had been carried out without much
planning or preparation; only some military units were moved into key
positions in the capital, Karachi. In spite of such a token stationing of
troops in the capital, Ayub stated that the military always has a basic
plan and strategy to deal with such situations; all the commanders had
been informed about the coup. and duties had been allotted to deal with
situations as they arose. The military did not expect much resistance
because 'The people were completely fed up with the state of affairs and
desperately wanted a change. And they had great respect for the army’
(Khan 2006: 90). This was largely true. There were no public displays
of dissatisfaction or anger. In fact, the people were visibly relieved.
Apparently, some generals who were opposed to the army getting
involved in politics were told that the country needed ‘shaking up’
(Nawaz 2008: 145).

THE FIRsT CouP D’ETAT

Hasan: Askari Rizvi has asserted that Ayub Khan had been weighing up
the possibility of such an intervention from, at least, when he
visited East Pakistan. Major General Umrao Khan (General Officer
Commanding, East Pakistan) arranged for him to meet a cross section
of political leaders who expressed their dissatisfaction with the existing
sordid situation. In response, Ayub is reported to have said, ‘if the
people want me, I shall not shirk my duty” (Rizvi 2009: 82). The second
hint, that he was thinking along such lines. was a reply he reportedly
gave to journalists who asked him how he hoped to defend Pakistan
against external aggression when the internal sitvation was so
depressing He reportedly said, ‘Do not worry ahout the defence of the
country. That is my business. Attend to your leaders who are wrecking
the country. Do not talk of external dangers. The real danger is within
the country. Cannot you sce it?" (ibid., 82-3).

EXTERNAL STIMULI

The entirely internal motivations and compulsions of the coup are
doubted by some rescarchers. Shuja Nawaz has asserted that President
Iskander Mirza and General Ayub had been thinking of a military



takeover for quite some time, and had been sharing their views with the
Americans (Nawaz 2008: 139). The reason was also external. In the
Middle East, Arab nationalism was on the rise following the Suez Crisis
of 1956. Gamal Abdel Nasser of Egypt had introduced a trend of left-
leaning radicalism in the Arab world; the bloody coup by the Iraqi
Army, against the pro-Western Hashemite kingdom in 1958 was an
alarming manifestation of that trend. In Pakistan, students and workers
had taken to the streets in the second half of 1958. Elections were due
in 1959 but, given the experience of 1954 in East Pakistan, the pro-
Western power elite was worried about a similar turnout all over
Pakistan. The Muslim League was in tatters; regional parties and
separatist movements were in ferment. Yet, it seems, the Americans
were not entirely convinced that a military takeover was the best bet for
their interests. They preferred the retention of a civilian facade (Jalal
1991: 273-76).

Ayub justified the military coup of 7 October 1958 in the following
words:

The army could not remain unaffected by the conditions around it; nor was
it conceiv le that officers and men would not react to all political chicanery,
mlnguc corruption, and mefﬁcnency manifest in every sphere of life. ... A

ized, trained, and disciplined army would find it extremely
distasteful to be turned into an instrument for securing political power. But
as conditions were, the army alone could act as a coercive force and restore
normalcy’ (Khan 2006: 75).

With the few exceptions of leftist newspapers such as the Pakistan Times
and the Imroze of Lahore, and some Bengali dailies of East Pakistan, the
Pakistani press was positively inclined towards the military takeover.
The US and British press wrote approving editorials in favour of the
coup, and the influential Dawn of Karachi came out strongly a few days
after the ‘coup, 'in support of it in' an editorial entitled ‘A Sane
Revolution':

There have been many revolutions in the world .. . but this revolution of
ours has been of a different sort. A complete change of both system and
regime has been brought about without any strife or bitterness, and without
disorganizing the normal lives of citizens . . . this unique feat will perhaps
stand out in history as a shining testimony to the wisdom, humanity and
large-hearted patriotism of the architects of the new order (quoted in Ray
2004: 105).



ISKANDER MIRZA’s EXIT

However, soon after the coup had been successfully staged, Mirza
became suspicious of Ayub—after troops moved into key positions
around President’s House and other government buildings. Ayub has
noted that on his return from East Pakistan—where he had addressed
a large public gathering—his officers informed him that Mirza had been
trying to test their loyalty to him as the president. Mirza, allegedly,
ordered Air Commodore Rabb to arrest some top commanders who
were close to Ayub, such as General Yahya Khan, General Sher Bahadur,
and General Hamid. Rabb, instead, requested a meeting with Mirza and
demanded that he put such an order down in writing. In the meanwhile,
when Ayub returned from East Pakistan and learnt about Mirzas
intentions, he consulted legal experts who advised him and his close
associates that. after the imposition of martial law and the dissolution
of the government and parliament, the office of president had become
redundant.

A few days later, Ayub was told by his commanders that Mirza had
become unbearable because, allegedly, he had approached some persons
to enter into a deal with him. Ayub asserted that, additionally, a feeling
was growing among the people that Mirza represented the past: that
link had (o be severed to allow the revolution to give a new start to
Pakistan. After some further prevarication, he decided to send General
Burki, General Azam, and General Khalid Shaikh 10 Mirza—to convey
to him that he must step down. Mirza, realizing that he was in an
impossible situation, was despatched to England (Rizvi: 90-4).

The Dawn sang praises of this new development in the following
words:

Jinnah's sister and, ironically, later the joint candidate of the Combined
Opposition Parties against Ayub in the 1964-65 presidential election,
Miss Fatima Jinnah, expressed very similar sentiments:



A m era has begun under General Ayub Khan and the Anned l-‘oros have

ken to root out the malaise and anti I practices,
10 create a sense of confid ity and stability and y to bring
the country back 1o a state of normalcy. I hope and pray that God may bring
wisdom and strength to achieve their objective (quoted in Ziring 1971: 10).

Asghar Khan is of the view that the US was positively inclined to the
change even when:

Iskander Mirza at the time was even closer than Ayuh I(han to the Ulmed
States. Indeed Mirza's p: often

He believed to a greater degree than Ayub Khan that Paluxuns destiny was
linked with the West and felt and behaved like a staunch ally of the United
States. Iskander Mirza did not draw a line between the interests of the United
States and those of Pakistan. Any facility or information required by the
United States was, if he could help it, made available to them. Ayub Khan,
though more discreet in his outward behaviour, had the same belief. Insofar
as Ayub Khan's takeover reflected a neater arrangement, Washington
probably preferred Ayub Khan to his predecessor and he soon began to enjoy
the full confidence and increased support of the United States (2005: 17-18).

MARTIAL LAW

It is not difficult to appreciate that the transition from an inept, corrupt,
faction-ridden, p ive civilian g to military rule,
through martial law, achieved without a single bullet being fired, was
widely supported by the larger society. The military moved into the
major cities and towns, but Ayub Khan decided to exercise authority
through the civil administration. A Presidential Cabinet was set up. It
included three generals and a number of civilians, including Zulfikar
Ali Bhutto—later the nemesis of his downfall. The army, naval, and air
force chiefs became deputy martial law administrators, while Ayub
became president and chief martial law administrator. He also promoted
himself to field marshal. However, civil servants were accommodated
in the overall administration at all levels. It was decided that until such
time that a new constitution was adopted, the abrogated constitution
would be adhered to, subject to martial law regulations and ordinances.
The Supreme Court, High courts, and lower courls continued to

function, though fund: ! rights were susp d (Rizvi 2009: 88-
91). The most |mporunl step, taken by Ayub was the appmnlmm of
a number of expe! toi and d policy

on different pollncll educational, and leyl matters. Troops were
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withdrawn by the second week of November 1958 as the new
government felt that the civil administration was functioning effectively,
albeit under the overall command of the military.

After consolidating power, the government tried to build up public
support. The g d k a number of to weed out
corruption, within the state as well as in the larger socmy Allogﬂher.
1662 government officials were punished through dismi
retirement, reduction in rank and other lesser pumshmenls Wllh
regard to the rampant factionalism and ption among politi
a number of individuals were tried under the Public Office
(Disqualification) Order (PODO) and The Elective Bodies
(Disqualification) Order (EBDO), and disqualified from holding public
office for a period not exceeding fifteen years. Such cases were tried in
special tribunals of not less than two persons, one of whom had to be
a judge of the supreme or high court. At least 1600 individuals were
tried and excluded from holding public office (Rizvi 2009: 100-102).
Also, efforts were made to weed out black marketeers and hoarders:
some were arrested and punished.

REFORMS—I

In his political autobiography, Friends not Masters (2006), Ayub revealed
that he had begun to reflect on what needed to be done to set things
right in Pakistan by October 1954, when he had broken journey in
London on his way to the United States. The core idea he developed
was that Pakistan could evolve as a cohesive nation only ‘if as a start a
constitution is evolved that will suit the genius of the people and be
based on the circumstances confronting them, so that they are set on
the path of unity, team work and creative progress’ (2006: 210). He
began by comparing and ing the eth ial ition of
East and West Pakistan, concluding that the former were descendams
of the ancient races of India and had a long history of being a subjugated
people—a fact that made them suspicious, exclusive, and aggressive. On
the other hand, the latter were, as a result of invasions and conquests,
a mixture of many races who spoke different languages, but who, thus,
enjoyed a ‘fusion of ideas, outlooks and cul res’ (ibid., 210). Ayub did
not put on paper that the latter were better rulers, but that inference is
quite justified. However, ibly, the purpose of comparing the two
d

was to argue for a fi k that ion between the
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East and West Pakistanis. Therefore, he supported parity between them
and for the western units to be amalgamated into one province.

With regard to the political system, Ayub made the following
observation:

It would be appropriate to reiterate the fact that our eventual aim must be
to develop democracy in Pakistan, but a type that suits the genius of our
people. Our people are mostly uneducated and our politicians not so
scrupulous. The people are capable of doing great things, but they can also
be easily misled. Unfettered democracy can, therefore, prove dangerous,
especially nowadays when Communism from within and without is so quick
to make use of weaknesses. We, therefore, have 1o have a controlled
d with checks and hecks (ibid., 212).

Such an approach was reminiscent of Lasswell's observations that the
specialists on violence would emphasize their role as custodians of
national interest and a political system that sought to control people.
Ayub invoked the perceived danger posed by communism, from within
and without, to justify a democracy that was properly controlled by the
state.

Rerorms—II

In the light of such reflections, the military embarked on an ambitious
programme of comprehensive reforms covering economic, educational,
constitutional, and legal matters. Between 1958 and 1962, using his
special powers under martial law, Ayub initiated a number of reforms.
He identified the landlord class as being responsible for holding
Pakistan back in both socioeconomic and political terms. Land reforms
introduced by him imposed a ceiling of 500 acres of irrigated land, and
1000 acres of un-irrigated land, for a single holding in West Pakistan.
The government claimed that some two million acres were surrendered
by the landlords and distributed among the peasants. In East Pakistan,
where radical land reforms had already taken place earlier, the ceiling
was in fact raised drastically, from 33 to 120 acres for self-cultivated
land (Khan 2006: 110). The different approaches seem to have been
motivated by the need to promote a strong upper middle class of
farmers, rather than a vast peasantry owning small fragmented
holdmgs Such measures set the Green Revolunon. which greatly

duction as well as I crops such as cotton,
in motion (Zlnng 1971: 87). Land was allotted to military officers in




ECONOMIC AND INDUSTRIAL POLICIES

Ayub also adopted an industrial policy that offered generous tax
incentives to industrial entreprencurs and exporters. Bonus vouchers
facilitated access to foreign exchange for imports of industrial
machinery and raw materials. Tax concessions were offered for
investment in less-developed arcas (Nyrop 1984: 46). These measures
had important consequences in bringing industry to Punjab, and gave
rise to a new class of small industrialists. Hitherto, it was mainly
Karachi that had benefited from investment by the non-Punjabi
entrepreneurs belonging to the ethnic minorities, such as the Memons,
Ismailis, and Bohras. The diversification of industrialization benefited
Ayub's family and relatives. The overall thrust of the economic reforms
was modernization and development within a capitalist framework—
light consumer industries based on an import substitution strategy.
Such measures were very successful and, within a few years, Pakistan
was being celebrated as a model of capitalist transformation (Ziring
1971: 86-88)

Harvard scholar and World Bank adviser Gustav Papanek pointed
out that the average consumer’s lot improved in the 1960s, but the
concentration of wealth in a few hands—notoriously known as the
22-families—began to be discussed in Pakistani politics and by scholars.
The argument that a trickle-down effect would follow did not register
well with the people. Amid the squalor and wretched poverty of the
Pakistani masses a new elite now flaunted its prowess and privilege!
noted Lawrence Ziring (1971: 89).

REFORMING MusLIM FAMILY Law

The Marriage and Family Laws Commission was originally formed in
1954 under the chairmanship of Justice Mian Abdur Rashid. However,
its d were not impl d by the civilian governments.
Through the Muslim Family Laws Ordinance of 1961, the military




government adopted many of its recommendations. The Ordinance lay
down that marriages and divorces should be registered with the local
government entity known as the Union Council. Second marriages and
divorces also needed to be referred to the Union Council. In the case
of a second marriage, permi ion from the first wife had to be obtained
and the applicant had to convince the council that he was in a financially
sound position to provide for a second wife. The divorce process also
first required submission to an Arbitration Council, which had to try
to ile the couple. M the mini age of marriage for
girls was fixed at 16 years. Another important reform was that
grandsons could now inherit from their grandfathers, even if their
father had died. Previously, according to Sunni law, the grandfather’s
property went to the siblings of the deceased son; the latter’s children
were given no share of the property that would have been given to him
were he alive (Rizvi 2000: 103).

Some clerics opposed the ordinance but the government stood its
ground. Many years later, when the Ayub regime weakened, opposition
to the Muslim Family Laws Ordinance was revived by the right-wing
political forces. However, notwithstanding the vicissitudes that followed
later in Pakistani politics, the Muslim Family Laws Ordinance has
survived all subsequent governments that have come to power in
Pakistan, including the openly Islamist one of General Muhammad
Zia-ul-Haq (r. 1977-88).

BAsic DEMOCRACIES <6'bj

Of all the reforms, the most crucial one was of the political system—
called Basic Democracies. As noted already, Ayub Khan did not believe
that parliamentary democracy was suitable for Pakistan. His concept
was that the people should elect their representatives locally, who would
then constitute an electoral college that would.elect the chief executive
Consequently, 80,000 directly elected Basic Democrats—40,000 from
each wing of the country—constituted the lowest level of a tiered system
of decision-making. The lowest unit was the union council. Each union
council comprised ten directly elected members and five appointec
members, all called Basic Democrats. Union councils were responsible
for local ity develop and the mai of law anc
order. The next levels consisted of the sub-district, district, anc
divisional tiers—each assigned a number of developmental anc
educational functions (Khan 2006: 232-35). The system formed a sor




of pyramid, with the union councils at the bottom and the divisional
councils at the top. The most important were the union councils; the
most important members were the 80,000 elected Basic Democrats
assigned the central role of electing the president. In 1960, they voted
to confirm Ayub Khan as president (Nyrop 1984: 46-7).

THE 1962 CONSTITUTION

Pakistan received its second constitution from Ayub Khan. It was to
embody his vision of a political system that suited the genius of the
Pakistani people—a concept that he emphasized very strongly. In doing
50, he developed his position on the relationship between religion and
state or, rather, Islam and Pakistan. He admitted that neither the Quran
nor the examples of the Prophet and his successors sufficed to serve as
the basis of a proper constitution, but believed that they could serve as
guidance for good and responsible government. He attacked the ulema
who had opposed the creation of Pakistan on the basis that it would be
a secular-national state, alleging that what they wanted, instead, was to
institute a system that would ensure their central authority in running
the state. While critiquing the ulema and their dogmatism, he also
regretted that the modern, educated elite were alienated from their
Islamic roots. He asserted that the Islamic system of government did
not approve of kingship or hereditary rule. According to Ayub Khan:

The community as a whole must have the right to choose its leader and the
right to remove him. Another feature of Islamic history which found general
acceptance was that the leader, once he is chosen by the community, should
have sufficicnt power 10 coordinate, supervise, and control the activities of
the government. Delegation of authority was permissible but central control
must remain in the hands of the chosen leader who should provide unified
direction to the country and its administration (2006: 229).

He then debunked the parliamentary system as divisive, and one that
had brought the country to the verge of collapse because of the shifting
majorities in parli and the q! fall of g He
further wrote ‘We have suffered enough in the past on account of it and
could ill afford to repeat the same mistake. The alternative form, and
the one which seemed to meet our requirements, was the Presidential
form of government’ (ibid., 230).

C ly, the 1962 ituti idential one, with the
president elected indirectly by the elec‘oral college of 80,000 directly




elected Basic Democrats. Initially, Pakistan was only declared ‘The
Republic of Pakistan, which provoked angry protests from the ulema
and other conservative sections of society. The first amendment re-
introduced the epithet ‘Islamic’ and so, once again, Pakistan became
‘The Islamic Republic of Pakistan’ The president was to be a Muslim,
and an Advisory Council of Islamic Ideology and the Islamic Research
Institute were established to advise the government in bringing all
legislation in conformity with the Quran and Sunnah. Ayub Khan
sought to retain certain aspects of his dmmnnm authority, which had

ended after the i was p Igated in 1962. The presid
exercmd substantive powers to m\u ordinances, the right of appell to
ion from impeach control over the budget,

and special emergency powers including the power to suspend civil
rights. On the other hand, fundamental rights were made justiciable.
The courts inued their traditional function of p ing the rights
of individual citizens. However, it was laid down that the courts could
not nullify their previous progressive legislation on land reforms and
family laws. In late 1962, political parties were legalized again (Nyrop
1984: 48-9). Ayub Khan combined fragments of the old Muslim League,
and created the Convention Muslim League as the official government
party.

Samuel P. Huntington showered lavish praise on Ayub's reforms. In
particular, he considered the system of Basic Democracies and the
strong presidency as the two core elements that connected the whole
country to a strong president at the centre. That Ayub also accepted the
system of political parties and created one of his own, the Convention
Muslim League, complﬂed lhe fnmework needed for political
modernization and i y for a developing
nation that was, as yet, not pwperly gmomed in managing the p«llund
pushes of the usual western type of democracy (1968: 252-55).

THE 1965 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION

The first test of the new system was the presidential election of January
1965. Four political parties joined to form the Combined Opposition
Parties (COP)—the Council Muslim League, strongest in Punjab and
Karachi; the Awami League, strongest in East Pakistan; the National
Awami Party, strongest in the North-West Frontier Province, where il
stood for dissolution of the One Unit Plan; and the fundamentalist
Jamaat-e-Islami. The Combined Opposition Parties (COP) nominated



Fatima Jinnah—sister of the Quaid-i-Azam, and Lnown as Madar-c-
Millat (the Mother of the Nation) their presid | candidate. Miss
Jinnah had been p ded, by the opposition, to chall Ayub Khan
who they accused of converting Pakistan into a dictatorship. The nine-
point programme, put forward by the COP, emphasized the restoration
of parliamentary democracy. There was an irony involved in the
selection of a woman as the candidate. The arch-fundamentalist Jamaat-
e-Islami (J1), which stood for an Islamic type of government and had
always opposed women's participation in public life, had to reverse its
stand on the matter. | remember listening to the lcader of the JI at an
election rally and public meeting in Lahore when he argued that just as
Islam ordinarily forbade pork but allowed it when life was threatened
and no halal (permitted) food was available, similarly a woman should
not take part in politics under normal circumstances but could in
extraordinary circumstances.

The clection resulted in a victory for Ayub Khan: he won 63.3 per
cent of the Electoral College vote. His majority was larger in West
Pakistan (73.6 per cent) than in East Pakistan (53.1 per cent). The
opposition made some complaints about rigging but, by and large, it
was clear that the clection was fair. The people of Pakistan seemed to
have endorsed Ayub Khan's policies even though the mass of the people
had not benefited. in a substantial way, from the economic developments
that were underway (Nyrop 1984: 49).

US-PAKISTAN INTERACTION

Irrespective of what the Americans may have wanted to happen in
Pakistan, Washington had not raised any serious objections to the
military coup once it had taken place. Rather, they expressed the hope
that Pakistan would soon return to democracy. The coup was largely a
product of the internal developments in Pakistani politics, which paved
the way for the military to take charge of the country in a direct and
comprehensive sense. It inevitably gave impetus to its praetorian role in
a garrison state. As noted already, the garrison state was being
consolidated through a military alliance between Pakistan and the US,
formalized in 1954; it was followed by Pakistan joining SEATO, the
Baghdad Pact, and later CENTO. Regular linkages between the
Pentagon and GHQ Rawalpindi had already been established. At the
level of the officers, regular interaction had begun to take place—
training of the $SG and joint exercises being major forms of it.



THE US-PAKISTAN AGREEMENT OF 5§ MARCH 1959

As noted in the last chapter, the Americans had begun to doubt
Pakistans usefulness to their anti-Soviet strategy in the Middle East.
However, Pakistan's geostrategic importance continued to be the main
attraction for the United States to enhance its coopenuon with nt ll
seems that the Pentagon and the Eisenh

convinced that they had enough leverage on Pakistan to make it serve
US interests, if and when needed. Consequently, economic and military
cooperation was further deepened through the US-Pakistan agreement
of 5 March 1959—of which Article 1 was probably the most important:

The Government of Pakistan is determined 1o resist aggression. In case of
aggression against Pakistan, the Government of the United States of
America, in accordance with the Constitution of the United States, will take
such appropriate action, including the use of armed forces, as may be
mutually agreed upon and as is envisaged in the Joint Resolution to Promote
Peace and Stability in the Middle East, in order to assist the Government of
Pakistan at its request (Jain 2007a: 33).

No clause or article in the main text referred to India. The Americans,
nevertheless, chose not to be caught on the back foot and, therefore, a
few weeks later, on 6 May, Secretary of Defense Neil H. McElroy, in a
hearing before the Senate Committee for Foreign Relations, made it
clear that such an agreement should not be construed to include
military aid or intervention in case of an India-Pakistan war. He stated:

So the Pakistan military assistance program is geared to preparing Pakistan
10 defend against aggression from the north and is not in relationship to any
possibility of conflict with India. . . . This defense, of course, is not against
India. This is allocated to Pakistan for defense against Russia and China
(ibid., 35).

Such a statement was also meant to placate the lndnns Notwithstanding
the change of guard, from D ic to Rep leadership, US
foreign policy ined steadfast in its estimation that India, and not
Pakistan, was the most important country in South Asia; in the overall
contest with the Soviet Union and China, it was important that India
remained a western type of democracy. Not surprisingly, the Indian
prime minister issued a statement in the Indian Parliament on 13 March
1959, in which he informed the members:




We have been assured by the US authorities that their latest bilateral
agreement with Pakistan has no cffect other than the extension of the
Eisenhower Doctrine to cover Pakistan and that the Eisenhower Doctrine
restricts the use of United States armed forces to cases of armed aggression

from any country lled by We have been

i assured by the US ities that this A cannot be used
agams( India. We have also been assured by the bnucd States authorities
that there are no secret clauses.  (Jain 2007b: 26).

The Eisenhower Doctrine, it may be recalled, was purported to support
Middle Eastern nations against the spread of communism and Soviet
influence. Pakistan had been insisting on its usefulness in playing a
central role—through its army—in the Middle East on behalf of the
West, long before the Eisenhower Doctrine was formulated or
announced. Meanwhile, an incident took place that greatly angered the
Soviet leaders vis-a-vis Pakistan. On 1 May 1960, the Soviet Union shot
down an American U-2 reconnaissance aircraft that had taken off from
Peshawar in northern Pakistan. Earlier, in July 1959, a ‘communication
facility’ had been granted to the US at Badaber, near Peshawar, which
was staffed by personnel of the US Air Force (Jain 2007a: 309). From
it, the Americans could monitor developments in the Middle East as
well as the Soviet Union. The U-2 pilot, Gary Powers, was captured and
the Soviet Union issued a stern warning to Pakistan, threatening it with
severe punishment if it allowed further such flights from its territory.
While further U-2 flights were stopped. the Pakistan Air Force and US
and British pilots continued to fly another aircraft—the RB-57F—which
had an altitude capability of 82,000 feet. These flights were confined to
the border areas along the Soviet Union and China, and continued for
many years (Singleton 2010). East Pakistan could, at most, serve as a
servicing base for SEATO operations in case of war in Southeast Asia.

Ayub Khan continued to appeal to the United States for greater help
and assistance. Writing in the mouthpiece of the US foreign policy
establishment’s, Forcign Affairs, in July 1960, he thanked the Americans
for their ‘magnanimous aid' and went on to say:



Simultaneously, Pakistan's US Ambassador, Aziz Ahmed, wrote in th
Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences in Jul:
1960:

Pakistan is . . the most allied of America’s Asian allies in that it is signator;
to more mutual assistance arrangements with which the United States i:
associated than any other Asian country. Strategically, it occupies a positior
of unusual interest . . . a bridge between the Middle East and Southeast Asia
West Pakistan, furthermore, has a common border with China and is very
close to the Soviet Union’s southern frontiers. . . . (ibid., 36).

Ayub Khan's, and Aziz Ahmed’s, articles were published soon after
Pakistan decided not to join the Non-Aligned Movement (NAM). That
decision, in itself, was significant because it carried major foreign policy
implications and demonstrated a clear break with the option of
neutrality that had existed in Pakistan for a while. In 1955, Pakistan had
been one of twenty-nine countries, mostly former colonies in Africa
and Asia, that had convened a meeting at Bandung, in Indonesia, to
discuss common concerns and to develop joint policies i international
relations: their core concern was a commitment to maintai ing national
independence and territorial integrity, and 1o oppose imperialism,
colonialism, and other forms of domination by the big powers. However,
by the time the First NAM Summit Conference was held in Cairo, from
5-12 June 1961, Pakistan had moved decisively away from neutrality in
the Cold War. The intellectual and ideological leadership of NAM rested
with left-of-centre statesmen, such as Jawaharlal Nehru, Ahmed
Soekarno, Gamal Abdel Nasser, and Joseph Tito. Thus, when the
preconditions for membership of NAM were discussed and formulated,
it was laid down that members should not be part of a military pact
sponsored by any great power—an allusion to the United States and the
Soviet Union. Since Pakistan had entered into a military pact with the
United States in 1954, and joined US-backed regional military alliances,
NAM was no longer a forum that was relevant for the ascendant civil-
military oligarchy that was now entrenched in Pakistan. In fact, the
Pakistani leaders tried to contrast their loyalty to the West with India’s
non-committal approach. This point was stressed by Ayub Khan in an
address to the US Congress in 1961. He proudly announced that
‘Pakistan was the only country in the continent where the United States
armed forces could land at any moment for the defence of the ‘free
world' (Bhutto 1969: 1).




THE SINO-INDIA WAR AND PAKISTANI CONCERNS

During the 1950s, while Pakistan had appropriated the designation of
‘the most allied ally in Asia’ for itself, India had been providing
leadership to the NAM. However, in October-November 1962, a border
clash occurred between India and the People’s Republic of China—the
two most populous nations of the world, which had emerged as fre.
nations after long-drawn freedom struggles. Nehru had supported the
communist regime’s triumph over the nationalists, and advocated that
China should be admitted to the United Nations. In the early years, after
both states became independent, slogans like ‘Hindi-Chini Bhai Bhai'
(Indians and Chinese are brothers) were in circulation but such
manifestations did not suffice to prevent the emergence of a serious
border conflict between the two most populous nations of Asia. The
origin of the conflict lay in a dispute over demarcation of the
international border between China and India; both states inherited the
historical ambiguitics of areas of control over the preceding hundred or
more years, particularly about Tibet—a principality which traditionally
recognized Chinese suzerainty.

When Chinese Premier Zhou En-Lai visited India in April 1960,
Hindu ultra-nationalists protested against alleged Chinesc imperialism
and opposed any territorial concessions. He met a cross section of
Indian leaders, but was lectured by everyone on the righteousness of
the Indian position. While the whole atmosphere was charged with
hardcore Indian nationalism, there was also a hope that an agreement
would be reached between Zhou and Nehru. The Chinese proposals

d their carlier p hat, while Aksai Chin remained with
China in the eastern areas, India could retain its existing positions. The
McMahon Line, more or less, was proposed as the boundary to be
converted inta the international border, but India refused to accept such
an arrangement (Maxwell 1970: 158-70).

‘This was followed by the Indian leaders, especially on the Right,
resorting to irresponsible bluster about war. The Indian military also
began to advocate an aggressive posture vis-a-vis China. Jingoism
gained the upper hand as India wrested the tiny colony of Goa away
from the Portuguese in December 1961. Projected as a war of liberation,
it was a rather casy success because of the very weak Portuguese
presence in Goa. Somehow, such successes began to be confused with
si ilar possibilities in the event that India decided to drive the Chinese
out of areas that it had, allegedly, been occupying. Indian troops began
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to be despatched to the border areas in the north. Over the months
although the Chinese and Indian troops clashed a number of times
their skirmishes remained local and of little military importance. Both
sides began to build-up their military presence along the disputed
border. A bigger border clash was in the offing and, on 20 October, the
Chinese attacked in real strength. —

As the Indians were poorly clothed, trained, and armed to fight at
such great heights and in such Id: ther conditi they
quickly suffered reverses. On 29 October, the American ambassador
called on Nehru and offered military equipment, which Nehru accepted
immediately although, some weeks earlier, he had dismissed the idca of
accepting Amcrican military aid. In fact, it was Nehru who wrote to
President Kennedy requesting US military intervention (Maxwell 1970:
435). Military aid began to arrive in India from France, Britain, and the
United States within a few days. However, nothing helped and India was
defeated. While fleeing, the Indians surrendered some 2000 square
miles of disputed territory. This put the Chincse in control of 15,000
square miles in the Kashmir region. Reverses in the northeast were even
more dramatic and, had the Chinese wanted, they could have continued
gaining control over more territory. However, on 21 November, they
decided on a unilateral ceasefire and withdrew to behind the McMahon
Line—vacating the entire area that they had captured (Khan 2006:
154-55). The Chinese move rendered US intervention unnecessary.
However, the Indian right-wing opposition called on the government
1o keep fighting until all the occupied land was liberated. Such
proclamations carried no value as India had been roundly defeated.

A historian of the Sino-Indian war of 1962, Neville Maxwell, noted
that even though the Cold War was still raging, both the superpowers
had reached some sort of understanding that India had to be propped
up against China. The Indian lcadership decided to work with the US
in Asia (Maxwell 1970: 434), which resulted in US and Biitish military
aid worth $120 million to India. The aid was to cquip six Indian
divisions for mountain warfare. At the same time, India decided to
increasc its strength from eleven to twenty-two divisions (Khan 2006:
155). India accepted this help but insisted that it would remain steadfast
to its non-aligned foreign policy. On the other hand, the US and Britain
pressed India to settle its dispute with Pakistan. Here, the Indian
position was diametrically opposed to the one it had taken vis-a-vis
China—it wanted Pakistan to accept the status quo. At any rate, US
arms and military aid continued to be given to India, despite Pakistan's




protests. Also, India sharply increased its spending on the moderni tion
and expansion of its armed forces. Ayub Khan, expressing his frustration
at the way India was managing to hoodwink the world, wrote:

In military terms, India was probably at its weakest while the war was
going on with China. Pakistan could have taken advantage of it but
Ayub Khan did not do so. Within the Pakistani power elite, hawks, such
as Foreign Minister Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, were in favour of exploiting the
opportunity by attacking India (Aijazuddin 2002: 21). Subsequently, the
missed opportunity was falsely magnified by the hawkish elements of
the power elite (Schoficld 2007: 42). The Sino-Indian border war set an
arms race in motion. While India began to arm, primarily for a future
military threat from China but at the same time concerned about
Pakistan's military ambitions, Pakistan felt that a better armed and
slrong,cr India was a greater threat than previously. The Chinese
iousl dered the two superp to be a threat 10 its existence.
In South -\sn the border issue also resulted in increasing Chinese
interest in courting Pakistan—a gesture that the latter reciprocated with
b and iderabl
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KENNEDY’S LETTER TO AYUB

Kennedy wrote to Ayub on 28 October 1962—while the Sino-India,
border war was at its height—requesting that the latter write to Nehru,
assuring him that Pakistan did not have any intention of attacking India
during its conflict with China. Ayub wrote a long letter 10 Kennedy on
5 November 1962, in which he complained that India had posed a major
military threat to Pakistan for fiftcen years, and that 80 per cent of its
armed forces were amassed on its western front with Pakistan. He
argued that Pakistan’s vital cconomic interests were linked to Kashmir.
Because of the Indian threat, Pakistan had been forced to keep itself,
f ly, in a state of mobili: He then went on to demonstrate
that India was an liable and d ighbour and a deceptive
player in international politics. He pomled out the Indian military




invasions of Junagarh, Hyderabad, Kashmir, and Goa, and told Kenned;
that the Chinese operations were, in his estimation, of a limited natur\
and would not lead to a bigger war (Khan 2006: 162-5).

The US and Britain took various initiatives to encourage India anc
Pakistan to reach a settlement of the Kashmir dispute but nothing cam¢
of these efforts. However, just before his death in May 1964, Nehru sen/
the Kashmiri leader, Sheikh Abdullah, to Pakistan to probe the
possibility of resolving the conflict. Apparently, Nehru had come rounc
10 the belief that, in the event of any future conflict with China, India
needed to secure its western border. For that to happen, the Kashmix
problem had to be resolved. Sheikh Abdullah was received with greal
warmth, and he add: d public ings and met Kashmiri and
Pakistani leaders. However, his visit was cut short on 27 May 1964 by
the news that Nehru had died (Gauhar 1998: 257). Abdullah flew back
to Delhi where, after a while, he was again put into detention. The
change of guard in Delhi brought more hawkish elements into power.
No further Indian gesture, akin to the one made by Nehru, followed.

IMPROVEMENT IN PAKISTAN-CHINA RELATIONS

Meanwhile, Pakistan and China had begun to develop more than a
friendly neighbourly relationship. The initial contacts had begun in the
1950s; Chinese Premier Zhou En-Lai's visit to Pakistan in 1956 had
received a very warm and ostentatious welcome. While remaining an
ally of the US, Pakistan had, since the mid-1950s, been trying to
improve relations with China. This was not received sympathetically in

hing! the suspicion that Pakistan’s i to fighting
communism was merely a tactic to secure Western arms was
strengthened. Consequently, the US viewed the early overtures with
some reservation. But, after the split between the Soviet Union and
China .in the early .1960s,. the . United States was not particularly
concerned vis-a-vis Pakistan’s friendly overtures to China and vice
versa. The Sino-Indian war of 1962 brought China and Pakistan even
closer and, in 1963, they reached an agreement on the demarcation of
their international border. Pakistan conceded some territory to the
Chinese, from the area of Kashmir under its control. Both agreed to the
building of a road ing China's Musli jority Xingjian
province with Pakistan’s northern region. A trade agreement was also
signed. Pakistan's Foreign Minister, Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, was the main




architect of this policy of developing a closer understanding with China
(Bhutto 1969).

On the Indian side, the rapid expansion of the armed forces and the
acquisition of modern military hardware had generated greater
confidence. India had been spending much larger sums of money on its
armed forces than Pakistan though, in percentage terms, Pakistan was
spending more. The Soviet Union. in particular, greatly expanded
military aid and sales to India. Its deteriorating relations with China
apparently made it come to the same conclusion as its superpower rival:
that India had to be made militarily strong so that the debacle of 1962
could not be repeated.

INDIA-PAKISTAN RELATIONS

India had offered a “No War Pact’ to Pakistan in 1950, but it had been
rejected by Pakistan because the Kashmir dispute was not being settled
in accordance with the pledges India had made in the Security
Council—to hold a plebiscite to ascertain the wishes of |hc Kashmir,
people. Subsequently. the offer of a no-war-pact was repeated many
times but, cach time, it was turned down by Pakistan as it was suspected
that it was a crafty move engineered at making the ceasefire line into
the international border—which was unacceptable to Pakistan (Bhutto
1966: 40). Nevertheless, in November 1959, Ayub offered India a ‘joint
defence pact’ which Nehru rejected with the caustic remark, ‘defence
against whom' (Tahir-Kheli 1997: 34). In any event, the Kashmir
problem continued to dog India-Pakistan relations and, as usual, the
UN was the venue where much of sabre ratthng took place

THE INDUS WATERS TREATY

The ideological and identity aspects of t ¢ Kas mir dispute are well-
known—for India, retention of Kashmir is considered essential to its
secular identity while, for Pakistan. its acquisition is necessary to
complete the division of India on a religious basis. However, apart from
such identity clashes and emotional traumas, the decper reasons for
claiming Kashmir are cconomic and military. It is quite intriguing that
neither side has clearly staked its claims on such bases. The fact is that
the Kashmir dispute is basically a hydro-political problem that carries
profound economic and military implications and ramifications. Both
India and Pakistan have to feed huge populations; this pressure is



constantly increasing because of rapid population growth. Both have
invested heavily in the agricultural sector, which forms a major portion
of their economies. The most developed regions of Indian agricultural
production, and almost the whole Pakistani agricultural sector, are
dependent on the waters from the rivers that originate in the mountains
of Kashmir or the adjacent Himalayan range. These rivers meander into
the territories of both the states. Consequently, the state that controls
the upper riparian enjoys a strategic advantage because it can divert the
flow of water, or even deny it, to the other. This advantage is enjoyed
by India (Malik 2005).

Surprisingly, although tensions and hosti between India and
Pakistan over Kashmir had remained high, both sides realized that they
could not afford to postpone an agreement on water sharing until the
final status of Kashmir was scttled. Consequently, under the auspices of
the World Bank, a treaty was signed by them in 1960 whereby the waters
of the three castern rivers—Ravi, Sutlej, and Beas—were awarded to
India, while Pakistan was allocated the waters from the western rivers
of Indus, Jhelum, and Chenab. Nehru and Ayub Khan signed the Indus
Waters Treaty in Karachi on 19 September 1960. The treaty also allowed
Pakistan to construct a system of replacement canals to convey water
from the western rivers into those areas in West Pakistan that had
previously depended on water from the eastern rivers for their irrigation
supplies (text given in Kux 2006: 67-8).

In subsequent years, Pakistan built—with funding from international
donors—the Mangla and Tarbela dams and several other si ilar
facilities on the waters of the Indus, Jhelum, and Chenab. Similarly,
India built dams and barrages on the Ravi, Sutlej, and Beas. The treaty
also prescribed a mechanism for resolving any conflicts that may arise
over its interpretation.
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The 1965 War

®

While Pakistan and India continued to dispute the status of Jammu anc
Kashmir in international forums, they assumed positions that made :
negotiated settlement impossible. In 1963, India took further steps tc
integrate Kashmir into India—in the wake of Pakistan giving away som¢
territory, from the Kashmir territory under its control, to China
Tension between India and Pakistan continued to grow in 1964 and
1965. George Singleton, who was posted as a senior officer with the
Communications Group at the US Embassy in Karachi, recalled that
Foreign Minister Bhutto wanted to use the RB-57F reconnaissance
aircraft to fly over Kashmir and India to gather intelligence. He wrote:

Mr Bhutto tricd hard to get the RB-57Fs flown over Kashmir and India 1o
gather intellij But the p i and air chiel marshal
Asghar Khan refused Bhutto's bullying and did his job with the US to stay
focused on our joint mission of intelligence gathering of and from the USSR
and China. One thing | knew of first hand was that foreign minister Bhutto
also tried, again unsuccessfully, to pressure the UK air adviser to the British
High Commissioner in Pakistan, the US air attaché, and my boss to fly
intelligence gathering missions, which Bhutto wanted over Kashmir and
India. Again, Mr Bhutto met absolute rebuffs and turndowns. Kashmir and
India were not the mission of our Cold War-focused intelligence programme
(2010).

In March 1965, India and Pakistan were drawn into a border skirmish
in the remote marshy region known as the Rann of Kutch—on the
border between Pakistan's Sindh and India’s Gujarat provinces. Initially,
it involved skirmishes between the border police of both nations but,
soon afterwards, their armed forces were drawn into it. While their
armies fought each other, the chiefs of the two air forces, Air Marshal
Arjun Singh of India and Air Marshal Asghar Khan of Pakistan, who
had served together during the British period, informally decided not
to commit their ‘rcraft to the conflict (Khan 2005: xii). Apparently, the



Pakistanis outclassed their Indian counterparts in the battles that took
place (Khan 1993: 163-6). However, in contravention of their
agreements with the US, Pakistan used the Patton tanks it had received
as part of the military aid purportedly given for a future conflict with
communist states (Husain 2010: 209). Moreover, there were no major
gains to be made in such terrain. A ceascfire was agreed on, by both
sides, on 30 June. The showdown attracted the international media, and
Pakistan's success was mentioned in a number of despatches by Western
correspondents. Such an outcome greatly boosted the image of the
Pakistan Army among the people. Brian Cloughley has summed up the
impact of the Rann of Kutch operation on Pakistan in the following
words:

The direct fallout of the perceived success in the Rann of Kutch was
that those forces in the Pakistani establishment who favoured active
policy on the Kashmir dispute were greatly encouraged to challenge
Indian intransigence on Kashmir. The mood had turned jingoistic and
militaristic. In India, too. warmongers benefited. It redeployed six
divisions— 125,000 troops—to its western front with Pakistan in mid-
1965 (ibid., 65-6).

OPERATION GIBRALTAR

After Sheikh Abdullah’s visit to Pakistan in 1964, Ayub Khan tasked the
Foreign Office with preparing a plan. in consultation with GHQ. to
‘defreeze’ the Kashmir dispute. It set secretive mectings of high ranking
officers belonging to the foreign ministry, the intelligence agencies, and
GHQ in motion. The pivot around which the Kashmir situation was
constantly reviewed was Foreign Secretary Aziz Ahmed. He was
convinced that if Pakistan sent its soldiers into Indian-administcred
Kashmir, a spontancous uprising of the Kashmiris would follow. The
assumption scems to have been that a fear of China would prevent India
from provoking all-out war (Gauhar 1998: 318-21).



In December 1964, a plan was prepared by the Foreign Office and
the ISI, and submitted to Ayub Khan, to send infiltrators into Kashmir.
He and his advisers were sceptical about it but, after he won the 1965
election, discussed it again. Training in tank warfare in hilly tracts,
began to take place in complete secrecy. At a meeting held in February
1965, the Commander-in-Chief, General Musa, and his senior aides,
Foreign Minister Bhutto and Aziz Ahmed, were present. The air force
and naval chiefs were not invited! ISI Deputy Director T.S. Jan explained
the details of the plan. Ayub reportedly chided those responsible for it
because it exceeded their brief. Altaf Gauhar, who was Information
Secretary, has written that Ayub said:

If there are no more comments, let me ask: Who authorised the Foreign
Office and the IS1 to draw up such a plan? It is not their job. All I asked
them was t0 keep the situation in Kashmir under review. They can't force a
<campaign of military action on the Government (ibid., 320-21).

Ayub was also shown another plan, called ‘Operation Gibraltar',
prepared by General Akhtar Hussain Malik. General Musa, Bhutto, and
some other senior military brass were present. Ayub reportedly directed
that the main objective of the campaign should be to capture Akhnur,
which had great strategic importance. Ayub's plan received a favourable
response from those present (Gauhar 1998: 322).

GRAND SLAM

Capturing Akhnur was also Malik's objective, but it was a part of the
larger undertaking planned in Operation Gibraltar. Malik was reluctant
to dash for Akhnur, arguing that a lot more resources and men would
be needed to accomplish such an objective. This was accepted, and Ayub
sanctioned additjonal funds, Thus, Operation Grand Slam was born.
There is considerable confusion as to whether or not this meant that
Operation Gibraltar was to be abandoned and, instead, Operation
Grand Slam implemented directly. Shuja Nawaz remarked:

The second part of the plan, Grand Slam, had been given the edge by Ayub
Khan who had suggested that Akhnur, a key choking point on the only land
route between India and Kashmir, be made the target of the attack by Akhtar
Malik's troops. Akhtar Malik, while reluctant to fully tie himself down to
that objective, acceded to the request in his meeting with Ayub and others.




Air Marshal Asghar Khan, who had kept the air force out of the Rann
of Kutch conflict, was retired in July 1965. On the other hand, Bhutto
had been re-appointed as foreign minister and, day carlier. had written
to Ayub that India was in no position to risk a war with Pakistan and
that Pakistan ‘enjoyed relative superiority’ in terms of quality and
equipment (Gauhar 1998: 322). Bhutto assured Ayub that ‘the risk of
India unleashing a war on Pakistan, in retaliation of raids in Kashmir,
was negligible and could certainly be contained by Pakistan’s diplomatic
skills and military superiority’ (ibid., 323). However, General Musa
remained unconvinced. He was rather alone because Bhutto had won
many in the GHQ over to his point of view. Altogether, five groups,
named after five legendary Islamic generals, were tasked with Operation
Gibraltar. A subsidiary force, named Nusrat (which was incidentally
Bhutto’s wife name), was added to them. Altogether, some 4000
Mujahideen (Islamic warriors) were infiltrated into Indian-administered
Kashmir on 28 July—although the Indians claimed that the number was
30,000.

Contrary to what the Kashmir cell had been telling GHQ and the
other authorities, the Indians had taken effective measures to silence
the Kashmiri leaders. Most of those who had taken critical positions on
Indian efforts to integrate Kashmir into India were under detention.
Very few of the men, sent by Pakistan, spoke Kashmiri. As they had no
idea of the conversion rates, they faced problems when converting
weights and measures into the metric system, which was used in
Kashmir, and when using Indian currency (Nawaz 2008: 208). When
they came into contact with the local villagers, the latter informed the
Indian forces about their movements. ‘By 16 August the Indians had

lised the infil s and started li y operations by
occupying two important posts in Uri Sector, noted Gauhar (1998:
323-5). It was only in Jammu that they received some help, and the
Pakistan flag was hoisted in a few places (Khan 2007: 91).

Gohar Ayub Khan has asserted that the operation had been badly
planned by Akhtar Malik. The Indians, having moved their troops
quickly, closed the infiltrators’ entry points and then began to hunt
them down, killing some and capturing others. ‘Major General Akhtar
Hussain Malik had not properly planned the exit routes for the
Mujahideen’ (2007: 91). The Indians followed up with a major operation




to separate Uri from Poonch. On 28 August, they captured Haji Pir Pass,
which put the Pakistanis in a critical situation. General Musa reportedly
rushed to Bhutto's house and told him that the Pakistani forces were
now at the mercy of the Indians. He also talked to Malik, who was in
dire straits, and insisted that Grand Slam be launched immediately,
otherwise everything would be lost (Gauhar 1998: 326). Musa urged
Bhutto to obtain Ayub’s approval, to launch Operation Grand Slam,
forthwith. Gauhar has noted the serious implication such a decision
would, however, entail:

Apparently, just as such frantic exchanges of opinions were taking place,
the Chinese Ambassador arrived to be bricfed. He shared China’s
experience of guerrilla warfare with Bhutto, including the elaborate
training and planning required to merge with the rural people and to
conduct guerrilla warfare in cooperation with them. He did not respond
to Bhutto when asked his advice whether the fight should be expanded
beyond the international border.

Brigadier Yasub Ali Dogar has explained that, from the Pakistani
military point of view, the international border was not crossed; rather,
it was the ‘working boundary’ that was crossed. The working boundary
was the pre-Partition border between Punjab and the Jammu and
Kashmir State, and was not a product of the ceasefire line of the 1947-
48 war. The Pakistanis advanced from that point where the pre-partition
border and the ceasefire line met, and therefore were convinced that the
international border was not breached. India, however, did not
recognize the working boundary; it considered it to be the international
border because the Maharaja had signed a bill of accession to India in
October 1947. Crossing the border, from any point, was deemed to be
a violation of the international border by the Indians. Major General
Afsir Karim, a retired Muslim officer of the Indian Army, told me in an
cxtended interview that the Pakistanis had tangled themselves in the
finer points of international law while themselves being guilty of




AYUB KHAN LEAVES FOR SWAT

Ayub Khan went to Swat soon after Gibraltar was launched! Bhutto
visited him and returned with a directive—'Political aim for struggle in
Kashmir'—signed by Ayub, on 29 August 1965. In it, Ayub Khan had
reiterated that action should be taken to ‘defreeze the Kashmir problem,
weaken Indian resolve, and bring her to the conference table without
provoking a general war’ (Gauhar 1998: 328). Ayub had emphasized that
preparation must, nevertheless, be made for any Indian move on the
international border. He favoured quick, hard blows. ‘Hindu morale
would not stand more than a couple of hard blows at the right time, and
place. Such opportunities should, therefore, be sought and exploited’
(ibid.). Altal Gauhar has concluded that such reflections were indicative
of the fact that he did not know that Gibraltar had foundered completely.
The Information Secretary, otherwise sympathetic to Ayub, deplores his
absence from Islamabad at that critical juncture, and remarks:

Even General Musa was not informed about the real situation. The
forces in the field were sending dubious and exaggerated messages of
brilliant advances (ibi 28). Gauhar also wondered why Akhnur was
not given priv had ded, it would have di d the
five Indian divisions in Kashmir from India. With Gibraltar ending in
failure, the Indians had begun to move towards Muzaffarabad, the
capital of Pakistani Azad Kashmir.

Operation Grand Slam was finally launched on 31 August. It met
with strong resistance, halting in one place and advancing inexplicably
slowly in another. It was in shambles by 2 September when in the
afternoon, General Akhtar Malik was ordered to hand over command
to General Yahya Khan (ibid., 330). The assumption that the Indians
were in an extremely exposed position in Akhnur, and had insufficient




forces, was erroneous according to Gauhar. The Indians had built up
their strength. Referring to some details from the battle, Gauhar ha:
argued that General Malik was not leading the battle in a coherent
manner, and that the command headquarters in the field was being
shifted with the result that the operation was running into problems
He has cited General Musa, who remarked, ‘There was no proper
articulation of command and grouping of forces’ (ibid., 330-1). When
Grand Slam did not materialize, the picture looked gloomy in spite of
Pakistan capturing some Indian posts. Finally, the truth came out:

Ayub summoned Bhutto and Musa and demanded the truth. Musa admitted.
at last, that Gibraltar had been a complete failure and Grand Slam was frozen
in its tracks. After some discussion it was decided that the time had come
1o cut the losses and wind up the operation. Hopefully, the Indians would
get the message and avoid any further escalation. General Malik. had by now
lost all credibility with the high command. His enthusiasm had got the better
of his judgement and he had launched Gibraltar, a guerrilla operation, for
which he had ncither the right type of manpower nor any support among
the villagers of Kashmir. The task of winding up the operation was entrusted
to General Yahya Khan, who was hitting the bottle because he had been
given a marginal role in Gibraltar (ibid., 332).

The news about the change in command spread quickly in Pakistan; the
newspapers had been in a triumphant mood and greatly exaggerated,
to the Pakistani public, false claims of victories and advances (ibid.,
331). According to Altaf Gauhar

Independent newspapers were vying with the official media in projecting
the exploits of their heroes in Kashmir. Radio Pakistan, which normally
inspired only boredom and scepticism. became compulsive listening.
General Malik, following in the footsteps of the great Muslim hero, Tarig,
who burnt his boats before he conquered Spain, was being poised to inflict
a crushing hlow an the encmy. Why had he heen relieved of command at
such a critical moment? Few people knew that GHQ had been feeding the
press with highly cxaggerated stories of imaginary victories against fictitious
foes. Within the government there was no arrangement to check or verify
these stories. Whether it was an advanced form of camouflage, sell-
delusion, or prevarication by common consent to boost one another's
morale and prospects, conscience had certainly yielded place to wilful
fabrication (ibid., 331-2).




The more familiar version, and the one popular with retired military
officers, has been that General Malik had nearly captured Akhnur when
General Musa relieved him of his charge, and Yahya Khan failed to
consolidate that crucial gain. The Director of Military Operations,
General Gul Hassan Khan, who was one of the key players in the
Kashmir cell—established in 1964—casts doubt on the wisdom of
relieving Malik. He has asserted that the change in command, and the
inordinate delay in launching Operation Grand Slam, was a major
factor: ‘Had he [Malik] been permitted to attack on 26 or 27 August, 1
am convinced we would have obtained our objective in not more than
three days. (Khan 1993: 187).

Brian Cloughley has expressed a somewhat similar opinion, arguing
that Malik produced a good plan, notwithstanding the confusion about
the ultimate objective of the whole campaign (2000: 75). Bhutto
reportedly held the same view, "Had General Akhtar Malik not been
stopped in the Chamb-Jaurian Scctor, the Indian forces in Kashmir
would have suffered serious reverses, but Ayub Khan wanted to make
his favourite, General Yahya Khan, a hero’ (quoted in Abbas 2005: 51).
In any case. the change in command on 2 September meant that 24
hours were lost in the process—which the Indians took advantage of
and regrouped. Fierce fighting followed on the 4th and 5th and Pakistan
made some advances but, on the 6th, the Indians opened the front at
Lahore and Sialkot.

Such a point of view has been refuted by Altaf Gauhar who has
admitted that certain aspects of Gibraltar and Grand Stam are still
shrouded in mystery. I quote him at length:




In December 2008, T met General Akhtar Malik's son, Maior (Retd.)
Saced AKhtar Malik, in Islamabad. He gave me a printed copy of the
letter his father wrote to his younger brother, Major General {later
Licutenant General] Abdul Al Malik, in which he claimed that
evervbody was on board about his plan. The letter, dated 23 November

1967,

was posted from Ankara where General Akhtar Malik was serving

as Pakistan’s Permanent Military Deputy. Excerpts from n are
reproduced below

-

The de facto command changed the very first day of t

is the military operations) after the fall of Chamb.

betrayal of many dimensions.

I reasoned and then pleaded with Yahya that af it was the credit
he was looking for, he should take the overall command but let
me go up to Akhnur as his subordinate, but he retused.

At no time was 1 assigned any reason for bemg removed from
command by Avub, Musa or Ya ey were all sheepish at best

1 think the reasons will be given w en Tam no more,

Not informing pro-Pak Kashmiri clements before lau
Gibraltar was a command decision and it was mine. The «

the op [operation| was to defrecze the Kashnur issue, raise it fro

moribund state. and bri 7 it to the notice of the world. To achieve
this wim the first phase of the op was vital. that is, to effedt
undetected infilt
line]. 1 was not willing to compromise this in any event. And the

ation of thousands across the CIL {the ceasehire

whole op could be stillborn by iust one double agent

Haji Pir did not cause me much annicty. Because impending
Grand Slam Indian concentration i Haii Pir could onlv help us
atter Akhnur, and they would have to pull out troops from there
to counter the new threats and surrender their gains, and maybe
more, in the process. Actually it was only after the fall of Akhnur
that we would have encashed the full value of Gibraltar, but that
was not to be!

Bhutto kept on insisting that his sources had assured him that
India would not attack 1f we do not violate the international
border. 1 however was ¢ertain that Gibraltar would lead 1o w,
and told GHQ so. 1 needed no op intelligence to come 1o this



conclusion. It was simple common sense. If I get you by your
throat, it will be silly for me to expect that you will kiss me for it.
Because 1 was certain that war would follow, my first choice as
objective for Grand Slam was Jammu. From there we could have
exploited our success either toward Samba or Kashmir proper as
the situation demanded. In any case whether it was Jammu or
Akhnur, if we had taken the objective, 1 do not see how the
Indians could have attacked Sialkot before clearing out cither of
these towns.

I have given serious consideration to writing a book, but given up
the idea. The book would be truth. And truth and the popular
reaction to it would be good for my cgo. But in the long run it
would be an unpatriotic act. It will destroy the morale of the army,
lower its prestige among the people, be banned in Pakistan. and
become a textbook for the Indians. I have little doubt that the
Indians will never forgive us the slight of 65 and will avenge it at
the first opportunity. I am certain they will hit us in E. Pakistan
and we will need all we have to save the situation. And yes,
Ayub was fully involved in the enterprise. As a matter of fact it
was his idea.

w

Although Shuja Nawaz is generally sympathetic to Akhtar Malik's
assertions, he has noted that the idea of capturi  Jammu was Malik's
‘secret weapon, which he did not share with anyone. Had Jammu been
captured, India’s land link with Kashmir would have been severed. Such
a move would have been a brilliant tactical success; but, Shuja Nawaz
has also mentioned a number of countermoves the Indians had been
planning, in case of a limited war in Kashmir (Nawaz 2008: 209-14).
Major Agha Humayun Amin, however, believes that Pakistan had a
good chance of achieving a fait accompli in Kashmir had they dashed
for Akhnur and captured it

THE SEPTEMBER WAR

The belicef that India would not retaliate and stab Pakistan’s soft belly—
Lahore and Sialkot—proved to be a colossal miscalculation. The Indian
cabinet had, in 1949, alrcady prepared a plan to win Akhnur back in
the cvent of a Pakistani advance on it, as well as to attack Lahore and
Sialkot. It read:



«.. In the event of such actions Indian troops in Kashmir would seek to
contain the opposing forces while the main Indian field army made a
determined and rapid advance towards Lahore and Sialkot, with a possible
diversionary action towards Rawalpindi or Karachi to prevent a
concentration of Pakistan forces in the major operational theatre in the West
Punjab. The primary aim of this strategy was to inflict a decisive defeat on
Pakistan’s field army at the earliest possible time and, along with possible
occupation of Lahore, to compel the Pakistan government to seek peace
(Cloughley 2000: 82).

On 6 September 1965, at 05:30 hours, the Indian forces began their
movement towards Lahore. Pakistani intelligence, including the I1SI—
which years later gained great importance in Pakistani politics—failed
miserably to notice and report that the SSG commandos, who had
infiltrated into India, had failed to interrupt the Indian advance. In any
case, at that time, the Pakistani soldiers should have been ready and
vigilant to stop an Indian advance on Lahore. But, the soldiers of some
of the infantry battalions were, in fact, busy doing their morning
physical training exercises as the advancing Indian troops reached
Lahore. It was the PAF that first detected an unusual movement of
Indian troops outside Lahore and reported it to the GHQ. The military
high d, it seemed, was inced that India would not cross
the international border under any circumstance. In any case, when the
news was finally relayed, the Pakistanis put up a stiff resistance at
Lahore. At the same time, the Indians did not make full use of the
element of surprise to gain a strategic advantage over Lahore. Gauhar
has described the reaction of the Pakistani leaders in the following
words:

When India attacked Pakistan the most surprised person was Ayub Khan.
His surprise was shared by the Commander-in-Chief of the Pakistan army.
Both of them had assumed that with the winding down of Grand Slam the
indians ‘would relax, but they did not realise that the Indian military
intelligence services were perhaps as tardy as their Pakistani counterparts.
Bhutto and Aziz Ahmed were temporarily halted in their tracks. All their
forecasts and assurances about Indian military intentions based, as they
claimed at the time, on unimpeachable sources had proved utterly fallacious.
They could not even claim that they had not received any warming of the
coming Indian attack (Gauhar 1998: 335).

Gauhar has given several examples of public statements made by the
Indian government and its leaders that left no doubt that India would



take military action. Also, he has mentioned that the Pakistan High
Commissioner to India, Arshad Hussain, sent a cipher message to the
Pakistan Foreign Office, through the Turkish embassy in Delhi, on 4
September 1965 that India was going to attack on 6 September. He has
alleged that 'Bhutto and Aziz Ahmed decided to suppress the message
because they thought that Arshad -Hussain, known for his nervous
temperament, had panicked as usual’ (ibid., 336).

Seventeen days of fierce battles between the Indian and Pakistani
armed forces followed—on land, in the air, and at sea. Field Marshal
Ayub Khan addressed the nation, first in English and then in Urdu, and
declared that Pakistan was at war with India as India had invaded
Pakistan. He invited all the political leaders for consultations; nobody
could come from East Pakistan as flights between the two wings—which
would have had to over-fly India—were suspended. All the leaders,
reportedly, pledged their support.

Khem Karan, an Indian hamlet not far from Lahore, was captured
by Pakistani troops and the Pakistan leadership began to feel confident
of more successes. Radio Pakistan’s news bulletins churned out stories
of spectacular successes. The press backed up such a propaganda
barrage with detailed stories and pictures of knocked out Indian tanks,
shot-down aircraft, and other equipment.

Aziz Ahmed even demanded ‘propaganda leaflets to be printed in
the millions for the Air Force to drop them over Amritsar to reassure
the Sikhs that Pakistan had come to liberate them from Hindu
domination’ (ibid., 339). Once again, the frontier tribesmen were
brought in. According to Gauhar:

Large bands of tribesmen from the NWFP were invited by GHQ to proceed
toward the Lahore border to provide support to the men on the front. The
tribesmen loated whatever shops came their way along the route to the front
but the administration treated these incidents as part of the customary
exuberance of tribesmen in pursuit of their toe. Fhe tribesmen were to
become a serious nuisance to General Hamid because he could not find
them any hilly terrain along the Punjab border where they could hide and
display their traditional skills. They refused to expose themselves to air
attacks in an area where clouds of dust were their only cover. General Hamid
had to forcibly repatriate them to their tribal sanctuaries (ibid., 340).

1 myself saw a dog fight betwcen Indian and Pakistan fighter aircraft
over Lahore. People came out into the streets and onto the rooftops to
see the combat. One of the aircraft was shot down; it nosedived, with a



UN SecuriTy CounciL

Bhutto and Aziz Ahmed were banking on UN intervention in case the
war did not proceed according to their script, which was based on the
ludicrous assumption that India would not counter-attack in the Punjab.
The UN Security Council went into action, unanimously passing
resolutions on 4 and 6 September calling for an immediate ceasefire.
This was indicative of the fact that, from its point of view, the war had
already begun before India crossed the border and attacked Pakistan on
the Lahore front. Ayub told the UN Secretary General, U Thant, who
visited Pakistan, that the ‘'UN would be laying the foundations of
another war' if it did not resolve the Kashmir dispute (ibid., 340). The
King of Saudi Arabia offered financial help, and Indonesia sent
submarines and surface ships, but by then the ccasefire had taken place
The Fremh agreed to provide thirty aircraft, of which ten were to be
ly. However, it d doubtful whether Turkey

would .\u)‘ph any notwithstanding the CENTO ag
While CENTO did not take a formal stand, SEATO announced, soon
after the war started, that ‘Indo-Pakistani hostilities were outside its
jurisdiction’ (Ziring 1971: 62). On 9 September, Ayub informed his
isters that any advance by Pakistan would be heavily resisted by the

ians (ibid.).




US-PAKISTAN COMMUNICATIONS

Some months before the Kashmir adventure, Foreign Mi ister Bhutto
said, at a press confcrence on 28 March 1965 in Karachi. that the US
was rushing military assistance to India, a country hostile to Pakistan.
This mecant that the whole idea of a Pakistan-US alliance had been
shattered. However, he had thanked the US for its generous economic
and military aid and explained that moving close to China ‘has not been
at the cost of the United States' (Jain 2007a: 51). Just prior to the
Mujahideen being sent into Indian-administered Kashmir, Ayub Khan
had written to President Johnson asking him to use his good offices to
deter India ‘from involving the subcontinent in a war’ (ibid.. 51). In an
address to the Pakistani nation on | August, Ayub Khan informed the
people that Pakistan had tried, unsuccessfully, to reason with the US in

the hope that it would appreciate the danger that military assistance to
India posed to Pakistan (ibid., 52)

Such pleas did not impress the Americc They knew about the
Pakistani infiltrators going into Indian-a ministered Kashmir, and
about the escalating level of conthict. On 29 August, just betore the
September war started, Johnson expressed great concern over the
flare-up between the two countries and remarked. ‘Our longstanding
and our very consistent stance has always been that the Ko ir 1ssue
must, and should be, solved by peaceful means’ (ibid., 53).

On 8 September, the State Department announced an embargo on

military supplics to both India and Pakistan. The US Ambassador to
Pakistan, Walter P McConaughy, met Bhutto on 9 September and told
him that the Congress [US Congress] had decided to stop all military
aid to Pakistan and India but that it was ‘'not a punitive acti
meant only to lend support to the UN Secretary General's efforts to
attain peace’ (Gauhar 1998: 341). Bhutto retorted that Pakistan was a
friend and ally, fighting for its survival, while the United Nations was
letting it down in its hour of need as its cities were being bombed.
Gauhar described the next stage in the tense conversation in the
following words:

it was

McConaughy asked him whether this had not been forescen: ‘It was a fateful
decision you took 1o plan and organise the Mujahid operation. Bhutto flaty
denied that Pakistan had been involved in any such operation but conceded
that the Mujahids had the support of Pakistan. Bhutto claimed: ‘It is India
that has committed aggression and we are fighting for our honour' (ibid.,).



THE PAKISTAN GOVERNMENT’S MOUNTING
DIFFICULTIES

Within the first few days, the war was not going Pakistan's way. Gauhar
reveals something quite astounding—it was not until 10 September that
the top officials of the relevant ministries, including Gauhar, met with
a representative of GHQ to decide to examine the question of Pakistan’s
political objectives in the war with India. Apparently, this question was
not addressed when Gibraltar was planned! ‘Aziz Ahmed could ne
longer explain why the country had been pushed into the war’, notes
Gauhar (ibid., 342) Nobody had been assigned the task of examining
the question of ‘the duration and length of the present conflict with
India and how Pakistan’s defence nceds could be met’ (ibid).

Air Marshal (Retd.) Asghar Khan, who had retired soon after the
Rann of Kutch combat, was sent to Beijing by Ayub Khan on the fourth
day of the war to request military assistance, particularly aircraft—but
that they should be sent via Indonesia. The reason was that Ayub Khan
did not want to upset the Americans. The Chinese found this request
quite strange but agreed to it. The Chinese were also requested to move
their troops to the Ladakh-Tibet border. The Chinese told Asghar Khan
that although such a move could have international repercussions they
would consider it. Zhou Enlai even offered to meet Ayub, but the latter
evaded him till after the war. In any event, the Chinese sent the aircraft
and other equipment via Indonesia. Asghar Khan also visited Indonesia
where he found President Sockarno eager to help (Khan 2005: 235-40)
He also visited Iran and Turkey with requests for military assistance

Pakistan's ditficulties continued to mount. An offensive launched in
the Khem Karan sector came to a halt when the Indians breached the
Madhupur Canal and inundated the area (Husain 2010: 228). Another
version is that Pakistani tanks proved to be too heavy and the banks of
the canal gave way under their weight. The result was that the Pakistani
tanks got bogged down. This had a shattering cffect on the Pakistani
war strategy: ‘The Khem Karan counter-offensive ran aground on 11
September and with that collapsed Pakistan’s entire military strategy.
For Pakistan the war was over' (Gauhar 1998: 343). In interviews
conducted in Delhi in November 2010 with two Indian officers,
Licutenant General Kuldip Singh Khajuria and Brigadier Vijai Nair, who
fought against Pakistan in the 1965 war, | was told that Pakistani tanks
became sitting ducks as they were bogged down in muddy water and
could not move. According to them, the Pakistanis abandoned their



tanks in panic. One explanation for this, according to them, could be
religious as being burnt to death was considered the wrong way to die.
At any rate, after a few days of full-scalc war, Pakistan began to face an
acute shortage of weaponry, spare parts, and ammunition. Gauhar
portrayed the predicament in the following words:

THE CHINESE CARD

At this juncture, the Pakistani leadership realized that the Western
powers, especially the United States, was not willing to help Pakistan.
There was even some mention of sanctions being imposed on Pakistan.
Altaf Gauhar has claimed that, to counter it, he advised Ayub Khan not
10 go for a ceasefire without resolving the Kashmir dispute, and that the
Chinese card would have to be used to force the Indians to resolve it.
The Chinese, for their part, issued warnings and threats to India and
made statements supporting Pakistan's stand on Kashmir. An ultimatum
was also issued to the Indians to dismantle military activity on the
Chinese side of the border, return Chinese livestock, and return
kidnapped Chinese civilians. On 7 September, China condemned India’s
aggression and warned that India was wrong to believe that, as it had
the backing of the Americans and Soviets, it could bully its neighbours
with impunity (ibid., 347).

The Indians turned to the USA, Britain, and USSR for help against
the Chinese. The British Prime Minister, Harold Wilson, issucd o
statement that if China intervened, Britain and the United States would
assist India (ibid., 348). However, the situation in Pakistan was such that
a prolonged war made no sense; defence stores and supplies were low.
Ayub was told, by the chiefs of the army and air force, to request
American assistance. The BBC reported that, at a press conference on
15 September, Ayub Khan urged the US president, Lyndon Johnson, to
intervene directly (ibid., 349). The Indian Prime Minister responded by
issuing a statement warning Pakistan to keep its ‘hands off Jammu and



Kashmir, and that Indian defence operations would conti
(ibid., 350).

The American reaction was markedly different. On 17 September,
the US representative, Goldberg, informed the UN Security Council
that:

We have suspended arms shipments to both countries, since we want, in
support of the Sccurity Council resolutions calling for a cease fire, 1o help
bring an ¢nd to this conflict and not to cscalate it.  We deplore the use
of arms supplicd by us in this conflict in contravention of solemn agreements
(Jain 2007a: 309).

AYUB'’S SECRET VISIT TO CHINA

On the night of 19-20 September, Ayub and Bhutto paid a closely
guarded visit to Beijing and met with Zhou Enlai. Apparently, the
Chinese urged Pakistan to fight on, and not give up the struggle even
if some Pakistani cities were lost. Numerous examples of Chinese
experiences of guerrilla warfare were given. The Chinese assured
Pakistan of their unconditional support in the event that Pakistan
decided to fight a prolonged guerrilla war. Neither Ayub nor Bhutto
was prepared for anything of the sort. Gauhar tells us:

Ayub was extremely worried about the Indians capturing Lahore. Bhutto
contacted the Chinese ambassador who urged him to fight on. Altaf
Hussain, editor of the English-daily, Dawn, believed that the Chinese
threat of 7 September had created jitters in Washington DC. This




inference was a flight of fantasy. According to the Information Secret
Air Marshal Nur Khan's ‘face dissolved into a convulsion to register t
disagreement’ with the Dawn editor (ibid., 355).

The next few days were busy with discussions on the UN draft
resolution urging ceasefire. On 22 September, both countries ceased
fire. Apparently, the US and USSR had cooperated in making both sides
agree to this. The Indian side had lost 3000 men on the battlefield, while
the Pakistanis suffered 3800 battlefield deaths (US Library of Congress).
Soviet Prime Minister Kosygin invited Ayub Khan and Shastri to
Tashkent to meet and try to resolve their differences.

Veteran career diplomat Sultan Muhammad Khan has confirmed that
after its only armoured division got bogged down during the Khem
Karan offensive, the war had ended as far as Pakistan was concerned.
He was part of the Pakistani delegation that accompanied Bhutto to the
Security Council meeting, where the ceasefire was accepted by Pakistan.
He presents a damning image of Bhutto exploiting the difficult situation
in which Ayub Khan had been placed, by waxing eloquently, during the
discussion, on the Kashmiri right to self-dctermination and asserting
that Pakistan would ‘continue to wage this struggle for a thousand years
if necessary’ (Khan 1997: 147). However, after making hyperbolic
statements, Bhutto went out and apparently talked to Ayub Khan who
was on the phone. On his return to the discussion, with tears in his eyes,
he announced that the president of Pakistan had instructed him to
accept the ceasefire (ibid., 146-7). However, Sultan has claimed that as
the Pakistani delegation was returning from the meeting, Bhutto was
laughing and saying that while Ayub Khan would be furious, the people
would put garlands around his neck (ibid., 147). Sultan Muhammad
Khan has noted:




MAJOR GENERAL SYED WAJAHAT HUSAIN COMMENTS
ON THE WAR

Major General Syed Wajahat Husain, who Iook part in the military
encounters from 12-17 S ber, has at Ayub
Khan's statement to a ;alhenng of officers on 24 September:
‘Gentlemen—the first lesson we have learnt from this war is that any
action taken in Kashmir will lead India to cross the international
border’ (2010: 230). Wajahat Hussain went on to say, ‘This had been
apparent even to a layman from the beginning’ (ibid.), and asserted that,
a couple of years before his death, Ayub Khan admitted that ‘his biggest
mistake was getting involved in the war, qualifying further that he was
ill advised by Foreign Minister Bhutto and his hawkish associates’ (ibid.,
232). Wajahat Husain has made a scathing attack on the hawks,
including Akhtar Malik, Z.A. Bhutto, and Gul Hassan Khan, and
asserted that the Americans had always made it crystal clear that the
US would stop the supply of spares and equipment in case of hostilities
with India—this had been laid down, unambiguously, in the 1954
agreement (2010: 209).

AIR MARSHAL NUR KHAN’S REVELATIONS

Years later, the strongest indictment of the 1965 war came from Air
Marshal Nur Khan who had headed the Pakistan Air Force during the
war. The Dawn of Karachi published an interview he gave to its special
correspondent on 5 September 2005, i.e. the eve of the 40th anniversary
of the 1965 war. He stated that before Pakistan embarked upon the
Kashmir adventure, rumours were rife about an impending operation
but the army had not shared its plans with the other forces. He took
over from Air Marshal Asghar Khan on 29 July 1965 but his predecessor
did not brief him about any plan—simply because he himself was not
informed about it. So, Nur Khan called on the then Commander-in-
Chief, General Musa Khan, who admitted that something was afoot. On
hearing this, Nur Khan's immediate reaction was that it would mean
war but Musa told him not to worry because the Indians would not
retaliate. He directed Nur Khan to talk to General Akhtar Malik, the
man in-charge of Operation Gibraltar, for further details. General Malik
told him that the plan was to send some 800,000 infiltrators into the
occupied territories, to expel the Indian troops with the help of the local
population. The whole operation was designed in such a way, he was



told by Akhtar Malik, that the Indians would not be able to retaliate.
Consequently, the air force did not need to get into war-time mode
(Khan 2005: 1). Nur Khan was shocked when, on further inquiry. he
learnt that, except for a small coterie of top generals, very few in the
armed forces knew about Operation Gibraltar. That made him wonder
how professionals like Musa and Malik could be so naive and
irresponsible. Even the Lahore garrison commander had not been taken
into confidence. Equally, the Governor of West Pakistan, Malik Amir
Mohammad Khan of Kalabagh. did not know what was afoot and had
gone to Murree on his vacation.

Nur Khan has stated that although his first instinct was to resign and
go home, he recognized that such a rash move would further undermine
the nation’s interests. Therefore, he decided to remain at his post. The
Pakistan Air Force performed miraculously well on the first day of the
main war, which started on 6 Scptember. Nur Khan has given full credit
for that to Asghar Khan, who had been given charge of the PAF in
1957—1t0 prepare it to be a dedicated fighting machine. and who had
trained his airmen on the best available US-made fighters, bombers,
and transport planes. Those who flew those machines, and those who
maintained them on the ground, worked as a team; cach member of the
PAF performed beyond the call of duty to realize this miracle (ibid., 2).
With regard to the performance of the military, Nur Khan has remarked:

Furthermore. on the second day of the war, when Ayub Khan wanted
to know how the army was faring, Musa informed him that the army
had run out of ammunition. That shocked General Ayub so much that
it might even have triggered his heart ailment, which overtook him a
couple of years later. Nur Khan has described the 1965 war as ‘an
unnecessary war, and said that Ayub Khan should have held his senior
generals accountable for the debacle and resigned himself. He has
further observed:



MILITARY IMAGE BUILDIN

In so far as the Pakistan military is concerned, the 1965 war was a
massive cxercise in image building—even when the expedition was a
failure. The images of Pakistanis inflicting defeat on India—in the air,
on land. and on sea—proved so cnticing that the hard facts of Pakistan’s
failure in achieving its objectives of liberating Kashmir, or in forcing
India to make major concessions on it, were totally eclipsed. This in
itself was no mean achievement: Altaf Gauhar, as Information Secretary,
most certainly played a central role in recording failure as success i
the popular mind.

In July 2009, I visited Washington DC to interview American experts
on the US-Pakistan relationship. Most of them, to my very great
surprisc, told me that the myth of Muslim soldicrs being far superior
to Hindus was one of the arguments that the erstwhile Pakistani officers
used to tell the Americans when they were courting the United States
to co-opt Pakistan in the anti-Soviet alliance. The fantastic 1:10
Muslim-Hindu ratio suggesting that one Muslim soldier was worth 10
Hindu soldiers, was the usual figure mentioned (Fair. Andersen,
Harrison, Weinbaum). In some ways, then, the Pakistan 1 ilitary was
the victim of a delusion of its own making.

Nevertheless, the 1965 war was fought by ‘gentleman officers, many
of whom—from both sides of the border—had been trained at the same
military academies and socialized on a regular basis. Gohar Ayub Khan
has recounted one story:



Brigadier (Retd.) A.R. Siddigi, who was i
the Pakistan Army, has remarked:

TASHKENT AND THE FALL OF AYUB KHAN

The ceasefire was not popular with sections of the Pakistani population.
In the popular perception, the United States’ arms embargo was a
betrayal by a country with which Pakistan was closely allied. Some
rioting took place in Karachi; the US consulate was subjected to stone-
throwing by angry students. However, the prospect that Pakistan would
be able to compel India to agree to a resolution of the Kashmir dispute
at Tashk fier all, it had supposedly agreed to the ceasefire from a
position of strength and not weakness—was generally accepted. The
Americans supported the Soviet initiative of inviting Ayub Khan and
Shastri to Tashkent. Secretary of State Dean Rusk candidly explained
why:

The atmosphere at Tashkent was tensc, but the two leaders managed to
reach an understanding that formally brought the bellicose mood on
both sides to an ¢nd. The Tashkent Declaration was announced on 10
January 1966. Both sides agreed to pull their troops back. no later than
22 February 1966, 1o the positions they held prior to 5 August 1965;
they were to desist from interfering in each other’s internal affairs;
hostile propaganda against each other was to be discouraged; normal
diplomatic relations were to be restored; trade between them was to be
restored, and so on. With regard to Kashmir, the only mention it
received was that the dispute was discussed and both sides st forth



their positions (text given in Kux 2006: 73-5). That night, Shastri
succumbed to a massive heart attack. Reportedly, when Bhutto was told
by an aide that ‘the bastard had died: he said, ‘Which one?’

During the Tashkent Summit, Bhutto made his displeasure known
with histrionic finesse. The photographs show him uptight and angry.
Within 48 hours of the Tashkent Declaration, angry students came out
in the streets all over Pakistan; rioting was extensive in Lahore, where
the jingoistic mood was at its height. Public transport vehicles, shops,
private cars, and many other things were torched. Veiled women and
children, who claimed to be the dependents of the men killed in the
war, walked down Lahore’s Mall Road shouting, ‘Give us back our
husbands, fathers, and brothers’ (Ziring 1971: 68). Other slogans were
about ‘Kashmir being sold 1o Hindus.

The West Pakistani leadership, consisting of people like Chaudhri
Muhammad Ali, Sardar Shaukat Hayat Khan, and Maulana Maududi.
vehemently assailed the Tashkent Declaration. East Pakistani leaders.
such as Sheikh Mujibur Rahman and Maulana Bhashani, refrained from
criticizing it (ibid., 75). The protests and demonstrations continued for
several weeks. A rumour began to circulate of a split between Ayub and
Bhutto, which culminated in Bhutto’s resignation as forcign minister in
the summer of that year. Other difficultics compounded Ayub Khan's
worries. The upward economic development achieved during the
preceding years reccived severe jolts as the bill for making war was
shifted to the people. The prices of essential commodities began to rise,
while employment opportunities shrank. In East Pakistan, the Awami
Leaguc leader, Sheikh Mujibur Rahman, was reported to have expressed
views that were inimical to Pakistani unity, and was also accused of
being involved in a conspiracy, with the Indians, to break up Pakistan.

However, Ayub Khan had still not grasped the full implications of
the harm that was coming his way. Rather, on the advice of his advisers
and sycophants, he announced month-long cclcbrations—October
1968—to celebrate the tenth anniversary of his military coup. The lavish
spending on the celebrations fell flat as people accused the government
of wasteful expenditure. Students began to agitate on a regular basis.
Government repression failed to quell the protests that had now broken
out all over Pakistan. Universities were closed, but that did not prevent
the students and others from joining the demonstrations. Bhutto
encouraged the students to protest. Air Marshal (Retd.) Asghar Khan
also announced that he would join the agitation 1o protest against
corruption, nepotism, bribery, and incompetence (ibid.. 89-100). In



particular, the people and the political opposition began to accuse Ayub
Khan of abusing his power to benefit his relatives and sons with illicit
economic gains.

Towards the end of January 1969. the Pakistan Army moved into the
major urban centres, such as Karachi, Lahore, Peshawar, Dacca, and
Khulna, where some of the worst agitation had taken place. By that
time, thousands of individuals had been arrested and hundreds had died
as a result of police brutality, including incidents of shooting. However,
the protests continued unabated. On 21 February, Ayub Khan
announced that he was not going to be a candidate in the next
presidential election in early 1970. This surprise announcement,
however, failed to placate the opposition. A number of political parties,
that had formed the Democratic Action Committee, met him at the end
of February. After deliberations that lasted four days, Ayub capitulated
and agreed to dispense with the system of Basic Democracies. Direct
elections, based on universal adult franchise, were to be the basis of
elections in future. The parliamentary system was to be revived. Bhutto
did not join the parleys with Ayub Khan but demanded that the
president should resign and a carctaker government be formed—which
should then hold fresh elections based on a federal constitution that
guaranteed the autonomy of East Pakistan as well as of the West
Pakistani provinces of Balochistan, Punjab, NWFP, and Sindh; the West
Pakistan Province would be abolished.

As the protests were not subsiding, and the politicians were railed
against him, the military realized that Ayub would have to go. It was
considered expedient to abandon him in the larger strategic interest of
the military as an institution (LaPorte 1969). This message was
conveyed to him by the top military brass. Ayub Khan stepped down
and Yahya Khan took over on 25 March 1969. Yahya re-imposed martial
law throughout the coumry The 1962 consmullon was abrogated, the
national and provincial leg were dissolved, and a ban put on all
political parties.

UNITED STATES AND AYUB KHAN

Ayub Khan had visited Washington in December 1965, when the
Americans let him know that they did not look upon, with favour, too
close a relationship with China. Ayub Khan assured them that the
alliance with the US remained his top priority and would not be
compromised under any ci When Ayub dropped Bhutto as




foreign minister, the Americans were pleased. However, Ayub did not
achieve much success with regard to the removal of the ban on the sale
of arms to Pakistan. Anyhow, the Johnson administration decided that
the 'United States would sell spare parts for previously supplied US
equipment but would not provide financial credits or grant military
assistance. The door remained closed against the export of tanks,
fighters and bomber aircraft, and artillery to Pakistan’ (Kux 2001: 173).

On the other hand, while reiterating the strategic alliance with the
United States, Pakistan decided not to renew the Badaber military base
as President Johnson had requested. On 19 July 1968, Ayub Khan wrote
to Johnson, ‘T concede this facility is valuable to your country but by its
very nature, it lays us open to the hostility and retaliation of powerful
neighbours [the Sovict Union|’ (Jain 2007a: 73). However, he noted, in
his diary on 19 October 1968, that Pakistan could not afford to alienate
the Americans completely. As Pakistan's economic dependence on them
was considerable, it was decided that Pakistan should show flexibility
and not demand diate compliance—d! ling the military base
did not have to start until 1 January 1969 and they had a year to
complete it
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Alienation between East and
West Pakistan

The relanonslup between the Bengali Muslim majority and the Punjabi-

prising civil servants, centrist politicians,
and the military, began to sour rather soon after Pakistan came into
being. The reasons were a mix of cultural, economic, and political
grievances—some inherited from the past and the others a product of
the omissions and issions of the politicians and civil-military
oligarchy that had evolved in Pakistan.

AYUB KHAN'S IMPRESSION OF EAST PAKISTAN

In January 1948, Ayub Khan was posted to East Pakistan as General
Officer Commanding. Acknowledging that he was not the least excited
by it, he wrote, ‘All we had in East Pakistan at the time of Independence
were two infantry battalions’ (2006: 38). Both had Hindu and Sikh
companies that were transferred to India. He went on, ‘We had very
poor accommodation: at Headquarters there was no table, no chair, no
stationery—we had virtually nothing at all; not even maps of East
Pakistan. He noted that, at the time of independence, there was only
one Bengali officer in the supcrior civil services, so officers from West
Pakistan were posted to East Pakistan—a move that was resented by the
Bengalis. Suhrawardy, in particular, exploited the East Pakistanis’
perceived sense of domination by the West Pakistanis (ibid., 41).

With regard to the recruitment of Bengalis to the army, he asserted
that they completely lacked education. He brought this to the notice of
Chief Minister Khawaja Nazimuddin and others, but they were reluctant
to establish elite schools as the people would object as most Bengalis
did not even have access to government schools. Also, he claimed that
Bengalis lacked ‘manpower with qualities of leadership' (ibid., 42). The
Army Selection Board that visited East Pakistan every sixth months




MILITARY AND THE LAW AND ORDER SITUATION

Fven more interesting, to note in Ayub Khan's narrative on East
Pakistan, is the fact that the 1 ilitary had to be deployed to establish law
and order on a number of occasions. The tirst such incident 1ok place
on 13 July 1948 when the 60,000-strong police force, that Ayub Khan
considered an assortment of heterogencous clements. mutinied. He
learnt that the police had armed themselves and were surrounding

vernment House in Dacca. At that time, both he and the Inspector
General of Police, Zakir Hussain, were touring Mymensingh. Ayub has
laimed that he tried to pacify the latter while simultancously dealing
with the police who had taken up defensive positions. The battalion
commander was told, by Ayub, to give them a warning and to prevent
them from doing anything reckless. Ayub has stated that "whenever an
appeal was made to them, they would start abusing the army. We were
left
1o take military action against the mutincers, using as little force as
possible’ (ibid.. 44). In the military action that followed, a couple of
policemen including the ringleader were killed and 10 or 12 were
iniured. On the whole, Ayub Khan found the Bengali leaders to be
troublemakers. and those in power incompetent,

However, Ayub has claimed that before he left for West Pakistan, in
November 1949, a basic military organization had been put in place in
East Pakistan. He has noted:

th no option but to take action. I told the Battalion Commander




for it. The East Bengal Regiment also came into existence in my time. It was
the first time that people from this part had been enlisted in a combat unit.
1 was also able to establish the East Pakistan Rifles, a police force, and initiate
a system of giving all police officers battle-training. It did the force immense
amount of good and they developed tremendous confidence and pride in
themselves (ibid., 46-7).

A civil servant, Hasan Zaheer, who served in East Pakistan during
1956-62, formed a more benign opinion about the people of East
Pakistan. He asserted that while tensions did exist between East and
West Pakistan, there was a strong feeling of Pakistani nationalism in the
day-to-day interactions between East and West Pakistanis. He stated,
‘Even the prosperons Hindu middle classes were part of m:mnulm
ity life. G lly, they perated with the i
and played a leading role in social, educational and charitable projects’
(Zaheer 1995: xiv).

BENGALI GRIEVANCES

The Bengali sense of grievance, however, was more diverse than the
impression Ayub Khan had gathered. He does not mention the
controversy that erupted, while he was in East Pakistan, over the
national language. From the Bengali point of view, it symbolized
cultural domination by West Pakistan [Punjabis and Urdu-speakers
essentially]. It is worth noting that the Bengali Muslims, as a whole, had
been attracted to the idea of separate Muslim states in the Indian
subcontinent much earlier than the Muslims of West Pakistan. Although
the former constituted 55.4 per cent of the total population of Pakistan,
the capital, Karachi, was in West Pakistan and the power elite that ruled
from there was constituted of Punjabis and non-. Benph migrants. In
East Bengal, only a miniscule Urd of
both the Maghal and British perlods-—-nd some Urdu- -speaking
Muslims who had migrated to East Bengal from Bihar in 1947, spoke
Urdu. Moreover, Bengali was a highly developed language that had been
in official usage in Bengal for a long time.

Yet, in February 1948, Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan stated, in
the Constituent Assembly, that Urdu would be the sole national
language of Pakistan. This was supported by Khawaja Nazimuddin, a
scion of the Urdu-speaking family of the Nawab of Dacca, who was
chief minister of the Muslim League government of East Bengal.




Governor-General Mohammad Ali Jinnah reiterated the same when he
delivered a public speech in Dacca in March 1948. Jinnah's speech
provoked angry student demonstrations. The language question was the
first manifestation of the britile and precarious nature of Muslim
nationalism that had brought Muslims together behind the Muslim
League's demand for Pakistan (Ahmed 1998: 220-21; Alam 1995: 40-3:
Chowdhury 2009: 12).

On 23 June 1949, Huseyn Shaheed Suhrawardy, Maulana Abdul
Hamid Khan Bhashani, and Shamsul Haq founded the East Pakistan
Awami Muslim League. In 1955, ‘Muslim’ was dropped from its name
and it became the East Pakistan Awami League. Sheikh Mujibur
Rahman, who would later lead the Bengali nationalist movement that
cul inated in the breakup of Pakistan in 1971, was one of the younger
stalwarts of the party. The Awami League became one of the main
platforms for Bengali lism and regional aspirations to aggreg:
on and be ventilated from. The Muslim League government in East
Pakistan abolished the zamindari system in 1951 and carried out a
radical land reform—a measure that largely affected the Hindu absentee
landlords who had fled to India (Baxter 1997: 16).

.Land distribution to benefit the peasants provided relief, but it was
not sdmething that placated the urban Bengali middle class that felt
alienated from the power centre in West Pakistan. A change of
government at the centre, after the assassination of Liaquat Ali Khan in
October 1951, resulted in Khawaja Nazimuddin stepping down as
governor-general—to become prime minister. Despite his East Bengali
origin and support base, in 1952 he reiterated his carlier stand—in
support of Liaquat and Jinnah—that Urdu would be the sole national
language of Pakistan. This resulted in a sccond round of riots in East
Bengal (Jackson 1975: 16-17).

Two years later, in the provincial elections held in East Pakistan on
8 March 1954, the Bengalis expressed their dissatisfaction with West
Pakistani domination. The United Front—consisting of Bengali partics
such as the Awami League, the Krishak Sramik Party, and the Nizam-
i-Istam Party—won 223 out of the 237 Muslim seats, while the ruling
Muslim League secured only 10 seats. A United Front government was
formed on 3 April 1954, creating panic in West Pakistan. A damage
limiting exercise was undertaken; on 19 April 1954, the Constituent
Assembly of Pakistan passed a resolution recognizing both Urdu and
Bengali as the national languages, but stipulated that English would be
the official language for another twenty years. However, this was




followed by punitive measures. On 30 May, the central government
dlssolved the East Pakistan Assembly and the government was

d ibly for ad (Gankovsky and Gordon-
Polonskaya 1972: 204-5). At the llme. the Bengalis were m no position
to challenge the power of the Muslim League government.

PARITY

The fact that the population of East Bengal (East Pakistan) alone
constituted a majority meant that, in a democracy based on universal
adult franchise, the Bengalis would enjoy an advantage over the
nationalities of West Pakistan. In 1947, the population of East Bengal
included at least 23 per cent Hindus. Such a large proportion of Hindus,
coupled with the overall majority of Bengalis, were from the very
beginning viewed with concern and dismay by the power elite of West
Pakistan, who wanted to assert an Islamic identity of the Pakistani
polity. It had become a core concern of constitution-making from at
least the adoption of the Objectives Resolution on 7 March 1949. One
way of rendering the Bengali majority a minority would be to place the
Hindus on a separate electoral role.

That suited the West Pakistani establishment but, at that stage of
political development in Pakistan, the power elite were not convinced
about the need to make Pakistan a full-fledged Islamic state. On the
other hand, for the Bengali Muslims, their majority status could only
be lated into parli y ad ge if the Bengali Hindus were
not excluded from the general category of voters (Jackson 1975: 16).
Given such a clash of interests between the East and West Pakistani
politicians, another round of negotiations took place between them. The
East Bengalis realized that as the state power—the civil bureaucracy and
especially the army—was essennally West Pakistani, they would have to

After i d-take, the principle of p‘my
between East and West was agrted on as the blsu for representation in
the national bly. The 1956 ituti d such a

P
compromise.

EcoNoMiC DISPARITY

Parity in representation did not translate into parity in economic
development. As noted already, the top positions in the bureaucracy and
army remained in the hands of the West Pakistanis. Feroz Ahmed has



asserted that a process of internal coloni  tion took place over the years.
He has marshalled an array of statistics to establish that, in 1947, the
Gross Domestic Product of East Pakistan exceeded that of West
Pakistan, mainly because Pakistan's main export item—raw jute—was
produced in East Pakistan. However, by 1969, West Pakistan’s Gross
Domestic Product was greater than East Pakistan's. The following table,
based on a study by Gustav Papanck, illustrates the uneven development
that took place (cited in Ahmed 1973: 421):

Gross Domestic Product in 1959-1960: Constant Prices (million rupees)
East Pakistan West Pakistan
1949-50 13,130 11,830
1954-55 14.320 14310
1959-60 15,550 16,790
1964-65 18014 21,788
1968-69 20.670 27744

Ahmed has asscrted that during this period, resources transferred from
East to West Pakistan amounted to Rs 31,120 million (calculated in
terms of official rate, USSI = Rs 4.76; current market rate US$1 = Rs
83.85). Industrialization in Pakistan began with the investment of
capital in the cotton textile industries that were based in West Pakistan
and the jute mills in East Pakistan. However, whereas the textile mills
were owned by West Pakistanis, the jute mills were not owned by the
Bengalis. Rather, it was the West Pakistan-bascd bourgeoisie who owned
the jute mills. In the carly years, 70 per cent of Pakistan's export
earnings were derived from the export of raw and processed jute, and
to some extent even tea. According to Ahmed, such earnings were used
for the industrialization of West Pakistan. The pattern of economic
development was based on the assumption that the Fast Pakistanis
would consume a significant portion of West Pakistani products—
mainly textiles (ibid., 425).

Foreign aid played the single most important role in Pakistans
economic growth. By 1969, the US had provided $3 billion in grants
and loans (mainly loans in the later years) which helped finance the
development of privately-owned light consumer industries. The
bourgeoisie that benefited from it was mainly West Pakistani. Such
lopsided developments generated disparities:




By the end of the notorious ‘decade of development’ (1958-1969), West
Pakistan's GDP exceeded that of East Pakistan by 34 per cent, the official
disparity in per capita income had become 62 per cent, and the real
difference in the average standard of living had widened 126 per cent (ibid.,
428).

The result was that the Bengali peasants, workers, and the middle class
were all alienated from a share in the economn: growth that was u.lung
place; thence the origins of a nati that i gly
sought to offset their domination by West Pakistan. It was under these
circumstances that the Awami League, led by Sheikh Mujibur Rahman,
emerged as the main rep ive of Bengali separatism. The fact that,
during the 1965 war, East Pakistan had been virtually defenceless
against an Indian invasion—the only deterrent the central government
could invoke was a Chinese threat to India not to attack East Pakistan—
was vociferously criticized by Mujib and the other Bengali nationalists.
The idea that East Pakistan must be self-sufficient began to be put forth
and became a rallying point for the regionalism that would later develop
into separatism and secessionism. Several other Bengali radical-
nationalists, such as the peasant leader Maulana Bhashani, also
demanded greater autonomy for East Pakistan.

In 1966, at a political conference, Sheikh Mujibur Rahman put
forward a 6-point programme for East Pakistani autonomy (The
Bangladesh Papers n.d.: 23-33). The conference was not held in Dacca,
but in Lahore, which created an even greater sensation. The six-points—
please see below—were transformative in terms of the relationship that
had hitherto existed, and they envisaged a loose federation or, rather, a
confederation:

1. Pakistan should be a true federation based on the 1940 Lahore
Resolution.

. The federal government should deal with only two subjects, viz.
defence and foreign affairs, and all other residuary subjects should
be vested in the federating states.

. There should be two separate but freely convertible currencies, or
one currency may be maintained if flight of capital from East to
West Pakistan is stopped through constitutional provisions.

. The powers of taxation and revenue collection should be vested
in the federating units.
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There was a sharp contrast in the reception to the points. In East
Pakistan, the support base of the Awami League began to expand
rapidly. All sections of society were attracted to it; the East Bengal
Hindus, who had begun 1o distance themselves from politics, were again
animated into political activism. The reaction in Pakistan, especially of
the Ayub regime, was hysterical. On 8 May 1966, Sheikh Mujib was
arrested under the Defence of Pakistan Rules. His arrest provoked a
mass upsurge throughout East Pakistan. In December 1967, and again
in January 1968. the government accused him and his associates of
nurturin secessionist ambitions. On 17 June 1968, he was moved from
Dacca Central Jail to Kurmitola Cantonment, and charged with
conspiring to make Bangladesh independent with the help of India.

THE AGARTALA CASE

In early 1968, the government claiimed to have uncovered a plot
involving some forty-six East Pakistanis. Thirty-five were later charged:
eleven were pardoned when they promised to assist the prosecution.
Among the charged were Sheikh Mujibur Rahman, three Bengali civil
servants, and twenty-four junior Bengali officers from the armed forces.
The government case was that the plotters had met with Indian officials
in Agartala, on the Indian side of the Bengal border, on 12 July 1967 to
discuss a plan 10 launch an armed revolt with Indian help, which would
result in the establishment of an independent state of East Bengal
(Ziring 1971: 90-91). It was also alleged that Mujib had been in contact
with Indian officials from as carly as September 1964. Allegedly, he had
received money from them in August 1965, which he distributed among
the conspirators. The trial, which dragged on for months into the
beginning of 1969, helped foster Mujib's image as a Bengali martyr in
East Pakistan. In spite of the government calling 251 witnesses, the state
prosecutors were unable to substantiate the charges in a winning
manner.



Things came to a head when one of the accused was shot dead on
the grounds that he was trying to escape. His funeral, the next day,
triggered large-scale rioting. Meanwhile, there were student protests in
both the East and the West, and politicians from both parts of the
country joined ranks against the government. They demanded an end
to the Agartala Conspiracy case and a release of all the accused. Ayub
Khan, now completely beleaguered, had to give in. He had already
declared his intention not to contest the next election, but the Agartala
fiasco further exposed his government’s weakness (ibid., 92-3). This
weakness became even more apparent when Mujib had to be released
from detention, and received a hero’s welcome in Dacca.

THE YAHYA REGIME AND THE 1970 ELECTION

After months of agitation that rocked West and East Pakistan, Ayub
Khan stepped down on 25 March and General Yahya Khan took over
the reins of power. App y, the t had p d Ayub
Khan to step down. Martial Iaw was |mpos¢d throughout the country.
Initially Yahya Khan did not claim to be the president of Pakistan but,
a few days later, he assumed that office as well. With regard to East
Pakistan, Admiral S.M. Ahsan was appointed as governor, and
Lieutenant General Sa.hlbuda Yaqub Khan as martial law administrator.
The g din g law and order rather easily
even lllough the administ tion in East Pakistan was run by pro-Awami
League students for almost a week before Yahya Khan took over. A new
government was formed with the help of a coterie of close confidantes
from the civilian and military top brass. Yahya Khan made clear the
caretaker role of his government, when he addressed the people the next
day—26 March:

My sole aim in imposing Martial Law is to protect life, liberty and property
of the people. . . . Fellow countrymen, I wish to make it absolutely clear to
you that | have no intention other than the creation of conditions conducive
to th ofa Itis my firm belief thal
a sound and clean administration is a yrevrequhue for sane and constructive
political life and for the smooth transfer of power to the representatives of
the people elected freely and impartially on the basis of adult franchi
(quoted in Hamoodur Rehman Commission Report 2001: 67).

By the end of July 1969, the government was claiming that law and
order had been established and that the next objective was to restore



democracy. Hence, he embarked on consultations with leaders from
both East and West Pakistan. He appointed a team to draft a new
constitutional formula. On 28 November 1969, he addressed the
Pakistani nation informing them that consensus could not be obtained
on the future constitution of Pakistan. Therefore, he was going to
propound a Legal Framework Order (LFO) that would serve as the basis
for elections and, subsequently, for the transfer of power to the elected
representat of the people. On 30 March 1970, the LFO was ready.
Two fundamental changes were wrought by it: (1) it dissolved the One
Unit in West Pakistan; and, (2) the principle of parity was replaced by
the norm of one man one vote. Both these reforms strengthened the
legitimate position of East Pakistan. As it emerged as the most populous
province in the country, it was entitled to more seats in the national
parliament by virtue of its more than 55 per cent proportion of the total
Pakistan population. With regard to the unicameral Pakistan National
Assembly, it was decided that the National Assembly should consist of
313 scats, including 13 seats reserved for women. Women could contest
the elections from general seats as well. The distribution of seats was to
be as follows:

General seats Reserved seats
East Pakistan 162 7
Punjab 82 3
Sindh 27 1
NWEP 18 1
Balochistan 4 !
Centrally Administered Tribal Arcas 7

Some further preconditions for the restoration of democracy were also
elaborated on. Among them, the most important was that the
Constituent Assembly would stand dissolved if 1t failed to frame a
constitution in 120 days. A number of directive principles of State
policy, that the future constitution of Pakistan could not violate, were
announced. These were: upholding an Islamic way of life; observation
of Islamic moral standards: and, teaching of the Quran and Sunnah to
Muslims. Morcover, Pakistan was to be a federation, known as the
Islamic Republic of Pakistan. It was also laid down that the constitution
must uphold Islamic ideology, as well as democratic values. Moreover,
all the citizens of Pakistan were to enjoy fundamental human rights: the
judiciary was to be independent from the executive, and provincial



was to be p d. The LFO authorized the ident to
reject any ion framed by the i bly if the
document did not fulfil the above-mentioned preconditions. He also
enjoyed the power to interpret and amend the constitution, and his
decision could not be challenged in a court of law (Story of Pakistan
2010).

Thus, the LFO was purported to virtually serve as an interim
constitution. A ma;or flaw of the LFO was that it did not specify the
extent of provi that could legitimately be claimed. Such
ambmgulty on a crucial issue, would prove problematic when the
election results came out. In any event, political activity had already
been allowed from 1 January 1970—which resulted in the election
campaign getting underway even before the LFO was announced. The
different political parties issued their election manifestos. The Awami
League put forth the Six Points as its main plank in seeking a mandate
from the electorate, to effect radical decentralization of powers and

to the provi It has been suggested that the
military government must have been fully aware of the wide gap
between its own notion of federation and regional autonomy, and the
one the Awami League stood for. Mujib, however, conducted the
election campaign fully aware of the fact that the Six Points, and the
LFO, were not easily commensurable.

The procedure adopted to monitor the clection campaign was that
the speeches of the political leaders were first to be vetted at the
provincial headquarters of the Martial Law administrators and then
sent to the headquarters of the Chief Martial Law Administrator,
General Yahya Khan. Anything objectionable could lead to action
being taken against the violation of the LFO. The government did not,
at any point, object to the six-point programme as incompatible with
the LFO, although Mujib was quite openly critical of it. Thus, in a
meeting at Naogaon on 25 October, he categorically stated that *he and
his party condemned the Legal Framework Order but at the same time
decided to participate in the elections as they regarded the elections as
a referendum on regional y on the basis of the Six-Point
Programme’ (quoted in Khan 1973: 35). It could be that the intelligence
agencies’ assessment did not portend a landslide victory that would
qualify the Awami League to, alone, form the government. The
intelligence agencies expected the Awami League to win, at most 6(
per cent East Pakistan seats (Hamoodur Rehman Commi ion Report
2001: 74).




The elections were scheduled for ctober 1970, but floods in
September forced the government to postpone the elections to 7 and 17
December, for the national and provincial assemblies, respectively.
Although Mujib objected to the postponement, the government did not
budge from its decision. In November, a cyclone that caused enormous
devastation, struck East Pakistan. Some 500,000 people lost their lives.
The administration in East Pakistan, largely manned by West Pakistani
civilian and military officers in the upper echelons, was blamed for
incompetence and apathy. Hardly any West Pakistani political leaders
expressed sympathy for the Bengalis, and no senior member of the
military government paid a visit to East Pakistan. Such bchaviour was
exploited by the Awami League to whip up more hatred against West
Pakistan (ibid., 74).

Such a strategy paid ample dividend as the Awami League won 160
out of the 162 general seats. Thus. it obtained a massive landslide
victory that procured a majority in the National Assembly for itself. It
could form the government all by itself. All the scats it won were from
East Pakistan. The stunned West Pakistani establishment panicked. This
was particularly true of the martial law administration in East Pakistan
which had a very large component of West Pakistani officers. On the
other hand, the Bengali civilian and military officers felt encouraged to
assert themselves.

In West Pakistan, Z.A. Bhutto's Pakistan Peoplc’s Party emerged as
the main victor though the number of seats it won was less dramatic:
84 out of the 138 West Pakistani seats. It won majorities in the provinces
of Punjab and Sindh. Although Bhutto congratulated the Awami League
on its fantastic victory, and said that he respected the majority, he added
the rider that ‘both Punjab and Sind are centres of power. We may or
may not be able to form a government at the Centres but the keys of
the Punjab Assembly are in my pocket ' (Cloughley 2000: 162). He
went on to say that in the other pocket were ‘the keys of the Sind
Assembly and no central government can run without our
co-operation. If the People's Party does not support it, no government
will be able to work, nor will the Constitution be framed . (ibid.)
Such a statement had no support in parliamentary theory or practice,
and was simply a ncgative stance expressing Bhutto’s ambition for
power. This was to become the PPP’s main line of argument, as it joined
ranks with the military in the next few months to obstruct the Awami
League from forming the government at the centre.




YAHYA-MUJIB-BHUTTO PARLEYS

For several wecks after the elections, the military regime made no
announcement about the National Assembly being called into session.
Such inaction only accentuated the Awami League’s suspicion and fear—
that the establishment was unwilling to let it assume power in
accordance with the conventional procedures that apply in parliamentary
democracy. On 3 January 1971, the Awami League called a mammoth
public meeting in Dacca. Mujib made the elected members take an oath
pledging their loyalty to the Six Points. By that time, Z.A. Bhutto and
his PPP had taken a tougher position than the other West Pakistani
parties against the Six Points. Yahya Khan finally met Mujib on 7
January in Dacca. The Hamoodur Rehman Report notes that in the
parleys that took place, Mujib endeavoured to placate West Pakistani
fears about the Six Points being some sort of sinister move aimed at
bringing about the virtual secession of East Pakistan from the Pakistan
federation. Mujib then asked Yahya to tell him what objections the
general had to the Six Points—to which Yahya replied that he had none
but that "Mujib would have to carry with him the West Pakistani leaders’
(Hamoodur Rehman Commission Report 2001: 77). On hearing that,
Mujib requested Yahya to summon the National Assembly on 15
February so that he could demonstrate that ‘I will not only obtain a
simple majority but a two-third majority’ (ibid.). This indicates that
Mujib was confident that he would receive support from the West
Pakistani leaders as well. Admiral Ahsan, who accompanicd Yahya, has
recorded that, when Yahya told Muijib that the Awami League could
abuse its majority votes, Mujib replied:

Apparently, Mujib even suggested that his party had decided to elect
Yahya Khan as the president of Pakistan because he had played a crucial
role in the restoration of democracy. Yahya, however, told him that he
was a simple soldier and would rather return to the barracks. However,
he advised Mujib to work closely with the PPP becausc it was the largest
party from West Pakistan in the National Assembly. Mujib assured hi



that he would do that, and also try to win the support of other West
Pakistani leaders. Their discussions ended on an amicable note. Next
day, at Dacca Airport before leaving for West Pakistan, Yahya Khan
referred to Mujib as his future prime minister. On 17 January, he and
some other generals visited Bhutto at his estate in Larkana, Sindh. The
generals were later to allege, in their testimony before the Hamoodur
Rehman Commission, that Bhutto was ‘conspiring to do Mujib out
the fruit of his favourable election result’ (ibid., 79). Bhutto denicd that
in his testimony. At any rate, Bhutto is said to have requested that time
be given to him to parley with Mujib; otherwise, ‘Mujib bent upon his
Six-Point programme and supported by a clear majority, would surely
be able to go through with the Constitution which meant the end of one
Pakistan’ (ibid.). He also wanted time to prepare public opinion that
would allow him to go as far as possible in accommodating the Six
Points.

Bhutto, and some of his party members, then went to Dacca again
and met Mujib on 27 January 1971. As the Commission did not have
access 1o the Awami League leaders, it reported the PPP version of the
discussions between the two leaders and their advisers. Bhutto claimed
that Mujib was rather inflexible on the Six Points. Although he
understood Bhutto's plea that the people of West Pakistan had to be
convinced that the Six Points would not threaten the unity of Pakistan,
he was unwilling to postpone the calling of the National Assembly into
session to later than 15 February. Bhutto returned to West Pakistan
disappointed. He met Yahya Khan on 11 February and reported the
result of the discussions with the Awami League to him. Bhutto
proposed that the National Assembly should meet at the end of March
at the earliest. He claimed that Yahya seemed to agree, but was surprised
when the latter then announced 3 March as the date for the National
Assembly to meet. In the meantime, agitation was mounting in East
Pakistan vis-a-vis the delay in the government-formation process.

On 15 February, Bhutto called a press conference in Peshawar where
he declared that ‘his party would not participate in the National
Assembly session on 3 March, unless their point of view would be heard
and, if found to be reasonable, accepted by the Awami League’ (ibid..
80). Bhutto was to later deny, in the testimony before the Commission,
that he or his party had threatened to boycott the National Assembly
session—all he and his party wanted was ‘an assurance that there would
be reciprocity from the Awami League for adjustment in the Six Points’
(ibid.). In any case, on 21 February, a convention of the PPP took ‘an



oath to abide by the party decision not to attend the Assembly on th.
3 March' (ibid.). Finally, on 28 February, Bhutto addressed a mammot]
meeting in Lahore where he declared that his party would not atten
the session on 3 March. Apparently Yahya and his advisers had decidec
to postpone the Assembly meeting on 22 February, but did not conve;
this to Mujib until the 28th—the same day that Bhutto addressed the
crowds in Lahore. At that meeting, he threatened the other parties tha
‘if any of their members decided to go, they should do so on a one-wa)
ticket as they would not be allowed to return to West Pakistan, that theii
legs would be broken, and that ‘the country would be set ablaze from
Khyber to Karachi’ (ibid.).

I am witness to that meeting. Actually, Bhutto was at his theatrical
best on the occasion. He held up the hands of one of his own seniol
members, Mian Mahmud Ali Kasuri, and told the crowd that not only
would legs, but also hands, be broken. Therefore, it was a warning tc
even his own members who might have held a more conciliatory stand
on the Six Points. The next day, Bhutto addressed the students of Punjab
University in their New Campus Auditorium. The bottom line of his
address was that the Six Points would result in the breakup of Pakistan.
Such performances meant that the impasse between the Awami League,
the Yahya government, and Bhutto became public and anchored in the
popular mind in West Pakistan.

The Commission noted that a close associate of Yahya Khan's,
General Umar, ostensibly secretary of the National Security Council,
had been engaged in distributing funds in pursuance of Yahya's ‘own
political plan’ during the election campaign (ibid.). After the elections,
he had been busy trying to persuade some West Pakistani politicians
not to attend the National Assembly or to demand its postponement.
The military government, however, wanted to convey the impression,
to the public, that the postp that Yahya d on 1 March
was something that he had been forced to accept by the attitude of the
West Wing politicians and not something he himself wanted. In other
words, the Yahya regime had its own secretive agenda which coincided
with the stand that Bhutto had taken. The Commission overruled that
Yahya and Bhutto were necessarily acting in concert (ibid., 81).

On the other hand, the PPP had alleged that Yahya and Mujib were
collaborating—the evidence given was that Yahya had stated that he did
not find anything objectionable in the Six Points, had called Mujib his
prime minister, and had accepted the mvnatlon of the Awami League
to continue as presi The C i ked: ‘General Yahya




collaborating with Mr Bhutto or with Shaikh Mujibur Rahman much
less with any minor party, he was playing one party against the other’
(ibid.). The net result was that instead of mchmg a power-shann;
formula, conflicts ged; it all culminated in the di of
Pakistan. The delay in calling the newly-elected National Assembly into
session resulted in massive protests in East Pakistan. On 2 March, the
army was instructed to restore order but, within 48 hours, it was told
10 go back to the barracks.

From early March, the law and order situation had begun to
deteriorate rapidly. Awami League activists and the criminal underworld
started attacking all non-Bengalis. They received help and assistance
from disgruntled Bengali soldiers of the East Pakistan Rifles (EPR) and
the East Bengal Regiment (EBR). The Urdu-speaking Biharis, who stood
out as a separate ethnic group in the population, were easier to attack
than the West Pakistanis who were living in protected areas. As a result,
scores of deaths and incidents of injury took place. Those West
Pakistanis who could, began to send their families back to West
Pakistan. It was clear that there was widespread demoralization among
them, and they were increasingly isolated from the local population.
Major General Hakim Arshad Qureshi has alleged that the Awami
League had even used highhanded tactics during the election campaign
and later, which became part of its tactics to intimidate all opposition.
He has narrated how, in August 1970—that is before the elections were
held—he travelled in East Pakistan, with an escort, to take over
command of a battalion at Saidpur-Rangpur-Dinajpur; however, his
second-in-command was not pleased because it was dangerous to do so
(Qureshi 2002: 5).

Once the National Assembly session scheduled for 3 March was
postponed, attacks on West Pakistanis became more frequent. Thus,
Lieutenant Abbas of the 29th Cavalry, who had gone with an escort of
Bengall soldicrs to buy fresh vegetables, was attacked by Bengali
militants and killed. The Bengali members of the escort were sent back
unharmed, though their weapons were ‘taken’ by the militants (2002:
16-17). L interviewed a witness to the events in Chittagong during those
early days of March 1971. Juned Chowdhury belongs to a prominent
East Pakistani family of Assamese origin. His father, Matin Chowdhury,
was a leading member of the Muslim League and a close associate of
Jinnah. He told me that:




Bengali militants began to attack Biharis in Chittagong after it became know
that the Assembly was not meeting on 3 March. Those who took part in the
assaults were a mixture of Awami League cadres and local criminals. They
operated in connivance with low-ranking officials who had turned against
West Pakistani domination and considered the Biharis a fifth column since
they were Urdu-speaking. Quite a few gruesome murders of Biharis had
taken place already before the military action that began on 25 March. On
the other hand, the Biharis identified themselves with West Pakistan and
when the Pakistan military began its crackdown they lent support to the
soldiers in the hunt for Bengalis.

The Pakistan Army remained passive till 25 March. During that time,
the snuallon in East Pakistan Iurlwd from bad to worse. In its report,
the | dur Rehman Ci i dered why the military had
not tried to quell the agitation at that early stage and had, instead, been
ordered to return to its barracks. The findings suggested that the martial
law government in East Pakistan was restrained from taking any action
by the central government. The governor, Admiral Ahsan, told the
Commission that he had made desperate efforts to persuade the
president to visit East Pakistan but without success. Both Admiral
Ahsan and General Yaqub Ali Khan were convinced that only a political
solution could save the country. Ahsan tclephoned Rawalpindi several
times to talk to Yahya Khan but was told that he was in Karachi. Such
persistence, on his part, resulted in him being informed that he had
been relieved. Accordingly, he handed power over to General Yaqub on
4 March and left Dacca. General Yaqub, however, adopted the same line,
advising a search for a political solution. In practical terms, it meant
that a provisional provincial government should be formed, headed by
Mujib or his nominee. When his advice was rejected, Yaqub too
resigned—via telephone—on the evening of 4 March; the resignation
was accepted, by a signal, on 5 March. He handed power over to
Lieutenant General Tikka Khan, who arrived on 7 March to take over
from him (Hamoodur Rehman Commission Report 2001: 82-3).

The Commission was of the opinion that there was not mongh solid
evidence to suggest that Ipindi had Il ined the
East Pakistan government from taking action. Both Admiral Ahsan and
General Yaqub could have taken stern action but got cold feet. However,
it was not overruled that the:

Authorities in Rawalpindi also had some part to play in this curious inaction.
For, although General Yahya concluded that General Yaqub had developed



YAHYA AND WEST PAKISTANI POLITICIANS CONVERGE
OoN Dacca

Yahya arrived in Dacca on 15 March; other West Pakistani leaders
followed suit. Yahya met the party leaders one by one, instead of all
together. The Hamoodur Rehman Report has recorded, ‘In any case
Sheikh Mujibur Rahman himself and Mr Z.A. Bhutto never, except for
one occasion, met each other or the President at the same time'
(ibid., 85). The negotiations took place in the backdrop of a rapidly
deteriorating law and order situation. Mujib issued a directive, dated
7 March, that instructed East Pakistanis to defy the writ of the martial



law government: strikes, refusal to pay taxes, closure of all educational
institutions, and other such measures were to be taken to defy the
authority of the West Pakistani-run state machinery. Yahya and Mujib
met to resolve the deadlock. Mujib demanded the immediate lifting of
martial law and that the National Assembly should start functioning.
Yahya agreed, subject to the concurrence of the West Pakistani leaders,
especially Bhutto. Bhutto reached Dacca on 21 March, where he was
accorded a hostile reception by agitators at Dacca Airport. Bhutto and
Mujib met Yahya together on 22 March, and then alone. Bhutto reported
that although Mujib had been clamouring for the National Assembly to
meet in two separate blocs, when they met, Mujib wanted the National
Assembly to be adjourned sine die.

At that stage, Yahya and his aides—Justice A.R. Cornelius (law
adviser); M.M. Ahmad (economic adviser); General Pirzada (principal
staff officer); and another officer, Colonel Hassan—separately met with
the PPP and Awami League. The president also talked to other West
Pakistan leaders who were more accommodating of Mujib and the
Awami League than the PPP were. Wali Khan, of the West Pakistan’s
National Awami Party, claimed that Mujib showed him a letter in which
Yahya offered:

Mujibur Rahman a solution which would more than satisfy him, one that
would be in excess of the Six Points. One is left wondering what such a
solution could be short of complete secession. General Yahya of course
categorically denies having sent any such letter and in the nature of things
we have not seen such a document. We have no reason to doubt the Khan's
[Wali Khan's] word but in the absence of the evidence of Mujibur Rahman
and the document itself, we cannot possibly reach a finding that such a letter
exists or that the paper shown to the Khan was a genuine one (ibid., 88).

The Report has noted that, during 23 and 24 March, the position of the
Awami League’s leaders hardened and become uncompromising, For
the first time, they publicly began using the expression ‘confederation
of Pakistan. The general secretary of the Awami League, Tajuddin
Ahmed, declared that there was nothing left to negotiate and that the
Awami League had made its position clear. On Pakistan Day, 23 March,
instead of Pakistan flags, a profusion of Bangladesh flags were hoisted
all over East Pakistan; the exceptions were the Bihari strongholds of
Saidpur and Parbatipur (Qureshi 2002: 29).

It is clear that negotiations between the three entities were crucial
for the resolution of the political impasse that had occurred. It was not




| deadlock because,

:onnmmoml '.heory and practice, the Awami beague was entitled to
form the central government on the basis of its incontrovertible
majority in the Pakistan National Assembly. However, that was

ble to the military establish and the leader of the largest
party (lhe PPP) in West Pakistan, Z.A. Bhutto. The Awami League’s
uncompromising stand, towards the end, only made matters worse. In
any case, Bhutto met Yahya on 24 and 25 March to discuss the stand
taken by the Awami League. What transpired at that meeting has not
been reported.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FAILURE OF THE PARLEYS

The Commission made a most intriguing revelation: the decision not
to hand over power, and the use of a military crackdown codenamed
‘Operation Blitz, had been prepared way ahead; and, ‘the negotiations
which were carried on from the middle of March up to this date were
no more than a camouflage, it being all along the intention of General
Yahya Khan and his military advisers to cow down the Awami League
with a heavy hand’ (Hamoodur Rehman Commi ion Report 2001: 89).
Meanwhile, the troop build-up took place.

The Commission has not provided background into the history of
Operation Blitz, but subsequent research has shown that it was
formulated well before the 1970 elections and an ‘operation directive
was signed and issued by Yaqub Khan on 11 December 1970, within
four days of the National Assembly elections’ (Nawaz 2008: 264). By
early March, General Yaqub had realized that such an operation would
be c productive and had ded the search for a political
solution, but that was unacceptable to the military high command.
Yahya and his coterie of advisers stuck to the original plan, based on
denying the Awami League the right to form the government at the
centre.

In any case, with regard to the responsibility of the Awami League
for precipitating the crisis, the Commission noted that ‘we have reason
to believe that the Awami League itself intended to take action at 3 a.m.
on the morning of the 26 March 1971’ (Hamoodur Rehman Commission
Report 2001: 89). Moreover, ‘Dacca was by now a city in which it was
impossible for anybody at least for any Pakistani of consequence and
more specially those associated with the government of Pakistan to
move without armed escort’ (ibid.). It has also been recorded that the




military government had failed to develop effective intelligence
gathering because ‘it was difficult to have a sufficient number of loca!
agents from whom information could be gathered’ (ibid.). In othei
words, by that time, the West Pakistanis’ alienation and isolation from
the local society was nearly complete.

With regard to Bhutto’s role, the Commission noted that this needed
to be assessed in three main contexts: He demanded that the National
A bly session scheduled for 3 March be postponed; he insisted that
a grand coalition comprising the Awami League and the PPP should
form the government at the national level; and, following the election
results, he began to speak of a two-majority theory. The Commission
members were of the opinion that, during the election campaign, the
PPP did not make the Six Points an issue. Therefore, once the elections
had taken place and the Awami League had won a majority, Bhutto's
insistence that the Awami League should enter into a compromise o1
make concessum on the Six Points was not consistent with any

or parli y practice. Similarly, the PPP's stand, that
no constitution could be made without its concurrence, was not justified
in constitutional terms.

The PPP had won a majority of only two provinces of West
Pakistan—Punjab and Sindh. The Awami League enjoyed an overall
majority in parliament, and it was likely to expand its support with the
help of other West Pakistani leaders. Therefore, Bhutto’s insistence on
consensus on the constitution was not justified because what he meant,
on the basis of the so-called two-majority theory, was consensus
between the Awami League and the PPP. The Commnssnon fuund his

dpoint to be i patible with the principles of parll Y
democracy. Moreover, even after visiting East Pakistan after the
elections, he failed to assess the degree of resentment such demands
were causing in East Pakistan (il , 94-96). The Commission
concluded that Yahya Khan, Sheikh Mujibur Rahman, Z.A. Bhutto, and
their advisers were all responsible, in different ways, for the worsening
of the situation in East Pakistan. The Report does not identify who,
among them, bore ultimate responsibility.

Air Marshal (Retd.) Asghar Khan travelled to Dacca while the
negotiations were underway and spoke to Mujib. Mujib was convinced
that Yahya had decided, before he went to Dacca for the negotiations,
not to hand power over to the Awami League. He lamented that the
patriotism and loyalty of the Bengalis was never acknowledged by the
West Pakistani leaders. Asghar Khan has provided details about Bhutto's




alleged complicity in precipitating the crisis that broke up Pakistan
(Khan 2005: 31-42).

It can be argued that since Yahya Khan held the reins of power, and
thus enjoyed the ultimate prerogative to make crucial decisions, his role
must be treated as decisive. If it is true that the negotiations after 15
March were a camouflage, and the military had decided to carry out a
military action, then a conspiracy existed already. It is also clear that
Bhutto obstructed a peaceful resolution of the problem. Whether Bhutto
was privy to the military plan to order a crackdown on the Awami
League and the Mukti Bahini remains a matter of conjecture. It cannot
be discounted that he was because, just as the military had decided not
to hand power over to the Awami League, 5o too Bhutto was determined
not to sit in the opposition. The provocations of the Awami League, on
24-25 March, provided the excuse the military needed to implement
the pre-meditated crackdown.
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Civil War and Pakistan-India
War of 1971

OPERATION SEARCHLIGHT

There was nothing peculiar about such a brief as the objectives were
formulated in typical
arresting the Awami League leaders, or rebels in general. However, the
first action taken, understandably, was to arrest Mujib from his home

litary fashion. No mention was made of

at 10:30 p.m. Some resistance was put up by his supporters, which was
casily suppressed. Other prominent leaders either went underground or
escaped the border into West Bengal. Bhutto was in Dacca when the
military action, codenamed Operation Searchlight, started on the night
of 25-26 March. He would most certainly have heard the explosions,
tank fire, and gunshots from his room in the hotel where he was staying.
The next day. he famously remarked, "Thank God, Pakistan has been
saved. This statement has subsequently appeared, with minor variations,
in several publications (Khan 2005: 42; Nawaz 2008: 268; Qureshi 2002:



23). It is impossible to interpret such a proclamation in any way other
than as an endorsement of military action. Whether it was inspired by
patriotic passions or a Machiavellian calculation is a moot point. Many
months later, Bhutto was still defending the military action because he
claimed that it was a necessary pre-emptive action to stall the Awami
League from declaring East Pakistan’s independ the next day. He
wrote in September 1971:

A number of places were ablaze and we saw the demolition of the office of
the newspaper The People. This local English daily had indulged in crude
and unrestrained provocation against the Army and West Pakistan. With the
horizon ablaze, my thoughts turned to the past and to the future. I wondered
what was in store for us. Here, in front of my eyes, I saw the death and
destruction of our own people (quoted in Nawaz 2008: 268).

Military action received support not only from the PPP but also from
the West Pakistani power elite, including the capitalist class, and the
right-wing Pakistani press including the Urdu-language newspapers
Nawa-i-Waqt and Jang and the English-language Dawn. In particular,
the Nawa-i-Wagt stressed ‘the usual West Pakistan bogies of Hindu
influence, anti-Islamic forces, and the promotion of the Bengali
language, and urged they should be strongly curbed’ (Alam 1995: 326).
The Indian invol was greatly exagg d at that stage. In any
case, as soon as Mujib was arrested, army tanks and infantry units
moved in on the Dacca University campus. The shelling and firing that
took place targeted Jagannath Hall and Jagannath Hostel, Iqbal Hall and
Igbal Hall Hostel, Hindu temples in Ramna ground, and other Hindu
strongholds (Ali 2007: 247-8). Some resistance was offered but the
firepower of the army was overwhelming. Some 500-700 people were
killed. Pro-Awami League newspaper officers were raided, and more
killings took place. The next day, Mujib was flown to West Pakistan as
a prisoner.

The same day, a Bengali offi Major Ziaur Rahi d
the independence of Bangladesh. The position he took was that East
Pakistan had ceased to exist. He swore allegiance to Sheikh Mujibur
Rahman and exhorted other Bengalis to do the same. Accordingly, the
Bengali armed forces personnel who heeded his call were not revolting
but were fighting a war of llbeuuon against an army of occupation. On
17 April, a gover: ile was d that, Bangladesh
sources have claimed, was based within the country in a part of Kushtic
district. It also established branches in Delhi and Kolkata. Most of the




Bengali civil servants and military personnel declared their allegiance
to Bangladesh. Consequently, according to their point of view, a
liberation struggle had begun. A retired colonel, Osmany, was declared
in charge of the liberation forces, which d of two el the
Niyamita Bahini (a liberation force ituted by members of the
armed forces) and the Mukti Bahini (a liberation force consisting of
armed civilians). Later, both came to be known as the Mukti Bahini
(interview: Iftekhar Ahmed Chowdhury). Thousands of Bengalis
crossed the border into West Bengal for safety. In the refugee camps
that were set up for them, many were recruited into the Mukti Bahini.
They were armed and trained and sent back to fight the Pakistani forces.

Accounts of the war, and the atrocities that followed. differ
dramatically. Major General Hakim Arshad Qureshi has alleged that
thousands of pro-Pakistan Bengalis, Biharis, and West Pakistanis were
massacred by the Mukti Bahini in the early stages of the conflict
(Qureshi 2002: 33). Major General A.O. Mitha, who took part in the
military operations till 9 April, described how, during a visit to the
Chittagong sector, one wounded Bengali officer admitted his guilt but
without remorse:

On the night between 25/26 March 1971, General Tikka struck. Peaceful
night was turned into a time of wailing, crying, and burning. General Tikka
let loose everything at his disposal as if raiding an enemy, not dealing with
his own misguided and misled people. The military action was a display of
stark cruelty, more merciless than the massacres at Bukhara and Baghdad
by Changez Khan and Halaku Khan, or at Jallianwala Bagh by the British
General Dyer.

General Tikka, instead of carrying out the task given him, i.c.. to disarm
the Bengali units and persons and to take into custody the Bengali leaders,



resorted to a scorched earth policy. His orders 1o his troops were: ‘1 want
the land (sic) and not the peaple’ . . . Major General Rao Farman [Ali] had
written in his table diary, 'Green land of East Pakistan will be painted in red’
(Niazi 1999: 45-6).

Some other commanders were also changed. Later, during Niazi's stint
as C der Eastern Ci d, he ded that Brigadi
Arbab be ‘removed from command on charges of looting and theft.
He was found guilty in the court of inquiry carried out against him
and was sent back to West Pakistan to be court-martialled’ (ibid., 50).
On the whole, Niazi lamented that he had a small and inadequately
armed number of troops at his disposal. The humid weather and
topography did not suit his West Pakistani troops, who got ill rather
easily. Yet, by the end of May 1971, the ‘rebel resistance had been
broken with heavy losses to both men and material. The rebels were
demoralized. They were forced to take shelter in inaccessible areas or
were licking their wounds in sanctuaries provided by the Indians on
Indian soil’ (ibid., 62).

He noted that the Pakistan Army captured thousands of rifles and
other weapons left behind by the rebels. He then requested permi ion
to enter Indian territory, in pursuit of the rebels, but that was not given.
Also, by June, ‘we had achieved a great moral, political and tactical
victory under most unfavourable conditions and that too in a very short
time' (ibid., 65). He has referred to Major General Khushwant Singh of
the Indian Army who apparently confirmed his strategy:

Yahya had valid reasons for crossing International borders in the easterr
wing in pursuit of guerrillas as well as to overrun their bases in India abou
the end of May 1971, and of the opportunity to enlarge the conflict into
full-fledged war by hitting India also in the West. That was Indias wors
hour, its reserve formations were in the hinterland, it had serious shortfall:
of war material and soldiers and civilians were not mentally attuned
immediate war. If Yahya had struck at that time, he could have gainec
profitable objectives both in the Western and Eastern theatres before the
onset of the monsoons (ibid., 67-8).

PAKISTAN-CHINA CONSULTATIONS

Yahya Khan despatched senior diplomat Sultan Muhammad Khan t¢
Beijing to solicit Chinese support for the military action. Premier Zhot
Enlai told Sultan that Yahya Khan should find a political solution to the



East Pakistan crisis. Also, while China supported the unity of Pakistan
and was willing to help Pakistan raise two new army divisions, such
support did not entail Chinese military intervention in East Pakistan
on behalf of the military regime. Sultan remarked: ‘it is also relevant to
point out once and for all that China, during these or subsequent talks,
never held out any possibility of coming to Pakistan’s aid with her
military forces’ (Khan 2006: 308).

This assertion is indeed important because, while the Chinese
wanted to express solidarity with Pakistan, they were not willing to
commitment themselves militarily in a conflict against a political party
that enjoyed the overwhelming support of the people of East Pakistan.
Moreover, military intervention in East Pakistan, in the event that India
entered the war, would have provoked a strong reaction from the Soviet
Union; also, the Americans were unlikely to let that happen with
impunity if it meant that China and India would be involved in a war.
Such calculations, it seems, never entered the calculus of a Pakistani
defence strategy; rather, faith in China deterring India continued to be
something that, at least officially, the Pakistan government wanted to
encourage.

US-PAKISTAN COMMUNICATIONS

In 1970, a Republican administration headed by Richard Nixon was in
office in Washington DC. The Americans had begun to think in terms
of cultivating the Chinese; Secretary of State Henry Kissinger was to
play the key role in the first negotiations. The US, however, wanted such
overtures to remain a secret, and Pakistan was chosen as the conduit
for the initial contacts. Some other governments, such as that of
Romania, were also involved in setting the ball rolling. As a reward to
Pakistan, the US offered a i ption to their embargo on an
arms package for sale to Pakistan, but without tanks—because that
would have upset India. Also, food aid and economic aid was offered
to Pakistan (Aijazuddin 2002: 91-104). Nixon told Yahya Khan that
‘there was strong feeling in this country favouring India, but this
Administration would keep its word with Pakistan’ (ibid., 109). In reply,
having assured the Americans that Pakistan would not embarrass the
United States, Yahya also pleaded for greater economic aid to Pakistan.
With regard to the assurance he gave about not embarrassing the Nixon
Administration, Yahya was surely alluding to the fact that Pakistan had
used US weapons in both the Rann of Kutch and during the war with




India in 1965—in contravention of the US position that such US
weapons were not to be used in a conflict with India, especially one
initiated by Pakistan. In any case, the news that Pakistan was going to
get US arms elicited a strong reaction from India. Both Yahya Khan and
Indira Gandhi were in the US to attend the 25th anniversary of the
founding of the UN. Nixon invited them, and other leaders, to a dinner
but Indira Gandhi declined the invitation (ibid., 111). In any event, on
25 October 1970, US interest in secretly meeting the Chinese was
discussed during a conversation between Nixon, Kissinger, and Yahya
Khan; Yahya promised to convey this to the Chinese. Accordingly, Yahya
spoke to Zhou Enlai, who responded positively, and that set the ball
rolling.

From late March 1971 onwards, the situation in Pakistan had started
deteriorating. The US expressed concern about Pakistan's security and
hoped that Yahya Khan would succeed in restoring normality. China
made si ilar statements, but accused India of harbouring nefarious
designs to harm Pakistan. Pakistan, on the other hand, conveyed
messages between the US and China, and so the thaw quickly began to
take place. Secretary of State Henry Kissinger camouflaged his visit to
China by giving the impression that it was a general visit to South Asia.
The first stop was India. Kissinger met Indira Gandhi on 7 July 1971.
Mrs Gandhi expressed her concerns about Chinese influence in East
Pakistan and her own desire not to use force in the ongoing civil war
in East Pakistan. Kissinger, on the other hand, expressed an
understanding for India's concerns over the refugees who had poured
into India from East Pakistan. He also said that the US-India
relationship had to be stable, and it should not be jeopardized
periodically because of a regional dispute. A strong India was in the
US’s interest, emphasized Kissinger (ibid., 157-8).

On 9 July, Kissinger arrived in Pakistan and told the Pakistanis that
the chances of war with India were ‘two in three’ But, he found Yahya
and his advisers convinced that India was not planning for war—but, if
they were to start a war with Pakistan, they were convinced that ‘they
(Pakistanis] could win' (Kux 2001: 191). How that would be possible
without air support, and amid the hostility of the local population, was
something that the military did not seem to have been discouraged by
in assuming an unrealistic position on a war with India in East Pakistan.
When Kissinger returned to the US and briefed the National Security
Council, he was of the opinion that India was bent on a war with
Pakistan and that Yahya ‘lacked the imagination to solve the political



——

problems in time to prevent an Indian assault’ (ibid., 193). He
recommended that the US should prepare for an ‘evolution that would
lead to eventual independence for East Pakistan’ (ibid.). Interestingly
enough, in subsequent discussions, President Nixon expressed the
opinion that India should be discouraged from using the ‘refugee issue’
to break up Pakistan, but breaking up Pakistan ‘is what he might do if
he were in New Delhi’ (ibid., 196). However, when the military
government put Mujib on trial for sedition, instead of opening
negotiations with him, the Americans were quite exasperated.

INDO-SOVIET PEACE TREATY

The Awami League, Mukti Bahini, and other such forces were able to
sustain an armed resistance movement from their bases in India. All
along, the Indians planned their moves with great care. While training
camps had been mbhshed to train the Benga.l.l freedom fighters, their
ities were th itored and supervised. Leadership
were Awami League figures, and
radicals and extremists were marginalized. From July onwards, New
Delhi assumed direct responsibility for the training and arming of the
expanding fighting force as more and more refugees arrived and young
men joined the Mukti Bahini (Sisson and Rose 1991: 143). The Indian
leadership, no doubt, had been preparing for war with Pakistan. In
response to Yahya Khan's accusation, that if India made any attempt to
seize any part of East Pakistan he would declare war, the Indian Foreign
Minister, Sardar Swaran Singh, made a speech on 21 July in the Upper
House of the Indian Parliament—the Rajya Sabha—in which he asserted
that:

d

Pakistan has been trying for some time to mislead the world into thinking
that the situation in Bangla Desh is a matter between Pakistan and India
whereas in fact it is a matter between the military rulers of West Pakistan
and the people of Bangla Desh. It is the Pakistan regime’s own actions, and
the brutalities committed by the Pakistan Army in Bangla Desh, that have
landed Pakistan in & morass in Bangla Desh. Only a settlement with the
already elected representatives of the people of Bangladesh will enable the
military rulers of Pakistan to extricate themselves from this morass (Deora
1995: 102).

Meanwhile, the Indian leadership had been taking necessary measures
to ensure that, in case of a war with Pakistan, China would not * tervene




with impunity. Consequently, on 9 August 1971, an Indo-Soviet Treaty
of Friendship and Co-operation was signed. Article 1X stated:

Each High Contracting Party undertakes to abstain from providing any
assistance lo any third country that engages in armed conflict with the other
Party. In the event of either being subjected to an attack or a threat thereof,
the High Contracting Parties shall immediately enter into mutual
consultations in order to remove such threat and to take appropriate
measures o ensure peace and the security of their countries.

The treaty was for twenty years. Having secured a counterweight against
possible Chinese intervention, Indira Gandhi intensified diplomatic
activities to muster support for India’s position on East Pakistan.
Alleged human rights violations by the Pakistan Army in East Pakistan
became one of the main arguments to prepare the world for an Indian
intervention. It culminated with Mrs Gandhi proceeding, on 25
October, on a worldwide tour to personally explain, to world leaders,
that the situation in East Pakistan was very bad and that Pakistan was
doing nothing to find a political resolution to the civil war. In
November, Z.A. Bhutto was sent to China to solicit help in case of war,
but he did not receive much encouragement (Khan 2006: 346-7).
Foreign Secretary Sultan Muhammad Khan was despatched to some
western capitals to present the Pakistani point of view—that the conflict
in East Pakistan was an internal problem, and India had no right to
train and arm Bengali rebels 1o carry out terrorist activities inside East
Pakistan. Further, that an Indian intervention would result in all-out
war (ibid., 349-54).

WAR WITH INDIA

The conflict in East Pakistan became increasingly unmanageable over
the months that followed. Yahya Khan was under great pressure from
the international community to take the necessary measures to placate
the East Pakistanis. On 31 August, Yahya appointed an East Pakistani,
Abdul Motelib Malik, as governor of East Pakistan while Tikka Khan
continued as the martial law administrator. According to Niazi, the
Indians raided East Pakistan several times, at battalion and brigade
levels, from late August till November. The full-fledged attack on East
Pakistan by the Indian Army, from all directions, was launched on the
night of 20-21 November (Ali 2007: 271; Niazi 1999: 119). This news




was suppressed by the Yahya regime; people in West Pakistan knew
nothing about it. Niazi has claimed that, despite being outnumbered by
a ratio of 1:10, Pakistan repulsed the invaders. On 3 December, Pakistan
attacked India from its stronghold of West Pakistan. Thus, the third war
between India and Pakistan was now fought on all fronts. Niazi has also
claimed that, by that time, some 4000 fatalities and the same number
of injuries had been sustained in East Pakistan. Also, that he contacted
Chief of General Staff, Lieutenant General Gul Hassan Khan in
Rawalpindi, to discuss the Indian invasion but the latter had gone to
Lahore to celebrate Eid. Similarly, COAS General Hamid was not
available. Niazi has remarked:

1 learnt later that both he and the President had left for Sialkot, ostensibly
to visit troops but actually for a partridge shoot—no C-in-C visits Muslim
troops on an Eid day. The callous attitude of the three senior most officers
of the Army shows that they were not interested in the affairs of East
Pakistan or the integrity of Pakistan. Like Nero, they played while Dhaka
burned (1999: 123).

Nevertheless, Niazi stated his men put up a brave fight despite all the
odds against them in East Pakistan. The Indian attack got bogged down
and they suffered heavy casualties (ibid., 126). Niazi has referred to a
number of secret signals from GHQ praising the bravery and
perseverance of his men—most probably to claim that he and his troops
were doing their job properly and with success. He also takes issue with
the Indian invasion of 21 November not being taken to the Security
Council as that could have resulted in a ceasefire before defeat at the
hands of the Indians. Moreover, he has stated that he and his men
wanted more time, and were not in favour of hostilities being started
by Pakistan on the West Pakistan border with India. They wanted that
to happen after the period October-March (ibid., 131).

Niazi goes on to prove that the high command was not interested in
saving East Pakistan, in spite of his men fighting fearlessly. On
5 December, Niazi has claimed, he received a message from GHQ to the
effect that he should keep the maximum number of Indian troops
engaged in East Pakistan, and was told that Chinese activities were
expected very soon. He goes on to deplore the fact that such assurances
were totally misleading as no contact had been made with the Chinese.
On 6 December, he sent a signal to GHQ expressing his resolve to fight
to the last man. This, he has noted, was approved by his superiors (ibid.,
135). The details of the battles fought on several fronts all over East




Pakistan, as given by Niazi, show his men fighting with great bravery
and intelligence, and the Indians not making much headway in spite of
their vastly superior forces including their air force. However, he has
alleged that a totally misleading message was sent to GHQ, from the
Governor House, stating that although Niazi and his men were fighting
bravely, the enemy was advancing and the Pakistani defence was
collapsing (ibid., 176).

Niazi’s claims, however, have been called into question by other
Pakistani military officers. Brigadier (Retd.) A.R. Siddiqi, the chief of
the Inter-Services Public Relations (ISPR) and press adviser to Yahya
Khan, had access to the key senior-most officers—including, of course,
Ya.hya and his coterie of generals—who called lll the shots. Siddiqi has

gly criticised Nuzn for ad g against the
East Pakistanis, i doning rape and other indi against
Bengali women—activities the GOC Jessore, Major General Mohammad
Hussain Ansari, did not approve of. Siddiqi has noted:

Niazi . . . openly encouraged the jawans in their unsoldierly, inhuman, and
carnal indulgences. ‘What is your score, Shera (Tiger)?" he would ask the
Jjawans with a satanic glint in his eyes. The score referred to the number of
women the soldiers might have molcsted. Niazi argued brazenly in support
of the rape cases. ‘You cannot expect a man to live, fight and die in East
Pakistan and go to Jhelum [one of the major recruiting districts in West
Pakistan) for sex, would you?’ As for the killings—he believed that only the
miscreants were killed. The soldiers were under orders not to show any
mercy to subversive, anti-state elements, Bengalis or non-Bengalis (2009:
167).

Siddiqi visited East Pakistan several times during the ongoing conflict,
and noted that the Biharis took a very active part in the armed raids on
the Bengalis. They, and some Bengalis who were Islamists, sided with
the military. The number of people killed during the military action has
been estimated from a mere 26,000 presented by the Pakistan military
(Hamdoodur Rahman C ission Report 2001: 513) to three million
by Bangladeshi sources. Both are highly exaggerated figures: downwards
md upwnrdl In any case, it is impossible for an army (hnl was

fined to its to have liquidated three
million human beings in less than nine months. 1 have interviewed
many top Bengali civil servants and public figures, of a neutral bent of
mind, on this topic. I was told that the origin of the story about the
three million dead was to be found in a statement of Mujib's in which




he had confused a ‘million’ for the South Asian ‘lakh’ or ‘lac’ which
means 100,000. This is not surprising because Mujib's command over
the English language was far from enviable. The official position on the
death toll—as per the other major political party of contemporary
Bangladesh, the Bangladesh National Party—is 300,000.

PAKISTAN LAUNCHES OPERATION CHENGIZ KHAN
FROM WEST PAKISTAN

On 3 December 1971, the Yahya regime decided to open the front on
the West Pakistan border. ‘Operation Chengiz Khan'—a bizarre name
for the military of an Islamic nation to use considering the havoc
wreaked upon the Muslim powers in both Central and South Asia by
the notorious Mongol conqueror Genghis/Chengiz Khan in 1162-
1227—began with the PAF mounting simultaneous attacks on airfields
in a number of places in East Punjab and Indian-administered Kashmir.
At the same time, land operations were launched but to no avail. The
Indians rapidly moved into East Pakistan and headed towards Dacca. It
appeared that Yahya Khan's objective, in opening the front in West
Pakistan, was to hasten a ceasefire. The Pakistan Army surrendered in
Dacca on 16 December. The ceremony was shown on Indian and
international television channels. Some 93,000 Pakistanis became
prisoners-of-war, including civilians. Pakistan had been roundly
defeated and its eastern wing seceded to become Bangladesh.

Yahya Khan was bitter that the Americans and the Chinese had not
come to his rescue. Brian Cloughley has observed that ‘Any action on
the part of China would have concentrated the Indian mind on the
northern borders, and greatly assisted Pakistan. But China sat on the
fence, in spite of making belligerent statements’ (Cloughley 2000: 237).
Nixon made a gesture by sending an aircraft carrier into the Bay of
Bengal, but it was purportedly to ‘scare off an attack on West Pakistan’
according to Kissinger (ibid.). China had been granted membership of
the United Nations on 25 October 1971; its representative attended the
UN, including a meeting of the Security Council, on 23 November 1971.
This was possible because the United States and China had established
a rapport, and the former no longer opposed China’s right to represent
the Chinese people. Kissinger solicited Chinese cooperation in
achieving the limited aim of discouraging India from launching a
counter-attack on West Pakistan (Aijazuddin 2007: 367-86). The US
also took an initiative, on 4 December 1971, to start p dings in the




Security Council for a resolution calling upon both India and Pakistan
to agree to a ceasefire. Once again, it sought Chinese help which was
given. Although China outwardly maintained its support for the unity
of Pakistan, it was disillusioned by Pakistan's failure to seek a political
solution to the conflict in East Pakistan. In other words, a breakup of
Pakistan seemed to have been accepted by all the major powers. The
loss of life on the battlefield, for both India and Pakistan, has not been
clearly established but it seems it far exceeded the fatalities suffered
during the two earlier wars. The trauma of defeat, and the breakup of
Pakistan, greatly undermined the prestige of the Pakistan military,
whose public relations office had been spreading fictitious stories of
spectacular victories over the Indi identical to the p d
offensive during the 1965 war.

In any event, following the surrender at Dacca on 16 December, it
took Yahya and the high command, on Nixon's advice, another two days
to agree to the unilateral ceasefire offered by Indira Gandhi (Siddiqi
2009: 212). There were two pressing issues that the government had to
attend to forthwith. The first was the growing resentment, among the
officers, about the great military debacle. The officers were up in arms
at Kharian cantonment. Elsewhere, too, the mood was charged with
indignation. Yahya's most trustworthy comrade, General Hamid,
addressed the officers at Ayub Hall in Rawalpindi on 20 December and
tried to argue that the government had tried to find a ‘political solution.
But, this was rejected by the audience who shouted ‘shame, shame’ and
liberally used expletives. Hamid ostensibly broke down and left but,
according to Brigadier Siddiqi, it was all feigned. He had come to gauge
if Yahya and the junta could continue. As the men left, Radio Pakistan
announced that Yahya had resigned. A number of names were
considered for his successor. General Gul Hassan Khan and Air Marshal
Rahim Khan favoured Z.A. Bhutto being called upon to take over power
(ibid., 213-4).

INTERVIEW WITH LIEUTENANT GENERAL (RETD.)
JAVED ASHRAF QAzI

‘It is generally believed that the 1970 election was fair and free. Nothing
can be further from the truth. I was a young major posted in East
Pakistan during those fateful days. During the election campaign
Awami League goondas (roughnecks) terrorized all those who did not
support them. They beat up people and threatened them with dire




consequences if they opposed Sheikh Mujib and his close associates. |
remember hearing Mujib addressing an election rally. He was a fiery
demagogue who knew how to inflame public opinion. He told the
thousands of people who had gathered that he just been to Islamabad.
Each road and building in that city smelled of jute. It was the
exploitation of East Pakistan that had provided the money for building
that fancy capital of Pakistan. He told them that East Pakistan will never
be a colony of West Pakistan. Awami League goondas attacked West
Pakistanis and killed many innocent people. We reacted to a reign of
terror let loose by the Awami League.

INTERVIEW WITH BRIGADIER (RETD.) YASUB ALI
DoGar

Brigadier (Retd.) Yasub Ali Dogar was serving as a captain in East
Pakistan in 1971, and became a POW when Dacca surrendered on
16 December 1971. I requested him to write down his responses to a
number of questions of mine on the events in the former East Pakistan.
The following is the entire script he sent me by email on 27 April 2010:

‘I would like to state that my family had a'long association of stay in
East Pakistan: 1962-1968. My father Major (Late) Mahbub Ali was the
first Pakistani principal of Adamjee Public School/College in Dacca
Cantt. It was considered then as the most prestigious higher secondary
school in East Pakistan, an equivalent of Aitchison College. I was myself
a student of Dacca College from November 1962~ April 1964, thereafter
I joined the Dacca University and was selected for PMA Kakul from
there in November 1964. Ex-President of Bangladesh Mr Iajuddin
Ahmed was Head of Soil Science Department and [ have the honour of
being his student for a few months.

“Till 2 December 1971, | was manning SSG posts in Chittagong Hill
tracts bordering Pakistan-India-Burma border triangle. On 2 December
my company ‘The Jangju Company, 2 Commando Battalion (SSG) was
airlifted to Dacca for further employment in the Northern Sector. On
3rd morning at mid-day we were airlifted in PIA aircrafts to Saidpur
for operations in Thakargaon-Rangpur Sector. This was perhaps the last
PIA flight in East Pakistan because the same evening with the
declaration of all out war all P1A flights ceased to operate. I remained
in this sector till cessation of hostilities on 16 December 1971.

“The overall envi had been deteriorating since the mega-
cyclone killing over a 100,000 people in December 1970. There was a




feeling in East Pakistan that the West-Pakistani leadership under
General Yahya Khan and his cronies did not provide adequate response
to the requirements of the cyclone affected population of East Pakistan.
The political environment was absolutely hostile to all non-Bengalis in
general and the army in particular. It got accentuated to the highest level
since the beginning of March when rumours of the declaration of an
independent Bangladesh became very imminent. Maximum killings of
Biharis and other non Bengalis took place during this period.

‘1 was a Platoon Commander (Captain) in Jangju Company of 2
Commando Battalion (SSG) in the Chittagong Hill Tracts. Till 2
December my responsibilities were to ensure that there is no incursion
or infiltration of any hostile elements (Indians or Muktis) in my area of
responsibility. On outbreak of all out war 1 was part of 34 Brigade
Headquarter at Rangpur in the north carrying out various tasks given
by the Brigade Headquarter having moved there on 3 December 1971.

‘In my area Indians had moved in strength on 11/12 of November.
We were under full-fledged attack by an Indian Battalion on 22nd of
November, which we were able to beat back. So, I am very clear as far
as international borders were breached, it is the Indians who breached
it first. Pakistanis were only responding, in fact two of our F86 Sabre
jets had been shot down over Jessore in November much before the
break out of war on 3 December 1971.

‘The Agartala Conspiracy Case was discovered in 1966-1967. Till
March 1971 Indians were subverting the intelligentsia, students, officers
and soldiers belonging to East Pakistan. From March 1971 onwards they
were providing full support to the Mukti Bahini including recognition
of Mr Tajuddin Ahmed's government in exile. They finally crossed the
borders in Nov 1971. My feeling is that they had realized that Pakistan
Army had stabilized the situation inside East Pakistan to a large extent
and now a long drawn guerrilla war would be required to cause
sufficient attrition to Pakistan Army to get a political solution of their
choice. Meanwhile, the number of refugees was causing India a large
financial drain on their resources. It was imperative that such a state of
affairs could not be tolerated for long and India had to find a solution
quickly.

‘The Ansar were basically a second line force on the pattern of
“Qaumi Razakars” in West Pakistan. Some joined Mukti Bahini while
some were made use of by the Pakistan Army; they were of little use for
both sides. I did not get a chance to operate with Al-Badr; therefore, 1
will say what I have heard from others. They were well motivated and




by and large acted as good auxiliary to the army. It seems that they had
their own political agenda besides helping the army. However I do not
subscribe to the view that they carried out large scale massacres. Being
Bengalis they had no reason to do so.

'The effectiveness of the Mukti Bahini was largely depended on their
b d, training and motivation. Old EBR regi /EPR cadres
were ex:ellently led by ex-Pakistan Army officers. The bulk was
recruited from refugee camps, given a few days training and infiltrated
for operations inside. Theirs was generally a lacklustre performance.
Some independent Bahinis such as the “Tiger Siddiqi” and “Mujib
Bahini" were slightly better organized and armed.

‘From 11 November to 3 December it was a matter of confusion for
Pakistani high command. Some thought Indians are trying to gain a
chunk of territory which could be handed over to the Bangladesh
government in exile to operate from there. Others thought that Indians
would move in as deep as possible till such time their casualties are of
acceptable level to them. I subscribe to the view that if the all out war
had not been declared on 3 December the Indians would have remained
at the periphery and not moved deep inside East Pakistan. It would have
also given sufficient time to find a political solution if the military/
political leadership sincerely wanted to fine one.

‘Basically cut off from the rest of Pakistan with no local support in
the population and depleted of arms and ammunition against over-
whelming odds there was no other choice. They could have fought for
a few more days, gotten some more casualties with the same result. The
heavy handed army action had totally antagonized the Bengalis. General
Niazi in his before the dur Rehman C ission had
reportedly castigated the doctrine that the defence of East Pakistan lies
in the West. Throughout the war we were waiting for that final offensive
which would have forced the Indian troops to recoil backwards to face
the deep intrusion coming In from West Pakistan. With regard to
human rights violations, yes, I feel that the performance of Pak Army
leaves much to be desired on all counts.

‘The treatment of the Indian Army differed from place to place. 1
and some fellow officers tried to dig a tunnel to attempt escape but the
Indians uncovered that plot. We were put in solitary confinement where
the hygienic conditions were appalling. We were placed on half rations
for thirty days while undergoing detention in cells; the food given
initially was almost unpalatable. We therefore decided to go on hunger
strike. This created a commotion and the conditions were relaxed. I had




terrible mosquito bites all over my body. I complained to an Indian
doctor, Major Bannerjee who immed:alely ordered that I should be
given proper and p proper facilities to sleep
comfortably. On the whole. lndun Bihari units were harsh in their
treatment of Pakistanis. Goan Christians and Sikhs were friendly but it
is to Major Bannerjee that 1 owe most gratitude for treating me
humanely”

INTERVIEW WITH COLONEL (RETD.) RIAZ JAFRE

Colonel Riaz Jafri was among the 195 POWs in Indian custody that the
Bangladeshi government wanted to put on trial for war crimes. He has
had the following to say about that episode:

‘T was a Lieutenant Colonel and posted as General Staff Officer
(Grade One) in the Civil Affairs wing of the Martial Law Headquarters,
Zone B, Dacca, East Pakistan. I was the senior-most principal staff
officer to (late) Major General Rao Farman Ali Khan who was the
Martial Law Administrator (Civil Affairs). I landed there on 30 June
1971.

The military had no particular plan to target Hindus. However, in
quite a few cases, entire families of Hindu, as well as Muslim, Bengalis
were forcefully taken to India where their young men were trained as
saboteurs and sent on subversive missions to East Pakistan. We did not
use excessive force against the insurg this was only propagand
India and the Awami League. During my very early days in office, |
happened to come across a small English textbook for the kindergarten
class. I was astonished to read, in one of its opening pages, ‘Ram
[Hindu; also name of a Hindu god] is a good boy. Rahim (Muslim
name; also a designation of God according to Islam) is a bad boy. A
quick scan of the book showed it to be full of such mind-poisoning
phrascs that p d Hindus positively and Muslims negatively. The
book was printed by a publishing house of Calcutta. On enquiring from
the principal of Adamjee High School, Dacca Cantonment, I was told
that the book was approved by the Provincial Text Book Board and had
been in use for the last two decades or more! The other element against
Pakistan was the Bengali government servants—who were eager to get
quick rises and promotions in a newly -born country with 3 vacuum at
the top. The third element comprised of i P and
lawyers—mostly Hindus.




‘Gopal Sharma (a Hindu Brahmin), a member of the Mukti Bahini
cadre, was under detention when he developed gangrene in an arm
wound. I got the wound dressed, castigated him severely, and let him
off saying that he was a stupid person simply playing into the hands of
the Indians. My lower staff didn't much like my freeing a sworn enemy,
but imagine their astonishment when Gopal came back after about a
week and asked for a rifle. ‘What for?, I asked. ‘Sir, tonight some Muktis
{his old gang mates] will attack the grain silo at Manak Ganj and I want
to defend the building’ I sent some men with him and, sure enough,
the Muktis did appear dunng lhe night. Thereaﬁer. Gopal was a
welcome buddy of the subed ffi ho had
shown the most resentment on hls release.

“The Indian intervention had started before my arrival—immediately
after 25 March 1971. However, on 21 November 1971, the Indians
launched a full-fledged attack with tanks and artillery. On 3 December,
after the war was declared in the West, the Indian Air Force also started
bombing and strafing our locations in East Pakistan.

‘1 didn't have the heart to go to Paltan Maidan to witness the
humiliation of the surrender on 16 December, but watched it on TV.
The Indians allowed us to keep our arms for three days as there were
not enough Indian troops to guarantee our safety and afford protection
against the Mukti Bahinis who had gone wild with jubilation and could
do anything under such intoxication.

‘I had the misfortune of becoming a POW and was kept at Camp 61,
Gwalior, India, along with other sixty-three officers, seven of us
Lieutenant Colonels. The Indians treated us properly and according to
the Geneva Convention. The officers were lodged in an Officers’ Mess;
the colonels were kept two to a reasonably well-furnished room with
attached bathroom. We, the colonels, started digging a tunnel from one
of the bathroom floors, but it was detected after some time when almost
complete. Thereafter, we were shifted to an army barrack, huddled up
on charpoys six inches apart, and with only one deep-trench open
latrine under the sky to serve as a toilet for nearly eighty-three officers
and other ranks.

‘When, around December 1973, repatriation started, I, along with
four other officers, was taken to Camp 88, Agra—where the infamous
195 POWs were being collected, from the various camps, for trial for
the purported war crimes committed by them in East Pakistan. I was
one of those included in the list of 195, and always wondered at my
being included among them. My guess is that we were targeted because




we had some i or we were dtoi
people in Pakistan. At the Simla Conference, the demand for the trial
of the “war criminals” was dropped. Consequently, we 195 were
repatriated in April 1974. I was on the last but one train that arrived at
the Attari/Wagah border on 28 April 1974.

“There is no doubt that we handled the situation badly and wrongly.
We could have won over the Bengalis by giving them due respect and
a proper say in the affairs of Pakistan.

CoLONEL (RETD.) NADIR ALI

An interview with Colonel (Retd.) Nadir Ali, who was posted in East
Pakistan at that time, was published in the online weekly magazine,
Viewpoint, in 2010. His evidence indicates a definite anti-Hindu policy
of the martial law authorities in the former East Pakistan. Here, excerpts
from it are presented below:

‘During the fateful months preceding the dismemberment of
Pakistan, I served as a young Captain, meantime promoted to the rank
of the Major, in Dhaka [as it has been renamed post-secession] as well
as Chittagong. In my position as second-in-command and later as
commander, [ served with 3 Commando Battalion.

‘My first action was in mid-April 1971. “It is Mujibur Rahman's home
district. It is a hard area. Kill as many Bastards as you can and make
sure there is no Hindu left alive]” 1 was ordered. “Sir, I do not kill
unarmed civilians who do not fire at me;” I replied. “Kill the Hindus. It
is an order for everyone. Don't show me your commando finessel”. .

‘Thousands were killed and millions rendered homeless. Over nine
million went as refugees to India. An order was given to kill the Hindus.
I received the same order many times and was reminded of it. The West
Pakistani soldiery considered that Kosher. The Hamoodur Rehman
Commission Report mentions this order. Of the ninety-three lakh (9.3
million) refugees in India, ninety lakh were Hindus. That gave us,
world-wide, a bad press and morally destroyed us. Military defeat was
easy due to feckless military leader ship. Only couple of battalions in
the north offered some resistance. For example, the unit of Major
Akram, who was awarded highest military medal, Nishan-e-Haider,
resisted and he lost his life. . . .

“With federal capital in Islamabad, dominated by West Pakistani civil
servants and what they called a Punjabi Army, East Pakistanis felt like
subjects of a colony. They never liked it ever since 1947. In early sixties,




my fellow Bengali officers called each other general, a rank they would
have in an independent East Pakistan. We all took it in good humour.
But 1971 was not a joke. Every single Bengali felt oppressed. . . .

‘General Tikka was branded as “Butcher of Bengal” He hardly
commanded for two weeks. Even during those two weeks, the real
command was in the hands of General Mitha, his second-in-command.
General Mitha literally knew every inch of Bengal. He personally took
charge of every operation till General Niazi reached at the helm. At this
juncture, General Mitha returned to GHQ. General Tikka, as governor,
was a good administrator and made sure that all services ran. Trains,
ferries, postal services, telephone lines were functioning and offices
were open. (Ali 2010)
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The Rise and Fall of
Zulfikar Ali Bhutto

Zulfikar Ali Bhutto came to power in Pakistan once the old order had
been badly bruised. His meteoric rise to power had been possible
because of his espousal of egalitarianism in the form of Islamic
socialism: that message went to the heart of the downtrodden and they,
in turn, celebrated him as their champion. A scion of the big landowning
class of Sindh, his charisma, demagogic skills, and radunt mldhgence

were ised by his vindictive and b p His
Sindhi elllmcnry worked against him in the context of the power
equation in Pakistan—there was no hwhile Sindhi

P

in the Pakistani state structure, especially in the military. After the loss
of East Pakistan, Punjab’s position as the dominant province greatly
increased as it also became the majority province ethnically. Thus, the
population breakdown was as follows:

Punjab 58% (including the roughly 9.83% Seraiki-speaking
areas of southern Punjab)

Sindh 21.6%

NWFP 16.7%
Balochistan 2.4%

Tribal areas 1.3%
Ethnic composition of the military:

Punjabi 70%

| Pakhtun 20%
Mohajirs

Sindhis

Balochis { 10%
Kashmiris

Source: Shafqat 1997: 171.




The ethnic composition of the officers corps, according to two
estimates—based on interviews:

First estimate Second estimate
70% 68%
15% 15%
10% 10%
Balochis and Sindhis 5% %

Source: Shafqat 1997: 173.

Bhutto began his stint in power in a rather unorthodox manner: not
only as president but also as supreme commander, chief martial law
administrator, foreign minister, interior minister, and inter-provincial
co-ordination minister (Taseer 1979: 132). More than 90,000 Pakistani
POWs were in Indian custody, including 20,000 women and children.
The Indians had captured 5795.64 square miles of Pakistani territory
on the western front, while Pakistan had succeeded in capturing merely
110.35 square miles of Indian territory (Nawaz 2008: 329).

NATIONALIZATION OF HEAVY INDUSTRY

On 2 January 1972, Bhutto's government nationalized all the major
industries, including iron and steel, heavy engineering, petrochemicals,
cement, and the public utilities. Public speeches, and television
add:esses to the people. were f\lll of populist rhetoric demonizing the
and P i tax evaders, and much worse.
The anti-industrialist P was d with the
announcement, on 10 February 1972 of a new labour policy:

+ 20 per cent representation was to be given to workers in a factory's
administration.

The workers’ share in the annual profits of a production unit was
raised from 2.5 to 4 per cent; later, it was increased to 5 per cent.
Any party to a labour dispute could take its complaint or case to
the labour court for redress.

The court was to give a decision within 30 days; previously it was
60 days.

A worker fired from his job had to be informed about the reasons
for his dismissal in writing.
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6. An old-age pension was announced, and it was made obligatory
for factory-owners to support the education of one child of each
worker up to matriculation.

Regarding medical treatment, the two-per cent deduction from
the worker’s wages was stopped. Instead, the owners’ share, to
such a fund, was increased from 4 to 6 per cent.

Registration of trade unions was made much easier. As a result.
their number increased dramatically (Ahmed and Amjad 1984:
92-93).

N
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Such measures inadvertently infused revolutionary fervour among
radical leftists. Consequently, spontaneous as well as planned industrial
agitation began to take place all over Pakistan. The tactics of gherao—
surrounding and detaining owners and managers of industrial
enterprises—and kabza—taking over control—were common practices
amongst radical trade unionists in neighbouring India. Pakistani leftists
seemed to have taken their cue from their counterparts in India. But,
such tactics exceeded the limits that Bhutto had in mind. The
government adopted a stern tone and warned the radical socialists and
trade union activists that disruptive activities would not be tolerated.
The government also made it clear that any future manifestation of
street power would be met with the might of the state (Mahmud 1987:
19-22). That threat was translated into practice: when the gherao and
kabza methods created unrest in industrial areas all over Pakistan,
Bhutto ordered strong action against the growing insurgency. The police
andp ilitary forces used iderable force and repression to crush
the resistance—although, earlier, when he had ordered the military to
take action, General Gul Hassan had refused to comply (Khan 1993:
362). In any event, by the end of 1972, the workers’ resistance had been
dealt severe blows and it quietly petered out during the next year.

LAND REFORMS S0, 7,'/3.0

On | March 1972, Bhutto's much-awaited land reforms were introduced
under Martial Law Regulation No. 115. The rhetoric concomitant with
the speech included a tirade against Ayub Khan's land reforms, which
Bhutto alleged had buttressed feudalism through various concessions
and exceptions to the landed elite. Under his scheme, the ceiling was
lowered to 150 acres of irrigated, and 300 acres of un-irrigated, land.
Excess land was confiscated without any compensation. However,
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PAKISTAN—THE GARRISON STATE

instead of the ceiling applying to the family, it applied to individual
ownership—which Bhutto justified on the basis that ownership, in
Islam, resided wntll the individual! This was a major disappointment for
his socialist f M in a bal g political act purported;
not to alienate the landed classes, Bhutto began to welcome the blg
landowners into his party. Such overtures disillusioned the leftists in the
party who, over time, were increasingly sidelined; many left the PPP.
In 1977, another land reform was announced. The ceiling was
lowered to 100 acres of irrigated, and 200 acres of un-irrigated, land.
However, compensation was introduced at the rate of Rs 30 per Produce
Index Unit for land acquired by the state (Saeed 2010: 3-4). On the
whole, the tenancy provisions formally improved the legal status of the
tenant-cultivators, but no effective mechanisms were put in place to
enforce them. The reforms failed to alter the rural power structure
because the limits were fixed in terms of individual, and not family,
holdings. Moreover, by transferring land to relatives outside the
immediate family, and even retainers and servants, the landowners
continued to maintain their power and influence. The 1977 reforms
were abandoned after Bhutto was ousted from power by the military.

TRIMMING THE WINGS OF THE MILITARY

Military defeat at the hands of India had put the Pakistani generals on
the back foot. The new government let Pakistan's state television air the
of the der of the Pakistan Army in Dacca on

16 December 1971. This evoked an angry response from the military,
and even people in general were greatly perturbed by the bizarre
spectacle. More significantly, differences between Bhutto and the army
chief, General Gul Hassan Khan, developed rather quickly. Gul Hassan
complained that Bhutto and his associates interfered in his work and
kept a tab on his activities. As already noted, Gul Hassan refused to use
the military against the workers in Karachi. Further tensions between
the two men developed when Bhutto's military adviser, Major General
(Imd) Akbar Khan— (Iu hero of the Kashmir war who was later
dismissed for ding the Ipindi Conspi ordered the
movement of artillery guns to help the civil authorities of Nowshera, in
the NWFP, quell a police mutiny. Gul Hassan overruled the order. A
mutiny in Punjab also found the Bhutto government and military chief
giving contradictory orders to the army (Khan 1993: 350-64). Gul
Hassan has claimed that it was his refusal to kowtow to Bhutto's
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whimsical and irregular demands and orders that resulted in his being
retired on 3 March. Bhutto, simultaneously, retired Air Marshal Rahim
Khan: both men had been instrumental in bringing him to power some
months earlier. What surprised many was that he chose General Tikka
Kllan. of East Pakistan fame, to replace Gul Hassan. When the Italian

list Oriana Fallaci questioned Bhutto about his choice of Tikka
Khan, he reportedly said:

Tikka Khan was a soldier doing a soldier’s job [in East Pakistan]. He went
to East Pakistan with precise orders and came back by precise orders. He
did what he was ordered to, though he wasn't always in agreement, and 1
picked him because I know he'll follow my orders with the same discipline
(quoted in Nawaz 2009: 325).

Bhutto abolished the post of commander-in-chief. The three heads of
the armed forces were given equal rank and seniority. The head of the
army, henceforth, was to be known as the chief of army staff (COAS).
His tenure was fixed at four years, later reduced to three years. The
naval headquarters were moved from Karachi to Islamabad. Moreover,
Bhutto beg.m to momlof the promcmon of officers; those suspected of
h 8 for itional political parties were denied
promotion. Sucll mterfemnce |n the affairs of the powerful military
earned him the resentment of many senior officers (Shafqat 1997: 175).

CIVILIAN RULE

It was in such circumstances that the government convened the
National Assembly on 14 April 1972. A consensus on lifting martial law
was reached fonhwiuu An imerim consli(ulicm. written by Federal Law

Minister Mian adopted on 17 April, and came
into effect on 21 Apnl Blnmo took the onlh undcr it, as president.
Nurul Amin, a prominent Bengali politici had loyal to

Pakistan, ame prime minister though hls post remained largely
nommd Bhullo. . pusnd:nl. retained the rul power. The National

da of y bers, under the
cllalrmanslup of Kasuri, to prepare a new :onsumnon based on the

parliamentary form of government.
W g

P
e




‘WAR CRIMINALS AND THE POW IssuE

Profound resentment existed, among Bengalis, against the Pakistani
POWs for the latter’s alleged war crimes. Hence, sporadic clashes
erupted in diffe parts of Bangladesh when Pakistanis were
attacked—which was one reason for India’s decision to move them to
camps in India. On 24 December 1971, Bangladesh’s Home Minister,
AHM. K d that Bengali authorities had
arrested thirty top Pakistani civilian officials who would soon be put on
trial for genocide. This was followed by the widows of seven Bangladeshi
officers, who had been killed by the Pakistanis, asking India to put some
Pakistani officers on trial for war crimes. After returning home, Sheikh
Mujib initiated a formal process of a war crimes trial. On 29 March
1972, the Bangladest d a plan to try some 1100
Pakistani military pnsoners, including General Niazi and General Rac
Farman Ali, for war crimes. Initially, India agreed to hand over all
military prisoners against whom Bangladesh could present ‘prima facie
cases’ of atrocities. Later, on 14 June 1972, India decided to hand over
a more restricted list of 150 POWS, later increased to 195 including
Niazi, to Bangladesh for trial. Such pressure continued to grow: on 19
June—that is ten days before the Simla summit was to take place—
Mujibur Rahman reaffirmed his commitment to try the Pakistanis
(Ahamed 2010).

Pakistan reacted by putting many of the Bengalis living in West
Pakistan into detention. According to one estimate, nearly 400,000
Bengalis were in Pakistan at the time of the fall of Dacca. Moreover,
Bhutto inced China to veto Bangladesh bership in the United
Nations. Thus, on 25 August 1972, China cast its veto when Bangladesh
applied for membership to the United Nations. Meanwhile, the issue of
Pakistani POWs in Indian detention camps loomed large in Pakistani
political and media discussions. India's Prime Minister, Indira Gandhi,
was anxlous not to keep the POWs for 100 long for different political
and diplomatic reasons, even when voices were being raised to put those
guilty of crimes against humanity on trial. She probably also felt that,
given India's obvious position of strength and advantage, she could
succeed in clinching a lavourable deal with Pakistan over Kashmir.

ly, she desp a d dipl D.P. Dhar, to
Pakistan o invite Bhutto to a summit at the famed hill station of Simla,
the former summer capital of the British. Bhutto responded with
enthusiasm and the ball was set rolling (Taseer 1979: 135). Bhutto
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attention was given to gathering the opinions of influential interests.
For the Pakistani public, the release of the POWs was prime of
importance.

THE ARMY’S BRIEF

Shuja Nawaz has brought forth very interesting information on the
stand the Pakistan Army took on any negotiations with India. No doubt,
the POW issue was of utmost importance to the military. The brief it
prepared suggested that recognition of Bangladesh must be made
conditional on the Indian and Bangladeshi governments fulfilling a
number of preconditions. With regard to India, the Pakistan military
insisted that Indian troops should be pulled back from the international
border and ceasefire line; the POW's released; and no Pakistani military
personnel put on trial for war crimes. Further, it was stressed that
Pakistani POWs should be exchanged for Bengali military and civil
personnel detained in Pakistan. Where Bangladesh was concerned, it
was to ensure that the Biharis, and other pro-Pakistan elements in
Bangladesh, were treated properly.

It is interesting to note that while demanding proper treatment for
the Biharis, the military strongly opposed any idea of them being sent
to Pakistan—asserting that they had a home in Bangladesh (Nawaz
2009: 328-9). On the question of Kashmir, Bhutto was advised to take
a firm stand: ‘We should not concede the Indian-held Kashmir to India.
We should continue to insist that the Kashmiris have a right of self-
determination and India must give them this right. Pakistan could,
however, agree to an (sic) arbitration on the question of Kashmir’ (ibid.,
330). The army also wanted Bhutto to tell India that it should reduce
the size of her armed forces to remove fear of aggression in Pakistan
(ibid.). Nawaz has made this interesting remark:

This was not an army that had just lost a war. It sounded more like the terms
of surrender offered to a defeated enemy. The brief was aimed as much at
India as convincing Bhutto that if the Indian ‘threat’ remained at a high level,
then ‘obviously we will have to maintain a proportionately higher level of
standing Armed Forces. It conceded however that should India reduce its
threat, the size of the Pakistan armed forces could be reviewed accordingly
(ibid.).




THE SIMLA Acumm'r

A large delegation, i g leading j i ied Bhutto
to Simla at the end of ]unc '1972. The summit opened (ornully on 28
June 1972. Both sides expressed a sincere desire to end conflict and to
establish a durable and lasting peace. The bottom line of Indira Gandhi's
strategy was to insist on a comprehensive settlement that would cover
all the issues that had arisen in the aftermath of the war between them.
From the Indian point of view, that, most centrally, meant a settlement
of the Kashmir dispute. Pakistan took a very different approach: the end
to the occupation of Pakistani territory and the release of its POWs was
emphasized as the necessary preliminary first step to pave the way for
an amicable resolution of the Kashmir dispute.

Bhutto asserted that putting Pakistani military officers on trial for
war crimes would not create the required conducive atmosphere for
resolving the Kashmir dispute. Such an argument seemed to have
convinced the Indian prime minister and her advisers who went along
with it. On 2 July 1972, the Simla Agreement was signed between the
two leaders. Both sides affirmed to work together towards the creation
of durable peace and harmony between them, to cease carrying out
hostile propaganda against each other, and to promote understanding
between each other through exchanges in the fields of culture and
science.

It was stated that the two countries resolved to settle their differences
by peaceful means through bilateral negotiations or by any other
peaceful means mutually agreed upon between them. Pending the final
settlement of any of the problems between the two countries, neither
side would unilaterally alter the situation and both would prevent lhe
organi tion, assi or of any acts detri
the maintenance of peaceful and harmonious relations.

It was further laid down that, in Jammu and Kashmir, the line of
control resulting from the ceasefire of 17 December 1971 would be
respected by both sides without prejudice to the recognized position of
either side. Neither side would seek to alter it unilaterally, irrespective
of mutual diffe and legal interp Both sides further
undertook to refrain from the threat, or the use, of force in violation of
this Line,

1t was also stated that the representatives of the two sides would meet
to further discuss the modalities and 8 for the establish
of durable peace and li Tudi

of relations, i a final

settlement of Jammu and Kashmir (Simla Agreement 1972).
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Conspicuous by its absence in the Simla Apeemenl was any
toap ite. This was a signifi P from the
hitherto UN resolutions pertaining to Kashmir.

INTERPRETATIONS OF THE AGREEMENT

On the whole, the Si la Agreement was a great success for Bhutto. He
had pleaded Pakistan's case from a position of patent weakness. Indira
Gandhi, who was in a mucll stronger position, could not exploit that to
her advantage in p ng an overall settl of all issues, ially
on Kashmir. In one sense, (Ile victor at Simla was the Pakistani army
whose brief prevailed—albeit because of Bhutto's skills. Why Indira
Gandhi gave in remains a puzzle. Reportedly, Bhutto was able to
convince her that it would be impossible for him to begin negotiations
to resolve the Kashmir dispute without the settling of the POW issue.
Bhutto returned to Pakistan in a very carefully orchestrated public
relations offensive that projected him as a great statesman and patriot.
Also, apart from the absence of any reference to the UN resolutions

g to a plebiscite, no i were made to India on
l\ashmw The only significant change was that the Ceasefire Line
became the Line of Control.

Soon afterwards, both sides began to interpret the Simla Agreement
in a manner that they deemed was advantageous to them: India insisted
that the principle of bilateralism meant that the Kashmir problem was
not an international issue any longer, and that the line of control had
in practice become the international border; Pakistan insisted that the
Simla Agreement recognized that the Kashmir problem had yet to be
resolved (Taseer 1979: 141-3).

REPATRIATION OF POWs
Just before the Simla Summit, India agreed to deliver 150 Niazi and other
alleged war criminals, to Bangladesh for trial. Mujib issued a statement
that Bangladesh would try them for war crimes. At Simla, both sides
considered it prudent not to probe this issue too deeply (Ahamed 2010).
Back at home, Bhutto took a firm stand that recognition of
Bangladesh would be subject to the release of the POWs. He strongly
objected to India handing over the Pakistanis charged with war crimes
to Bangladesh to be put on trial. Such positioning, in light of the fact
that hundreds of thousands of Bengalis were in Pakistan who, if not




detained, were not being allowed to leave for Bangladesh meant that
Pakistan could exert considerable pressure on both India and
Bangladesh to withdraw their plans of putting the 195 Pakistanis on
trial. Consequently, the repatriation process slowly got underway (ibid.)
In November 1972, Bangladesh and India decided to repatriate some
6000 family members of Pakistani POWs and, in response, Pakistan
agreed to release some 10,000 Bangladeshi women and children held in
Pakistan. Thereafter, more such exchanges took place. However,
Bangladesh took the stand that India would not release the initial 195
Pakistani POW's but would try them, along with their local collaborators,
for war crimes. Bhutto threatened that if Bangladesh carried out the
trial of the 195 Pakistanis, Pakistan would also follow suit. In an
interview on 27 May 1973, Bhutto remarked: ‘Public opinion will
demand trials [of Bangladeshis] here. . . . We know that Bengalis passed
on information during the war. There will be specific charges. How
many will be tried, I cannot say. (quoted in Ahamed). Thereafter, 203
Bengalis stranded in Pakistan were rendered virtual hostages.

On 28 August 1973, India and Pakistan signed the Delhi Accord
which allowed the release of most of the stranded Bangladeshis and
Pakistanis held in Pakistan and India, respectively. Pakistan and India
also agreed that the issue of the 195 accused Pakistanis would be settled
between Bangladesh and Pakistan. Pakistan excluded the 203
Bangladeshis, who had been taken into custody, out of the repatriation
process. Later, Pakistan proposed that if Bangladesh agreed, the 195
men could be tried in special tribunals in Pakistan. Bangladesh finally
accepted Pakistan's proposal realizing that its citizens would be retained
in Pakistan if it went ahead with the trials. That paved the way for the
complete repatriation of the Pakistani POWs in India, and the Bengalis
in Pakistan, by 15 April 1974 (Ahamed 2010).

THE 1973 CONSTITUTION

Munwluk Blumo had invested a great dul of eﬂ'on and pmugc in
the i to ll-p:

submitted its reccommendations to the Numnal Assembly in April 1973.
The itution retained the description ‘Islamic Republic’ for the state.
The president was to only be a figurehead; real power was vested in the
office of the prime minister. W the National Assembly
voted by 125 votes, out of a total of 133, in favour of the draft that the
Kasuri committee had prepared. Even the NAP voted in favour of it,
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although relations between the PPP and it had soured considerably,
especially aﬁer Bhutto dimnssed (he NAP govemment in Balochistan.
The dap y based, in
principle, on a federal division of power be«ween the centre and
provinces; however, the centre continued to enjoy overriding powers
vis-a-vis the provinces.

In ideological terms, the 1973 constitution took some further steps
towards an Islamization of the polity. Besides a reiteration of the clauses
on the removal of all laws repugnant to the Quran and Sunnah, and
bringing existing laws into conformity with the Quran and Sunnah, the
new constitution required that not only the president—as was required
of the 1956 and 1962 constitutions—but also the prime minister were
to be Muslims. Moreover, they were required to take an oath affirming
their belief in the finality of the prophethood of Muhammad (Ahmed
2010: 198). Consequently, the Ahmadiyya issue was debated in the
National Assembly; the head of the mainstream Rabwah group, Mirza
Nasir Ahmad, and his advisers presented their views to parliament. The

record of those p dings remains classified. On 7 September 1974,
the National A bly declared the Ahmadiyya ity non-
Muslims.

Although the Baloch leaders Khair Bakhsh Marri and Mir Ali
Ahmed Talpur did not sign the constitution, Bhutto was sworn in as the
prime minister of the country on 14 August 1973, having secured 108
votes in a house of 146 members. Fazal Ilahi Chaudhry, from Punjab,
was elected as the president under the new constitution. However,
within four hours of the signing of the constitution, the fundamental
rights proclaimed in it were suspended under the Proclamation of
Emergency order that was adopted. It empowered Bhutto ‘to “fix" his
political opponents, have them arrested and incarcerated until they were
tamed, men such as Khair Bakhsh Marri, Ghaus Bakhsh Bizenjo,
Ataullah Mengal and Wall Khan, recalled vetcran Pakistani columni
Ardeshir Cowasjee (Dawn, 10 January 2010).

TN~ —

THE FEDERAL Sscunn'v Force
While i i y d Bhutto created a

paramilitary l’orce—du Federal Security Force ('FSF) that would be
directly under civilian control. Ostensibly, it was to assist the
government deal with smugglers, black marketeers, and other criminal

elements but, in practice, it served as Bhutto's private army. The noted




political scientist Khalid bin Sayeed has described such an urge to
establish personal control over the state as Bonapartism. The
Bonapartist state is one in which a political movement is set in motion
that emphasizes the need for a strong centralized state ruled by a
strongman. Sayeed, arguing that this tendency emerged with Ayub’s
ascent to power but was consummated under Bhutto, has observed:
‘Bhutto was primarily motivated by animus dominandi, that is, the
aggrandizement of his own power, he wanted to control every major
class or interest by weakening its power base and by making it
subservient to his will and power’ (Sayeed 1980: 91).

In any event, some serving and retired senior police officers were
hired to organize and manage the FSF—which was a 15,000-strong
force, equipped with semi-automatic weapons. Many of the activities of
the FSF were of a highhanded type and, in some cases, in stark violation
of the law (Hussain 2010: 189-190). In one infamous case, FSF goons
were involved in seriously assaulting a founder member of the PPP, . A.
Rahim, and his son. They were badly beaten up; the son suffered
fractured limbs. Over time, Bhutto became surrounded by sycophants
while many left-leaning and di ic-minded senior bers of his
party either left the cabinet or were sidelined (Chishti 1996: 84-7).

MILITARY ACTION IN BALOCHISTAN

Although the PPP had the majority of the seats in the National
Assembly, it had won majorities in only two provinces—Punjab and
Sindh. In March 1972, Bhutto reached an agreement with the NAP and
the Jamiat-e-Ulema-e-Islam (JUI)—a Deobandi political party—under
which a NAP-JUIL col.lmon gwemmem wu formed in the NWFP, and
a NAP g in B g to Gul Hassan Khan,
Bhutto had not reached the understanding in good faith and started
‘undermining the governments in the NWFP and Balochistan by
intrigue and other repugnant methods, to replace them with those of
his own party’ (Khan 1993: 377). In any event, in February 1973, the
Pakistan government claimed to have detected a cache of arms
concealed in a diplomatic shipment to the Iraqi embassy in Islamabad.
At that time, Baloch guerrillas were involved in skirmishes with the
Pakistan Army in the Pat Feeder area—an agricultural oasis surrounded
by the vast and desolate terrain of the province. Bhutto declared the
capture of arms, and the armed conflict in Balochistan, as yet another
conspiracy against Pakistan.
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He alleged that the Baloch sardars had failed ‘to take effective
measures to check large scale disturbances in different parts of the
province .  causing a growing sense of insecurity among the
inhabitants and grave menace to the peace and tranquillity of the
Province’ (Nawaz 2008: 333). The Balochistan government was removed
from office on 12 February 1973, under the pretext that it had exceeded
its constitutional authority and that it had been involved in a conspiracy
to begin an armed rebellion. The Pakistan Army was ordered to go in
to establish law and order, and undertake modernizing measures such
as the building of roads and schools and the provision of electricity.

Prominent sardars who held office in the NAP government in

Balochistan, or were sympathetic to it, were taken into custody, charged
with treason, and later put on trial. The governor of Sindh, Mir Rasul
Baksh Talpur, a Sindhi like Bhutto and considered close to him, also
had to resign as his brother, Mir Ali Ahmed Talpur, was suspected of
being involved in the Balochistan resistance movement. The first
skirmish occurred on 18 May 1973 at Tandoori near Sibi: eight Sibi
Scouts were killed; and the army moved into the Marri area on 21 May.
Later, the conflict escalated as the families of the fighters shifted to
Afghanistan while the men stayed behind to carry on with the armed
resistance (Interview, Mir Muhammad Ali Talpur). Some young men
from Punjab, inspired by Marxist ideas while studying at Cambridge
University, also took part in the insurgency. The response of the
Pakistan military was firm and ruthless. It launched a major military
operation against the insurgents. Iran provided generous help of $200
million in emergency military and financial aid, and despatched Huey
Cobra helicopters to assist the Pakistanis (Harrison 1981: 36).
On the other hand, the Baloch fighters found sanctuary in
Afghanistan from where they launched surprise attacks on the army. At
its Mlght the conflict involved more than 80,000 Pakistani troops and
at least 35,000 Baloch guerrillas. According to one estimate, some 5300
Baloch were killed or wounded. There were 3300 army casualties (Khan
1983: 71). Some army sources deny that the military operation was
conducted on such a large scale, or that so many Baloch took part in
the armed struggle. In any event, fighting continued throughout
Bhutto’s stint in power. The major fallout of the military confrontation
in Balochistan was that it brought the military back into politics, with
direct responsibility to ensure Pakistan's territorial integrity.




BAN ON THE NAP AND ARREST OF PAKHTUN LEADERS
Although the NAP g in Balochistan had been di d, its
leaders arrested, and military action ordered against the Baloch
insurgents, the NAP-JUI government remained in power amid rising
tensions in the NWFP. Partly, the tension was an effect of the overthrow
of King Zahir Shah of Afghanistan, in 1973, in a coup engineered by
his cousin, Sardar Daud Khan. Daud was known for his pro-Soviet
leanings. He revived the Pakhtunistan issue and challenged the legality
of the Durand Line as the border between Afghanistan and Pakistan.
Pakistani intellig sources suspected that such p ing would have
destabilizing repercussions on their side of the disputed border. Bhutto
responded by ordering the military to take appropriate measures to
counter hostile Afghan propaganda.

Those measures included support for conservative Afghan forces
opposed to the new government in Kabul. As part of a long term
engagement in Afghanistan, the future legendary SSG officer, Sultan
Amir Tarar alias Colonel Imam, who played a prominent role in the
anti-communist jihad of the 1980s, was sent to the United States in 1973
to receive training with the United States Army Special Forces. He told
me that the decision to destabilize Afghanistan had been taken by the
Bhutto regime, in the event that Daud continued with his pro-
Pakhtunistan pronouncements (Interview, Colonel Imam). Moreover,
Bhutto was convinced that Wali Khan and other Pakhtun nationalists
were secretly in alliance with Daud. Major General Naseerullah Babar
has written that Bhutto began to support anti-Daud Afghans in 1973.
They were given basic infantry weapons and trai ing to conduct
guerrilla warfare under an SSG team. This was done in total secrecy—
only Bhutto, Aziz Ahmed, COAS General Tikka Khan, and Major
General Babar knew about it (Amin 2001).

On the other hand, Wali Khan had begun to distance himself from
the legacy of his father, Abdul Ghaffar Khan, whose pro-Congress
credentials and opposition to the partition of lndn were seen by Mm
as a liability and, thus, a drawback to his ambi of b
mainstream Pakistani nationalist. In a surprise move, the NAP-| lUl
government decided to use Urdu, and not Pushto, as the medium of

ion in NWFP. Wali Khan embarked on a strategy of
extending his support and influence in Punjab. Bhutto found such a
strategy disturbing. On 23 March 1973, as Wali Khan addressed a public
meeting in Rawalpindi’s historic Liaquat Bagh, it was attacked by armed
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gunmen who opened fire resulting in the death of a dozen people and
many more wounded. It was widely believed that the outrage had been
carried out by the FSF. Wali Khan narrowly escaped a bullet during the
attack (Mazari 2001: 296-7; Wali 2003: 2). This attack greatly infuriated
the Pakhtuns who wanted to launch a huge agitation in the NWFP
capital, Peshawar. However, Wali Khan decided not to court direct
confrontation with the central government and stopped the agitation
from taking place.

Moreover, on 21 April 1973, when the new constitution was put to
the vote, Wali Khan and his party members and allies voted in favour
of the constitution despite some reservations on provincial autonomy
and the concentration of power in the office of the prime minister. Wali
Khan, with the support of all the oppositional parties in the National
Assembly, was elected the leader of the opposition. Such overtures
obviated an immediate clash between thelrParties for the time being.
When Hayat Muhammad Khan Sherpao, the governor of NWFP and a
close ally of Bhutto, was assassinated on 8 February 1975 in a bomb
blast, Bhutto held Wali Khan and the NAP responsible for that crime.
‘Wali Khan, and most of the senior leadership of the NAP, were arrested.
They were put on trial before the same Hyderabad tribunal that was
trying the Baloch leaders. The trials dragged on for years and were
considered a farce (Newburg 2002: 146-150). The Baloch and Pakhtun
leaders remained in incarceration while Bhutto was in power.

FAILED CoUuP ATTEMPT

Ever since he had come into power, resentment against Bhutto had been
simmering among some junior and middle-ranking army and air force
officers. The fact that he had retired Yahya and his close associates, but
retained many senior commanders who were involved in the East
Pakistan debacle including Tikka Khan, was viewed with dismay. Their
dissatisfaction grew, over the months, as the reform policies unfolded.
In 1972, Bhutto retired Brigadier F.B. Ali, who had taken the lead in the
officers’ agitation that resulted in Yahya Khan and his ilk stepping down.
That added to the frustration of the brigadier's admirers in the armed
forces. The creation of the FSF convinced them that Bhutto was on the
way to lidating a personal authoritarian rule and d hi

Consequently, they began to meet to discuss the situation, but were
penetrated by military intelligence and the plot was foiled, resulting in
the arrests of several officers on 30 March 1973 (Nawaz 2008: 336).




The arrested men were put on trial in Attock Fort. Bhutto selected
Major General Muhammad Zia-ul-Hagq to head the military tribunal to
try the alleged conspirators. Zia had come to Bhutto's notice when the
latter had visited Multan. App ly, he had been imp d by Zia's
modesty and lack of ambition! Also, while serving with the Jordanian
Royal Army, Zia had distinguished himself by crushing the Black
September Uprising of 1970. In any case, the plotters were subjected to
a thorough investigation. The trial, on the whole, was fair. Those
convicted were sentenced and sent out to different prisons. The
government was keen to keep them dispersed and to discourage them
from receiving visitors easily. As a balancing gesture, Bhutto undertook
a set of measures purported to appease the military—for example, he
increased their pay scale and permitted the army to expand its

i defence expenditure was il d, in nominal
terms, from Rs 3725 million in 1971-2 to Rs 8210 million in 1976-7
(Nawaz 2008: 339-43).

CONSOLIDATING His RULE

The diverse range of activities that Bhutto initiated were augmented by
a number of moves to enhance control over the civil and military
oligarchy—for example, guarantees to civil servants against dismissal
from office were removed. Consequently, the axe fell on some 1300
bureaucrats who were sent into retirement or dismissed on charges of
corruption (Yusuf 1999: 146). On the other hand, the government tried
to induct its own men into the administration through the ‘lateral entry'
procedure, whereby the Establishment Division headed by a Bhutto
loyalist, Vigar Ahmed, could induct officers through far less vigorous
recruitment procedures than those applied to the Central Superior
Services examination. As a result, during 1973-77, 1374 officers were
recruited through lateral entry (Burki 1980: 102). With regard to the
military, the new itution invested the prerogative to appoint the
three service chiefs, as well as the COAS, in the prime minister. The
constitution explicitly forbade military takeovers by describing any such
move as high treason, and prescribed the death sentence for any such
act. However, Bhutto was cautious as only forty-three senior officers
were retired (Yusuf 1999: 144). Among those were six from the air force
(Shafqat 1997: 175).
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DIVERSIFICATION OF PAKISTAN'S EXTERNAL
SUPPORT BASE

Z.A. Bhutto was undoubtedly the architect of Pakistan’s foreign policy
reorientation in the 1960s—from the nearly complete dependence on
the United States to the building of relationships with other major
players of which China was the most important. He had spelt out such
ideas in his major work, The Myth of Independence (1969). In it, he had
justified the right of developing nations to exercise sovereignty and to
make foreign policy decisions in light of their objective self-interest.
Bhutto presented a widely shared Pakistani point of view that, in spite
of Indias rejection of the United States’ overtures to join the western
camp, the United States always meted out preferential treatment to
India. Such policy adversely affected the national security of Pakistan.
The US arms embargo placed on India and Pakistan in 1965 hurt
Pakistan more because only Pakistan relied heavily on American arms
(Bhutto 1969: 2-3). Such a decision, he asserted, whittled down the
importance of the military alliance between the United States and
Pakistan to a mere formality.

He prepared a strong brief for a Sino- Pakistan alliance, arguing that
China—and not the Soviet Union—was going to be the main rival of
the United States in the future, as Asia became increasingly more
important. A strong Sino-Pakistan alliance would also be an effective
counterweight to India's expansionist designs, backed by an incessant
urge to isolate and weaken Pakistan and to deny it the right to Jammu
and Kashmir. Therefore, Bhutto urged that Pakistan should not be lured
by promises of joint business ventures and cooperation with India as
long as the Kashmir dispute was not settled (ibid., 176-84).

Bhutto’s emergence, as the most powerful man in Pakistani politics,
was viewed with some anxiety by the White House. However, before
leaving the United States having attended the US Security Council
session In December 1971, Bhutto had met Nixon and senior officials.
He had told the American president that Pakistan was ‘completely in
the debt of the United States during the recent trying months’ (Kux
2001: 204), Further, he assured them that although he was called a
‘Yankee hater, he wanted to establish good relations with the United
States. Nixon's response was equally warm. He assured Bhutto that he
would do everything within his power to help Pakistan but that, because
of congressional opposition, it could not be in the form of military aid;
it would be economic and development aid (ibid.). An American




diplomat who met Bhutto on 7 January 1972, after he had nationalizec
the major heavy industries and when the here was charged with
revolutionary fervour, recorded that Bhutto assured him that he was no
anti-American; that the US was the greatest power his own daughte:
was studying in the US, and so on. He went on to say that he was neithe!
anti-Soviet nor anti-Indian. The American noted that, some days earlier
Bhutto had told the Canadian High Commissioner to Pakistan that he
had been elected on a platform that called for ‘confrontation with Indiz
and that he was guided accordingly’ (Aijazuddin 2002: 125).
Subsequently, Bhutto toned down his radicalism, and his anti-
imperialist rhetoric and utterances on the United States became more
benign. In meetings with the Americans, Bhutto lauded the help that
the US had rendered to Pakistan by issuing an ultimatum to India in
1971 not to attack West Pakistan (Jain 2007a: 90). The Americans noted
that Bhutto's refrain continued to be one of India exploiting Pakistan's
weaknesses. For their part, the Americans reiterated that they were
committed to the preservation of Pakistan's integrity and sovereignty.
In March 1973, Nixon released $24 million worth of military equipment
that had been blocked since 1971, and reinstated the 1967 arms-supply
pollcy that enabled Pakistan to procure spare parts and non-lethal
p for weapons previously supplied to it (Kux 2001: 209).
Bhutto also sought US help in constructing a new port at Gwadar, on
the Arabian Sea coast in Balochistan, saying that the US Navy could use
the facility. Nixon did not show much interest as the United States did
not want to upset the Soviet Union and India. Interestingly, this idea
was supported by the Chinese—when Kissinger visited China in
November 1973 (ibid., 211).

LAHORE ISLAMIC SUMMIT AND INDIAN NUCLEAR
ExpLOSION

In February 1974, Bhutto invited Muslim heads of state and
governments, as well as leaders of liberation movements, to Pakistan to
attend an Islamic Summit in the historic city of Lahore. Almost all of
them came, including the PLO leader, Yasser Arafat. Sheikh Mujibur
Rahman also attended, much to the chagrin of Indira Gandhi—but this
gave the message that the separation of East Pakistan was complete and
relations between Bangladesh and Pakistan could normalize. In his
address to the dignitaries, Bhutto waxed eloquently when he described
the ‘Pakistan Army as the Army of Islam’ (Hilaly 26 March 2011).
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Solidarity with the Palestinians, and bringing Israeli occupation of
Jerusalem to an end, were declared the cornerstones of his government's
policy (Beg 1974). Such flourish meant that Pakistan could take up
cudgels on behalf of the universal Muslim Umma. The Islamic Summit
was a grand exercise in national projection by Bhutto. It greatly
exaggerated Pakistan's military capabilities, but was consistent with
carlier examples of Pakistani leaders marketing their state and nation
to foreign powers in the hope that such services would return dividends
in the form of economic and military aid.

Pakistan's sense of insecurity was greatly accentuated when, in May
1974, India exploded a nuclear device. According to a secret State
Department report dated 14 January 1972—quoted by the Indian

The Asian Ti; Nixon's tilt towards Pakistan, and the
US—CInna liaison facilitated by Pakistan, had apparently caused concern
in New Delhi; and, its decision to carry out the nuclear test was
motivated by that sense of insecurity (The Asian Age, 6 December 2011).
Pakistan had, since 1956, been pursuing a peaceful nuclear programme
and several facilities had been set up. Uranium deposits had also been
discovered in southern Punjab. In March 1965, Bhutto was reported to
have said to a British journalist, of the Manchester Guardian, that if
India were to acquire nuclear capability ‘then we should have to eat
grass and get one, or buy one, of our own’ (Nawaz 2008: 340).

President Gerald Ford—who succeeded Nixon after the latter had to
resign office because of the Watergate scandal—continued with his
predecessor’s policy vis-a-vis Pakistan, assuring his country’s support
for Pakistan's integrity but without making any major effort to lift the
arms embargo. This position was particularly unacceptable to Pakistan
once India had carried out the nuclear test. Subsequently, the Americans
were persuaded to lift the arms embargo, but this applied to both India
and Pakistan. The lifting was announced on 24 Febr\lary 1975 when
Bhutto visited hi The Ford admini hasized that
the sales would be made on a case-to-case basis and that efforts would
be made to avoid stimulating an arms race between the two rivals. It
was noted, however, that India had been acquiring weapons, on a large
scale, from the Soviet Union while Pakistan had mainly received
armament from China, albeit on a relatively smaller scale (Jain 2007a:
321-2). During a press conference on 10 March, Bhutto recalled that
Pakistan had two treaties with the United States—1954 and 1959—
which obliged the United States to provide arms to Pakistan. However,
the lifting of the embargo enabled Pakistan to buy weapons on a case-




to-case basis only and not receive them gratis,
treaties (ibid., 322).

THE KAHUTA NUCLEAR FacILITY

The first major step towards the development of a nuclear bomb was a
meeting in Multan, in January 1972, to which the government invited
leading Pakistani scientists including future Nobel Laureate Abdus
Salam. In his highly emotive address to them, Bhutto challenged them
to build a nuclear bomb. That started the ball rolling. Pakistan sought
financial support from Libya and Saudi Arabia, and possibly also Iran
(Nawaz 2008: 340-41). American officials started worrying about
Pakistan’s nuclear ambitions, which began to be described as an ‘Islamic
bomb. A State Department briefing paper dated 31 January 1975
expressed the view that Pakistan was ‘trying to acquire an independent
nuclear fuel cycle and the technical skills that would make the nuclear
weapon explosion option feasible’ (Kux 2001: 219). Pakistan, however,
went ahead and signed a deal to purchase an advanced French nuclear
processing plant. Dr Abdul Qadeer Khan, a metallurgist and the so-
called ‘father of the Pakistani nuclear bomb, had been in contact with
Bhutto for some time and returned from the Netherlands in 1975. In
1976, he joined the team that had been deputed the task of developing
the nuclear weapon. The Pakistan military, initially, was not involved in
the nuclear weapons programme but Zia, who had been promoted to
COAS in March 1976, was told by Bhutto that the army should assist
in building an enrichment plant at Kahuta near Islamabad. Zia assigned
that task to Brigadier Zahid Ali Akbar. A.Q. Khan had successfully
brought, with him, enrichment centrifuges from the Dutch laboratory;
work on constructing the bomb began in real earnest. Apparently, there
was considerable friction between A.Q. Khan and the Pakistan Atomic
Energy Commission's scientists. On Brigadier Akbar’s strong pleas, the
matter was resolved by making the Kahuta operation autonomous; A.Q.
Khan was put in charge of it. In any case, thenceforth, the army was
closely involved in providing it with security and monitoring its
activities (Nawaz 2008: 340-2).

Sensing that something was afoot on the nuclear front, Kissinger paid
a number of visits to Pakistan to dissuade Pakistan from going ahead
with the building of a nuclear bomb. Such trips bore offers of military
aid—in terms of advanced aircraft and other equipment—as well as
warnings that economic aid would be cut off if Pakistan persisted with
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its nuclear ambitions. This threat was concretized with amendments
proposed by the Democratic senators John Glenn and Stuart Symington,
to the US foreign assistance bill, that barred assistance to non-NPT
(Nnclear Non-Proliferation Treaty) signatori lhal imported i

h or nuclear fuel rep i h . Kissinger warned
that, in light of the amendment, economic aid to Pakistan could be cut
off. Bhutto and his senior advisers, however, remained steadfast in their
resolve not to give in to US pressure (Kux 2001: 221-6).

THE FALL OoF BHUTTO

In 1976, Bhutto began to plan a general election in 1977. According to
the terms of the 1973 constitution, it was not due till 1978 but Bhutto
felt confident and secure and wanted to cash in on the popularity he
ived he enjoyed. M hile, the opposition had begun to close
ranks to :ollmnv:ly challenge a government it loathed and feared. On
7 January 1977, the government announced that general elections would
be held in two months’ time, on 7 March. The PPP declared, in its
election manifesto, that, among other things, teaching of the Quran
would be a pulsory subject of basic ed: Sixteen th
plots would be allotted, gratis, to workers every year and productivity
would be increased by 50 per cent (Chishti 1996: 79). Immediately, the
very next day, several opposition parties banded together to form the
Pakistan National Alliance (PNA). Although the PNA consisted of
parties of all shades, it was essentially a right-wing Islamist alliance and
included major players such as the Jamaat-e-Islami, the Deobandi
Jamiat-e-Ulema-e-Islam, and the Barelvi Jamiat Ulema-e-Pakistan. They
clamoured for the so-called Nizam-e-Mustafa, or Islamist state from the
time of Prophet Muhammad (pBUH) and his pious successors. The
former National Awami Party (NAP), banned by Bhutto, changed its
name to National Democratic Party and joined the PNA. Another
important player was the Tehrik-e-Istiglal, led by former Air Marshal
Asghar Khan. Relations between Bhutto and Asghar Khan had
deteriorated over the years. Although they had briefly been together
during the anti- Ayub movement, they became arch rivals later. Asghar
Khan always maintained that Bhutto bore a major portion of the blame
for the loss of East Pakistan. On 23 January 1977, Asghar Khan said
that, after coming into power, the PNA would try those responsible for
the dismemberment of Pakistan (Chishti 1996: 79). Obviously, such a
threat was directed not only at Yahya and his clique but also at Bhutto.




On the other hand, Bhutto was notorious for ndlculin; and even
using abusive language against his opp g Asghar Khan.
Former Inspector General Police and Special Imelhgem:e Adviser to
Bhutto, Rao Abdur Rashid, has alleged that Asghar Khan also used
abusive language against Bhutto, and was the first to mention that he
would see to it that Bhutto was hanged (Raslnd 2010: 177). In any case,
the election campai d into a bitter and violent
confrontation. The o opposmon look recourse to the notorious bogey of
the Palusun movement: that ‘Islam was in danger The PPP retaliated
by d g the opposition as a collection of useless men serving
vested interests.

The election results revealed that the PPP won 154 out of the 200
seats, while the PNA secured only 36 seats. Initially, the PNA claimed
that rigging had taken place at 15 seats, but later increased that figure
to 20 and ﬁnllly lo 40. and declared that the newly-elected PPP

was C ly, the PNA b d the
provmcul elections that followed on 10 March, and dnmed that the
PPP had resorted to bogus voting (Chishti 1996: 88). The Jamaat-e-
Islami’s supreme leader, Maulana Maududi, gave a call for Bhutto's
overthrow, which was followed by a display of street power and violent
clashes that took place in many parts of the country between the PNA,
PPP supporters, and the police. The Islamists, in particular, targeted
Lahores cinemas and set many ablaze; their calls for Nizam-e-Mustafa
were raised loud and shrill. The PNA seemed deter ined to bring the
government down.

The massive demonstrations and agitations rudely shook the
overconfident and triumphant Bhutto. On 21 April, the government
clamped martial law on Karachi, Hyderabad, and Lahore, followed by
press censorship. Apparently, the military high command had been
consulted and gave Bhutto their backing. That temporarily dampened
the PNA' resolve to bring the government down through agitation and
strikes. However, Asghar Khan took the view that the opposition should
try to lobby the support of the ruling generals; many retired military
commanders, including Gul Hassan and Rahim Khan, were drafted into
this role (Taseer 1979: 172-3). This was followed by the opposition
calling on General Zia to present their grievances. At that stage, Bhutto
also started alleging that the United States was involved in a plot to oust
him. Dennis Kux has observed:
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During an emotional address in the National Assembly on April 28, 1977,
the prime minister charged that the United States was financing a ‘vast,
colossal, huge international conspiracy’ to oust him from power. Bhutto
alleged that Washington was punishing him for opposing US Vietnam policy,
for backing the Arab cause against Israel, and for refusing to bow to
‘Washington's pressure on the nuclear processing issue (Kux 2001: 230).

In any event, things began to get out of control for the government.
When the agitators took out a procession in Lahore, in defiance of the
martial law, the military refused to intervene. It was the police that used
teargas to disperse them. In some other parts of the country, as well,
local military commanders refused to take determined action (Khan
2008: 93). In a state of panic, Bhutto made further concessions to
demands for the enforcement of Islam. Thus, instead of Sunday, Friday
was declared as the day of rest. A ban was imposed on the sale and
consumption of alcohol, as well as on gambling.

Bhutto offered to hold talks with PNA leaders and went to meet
Maududi at his home in Lahore. This was followed by further talks with
other PNA leaders but, by 4 July, it became clear that a political impasse
had taken place (Mazari 2001: 476). Finally, on 5 July 1977, the military
staged a coup on the orders of General Muhammad Zia-ul-Haq. One
of the key players instrumental in taking the decision to overthrow
Bhutto, Lieutenant General Faiz Ali Chishti, corps commander of
Rawalpindi, denied that any agreement had been reached between the
government and the opposition. He justified the military takeover as
imperative to saving the country from civil war:

Had Mr Bhutto signed the peace agreement with the PNA, there would have
been no coup détat. . . . Our task was 1o separate the rival parties and to take
the political leaders into protective custody. . .. Gen Zia did not come to
power through a conspiracy. He was sucked in by circumstances. And in the
final analysis Mr Bhutto was himself responsible for bringing General Zia
into power (Chishti 1996: 134).

In any case, Bhutto and members of his cabinet were arrested; senior
PPP and PNA leaders were also deumed Zia :nnoumd that martial
law had been imposed, the d, all bl

dissolved, and promised that elections would be held within 90 days.
He then ordered the release of Bhutto and the other leaders. On 29 July,
Bhutto was released and headed for his hometown of Larkana where he
received a rousing welcome. Instead of lying low, he decided to tour




across Pakistan. His meetings attracted mammoth crowds as people
lined up along the railway line to welcome him. The response in Lahore,
the Punjab capital, was massive. One of the witnesses at the Lahore
gathering, Ahmed Fagqih, remembers hearing Bhutto say that there was
no reason to worry. While August and September belonged to the
military government and its PNA collaborators, October would mark
the return of the PPP as elections would prove that it enjoyed the trust
of the people. Things came to a head when Bhutto visited Multan, in
southern Punjab. The administration tried, in vain, to prevent a huge
gathering. Disorder and tumult followed. Moreover, Bhutto had behaved
rudely with General Zia when they met after the coup; his wife, Nusrat
Bhutto, had displayed similar hostility towards him (Taseer 1979:
173-5). Bhutto was re-arrested on 3 September, this time accused of
authorizing the murder of a political opponent in March 1974. In the
actual ambush, allegedly ordered by Bhutto, the father of the target,
Ahmed Raza Kasuri, once a PPP stalwart, was killed (Khan 2008: 119).
General Zia now began to describe Bhutto as a ‘murderer and corrupt
villain' (Taseer 1979: 173).

However, things, took a dramatic turn when, 10 days later, a Lahore
High Court judge, Justice Samdani, threw out the case against Bhutto
on the grounds that the evidence against him was contradictory and
incomplete. Three days later, Zia arrested Bhutto again on the same
charges, this time under martial law. When the PPP organized
demonstrations, Zia exploited the volatile situation to cancel the
upcoming elections. Thereafter, a ‘judicial process’ followed that seemed
determined to prove Bhutto guilty. Ironically, Masood Mahmood,
director general of the FSF, testified against Bhutto asserting that Bhutto
had ordered Kasuri's assassination and that four members of the Federal
Security Force had organized the assassination on Bhutto's orders. The
four alleged confessed to their role but one of them later recanted,

g that his had been from him under
torture. The counter-evidence and arguments put forth by the defence
were ignored, and not even recorded in the verdict that declared him
to be the ind in the pi to i Kasuri—but
which, instead, resulted in the death of his father, Nawab Muhammad
Khan Kasuri.

The five judges’ bench of the Lahore High Court passed a death
sentence on Bhutto. An appeal in the Pakistan Supreme Court resulted
in a split 4-to-3 majority decision upholding the death sentence. On 24
March 1979, the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal. The four judges
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who had found him guilty were Punjabis, while the three who wanted
to acquit him were non-Punjabis. Bhutto was hanged at the Central Jail,
Rawalpindi, on 4 April 1979. No great agitation or popular uprising
broke out, to protest the hanging of Pakistan’s only democratically-
elected prime minister, partly because the martial law regime had
successfully repressed the PPP by then and partly because many of his
close associates had cither left the party in frustration or been compelled
to leave or been thrown out.

Conspiracy theories about what brought Bhutto down are legion. In
his book, If I am Assassinated (l979)—wml¢n while in prison and

led out and published ly in India—Bhutto asserted
that General Zia lmlully admmed to the Newsweek, BBC, and UPI that
the prime minister ‘did sincerely attempt to reach an agreement with
the opposition. In fact what Mr Bhutto agreed to was probably the
maximum that any politician could agree to’ (Bhutto 1979: 4). Bhutto
refuted the White Paper, later published by the martial law regime on
25 July 1978, alleging that a serious law and order situation had
emerged, threatening the security and integrity of the country, because
of a deadlock in the negotiations between his government and the
opposition. Instead, he claimed that an agreement had been reached
with the PNA on 4 July, and only minor points needed to be sorted out
the next day, when the military staged the coup (ibid.). He went on to
allege that the military had been planning the coup for quite some time;
also, not only had Pakistani capitalists, but also foreign powers, funded
the PNA campaign against him—and that the funds from the external
sources were far greater. He obliquely alluded to American involvement—
as a consequence of his defiance of the US by going ahead and acquiring
the nuclear processing plant.

In fact, during the height of the PNA movement, the PPP had begun
to allege that the United States was backing the opposition and millions
of dollars had been brought in in sacks and distributed to the miscreants
(Rashid 2010: 176-7). This impelled the US Secretary of State, Cyrus
Vance, to write a letter to Bhutto dated 29 April 1977 in which he
categorically refuted such charges. Among other things, he wrote, ‘We
have given no assistance, financial or otherwise, to any political
organization or individuals in Pakistan’ (Jain 2007a: 97). In any case,
according to Bhutto, the key villain in the alleged conspiracy against
him was Mian Tufail Muhammad of the Jamaat-e-Islami who was in
close contact with General Zia (Bhutto 1979: 169~72). The rest of the




book is an attempt to account for his indefatigable commitment to make
Pakistan self-reliant and militarily strong.

The weakness in the chain of arguments is that Bhutto does not
explain why the military first set him free, if a conspiracy to get rid of
him had existed for some time. Also, he does not explain why the
military would be party to some foreign hand’s attempt to punish Bhutto
for acquiring the reprocessing plant. It is more likely that the conspiracy
to get rid of him began to take form only after he started to tour the
country and pulled mammoth crowds to his gatherings.
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General Zia Braces the Fortress
of Islam

The military returned to the political domain after six and a half years
of a hectic civilian rule that had been democratic, authoritarian,
populist, and vindictive. While he had been in power, Bhutto had
dominated the political arena virtually all by himself. But, the India-
centric orientation of the Pakistani state remained unchanged. In fact,
Bhutto had taken a number of measures to bolster the doctrine that a
credible defence against the much bigger foe on the eastern front was
imperative to Pakistan's survival. It is needless to emphasize that such
a conviction enjoyed an upsurge after the breakup of Pakistan—which
the Pakistani establishment found expedient to ascribe entirely to India’s
nefarious designs. H no military confi ion took place
between the two countries during Bhutto's time in office. On the
contrary, the Simla Agreement and the return of the Pakistani POWs
helped defuse tensions. Both Z.A. Bhutto and Indira Gandhi were
constrained, by challenges to their governments from domestic
opposition, to turn inwards.

Zia inherited a highly volatile Pakistan, and his immediate concern
was to establish his hold over the political process. He had overthrown
an elected, though beleaguered, prime minister whose popularity had
plummeted during the PNA movement post-March 1977, but then
displayed a dramatic surge when he was released on 29 July and
remained free till he was rearrested on 3 September—on the charge of
ordering a political opponent’s murder. If anything, Pakistan was a
profoundly polarized society and Zia had to develop tactics and a
strategy that would ensure the military government's continuance.
Slmullaneously. more |han any other ruler of Pakistan, he was

dto and lidating the t tion theory—
not merely as an identity concern to dlslmg\nsh Pakistan from India,
but as an ambitious ideological enterprise in its own right. To achieve




such objectives, h d the ideological and cultural indoctrination
of dwe military—as an Islamic fighting force armed with armament that

d its defensive and offensive capabilities to deal with India. Such
undertakings took place while Zia sought transformative nation and
state building.

THE IMMEDIATE Pou-ncu. CHALLENGES

Zia began by b i he 1973 itution. He
promised to hold fue md fair elections within 90 days, and hand power
over to the elected representatives of the people. Martial law was
imposed throughout the country. As political parties were not banned,
they began to prepare for the forthcoming elections in October.
However, Zia changed course and began to argue that he had discovered
gross irregularities that had been committed by the PPP regime. This
stand received support from the PNA, especially Asghar Khan. The
dramatic revival of support for Z.A. Bhutto most probably convinced
the PNA politicians that they stood no chance in a free and fair election,
and so started a chorus with the refrain that those responsible for the
misuse of power should be held accountable before the holding of fresh
elections (Baxter 1991: 31).

On 1 March 1978, the government went a step further by banning
political activities, but not political parties. Several pro-PPP newspapers
were closed down. Journalists who dared write critical comments were
severely punished, including obscene public whippings. Writers, poets,
and intellectuals were penalized in a brutal manner (Bhutto 2010:
200-2). In any case, the government declared that general elections
would be held in 1979. Severll PNA parties, including the Muslim
League and the J; t , permitted their bers to join the
cabinet.

In a BBC interview given the day his father was hanged, Murtaza
Bhutto pledged to avenge his father’s death; the organization,
Al-Zulfikar, was formed and its bases established in neighbouring
Afghanistan. In 1981, Al-Zulfikar cadres hijacked a PIA airliner. An
army officer, Major Shahid Rahim, who was on board the flight was
killed before it landed at Kabul. It was then allowed to proceed to the
Syrian capital, Damascus, where the Syrians allowed the hijackers to
land. The drama came to an end on 15 March. Zia agreed to release
fifty-four PPP men in jail, while the plane was allowed to return to
Pakistan.




Several other operations, includi de attacks on g
functionaries and collaborators of Zia, were carried out in Pakistan.
Some assassination attempts were also made on Zia, including the firing
of a Soviet-origin SAM 7 at a PAF plane carrying Zia in February 1982.
The Indian spy agency, RAW, was allegedly involved in a plan
(originating in London) aimed at liquidating Zia. Its ringleader and
other operatives were arrested in Lahore when they arrived to take
delivery of the weapons that RAW was to provide. Pakistan alleged that
Al-Zulfikar had set up training camps in India and Libya as well as
Afghanistan; it was also allegedly assisted by the Soviet Union and Syria
(Hussain 2010: 270-2).

Al-Zulfikar, however, failed to establish a popular base in Pakistani
society and so was unable to set in motion any sort of popular resistance
or revolution that would cause a major societal upheaval. Moreover, in
the two provinces that had historically always had bad relations with
the federal government, the martial law regime enjoyed goodwill among
the Pakhtun and Baloch leaders—while Bhutto had jailed them, it was
Zia who released them. Local bodies elections were held in September
1979, but on a non-party basis. That was to become a matter of principle
for Zia, who believed that political parties were divisive and against the

based political traditi of Islam (ibid., 273).

Neven.hcleu, a Iurge munber of pro-PPP candidates were elected. The

Y P ing the national and provincial

ammhlm elecuons ulleduled for 17 and 20 November 1979, once

again invoking the need to maintain law and order. Additionally, parties
were also banned.

Nusrat Bhutto had appealed to the Supreme Court against the
proclamation of martial law. The Supreme Court ruled that the martial
law regime could ‘perform all such acts and promulgate legislative
measure, which fell within the scope of the law of necessity, including
the power to amend the Constitution’ (quoted in Baxter 1991: 34).
While Zia's opponents saw it as supportive of the martial law
government, the Zia regime was irked as it perceived it as an attempt
to decide whether a measure was or was not within the scope of dle Iaw
of necessity. C ly, Zia p d the Prc
Order of 1980, which removed that possibility by excluding all martial
law actions from the jurisdiction of the courts. In future, laws and
decrees issued by the military government could not be reviewed by any
court. This assertion was overruled by the Quetta High Court. The
government responded by issuing the Provincial Constitution Order of




GENERAL ZIA BRACES THE FORTRESS OF ISLAM

1981, which supplemented the 1980 Order by requiring the judges of
the Supreme and high courts to take an oath to ‘act faithfully in
d with the Provisional Constitution Order of 1981 and abide
by it’ (quoted in Baxter 1991: 34). Some judges resigned in protest but
others accepted the new rules. The net result was that the subordination
of the court system, to the martial law system, was fully consummated.
Although political parties had already been banned, the PPP and
several smaller parties formed the Movement for the Restoration of
Democracy (MRD) in February 1981. Its main mission was to work
towards the ending of martial law and for holding free elections in
d: with the suspended 1973 itution. MRD activism was,
at that time, largely confined to Sindh though some agitation had also
taken place in Punjab. The government retaliated with full fury. Labour
unions were banned and trade union activists rounded up. In particular,
suspected Al-Zulfikar activists and sympalhlurs were hunted down all
over Pakistan. Torture was C ly, the
movement in Sindh, as well as elsewhere, collapscd under the full
weight of state repression. Some 300 Sindhis died in the police and
military operations (Kardar 1992: 313; Khan 1983: 168-70). The only
parts of Sindh that remained passive were the Mohajir strongholds of
Karachi and Hyderabad.

Having crushed the MRD movement, General Zia arranged a
referendum in 1984 on the Islamic character of Pakistan. The people
were asked to vote on whether the people endorsed the process of
Islamization of laws begun by the government. The government claimed
a turnout of 64 per cent, of which 96 per cent were reported to have
voted in favour of General Zias reforms. However, international news
agencies such as Reuters and the Manchester Guardian reported the
turnout to be as low as 10 per cent (Bhutto 2008a: 270). Next, in January
1985, Zia called for national elections. However, the candidates had to
contest as private individuals. In the absence of political parties, ethnic
ties such as those based on biradari (patrimonial lineages), sect, tribe,
and other such particularistic differences became the basis for vote-
gathering (Mehdi 1988: 31). Zia appointed, from amongst the elected
members of the National Assembly, a relatively unknown Sindhi,
Mohammad Khan Junejo, as prime minister.

After handing over power to Junejo, Zia lifted martial law and got
the new legislature to retroactively accept all his actions of the past eight
years, including his coup in 1977. More importantly, he armed himself
with the itutional authority to d the political system




through several amendments to the constitution, most notably the
Eighth Amendment. Article 58 2(b) conferred powers on the president
to dissolve the lower house of parliament, the National Assembly—
though not the upper house, the Senate—if, in his opinion, ‘a situation
has arisen in which the Government of the Federation cannot be carried
onin d with the provisions of the Constitution and an appeal
to the electorate is necessary’

THE MQM AND ISI

ith ding such lati Zia inued to worry about the
volatile Sindh provmce Edlmc tensions between the indigenous Sindhis
and Urdu-speaking Mohajirs had begun to emerge in the early 1970s,
and a number of skirmishes between militants from both groups had
occurred. A Sindhi separatist tendency had emerged soon after
independence but remained marginal. The rise of the PPP, led by a
Sindhi, had resulted in such separatism being further inalized but
it revived when Bhutto was overthrown and executed. The radicalization
of Sindhis propelled apprehensive Mohajirs to organize themselves
along ethnic lines.

Thus, on 18 March 1984, the Mohajir Qaumi Movement (MQM) was
founded by Altaf Hussain, the non-office-holding supreme leader of the
MQM. It is now an open secret that the MQM was a creation of the
Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI), and that Zia had masterminded its
formation. This was confirmed by General Mirza Aslam Beg, who
succeeded Zia as COAS after the latter's sudden death in an air crash
(Hasan 2007: 7). Zia wanted to curb the rise of the PPP at any cost. The
MQM was also allegedly supplied its arms by the ISI. The MQM was
encouraged to claim that the Mohajirs were a separate nationality—thus
raising the spectre of a break-up of Sindh along ethnic lines. Ironically,
Zla was able to placate the main protagonist of Sindhi separatism, G.M.
Syed, from whom the PPP had wrested away the mantle of i
nationalism in 1972. Thus, support for the MQM and dissensions
within Sindhi political factions effectively blunted Sindhi separatism
and, at the same time, weakened the PPP-inspired insurgency, especially
in the Mohajir-dominated key cities of Karachi and Hyderabad. Such a
strategy in the political realm, however, was only a partial expression
of Zia's overall agenda to consolidate military rule.




ISLAMIZING THE GARRISON STATE

Zia was also d ined to impl: a fe of
change that would affect all sectors of society. Under his palromge the
garrison state—a polity deriving its identity from perceived existentialist
threats from external as well as internal enemies—acquired
incontrovertible Islamist features. Stephen Cohen has asserted that,
from the beginning, the Pakistan military considered itself an Islamic
fighting force. He found that ‘the professional journals of the Army are
filled with studies of the question of Islamization of the military, and
all come back to the question of the degree to which traditional Indian
Army patterns need to be altered to Islamic principles’ (Cohen 1992:
37). Under Zia, the unit maulvis (clerics) were upgraded and given the
rank of Junior Commissioned Officer—on the pattern of the military
chaplains in the US Army. He has also noted that heavy indoctrination
into Islamism was not necessary for the armed forces because ‘Islam
naturally supports the idea of the military professional’ (ibid., 139).
Cohen's findings suggest that such a self-image varied from the
moderate to the extreme, but the military retained the overall
organizational structure and practices inherited from the colonial past.
He does not mention that the cultivation of an Islamist army received
approbation from the United States as it coincided with Pakistan’s role
as a frontline state in the so-called Afghan jihad.

At any rate, indoctrination was pursued with much greater zeal
during Zia’s term than asserted by Cohen. Such a process needs to be
put in perspective, in light of the changing socio-cultural background
of the officer corps when Zia came into power. The old guard, mainly
comprising Sandhurst-trained officers, was gradually replaced by an
indigenized Pakistani officer class. Such a process started rather early

and received expansionist spurts in the hs of the 1947-48, 1965,
and 1971 wars wnh Indla. 'l‘lle new officers were from middle, and
iddle class, backgr d no longer ively from the

select districts of northern Punjab or NWFP. The relaxed hfeuyle in
which music, dance bands, and alcohol were part of the social milieu
prevalent in the officers’ messes had already received a jolt when Bhutto
opportunistically banned the consumption of alcohol. A catalyst was
needed to push the military into an Islamist direction. General Zia was
eminently suited to play that role.

His overall transformation of the Pakistani state and socicty along
Islamist lines envisaged the establishment of a garrison state in which




the military would stand out clearly as an ideologic institution. Such
a weltanschauung could only be realized in practice through social
engineering on a grand scale. However, as some writers have noted, in
the case of Zia such conviction was tempered by a prudent assessment
of what is possible rather than what should ideally exist. His
fundamentalist proclivities apart, Zia was a practical and modern man.
He could sense that Pakistan was too complex and diversified culturally,
ethnically, and in sectarian terms. Therefore, wholesale imitation and
replication of either the Iranian, or rather the Saudi, model that he
admired was not possible. Nevertheless, he took determined steps to
foster an Islamist garrison state that harked back to a golden age of
conquest and expansion, as well as a supposedly ideal and just social
order that existed at the time of the dawn of Islam.

No doubt, a commitment to make Pakistan into an ideal polity
infused with Islamic ideas of justice and progress, or more fundamentalist
versions of it, had been part of the official rhetoric of all governments.
However, no previous government undertook the necessary and
sufficient measures to construct a national identity that comprehensively
reflected the ideology of an Islamist garrison state. Rather, rhetoric and
ad hoc measures characterized the conduct of governments before
General Zia came to power.

Hitherto, the modernist elite had been dithering between their
commitment to democracy, on the one hand, and political Islam, on the
other. Such ambivalence was conspicuous by its absence from Zia's
single-minded commitment to a patently, anti-liberal, anti-democratic,
anti-minorities, and anti-women agenda. He wanted to establish a social
order ‘in which all sectors of life including administration, judiciary,
banking, trade, education, agriculture, industry and foreign affairs are

gulated in d: with Islamic principles’ (Noman 1988: 141).
Consequently, a range of ‘reforms’ was undertaken to realize the
hegemony of an Islamist garrison state in Pakistan.

The Legal Framework Order, issued by General Yahya Khan as
martial law administrator, had mentioned an ‘Ideology of Pakistan’ that,
under Bhutto, began to acquire the trappings of Islamism; but, it was
Zia who completed it in proper measure. He consulted a wide range of
ulema but the ideas of the amir of the Jamaat-e-Islami (JI), Syed Abul
Ala Maududi, clearly exercised the profoundest influence on
Maududi’s theory of the state was based on an unhistorical idealization
of the pristine Islamic community and polity tha( Prophel Muhammad
(pBUH) had founded and was continued by his
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especially the first two caliphs, Abu Bakr and Umar. The laws and
cultural practices of that period prescribing strict segregation of men
and women, and non-Muslims paymg the protection tax, jizya, l\ave
been idered to be authoritatively binding on sub
of Muslims (Maududi 1979a; l979b 1980). Equally, Maududi wrote a
highly dogmauc treatise, Al-Jihad Fi-al Islam, in which he subscribed
to the classic d of the world—into dar-ul-Islam (abode of peace
where lslamnc hw prevalls) and dar-ul-harb (enemy territory where
pounded by the early jurists of Islam.
Accordmg to sucl\ dlsposllwn. peace between Islamic and non-Islamic
states could be established only temporarily because such states were,
in principle, at war. Resorting to circumlocutions and chicanery about
jihad being justified when Islam and Islamic communities are
threatened, he also justified jihad as offensive warfare when non-
Muslims do not accept Islam. He had no problem in upholding
outmoded practices such as slavery and concubinage—non-Muslims
defeated in war who are unable to pay ransom are to be enslaved, with
women entering the harem as chattel of their owners (Maududi 1981).
Maududi's theories were almost identical to the ideologue of the
Muslim Brotherhood, the Egyptian Syed Qutb, and only superficially
different in detail from those set forth by the Shiite ideologue Imam
Khomeini. Neither Maududi, nor Qulb nor Khomeini dlﬂ'cr in my way
from traditional Sharia law p g to i
dogmatic Sharia is incognizant of peace based on modern notions of
respect for sovereignty and the territorial integrity of states as upheld
by the UN Charter (1945). With regard to personal beliefs on doctrine
and adherence to rites and rituals, Zia is generally believed to have
subscribed to the puritanical Deobandi school of radical Islam. Some
people who knew him personally say that he spent long hours at Sufi
shrines, particularly at that of Ali bin Usman Al-Hajweri—popularly
known as Data Sahib—in Lahore. If that is true, then he seemed to have
been quite eclectic, combining radical Islam with the folksy Barelvi-
Sunni Islam. The irony, of course, was that General Zia had no qualms
about privately inviting Bollywood superstar Shatrughan Sinha to his
home to meet his mentally challenged daughter who adored Indian film
stars and especially Shatrughan Sinha. He became a famlly friend and
used to visit Pakistan regularly. That relati p inued even after
Zia's death (The Tribune, 4 August 2005).




LEGAL REFORMS

Already, in 1977, Zia announced his intention of introducing Islamic
punishments for a number of offences, as prescribed in the Quran. After
a period of preparation and consultation with Islamist scholars, the
government, in 1979, announced the imposition of the Hudood
Ordinance, i.e. punishments for the offences of adultery (death by
stoning), fornication (100 lashes), false accusation of adultery (80
lashes), drinking alcohol (80 lashes), theft (cutting off of the right
hand), highway robbery (when the offence is only robbery, cutting off
of hands and feet; for robbery with murder, death either by the sword
or crucifixion) (Munir 1980: 124-32).

A Federal Shariat Court was established in 1980 to try Hudood
offences. A special bench of the Pakistan Supreme Court, called the
Shariat Appellate Bench, comprising three Muslim judges was
established to hear appeals against the verdicts of the Federal Shariat
Court (Usmani 1990: 68-71). Although scores of people were tried for
Hudood offences, and sentences were passed that prescribed stoning
and amputation of limbs, the were changed to prison
sentences at the higher levels of appeal. Immense international pressure,
as well as protests from the highly-educated liberal sections of society
organized in NGOs, played an important role in creating an atmosphere
that made the judiciary at the higher level change its mind. On the other
hand, initially, the whipping and hanging of some culprits was meted
out publicly in front of large crowds that assembled to see the macabre
spectacles. However, after a while, such punishments were removed
from the public sphere and were carried out in the jails. However, the
mil ary regime remained determined to institutionalize the
di of women and Muslims with the view to creating a
chaste Islamic nation.

WoMEN

In 1980, a circular was issued to all government offices prescribing a
proper Muslim dress-code for female employees. The wearing of a
chador (loose cloth covering the head) was made obligatory. A campaign
to eliminate obscenity and pornography was also announced. It,
however, took the form of a campaign against the general emancipation
and equal rights of women. Leading Muslim theologians hostile to
female emancipation were brought onto national television to justify the




various restrictions on women. Moreover, the legal status and rights of
women diminished dramatically because of the Hudood laws and their
examination by the Shariat courts. For example, rape, as sexual
intercourse forced upon a woman, is not recognized in the Quran, but
it was acknowledged by Muslim jurists as zina bil jabr or sexual
intercourse under duress. Under the Anglo-Muhammadan codes that
Pakistan had inherited from the colonial system, the evidence of the
victim was accepted in rape cases. Under the Zina ordinance, neither
the evidence of the victim nor that of any other woman was admissible.
To prove that adultery and rape has been commmed the traditional
requirement of four male wi was PPC
Section 375, as the earlier law on rape was called, had protected girls
under the age of fourteen by providing that, even with their consent,
sexual intercourse with them would constitute rape. This immunity was
not included in the zina ordinance (Mehdi 1994: 123). In 1984, a new
Law of Evidence was adopted which reduced the evidence of a female
witness to half, in worth, of a male witness—pertaining to written
financial transactions—in a court of law (ibid., 231-2; Weiss 1986). The

lative effect of such was, undoubtedly, that the legal and
social position of women was greatly weakened.

Noted women's rights activists Asma Jahangir and Hina Jilani have
demonstrated that such legislation resulted in the meting out of harsh
punishments to many victims simply because they could not produce
male witnesses who could give evidence that they saw the actual
penetration of the vagina by the male phallus of the accused (Jahangir
and Jilani 2003). The Human Rights Commission of Pakistan noted that
the incidence of so-called honour killings by close relatives, or through
hired killers, increased significantly in the wake of the legal and social
oppression introduced by General Zia (State of Human Rights 1991~
2006). As the general situation of women deteriorated, some of the
educated women of the larger cities of Lahore, Karachi, and lslamabad
brought out demonstrations demanding a stop to the anti-women
campaign. Such agitation did little to mitigate the hardened climate
against women (Mumtaz and Shaheed 1987).

NoN-MusLiMs

With regard to the non-Muslims in Pakistan, the general atmosphere
became dramatically hostile after Zia introduced the blasphemy law in
1982. It declared any insult to Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) and Islam




tobea ma)or offence. The maximum punishment prescribed for it was
life i In 1986, blasph was made even harsher when
the death penalty was included as the maximum punishment. Section
295-C of the Penal Code declared that:

Use of derogatory remarks etc. in respect of the Holy Prophet: Whether by
words, either spoken or written, or by visible representations, or by any
imputation, innuendo or i  inuation, directly or indirectly, defiles the sacnd
name of the Holy Prophet (peace by upon him) shall be punishable with
death, or imprisonment for life, and shall be liable to fine (Ahmed 2005:
203).

In subsequent years, the blasphemy law was invoked many times to
punish alleged offenders; it was mostly Christians who were targeted
for blasphemy. The trial procedure was deeply flawed and unsafe.
Almost invariably, the lower courts would sentence the accused to
severe punishment. However, protests from Pakistani human rights
organizations and other NGOs, Western states, the UN, Amnesty
International, and other such entities compelled the superior courts to
either acquit them on some technical grounds or to allow them to seek
asylum in the West. In some cases, fanatics brutally murdered
individuals who they believed had blasphemed Only two such culprits
have been icted for these extra-judi ions. There have been
many cases of churches being burnt and bombed, and of Christians,
especially women, being forced to convert to Islam.

The declaration, in 1974, of the Mmudjyyl community as non-
Muslims had fied Pakistan's h In 1983-84,
further restrictions were imposed on the Ahmadiyya community. It was
forbidden to use Islamic nomenclature for its worship rituals, places of
worship, and so on. Attacks on Ahmadi places of worship increased as
a result. Over the years, the anti-Ahmadi legislation resulted i in vicious
attacks, resulting in hundreds of deaths of bers of the A diyya
community.

In 1985, separate el for Muslims were instituted. Non-
Muslim voters were not to vote for general seats in the general
elections; they were to only vote for non-Muslim candidates. Zia
argued that such a procedure would be more effective in enabling non-
Muslims to get elected and represent their interests in the legislatures
because, if they contested general seats, they stood no chance of getting
elected. The reality was that the l.lre.ldy soclllly alienated religious
minorities were, as a Iy luded from the
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mainstream Muslim nation also. A Christian leader and decorated
1965 war hero, Group Captain Cecil Chaudhry of the Pakistan Air
Force, expressed his disappointment over such blatant anti-minority
laws in an article, ‘R bering Our Heroes, published in the Defence
Journal of June 2001:

In Pakistan our political order is based on religious apartheid through the
Separate Electorate System. . . . The Separate Electorate System, thrust upon
the nation by Zia-ul-Haq in 1985, divides the entire nation into five religious
groups and does not allow any political interaction between any two of the
groups. The seats of the National and the Provincial Assemblies are so
divided that Muslims, Christians, Hindus, Ahmadis, and other religious
minorities can only contest for and vote within their own group. This system
has completely broken down social harmony thus paving the way for
sectarianism strife. . . . A political system so deeply rooted in religion when
allowed to perpetuate will most definitely cause dissensions within each
group and give rise to religious extremism, even to the extent of spreading
terrorism in the name of religion. . . . The non-Muslim citizens have proved
that they do not want the Sepame 1 by very b ing
the first two phases of the on-going Union Council electwns . Having
said this let me state that in India the extremist Hindu is largeﬁng the
Christians mainly. | also believe this situation will not last and we can
already see things improving in India. . . . With deep regret I have to admit
that there is no comparison. India is a proven secular country and the state
of religious tolerance and equality is far better than that of Pakistan. . .. If
this government allows the present state of gross sectarianism to continue
we are doomed as a nation (Amin 2001).

On a personal note, Cecil Chaudhry believed that his promotion beyond
group captain was overruled by Zia because he was Christian. On the
whole, it must be granted that after Zia introduced comprehensive
Islamization, the overall ideological stance and cultural milieu became
mamfeslly biased against the rellglous mmcsrmes> moreover, the

that he i d a basis for
institutionalized discrimination. That trend ha.s continued into the
present times because no succeeding government has dared to repeal
the laws that Zia had enacted.

SECTARIAN POLARIZATION

Hitherto, not only were Sunnis of all descriptions, but also the Ithna
Ashari Shias, reckoned to be Muslims. However, certain moves during




his time began to expose the brittle nature of such categorization
because, doctrinally, Zia harboured the Deobandi and, politically,
Jamaat-e-Islami sympathies. The other Sunni sub-sects and Shias were
concerned that they would be marginalized. Not only did the Shias
object, but many Sunni sub-sects also had reservations about the
authority of the Deobandi scholars. In the ecofwrmc field, ba.nlung
reforms were introduced which ibly eli ‘interest’ and
replaced it with ‘profit’ (Ahmed 1999: 231). The alms tax, zakat, was
imposed on Muslim citizens. However, the Shias refused to pay zakat
to the government of General Zia-ul-Haq as the government was Sunni
in its orientation and, therefore, could not claim zakat from them. The
government initially dismissed the Shia demand, which resulted in
widespread agitation by the Shias who threatened to paralyse the
government and marched to Islamabad in their thousands. The unruly
protests and demonstrations that ensued in the capital resulted in open
conflict with the police, and a serious law and order situation was
created. However, with the theocratic regime founded by the Ayatollahs
in neighbouring Iran inspiring them to resist real and imagined Sunni
oppression, the agitators defied the police. Such determined resistance
forced the government to change its policy: Shias were exempted from
paying zakat (ibid.). In one sense, assertive Shia behaviour inadvertently
helped in conferring a Sunni identity to the Pakistani state.
Constitutionally, Pakistan did not distinguish between Sunnis and Shias
as both were considered bona fide Muslims but, after the Shias
politicized and sectarianized the zakat tax—which was meant for the
use of the poor and needy—the Shia-Sunni chasm became even wider.
Such cleavages were severely pounded in the wake of the contest
between Iran and Saudi Arabia to lead the Muslim world. Both,
staggeringly rich because of income from oil, began to activate their
sectarian affiliates all over the world. In Pakistan, such a contest erupted
intoa proxy war in lhe I9905 between —m:ewmg funding and
di ttes and video fi from these

two cen(rcs of lslamlc l'undammuhsm (Ahmed 1998: 176-8).

EDUCATIONAL REFORMS

A search for an ‘ideological basis’ of education had already started, in
1947, when Pakistan came into being. The emphasis was on Islamizing
education though, at that time, it was interpreted as the promotion of
a social-democratic culture and not fundamentalism. Religious



education was to bc glven pnonty The empllasls on lslam was alw
meant to delegi and |

dld not mean fund: lism till Zia came to
power (Rahman 2004: 7-17).

During Zia's long period in office, the process of long-term and deep
indoctrination of society, through the educational system, began with
a concerted effort—to infuse Istamic values and culture, 5o as to make
the pupils feel that they were part of the universal Islamic Umma, make
them fully aware of the purpose for which Pakistan was created, and
inculcate abiding loyalty to Islam and Pakistan (ibid., 17). Textbooks
cov(nng the whole fourteen-year penod from primary school to

ity, were to be Islamized alon, d: ist lines. In his
pioneering work on Pakistani textbook curricula, The Murder of History
(1993), Pakistan's premier historian, Professor K.K. Aziz, examined
sixty-six textbooks dealing with History, Social Studies, and Pakistan
Studies, from the elementary to the university level, and amply
demonstrated the distortion of facts and twisting of ideas. Muslim
invasions and conquerors received posmve emphasis while Hindus and
the Hindu religion were denig| great emphasis was laid
on glorifying the Pakistani military. It was asserted that, in the 1965
war, India was on the verge of being beaten by Pakistan and begged the
United Nations to arrange a cease-fire (ibid., 153).

About the breakup of Pakistan, the textbooks blamed the Bengalis

while India was projected as the villain of the piece (ibid., 154).

General Zia's Islamization policy was praised as an honest
attempt to fulfil the promise allegedly given by Jinnah to create an
Islamic system of government (ibid., 158). Am. using a language that
very closely bles Lasswell's und ofa lled citizenry,
wrote:

The goal, it seems, is lo produce a generation with the following traits:
docility, inability to ask questions, capacity to indulge in pleasurable
illusions, pride in wearing blinkers, willingness to accept guidance from
above, alacrity to like and dislike things by order, tendency to ignore gaps
in one’s knowledge, enjoyment of make-belief, faith in the high value of
pretences (ibid., 188).

Among the core themes that Aziz has identified in the textbooks are:
support for military rule; glorification of war; and hatred of India (ibid.,

190-3). The bottom line in Aziz's argument is that Pakistani pupils were
being indoctrinated with a perverted religio-militarist ideology of hate.




He told me, in London in 1996, that he has been subjected to threats
and feared that his life may be in danger. Taking their cue from Aziz,
other Pakistani academics dilated upon the pernicious effects of such
curricula on the formation of attitudes and values. In her essay, ‘History,
Social Studies and Civics and the Creation of Enemies, Rubina Saigol
has particularly focused on the negative implications of the national
identity cultivated in the textbooks. The history of conquests by Muslim
invaders, and the rise of the separatist movement among India Muslims,
primarily hinges on casting Hinduism, Hindus, and India in a bad light.
She has written:

The main source of the const ction of the Pakistan Self, are Indians in
general, and Hindus in particular. Since Pakistan emerged within the
political paradigm of the lwo-nauon Ihwry. which poses Hindus and
Muslims as two i most identity-for ing
textbooks revolve around the story of the two nations. The latter
consideration allows Hindus to play the major role of the national demon’
(Saigol: 2003: 163).

Continuing, she has remarked that the merger of political Islam, into
the Pakistani National Self, generates an obsessive, paranoid type of
mindset in which a number of internal and external enemies of Islam
and Pakistan are identified. Consequently, not only India but even
Western nations and Israel are included among the enemy. However,
Hinduism and India remain the paramount enemies and threats to
Muslims and Pakistan. The message being inculcated through such
textbooks is that Pakistan cannot enter into normal relations with India
under any circumstances (ibid., 166-7). She has noted that, in the post-
Zia period, emphasis has shifted from a macho-type glorification of
Pakistan to the inculcation of fear of India as a bigger and better-armed
enemy always on the look out to harm Pakistan.

The impact of such textbook curricula has Indeed been profound
and lasting. Thus, for ¢xample. Al H Nayyar and Ahmad Salim of the
Islamabad think-tank, i lop Policy Institute (SDPI),
published a critical report on the ¢dua(wrul curricula in 2004 entitled,
The Subtle Subversion: The State of Curricula and Textbooks in Pakistan.
Their joint article, ‘Glorification of War and the Military' specifically
highlights the emphasis on jihad (holy war), shahadat (martyrdom),
ghazi (victor in war), shaheed (martyr), and so on in the textbooks
(Nayyar and Salim 2004: 79-90).




In a televised discussion, Nayyar was attacked by a number of right-
wing opponents for criticizing qatal (killing). One of them, Ataul Haq
Qasmi, was of the view that if feelings of jihad and shahadat were not
inculcated in the pupils, then there was no point in mentioning the
Quran, hadith (sayings of the Prophet Muhammad [PBUH]), and Allama
Igbal (Pakistan’s national poet) in such textbooks. In other words, he
was of the view that readiness to take up arms was the core message of
Islam. Dushka Saiyid assumed a very similar stand and argued that
there was nothing wrong with teaching jihad to children. Islam was not
the religion of Christ, who taught its followers to turn the other cheek.
She wondered how jihad could be wrong when if ll is directed against the
A were Pakistanis supposed to prostrate th h
in front of India? She stated that Muslim history was full of jihad; the
Holy Prophet himself took part in jihad (Ahmed 2004).

A dispassionate assessment of the textbook curricula would reveal
that Aziz, Saigol, Nayyar, and Salim approached the purpose of
education as a means of producing a balanced and rational frame of
mind that would help pupils become good and responsible citizens of
a liberal, pluralist society. On the other hand, those who had authored
the textbooks aimed at using the textbooks to produce a mmdm

i with the fund: | logic underlying the

theory: that Hindus and Muslims were two separate nations, and
Pakistan was an ideological state wedded to confessional criteria. It had
been demanded in negation of India as the homeland of all communities.
The founder of Pakistan himself had laid down the foundations of a
‘We-They mutually exclusive dichotomy between Hindus and Muslims,
and followed that position relentlessly in his struggle for Pakistan.
Jinnah's presidential address at the March 1940 annual session of the
Muslim League in Lahore very forcefully underlined the irreconcilability
between Hindus and Muslims (Speeches of Mr Jinnah 1968: 151-72).
What the textbooks did was add patently militaristic overtones to such
reasoning.

ISLAMIST MILITARY

Zia certainly realized that the Islamization process underway in other
branches of the state and society would be inadequate without the
military being transformed into an Islamist institution as well. In fact,
the core institution for the consolidation of the Islamist garrison state
had to be the military. In this regard, a book authored by Brigadier S.K.




i

Malik, The Quranic Concept of War (1979), epitomizes the philosophy
of war and armed conflict that the military rulers of Pakistan wanted
to inculcate in their men in order to transform them into Islamist
warriors. It includes a most revealing foreword by General Zia, which
includes the following:

1 write these few lines to commend Brigadier Malik's book on ‘The Quranic
Concept of War’ to both soldier and civilian alike. Jehad Fi-Sabilillah [Holy
War for God] is not the exclusive domain of the professional soldier, nor is
it restricted to the application of military force alone.

‘This book brings out, with simplicity, clarity, and precision, the Quranic
philosophy on the application of military force, within the context of the
totality that is JEHAD. The professional soldier in a Muslim army, pursuing
the goals of a Muslim state, CANNOT become a ‘professional’ if he does not
take on ‘the colour of Allah' in all his activities (Malik 1979).

The author marshalled a number of arguments to establish that war
is natural in human nature and, therefore, has been a part of human
societies down the ages. However, warfare for territory, national self-
interest, etc. have no place in the Quranic scheme of war. Proceeding
on the classic jurisprudential dichotomy of Muslim jurists, that the
world was divided into dar-ul-Islam (abode of peace where Islamic law
prevails) and dar-ul-Harb (abode of strife under non-Muslim rule),
Malik has asserted that it is obligatory for Muslims to defeat the non-
Muslim enemies. He has quoted the Quranic verse that reads as follows,
‘And fight them on until there is no more tumult or oppression, and
there prevail justice and faith in Allah altogether and everywhere’ (1979:
28). He has conceded that peace can be temporarily established, by
treaty, with pagans. However, warfare can be initiated if the treaty is
violated. Moreover, even if the agreement is not explicitly violated by
the pagans, but the Islamic state suspects treason from the pagans, then
the treaty can be broken (ibid., 30). Jews and Christians who agree to
pay jizya can be taken under the protection of the Islamic state. Warfare
against hypocrites—those who convert to Islam only in name but not
in the true sense—is also justified. The author has summarized the
Quranic theory of war in the following words, ‘To recapitulate, in the
Quranic perspective, the object of war is to obtain conditions of peace,
justice and faith. To do so, it is essential to destroy the forces of
oppression and persecution’ (Malik 1979: 35).

Itis not difficult to deduce, from such luted ing, that the
author considered the preconditions for ‘peace, justice and faith’ to be




fulfilled only if the Islamic order prevails all over the world. He
reviewed the Quranic ‘ethics of war’, and concluded that ‘the checks and
controls imposed by the Holy Quran on the use of force have no
parallel’ (ibid., 49). At another point, he examined the Quranic strategy
of war in which divine help, in the form of thousands of angels, is
assured if it is fought properly (ibid., 55). Referring to the famous battles
fought under the leadership of Muhammad (PBUH), he observed, ‘We
see that, on all these occasions, when God wishes to impose His will
upon His enemies, He chooses to do so by casting terror in their hearts’
(ibid., 57). Consequently, according to Malik:

The Quranic military strategy thus enjoins us fo prepare ourselves for war to
the utmost in order to strike terror into the hearts of the enemies, known or
hidden, while guarding oursclves from being terror-stricken by the encmy.
Terror struck into the hearts of ¢ enc  ies is not only a means, it is the end
in itself. Once a condition of terror into the opponent’s heart is obtained,
hardly anything is left to be achieved. It is the point whm the means and
the end meet and merge. Terror is not means of imposing decision upon the
enemy: it is the decision we wish to impose on hum (ibid.. 58-9).

As the purpose of an army is to strike terror into the hearts of the
enemy, therefore it is both a matter of military preparauon—lo have the
best trained and armed troop: well as of ideologi

The ideological preparation would mean imbibing a slrong faith in
Islam and, especially, its call to jihad. Death on the battlefield, or on
some other mission for the glory of Islam, is not to be feared because
Allah ensures that such individuals will be amply rewarded in Paradise.
Referring to a Quranic verse, Malik has described it as a bargain that
God has made with believers who fight for him (ibid., 141). The book
ends with a list of all the verses related to war (ibid., 147-50).

The aim of the book seems to be to present a ‘Quranic theory of just
war® The problem is that, according to it, war is conceived of as an
incessant and perpetual phenomenon rather than an occasional
undertaking to defeat an oppressor: warfare would only cease with Islam
defeating all un-Islamic forces and establishing global peace based on
justice as defined by Islamic law. He has made the significant point that
the Quranic approach to war is more humane and considerate: women,
children, servants, and even slaves who might accompany their masters
in war, would be spared, as would ‘the blind, the monks, the hermits,
the old, the physically deformed and the insane or mentally deficient’
(ibid., 47). Such circumlocution and sophistry runs throughout his




book. It is a typical amalgam of unbending d d by
concerns to present it as a necessary evil lo defeat and endswe the
forces of evil. That it may have become obsolete in the contemporary
era, because of the Geneva Conventions or the UN Charter, is not
entertained at any point in the book. On the contrary, it is a resounding
call to arms under the mantle of jihad.

The ‘Quranic concept of war’ was never formally declared as the
philosophy of the Pakistan military. It was, however, on the highly
recommended reading list of the Command and Staff College, Quetta
and the National Defence College, Islamabad. Since Zia had, himself,
endorsed the book, it must have been treated with considerable
seriousness—whether out of a strong conviction or for sheer
instrumental reasons is difficult to assess. It was published around the
time when the Afghan jihad was about to begin, and must have been
one of the factors that easily convinced the US-Saudi sponsors of that
jihad to adopt the Pakistan Army as its main operational channel for
the anti-Soviet military p Some di: ing voices, about the
Islamization of the military, are r:productd below. The remarks of an
Indian officer, who fought against Pakistan in the 1965 and 1971 war,
are also given.

MajoRr (RETD.) AGHA HUMAYUN AMIN

‘1 joined the Pakistan Military Academy Kakul as a cadet on 3 May 1981
and was commissioned in the tank corps in 11 Cavalry on 17 March
1983. At that time, Arabic had become compulsory subject in the
academy. Many of the guest speakers were known for having some
extreme views on religion. Evening prayers were compulsory. However,
1 am told that after 1983 religious indoctrination became more
pronounced and reached its height when General M. Malik was the
commandant at the academy. Brigadicr S.K. Malik's, The Islamic Concept
of War, was pm of recommended readings at Staff College Quetta. It
was idered a good i ise, to pray with senior
officers. Most officers did it to please their superiors. | remember some
absolute free thinkers who drank heavily doing it with promotion in
mind. In 1984, Nazim Us Salat campaign was ordered. It meant that
most army formations were sent on tableegh campaign (convincing
people to follow Islam in letter and spirit). Notwithstanding such pious
tasks, in December 1984 army units were tasked to stamp Zia's
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referendum ballots with a yes vote. Thus we were involved in blatant
election rigging.

‘On chc whole. tlle so-called ‘Islamization’ measures only lowered

This happened from the very onset when cadets
were recruited. Zia placed military officers in key civil posts. Thus for
example, Admiral Sharif was recruited as the boss of the Federal Public
Service Commission. His focus during the interviews with candidates
was on religion alone. He asked questions like ‘do you know dua-e-
qanoot?’ (prayer). He pronounced a top level candidate, Zafar Bukhari,
as unfit for all key administrative positions and fit only for the postal
services. The reason was that he had written in his exam that the leftist
Faiz Ahmed Faiz was his favourite poet.

An army officer who wants to remain anonymous has provndtd the
following insights into how the egalitarian and
in the officers’ mess was subverted by the introduction of puntamcal
practices:

‘Prior to the dry mess created by Bhutto, the officers’ messes were
places where senior and junior officers could meet and talk freely,
sharing jokes and repartees and having a drink. We could easily disagree
with our seniors and army matters were freely discussed and debated.
There used to be dance and music. It was a very lively atmosphere in
which we socialized and fraternized. Of course there were the religious
type who kept away but the general rule was that it is up to the
individual to choose his life style and regimentation of morals and
values was frowned upon.

‘All that was reduced to naught with the Islamist inputs. Now, the
walls in the messes and in the corridors hung verses from the Quran
and each and every individual was expected to say the correct thing in
line with the reigning ideology of the High Commnnd Asa resull the
spontaneity and warmth that prevailed p ly was supp
formalism and correctness. Dclnle and discussion disappeared and
instead one was bombarded with sermons on chaste conduct. Such
measures received full appreciation from the Americans. After the
so-called Afghan jihad started Zia and his advisers made it a point to
exaggerate the Islamist character of the army. Zia appeared on the cover
of Time and Newsweek. At that time the Americans were all too keen
that the Pakistan Army should become a jihadist institution.

‘The officers were expected to join the ranks during the prayers. This
might sound as something radically egalit ian but it was not. Standing
together by no means broke down the hierarchies of rank and status.




On the contrary, the officers had to play the role of moral leaders; most
of the time this resulted in hypocritical behaviour rather than genuine
conversion to piety.

‘Previously Pakistan Christians would seek a career in the armed
forces and were considered good fighters and patriotic Pakistanis, but
Islamization discouraged them from coming to the messes. Over time
they stopped seeking a career with us. That further accentuated the
religious identity of the army. However, even Zia did not dare go so far
as to encourage the divisions between Shias and Sunnis. The Pakistan
Army, however, became an Islamist fighting force. The jihad in
Afghanistan proved a bonanza to the Islamist forces who then were
groomed into the art of Islamic warfare—a bogus art and science but
which received patronage from the Chief and his coterie of advisers.

‘Anti-India rhetoric was part of the overall grooming of the Pakistan
Am\y bul after General Zia became the COAS and later martial law

and president such an ori ion became the raison
d¥tre for the maintenance of armed forces ready to fight for the glory
of Islam. The fact is that even then troops posted on the India-Pakistan
border regularly interacted with one another. Many belonged to the
same colonial regiments, others sometimes turned out to be from the
same villages. Sometimes the trust became so great that one could visit
the other side. I remember some Indian officers wanted to visit the
famed Heera Mandi of Lahore (Diamond Market or Red Light Area)
and they were taken there to a mujra (dance session with a courtesan),
while our officers could visit Amritsar and other places to have a drink.
The same would start shooting at each other whenever tensions arose.
This is the truth!

BRIGADIER (RETD.) VIJAI NAIR

Brigadier Nair of the Indian Army confirmed this in a long interview
to me. He said: ‘My family originally belonged to Kunjah in Gujrat
district of West Punjab. I fought against Pakistan in both the 1965 and
1971 wars. Under normal conditions contacts between the two sides
were very friendly and the officers would develop good rapport and
behave with one another in a courteous and respectful manner. We
exchanged greetings on a regular basis and even socialized. Conduct
during war was of course a call to duty and both sides fought to the best
of their abilities.
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The Afghan Jihad

As noted already, while Pakistan’s national security paradigm had
always been premised on the perceived threat from India, relations with
Afghanistan—about the disputed Durand Line—had also been a cause
for worry all along. During the Cold War, while Pakistan had co-opted
itself into the US military strategy to prevent any southward movement
towards the hot waters of the Arabian Sea, the Afghan monarchy had
been cultivated by the USSR—although the Afghans did not enter into
any military pact with the Sovict Union. The situation in Afghanistan
was destabilized on 17 July 1973 when King Muhammad Zahir Shah
(1933-1973) was overthrown by his cousin Sardar Muhammad Daud
Khan. Daud was a proactive Pakhtun nationalist who revived the
controversy over the Durand Line with Pakistan. However, his mle was
unpopular with sections of his population as he loyed
against both the leftists and the conservative sections ofAfglun society.
In June 1975, Ihe Jamiat-e-Islami [no direct affiliate of the Pakistan
d an h of the government, which
was crushed by (he Daud government but resulted in many militants
taking refuge in Pakistan. At that time, Z.A. Bhutto was in power in
Pakistan. He ordered support for the insurgents (Farr 1985: 94).
Already, at that stage, the American CIA and the Pakistani ISI had
begun to connect in order to bolster a resistance to the Daud regime.
Thus, for example, the legendary Colonel Imam (Sultan Amir Tarar)
was sent to the United States in 1973 for training in insurgency warfare
(Interview, 18 December 2008).

However, Daud also fell out with the Afghan communists.
Consequently, an insurgency began to take shape under the leadership
of the People’s D ic Party of Afghani: (PDPA)—which
represented the Afghan communists. On 27 April 1978, pro-PDPA
officers of the Afghan Army overthrew Daud and execu\ed his famlly
members. At that stage, the Ameri were not parti
about it. A close associate of General Zia, Lleulenan( Generd (Retd.)




K.M. Arif, has written that it was Zia who wrote to President Carter
‘suggesting that the US might take a serious note of the strategic
imbalance created in the region. Carter ignored the warning as an
overreaction from a weak country’ (Arif 2001: 175). This stance of the
Americans was to change dramatically later.

Nur Muhammad Taraki, Secretary-General of the PDPA, became the
president and prime minister of Afghanistan, assisted by a Revolutionary
Council. The PDPA was already faction-ridden: the Khalgq faction led
by Taraki and Hafizullah Amin, and the Parcham faction represented
by Babrak Karmal (Suleri 1990: 14-15). The two factions clashed and
many Parcham members were executed while others went into exile. In
any case, the Mamst government embarked upon an ambitious
prog! of ization; in particular, the position of women was
greatly improved through a refom\ of the marriage customs. Young
women were encouraged to take to modern education and to reject
conservative lifestyles. Land reforms weakened the position of the
traditional landowners as, besides the breaking up of large holdings,
usury was abolished. Debts incurred in the past by poor farmers, to the
landlords, were abolished. These and other such related reforms resulted
in a backlash from the deeply conservative Afghan society.

Already, in mid-1978, a rebellion had taken place in the Nuristan
region; soon afterwards, the rudiments of a civil war began to emerge.
However, the first major setback to the Marxist regime was from within
the Khalq faction of the PDPA. Violent internal conflict resulted in
Taraki being brutally killed and Hafizullah Amin seizing power in
September 1979. This resulted in further instability as Amin began to
victimize his opponents in the PDPA. Many fled the country, mostly to
the USSR. Amin tried to balance the Soviet influence through secret
overtures to Pakistan and the United States, and toned down the secular
credentials of the regime by taking on a more sympathetic position on
religious rights, especially on Islam. Pakistan began providing covert
military assistance to the growing Afghan resistance in late 1978—much
before the United States started doing so (Arif 2001: 177).

Now, the Soviet Union had been providing economic and military
aid to Afghanistan since the 1920s and, over the years, its influence had
grown. After the April Revolution, Soviet advisers and military
personnel had arrived in large numbers to assist the Afghan
communists. The Soviet Union also provided armament, including
military aircraft. Such assistance was formalized through a peace treaty
signed in December 1978, which allowed the Afghan government to




all upon the Soviet Union for military support. After Amin took over,
he influence of the Soviet Union declined; however, a rebellion by
slamists forced him to change this policy and he sought more military
ssistance from the Soviet Union. This was granted, but the Soviets did
ot trust Amin. On 27 December, he was assassinated by KGB agents
nd their Afghan accomplices, and denounced as a CIA agent. The same
ay, the Red Army began its march into Afghanistan; forces landed by
ir at Kabul Airport; within a short period of time, some 100,000 Soviet
r00ps were in Afghanistan. A stunned Jimmy Carter described it as ‘the
reatest threat to peace since World War II' and advised Brezhnev to
iither withdraw the Soviet military or face serious consequences’
quoted by Arif from the International Herald Tribune of 31 December
979, 2001: 175).

Such a huge influx of foreign troops did not help pacify the volatile
ituation. On the contrary, the rebellion against communist rule
roliferated. As a result, the Red Army was engaged in fighting Afghan
asurgencies in different parts of the country. Islamic countries
ondemned the Soviet intervention: foreign mi isters from thirty-four
slamic nations adopted a resolution condemning it. The UN General
wssembly passed, by a vote of 104:18, a resolution protesting the Soviet
wasion of Afghanistan.

Although US military assistance started much later, initial US
wolvement in Afghanistan began after Daud had captured power—
then the Pakistan military sent some of its officers for training in

gency warfare. diately after the ist takeover, the US
ought greater contacts with Afghan rebels. Some six months before the
oviet deployment on 3 July 1979, President Carter signed an executive
rder authorizing the CIA to carry out covert propaganda operations
gainst the Kabul regime. This was an ideal opportunity for the
\mericans to reinvigorate the notorious Great Game that had been
oing on in the region since the nineteenth century. The Red Army's
rrival in Afghanistan greatly transformed US involvement, as it now
trove to set up an effective resistance to the foreign troops. It was the
pportunity the Americans had been waiting for, to conduct a proxy
rar against its arch rival. The humiliation suffered in Vietnam could
ow be avenged, irrespective of the suffering it would inflict on the
atives of the region.




PAKISTAN BECOMES A FRONTLINE STATE

The Soviets committed extensive atrocities against the Afghans who
mainly headed to Pakistan, but also to Iran, in search of safe havens.
Whereas the Iranians strictly monitored the use of their territory for
the launching of armed i into Afgh the response of
Pakistan was just the opposite. The Soviet intervention in Afghanistan
resurrected Pakistan’s erstwhile role as a frontline state in the US
strategy to contain the spread of communism. The military pacts
between the United States and Pakistan, from the 1950s, had been
dormant and the two allies had moved away from each other as already
noted. Now, that alliance was resurrected—although, the immediately
preceding period was one in which relations between the two had
touched their lowest ebb. The Carter administration was particularly
concerned about Pakistan’s refusal to forgo its nuclear weapons
development. In March 1979, it had threatened to cut off economic aid
under the Symington Amendment. Zia had taken the position that
Pakistan's nuclear programme was as ‘peaceful’ as that of Indias—which
was considered unacceptable and a month later, in April, the United
States cut off economic aid to Pakistan. Such a drastic measure
particularly ised the Pakistani because it felt that
although the Indians had introduced nuclear weapons in South Asia,
the Carter administration had rewarded the new Indian Prime Minister,
Morarji Desai, with a warm reception in July 1977, and with a
presidential visit to Delhi in early 1978. Relations between Pakistan and
the US touched their nadir when it was revealed that the State
Department had been considering an attack on Pakistan's nuclear
facilities to terminate its nuclear infrastructure as one of their options
(Abbas 2005: 95-6).

From the Pakistani point of view, the American policy in South Asia
was grossly skewed in favour of India. It was under these circumstances
that, when on 21 November 1979 the news broke that some group had
tried to take over the holiest shrine of Ka'aba in Makkah, Zia reportedly
said that international transmissions suggested it had been inspired by
the Americans. Spomaneous crowds of enraged Plluslams—)olned by
students from the presti Quaid-i-A University, Islamabad, led
by the Islami lamm Tll.lba the student wing of the fundamentalist
Jamaat-e-Islami—marched on the US Embassy in Islamabad. The mobs,
shouting angry slogans of ‘Allah-o-Akbar’ (God is Great), ‘Down with
America, and ‘Zia-ul-Haq Zindabad (Long live Zia-ul-Haq)’ overpowered
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the Pakistani and US guards, climbed over the walls, and set fire to the
buildings inside. Two Americans, and two Pakistani employees of the
embassy, were killed in the raid. The Pakistan Army base was not far
and soldiers could easily have arrived within half an hour. But, it took
them four hours to come to the rescue of those besieged inside the
embassy as the army was involved in providing Zia with security as he
rode a bicycle from his residence to his office—a publicity stunt he
thought would go down well with the Pakistanis, as the icons of the
pristine Islamic state at Madinah—the pious caliphs—were known to
have shunned all pomp and show and lived like ordinary citizens even
when they were the heads of the state and government. That such a
publicity stunt coincided with an attack on the American embassy was
accidental, though the Americans suspected that the raid was
orchestrated by someone in the government (ibid., 96).

Under the circumstances, the Soviet intervention proved to be the

catalyst that would transform relations between the two countries from

dly d to closest cooperation, albeit without necessarily
surmmmhng the lms( deficit that had accumulated on both sides.
Rather, close cooperation was dictated by the purely instrumentalist
concerns of both sides. Nevertheless, on 21 January 1980, Carter offered
$400 million to Pakistan, of which $200 million would consist of
military equipment on credit and $200 million of economic aid. Zia
famously described it as ‘peanuts’ (Suleri 1990: 15). A joint statement
of 3 February 1980, by Zia and by Carter’s nation security adviser,
Zbigniew Brzezinski, invoked the 1959 Agreement emphasizing that e
United States was committed to Pakistan’s independence and security
(Jain 2007a: 104). However, Pakistan was not satisfied with the limited
help that the Americans were willing to offer. Also, the Carter
Administration seemed reluctant to raise the stakes, and informed
Pakistan that the 1959 Agr was only an i and
not a proper treaty because it had not been adopted by Il\e US Congress
through proper procedure. On 5 March 1980, Zia's foreign affairs
adviser, Agha Shahi, openly expressed displeasure at what Zia had
already described as ‘peanuts. In particular, the $200 million military
sales credit was considered to be too insignificant to meet Pakistan's
defence requirements at that critical juncture (ibid., 104-5).

However, Brzezinski—who had already masterminded an active
policy to encourage dmndems to prolesl in the name of human rights
in Eastern E paign to covertly finance the
Afghan Mu;ahldetn lhrough the CIA and Britain's MI6. In an interview .




dated 13 June 1997, he made a clean breast of US strategy ir
Afghanistan:

We immediately launched a twofold process when we heard that the Soviets
had entered Afghanistan. The first involved direct reactions and sanctions
focused on the Soviet Union, and both the State Department and the
National Security Council prepared long lists of sanctions to be adopted, of
steps to be taken to increase the international costs to the Soviet Union of
their actions. And the second course of action led to my going to Pakistan
a month or so after the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, for the purpose of
coordinating with the Pakistanis a joint response, the purpose of which
would be to make the Soviets bleed for as much and as long as is possible;
and we engaged in that effort in a collaborative sense with the Saudis, the
Egyptians, the British, the Chinese, and we started providing weapons to the
Mujaheddin, from various sources again—for example, some Soviet arms
from the Egyptians and the Chinese. We even got Soviet arms from the
Czechoslovak communist government, since it was obviously susceptible to
material incentives; and at some point we slarted buying arms for the
Mujaheddin from the Soviet army in Afghanistan, because that army was
increasingly corrupt (Brzezinski 2011).

Thus, while overt military aid remained modest during Carter's term in
office, inski managed to ci official via the CIA.
The most significant player in the new clandestine alliance was Saudi
Arabia. Its vast oil wealth and a fanatical zeal to wage war on the godless
Soviet Union converged into a golden opportunity to thwart the
leadership challenge posed to it by its arch-rival, Iran, under the equally
fanatical Imam Khomeini and his Shia clergy. As the self-styled leader
of the Muslim world, Saudi Arabia did not even maintain formal
diplomatic relations with the USSR. For years, it had quietly cooperated
with the CIA by letting it interview pilgrims from the central Asian
republics of the Soviet Union at the time of the annual Hajj (Coll 2004:
81). British involvement was also present from the start as old

hands were included among the consultants. Egypt and other smaller
Islamic players also took part in the recruitment of Islamic warriors.

CHINA

In this regard, China's often gets eclipsed but constitutes yet another
deviation from the formal rules of war. Serious differences between the
Sovnel Umon and Chma had emerged in the 1960s and split the
§ into hostile pro-M and pro-




Beijing configurations. The Chinese had taken the stand that Sovi

social imperialism was the bigger enemy of the international proletariat
and socialist revolution. In the 1970s, the US-China liaison facilitated
by Pakistan had already resulted in an understanding that Soviet
influence should be curtailed in Asia. Mao’s successor, Deng Xiaoping,
had decided to make a complete break with the socialist economy and,
instead, 8o full-throttle for capitalism. Such a 180-degree about-turn

d greater cooperation with the Ameri to access capital,
Ied\nology and markets. It also implied military cowpenlmn with the
ized citadel of capitalism. Now, an opp y had arisen

to elcvale that understanding into a working alliance of all sons against
the Soviets.

Thus, in January 1980, American officials visited Beijing where it was
agreed that the two sides would cooperate to counter the Soviet invasion
of Afghanistan, as well as against Vietnam—which had moved closer to
the Soviet Union following the former’s war with the pro-Chinese Pol
Pot in Cambodia. The Ameri also secretly promised to allow
technology transfers. Thus began the American, Saudi, Egyptian, and
Chinese aid to the Afghanistan jihad (Cooley 2000: 66-7). This
involvement was also motivated by Chinese interest in the Karakoram
Highway—historically known as the Silk Road—which passed though
Pakistan and China, only 35 miles away from the Afghan border. China
used its air space, and the Karakoram Highway, to transport its own
weapons as well as those of the Americans and other nations. Later,

ding to the beleaguered Afghan presid ji Chinese
military aid exceeded $400 million. The ISI denied that the Chinese
were involved in the provision of weapons (ibid., 72-80).

GENERAL ZIA’S STRATEGY FOR CONDUCTING THE
AFGHAN JIHAD

Pakistan had become a sanctuary for a huge influx ol' M'ﬂnn refugees.
In spite of its meagre it offered g ian help
and the provision of facilities for the esubllshmg of an Afghan
resistance against Soviet occupation. Pakistan received the sympathy
and support of many Western and Islamic countries. Brzezinski paid
generous compliments about Pakistan's role in the Afghan jihad, stating:

There was a certain coolness and distance in the American-Pakistan
relationship prior to the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan. After that invasion,




we collaborated very closely. And 1 have to pay tribute to the guts of the
Pakistanis: they acted with remarkable courage, and they just weren't
intimidated and they did things which one would have thought a vulnerable
country might not have the courage to undertake. We, I am pleased to say,
supported them very actively and they had our backing, but they were there,
they were the ones who were cndangered, not we (Brzezinski 2011).

One need not emphasize that it was Zia who was at the helm of affairs
in Pakistan, and the risks that Pakistan was taking were a tribute to his
leadership. Once Ronald Reagan assumed the presidency on 21 January
1981, attitudes in the White House, the Pentagon, and the State
Department changed stridently in favour of backing the Mujahideen to
the hilt. Consequently, an ambitious aid package, to the tune of $3.2
billion for the period 1982-7, was offered to Pakistan. It was divided
equally between economic aid and military sales. Pakistan accepted the
package without any hesitation. Speaking to newsmen on 21 April 1981,
after talks with Reagan'’s secretary of state, Alexander Haig, Agha Shahi
explained that the new package was accepted not only because it was
bigger but that:

The Carter Administration’s offer did not carry the credibility of a US-
Pakistan relationship nor was the package commensurate with the
magnitude of the threat; the Reagan Administration had put forward a Five-
Year Plan that was the difference. We believe in the determination of the
new Administration to strongly support the independence of Pakistan (Jain
2007a: 107).

The main difference was that it was not simply one player of the Carter
Administration, Brzezinski, who was in favour of backing Pakistan but
the whole administration was determined to convert the struggle in
Afghanistan into a proxy war against the Soviet Union.

Pakistan began to be praised as a ‘pivotal state’ a ‘frontline state) and
so on (Arif 2001: 184-5). In reward for its services, General Zia
demanded a free hand in organizing the resistance and the right to
dispose of the funds—which was readily conceded by the US. Thus,
Pakistan acquired modern and related technol on a
massive scale, and its conventional arsenal vis-A-vis India was
replenished after years of bans on procurement from the United States.
Although some concerns about Pakistan's nuclear programme were

by p bers of the ican Congress, the US
govemmenl looked the other way (Haqqani 2005: 216). Pakistan




continued, clandestinely, to pursue its nuclear programme (ibid., 185-
6). General Zia tasked the ISI, rather than the regular military, with
primary responsibility for masterminding actions against the Soviets
and Afghan communists. The CIA and the ISI Directorate worked in
concert, though the actual operations were managed exclusively by the
ISI. Pakistan's elite SSG commandos were decply involved in those
operations (ibid., 186). A call to jihad was heralded all over the world;
Muslim zealots from forty-three Muslim countries, as well as from the
West, began to arrive in the Pakistani city of Peshawar. These warriors,
known as were trained exclusively by the IS to use modern
weapons and explosives. While foreign warriors arrived in Peshawar in
the thousands, the real backbone of the liberation struggle was borne
by the Afghan and Pakistani Mujahideen. Except for the communists
and some left-leaning liberals, all other sections of Afghan society took
part in the jihad—including the Deobandi, Wahhabi, and Sufi orders.
Equally, in Pakistan, the Jamaat-e-Islami as well as the Wahhabi-
oriented Ahl-e-Hadith and the Deobandi Jamiat-e-Ulema-e-Islam were
deeply involved in recruiting and indoctrinating young men for the
Afghan jihad. Even Sufi-oriented Sunnis, doctrinally the same as the
Barelvis, took part in the religious war (Rana 2004; Rashid 2000).

MADRASSAS AND MUJAHIDEEN

Besides immediate mobilization and recruitment, long-term investment
was made in these areas through the madrassas (religious schools). Zia
encouraged Saudi charities to build madrassas along the Afghan border.
Madrassas—where pupils were imparted education in Islamic theology.
law, and beliefs—had always existed in Muslim societies, and were
supported by government and private donations and endowments.
Ironically, in the pre-colonial era, the pupils belonged to upper-class
familics. Such pupils were then qualified to serve in religious positions
in mosques and other related institutions. That changed when secular
schools imparting modern education came into being during the British
period. The search for employment required a different kind of
knowledge and training. Thereafter, it was mostly children from poor
backgrounds who were sent to the madrassas where they received
clothes, free board and lodging and, once trained in the basic rituals
and belicfs of Islam, usually found work as prayer leaders and
functionarics in Islamic institutions. In the 1970s, there were only a few
hundred madrassas. After the politicization of Islam as jihad ideology,



the number of madrassas proliferated—to 12,000-15,000 by the mid-
1980s—particularly along the Afghanistan-Pakistan border. It is
estimated that 1.5 to 2 million pupils (Taliban) were the products of the
madrassas (Ali 2009: 15-25).

In this regard, the US role in promoting the jihad ideology is
noteworthy. According to Joe Stephens and David B. Ottaway, who
wrote an article entitled ‘From the U.S., the ABC of Jihad’ (23 March
2002), school textbooks designed by the Centre for Afghanistan Studies
at the University of Nebraska-Omaha, under a USAID grant worth
US$50 million, were published with a view to promoting the idea of
jihad among the Mujahideen. They observed:

In the twilight of the Cold War, the United States spent millions of dollars
to supply Afghan schoolchildren with textbooks filled with violent images
and militant Islamic teachings, part of covert attempts to spur resistance to
the Soviet occupation.

The primers, which were filled with talk of jihad and featured drawings
of guns, bullets, soldiers and mines, have served since then as the Afghan
school system's core curriculum. Even the Taliban used the American-
produced books, though the radical movement scratched out human faces
in keeping with its strict fundamentalist code (2002).

The books were mostly printed in Pakistan; during 1984-94, over 13
million were distributed at Afghan refugee camps and Pakistani
madrassas ‘where students learnt basic math by counting dead Russians
and Kalashnikov rifles’ (Jan 2002). Mahmood Mamdani has quoted an
example given by the Pakistani physicist and political debater, Pervez
Hoodbhoy, from a fourth-grade mathematics textbook published under
the programme. In it was included lhe followmg exemse “The speed
of a Kalashnikov [the ubiq Soviet ic machine
gun] bullet is 800 meters per second. If a Russian is at a distance of 3200
meters from a mujahid, and that mujahid aims at the Russian’s head,
calculate how many seconds it will take for the bullet to strike the
Russian's forehead’ (Mamdani 2004: 137). I contacted Professor Jack
Schroder at Nebraska University through Dr Saleem Ali; the latter had
studied madrassa education in Pakistan. Schroder denied that such
material was printed in Nebraska and asserted that it was done locally
in Afghanistan. He sent me a facsimile of a maths lesson in which
counting dead Russians was used to teach the students to count.
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Although the programme was discontinued in 1994, the textbooks
continued to be used in the madrassas. Steve Coll has observed that
relishing the killing of as many Red Army troops as possible seemed to
have been an obsession with Howard Hart, CIA’ chief of station in
Islamabad:

For many in the CIA the Afghan jihad was about killing Soviets, first and
last. Hart even suggested that the Pakistanis put a bounty out on Soviet
soldiers: ten thousand rupees for special forces soldiers, five thousand for a
conscript, and double in either case if the prisoners were brought alive. This
was payback for Soviet aid to the North Vietnamese and the Vietcong, and
for many CIA officers who had served in that war, it was personal (Coll
2004: 59).

That such practices may induce a violent culture in the hundreds of
thousands of Mujahideen, and one day come to haunt the Americans
themselves, was not given any consideration at that stage. I have heard
CIA operatives on CNN and BBC who, without any remorse, described
such policy as cost-effective and imperative in the battle to defeat their
arch enemy. Another negative implication of introducing monetary
incentives was that corruption, bribery, an illicit arms trade, and poppy
cultivation became rampant and percolated all sections of Afghan
society, and indeed the Pakistan military and ISI. While Secretary of |
State Hillary Clinton has, on a number of occasions, acknowledged US
guilt in creating such monsters, when I posed the question to former
US Ambassador to Pakistan Wendy Chamberlin (July 2001-June 2002)
whether she felt that the US had any responsibility in the creation of
the terrorist mind-set, she retorted that General Zia sufficed in turning
Pakistan into a fanatical Islamic society. The US assistant secretary of
state for South and Central Asian Affairs, Robin Raphael, whose former
husband Arnold Raphael was ambassador to Pakistan during the Zia
period and died in the plane crash with him, emphasized that at the
time it was important for Pakistan to preserve its integrity and survival
against a Soviet thrust into its territories at all costs, and that the United
States provided crucial support at that time.

STRATEGIC DEPTH

As the Pakistani military expanded its role in Afghanistan, it also began
to re-define its stature in the region. As already noted, Pakistani defence
strategists had always worried about Pakistan's lack of ‘strate ‘c depth’




SOVIET LOSSES

A CIA estimate 1rom the beginning of 1984 suggested that the
Mujahideen had killed or wounded 17,000 Soviet soldiers and destroyed
350-400 Soviet aircrait, 2750 tanks and armoured carriers, and nearly
8000 trucks and other vehicles. This had been achieved in a most cost-
effective manner: $300 million contributed by the US taxpayers and
$200 million v Saudi Arabia. CIA Director William Casey became an
ardent champion of jihad. Reagan had been re-elected, and people with

€Ven stronger conservative views now became part of the administration.
They looked upon the Afghan jihad as a God-sent opportunity to defeat
the ‘evil empire’ Congressman Charlie Wilkon hecame the mouthpiece
of the rabid anti-communist lobby in the United States. He developed
close relations with Zia, and began to provide more money and
sophisticated weapons svstems into the CIAS classified Afghan budget—
in particular, the Stinger missile which could be fired from a single
soldier's shoulder, and proved to be the undoing of the Soviet air force
as bot  attack helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft became easy targets
and were shot down i increasing numbers,



AN ISLAMIC-CHRISTIAN WAR AGAINST COMMUNISM

A number of devout Catholics, with strong anti-communist sympathies,
were now running the covert Afghan operations. Such proclivities
bound them even closer to the Islamist extremists who were conducting
the actual operations against the Soviet troops (Coll 2004: 89-93). Steve
Coll has put this gence of religious fanaticism in the foll
words, ‘Casey saw political Islam and the Catholic Church as nalural
allies in the “realistic counter-insurgency” of covert action he was
forging at the CIA to thwart Soviet imperialism’ (ibid., 97-8). Charlie
Wilson, a great champion of the jihad, was able to procure shoulder-
fired Stinger missiles for the Islamic warriors. Many such weapons
ended up on the illegal weapons market. As a result, there was a
dramatic escalation in the funding to the Afghan jihad as well as in the
military operati including ISI operati against military targets
inside the Muslim Central Asian republics of the Soviet Union. The
KGB and the Afghan KHAD had carried out sabotage and assassination
missions inside Pakistan. By 1987, 90 per cent of the 770 terrorist
incidents recorded worldwide had taken place in Pakistan (Abbas 2005:
122). So, it was tit-for-tat. As the casualties mounted, the Soviet Union
sent a warning to both the United States and Pakistan. While the
Americans denied any involvement, Zia ordered the man in charge of
such operations, Brigadier Mohammad Yousaf, to go slow as they
widened the scope for terrorism. Many Arab Mujahideen studied these
tactics with great interest: Al-Qaeda would later turn such lessons
against the Americans.

On 15 December 1986, Casey suffered a massive stroke and died a
few weeks later. Thereafter, important changes took place in the attitude
of the United States’ policy makers. Doubts began to be expressed about
a strategy that bolstered anti-American Islamists, such as Gulbadin
Hekmatyar, whom Zia and the ISI considered their man among the
various Afghan leaders. The CIA, however, continued to support the ISI
strategy: the mission, which was still to kill Soviets. Colonel Imam
(Sultan Amir Tarar, a Punjabi Jatt who spoke fluent Pashto) explained
to me, in an extended interview at his residence in Rawalpindi in
December 2008, that he trained and led the Afghan and Pakistani
Pakhtuns in hundreds of missions aimed at killing Russians. He stated
that this did not pose a problem for his conscience because he was
acting for the glory of Islam. However, there was some criticism, within
the Afghan resistance, about the ISI's manipulation of the Afghan jihad




to serve Pakistan's interests; the critics included local commanders such
as Abdul Haq, who had Ioﬂ s Ieg during the campmgn. Haq enjoyed
the trust of the Ameri '3 lists covering the
events.

In any event, the secretary-general of the Communist Party,
Gorbachev, and his advisers had, from the beginning of 1987, begun to
doubt the wisdom of a continuing Soviet presence in Afghanistan. It
had caused a great loss of men, material, and prestige (Arif 2001: 179).
Gorbachev had initiated reforms in the rigid communist system and
wanted to make a break with the type of state system that he had
inherited from his predecessors. He and his advisers were, therefore,
also willing to extricate themselves from the Afghan situation. They

were ble to a d withdrawal provided power was handed
over to moderate Afghan elements and not Islamists. Soviet Foreign
Minister Sh d i d such an i ion to his

counterpart, George Shultz, while on a visit to Washington, DC. This
was later discussed by the head of the KGB and the acting CIA chief,
Robert Gates, in Washington DC (Coll 2004: 168).

The Afghan communists, on the other hand, were very worried that
if the Soviets withdrew they may not be able to hold on to power.
Meanwhile, Babrak Karmal, who had earlier taken over power with
Soviet help, had been replaced by Dr Najibullah as president of
Afghanistan in November. Under Soviet instructions, the new
government sought a moderate image with a multiparty system and
provisions for Islamic law. But, such changes did not make any
difference as the Afghan Islamists and the ISI were determined to
establish a dogmatic Islamic state. On the other hand, modern educated
women and liberal-minded Afghans, who had benefitted from the
modernist reforms of the communists, feared an Islamist takeover by
Hekmatyar.

Despite opposition from the Islamabad-based hard-line CIA officers
who continued to put their trust in the ISI, in the spring of 1988 the
State Department assigned Edmund McWilliams with the task of
liaising with rebel Afghan leaders without the ISI being informed. The
Americans were now in tacit agreement with the Soviets that the
withdrawal of the Red Army should not bring an Islamic fundamentalist
regime into power in Afghanistan. Because of the efforts of both the
superpowers, the Geneva Accords were signed on 14 April 1988
whereby the Soviet withdrawal from Afghanistan was to begin on 5 May
1988 and be completed by 15 February 1989. The accord required







States was fully aware of Indias concerns. It was also asserted that
Pakistan needed the F-16s for a defensive role (Jain 2007a: 327-8). On
the whole, concerns about Pakistan's nuclear weapons were low-key.
Thus, for example, on 12 September 1983, Deputy Assistant Secretary
of State Marshall formulated the administration’s concerns in these mild
terms: ‘The United States does remain concerned with certain Pakistani

pl pecially any d operation of its new lab reprocessing
plants and its continued efforts to complete construction of an
unsafeguarded enrichment plant. (ibid., 330). Formally, the

Americans kept demanding that Pakistan sign the Nuclear Non-
Proliferation Treaty (NPT). It was becoming clear, by 1987, that lhc Red
Army would be forced to withdraw in the not-so-distant fi

resulted in the Reagan administration changing its stance; Pakistan was
pressured to sign the NPT before a new $4.02 billion aid package could
be put before the US Congress for its approval (Malik 1990: 80). Zia
resisted such pressure with great diplomatic skill. In his meetings with
Reagan and members of Congress, Zia continued to assert that Pakistan
was not interested in making nuclear weapons. However, such a strategy
could not conceal the reality for too long because, according to Hassan
Abbas, Dr Abdul Qadeer Khan, the so-called father of the Pakistan
nuclear bomb:

Within three months of such revelations, three Pakistanis in the United
States and two in Canada were arrested for trying to illegally export
materials and equipment that could help advance Pakistan's nuclear
programme. Pakistan denied any involvement, but the Americans were
not impressed (ibid.).

RELATIONS WITH INDIA

The most interesting aspect of Zia's political acumen was that although
he invested, with considerable consistency, his ideological convictions
and political skills in conferring an unmistakable Islamist identity on
Pakistan, he succeeded quite well in keeping traditional enmity towards
India out of his public pronouncements. Moreover, with Pakistan's



military deeply involved in Afghanistan, it was necessary that India
should not create mischief on its eastern border. Zia ensured that the
Americans kept that in mind; he himself, deployed a number of
diplomatic overtures to keep India on the back foot. Thus, for example,
he proposed that both countries sign the Nuclear Non-Proliferation
Treaty. Another measure he put forth was that both should agree to joint
inspections of their nuclear sites by the International Atomic Energy
Agency. He also proposed a pact, between them, to terminate weapons
development programmes and allow mutual inspection of each other’s
facilities. He also considered that, besides Pakistan and India, other
South Asian countries such as Bangladesh and Sri Lanka and others
could agree to jointly declare South Asia a nuclear-free zone (Malik
1990: 81). In the international realm, Pakistan gained considerable
approbation; Zia's conditional offer to sign the NPT in 1985 became ‘an
oft-quoted document in world forums on the subject. He offered to sign
the NPT provided India does so' (ibid., 80-81). Craig Baxter has
summed up Zia's nuclear diplomacy in the following words:

India in each case either did not respond or rejected the proposals. It seems
clear that Zia was looking for a means to end the Pakistan program [nuclear
programme), but could only do so with some concessions from India.
Ending the program would presumably save resources and would get Zia
out of a serious bind with the United State, especially with many in the
United States Congress. Pakistan also offered India a ‘no-war pact, but this
was not seriously pursued by India (Baxter 1991: 139-40).

Indian worries about a China that had already inflicted a humiliating
defeat in 1962, and possessed nuclear weapons since 1964, meant that
Zia's overtures were not going to be reciprocated. Moreover, Prime
Minister Indira Gandhi nurtured immediate grievances against the Zia
regime for its alleged covert support to the Sikh, and later Kashmiri,
scparatists. The idea of a separate Sikh state In the Indlan Punjeb—
Khalistan—was born among the Sikhs settled in North America and
Britain, but emerged as a serious political threat to India in the 1980s
when Indira Gandhi cultivated the support of a fundamentalist Sikh
preacher—Sant Jarnail Singh Bhindrawale—to challenge the leaders of
the conservative Sikh party, the Akali Dal, which dominated the politics
of East Punjab and was in opposition to her Congress party in that state.
They were also part of the national opposition to the Congress
government at the centre. India accused two of the main leaders of the
Khalistan movement, Dr Jagjit Singh Chauhan and Ganga Singh



Dhillon—the former based in the United Kingdom and the latter in the
US—of being in contact with American members of Congress and
senior Pakistani officials (White Papcr on the Punjab Agitation 1984).
The Indian government and press maintained that Pakistan was
providing bases, training, and other help to Sikh separatists. The
greatest degree of Pakistani involvement allegedly took place during the
Zia period (1977-88). Pakistan, of course, denied such accusations.

With regard to Indian-administered Kashmir, while Pakistan’s
involvement in its internal resistance to Indian rule began in real earnest
during the post-Zia period, the basic framcwork for launching jihad in
that disputed territory was devcloped during his time. In the event, the
armed struggle in Indian-administered Kashmir began on 31 July 1988,
when the Jammu Kashmir Liberation Front (JKLF) exploded bombs in
three buildings that belonged 1o the Government of India in the
Kashmiri capital, Srinagar (Noorani 1991: 123). Kashmir Chief Minister
Farooq Abdullah alleged that Pakistan was supporting the JKLF. This
allegation was made just before Zia dicd in a plane crash in August
1988.

SIACHEN

A more specific and direct confrontation took place between India and
Pakistan on the prohibitive heights of the Siachen Glacier—located in
the disputed Kashmir region. The Siachen Glacier is located at a height
of over 6000 metres (20,000 f1). It is a most inhospitable terrain, mostly
due to the extreme cold weather and the concomitant hazards of
maintaining a base in such a place. It is some 900-1000 sq miles
altogether (2300 sq km). The origin of the Siachen conflict derives from
the incompletely demarcated territory between India and Pakistan,
known as NJ9842, denoting the Siachen glacier. The 1972 Simla
Agreement did not address the issue of who controlled the glacier but
merely stated that, from the NJ9842 location, the boundary would
proceed ‘thence north to the glaciers. However, after Pakistan began to
grant permission to international mountaineering teams to climb some
of the high peaks in the Siachen area, India became concerned that
Pakistan was thus staking claim to the territory.

Consequently, the Indians began to send secret army expeditions to
the Siachen Glacier. On 13 April 1984, the Indian Army and Air Force
personnel went into the glacier territory and dug into the highest
mountaintops. It was, therefore. India that took the initiative in



establishing a military presence, on a continuous basis, in the disputed
area. Pakistan made several attempts to dislodge the Indians. The most
determined effort was in 1987 when a mission, led by the elite SSG
commandos, failed to achieve its objective. General Pervez Musharraf,
however, has expressed the view that the Indians have to suffer far more
than the Pakistanis because the Indians have to cover a long trek, while
the glacier is easily accessible from the Pakistani side (Musharraf 2006:
68-70). The Siachen conflict has dragged on and remains unresolved
up till now.

OVERALL DIPLOMACY VIS-A-VIS INDIA

Zia visited Delhi in 1983 to take part in a conference of the Non-
Aligned Movement. On that occasion, he visited his alma mater, St.
Stephens College in Delhi, and interacted with Indian leaders on an
apparently friendly basis. However, India’s favourable remarks on the
Movement for the Restoration of Democracy (MRD) irked the Zia
regime; at the same time, India kept alleging that Pakistan was helping
the Sikhs. After Indira Gandhi's assassmanon |n 19!4 Rajnv Gandhi
tried to modify the conventi hip. Zia
reciprocated amply. As a result, an exchange of delegations, led by the
foreign secretaries, took place. Direct dialling between the two countries
was started. In 1985, Zia visited India on his way back from Maldives
when both countries agreed, in principle, not to attack each other’s
nuclear installations. However, such gestures did not, in any meaningful
sense, alter the mutual distrust that has always marred their relationship.
As already mentioned, Pakistan blamed India for having a hand in the
unrest in Sindh, while India alleged that Pakistan gave sanctuary and
logistical support to the Sikh secessionists.

INDIAN MILITARY EXERCISE BRASSTACKS

Throughout the post-independence period, India, from time to time,
has taken steps that have accentuated Pakistan’s sense of vulnerability.
One such major provocation was the military exercise christened
Brasstacks—from November 1986 to March 1987—in Rajasthan, close
to the Pakistan border. Nearly the whole Indian Army was mobilized.
Zia looked upon Operation Brasstacks as provocation and, possibly,
preparation for an invasion of Pakistan. In response, he ordered his
armoured units to move to the border. India enjoyed conventional




aperiority and had exploded a nuclear device. There was suspicion, in
scurity circles, that Pakistan had also acquired nuclear capability.
ollowing the Second World War, this was the greatest concentration
f troops ready to go into battle. The Indians threatened to take
staliatory action if Pakistani troops were not moved away from the
order. This self-righteous threat was delivered by the Indian minister
f state for foreign affairs, Natwar Singh, to Pakistan's high commissioner
1 Dethi, Dr Humayun Khan, on 23 January 1987 (Arif 2001: 268). That
akistan had moved its troops in response to Indian provocation
zemed not to have been considered a legitimate reason by Natwar
ingh. Hawkish el in the Indian establish with the Indian
.rmy Chief General Sunderji, at the centre of it, were undoubtedly in
bellicose mood at that time.

Zia retained his nerve and displayed considerable political acumen.
Ie contacted Rajiv Gandhi and, as a result, both sides agreed to
rithdraw some of their forces from the border. Later, in February, Zia
isited India on the invitation of the Indian cricket board to watch a
ricket match. That further helped to defuse the tension. Slowly, things
eturned to ‘normal’ although both sides remained equally suspicious
f each other. General K.M. Arif has discussed Operation Brasstacks in
etail; his conclusion is that the Indian military high command
xceeded its brief, and Rajiv Gandhi was not fully aware of the objectives
he generals had in mind.

Some critical voices were raised in the Indian media as well against

B ks—ack ledging that it was provocative and
mghlenzd Paluslam secumy <oncems (An{ 2001: 242-76). Dunng this
reriod, the i ity was again very d about
var between these two neighbouring states, whose potential nuclear
apability worried them. It is not difficult to conclude that Brasstacks
nust have convinced Pakistan that it needed nuclear weapons to deter
ndia, which enjoyed a distinct advantage over Pakistan by virtue of its
uperior numerical strength and greater arsenal of conventional
veapons—in addition to its d d nuclear P king
apability.

SAUDI ARABIA

n ideological terms, the most significant development in the external
iphere during Zia's term was the close affinity that he felt with Saudi
Arabia. Saudi influence in Pakistan had been growing after the 1974




Islamic Summit. Already, hundreds of th ds of Paki: were
working in the Arab states of the Persian Gulf. The Pakistanis were
culturally prone to hold all things Arab in deference and, although their
treatment at the hands of Arabs was harsh and insulting, their living in
that region began to impact their traditional Islamic identity—with the
result that, instead of the Sufi-oriented traditions of the past, Arab
Islam with its strict adherence to orthodox Islamic prayer and habits
began to affect them. In fact, millions of Muslims working in Saudi
Arabia and the other oil-rich states of the Persian Gulf created the
rudiments of a global Islamic revival with Pakistan, in particular,
becoming radicalized into a puritanical Islam—which was rather easily
amenable to radical Islam.

While such changes were underway among the largely unskilled
workers, shopkeepers, and even the p | middle classes, the
Pakistan military too became mtegraled into such processes as, in 1983,
some 30,000 Pakistani military personnel were posted on duty overseas,
almost all in the Middle East. The bulk 20,000
in Saudi Arabia, including one armoured brigade (Arif 2001: 194). Zia,
himself, had served in Jordon in the 1970s, from where he had received
a very favourable reference which apparently helped Bhutto choose him
as COAS. A friend of mine from the Pakistan Army told me that the
Saudis had opposed Pakistani Shias being posted in Saudi Arabia, but
Zia did not accept such pressure because he did not want to introduce
divisions in the armed forces. Other reports suggest that no such Saudi
demand was made. In any case, the Pakistani units in Saudi Arabia were
removed in 1988, apparently because Pakistan continued to maintain
close ties with Iran. Later, after the invasion of Kuwait by Saddam
Hussain in 1991, the Pakistan Army was again stationed in Saudi Arabia
and a number of other Arab states in the Persian Gulf (Baxter 1991:
142-3). The radicalization of the Pakistan military was facilitated by the
physical presence of its personnel in the Middle East, especially in the
holy land—Saudi Arabia.

THE ECONOMIC Basis oF Z1A’s POLICIES

Shahid Javed Burki has given a highly positive evaluation of Zia's
economic policy—that he made the prudent decision not to interfere
with it, recognizing its crucial importance. Thus, he did not subject it
to the Islamization juggernaut that had rolled over other sectors of
society. C ly, the 8¢ of the y was left to
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and some industrialists as advisers. Ghulam Ishaq Khan,
churmln of the Planning Commission, was entrusted with the task of

the n.kmg ket principl He moved
Later, in 1985, when Ghulam lsl\aq was elecled chairman of the Semte
(of the National bly), the well-k World Bank

Mahbub ul Haq was given the task of managing the economy. Relations
with the World Bank were normalized, and it restored development aid
to Pakistan. Burki, as a captmn (o lhelr achievements, wrote that such
changes produced an ‘e record with few parallels
in the Third Word: During Ghulam lshaqs stewardship, the size of the
GNP increased by 76 per cent, and per capita income by 34 per cent.
How much of this percolated to the poor has not been accounted for in
Burki's review. However, he has asserted that, during 1975-85, Pakistan
received $25 billion in remittances from Pakistani workers in the
Middle East, and these helped the poor (Burki 1991: 12-15).

Burki has not brought the role played by money from the illicit trade
in weapons and narcotics, that accrued during this time, into the
discussion on the economy. Ayesha Siddiqa has noted that during the
same Zia era, ‘the senior generals acquired the political power that
allowed them to engage in predatory financial acquisition’ (2007: 139).
She has asserted that, during Zia's rule, new provisions were introduced
to expand the military’s share in the economy. Industries related to
fertilizers, oil and gas, the agro-industry, and army farms all became

areas where the military established its own production. Such
benefitted the military organizationally, as well as individual officers.
secret ‘regi | funds’ were introduced for the ders’

utilization. These were drawn from the defence budget for classified
projects, as well as from money earned through small cooperative
business and industrial ventures. Such, and other, avenues provided the
higher officers with ample gains—and thus their loyalty to the regime
was assured. The military also developed interests in transportation and
in the construction of roads, bridges, and related areas. Land grants in
rural and urban areas further bolstered the economic interests of the
officer corps. As a result, the military become economically autonomous.
Additionally, the army established its own elite schools, with English as
the medium of instruction, inside the cantonment areas. A number of
welfare foundations were established by the army, as well as by the air
force and navy. In short, the military greatly expanded its presence and
interests in the Pakistan economy (ibid., 139-44).




GENERAL ZIA’s EXIT

In terms of opposition at home, Zia's main worry remained the PPP.
The leadership of the party was with Z.A. Bhutto's daughter, Benazir,
who, along with her mother, Nusrat Bhutto, was put under house arrest.
Nusrat was allowed to travel abroad for medical treatment in November
1982. In January 1984, after six years of house arrest and imprisonment,
Zia even allowed Benazir to travel abroad for medical reasons. In both
cases, pressure from the US and from their friends and supporters
abroad made the martial law government relent. Benazir Bhutto
returned to Pakistan in August 1985 along with the dead body of her
younger brother, Shahnawaz Bhutto, who had died under mysterious
circumstances in his flat in Cannes (Bhutto 2008a: 289-300).

Zia had appointed Muhammad Khan Junejo, a Sindhi politician, as
prime minister just before Benazir returned to Pakistan. The two men
had reached an agreement that while Zia would lift martial law, Junejo
would arrange to have the National Assembly pass amendments to the
constitution that would give:

Zia and his generals blanket immunity from any manner of prosecution for
all acts of commission and omission after the July 1977 coup; mention him
by name as the president of the country for the next five years while
concurrently holding the appointment of the chief of army staff: and give
him powers to dismiss the prime minister and National Assembly (Abbas
2005: 120).

Zia did secure the safeguards that he wanted but, soon afterwards, his
relations with Junejo began to sour over a number of promotions and
appointments that the prime minister considered irregular and
arbitrary. Instead of being the pliant protégé, Junejo turned out to be a
man of principles and integrity—which Zia found unacceptable. Such
differences generated tensions in their relationship: matters came to a
head when Junejo decided to sign the Geneva Peace Accord, while Zia
wanted to ensure that a pro-Pakistan Isllmisl regime was firmly
lished in Afghani Zia was inced that Junejo had been
used by the Americans to pre-empt his ambitions in Afghanistan. Four
days before the Geneva Accords were signed, on 10 April 1988, a
massive explosion took place at the Ojhri Camp—the depot where all
ordnance for the Afghan jihad was d—midway between b
and its twin r.uty of Rawalpmdn It caused havoc as bombs. missiles, and

other exp! P d d of Ities were incurred.




Sabotage was suspected. Junejo wanted to institute an enquiry to
determine who the perpetrators were, while Zia was keen that the
Americans should replace the destroyed ammunition. On 29 May 1988,
Zia dismissed Junejo and the National Assembly. This was done via a
statement personally delivered by Zia on Pakistan television. The prime
minister and parliamentarians were accused of failing to stamp out
corruption and of their inability to enforce Islamic law (ibid., 124).

On 17 August 1988, a C-130B Hercules transport aircraft carrying
Zia and several other senior generals, including the chairman joint chief
of staff and head of the ISI during the Afghan jihad, General Akhtar
Abdul Rahman, the US Ambassador to Islamabad, Arnold Lewis
Raphael, and Brigadier General Herbert Wasson, took off from
Bahawalpur in southern Punjab. Just before taking-off, they, and other
Pakistani officers, had witnessed the performance of the US M-1
Abrams tank. The plane crashed a few minutes after take-off; all thirty-
one people on board perished. The cause of the crash has never been
definitively established but it is widely believed that sabotage was the
cause of the crash. The CIA, KGB, Khad, RAW, and even dissident
Pakistani officers and Shia opponents of Zia's Sunni Islamism have been
named in journalistic tracts. It remains a mystery. Zia's admirers believe
that the Americans and Soviets had reached an understanding that an
Islamist regime in Afghanistan was not in their interest and, therefore,
they entered into a conspiracy to get rid of Zia as he was determined to
install a pro-Pakistan Islamist regime in Kabul. That the crash could be
the result of a technical fault does not seem to be the explanation that
most commentators want to believe in. Zia died when he felt confident
and master of the situation. According to Shahid Javed Burki, Zia told
him, on 29 June 1988, that he would remain in power for a long time.
That proved to be a wrong prediction!

There can be no denying that Zias death was mourned by large
sections of the public. For the Afghan Mujahidcen, he was their saviour
and hero. More than a million people attended Zia's funeral in
Islamabad. A large number of Afghans, including leaders of all the
Islamist factions, took part in the ceremony. While the liberal
intellectuals abhorred the reforms that Zia had undertaken, those
measures were naturally lauded by Islamists—not only in Pakistan but
internationally as well. The London-based Palestinian secretary of the
Islamic Council, Salem Azzam, considered by many to be Osama bin
Laden's mentor, in his eulogy to Zia summed up the immense respect
and admiration he enjoyed among radical Muslims:




Zia was a Muslim leader who was genuinely committed to working for e
glory of Islam. Unlike some Muslim rulers, he did not pay mere lip service
toIslam. .. . Only Zia made a determined effort to establish an Islamic order
in Pakistan and made significant progress in this direction. Had he lived
longer he would have certainly pursued his mission to successful completion.
1am confident that the Muslim people of Pakistan, who loved and respected
Zia, will not rest until Pakistan is turned into an Islamic state in the true
sense of the word. This was, after all, the raison d@tre of Pakistan (Azzam
1990: xiv).
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Civilian Governments and
the Establishment

Following the death of General Zia, general elections were announced
for 19 November 1988. Eleven years of the Zia regime had greatly
strengthened the establishment vis-a-vis the political class. The political
campaign picked up momentum quickly. It became clear that the
contest would be between the PPP. led by Benazir Bhutto and the
Pakistan Muslim League, led by Mian Muhammad Nawaz Sharif.
Benazir Bhutto took over the leadership of the party from her mother,
Nusrat Bhutto, sidelining her brother, Murtaza Bhutto, whose
credentials had been sullied because of his involvement in terrorism.
While in exile, Benazir had been lobbying support for herself and her
party in the corridors of power of important Western nations.
Particularly, she visited Washington DC to cultivate sympathy for
herself with the State Department and influential senators and

as a mod and progressive leader who no longer
subscribed to the anti-Americanism associated with her father. As a
result, Zia had been pressured to allow her to return to Pakistan, and
she received a tumultuous welcome upon her return in 1986.

Under the circumstances, Zia began looking for a counterweight to
any threat that Benazir may pose to his rule. On the recommendation
of the Punjab governor, Lieutenant General Jilani, Zia began to
patronize Nawaz Sharif. The Sharifs were a phenomenal post-partition
Muslim success story. Mian Muhammad Sharif—Nawaz's father—and
his brothers had pooled their humble resources to acquire a rudimentary
iron foundry in Lahore in the 1930s (Warraich 2008: 28-9). They

ly in the ind dent Pakistan. Hi L Z.A.
Bhutlos erratic nationalization had hit the Sharifs severely. Under Zias
patronage, the Ittefaq Group of Industries was re-launched with liberal
bank loans from the government, and the Sharifs were catapulted into
the higher echelon of the entrepreneurial class of Pakistan. Moreover,




Nawaz was rewarded with the post of finance minister in the Punjab
government in 1981. In that role, he established a sound reputation as
a business-friendly, free-market, right-of-centre politician. In 1985, he
was elected chief minister of the Punjab (ibid., 61-3).

THE 1988 ELECTION

The of elections ani d political activists. Nawaz was
supported by an alliance known as the Islami Jamhoori Ittehad (1J1).
According to Benazir, the acting president, Ghulam Ishaq Khan, passed
a decree to change the election laws so that several PPP candidates could
be purged from the ballot; moreover, he declared that all voters must
have national identity cards—knowing full well that, in the rural areas
where the PPP’s strength was greatest, ‘only a third of the men and a
mere 5 per cent of women actually had these cards’ (Bhutto 2008b).
Moreover, the IS] carried out a vicious campaign to malign Benazir. The
1S head, General Hamid Gul, and his assistant, Brigadier Imtiaz, frankly
warned the Islamists that “The ISI has intelligence that Benazir Bhutto
has promised the Americans a rollback of our nuclear programme. She
will prevent a Mujahideen victory in Afgh and stop plans for
jihad in Kashmir in its tracks’ (quoted in Haqqani 2005: 202).

The ISI distributed millions of rupces to her opponents to join the
IJ1. Years later, the former head of the ISI, Lieutenant General Asad
Durrani, admitted in an affidavit submitted to the Pakistan Supreme
Court that he had been given money by the government [read Ishaq
Khan and COAS Aslam Beg] to distribute among the politicians and
political parties. The money had bcen donated by the business
community. The sums paid to some of the leading politicians were as
follows: Rs 10 million to Mir Afzal in NWFP; Rs 3.5 million to Nawaz
Sharif in Punjab; Rs 5.6 million to Lieutenant General (Retd.) Rafaqat
for a media campaign; Rs 5 million to the Jamaat-e-Islami; Rs | milllon
to Begum Abida Hussain; in Sindh, where Benazir enjoyed broad
support, several politicians were among the recipients—Rs 5 million to
former PPP leader Ghulam Mustafa Jatoi, Rs 5 million to Jam Sadiq, Rs
2.5 million to the recent prime minister, Muhammad Khan Junejo, and
Rs 2 million to Pir Pagara. In Balochistan, Rs 1 million was given to
Nadir Mengal (Kharal 2010).

In spite of such bribery, the PPP emerged as the main winner,
winning 94 of the 217 directly-clected seats in the house. That figure
went up to 122 when the members from the tribal areas, minorities, and




BENAZIR BHUTTO AS PRIME MINISTER
(2 DECEMBER 1988-6 AUGUST 1990)

Benazir was sworn in as Pakistan's first female prime minister on 2
December 1988. She kept the portfolio of finance minister with herself,
and ignored Ishag Khan who had been at the helm of economic
planning during Zias time and prided himself for having put the
economy on a sound footing. Benazir further antagonized Ishag Khan
when she began to make appointments to different posts through the
‘placement bureau” Some 200,000 vacancies were filled on the
recommendation of PPP members of parliament (Aziz 2009: 99-101),
On the other hand. she released political prisoners, ended press
censorship, and undertook reforms for women—such as Mi istry of
Women's Development, women's studies programmes at universities, the
Women's Development Bank; also, separate police stations with female
staff were established in some places and were expected 1o be expanded.
However, on the other hand, the harsh Islamic laws that Zia had
introduced were left unchallenged. Her plea was that she lacked the
requisite two-thirds parliamentary majority to amend the constitution.

At the fourth SAARC Summit in Islamabad in December 1988,
Benazir and the Indian Prime Minister, Rajiv Gandhi, seemed to have
struck a friendly rapport. Benazir was of the view that Pakistan should
re-orient its foreign policy towards democracy and, since India was a
democracy, relations with that country should improve. During their
mecting, it was agreed that the two countries would not attack each




other’s nuclear facilities. Some understanding also emerged on
increasing trade and resolving the dispute over the Siachen Glacier. The
military, as well as the IJI, were critical of such a standpoint (Shafqat
1997: 234-5). In any case, a rumour began to circulate after the SAARC
Summit that Benazir had handed over the names of the Khalistani Sikhs
who had, hitherto, received sanctuary in Pakistan.

The United States revived its aid to Pakistan, which had virtually
dried up once the Red Army had withdrawn from Afghanistan. Benazir
has written:

Instead, our team in Islamabad and Washington worked to get the White
House and Congress 1o greatl id to Pakistan, making the country
the third-largest recipient of foreign assistance from the United States, after
Israel and Egypt. . We ncgotiated a nuclear -building measure
with the United States, making ‘no export of nuclear technology’ part of our
nuclear doctrine. We also decided not to put together a nuclear device unless
the country’s security was threatened (Bhutto 2008b: 199-200).

Allegedly, in 1989, the Al-Qaeda leader, Osama bin Laden, offered
money to members of parliament, including those from the PPP. to pass
a no-confidence vote to make her government fall. When some of them
informed her about the conspiracy, Benazir used some of them as
“Trojan horses’ in the 'ISI-1]I' camp, to confuse it into believing that a
majority existed against her. Benazir wrote: ' used another group to
videotape Brigadier Imtiaz Ahmed asking my members to defect
because “the army” did not want me. And | worked on members of the
opposition who had known my father or were disgruntled with the 1]I’
(ibid., 201). The no-confidence vote failed and Benazir continued in
office. This assertion of Benazir's—subsequently corroborated by
Brigadier Imtiaz during an interview on Dunya TV—was called
Operation Midnight Jackal. Imtiaz revealed that COAS General Aslam
Beg wanted 10 replace her as her policics were deemed to be contrary
to those of the army (Daily Ti es, 28 August 2009).

When she tried to rehabilitate some pro-PPP army officers, who had
deserted when her father was overthrown, the army overruled her
decision. Moreover, the head of the 151, General Hamid Gul, continued
to maintain links with the 1]1. In short, she was treated like a security
risk (Abbas 2005: 136-38). She tried to assert herself by using her
executive prerogative to appoint pro-PPP judges and bureaucrats, and
spread a wide net of partisan appointments. The head-on collision with
the establishment took place when Benazir tried to take control of the



IS by removing its Director-General, General Hamid Gul, and replacing
him with General Shamsher Rahman Kallu. She has written:

General Gul [Hamid] got President Ishaq Khan and Gencral Mirza Aslam
Beg, the army chief of stafl, to authorize the transfer of the ISI's duties to
Military Intelligence (MI). ... While the ISI's ability to destabilize the
government was ncutralized, the military security campaign continued
under the aegis of the MI (Bhutto 2008b: 202).

Benazir was in a vulnerable position vis-a-vis the overall domestic
power balance. Ethnic violence in Sindh, between the MQM and PPP
and other Sindhi nationalists, caused hundreds of Ities. During the
period 1 January 1990 to 31 July 1990, 1187 people were killed and 2491
injured in various incidents in Sindh; of these, 635 were killed and 1433
injured in ethnic terrorism (Aziz 2009: 102). She sought the help of the
army which insisted that, as militants were present on both sides, it
needed proper legal powers to conduct an even-handed clean-up
operation. Benazir was reluctant to accede to this. In Punjab, the PML
won 108 out of the 240 seats and formed the government. Nawaz, who
had been elected to both the National Assembly and the Punjab
Assembly, decided to become the chief minister of Punjab. Consequently,
confrontational politics over the distribution of funds and resources
characterized the restoration of civilian rule after years of military-led
dictatorship. The veteran civil servant, parliamentarian, finance and
foreign minister, Sartaj Aziz, asserted that the PPP tried to oust Nawaz
from the post of Punjab chief minister by trying to win over ‘at least
twenty-five members of the IJI government led by Nawaz Sharif’
(ibid., 99), but failed. Nawaz retaliated by rejecting federal government
appointments of senior officers to and from Punjab. The two rivals
entered a zero-sum contest that made a mockery of responsible
government. Exercising his special powers under Article 58 (2-b) of the
constitution, also known as the Eighth Amendment, Ishaq Khan
dismissed Benazir on 6 August 1990. He listed several reasons in the
charge-sheet against her, but the crux of the argument was that public
office had been abused to plunder national wealth to promote the
interests of the PPP to such an extent that politics in Pakistan became
synonymous with corruption.




NTERIM ARRANGEMENTS AND NEW ELECTIONS

inted under a dissident Sindhi PPP
’ader, Gl\ulam Mustafa lalo: A number of other ex-PPP leaders also
sined the cabinet. Fresh elections to the national assembly were
nnounced for 24 October 1990. As was the case previously, the contest
vas between the two main alliances—the People’s Democratic Alliance
PDA) led by Benazir Bhutto and the rightwing Islami Jamhoori Ittehad
1]1) led by Nawaz Sharif. Nawaz denounced Benazir, not only for
orrupnon but a]so because she had allegedly sold out to American
kmail, and exploitation (Kux 2001: 311). Benazir
ccused the establishment of supporlmg Nawaz, and the intelligence
ervices of rigging the elections once again—even though she had won
n the previous occasion. Air Marshal (Retd.) Asghar Khan has
ecorded that ‘trucks carrying ballot papers had entered the Ittefaq
ndustries premises’ (Khan 2008: 409). The I]I secured 106 seats while
he PDA could muster merely 44 seats in the 217-seat National
\ssembly. Benazir accused the ISI of conspiring to inflict a defeat on
er. On the other hand, Nawaz asserted that Ishaq Khan and COAS
islam Beg had wanted Jatoi to be prime minister and, only reluctantly,
ccepted him (Nawaz) as prime minister though he had won a landslide
ictory (Warraich 2008: 78-9).

JAWAZ SHARIF AS PRIME MINISTER

6 NOVEMBER 1990-18 APRIL 1993)

Tawaz turned out to be asscrtive and confident vis-a-vis the deep state.
Ie ushered in free-market reforms that included the de-nationalization
f state enterprises that had been nationalized earlier by Z.A. Bhutto.
n doing so, he has claimed that his government carried out
beralization earlier than India. Nawaz also introduced easy instalment
»ans for unemployed youths and other such people to run duty-free
nported taxis. Such measures won him praise from the World Bank
nd the International Monetary Fund. But, surprisingly, not from the
Inited States which stopped economic and military aid soon after
ienazir was overthrown (Abbas 2005: 144). More crucially, liberalization
nd denationalization did not please Ishaq Khan who had invested his
kills in running nationalized industries efficiently. Nawaz’s relations
rith Ishaq Khan turned into open hostility when Nawaz expressed his




intention to waive parts of the Eighth Amendment that would restore
the supremacy of parliament (Warraich 2008: 78-80).

With regard to the military, Nawaz has noted that, initially, he had
amiable relations with the top commanders. There was no disagreement
on Afghanistan. However, his relations with General Beg quickly
assumed negative features over the Iragi invasion of Kuwait in 1990.
Nawaz and Beg initially agreed to send Pakistani troops to the Persian
Gulf in support of Kuwait and Saudi Arabia, against the Iragi invasion.
Afterwards, Beg changed his stance and began to oppose it (Kux 2001:
312; Warraich 2008: 85-8). Ishaq Khan appointed General Asif Nawaz
Janjua as COAS in August 1991, overruling the man that Nawaz had
wanted in that position. General Janjua felt that the prime minister was
cultivating a constituency in the army by showering favours on some
generals and making arbitrary appointments to senior positions. Such
differences assumed political implications as the prime minister and the
COAS clashed over the reasons, and responsibility, for the rampant
lawlessness and ethnic violence in Sindh (Nawaz 2008: 449-59).

Janjua and the corps commander of Karachi, Lieutenant General
Naseer Akhtar, wanted to cut the MQM down to size, but Nawaz was
not willing to do that as it was part of his ruling coalition at the centre.
It was widely speculated, in the Pakistani newspapers, that the MQM's
supreme leader, Altaf Hussain, feared some sort of action against him
by the army. And so, he left for Britain in January 1992 from where he
began to direct his followers via the telephone and recorded messages
on video tapes. Thus, terrorism continued to rage in Sindh. At the end
of May 1992, Home Minister Shujaat Hussain made a statement to the
effect that India's main spy agency, the Research and Analysis Wing
(RAW), was directly involved in training and funding Jiye Sindh and
Al-Zulfikar cadres (Jang, 28 May). Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif

d the same allegations at the beginning of June, and announced
that the United Nations had been intimated of such interference (Jang.
9 June 1992). The background to such allegations was the proliferation
of roving gangs of dacoits who killed and plundered, and resorted to
kidnappings and abductions. When pursued by the police, these gangs
would cross into India through the vast border in the Sindh desert.
General Janjua and General Akhtar wanted to carry out stern actions
against both the dacoits as well as the political miscreants. Thus,
Operation Clean-Up was launched in May 1992, with a very different
remit from what the government had wanted.




Actual action began a few weeks later, in June, with raids by the army
against the strongholds of the MQM as well as the dacoits in the interior
of Sindh. The army made spectacular discoveries of MQM prisons,
torture chambers, and a sizable cache of arms in the possession of the
terrorists. Within the first few weeks, most of the top leaders of the
MQM had been arrested (Jang, 21-29 June 1992). The MQM members
of the Pakistan National Assembly and Sindh Assembly resigned in
protest.

General Janjua died suddenly on 8 January 1993, apparently because
of a heart attack, although his family suspected foul play. The post-
mortem report did not confirm foul play, but his brother, Shuja Nawaz,
has expressed doubts about the report (Nawaz 2008: 599-606). Asif
Nawaz's successor, General Abdul Wahid Kakar, was also not Nawaz's
choice. Ishaq Khan, allegedly, chose him without consulting the prime
minister (ibid., 85-8).

FRIENDLY GESTURES TOWARDS THE UNITED STATES

Nawaz had come to power with the impression of being a strong
proponent of Pakistan’s independence vis-a-vis the United States.
However. once in power, he softened that image. His support for the
anti-Saddam coalition was an important move in that direction. He
expressed a willingness to stop production of enriched uranium, but not
to destroy what Pakistan already possessed. Conscquently, the sanctions
imposed under the Pressler Amendment were cased and Pakistan was
allowed to ottain $120 million o1 arms sales—primarily spare parts for
the F-16s. The Americans were worried that continuing sanctions would
render Pakistan increasingly dependent on China. Pakistan, on the
other hand, was getting increasingly worried about India’s growing
missile capabilities. China, the Americans suspected, began to help
Pakistan with some of its misule requirements (Kux 2001+ 312-20).

THE DISMISSAL OF NAWAZ SHARIF

However, such moves in the international arena had no bearing on
Nawaz's standing vis-a-vis the deep state. Ishaq Khan dismissed him on
grounds of corruption to the tunc of $20 billion (Tahir 2010). The
charge sheet included ions of judicial killings, victi

of opponents, and other such charges. His mega-construction schemes
and yellow taxi initiatives had won Nawaz the honorific title of Sher




Shah Suri (legendary Muslim reformer of the sixteenth century) of
Pakistan from his admirers, but his critics alltged lhal these schemes
were panied by kickbacks and illicit his
cooperative bank schemes had collapsed, rendering thousands of
widows, orphans, and retired personnel who had deposited their savings
in those ventures destitute. Most such banks were owned by members
of Sharif's Muslim League. More serious was the fact that his family
business, Ittefaq Industries, benefited enormously because of tariff and
customs duty manipulation. The personal fortunes of the Sharif family
magnified because of abuse of public office (Abbas 2005: 146).

Nawaz, proffering a conspiracy theory about his downfall, alleged
that Benazir conspired with Ishaq Khan to bring him (Nawaz) down.
The alleged proof of such connivance was that when Nawaz was
dismissed, Ishaq Khan took Benazir's spouse, Zardari, and other PPP
leaders into his interim government (Warraich 2008: 80). But, on the
other hand, Benazir denied any involvement in the dismissal of Nawaz
and accused him of undoing her social programmes—especially those
related to the uplift of women—re-introducing press censorship, and
denying the opposition access to the state media (Bhutto 2008b: 203).

ANOTHER CARETAKER GOVERNMENT AND
NEw ELECTIONS

A caretaker government was appointed under Mir Balakh Sher Mazari.
However, the Supreme Court of Pakistan overturned the unseating of
Nawaz six wecks later, and returned him to power on 26 May 1993, At
that point, the Pakistan Army stepped i in and told Namz to reslgn He
resisted; COAS General Kakar mediated in the

Nawaz, Ishaq Khan, and Benazir—which resulted in a compromlsc
solution that required both Nawaz and Ishaq Khan to resign their
offices. The chalrman of the Senate, Waslm Sajjad, became the interim
president. The establishment then invited a retired vice-president of the
World Bank, Moin Qureshi, to assume the duties of prime minister until
an elccted government could take over after the elections scheduled for
6 October, 1993. The elections returned a more diversified National
Assembly. The PPP won 86 seats and the PML-Nawaz (PML-N) 72
seats. Several small parties and independents captured the rest of the
seats in the 217-seat National Assembly. Although Benazir alleged that
the results had been delayed by several hours and that the intelligence
agencies had again conspired against her, ultimately, the PPP won more




seats than any of the other parties. And so began the negotiations with
the minor parties and independents. On 14 November, Farooq Ahmed
Leghari, a PPP stalwart who had served as foreign minister during the
first Benazir government, was elected president.

BENAZIR BHuTTO
(19 OCTOBER 1993-5; NOVEMBER 1996)

Benazir's return to power, on 19 October 1993, greatly perturbed the
opposition. She alleged that the IS1 and Al-Qaeda had tried to
assassinate her (ibid., 205). However, she was not deterred. She
reinvigorated the social action plan from her previous incomplete term;
development initiatives were undertaken pertaining to education,
health, housing, sanitation, infrastructure, and women'’s rights. The
stock exchange was modernized, and the State Bank computerized;
100,000 women were trained to work in health and family planning in
both rural and urban areas; and 30,000 primary and secondary schools
were constructed. Moreover, tax revenues were doubled and national
ceconomic growth tripled. Pakistan was being celebrated as one of the
ten emerging markets of the world. The law and order situation
unproved Her go\emmcnl came out strongly against terrorism.
Ci onk pping and hostage-taking took place. She claimed
that had her government continued for the full five-year term,
international terrorism would not have succeeded in finding a base in
Pakistan (ibid., 206). Her return to power and her policies received
appreciation from the West; in 1995, the United States gave $368 million
in aid for the purchase of US military equipment.

In the political biography of Benazir Bhutto, Goodbye Shahzadi, the
Indian journalist Shyam Bhatia, who studied at Oxford University with
Benazir, has made some startling revelations about her involvement in
the proliferation of nuclear technology. Bhatia has written that, in the
off-the-record interview given to him in Dubai in 2003, Benazir claimed
that while her father was the ‘father of Pakistan’s nuclear weapons
programme, she was the ‘mother of the missile programme’ (Bhatia
2010: 39). The story was that in 1993, Pakistan's nuclear research was
under scrutiny from the Indian, Western, Israeli, and Russian secret
services. As it was widely believed that Pakistani scientists were engaged
in industrial espionage with a view to acquiring technology that would
help them achieve nuclear weapons’ capability, their trips abroad were
strictly monitored. Benazir, who enjoyed the reputation of being a




The story reccived considerable attention worldwide; US experts on
Pakistan, such as Selig Harrison, considered Bhatia's story credible
(Kessler 2008). Not surprisingly, the Pakistan Foreign Office dis issed
Bhatia’s clai s as unfounded and misleading.

CouP ATTEMPT

In September 1994, the Military Intelligence (1) uncovered a plot to
overthrow Benazir's government. The masterminds of the conspiracy
were Major General Zahcer-ul-Islam Abbasi, Brigadier Mustansir Billa,
Colonel Azad Minhas, and some other officers. The plan was to
overthrow the government, declare Pakistan a Sunni religious state, and
kill the top commanders in the GHQ—the conspirators expected the
rest of the army to accept it as a fait accompli. Apparently, the plotters
were not in command of the troops with whose help they could have
succeeded in their bid to carry out an Islamist coup détat. As the
plotters were aiming to liquidate the top generals, not only was it a
conspiracy against Benazir but also against the establishment. COAS
General Kakar reacted by overhauling the intelligence power structure
The new director of the ISI, Lieutenant General Javed Ashraf Qazi, was
tasked with purging the ISI of Islamists—a task he carried out with
determination and courage. The ringleaders and their followers were
court-martialled and handed down prison sentences, others were retired
(Abbas 2005: 152-3).

Benazir's reputation continued to be tainted by rumours that she and
her spouse were relentlessly looting the national treasury once again.
Her niece, Fatima Bhutto, has affirmed the corruption charges in ample
measure, giving many examples (Bhutto 2010: 384-8). Benazir's
appointment of twenty new judges of the Punjab High Court caused




considerable controversy. Syed Sajjad Ali Shah, a Sindhi whom Benazir
had chosen as Chief Justice of the Pakistan Supreme Court, refused to
endorse her appointments, while she refused to implement the court
ruling. Justice Shah sought the help of President Leghari to resolve the
tangle. Leghari prevailed upon her to relent. Benazir had expected the
president to rubber-stamp her decisions. Further tensions were
generated between them when Benazir used her own men, in the
intelligence agencies, to spy on Leghari. She also used such elements to
pass information to her on some corps commanders and ISI and MI
officials (Abbas 2005: 156-7).

On 20 September 1996, Benazir's brother, Murtaza Bhutto, was
gunned down in a spray of bullets. Murtaza had established a separate
PPP faction. According to Benazir, Murtaza and she had reconciled
their differences two months earlier. However, the intelligence agencies
began spreading rumours that her husband, Zardari, had masterminded
the murder. A judicial inquiry set up to investigate the crime, Benazir
informs, cleared Zardari of any involvement (Bhutto 2008b: 209).
Murtaza's daughter Fatima, however, has referred to Leghari’s statement
on Dunya TV in January 2010 in which he said that Zardari had come
to him, along with Benazir, and insisted that Murtaza should be
eliminated. Zardari had said, ‘It’s either him or me’ (Bhutto 2010: 423).
In any case, Benazir's second term in office was cut short when, after
Murtaza’s death, a terrorist attack on Shias resulted in twenty-one
deaths. Leghari considered such developments to be a sign of a
deteriorating law and order situation. By invoking his prerogative under
the Eighth Amendment, and in consultation with General Karamat, he
dismissed Benazir on 5 November 1996. The charge sheet against her
was a familiar one about massive corruption and abuse of office. An
investigative journalist at the New York Times, John F. Burns, wrote a
report that mentioned that Pakistani investigators traced more than
$100 million to Benazir's secret accounts in foreign banks.

A close confidant of Benazir's explained to the present author, on
pledge of anonymity, that Benazir and her family had suffered great
economic hardship in Pakistan, and later while living in exile. They
were nearly broke when she returned to Pakistan. Therefore, Zardari
and she resorted to corruption to acquire the economic means to sustain
themselves politically. Shyam Bhatia, too, touts such a story while
admitting that Benazir and her husband had indulged in unabashed
corruption (Bhatia 2010: 28-37).



CARETAKER GOVERNMENT AGAIN
The same day, veteran politician Malik Meraj Khalid (5 November
1996-17 Fehruxry 1997) took over as caretaker prime minister. He
duced austerity h y protocol and
pomp and show. New elections were held on 3 February 1997. Nawaz
won a landslide victory: the PML-N won 137 seats, while the PPP was
routed and only won 18 seats. Benazir accused the intelligence services
of massive rigging against the PPP.

NAWAZ SHARIF (17 OCTOBER 1997-12 OCTOBER 1999)

Some smaller parties and independents joined the coalition government
led by Nawaz. Leghari inued as presi With 165 b
supporting him, Nawaz had an unprecedented two-thirds majority in
the National Assembly in support of his government. Not surprisingly,
he managed to have the Thirteenth Amendment passed—which took
away presidential power to dismiss the prime minister. A few months
later, the Fourteenth Amendment was passed, which subjected members
of parliament to very strict party discipline whereby party leaders could
dismiss legislators who failed to vole as lnslrucled It virtually
eli inated any chance of parli g an i bent prime
minister out of office lllrough a no-confidence mouon Some opposition
members moved a writ petition against the Fourteenth Amendment,
and the Supreme Court declared it ultra vires, much to the chagrin of
Nawaz (Abbas 2005: 159-60).

M hile, Nawaz insti the Ehtesab (; bility) Bureau. It
was purported to hold politicians and holders of public office
accountable, so as to prevent corruption. However, its ire was directed
against political opponents and journalists. Nawaz also developed
differences with the chief justice of the Supreme Court, Justice Shah. A
mob of PML-N goons raided the Supreme Court premises and disrupted
court p dings. On 28 N ber 1997, Nawaz dismi: Sajjad Ali
Shah, al.leglng that Justice Shah and President Leghari were conspiring
to overthrow him; and, further, that like Benazir he, too, had heard that
Shah was aspiring to become prime minister. He claimed that this
information was provided to him by the intelligence agencies (Warraich
2008: 108).




AFGHANISTAN, TALIBAN AND KASHMIR JIHAD

The domination of the mlhtary and some powerful bureaucrats—
variously described as the ligarchy, or deep state—
during the civilian governments of the 1990s wus met by efforts, by both
Benazir and Nawaz, to assert their authority against them. However,
during the same period, policy towards Afghanistan and Indian-
administered Kashmir remained virtually the exclusive preserve of the
military and intelligence services, most notably the ISI. Both Benazir
and Nawaz deemed it expedient to go along with, and even take the
itiative on, these two subjects.

AFGHANISTAN

When Benazir came to power in 1988, the Soviet Union's withdrawal
from Afghanistan had begun; it was completed in February 1989.
However, the pro-Soviet regime headed by Dr Najibullah was still in
power. Benazir and the Americans were in favour of a negoualed

in Afghani between the ist and anti-
fadlons. but lhe 151 and Islamists favoured military means to establish
of the Afghan Mujahid y under the fanatical

Plkhlun leader, Gulbuddin Hekmalylr (Haqqanl 2005: 213).
Consequently, a frontal military attack was launched on Afghan cities—
which proved to be unsuccessful. The ISI even tried to set up an Afghan
interim government in Peshawar, but Benazir refused to extend it
recognition as long as it did not control any major Afghan territory. The
Jamaat-e-Islami (JI) called for recognition of the interim government,
while the I]I government—headed by Nawaz in the Punjab—hosted a
reception for the interim government leaders in Lahore. This was a
contravention, in constitutional terms, as the holding of such receptions
for foreign dignitaries is the exclusive right of the federal government:
but, with the ISI backing him, constitutionalism was irrelevant. In any
case, the ISI and Islamists persisted with their policy of a military
campaign to oust Dr Najibullah. The American military went along with
the campaign, even though American and Pakistani diplomats—notably
Foreign Minister Sahibzada Yaqub Ali Khan—and Benazir were against
it (Haqqani 2005: 214-5).




THE AFGHAN CIvIL WAR

Benazir’s dismissal, and Nawaz's installation, as prime minister did not
lﬂm lhe lSls and military’s Afghan policy. Efforts to overthrow

d but proved ful. He survived in office for
four years without the help of Soviet troops. However, defections by
some powerful warlords—such as the Uzbek leader, General Abdul
Rashid Dostum, who joined an alliance led by the non-Puktun Tajik
leader, Ahmed Shah Massoud—weakened Najibullah. What followed
was a tussle between the Islamist Mujahideen backed by the ISI and the
Dostum-Massoud forces that came to be known as the Northern
Alliance. The latter were victorious. The Afghan president, who had
taken refuge in the UN office in Kabul, was dragged out and pitilessly
lynched.

The removal of the last relic of the short communist rule brought
out, into the open, the deep ethnic and regional tensions and conflicts
in the disparate Afghan population. Hitherto, the warlords had joined
ranks to oust the Red Army and its Afghan hosts, but such unison was
misleading and fake. What followed was several years of bloodshed and
terrorism that paled the horrors of the warfare during the anti-Soviet
jihad. Various ethnic and sectarian factions, led by their warlords, began
an internecine butchery. Pakistan threw its weight behind the Pakhtun
leader, Gulbuddi k in his opposition to the government of
the Tajik, Burhanuddin Rabbani, who was supported by the Dostum-
Massoud forces.

However, at some point, the ISI tried to work out a broader alliance
between different traditional Islamists, both Pakhtun and non-Pakhtun.
Brigtdier Yasub Ali Dogar was, at that time, heading the ISI operations

in Afghani The ISI was i blishing a broad
coalition with, first, Sibgatullah Mujadid (28 Apnl 1992-28 June 1992)
and then Burhanuddin Rabbani (28 June 1992-29 September 1992).
Later, Hekmatyar served as prime minister from 1993-1994, and again
briefly in 1996. That greatly boosted Pakistan's prestige as a regional
power. However, Hekmatyar expended his energies on intensifying
violent confrontations with his ethnic rivals. Thousands of Afghans
were killed, the incidents of rape and other gross excesses nplml
women and sectarian minoriti h as the Shia H:

There was a complete breakdown of law and order during the wars of
the warlords (Amin, Osinski, and DeGeorges 2010: 25-7). It was also a
period when the international supporters and backers of the different




factions began to actively support them. Most notably, India cultivated
the Uzbek-Tajik alliance, while Pakistan backed the southern Pakhtun
forces. However, the balance of power was such that neither Hekmatyar
nor the National Alliance could decisively weaken the other. The gory
and destructive civil war, stalemated, adding to the already staggering
amount of suffering of the Afghan people (Haqqani 2005: 238).

THE TALIBAN

It was under these circumstances that, from the end of 1994, the Taliban
(students of Islamic madrassas) of the Pakhtun belt on both sides of the
Durand Line, led by Mullah Omar, more or less spontaneously joined
the contest; the civil war had resulted in total anarchy and chaos, and
drug barons and other criminals reigned supreme. Unlike the
Mujahideen who had fought the Soviets, most Taliban were younger and
entered the bloody conflict after the Soviet Union had withdrawn. Their
leaders were, of course, veterans of the anti-Soviet jihad. Apparently,
besides embodying a strict Deobandi type of militant Sunni Islam, the
Taliban were also supported by Pakistani transport and smuggling
mafias looking for a route to the central Asian markets. Others who
supported the Taliban movement were the Islamist ally of Benazir,
Maulana Fazlur Rahman of the JUI, and Pakhtun military and political
officers from Pakistan. In other words, it was essentially a Pakhtun
movement that represented a curious blend of the religious and
mundane interests of the Pakhtuns on both sides of the Durand Line.
The United States initially approved of Pakistan's efforts to bring the
Taliban and other Afghan factions to the peace table. At the same time,
the American oil company Unocol negotiated a gas pipeline deal that
would extend from Turkmenistan to Pakistan, through Afghanistan
(Haqgani 2005: 238-40). Many other international companies were also
on the look-out for a share in such possi

s. Also, the Americans
were hoping that the Taliban would bring an end to terrorism, as well
as narcotic trafficking; additionally as the Taliban were fanatical Sunnis,
they would curb Iranian influence in the region. The regime, that the
Taliban established, made Washington realize that many of its
calculations were delusional (Kux 2001: 336-7).

At any rate, the Taliban's movement towards Kabul, from Kandahar,
was swift and dramatic. As they advanced, the weary and devastated
locals joined them because they were perceived as pious and humble,
and none of the notorious warlords was among their ranks. On the way



to Kabul, the Taliban established peace and ‘law and order’. They routed
all others and captured Kabul in September 1996. Pakistan rejoiced over
their victory because, for the first time, a friendly government had come
into power in Afghanistan. Both Benazir and Nawaz welcomed the
Taliban regime. Later, Benazir and her interior minister, Naseerullah
Khan Babar, were to claim to have played a leading role in helping the
Taliban capture power, though she regretted that Saudi Arabia had
hijacked them (Khan 2005: 197). More importantly, that tall claim
carried negative implications that Benazir had not counted on: it
encouraged Pakistani Islamists to demand, and agitate with greater
vigour and devotion, for a similar government in Pakistan. As usual,
the JI was on the barricades leading the diehard Islamists.

The triumph of the Taliban was celebrated by the Pakistani military
establishment and the ISI as a major strategic asset. For the first time,
a government was in power that was not hostile to it. Indian influence
plummeted as the National Alliance was driven out of Kabul and
pushed into small pockets in the northern provinces. However, it was
far from self-evident that the Taliban were merely creatures of the ISI
with no will or interests of their own. Thus, for example, despite
Pakistani pressure, the Taliban never conceded that the Durand Line
was the international border between Afghanistan and Pakistan (Rashid
2008a: 186-7). Moreover, the Taliban acquired control over the trade
and movement of smuggled goods that passed through Afghanistan on
their way to and from the Central Asian Republics, Afghanistan, China,
and Pakistan. As a result of the Taliban-controlled smuggling, the
Pakistani economy lost vast amounts of custom revenues annually.
Between 1992 and 1998, such losses totalled $900 million. Afghan

ling mafias blished a strong p in the h
Pakistani province of Balochistan (ibid., 191).

In any event, the Taliban regime was initially successful in
establishing peace, rooting out opium and heroin gangs, and
maintaining pri e justice. Soon afterwards, it began to impose an
Islamic order that, by its severity, outdid the repressive fundamentalist
regimes of Iran and Saudi Arabia by a wide margin. In particular, the
Taliban seemed obsessed with any modicum, even symbolic, of female
emancipation. In their perception, a female’s presence in the public
sphere and public gaze could jeopardize the moral order and chaste
conduct that Islam required of all pious Muslims. Although men who
raped women and committed other indignities were publicly executed,
the brunt of the Taliban’s wrath was directed against women. Female




teachers, doctors, and nurses were sent home. Female education was
declared un-Islamic, and no woman could step out of her four walls
without a male escort. In sectarian terms, the Taliban let loose a reign
of terror against the Shias. Morcover, the Taliban began to impose harsh
Islamic laws against alleged offenders in public places. The stoning to
death of adulterers, whipping of fornicators, and chopping off of the
hands of thieves were carried out with astonishing zeal. Moreover, a ban
was imposed on music, cinemas, and photography. Traders and
shopkeepers who kept such items were publicly flogged. Ahmed Rashid
has provided detailed insight into the scourge that the Taliban visited
upon the Afghan people. By the summer of 1998, the Taliban controlled
90 per cent of the territory, and the Northern Alliance was a shambles.
It resulted in Iran almost th ing to invade Afghani and
accusing Pakistan of being the main backer of the Taliban (ibid., 1-5).

The extreme monotheism that the Taliban professed acquired
pathological proportions as their jihad was generalized to include all
non-Muslims—who, thus, became legitimate targets (Ghazali and
Ansari 2002; Stern 2000). Both Hindus and Sikhs had lived in
Afghanistan since, at least, the time of Maharaja Ranjit Singh. The
traditional Pakhtun social code—the Pakhtunwali—had, in the past,
puaranteed the security of those minorities but the Taliban began to
harass them 1o convert to Islam or pay the Islamic protection tax,
itzya—which resulted in Hindus and Sikhs. in increasing numbers,
cmigrating to India or the Pakistani side of the Durand Line.
Consequently, not only was India, but so were the US, Isracl, and in lact
the whole non-Muslim world, declared enemies of Islam (Wright 2000).

JIHAD IN INDIAN-ADMINISTERED KASHMIR

With the border with Afghanistan now supposedly secure because of
the friendly Taliban regime, the Pakistan military, and especially the 181,
began to recruit warriors for the liberation of Kashmir from Indian
control—so actualizing their dream of attaining strategic depth. The
triumph of the Taliban had created the belief that a greater Islamic
republic or union of states—of Iran, Turkey, the Central Asian Muslim
republics, Afghanistan, and Pakistan—could be formed. However, such
a grand pan-Islamist state would be incomplete as long as Kashmir was
not liberated from Indian rule. This was an absurd non-concept in
military terms, ‘unless one is referring to a hard-to-reach place where




a defeated army might safely cocoon, according to the noted Pakistani
scholar-activist Eqbal Ahmad (Rashid 2008a: 187).

However, optimism that Kashmir could be liberated had increased
after a popular insurgency emerged, in the late 1980s, among the
Kashmiri Muslims—against Indian rule in Kashmir. Thousands of
Kashmiris crossed the border into Pakistan, and then fanned out to
lrumng camps in Afghanistan and Pakistan. After the Red Army left

i many foreign Mujahideen were drafted into the Kashmir
;lhad The ISI tried to cultivate Islamist militants of the pro-Pakistan
Hizbul Mujahideen, rather than the more secular Jammu Kashmir
Liberation Front (JKLF), that stood for an independent Kashmir. In the
1990s, lhe Harkat-ul- Mn;alndeen (HuM), Lashkar-e-Tayyaba (LeT), and
the Jai Muh Ives as Pakistan-based
organizations waging jihad against India, especially in the part of
Kashmir under India’s control (Hussain 2008: 24-5). The ISI and the
Saudi millionaire, Osama bin Laden. a veteran of the Afghan jihad,

d bases for Kashmiri mil in Afgh

'l'he Pakistan military and ISI began to nurture Pakistani funda-
mentalist organizations that, in turn, actively recruited volunteers to
fight in the Indian Kashmir. It became standard practice that, after the
weekly Friday prayers, donations were collected from the worshippers
to help fund the jihad in the Indian Kashmir. The Indian government
alleged, many times, that these organizations received support from the
Pakistan government, and that the training camps for the militants
existed in Pakistani Kashmir as well as in parts of Pakistan. The
Pakistan g denied their exi: instead, it described the
militants as freedom fighters (Rana 2004). In early 1990, India deployed
large numbers of troops in Kashmir; Pakistan did the same. The new
Indian Prime Minister, V.P. Singh, publicly spoke of the possibility of a
war between India and Pakistan. The American ambassadors to India
and Pakistan became concerned as suspicions already existed that both
sides possessed nuclear weapons' capability. Deputy National Security
Adviser Robert Gates visited South Asia and urged both sides to
exercise restraint. He believed that India could easily inflict defeat on
Pakistan, and did not accept Pakistan's position that it was not involved
in the Kashmir insurgency. In any case, Gates’ intervention helped
defuse the tension, and confrontation between the two rivals was
avoided (Kux 2001: 306-7).

In 1992-93, the United States, under pressure from India, came close
to describing Pakistan as a terrorist state. Pakistan responded by moving




the militants’ bases to eastern Afghanistan. Pakistan had to pay the
Taliban to acquire these facilities (Rashid 2008a: 186). Prime Minister
Nawaz Sharif replaced the hardline ISI director-general, Lieutenant
General Javed Nasir, with the more liberal Lieutenant General Javed
Ashraf Qazi. On the other hand, Pakistani officials complained that the
Mujahideen were described by the Americans as freedom fighters when
they fought the Soviets, but were now being branded as terrorists when
they were involved in the Kashmiris’ just struggle for liberation from
Indian occupation (Kux 2001: 322-23). Pakistan's stand on Kashmir
unexpectedly received great help from the American side when, on 28
October 1991, Assistant Secretary of State for South Asia Robin
Raphael, told journalists:

We view Kashmir as a disputed territory. We do not recognise and that
means we do not recognise that Instrument of Accession as meaning that
Kashmir is forever an integral part of India. And there were many other
issues at play in that time frame as we all here know. ... The people of
Kashmir have got to be consulted in any kind of final settlement in the
Kashmir dispute, because we belicve at this point, there is no way that any
resolution can be stable and lasting unless agreed to by the people of
Kashmir (Jain 2007a: 127-8).

Not surprisingly, while the Pakistanis were jubilant, the Indians were
deeply agitated. However, Raphael held her ground and, in a hearing
before the US Senate on 4 February 1994, she reiterated that stand
stating that what she had said did not signal a change in the US position
on Kashmir. She further elaborated:

We look at the former princely state as a whole. What we mean by that is
that not only are Indian-held portions in dispute but also portions held by
Pakistan are in dispute. . . .

‘We also emphasise regularly on the Indian government our view that they
should let international human rights organisations into Kashmir
(ibid.. 129).

Such statements did not allay Indian fears that the Americans were
leaning towards Pakistan. Raphael tried to dispel such an impression
when, on 9 February 1994 at a luncheon jointly sponsored by the Asia
Society and the India Council of the State Department, she said that it
was fair to stop all aid to Pakistan after the end of the Afghanistan war.
She defended that decision by saying that since the world situation had




changed, the US must also reforlnulale its policy goals based on its
interests (ibid.). Her htened Indian suspicions and fears
about US intentions. Then, on 25  March 1994, Raphael spoke at the
American Center in New Delhi where she modified her position
somewhat. She told the audience that the US position (as presented by
her in October 1993) had been misinterpreted and terribly distorted.
The correct position was that the United States supported a negotiated
settlement of the Kashmir dispute; further, that it should be resolved in
accordance with the Simla Accord; human rights violations in Indian-
administered Kashmir should be monitored in a credible manner; and
‘we vigorously oppose outside aid to the militants and have repeatedly
made that clear in capitals where it needs to be heard’ (ibid., 130). This
line of argument was subsequently adhered to by her, and her colleagues
in the Clinton inistration, while civilian g were in office
in Pakistan. In an interview with me, Raphael said that she had to suffer
subsequently because her initial stand had been fiercely attacked by the
Indians, and also failed to find favour with the US establishment which
was turning increasingly pro-India.

The main concern of the Clinton administration remained Pakistan’s
nuclear weapons programme. American officials acknowledged that the
economic and military sanctions were doing great harm to Pakistan but
regretted that nothing could be done as long as Pakistan did not come
clean on its nuclear ambitions. The Americans also strongly urged the
Indians not to go nuclear, but the refrain from New Delhi was that the
Chinese posed a threat to their national security and therefore they
would keep ‘all options open’ (Talbott 2004: 46).

NUCLEAR TEST EXPLOSIONS

Such pressure proved futile. On 11 and 13 May 1998, India carried out
five nuclear test explosions. Indians took to the street, delirious as they
celebrated their brute power. Joy was expressed across the political
divide. In fact, the Congress government of P.V. Narasimha Rao had
considered nuclear tests but, as the Hindu nationalist party, BJP, had
carried them out, jingoism and chauvinism were given full expression.
Not surprisingly, the sense of insecurity increased profoundly in
Pakistan. The government deliberated the pros and cons of an identical
Pakistani response but could not immediately agree on how to react.
Benazir resorted to theatrical tactics on television, urging Nawaz to
wear bangles if he did not want to act in a manly manner. The Clinton




Administration, the EU, and Japan exerted extreme pressure on Pakistan
to desist from conducting nuclear tests, while Saudi Arabia urged
Pakistan to go ahead. Pakistan carried out nuclear test explosions on 28
and 31 May. Nawaz earned the applause of a Pakistani nation that, no
doubt, felt extremely vulnerable after India’s display of military might.
However, once the euphoria was over and the United States and other
countries imposed severe sanctions on Pakistan, its economy was nearly
crippled (Warraich 2008: 113).

The government reacted by freezing foreign bank accounts. Rumours
spread that, before doing so, Nawaz and his ilk had illicitly transferred
lhelr own fomgn currency out of the country. Nawaz's popularity

d in a tailspin. He agg) d the situation when he suspended
man) civil liberties, dismissed the Sindh provincial government, and set
up military courts. On 8 October 1998, he moved the Shariat Bill in the
National Assembly which proposed that the Quran and Sunnah be
declared the supreme law. The bill was discussed by his cabinet and,
after some modifications, presented to the lower house of parliament—
the National Assembly. It was passed on 10 October 1998 by 151 votes
to 16. However, it required approval by the upper house—the Senate.

Human rights and women’s rights NGOs took out demonstrations
and protest actions. The government responded angrily, by stigmatizing
them as agents of Western imperialism and anti-Islamic forces (Ahmed
2002). However, the government did not have the required two-thirds
support in the Senate and, therefore, the bill was defeated. But Nawaz
persisted and, on 16 January 1999, Islamic law was imposed in the tribal
areas along the Afghanistan-Pakistan border. Nawaz threatened to
impose strict Sharia law in Pakistan as well, in spite of losing the vote
in the Senate. However, before he could do anything of the sort, his
government was overthrown by General Musharraf on 12 October 1999
(Abbas 2005: 164-5).

An aide of Osama bin Laden's, Ali Mohamed, claimed that he had
arranged a meeting between bin Laden and representatives of Nawaz.
After the mceting, Nawaz's representatives were allegedly rewarded with
$1 million for allowing the Taliban to flourish in Afghanistan as well as
establishing their influence in Pakistan's North-West Frontier Province
(ABC News, 30 November 2007). Such allegations notwithstanding,
Nawaz restored Sunday as the day of rest—which Z.A. Bhutto had
replaced with Friday. In this case, at least, Nawaz's trader instinct
trumped his Islamist orientations.




In any event, since October 1998, Nawaz had been drawn into a
confrontation with COAS General Karamat over the latter’s advocacy
of the creation of a National Security Council. Nawaz perceived it as a
conspiracy to involve the military in a more active role in Pakistani
politics, and severely criticized the military chief who resigned
(Warraich 2008: 117-9). Nobody put that more bluntly than Nawaz’s
handpicked COAS and nemesis, General Pervez Musharraf, who wrote,
‘What shocked me . .. was the meek manner in which General Karamat
resigned. It caused great resentment in the army, as soldiers and officers
felt humiliated’ (Musharraf 2006: 84) Nawaz appointed Musharraf as
army chief by mnkmg him supersede other senior generals: a decision
Nawaz depl ly in his ion with Warraich
(Warraich 2008: 120). Musharraf has claimed that his relations with
Nawaz were cordial initially, but not for long. When he disputed some
appointments and dismissals of the prime minister, and refused his
instructions to court-martial a journalist, Nawaz became a bully.
Morcover, he never read anything but took orders from Abbaji (his
father, Mian Sharif) in whose hands, allegedly, the real reins of power
rested. Therefore, antipathy between them developed progressively
(Musharraf 2006: 113).

PEACE MISSION TO LAHORE OF ATAL BIHARI VAJPAYEE

Such antipathy between Nawaz and Musharraf was manifest when the
Indian prime minister, Atal Bihari Vajpayee, visited Lahore in February
1999 to talk peace. Actually, the initiative—from the Indian side—had
been taken by his predecessor, Inder Kumar Gujral. Gujral and Nawaz
Sharif had met in Dhaka in May 1997. As the vibes were very positive,
they decided to try to bring their two nations closer to each other
(Gujral 2011: 407). Both were Punjabi refugees whose families had been
forced to flee to the other side when India was partitioned. They spoke
to each other in Punjabi—something Benazir tried to exploit by casting
aspersions on such behaviour as inimical to Pakistan. I saw this myself
on television. At any rate, Vajpayee now came across as a dove—having
won laurels from his hawkish Hindu nationalist Bharatiya Janata Party
(BJP) for carrying out the nuclear test explosions in May 1998. When
Pakistan followed suit, the Indian leadership realized that the balance
of power remained constant.

Vajpayee visited the Pakistan Minaret in the historic Minto Park
where, on 23 March 1940, the demand for Pakistan was first made by




the Muslim League. The visit was to symbolize the acceptance, by Hindu
nntwm.llsts, of the partition of India as an irreversible fact and the

g of a new era of cooperation between the two nations (Talbott
2004 I53) The Lahore Declaration of 21 February 1999 laid down that
both sides would strive for a mutually beneficial relationship; resort to
arms would be avoided; and all disputes including Kashmir would be
settled through negotiati Both sides admitted that, as nuclear
weapons states, their responsibilities had increased. Vajpayee came to
Lahore with a large delegation that included veterans with links to the
Pakistani West Punjab; among them were the matinee idol of the 1950s
and 1960s Dev Anand, the singer Mahendra Kapoor, and journalist
Kuldip Nayyar. At the Wagah border, most of the delegates were driven
to Lahore in buses while Vajpayee was flown to the Governor’s House
in a helicopter. The ]I and other opponents of the reconciliation process
demonstrated all along the road, and stones were thrown at the buses.
Nawaz has alleged that, apart from the JI cadres, ISI functionaries were
also involved in the stone-throwing (Warraich 2008: 123-4). Dev Anand
wrote about the nostalgia that gripped him when he visited his alma
mater, Government College Lahore. He mentioned the crowds lined up
on both sides cheering the visitors. The reception he received was very
friendly, and Nawaz Sharif took him to meet his cabinet ministers. Dev
Anand has not mentioned any untoward incident, perhaps not to
convey any negative impression of a visit that was meant to foster good
relations (2007: 364-70).

THE KARGIL MINI-WAR

A dramatic anticlimax to the peace process was the covert military
operation that Musharraf and his coterie of generals launched in the
Kargil mountain range on the Line of Control, apparently before
Vajpayee had arrived in Lahore. Nawaz has pleaded complete ignorance
about the Kargil operation:

As prime minister 1 was not taken into confidence at all. And when after
four months I was told a bit, it was said that the attack would neither cause
any trouble nor result in loss of life. It was also said the army would not
participate in the attack; rather it would be made by the Mujahideen
exclusively, However, when the attack was made, the entire Northern Light
Infantry perished; two thousand martyred and hundreds wounded: the death
toll was higher than the 1965 and 1971 wars put together. When such heavy
losses took place | reminded Musharraf that he had said no loss would be




caused 1o the army, and asked what was happening. He said the Indians are
carrying out carpet-bombing. I then asked whether he hadn't known that
the Indians could do so. He said no, he hadn't. I was informed that our men
were being killed like anything by Indian bombardment because there were
no roofs over the trenches. I must tell you that when the Washington Pact
was concluded, the Indian Ar y had got Kargil vacated. They were
advancing swiftly. It was I who saved our army from dishonour and disgrace
(Warraich 2008: 126).

Nawaz goes on to say that, as a result, Pakistan lost the international
community’s sympathy. The biggest setback was to the Kashmir issue
that Vajpayee and he had agreed should be resolved peacefully and
quickly. The Pakistan Army began to be described as a rogue army in
the international media. The Indian leadership felt betrayed as the
Kargil operation was in complete contravention of the Lahore
Declaration. Even after the dishonourable defeat that the army had
sustained, the generals did not inform Nawaz that regular Pakistani
troops had taken part in the operation—it was Vajpayee who told him
that it had, indeed, been the Pakistan Army. Before Nawaz left for the
United States, Musharraf went to him and implored him to arrange a
ceasefire at all costs because, otherwise, the Indians would inflict an
extremely crushing defeat on Pakistan. Nawaz praised Bill Clinton for
his understanding and efforts to bring about the ceasefire. Had the
Americans not helped, Pakistan would have suffered a humiliating
defeat. Clinton also informed him that Pakistan had been moving its
nuclear warheads from one place to another—a move that would have
caused great worry- to the Indians, and that such moves could have
resulted in a nuclear exchange between the two rivals (ibid., 127-135).

Not surprisingly, Musharraf sets forth a diametrically opposite
interpretation of the Kargil war. He makes a clean breast of the army
preparing an operation at Kargil on the Indian side of the LoC from at
least January 1999. The reason, according to Musharraf, was that by
occupying definite posts at Siachen, the Indians had already violated
the principles of the Simla Agreement and had, allegedly, been moving
their positions forward on the LoC since then. Consequently, he had
ordered a counter-manoeuvre to checkmate the Indians. This was done
with great success as the Kashmiri Mujahideen and Pakistani volunteers
surreptitiously occupied those bunkers and military posts that the
Indians routinely vacated during the winters. In May 1999, when the
Indians realized that the Mujahideen were there, some 500 miles in the



Kargil area were already under the control of the l’r«dom fighters.
has given the following of the Kargil op

Considered purely in military terms, the Kargil operations were a landmark
in the history of the Pakistan Army. As few as five battalions, in support of
the freedom fighter groups, were able to compel the Indians to employ more
than four divisions, with the bulk of the Indian artillery coming from strike
formations meant for operations in the southern plains. The Indians were
also forced to mobilize their entire national resources, including their air
force. By July 4 they did achieve some success, which 1 would call
insignificant. Our troops were fully prepared to hold our dominating
positions ahead of the watershed (Musharraf 2006: 93).

Musharraf has deplored Nawaz's capitulation before Clinton, and has
claimed that Pakistan was in a very advantageous position with the
freedom fighters determined to dig in. Nawaz should have demanded
concesswns on Kaslumr be[ore agreeing to not only a ceasefire but also
an di harraf has asserted that, were it not
for his sense of responsibility to not let down the elected government
at such a critical juncture, he would have gone public and shown how
the advantage was lost because of political mishandling. He has refuted
the claim that Nawaz had not been taken into confidence. According to
Musharraf, the prime minister was briefed on 29 January and then again
a few days later on 5 February 1999 and, on 15 March at the ISI
headquarters, given detailed information about the situation inside
Indian-occupied Kashmir. Later briefings followed on 17 May, 2 June,
and 22 June. Musharraf has rejected, out of hand, that the Indian Air
Force or ground forces stood any chance of defeating the freedom
fighters (ibid., 95-6). As on several previous occasions during wars with
India, the key actors laid the blame for their reverses at each other’s
doors. In this particular case, it seems that Musharraf’s account was less
reliable. Once again, It underlined that the opcration as a whole lacked
proper strategic planning. According to former US Deputy Secretary of
State Strobe Talbott, Musharraf and his generals were hoping to achieve
a different line of control that would be favourable to Pakistan (Talbott
2004: 157).

I interviewed Brigadier Vijai Singh Nair of the Indian Army in
Noida, outside Delhi, on 14 November 2010. He told me that since
Pakistan had taken the absurd position that there was no involvement
of Pakistani forces in the Kargil operation, and that those who
participated in it were Kashmiri Mujahideen and Pakistani vol




there was no available procedure in the military manuals whereby India
could hand over the bodies of the disowned soldiers—who had died
fighting—to Pakistan. Consequently, the Indian Army buried them
according to Islamic rites. This was possible because, since Indian
Muslims serve in the Indian Army, the regiments have maulvis (Muslim
clerics) attached to them; it was they who performed the funeral rights
for the Pakistanis slain at Kargil.

US-INDIA DEVELOP AN UNDERSTANDING

Bill Clinton came out strongly in favour of the Indian position on
Kargil, which was appreciated in New Delhi. This was followed by
extended parleys between Talbott and the Indian Defence Minister,
Jaswant Singh. The two men developed a close personal relationship
which greatly helped bring their two nations closer (Talbott 2004). More
importantly, it paved the way for significant military-to-military co-
operation between their two countries. Such measures helped to reverse
the impact of the severe reaction from the Clinton administration at the
time of the May 1998 nuclear tests (Cohen and Dasgupta 2010: 166).
The und ding, no doubt, d from their mutual concerns
about China’s rise as an economic and military power in Asia.

A DRAMATIC 12 OCTOBER 1999

In the aft h of the Kargil misad iffe between Nawaz
and Musharraf had turned into a very strong and mutual mllpalhy
Nawaz has alleged that the chief archi of the Kargil op
General Musharraf, General Aziz, and General Mahmud —| beg!n to plot
to topple his government simply to cover their tracks since the Kargil
fiasco was their doing. Musharraf, on the other hand, has accused
Nawaz of heading a government of thugs who doled out favours to their
ph while i ing their ing personal wealth through
rampant misuse of power.

On 12 October 1999, Nawaz removed General Musharraf as army
chief. Instead, General Zia-ud-din [an ethnic Kashmiri like Nawaz] of
the Engineers Corps was made COAS. Nawaz has claimed that Zia-ud-
din had all the merits required for the post and had been serving as the
head of the ISI at the time of his appointment as COAS. Musharraf was
informed about his dismissal while he was in the air, on a Pakistan
International Airlines flight back to Karachi from Colombo (Sri Lanka)




where he had gone on an official visit. Nawaz has claimed that he had
instructed his military secretary to tell the corps commander of Karachi,
Lieutenant General Usmani, to receive him with respect and take him
to his house. The decision to dmmss Musharraf was also conveyed to
all the other corps including his Kargil pli
General Aziz and General Mahmud (Warraich 2008: 143-6).

Musharraf has challenged that version. He has alleged that Karachi
airport was sealed off to prevent the PIA airliner he was travelling on
from landing. Moreover, his pilot was told to take the axrcnfl away from
Pakistani airspace and land elsewhere. The pilot infc
that the aircraft only had enough fuel to fly for one hour; it would not
be enough to take it out of Pakistani airspace. Thus, not only was
Musharraf’s life put in jeopardy, but also those of the other 200 people
on board including a number of Pakistani school children returning
from a goodwill visit to Sri Lanka. Musharraf contacted his top army
generals from the air, and decided to take over the reins of power. The
PIA airliner first landed at Nawabshah in Sindh and then, once Karachi
Airport had been secured, it flew into Karachi. Most of the commanders
remained loyal to Musharraf and the coup took place without any
violent clashes with the pro-Nawaz elements. Musharraf claimed that
the army had been caught completely off guard and that Nawaz had
acted in complete secrecy (Musharraf 2006: 101-40).

On taking over the government, Musharraf has claimed, he
discovered that the degree to which the Nawaz government had
exploited its public office to amass illicit wealth was beyond his
comprehension. Except for the highway projects, all the other mega
schemes were failures and the country was made to pay billions of
rupees in excessive costs. He extended his criticism to cover the whole
period of 1988-1999, to cover Benazir's two incomplete terms as prime
minister, and argued that expenditure on useless projects, to the tune
of Rs 1.1 trillion, was imposed on the nation (Musharraf 2006: 147).

Nawaz was tried by Pakistan’s Anti-Terrorism Courts which, in 2000,
Illnded down a life sentence on him for kidnapping, attempted murder,
hijacking, and corruption—the hijacking charges were based on Nawaz
allegedly not allowing the plane to land at Karachi. Originally, it was
rumoured that the death sentence would be passed on him but since
Nawaz enjoyed considerable goodwill with the Saudi royal family, who
intervened on his behalf, the court passed a sentence of life
imprisonment on him. Later, the military government agreed to exile
him to Saudi Arabia. Nawaz has made the incredible assertion that he




was willing to go to prison but, as a Muslim, being sent to the holy land
in exile was a blessing he could not refuse and so he accepted that
option. Nawaz reportedly gave an undertaking that he would abstain
from politics for the next ten years, but he does not mention any such
deal (Warraich 2008: 156).

Lieutenant General Javed Ashraf Qazi made an interesting
observation about Benazir and Nawaz during an interview with me. He
said:

In the 1990s, I was serving in the GHQ [later became chief of ISI). The
emissaries of Benazir and Nawaz used to make the rounds at the GHQ with
a view to cultivating the sympathies of senior officers for themselves and
against the two rivals. I would not say, who used such tactics most but it was
certainly part of their strategy to win over senior officers to their side.
Whenever they were in office they used the public office to confer favours
on their sycophants. There was nollnng inspiring about them. They made a
mockery of d and P

ISLAMIZATION OF THE ARMED FORCES CONTINUED

Irrespective of the political vicissitudes attendant upon the civil-
military relations during the two incomplete terms of both Benazir and
Nawaz, the process of Islamization of the armed forces, or rather of the
army, continued unabated. An official publication—Pakistan Army
Green Book: Year of the C ding Officer 1991—highlights that the
Pakistan Army has to be an ideological fighting force, and the ideology,
science, and art of war that it should follow is to be derived from the
Quran (Pakistan Army Green Book 1991). Major (Retd.) Agha Humyun
Amin sent me a copy of The Army Regulations Volume II (I

1991, which states in Section 18:

In casc of stoning 10 death of a male convict, he will be firmly sccured to an
object, whereas for a female convict a hole or excavation should be dug to
receive her as deep as her waist. As regards amputation of hand, foot or both,
it will be, after medically examining the convict, at the discretion of the
authorised medical officer to decide as to the manner in which the sentence
will be executed (The Army Regulations 1991: 1080).




ECTARIAN TERRORISM

1 the 1990s, Pakistan served as the arena for a three-pronged proxy
ar between Iran and Saudi Arabia on the one hand, and Iran and Iraq
n the other (Ahmed 1998: 176-8). The three rentier states, whose
aggering wealth was derived from a single natural gift—crude oil—
oured a great deal of money and propaganda materials in through their
:ctarian and sub-sectarian affiliates in Pakistani society. Gun-toting
rmed militias committed atrocities against one another and against
smpletely innocent people. During 1990-2002, 994 people died
ecause of sectarian terrorism—of these, 593 were Shias and 388 Sunnis.
Iso killed in those terrorist incidents were 44 individuals belonging to
1e police and other law-enforcing agencies (Rana 2004: 586). The
ected governments, while ritually condemning such crimes, proved to
e helpless and ineffective.

'ERSECUTION OF HINDUS, CHRISTIANS, AND AHMADIS

Vith regard to the religious minorities—Hindus, Christians, and
‘hmadis—the period when civilian governments were in power saw a
rarked increase in terrorist attacks on temples, churches, and
’hmadiyya ‘worshipping places’ (as the Ahmadis are prohibited from
sing Islamic nomenclature l’or their religion and religious practices).
11991, the law on blasph ded so that life impri

s the maximum pumshmcm. was nplaced by the death penalty which
ecame the for individuals ‘proved’ guilty of
lasphemy (Ahmed 2011: 90). As a result, several non-Muslims were
ooked for blasph ften on liable evidence—found guilty in
1¢ lower courts, but then had their sentences reduced at the higher
wvel. In some cases, fanatics killed such individuals before their trials
ok place or if they were released. Some were granted humanitarian
sylum in the West, and thus could escape with their lives. Incidents of
»rced conversion and abduction of Hindu and Christian girls were also
:ported (Ahmed 2002: 57-89).
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Vicissitudes of the Musharraf Regime

Pakistan was on the verge of economic insolvency when the military
returned to power aﬁ‘&%?{n years. The sanctions, especially those
imposed in the wake of the 1998 nuclear explosions, had bitten deep
into Pakistan's fragile economic structure. Moreover, during those
eleven years, any doubts whether or not the ultimate reins of power
resided in the GHQ had been dispelled. There was no doubt that civilian
authority had suffered considerable atrophy and di inution.

Internationally, the Kargil episode cast Pakistan in a very bad light;
the major Western powers began to perceive Pakistan as a pariah state—
personified by Musharraf and his top generals who were perceived as
irresponsible military commanders whose roguery threatened peace in
South Asia and beyond. There were hardly any takers for Musharraf’s
claim that the Kargil showdown had, once again, placed the Kashmir
dispute squarely on the agenda of international politics. Moreover,
Pakistan dissipated whatever goodwill it had hitherto enjoyed in
international forums vis-a-vis Kashmir. Thus, initially, the military
regime was completely isolated in relation to the western powers. In
fact, the q of the Kargil operation were far more damaging
than anything to date. The United States, and other major Western
players, began to orient towards India in no uncertain terms. This
became very apparent when Clinton paid a visit to South Asia in the
spring of 2000: while he spent five days in India, he spent a mere five
hours in Pakistan. While in Pakistan, he addressed the Pakistani nation
on television, extolling the virtues of democracy and the rule of law—
but refused to appear on television together with Musharraf.

THE TERRORIST ATTACKS OF 11 SEPTEMBER 2001

Since the 1990s, Al-Qaeda had been involved in a number of attacks on
US targets, including the twin towers of the World Trade Center in 1993
and US embassies in two East African capitals in 1998. The Afghan



had had given birth to a number of extremist movements dedicated
» the revival of the caliphate that had existed till 1924—when the
urkish leader Kemal Ataturk abolished the Ottoman caliphate and
1stead founded a secular-national republic. Internationally, the Hizb
t-Tahrir had emerged, oddly in London, as the voice of international
had. In southwest Asia, besides the Taliban, there were the Hizb-e-
lami of Gulbadin Hekmatyar, various Tajik and Uzbek Islamist
rovements, Pakistani India-specific groups such as the HuM, LeT, and
‘M, and Shia-specific groups such as the SSP and Lashkar-e-| l'hangvn
hey formed links and ks that firmly d the

olitics of Afghanistan and Pakistan. Thousands of foreign warriors
ere living in the tribal belt. In short, Islamist extremism had become
worldwide phenomenon with various local, regional, and global
gendas (Zahab and Roy 2002).

On 11 September 2001, a number of teams of terrorists hijacked four
IS commercial aircraft flying to various US cities. Two of the planes
‘ere forced to crash into the World Trade Center, the third hit the
entagon, and the fourth—apparently meant to crash into the US
ongress or even the White House—crashed into fields in a rural
sunty of Pennsylvania. An estimated 2749 US and foreign citizens were
illed, thus constituting the most massive terrorist attack on US soil.
he American nation was totally traumatized; leading American
oliticians and analysts described the outrage as a declaration of war on
e Um(ed States. In a CNN interview, senior diplomat Richard

Ib hasized that, under i ional law, the United States
as fully justified in retaliating against those who had so brazenly
reached US security and caused mayhem and death on an
nprecedented scale.

The United States immediately blamed Al-Qaeda. Initially, Al-Qaeda
enied any involvement but, when inculpating evidence began to be
nearthed and some of its operatives were arrested and confessed their
wolvement, Osama bin Laden decided to change tactics. In a video
lip that was released by Al-Qaeda, bin Laden claimed responsibility for
1€ attacks; he even tried to prove that, as an engineer, he had worked
ut the impact of the planes hitting the World Trade Center: so that it
rould be of sufficient intensity to bring the two towers crumbling down
ke a house of cards. In the Muslim world in general, and in Pakistan
1 particular, conspiracy theories did a roaring business as so-called
xperts, talk-shows pundits, and hosts wove bizarre theories of the Bush
dministration, the CIA, the Israeli Mossad, international Jewry, and




cunning Hindus conspiring to create grounds for a major assault on
Islam and Muslims. Within the United States, too, conspiracy theories
were spun that suggested a sinister insider job ordered by the Bush-
Cheney-Rumsfeld trio to prepare a basis for capturing Middle Eastern
oil wells. Later, Saudi Arabia admitted that, of the 19 hijackers, 15 were
Saudi citizens. The Americans also provided detailed information on
some of the terrorists who had received training at flying clubs and
schools. The conspiracy theories, however, persisted and proliferated.

THE US ATTACK ON AFGHANISTAN

On 12 September, Secretary of State Colin Powell called President
Musharraf, who was in Karachi at the time. The latter has narrated:

The next morning | was chairing an important mecting at the Governor's
House when my military secretary told me that the US secretary of state,
Colin Powell, was on the phone. I said | would call back later, but he insisted
that I come out of the meeting and take the call. Powell was quite candid,
“You are cither with us or against us” | took this as a blatant ultimatum.
When | was back in Islamabad the next day. our director-gencral of Inter
Services Intelligence (General Mahmud), who happened to be in
Washington, told me on the phone about his meeting with the US deputy
secretary of state, Richard Armitage. In what has to be the most undiplomatic
statement ever made, Armitage added to what Colin Powell had said to me
and told the director-general not only that we had to decide whether we were
with America or with the terrorists, but that if we chosc the terrorists, then
we should be prepared 1o be hombed back to the Stone Age. This was a
shocking barefaced threat, but it was obvious that the US had decided to hit
back, and hit back hard (Musharraf 2006: 201).

Armitage confirmed that the conversation had taken place, but denied
using the threat of military action. At any rate, Musharraf asserted that
he made a dispassionate, ‘military-style’ analysis and concluded that
Pakistan stood no chance—militarily, economically, or otherwise—to
survive an all-out attack by the US. The next day, the US ambassador
to Pakistan, Wendy Chamberlin, brought a set of seven demands.
According to Musharraf (2006: 200-5), these were:

1. Stop Al-Qaeda operatives at the Pakistan border and prevent all
supply of weapons and logistical support to Bin Laden.
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Provide the US with access to Pakistani airspace to conduct
military and intelligence operations.

Provide to the US territorial access to all allied military
intell; against the perp of ism, including access
to Pakistan’s naval ports, air bases, and strategic locations on
borders.

Provide the US immediately with intelligence, immigration
information, and databases, and internal security information to
prevent the terrorists from committing further such crimes.
Continue to publicly condemn the terrorists and curb all domestic
expressions of support [for terrorism] against the US, its friends,
or its allies.

Cut off all supply of fuels to the Taliban and prevent recruitment
from Pakistan.

Should the evidence strongly implicate Osama bin Laden and the
Al-Qaeda network in Afghanistan and the Taliban continue to
harbour him and his network, Pakistan should break off
diplomatic relations with the Taliban government and assist in the
destruction of Osama Bin Laden and his network.
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Musharraf has claimed that he rejected the second and third demands
as they jeopardized Pakistani security. What was offered was a narrow
flight corridor that was far from any sensitive areas. Moreover, they were
granted limited access, for logistics and aircraft recovery, to only two
b Shamsi in Balochi and Jacobabad in Sindh. These bases
could not be used to launch attacks. Therefore, no ‘blanket permission’
was given for anything. ‘The rest of the demands we could live with. I
am happy that the US government accepted our counterproposals
without any fuss, the general concluded (Musharraf 2006: 206).

After a meeting with his top generals the next day, on 13 September,
Musharraf issued a statement in which he said, among other things:

1 wish 1o assure President Bush and the US government of our unstinted
cooperation in the fight against terrorism. . . . We regard terrorism as an evil
that threatens the world ity. . . . Concerted i
needed to fight terrorism in all forms and manifestations. . . .
been extending cooperation to international efforts to combat terrorism in
the past and will continue to do so (Jain 2007a: 167).

On 19 September, Musharraf addressed the Pakistani nation. Beginning
with a condemnation of the terrorist attacks and condolences for the




bereaved families, he informed the people that the Americans were
greatly angered by the attacks and were going to retaliate, and that their
first and foremost targets were Osama bin Laden and Al-Qaeda as well
as the Taliban for giving them refuge. He also mentioned that, for a long
time, the US had been demanding the extradition of Osama bin Laden
and his associates, for the earlier attacks on US embassies and personnel
in other parts of the world. The war on terror was going to be a
protracted one. The Americans were not calling it a war on Islam or on
the people of Afghanistan; it was a war on terrorists (Musharraf, 19
September 2001). Musharraf stated, further, that Pakistan had been
d to help the paign in three way: ith intelli and
information, permission to use Pakistani airspace, and general logistical
support. The US was going to launch a concerted campaign with the
help of a UN Security Council resolution; it enjoyed the support of the
UN General Assembly as well. Musharraf added that many Islamic
ies had supported the UN lution. He then went on to
describe the internal situation in Pakistan as having been critical, and
the worse it had been since 1971 when the eastern wing seceded, further
stating that a most serious threat was posed to Pakistan's strategic
nuclear assets and the cause of Kashmir. Musharraf then referred to
Indian designs:

They (Indians) offered all their military facilities to the US. They have
offered without hesitation all their facilities, all their bases and full logistic
support. They want to enter into an alliance with the US and get Pakistan
declared a terrorist state. They want to harm our strategic assets (nuclear
assets) and the Kashmir cause (ibid.).

It is to be noted that Indian Prime Minister Vajpayee did offer full
cooperation to the United States, including landing facilities and use of
its airspace. Had Pakistan refused to cooperate, and India become a key
player in the ‘war on terror’ it would have greatly jeopardized Pakistans
security. Yet, the refe to Indi the main beneficiary at the
expense of Pakistan—was not enough to placate the Pakistani people
who had been told, time and again, that the Taliban and Al-Qaeda were
the embodiment of the spirit of jihad and Islamic valour. Consequently,
Musharraf decided to embellish his address with populist rhetoric that
would make cooperation with the Americans justifiable in Islamic
terms. He referred to pristine Islamic history, and examples of the
Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) making pragmatic compromises in the




larger interest of Islam, thereby suggesting that working with the US
did not constitute an act of cowardice but, rather, the best way to
safeguard the security of the country from external threats and preserve
the country’s strategic nuclear and missile assets as well as the Kashmir
cause.

On 7 October 2001, the United States, the UK, and the Afghan
Northern Alliance jointly launched Operation Enduring Freedom,
seeking to oust the Taliban regime and destroy Al-Qaeda. The Taliban
had refused to hand the Al-Qaeda leaders over to the Americans,
though they exp d a willi to do so to an impartial court set
up in a neutral country. The Americans announced that they would
remove the Taliban from power and, instead, h:lp a dzmo:rallc
government come to power in Afghani
Freedom proved to be highly successful in its lnmal phases. Tlle
relentless aerial bombing proved too overwhelming; the Taliban
decamped, rather quickly, from Kabul on 13 November and the
Northern Alliance took over. In December 2001, an International
Security Assistance Force (ISAF) was established by the UN Security
Council with a mandate to secure Kabul and its surrounding areas. Its
command, on 11 August 2003, was assumed by NATO. ISAF included
troops from many countries, with the NATO members providing the
core of the force. American, British, and Northern Alliance troops were
assigned combat roles.

Meanwhile, the United States had been applying the proverbial ‘stick
and carrot’ strategy to Pakistan. The stick was, of course, the threat that
Musharraf had talked about. The carrot was put on display at a press
conference jointly presented by Musharraf and Secretary of State Colin
Powell in Islamabad on 16 October. Musharraf emphasized the need to
help the Afghans establish a durable peace and to provide assistance to
Pakistan with the repatriation of the millions of Afghan refugees from
Pakistan. For his part, Powell observed, ‘President Bush has lifted a
number of sanctions to allow us to resume cooperation with Pakistan.
We have also helped reschedule $479 million in Pakistan's bilateral debt
and voted for new IMF loans' (Jain 2007a: 169).

Further major concessions followed in a statement by Richard
Boucher, spokesman for the State Department, on 31 October 2001:

President Bush signed into law a bill that authorizes him to waive sanctions
against Pakistan through fiscal year 2003. It is the final stage in easing
sanctions imposed on Islamabad after the 1999 military coup led by General
Pervez Musharraf. President Bush has already exercised his authority to end




prohibitions imposed under the Glenn Amendment (nuclear testing), the
Pressler Amendment (possession of a nudear device) and the Symington
Amendment (uranium enrichment). (Ibid., 170-1)

Boucher further elab d that i was going to
increase dramatically. TheUSwo\ddpmdzUS‘l billion. Several more
billions would follow from international aid organizations. Pakistan was
also going to receive help in boosting its exports. More such statements
followed when Musharraf and Bush met in New York on 10 November
2001.

DEVELOPMENTALISM WITHIN A NEO-LIBERAL MARKET
EcoNoMY FRAMEWORK

On taking over power in October 1999, Musharraf had assumed the
position of ‘Chief Executive. Such a description, of the highest political
office, was devised by the veteran jurist Sharifuddin Pirzada who, in the
past, had advised former governments on how to brow-beat calls for
democracy and people’s power with clever legal subterfuge. Musharraf
tried to build a popular basis for his govcmmenl by focusmg hls
attention on a revival of the the
constrictions imposed by the US sanctions regime. Takmg his cue from
Ayub and Zia, I|e wisely decided to hire technocrats who enjoyed a
benign rep as ists and bankers. He has
written, in his memoir, that the basic criterion for choosing his team of
economic and financial advisers was lhll dlm reputation should not be

ished by a iety for p ly, the team of
technocrats chosen included an mum-lmu.l Iunlur. Shaukat Aziz, who
was made the finance minister; the governorship of the State Bank of
Pakistan was given to Ishrat Husain; Razzak Dawood, a scion of the
leading industrialist Dawood family, was appointed as the commerce
minister; and Tariq lkram was appointed as the head of the Export
Promotion Bureau. Musharraf has claimed that his team of experts
greatly boosted economic development, especially exports.

Feeling confident that his government had received a positive
response from the people, harraf d himself president of
Pakistan on 20 June 2001. When this move wu challenged is |n the courts,
he responded by issuing an order requiring the judges to swear
allegiance to military rule. Some refused and resigned, but others
complied. The impact of the controversial self-appointment, and its




VICISSITUDES OF THE MUSHARRAF REGIME

validation by the Supreme Court, was rendered somewhat less brazen
as the Supreme Court ordered Musharraf to hold national elections by
12 October 2002.

CIVILIANIZATION OF Mn.mn RuLe

In the hil liticians had been preparing the
ground for the cwllnmunon of lmllnry rule—a tradition that was also
rooted in Pakistan’s political history—which was achieved with the
establishment of the Pakistan Muslim League-Quaid-i-Azam (PML-Q)
prior to the elections of 2002. It was a right-of-centre party to which
supporters of General Zia, and breakaway members of Nawaz Sharif's
PML-N, flocked. PML-Q quickly became known as the King's Party. For
the next step, in gaining a greater anchorage in society, the government
arranged a referendum for 30 April 2002—to seck approval, from the
people, to extend Musharraf’s rule for five years after the October
elections. According to the Government estimate, the turnout for the
referendum was 70 per ctnl. around 98 per cent of the counted votes
backed General Mush inuing in office. The opposition, on the
other hand, claimed that not more than 5 per cent of the electorate had
bothered to vote. The Human Rights Commission of Pakistan (HRCP)
reported some flagrant abuses: it alleged that, in some instances,
multiple voting took place and state employees were pressurized to cast
their votes. Such criticism was dismissed by the government as
irrelevant, as it proclaimed that popular legiti ization of the Musharraf
regime had been achieved.

To the process of ‘legitimization, general elections were
held in October as announced. A number of qualifications and
modifications were introduced in the election system: for example, the
separate electorates that Zia had instituted were abolished and the
religious minorities voted art of the general voters; seats were
reserved for religious minorities and women in the legislatures—
moreover, the new rules required that all political parties nominated
religious minorities and women for the reserved seats; convicted people
were barred from taking part in the election; the ag it for voting
was lowered to 18 years from 21 years; an educational bar was
introduced—only candidates holding a bachelor’s degree could contest
elections—which directly affected some politicians who did not have a
university degree. More than 70 parties took part in the elections. The
two main oppositional leaders, Nawaz Sharif and Benazir Bhutto, were




both living in exile at that time. Their parties took part in the elections
as the Pakistan Peoples Party Parliamentarians (PPPP) and PML-N,
respectively. An alliance of six religious parties, known as the Muttahida
Mailis-e-Amal (MMA), and the MQM were the other major contestants.

No party won an overall majority. Not surprisingly, the PML-Q won
most seats in the National Assembly—126 in a house of 342. The PPPP
secured 81 seats, while the PML-N—from which many of the leaders
had decamped and joined the PML-Q—did badly, winning only 19
seats. An unexpectedly large number of seats were won by the religious
alliance known as Muttahida Majlis-e-Amal. It won 63 seats, emerging
as the third largest party in the National Assembly. The MMA
performed well as it cashed in on popular sentiment opposing Pakistan’s
partnership with the United States in the so-called, war on terror. The
MMA received a clear-cut majority in NWFP, while it formed a
coalition government in Balochistan. In Punjab, the PML-N formed the
government, while a coalition government was formed in Sindh as no
party had won a complete majority. The turnout was 41.8 per cent.

On the federal level, the PML-Q formed a majority coalition with
the support of the MQM and independ; However, the g
was paralysed for a long time as the MMA was opposed to Pakistans
continuation in the US-led alliance, which it saw as inimical to Islam
and pious Muslims. Musharraf surmounted the obstacles being created
by the MMA by making a deal with them in December 2003—if their
legislators would support him to muster the two-thirds majority he
required to pass the h A d which i
legalized his 1999 coup, he would leave the army by 21 December 2004.
However, he reneged on his deal with the MMA and had a bill passed
that allowed him to keep the post of president as well as of chief of army
staff.

Having armed himself with itutional isions that rendered
his position more or less un: able, Mu-h-rr-l went on to induct
military personnel in ever-increasing numbers into the civil
administration. This resulted in men from the armed forces mlnmng
some 300 senior posts in g
Local g rcforms, popularized as devolution of power, were
imroduced by Lieutenant General Tanvir Naqvi, chairman of the
National Reconstruction Bureau, in 2000. These reforms reduced the
powers of the linchpin of the old order, the deputy commissioner. The
elected nazim became the chief in the district. However, critics noted
that new local elite that came into being were dependent on the federal
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government. Moreover, political parties suffered as a consequence,
because elections were based on biradari ties and other ethnic factors
rather than political ndeology In other words, devolution helped the
federal g the stri of federalism and created
a class of local power-wielders who were directly dependent on it
(Devolution in Pakistan 2004).

In any event, the type of political leadership that emerged in the
Pakistani fedcratlon was that of an overbearing presldcnl armed with a
number of i and supported by a loyalist party,
the PML-Q, who began to assert his power as a moderate Muslim leader.
This did not apply to the NWFP, where the pro-Taliban MMA
introduced repressive Islamic laws that prescribed segregation and
imposed a ban on entertainment such as music and films. Islamist
reforms were less acceptable in Balochistan where the Baloch leaders
were opposed to them. On the whole, the Taliban and other extremists
exploited the favourable milieu that existed in the NWFP as a result of
the MMA government. This helped Al-Qaeda and the Taliban ensconce
themselves firmly in the Federally Administered Tribal Areas (FATA)
and, in the longer run, in the Balochistan capital, Quetta.

PAKISTAN-INDIA RELATIONS

The most dramatic change in Musharraf’s political posturing was in
relation to India. A super hawk, who had dared to provoke a military
showdown with India that many feared could result in full-fledged war,
became a peacenik willing to seek reconciliation with India and a win-
win settlement of the Kashmir dispute. Such a change of heart was the

result of a di military calculation that the liberation of
Kashmir, lhrongll warfare, was a non-starter (Musharraf 2006: 297).
P bly, the US also d him to resume dialogue with India

as it did not want any distractions in its bid to defeat Al-Qaeda and its
Taliban supporters. The breakthrough came when a massive earthquake
hit the Indian state of Gujarat. Musharraf rang up Vajpayee to offer his
sympathy and Pakistani relief goods and other help. That broke the ice;
Vajpayee invited hi to Agra for talks. Musharraf went to India, visited
his ancestral home in Delhi, and charmed Indian audiences with his
off-the-cuff repartee and other graces. Then, both met in Agra amid
great media hype about a breakthrough. 1 watched the events on
television from afar in Stockholm, through BBC, CNN, and the Indian
Zee TV. Musharraf has recorded:




We began our formal dialogue on the morning of July 16. 2001. What
followed was initially quite ing, but ended on a disappointing note.
During two prolonged interactions, before and after lunch, initially nnc on-
one but then joined by our u-specuvc fomgn ministers, we drafted a joint

d a ion of terrorism and
ute over Kashmir needed resolution in order to
lateral relations.  The signing ceremany was scheduled for the

afternoon in the Hotel |.P. Palace where Prime Minister Vajpayee was staying
and where we had held our dialogue. Preparations in the hotel were
complete, down to the table and two chairs where we would sit for the
signing ceremony. The hotel staff and all the delegates were truly
exubcrant. We were approaching the climax of vur visit. Instead, it was
an anticlimax, when after barely an hour my forcign minister and foreign
secretary informed me that the Indians had backed out. I could not believe
my ears. "What could that be? Why?' I asked.

“The cabinet has rejected i, sir was the answer.

“Which cabinet?’ [ asked. “There is no cabinet in Agra’ I became very
angry. and my impulsc was to leave for Islamabad immediately. The two
diplomats cooled me down, asking for some time to try a redraft. I allowed
it, and reluctantly cancelled my evening visit to Ajmer Sharif.

The redrafting took another two or three hours of intense haggling over
words and sentences. But ultimately my team returned, signalling success
They showed me the new drait, which 1 approved. 1 thought it still carried
the essence of what we wanted, except that now the language was different.
They returned to the other hotel to make fair copies of the draft. | assured
my wife, saying that the ‘Agra declaration’ would be the headlines the next
day.

Yet this 100 was not to be. Just as | was about to lcave for the signing
ceremony | received a message that the Indians had backed down again. This
was preposterous. | sent a message 10 the media that [ would hold a press
conference at the hotel. 1 later found that this was disallowed. No one from
the media was allowed to enter either Vajpayee's hotel or mine. So much for
the freedom of expression in ‘the largest democracy in the world. (Musharraf
2006: 298-99).

On 15 December 2008, accompanied by Colonel (Retd.) Aslam Cheema,
I had a long conversation with General Pervez Musharraf at his
residence. Musharraf recalled his meetings with both Vajpayee and later
Manmohan Singh, noting that both the Indian prime ministers were
keen to develop a friendly relationship with Pakistan but that the Indian
political system severely constrained their ability to make decisions on
contentious foreign policy matters, of which Kashmir was probably the
most sensitive. Musharraf s observations seem reasonable as there is no
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doubt that hawks on the Indian side had conspired to subvert the
normalization of relations between the two rivals. Rumours were that
Home Minister LK. Advani and Information and Broadcasting Minister
Sushma Swaraj, both representing the powerful right-wing of the BJP,
were opposed to any concession to Pakistan that recognized that
Kashmir was an international dispute.

FURTHER ESTRANGEMENT

The downbhill trend that set in after Agra received further momentum
when, on 1 October, a terrorist attack took place on the Kashmir
Assembly in Srinagar—the capital of Indian-administered Kashmir—
resulting in several fatalities. The US, the European Union (EU), Japan
and many other states condemned the attack. It was a distraction that
the Americans found most annoying as they prepared for their punitive
mission against the Taliban. Much worse was to follow a few weeks later
when, on 13 December, armed militants tried to break into the Indian
Parliament with the intention of taking some of the members hostages
(Hoodbhoy 2006: 160). Five gunmen rode into Parliament House in a
car carrying ‘Home Ministry’ and ‘Parliament’ plates and credentials,
got out of the vehicle, and began firing their weapons. The guards and
security personnel shot back. One of the militants was shot dead while
his four colleagues were captured. Five policemen, a parliament security
guard, and a gardener were killed, and 18 others were injured. No
member of parliament or the government was hurt. The whole
operation was seen on television screens and, thus, flashed across the
world. India accused Pakistan of being behind the attacks, although the
Pakistan government strongly denied any hand in the operation and
strongly condemned it.

Suddenly, South Asia seemed headed for another major armed
conflict between the two rivals. India dispatched hundreds of
thousands of troops to the roughly 2000 miles India- Pakistan border,
including the Line of Control in Kashmir. Pakistan followed suit.
More than a million soldiers were amassed on both sides of the border
(Yusuf 2006: 18). I remember watching General Musharraf on
television, assuring the Pakistani nation that the armed forces of
Pakistan were prepared to defend Pakistan by all means. In his address,
he famously remarked ‘Pakistan Islam ka Qila hai’ (Pakistan is a fortress
of Islam). Such rhetoric apart, there was no doubt that a war between
India and Pakistan would carry disastrous consequences. Once again,




the possibility of a nuclear exchange taking place between the two
upstart neigllbours. in case the conflict escalated, loomed large. As a

result, i ional pressure i d ly on the two states to
withdraw from their standoff. How:m. India refuud to do so as long
as Pakistan d what it described as ism. The

standoff was eventually defused through pressure from the US, which
dispatched several high-level officials to Dethi and Islamabad (Bidwai
2006: 54). Moreover, the US exerted intense pressure on Pakistan to
forgo its support of militant groups (Cohen 2006: 91). Other major
players, such as Britain, Japan, and the EU, also pressured Pakistan to
change course.

MUSHARRAF ANNOUNCES CHANGES IN
KAsSHMIR PoLiCcY

Such cumulative pressure proved too overwhelming. In an address to
the Pakistani nation on 12 January 2002, Musharraf made a complete
break with Kashmiri militancy and unlinked Pakistan from global
fundamentalist Islam. He stated:

The Kashmir problem needs to be resolved by dialogue and peaceful means
in accordance with the wishes of the Kashmiri people and the UN
resolutions. We have to find the solution of this dispute. No organization
will be allowed to indulge in terrorism in the name of Kashmir. We condemn
the terrorist acts of 11 September, 1 October and 13 December. Anyone
found involved in any terrorist act would be dealt with sternly. Strict action
will be taken against any Pakistani individual, group or organization found
involved in terrorism within or outside the country. Our behaviour must
always be in accordance with international norms (Jain 2007a: 174)

He informed the nation about his relentless efforts, even since he took
power, to promote moderation—including a ban, imposed in June 2001,
on sectarian organizations such as the militant Sunni Sipah-e-Sahaba
Pakistan (SSP), Lashkar-e-Jhangvi, and their Shia adversary Sipah-e-
Mohammad. But, he noted that sectarian terrorism continued to wreck
the lives of innocent Pakistanis, including doctors (the SSP and Laskhar-
e-Jhangvi targeted Shia doctors in particular), and emphasized that
extremist organizations would be crushed. Accordingly, he extended the
ban on such organizations to the two main militant organizations active
in Indian-administered Kashmir and India, the Jaish-e-Muhammad and
the Lashkar-e-Tayyaba (ibid., 174-5). Banning the two Kashmir-specific
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militant groups was a major break with the policy of his, and earlier,
governments of describing militants involved in Indian-administered
Kashmir as freedom fighters. For years, after Friday prayers, donations
had been collected from the pious to support jihad in Kashmir. To
describe such organizations as terrorist entities was, therefore,
disorienting and perplexing for the people of Pakistan.

More deviations followed in the long address that had been prepared
with a view to projecting Pakistan as a modern Muslim state based on
a moderate. tolerant |nt¢rpreuuon of Islam. After nearly half a century
of supp by Jinnah's 11 August 1947
speech was resurrected; Mushumi alluded to it to assert that Pakistan
was meant to be a progressive Muslim state that granted equal rights to
all its citizens. Later, in an address to Muslim clerics on 18 January, he
spelt out a tolerant, non-d:vmve approach to Islam, appealing to Islamic

lidarity and p and debunking ism and violence. He
urged lh: ulema to help him disseminate a humane and tolerant image
of Islam, derived from Sufi mdmons {Muslurnl‘ 18 January 2002).
However, a rider to moderati introduced in his public add:
He dispelled speculation that Paluslan might become a secular state,
and rejected suggestions by US congressmen that the law passed by the
Pakistan National Assembly in 1974 expunging the Ahmadiyya
community from the fold of Islam should be rescinded. Moreover, he
stated categorically that the Hudood and blasphemy laws were an
intrinsic part of the Pakistani constitution and would remain in force,
but measures would be taken to ensure that they were not used in an
arbitrary manner (Kamran 2002).

MISCELLANEOUS ACTIONS

d some progressive changes. The system of separate
clectorates was abolished. The minorities became free to contest any
seat in any of the elected assemblies. Seats were reserved for non-
Muslims i in the national and provincial legislatures and local bodies. All
ies, including the Islamist parties, were required to

Muslims as their did. for the reserved seats

(Ahmed 2011a: 96). Moreover, the rape law introduced by Zia was
reformed. Under the protection of the Women Act, 2006, rape was
removed from the Hudood offenses and brought under the Pakistan
Penal Code. What this meant was that the requirement of four male
witnesses, to establish guilt, was removed. The new law permitted




conviction on the basis of forensic as well as circumstantial evidence;
evidence given by the victim and other females was declared admissible
(Ahmed 20]“7 115-6).

The annual SAARC summit had not been held since 1998 because
of the Kargil mini-war. But, when it was finally held in January 2002 in
Kathmandu, Musharraf made another effort to improve relations with
India. When he met Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee at the Summit,
Musharraf walked up to Vajpayee and offered his hand; Vajpayee
reciprocated, but after some hesitation. Vajpayee, then, decided to
attend the next SAARC summit in Islamabad in 2004. As a result, the
Islamabad D was signed itting both sides to engage in
a multi-faceted composite dialogue to normalize relations between their
nations and usher in an era of mutually-beneficial interaction. However,
the BJP suffered a surprise defeat in the Indian general elections; and
s0, the momentum that had gathered was dissipated and a new start had
to be made. That took some time. Musharraf’s interaction with Prime
Minister Manmohan Singh of the Congress Party proved to be equally
congenial, and the Pakistani president noted that the Indian prime
minister was equally keen to normalize relations with Pakistan. The two
met in Delhi where Musharraf had arrived, on Singh's invitation, to
attend a one-day India-Pakistan cricket match—which served as an
opportunity for the two leaders to discuss the Kashmir issue. Both
agreed that there was a need to find a solution ‘outside the box'

Musharraf has noted, ‘The prime minister did say that he could not
agree to any redrawing of borders, while I said I could not agree to
accepting the Line of Control as permanent’ (Musharraf 2006: 301).
Further meetings took place in New York in September 2005, when
Musharraf invited Singh to visit Pakistan, which the Indian prime
minister accepted. However, the visit did not take place. Musharraf
believed that while Singh seemed sincere and willing to resolve the
Kashmir dispute, the Indian establishment was not. He hu noted, ‘1
think the Indian blish the b and
intelligence agencies and perhaps even the mlhhry—-hu gotten the
better of him’ (ibid., 302).

ln his wenll oburvahom ona jllll solution of the Kullmlr dispute,

p dafc P k. Point one identified five
hic regions i ,du lly undivided Jammu lnd
Kashmir State. The Pakistani-admini d Kashmir isted of the
Northern Areas and Azad Kashmir, and the Indian-administered
Kashmir of three regions, namely Jammu, Kashmir Valley, and Ladakh.




All five regions should be placed on the table for negotiations. Point
two required demilitarization of the five parts and the curbing of
militancy. Point three required the introduction of genuine self-
government to those five reglom The ﬁml poum was a proposal for a
joint is, Indians, and
Kashmiris who would oversee ulf‘gavermnce and deal with residual
subjects (ibid., 303).

Musharraf described such ideas as personal and not official, but one
can safely infer that he spoke on behalf of the Pakistani establishment—
which enjoyed greater notoriety than the Indians when it came |o
resolving the Kashmir issue. In sub
offered further concessions. He said that Palusln.n would be willing to
adopt a more flexible attitude on the Line of Control in Kashmir. On
the other hand, the Indians were slow in responding to the Pakistani
peace overtures in equal measure. However, in 2006, Prime Minister
Manmohan Singh expressed a desire to sign a ‘treaty of peace, security
and friendship’ with Pakistan (Ahmed, 6 January 2007). During much
of 2007, progress on the peace question remained suspended as political
turmoil within Pakistan demanded the attention of the Pakistan
government; India decided to remain aloof.

Some significant improvement took place between the two countries
in trade and communications. A weekly bus service between Delhi and
Lahore was inaugurated when Vajpayee paid his historic visit to Lahore
in 1999. The service continued, even during the Kargil showdown, until
it was suspended after the attacks on the Indian Parliament on 13
December 2001. It was revived in 2003 when bilateral relations
improved; it was followed by a weekly bus service between the capitals
of the two Kashmirs—Srinagar and Muzaffarabad—in April 2005,
between Amritsar and Lahore in January 2006, and between Lahore and
the Sikh holy shrine of Nankana Sahib in March 2006. There was a
substantial Incrcase in bilateral trade between the two nations in
2006-2007—an increase of 88 per cent to the tune of US$1.6 billion—
which was envisaged to grow to $2.7 billion in 2007, but suffered a
decline because of the political turmoil in Pakistan that greatly
weakened Musharraf’s standing. On the other hand, both sides
continued to modernize and develop their missile programmes, thus
acquiring greater range and accuracy in their killing power in case of
war.




ACTION AGAINST ABDUL QADEER KHAN

The United States which, by then, had begun to provide huge economic
and military aid to Pakistan, pressured Musharraf to rein in A.Q. Khan
and his nuclear proliferating cohorts. When, in December 2003, Libya
announced that it was abandoning its nuclear weapons programme—
whlch it admitted it had been pursumg with clandestine Pakistani

he Pakistani g i blanket denials of
such involvement were no longer tenable. Sruddenly. evidence mounted
of illicit nuclear weapons technology transfers, not only to Libya but
also to Iran, North Korea, and other countries. Musharraf, who was
compelled to order an investigation into A.Q. Khan's activities, took the
rather incredulous stance that even if there had been wrongdoing, it had
occurred without the knowledge or approval of the government of
Pakistan (Musharraf 2006: 447-50). However, critics noted that virtually
all A.Q. Khan's overseas travels—to Iran, Libya, North Korea, Niger,
Mali, and the Middle East—were by official Pakistan government
aircraft, and he was often accompanied by senior members of the
Pakistani nuclear establishment.

In January 2004, A.Q. Khan was interrogated by Pakistani
investigators. On 25 January 2004, the authorities reported that A.Q.
Khan, and another high-ranking officer, had provided unauthorized
technical assistance to Iran's nuclear weapons programme in the late
1980s and early 1990, allegedly in exchange for tens of millions of
dollars. It was also reported that ex-COAS, General Mirza Aslam Beg,
was implicated in the illicit nuclear trade with Iran (John 2007: 174).
On 31 January, A.Q. Khan was dismissed from his post as the Science
Adviser to the President of Pakistan. On 4 February, he appeared on
national television and confessed to running a proliferation ring. The
next day, Mush pardoned him (Musharraf 2006: 289-94). Although
he was put under house arrest, US pleas to permit its experts to
interrogate him were rejected.

MISCELLANEOUS FOREIGN POLICY INITIATIVES

Musharraf dared to challenge some other orthodox features of Pakistani
foreign policy that incensed right-wing forces in Pakistani politics.
Traditionally, Pakistan had been at the forefront in the support for the
Palestinians, which had led to open hostility towards Jews and Israel.
Musharraf decided to forgo such a confrontational posture because,




according to him, it served no useful purpose. He issued a statement
that if Israel agreed to the establish of a Palestinian state, acceptabl
to the Palestinians, Pakistan could consider recognizing Israel. That
pronouncement received a positive response from the American Jews
who had invited Musharraf to address the American Jewish Congress
in New York. Before that happened, the Pakistan foreign minister had
met his Isracli counterpart in Istanbul on | September 2005. A few days
later, on 17 September, Musharraf addressed the American Jewish
Congress. His speech was well-received as it presented a strong case for
the two-state solution that would entail recognition of Israel by the
Muslim nations (ibid., 305). Domestically, such statements did not
register well because Musharraf was also seen on television screens
going forward to shake hands with Israeli ane Minister Ariel Sharon,
a man held in great for ing at the of
Palestinians by Christian mnlmas in the refugee camps of Sabra and
Shatila in Lebanon in 1982.

THE ADVENT OF TERRORIST ATTACKS IN PAKISTAN

For the Islamists, super hawks, and ultra-nationalists, Musharraf had
forfeited his claim to be a patriot the day he meekly joined hands with
George W. Bush to wage war against Al-Qaeda and the Taliban—
ironically, Musharraf had disparaged Nawaz Sharif in a similar manner
when the latter had relented, without any resistance, to Bill Clinton's
advice that the Kargil conflict end and Pakistan vacate territory on the
Indian side of the LoC. This time round, Musharraf was perceived as a
traitor to not only Pakistan but also to Islam and the Muslim Umma.
As already noted, Taliban and Al-Qaeda leaders and cadres had taken
refuge in the tribal areas, known as the Federally Administered Tribal
Areas (FATA), and, from their inaccessible hideouts in the difficult
mountainous terrain, they began to undertake terrorist missions in
Pakistan. Moreover, the Islamists had served in the Pakistani state
apparatuses as well, especially the intelligence and armed services.
Despite attempts to weed them out, they continued to escape detention;
those who had retired continued to be part of the networks that were
sympathetic to the extremists. And so, a fairly widespread clandestine
support base existed that assisted terrorists commit crimes in Pakistan.
Terrorism on Pakistani soil raised its ugly head soon after 9/11.
Nevertheless, Musharraf continued to enjoy the loyalty of the armed
forces or, rather, the key corps commanders without whose help a




successful coup could not be mounted. Equally, in spite of the rogue
elements, the ISI and other intelligence services, as well as the PML-Q
and his other allies, continued to provide him with the necessary
support to maintain him in power. It was within such a complicated
framework of opposition and support that the scourge of terrorism
visited Pakistan.

THE BEHEADING OF DANIEL PEARL

In December 2001, the Wall Street Journal's Daniel Pearl and his wife,
Marianne, arrived in Pakistan to interview a religious figure in
connection with a failed attempt by Richard Reed—a British citizen
who had recently converted to Islam, to carry out a mid-flight
explosion while flying to the United States from Britain, having hidden
the explosive device in his shoes. Apparently, Daniel Pearl was
investigating another story as well. While in Karachi, he was kidnapped,
tortured, and executed. His horrific execution was displayed on the
internet—he was seen confessing about his Jewish origins before he
was beheaded. The story i diatcly made h all over the
world. Investigations by the Pakistani authorities found that the
kidnappers included time-tested terrorists, such as Omar Sheikh, who
had been involved in several atrocities in India since 1994. Sheikh,
along with the leader of the Jaish-e-Muhammad, Maulana Masood
Azhar, had been arrested and imprisoned in India. But, both were
released in 1999 in exchange for the release of an Indian airplane that
had been hijacked and taken to Kandhar, Afghanistan. According to
Musharraf, Omar Sheikh confessed to his involvement in the
kidnapping but denied any part in the decision to behead Daniel Pearl.
It was the Al-Qaeda senior operative, Khaled Sheikh Muhammad,
Amjad Faruqi, and several others who were involved in the plot to
kidnap Pearl. They were probably also involved in the actual exccution
of Pearl. Khaled Sheikh Muhammad was handed over to the United
States. In May 2002, Fazal Karim, an operative of the rabid anti-Shia
Lashkar-e-Jhangvi, was captured. During his interrogation, he
confessed, without any remorse, to his participation too in the
beheading of Pearl; he helped the police find Pearl's body which had
been hacked into ten pieces (Musharraf 2006: 225-8). On the other
hand, Omar Sheikh was sent to a prison in Pakistan to stand trial.




ERRORISM WREAKS HAvOC ON PAKISTANIS

Vhile the horrific story of Daniel Pearl shocked the world, and Israeli
‘rime Minister Ariel Sharon promised to avenge his gruesome
wurder—a declaration that was njecled by Daniel’s father who did not
rant his son's death to be exploi litically—the terrorists unleashed
wave of attacks against m-sallmeous domesuc targets. Unlike the
srrorism of the 1990s, which was primarily directed against religious
nd ethnic minorities, this time round no person or institution was
eyond the reach of the crazed jihadists who were hell-bent on
mposing their worldview, and the concomitant social and political
rders, in Pakistan by all means. On 17 March 2002, hand grenades
rere hurled at the congregation of worshippers in a Protestant church
n Islamabad’s diplomatic enclave. Six people were killed and 42 injured,
ncluding the Sri Lankan ambassador. The terrorist had apparently
Jdown himself up; the authorities could not identify the perpetrators of
hat atrocity. Thus, the phenomenon of suicide bombings arrived in
'akistan in a big way in March 2002.

Another terrorist assault, involving foreigners, was launched in the
rort city of Karachi on 8 May. A car driven by a suicide bomber
ammed into a bus of the Pakistan Navy, as it left the hotel in the
norning. The bus was carrying French engineers and technicians who
vere working on a French submarine that Pakistan had purchased.
ileven Frenchmen and two Pakistanis were killed. Twenty-four people
vere injured. The visiting New Zealand cricket team, which was going
o play a match a little later that day, decided to call their tour off and
eft the country. Once again, Pakistan was in the global media for all
he wrong reasons. lnvempllons led to lhe Harkat—ul Mujahldcen al-
\lami, the i ional wing of the Harkat-ul-Muyj:

HuM) which had been one of the pioneers in fomenting terrorism in
ndian-administered Kashmir being behind the attack on the bus.

A few months later, on 5 August, a Christian school was the object
»f another terrorist atrocity. The guard, very courageously, obstructed
heir entry. Although he was killed by them, the alarm bell had been
-ung and, thus, the culprits could not harm anyone else. They were
sursued by a junior commissioned officer of the Pakistan Army, but all
hree blew themselves up. Four days later, the terrorists struck again,
his time at the church inside a Christian hospital in Taxila, just outside
Islamabad. Four women were killed and twenty were injured. One of
he terrorists, Kamran Mir, died as a grenade exploded in his hand,




while his accomplices escaped. The police raided Mir's home and found
vital clues that helped them trace the other conspirators. On
interrogation, it was learnt that the attacks on the Christians were part
of a much bigger conspiracy that included JeM’s leader, Masood Azhar,
and others belonging to the anti-Shia Lashkar-e-Jhangvi (Le]). Referring
to the ringleader of the attacks on the Christians, Saif-ur-Rahman Saifi,
Musharraf remarked:

Saifi was a highly indoctrinated person. Once he was arrested in Multan on
August 15, 2002, he confessed that he also had links with Lashkar-e-Jhangvi,
the militant wing of the Sunni sectarian Sipah-e-Sahaba, and also to al
Qaeda. Thus did the nexus of al Qaeda and our local extremist organizations
become clear: al Qaeda provided the moncy, weapons, and equipment, and

e local ions provided the p and ion to actually
execute the attacks (ibid., 231).

The first wave of terrorist attacks subsided for a while as the police and
mulllgem:e services uncovered some of the ringleaders and operatives.
d during the i gations had led to the arrest of
some of them. However, terrorist cells and nexuses were too widely
spread in Pakistan, and they had devised such effective methods and
techniques of indoctrination, that Pakistan would be made to pay a very
heavy price for its government's decision to cooperate with the
Americans and other perceived enemies of Islam and Muslims. Stakes
were raised to the highest levels when, on 14 December 2003, a
powerful bomb went off mmules aﬁer Mushurral 's convoy crossed a
bndge in Ipindi. App y. a g device in the vehicle
d the remot lled explosi from blowing up the bridge
u the convoy passed over it (Daily Times, 15 December 2003). Colonel
(Retd.) Aslam Cheema, who was travelling with him in the car,
described the whole incident to me in detail. Musharraf had kept his
nerve and directed the chauffer to continue driving to the COAS
residence where he lived. The tires had burst and the car was limping
on one side but it made its way to his residence.

Another attempt to kill Musharraf, on the heels of the first one, took
place eleven days later when, on 25 December, two suicide bombers
unsuccessfully tried to assassinate him. It was found that some junior
personnel from the SSG commandos, to which Musharraf himself
belonged, were involved in the iracy to inate him (Musharraf

2006: 252). Amjad anql who had also been |nvolved in the murder
as the

of Daniel Pearl, was ifi d of the




attempt as his mobile phone calls were picked up by the security and
intelligence services. After a massive manhunt, he was finally shot dead
by the Pakistani forces in September 2004 (ibid., 254-7).

In any case, the terrorists extended their targets to other top officials
of the Musharraf regime. On 10 June 2004, a hail of bullets was fired at
the car in which Karachi's corps commander, Lieutenant General Ahsan
Saleem Hayat, was on the way to his office. The gunshots were fired
because the bomb that had been planted on the road, to blow the car
up, luckily did not explode as the phone call that was being used as the
remote control did not function. The general's driver and other staff
were killed. All seven men in the military jeep that was following him
were also killed, as were two bystanders. The general survived. The cell
phone was found as the assassins ran away in panic. Investigations led
to the discovery of another rabidly anti-Shia group, the Jandullah, which
was particularly active in the Iranian Baluchistan. I was later to see, with
my own eyes on YouTube, Jandullah fanatics beheading their victims
who were lying on the ground and writhing in excruciating pain as their
heads were being severed from their necks. Later, the heads were waved
around, the same way butchers do with severed sheep and goat heads.
On 30 July 2004, an attempt was made on the life of Prime Minister
Shaukat Aziz while he was on a by-election campaign contesting the
seat from Attock, about 60 miles north of Islamabad. While Aziz
survived, several people were killed including those travelling with him.

The government reacted by capturing several Al-Qaeda operatives.
Many were handed over to the United States. It was the transit routes
for the United States and its allied forces, the provision of bases in
Pakistan, and the sharing of intelligence with the Americans, which
enabled them to target Al-Qaeda enclaves, which earned Musharraf the
wrath of the Taliban, Musharraf has devoted at least two chapters of his
book to elucidate the services his men rendered in the fight against
terrorism. In 2006, Musharraf wrote:

We have captured 689 and handed over 369 to the United States. We have
carned bounties totalling millions of dollars. Those who habitually accuse
us of ‘not doing enough’ in the war on terror should simply ask the CIA how
much prize money it has paid to the government of Pakistan (ibid., 237).

Those surrendered to the Americans were mainly Al-Qaeda operatives
and belonged to Arab and other nationalities. However, while such
conduct might have endeared Musharraf and his generals to the




Amencans. it greatly angered the Islamists in Pakistan. Terrorism by
groups, and militias, continued to menace Pakistani
society during 2004-6.

THE US-INDIA NUCLEAR DEAL

In spite of Pakistan joining the war on terror, US policy of moving
closer to India in a ‘strategic partnership, initiated by Bill Clinton,
received a great boost under his successor, George W. Bush. Preceded
by years of preparation on both sides, a process was initiated when Bush
visited India in March 2006 whereby the restrictions that had previously
existed on supplying nuclear technology to India could be removed.
Neither India nor Pakistan had signed the Comprehensive Test Ban
Treaty (CTBT) or the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), despite
intense pressure from the United States; hence, its ban on the export of
nuclear technology to both. The Americans, impressed by India's
impressive economic growth and the resilience of its democracy, were
keen to exploit the Indian market. Nuclear technology was to be
included among the US exports, provided procedures could be agreed
on to use it for civilian purposes. Suffice it to note that the US-India
nuclear deal had taken several years to negotiate. There was considerable
opposition 1o it in India, from the left-wing parties and the BJP, as the
Manmohan Singh government was perceived to be compromising
Indian sovereignty by agreeing to place its civilian reactors under the
International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA)—even though the reactors
it used for military purposes were to be exempted. This US-India deal
took more than three years to finally be consummated on 20 October
2008 (Sikri 2009: 175-84).

The Americans used their clout to ensure that no international
opposition to such a deal, especially by China—a member of the coveted
five-member nuclear club—stood in the way. India, thus, became the
only known country with nuclear weapons which, though not a party
to the NPT, is still allowed to carry out nuclear commerce with the rest
of the world. Pakistan protested and urged that |l. loo. should be

ded the same but the Ameri d. It
has had to remain content with being described, earlier in 2004, as
America’s major ‘non-NATO ally"
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Conruc-r IN BALOCHISTAN

inthei ional arena compounded the diffi
(hat phgued Pakistan at home. Besides the spate of terrorism being
carried out by the Islamists, the Musharraf regime ran into trouble with
the Baloch nationalists as well. That vast, but desolate, province had
always had grievances against the central government. Jamil Ahmad,
who served in Balochistan for years as a civil servant and retired as chief
secretary of Balochistan, told me that the Pakistan military was guilty
of excessive use of power against the Baloch, and that that part of the
country had always felt alienated from the rest of the country, especially
the Punjabi-dominated centre.
In the early twenty-first century, trouble and armed conflict again
emerged in Balochistan, between the Baloch nationalists and lhe forces
the g in Islamabad. The background to this
mclnded tl\e accumula(ed grievances from the past about the
exploitation of natural gas and other minerals, as well as new grievances
about the development of Gwadar as a port city on the Balochistan
coast—without the Baloch being given a proper share in those ventures.
Baloch grievances were also directed at the Chinese who had been
granted mining rights in the province and were a major player in the
development of Gwadar. With regards to mining, the Saindak copper-
gold project worth $297 million, run by a Chinese contractor on a ten-
year lease, was the most important. It had been running for three years
without any independent monitoring. In May 2009, the Saindak Metal
Limited released figures that 7.746 tons of gold, 86,013 tons of copper,
11.046 tons of silver, and 14,482 tons of magnetite concentrate (iron)
worth $633.573 million were produced during 2004-8. Neither the
Baloch in general, nor the locals in district Chagai where the mines are
located, benefited from such wealth. According to the contract, the
Chinese keep most of the profits, Pakistan receives $500,000 monthly
for the next 10 years, while Balochistan is to receive only $0.7 million
per year as royalty. The environmental damage the mining is causing to
Balochistan has been completely ignored (Talpur, 5 December 2009).
However, it is the port which is the most important project for the
Chinese. Once the Karakoram Highway is completed, Gwadar would
serve as the hub for Chinese goods en route to markets in central and
western Asia. It will also serve as a naval base for Chinese submarines,
according to a noted Pakistani defence analyst, Ahmad Faruqui
(2008: 2). As the economic importance of Gwadar, as a major outlet for




trade as well as a strate ‘c naval base to monitor the Arabian Sea, has
grown, the Pakistan military has built a number of military bases and
garrisons in Balochistan. In 2005, the Baloch leaders, Nawab Akbar
Bugti and Mir Balach Marri, presented a 15-point agenda to the
Pakistan government. The key lhnm of the agenda was a demand for
greater control of the provi and a ium on the
construction of mllllary bases (The New York Times, 2 April 2006). As
had happened in the past, such demands were unacceptable to the
centre. The Baloch decided to put up an armed resistance to what they
believed was renewed exploitation of their resources by a Punjabi-
dominated military regime in Islamabad. As a result, armed encounters
and skirmishes began to take place.

On 15 December 2005, Inspector-General of the Frontier Corps
Major General Shujaat Zamir Dar and his deputy, Brigadier Salim
Nawaz, were wounded after shots were fired at their helicopter in
Balochistan. The helicopter landed safely. That was followed by the
Pakistan Army launching a hunt for the ringleaders of the
movement, and culminated in Akbar Bugti being killed on 26 August
2006 (The New York Times, 28 August 2006). The Pakistan government
later claimed that he was behind a series of bomb blasts, including a
rocket attack on Musharraf. It was also alleged that at least 60 Pakistani
soldiers and seven officers were killed by Baloch fighters. Moreover,
Pakistan alleged that India was supporting the Baloch rebels. The
Baloch, on the other hand, accused the Musharraf regime of carrying
out a vicious military campaign against their people that had resulted
in hundreds of deaths.

THE PAKISTAN TALIBAN
An interesting development during that period was the emergence of
Taliban on the Paki i side of the Durand
me It was led by a new generation of fighters, among whom Baitullah
Mehsud was the most prominent. The story of Mehsud's evolution, as
a fanatical Islamist, was not very different from that of thousands of
other young men from the tribal areas who were inducted into jihadist
activities at a tender age. He was probably recruited after the Soviet Red
Army withdrew from Afghanistan in 1989, because Mehsud (born in
1974) was only 15 at that time. Mehsud attended a madrassa in the
tribal areas for a few months, and was converted to a world view that

made any individual or group a legitii target for liquidation if they
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did not adhere to the severe and militant version of Islam that he and
his foll bscribed to. He swore allegi to the Afghan leader
Mullah Omar, who had headed the Taliban regime in Afghanistan.
While Omar continued to lead the Afghan Taliban, by early 2005,
Mehsud had consolidated his position as the leader of the Taliban in
Pakistan. The Taliban carried out punishments, such as chopping the
hands off of alleged thieves and stoning adulterers to death, in the areas
under their control in Pakistan. There is some evidence to suggest that
the Afghan and Pakistani Taliban did not always see eye to eye, and
Omar's overall leadership of the entire Taliban was more symbolic than
real. During 2005-2006, the Taliban and their sectarian allies in other
parts of Pakistan targeted Shias, Christians, Ahmadis, and foreigners,
inflicting death and injury on hundreds. As that brought terrorism deep
into Pakistani towns and cities outside the tribal belt, the Musharraf
regime intensified its military operations against Taliban and Al-Qaeda
enclaves in the tribal areas.

CLASH AND TRUCE WITH THE TALIBAN

President George W. Bush visited South Asia in March 2006. Although
India, understandably, received most attention from the Americans, this
time there was no question of ostracizing or humiliating Pakistan as
had happened in the aftermath of the Kargil conflict when Bill Clinton
had paid a visit to South Asia. The striking of a ‘strategic partnership’
with India, no doubt, was uppermost in Bush’s mind, but he made it a
point to emphasize a special relationship with Pakistan when he met
President Musharraf in Islamabad on 4 March 2006 and expressed
solidarity with Pakistan for fighting terrorism. He said:

Mr President and | reaffirmed our shared commitment to a broad and
lasting ic partnership. And that partnership begins with close
cooperation in the war on terror. President Musharraf made a bold decision
for his people and for peace, after September the 11th, when Pakistan chose
to fight the terrorists. The American people appreciate your leadership, Mr
President, and so do I (Bush, Whitchouse archives 2006).

The extremists responded with pro-Taliban tribesmen in Mir Ali, a
small hamlet in North Waziristan, opening fire on vehicles carrying
paramilitary forces. Pakistan's army retaliated with helicopter gunships
and artillery fire. At least 49 people were killed in the fighting, a
spokesman said. The background to the clash was dated a few days




earlier: when a military strike took place on a suspected Al-Qaeda camp
in the nearby village of Saidgi. Although Pakistan had deployed about
80,000 troops along the Afghan frontier, the fighters were able to move
across the border, between Afghanistan and Pakistan, without any great
difficulty. The fighting spread to the main town of North Waziristan,
Miran Shah, where about 500 tribesmen traded fire with paramilitary
forces in the bazaar and, according to security officials, occupied some
government buildings. Both sides could be seen firing mortars and
assault rifles. Some mortar shells hit closed shops.

According to the ISPR spokesman, Major General Shaukat Sultan, a
local cleric named Maulvi Abdul Khaliq had called for a jihad against
the Pakistan Army. He stated that 21 militants were killed in Mir Ali,
and 25 in Miran Shah, but added that the toll could be higher. Three
government troops had also died, and about 10 were wounded, he said.
The army spokesman said that the tribesmen had started firing rockets
at a Frontiers Corps base in Miran Shah, and the army had responded
with artillery fire. Officials said helicopter gunships also targeted the
tribal fighters’ positions. According to security and intelligence officials
who spoke on condition of anonymity, the actual number of deaths of
pro-Taliban tribesmen was 80. Moreover, the army reportedly destroyed
a hotel in Miran Shah bazaar that the tribal militants had used as a
position for firing their rockets.

Tension, with intermittent firing from both sides, continued to drag
on for months. Finally, a truce was reached in September 2006.
However, clashes again broke out when Pakistan ordered air strikes on
a madrassa in Damdola village on 30 October 2006, in which 80 people,
most teenagers, were killed. The military alleged that the madrassa,
which it had successfully targeted, was being used as a terrorist camp.
However, it was later learnt that an American drone (unmanned aerial
vehicle) had been used to fire missiles to kill the madrassa students. In
retaliation, on 8 November 2006, a suicide bomber killed 42 soldiers
and injured another 20 in Dargai (Raman 2006). Drone attacks had
begun in 2004. Although operated from as far as Creech Air Force Base
in Nevada, USA, it was later learnt that they took off from Shamsi
Airfield in Balochistan (interview Christine Fair). Such operations were
indicative of the close covert cooperation between the US and Pakistan
militaries. Publically, however, the Pakistan military could not admit to
that as the drone attacks claimed many innocent lives and, as such, were
acts of extra-judicial killing.




ESCALATION AND PROLIFERATION OF TERRORISM

The new wave of attacks was characterized by the emergence of the
dreadful phenomenon of suicide bombing. In 2007, at least 56 suicide
bombings took place, resulting in 419 security officials and 217 civilians
being slain. The significance of such an escalation can be grasped from
the fact tha, in the previous year, only six suicide bombings had been
directed at the military. Despite this tenfold increase in suicide
bombings, the regime failed to track down a single culprit (Rashid 2008:
379). From the beginning of 2007, almost daily reports of attacks on
police and security personnel began to pour in from the tribal areas
along the Afghani border in Waziristan. On 26 January, two
persons—the suicide bomber and a security guard—were killed in a
blast at the prestigious Marriott Hotel in Islamabad. A meeting, to
celebrate Indias Republic Day, was to take place at the hotel; Indian
diplomats were scheduled to attend it. The blast was, undoubtedly,
planned for that reception but went off earlier (Daily Times, 27 January
2007). The garrison-type security in the Islamabad:
Rawalpindi area were further challenged when an insurgency, headed
by hardcore fundamentalists, began to surface in the Pakistani capital
in March 2007.

THE LAL MAS)ID SHOWDOWN

The Lal Masjid, or Red Mosque, was a hotbed of Islamism in Islamabad,
right under the nose of the Musharraf regime. Founded by Abdullah
Ghazi—a veteran of the Afghan jihad and a great admirer of Osama bin
Laden—his sons, Abdul Aziz Ghazi and Abdul Rashid Ghazi, made no
bones about their intention of imposing a Taliban-type of Islam on
Pakistan (Hussain 2010: 105-111). On 28 March, nigab-wearing armed
women of the women’s section at Lal Masjid, the Jamia Hafsa—
described by someone as the Lal Brigade—raided the premises of a
madam who allegedly ran a brothel, arrested her and her family, and
forced a confession that she was guilty of running a sex trade (The News
International, 29 March 2007). The same day, several bomb blasts and
rocket and mortar attacks on security forces and government
installations, by tribal militants, took place in the Tank district of
NWFP. Twenty-five people, including a soldier of the paramilitary
Frontier Constabulary, were killed (ibid.). On 6 April, the Islamists set
up a Sharia Court inside the mosque. The most senior cleric, Maulana
Abdul Aziz, vowed to launch thousands of suicide attacks if the
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g0 fered in the activities of the court. On 9 April, the
Sharia Court handed down a fatwa (edict) against Punjab Tourism
Minister Nilofer Bakhtiar, ucusmg her of cmmm ing a sin when she
was shown, in P ing her paraglidi
instructor following a cllanfy Jump in France (Ahmed 16 lnly 2007).
The situation deteriorated further when, on 28 April, there was an
assassination attempt on the then Interior Minister, Aftab Ahmad Khan
Sherpao, in Charsadda, NWFP. He survived but 28 people were killed
(The News International, 29 April 2007). On 23 June, the Lal Brigade
cadres raided a Chinese massage parlour in Islamabad and abducted the
Chinese couple who owned it, and the five Chinese and two Pakistani
girls who worked there. They released the Chinese couple and girls later.
Such attacks on the nationals of Pakistan's all-weather friend were
very embarrassing for Musharraf. The rise of extremism and terrorism
among China's Uyghur Muslims, of Xinjiang province, had been a cause
for concern for the Chinese government. Musharraf had taken several
measures to curb the Chinese Mujahideen's presence in Pakistan, and
had himself gone and spoken to them about Islam being a religion of
peace and the need for them to remain loyal citizens of China. However,
Uyghur militants had continued to receive training in camps set up by
jihadist organizations—something the Chinese government had strong
objections to (Faruqui 2008: 1-3). In a rare display of concern about
events in Pakistan, the Chinese minister for public security, Zhou
Yongang, told visiting Pakistani Interior Minister Sherpao, ‘We hope
Pakistan will look into the terrorist attacks aiming at Chinese people
and organizations as soon as possible and severely punish the criminals’
(Shanghai Daily, 27 June 2007). Things came to a head when, on 8 July,
unidentified gunmen Kkilled three Chinese workers and wounded
another near Peshawar, in what Pakistani officials said was a reprisal
attack linked to the ongoing siege of militants in the Lal Masjid (The
News International, 9 July 2007). The same day, in lslamabad, a senior
military officer, tenant Colonel Haroon Islam, who was stationed
outside the Lal Masjid, was gunned down by the militants inside (ibid.).
Musharraf felt compelled to act firmly and ruthlessly. The security
forces were ordered to carry out Operation Sunrise in full force. Initially,
it had been named Operation Silence (Dawn, 12 July 2007). Perhaps the
government was hoping to carry out a relatively small-scale assault but
the resistance inside the mosque made that impossible. Thus, when
Operation Sunrise was launched, it bore the hallmarks of a major
military action. While many inside the mosque panicked and
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surrendered or tried to escape, several hundred dichards decided to go
down fighting. The major assault was launched on 10 July. A total of
150 people were reported killed, of which 10 were army personnel,
including an officer. However, some people challenge the government
figures and claim that many more inside the mosque lost their lives.

The attack on the Lal Masjid was supported by the US, while Al-
Qaeda’s second in command, Ayman al-Zawabhiri, issued a video
message calling for Pakistanis to join the jihad against Musharraf to
avenge the deaths of the Islamists (ibid.). Retaliation followed soon
when, on 15 July, there was a suicide attack and car bombs exploded in
many parts of the NWFP. At least 49 people were killed and hundreds
wounded. Among them were 11 security personnel (The News
International, 16 July 2007). Further attacks followed on 19 July in Hub,
Hangu, and Kohat in the NWFP; another 52 persons lost their lives and
127 were injured. Chinese engineers working in that area were the
intended targets but, instead of them, security personnel and other
ordinary people including women and children suffered (The News
International, 20 July 2007).

TERRORIST ATTACKS CONTINUE UNABATED

On 2 August, the police in Sargodha shot dead a suspected suicide
bomber after the man failed to detonate the explosives he was wearing.
He had entered a police training centre and killed a policeman before
being gunned down. On 4 September, at least 25 people were killed and
66 injured in two suicide bomb attacks in Rawalpindi cantonment.
Among the dead were uniformed officials, as well as civilians, who had
been in a bus carrying them to their workplace (The News International,
5 September 2007). On 13 September, at least 20 off-duty commandos
were killed and 11 injured in an apparent suicide blast at an army mess
near the Tarbela Dam, NWFP. Among the targeted men were
commandos from the SSG Karar Company, apparently because they
were believed to have taken part in the assault on the Lal Masjid (The
News International, 14 September 2007).

THE FIRST ATTACK ON BENAZIR BHUTTO

Meanwhile, the United States had, behind the scenes, been brokering a
deal between Musharraf and Benazir Bhutto—that Benazir would be
allowed to return to Pakistan, corruption charges would be dropped
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against her and her spouse, elections would be held, and the results
would be engineered to enable Benazir to form the government while
Musharraf would continue as president. The negotiations that d
including their meeting in Dy ibai ded hly, but h
warned Benazir not to come to Paluslan because he feared that there
was a threat to her life. She ignored the warning, pinning her hopes on
the Americans to ensure that her safety would be guaranteed by
Musharraf. She arrived in Karachi, where a mammoth crowd had
gathered to welcome her, on 18 October. The procession from the
airport to the mausoleum of Jinnah dragged on for hours. Shortly after
midnight, utter savagery and mayhem was let loose on the convoy
carrying her and other PPP leaders—probably by two suicide bombers.
Initial reports suggested that 125 people died and more than 500 were
injured, though Benazir and the other leaders, who were in a bomb-
proof truck, were saved (The News International, October 2007). Later,
Benazir put the number of dead at 179, including 50 youth from her
party who had volunteered to protect her life (Bhutto 2008b: 12). It was
the single-most deadly act of terrorism in Pakistan. Benazir revealed,
in a statement that I myself saw on television, that she had written to
Musharraf that she feared an assassination attempt would be made on
her life, and that sympathizers in his government and administration
were involved in a conspiracy to kill her.

There was no let-up in the terrorism. On 30 October, a suicide
bomber struck a police checkpost in a high-security zone of Rawalpindi,
less than a mile from General Musharraf's camp office (The News
International, 31 October 2007). | was attending a conference in

bad when it happened. On 1 N ber, another suicide bomber
blew himself up, along with seven officers of the Pakistan Air Force and
three civilians, at Sargodha—where the Pakistan Air Force has its
regional headquarters (The News I ional, 2 N ber 2007). On
24 November, two scparate attacks targeting military personnel and
installations in Rawalpindi resulted in 32 deaths. This time it was the
personnel of the ISI that were particularly targeted (The News
International, 25 November 2007). Further attacks followed on 9
December, when ten people including three policemen and seven
civilians—including two children—perished in a car bombing near
Matta, Swat district. The next day, a suicide attack took place on a
school bus carrying the children of air force employees during the
morning rush hour in Sargodha (The News International, 11 December
2007). On 13 December, suicide bombings near an army checkpoint in




Quetta killed seven people, including three personnel of the Pakistan
Army (The News International, 14 December 2007).

At Nowshera, NWFP, on 15 December, a suicide bomber rammed
his explosives-laden bicycle into a military checkpoint, killing five
people and injuring eleven others (The News lnlemalional 16 December
2007). On 17 December, twelve security p 1 were killed, and five
wounded, in a suicide attack in Kohat, NWFP; the victims were
members of the army’s local football team (The News International,
18 December 2007). On 21 December, a suicide bomb blast again
targeted Aftab Ahmad Khan Sherpao, killing at least 57 and injuring
over 100 at Jamia Masjid in Charsadda district. Sherpao survived the
blast, but his younger son, Mustafa Khan Sherpao, was injured (The
News International, 22 December 2007). On 23 December, at least 13
people, including four security personnel, were killed and another 23
wounded as a suicide bomber targeted an army convoy near Mingora,
Swat district (The News International, 24 December 2007).

This spiralling violence took place in the background of the
formation of the Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (TPP) in December 2007.
About 13 groups of the Taliban, on the Pakistani side of the Durand
Line, united under the leadership of Bailullah Mehsud wi(h the

objective of izi i to the Pakistani state, enforcing the
Sharia as interpreted by them, and oﬁeﬂng the United States and other
NATO forces stiff resi: in Afg Non-state actors became

the bearers of the terrorist scourgt

THE LAWYERS MOVEMENT AGAINST MUSHARRAF

While the Islamists intensified their attacks on the Musharraf regime,
especially on the military as it was involved in ongoing operations
against the Taliban and Al-Qaeda, a popular and peaceful movement
for the restoration of civilian democratic rule gained momentum in
March 2007. According to the largely suspended and heavily amended
Pakistan Constitution of 1973, general elections had to be held every
five years. After overthrowing Nawaz Sharif in October 1999, Musharraf
had assumed the position of chief executive. On 20 June 2001, he
appointed himself the president of Pakistan. This was followed by a
number of other steps to acquire the semblance of legitimacy. Among
them, the most important was the general election held in October
2002. All tactics, including the rigging of elections, gerrymandering,
and intimidation, were employed to ensure that a majority of the seats




in parliament were won by the pro-Musharraf Pakistan Muslim League-
Quaid-i-Azam (PML-Q). EU election observers described the election
process as flawed (Daily Times, 13 October 2002). The PML-Q formed
a majority coalition with the help of some right-wing parties and
independents. As already noted, Musharraf had, over the years, tried to

establish the reputation of a mod and progressi Musllm leader
for himself. several reputable i i ic and
ﬁnancnl ugenms had noted that while Pakistan's financial standing had

ially, inflation, l and abject poverty

conunued to ravage the lives of nearly one-fourth of the Pakistani
population who were officially categorized as living below the poverty
line (Ahmed, | December 2007).

In any case, new elections were due in 2007 and, from the beginning
of the year, voices began to be raised for free and fair elections. Many
liberals and secularists who had, with some reservations, been backing
Musharraf as a counterweight to the Islamists, turned against him in
the spring of 2007—when he declared Chief Justice Iftikhar Mohammad
Chaudhry of the Pakistan Supreme Court non-functional (a novel term
meaning ‘practically removed from his office’) on allegations of misuse
of office. It was widely believed that Justice Chaudhry had told
Musharraf that the latter could not contest elections while remaining in
uniform, and that the election for the presidency had to be carried out
before the end of 2007. Moreover, Justice Chaudhry took up several
habeas corpus cases of Pakistani citizens, mainly journalists critical of
the Musharraf regime and political activists abducted by the security
forces, ordering that the detained individuals be produced in court (The
News International, 17 March 2007).

Justice Chaudhry's removal resulted in protest marches and
demonstrations, mainly by lawyers and the political cadres (Ahmed et
al. 2007; Zaidi 2008). The demonstrations and protest actions continued,
in the courts’ premises, despite violent assaults by the police and
security agencies. In the absence of a pohuul Ieadershlp. CIVI| miﬂy
took the lead in p ing against d
and messages of solldlnry helped the struggle to continue. Suhscquemly.
Chaudhry was reinstated by a Supreme Court bench on 10 July.
However, that did not mean that the stand-off between Musharraf and
him had ended; rather, Chaudhry emblrked upon judicial activism that
clearly sought conft with hile, civil society
actors, as well as the opposition, began to give calls for Musharraf to
step down and for a caretaker government to hold free and fair




elections. In a bid to pre-empt any move that would threaten his
presidency, Musharraf had himself elected president by the outgoing
members of the national and provincial assemblies, who were mostly
his supporters, on 6 October. In any event, the Pakistan Election
Commission announced 8 January 2008 as the date for the general
elections.

The crisis deepened when Nawaz Sharif was allowed to return to
Pakistan, under intense pressure from the US and Saudi Arabia, on 27
November. A couple of months earlier, in September, when he and his
brother, Shahbaz Sharif, had tried to return to Pakistan they had been
told that they were unwelcome. Benazir's and Nawaz's presence set in
motion popular rallies as the election campaign picked up momentum.
Meanwhile, Musharraf resigned as chief of army staff on 28 November,
and General Ashfaq Pervez Kayani became the new military chief.
General Kayani had, earlier, held the key posts of corps commander of
Rawalpindi and director-general of the powerful Inter-Services
Intelligence (ISI). Media descriptions of him generally projected the
image of a quiet, professional soldier who shunned publicity—in sharp
contrast to his predecessor who thrived on it.

DIRECTIVES ISSUED BY GENERAL KAYANI

Among the earliest decisions taken by Kayani was a directive instructing
army officers not to maintain contact with politicians. They were told
that they had no role to play in pohucs. and emphasnud lha( soldlers
should pay heed to their p g on
this theme, General Klyxnl told them not to summon any politician to
the General Headquarters. Those who violated the directive would have
to explain their conduct, as was also stressed in his communication to
the officers (The News International, 14 January 2008). An even more
significant decision, taken by General Kayani on 11 February 2008, was
to recall all officers serving in civil departments. The military
spokesperson, Director of the Inter-Services Public Relations Major-
General Athar Abbas, told the press, ‘More than 300 army officers are
presently working in various civil departments and the majority of them
have been asked to report to the General Headquarters immediately.
(Dawn, 12 February 2008)

The decision had been agreed on at the corps commanders’
conference on 7 February 2008, presided over by General Kayani. More
importantly, it was asserted that General Kayani did not support




President Musharraf’s clumsy handling of the conflict with Justice
Chaudhry. General Kayani was not known to have abused his office to
help his relatives or for personal gain (Yusufzai, 28 November 2007).
Other less charitable representations stressed his past as the head of the
151, suggesting that he must have taken part in the political
manoeuvrings that the ISI was notorious for. Moreover, he must have
had to interact with the Taliban and Punjabi extremist organisations.
such as the Lashkar-e-Tayyaba (LeT) and Jaish-e-Muhammad (JeM),
and, therefore, was not likely to take a firm stand against them.

In any event, not only had resentment against the military been
growing among the politicians, but also among the civil servants.
Initially, the civil servants, with the assistance of the military, had
constituted the oligarchy that called the shots, while the politicians were
reduced to being mere pawns in its hands. That relationship had been
reversed under Zia, and the military had been appropriating more and
more power as a result. Akbar S. Ahmed, himself a civil servant before
he became an academic, vividly described in an interview to this author
the way in which the military started sidelining the better-cducated civil
servants in the 1980s. He asserted that such intrusions partly cxplained
why the general standard of administration deteriorated over the
years—because military officers had no experience or training in
managing civilian affairs. The former Punjab governor, Shahid Hamid.
told me that, from the time of Zia onwards, the president and COAS
have been at the de facto apex of the power structure and decision-
making process in Pakistan. Prime ministers and other ministers have
not been relevant. For example, on the question of defence spending, it
is the president and COAS who have made the most decisions while the
defence ministers have played no important role and could be ignored.

Grievances against the military’s involvement in civilian affairs had
been growing in the key province of Punjab as well where, in the past,
the men in uniform had ¢njoyed great popularity. Thus. the traditional
support for the military had been declining in the major cities of the
Punjab—from where the civil service officers mainly hailed. In contrast,
the social background of military officers is predominantly of rural
Punjab, or from the smaller towns of northern Punjab. This author was
able to assess the resentment in the Punjab by talking to a cross section
of Punjabi clite during several visits in 2000-2009. Given such
developments, the military badly needed to improve its standing in
society. Therefore, General Kayani's decision to recall serving officers




VICISSITUDES OF THE MUSHARRAF REGIME

om the civilian departments was an imperative and long overdue
easure.

HE ASSASSINATION OF BENAZIR BHUTTO

"hile terrorist assaults on security and military personnel continued
1abated, Benazir Bhutto carried out a round of meetings to solicit
stes for the general elections announced for 8 January 2008. On 27
ecember. having just addressed one such huge public meeting, she was

d (The News ional, 28 D ber 2007). Some twenty
her people, including five PPP volunteers, were also killed in the
omb blast. A bitter controversy, laced with conspiracy theories, broke
at with regard to her killers and whether she had died of gunshots fired
7 the assassin(s) or the bomb blast that took place concurrently.

The government claimed to have intercepted a telephone conver-
ition between the Al-Qaeda leader, Baitullah Mehsud, and a cleric in
hich both congratulated each other on her death and praised the men
ho participated in it (Ahmed, 31 December 2007). Benazir Bhutto had
>mmitted herself to working closely with the US in the war on terror,
nd even to allowing the Americans to interrogate A.Q. Khan—a
ational hero who is fondly referred to as the father of the Islamic or
akistani atomic bomb. An Al-Qaeda statement described her death as
e end of ‘America’s most precious asset in Pakistan. However, a
sokesperson for Mehsud denied that the Al-Qaeda leader had anything
> do with the murder (Ahmed, 31 December 2007). Efforts to establish
tho, exactly, were involved in the bomb blasts and gunshots that took
lace at the time of her death were frustrated because of the many
‘regularities that had followed her assassination. The Zardari-Gilani
'PP-led government that took office in March 2008 sought help from
cotland Yard, whose team arrived and investigated the circumstances
£ her violent death. It concluded that she probably died from the
mpact—falling violently and hitting her head on the roof of the car—
esulting in her skull cracking. They could not ascertain whether she
lied because of her fall when she was shot at or because of the
hockwaves caused by the bomb blasts—not least because no post-
nortem was conducted on her dead body: her husband Asif Ali Zardari
1ad overnlled a post- -mortem! A UN Commission of Inquiry found
nany including a lapse in security, the threat
tom the Taliban, and the named odd behaviour of some of the officials
ind even PPP stal but, it did not ically establish who could




have been involved in the conspmcy to kill her. It noted, however, that
the police deliberately failed to effe ly i igate the causes of her
death (UN Camnusstan of Inquiry 2010).

The Commission noted that Al-Qaeda had strong motives to order
her assassination, because of her support for western-type democracy,
pro-US leanings, and her opposition to jihad and terrorism. Such a
hostile disposition was shared by the Taliban, who found a woman with
modernist ideas an anathema to their deeply misogynist worldview. The
Pakistan establishment was also identified, in the report, to have a
motive for her elimination: she had been castigating the ISI in her
writings and had pledged to bring the military and intelligence services
under the control of her civilian government. She had named the super-
hawk, General Hamid Gul, and Brigadier Ejaz Shah, the former head of
the IB and also an IS officer, as individuals who, though retired, could
activate their links with extremists to have her killed (UN Commi ion
of Inquiry 2010: 45-53). An i ing twist to the Commissi
findings was that, given the salience of the Sunni jihadist groups in
Pakistan, a sectarian motive for the heinous crime was also possible. It
noted that as both Benazir's mother and husband were Shias, she was
also suspected of being a Shia (ibid., 49-50).

In the buzzing Pakistani market of conspi cies, this was significant
because both Benazir (2008b: 54) and her niece, Fatima Bhutto (2010:
50-2), categorically stated in their books that their paternal lineage was
solidly Sunni. In a long discussion that I had in 2010 with Syeda Abida
Hussain, a veteran politician and close confidant of Benazir Bhutto, and
belonging to one of the most prominent Shia families of Punjab, she
told me that Benazir had confided in her that she was a Sunni. Abida
Hussain also told me that, while in Dubai, Benazir had begun to
regularly attend a Sunni mosque and took her children along with her.
Whatever the truth, it was strongly indicative of the sectarian
polarization that had taken place in Pakistan. Previously, two heads of
state, both unelected, were Shias—Iskander Mirza and General Yahya
Khan. Shias had been serving as ministers, as well as in very senlor
positions in both the military and civil bureaucracies.
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Transition to Democracy and
Proliferation in Terrorism

he election of 2008 was held in a highly-charged and volatile
mosphere; the situation in Sindh was explosive. There was rioting in
terior Sindh as Mohajir shops and businesses were attacked and some
isualties took place. The military issued shoot-to-kill orders. Zardari,
spealing for calm, condemned the attacks on innocent people in Sindh
1d regretted the violence that had erupted. For his part, General
ayani decided not to interfere in the election process. Since General
ia’s time, at least, the ISI had been involved in election manipulation
1d, as a result, its reputation as a ‘state within the state’ had become
art of the popular Pakistani political parlance. Kayani declared that
olding a free and fair election was the sole responsibility of the
lection Commission, and that the ‘army will meet only its
onstitutional obligations and help the civil administration maintain
w and order, as and when required’ (Dawn, 12 February 2008). Had
enazir Bhutto not been assassinated on 27 December 2007, a
!S-sponsored power-sharing deal between Benazir and Musharraf
rould have achieved two objectives: through elections, the Muslim
cague-Quaid (PML-Q) and the continuingly popular Pakistan Peoples
‘arty (PPP) would have gained the most seats, and Musharraf would
ave continued as president. Benazir wanted the Americans to ensure
hat she was provided with proper security when she visited Pakistan,
nd to be absolved of all the corruption charges against her (Suskind
008: 262-66).

In any event, the general elections on 18 February 2008 proved to be
ree and fair in spite of some vote rigging by local strongmen and a
omplicit administration. The result turned out to be a massive protest
'ote against authoritarianism. The PPP and the Pakistan Muslim
ague-Nawaz (PML-N) emerged as the main winners, securing 120
ind 90 seats, respectively, in the 342-member National Assembly. In the




provincial assemblies, too, they did very well in places where their
influence was known to exist. The Islamist parties were wiped out in
the strategic NWEP, on the Afghan border where the Taliban and
Al-Qaeda extremists had their strongholds. The main winner was the
Awami National Party (ANP), a secular-nationalist party that had
always, historically, enjoyed significant support in the province. The
main pro-Musharraf party, the PML-Q, suffered a major loss, winning
only 51 seats in the National Assembly. Its support in the provincial
assemblies plummeted sharply as well. The exception was Balochistan,
where Musharraf’s earlier military action had resulted in many
casualties, including the killing of the powerful tribal leader, Akbar
ly, the Baloch nationalists had boycotted the
election and the seats were captured by the PML-Q.

The PPP and PML-N, both bitter rivals in the past, decided to form
a broad-| based coalition government which included the ANP as well as
the p rafl hida Qaumi (MQM) and the
Jamiat-e-Ulema-e-Islam. After several weeks of intense political
manoeuvring, Yousaf Raza Gilani was nominated as the PPP candidate
for prime minister on 22 March. He was elected on 24 March, having
secured 264 votes while the pro-Musharraf PML-Q candidate,
Chaudhry Pervaiz Elahi, received only 42 votes. Gilani was sworn in by
Musharraf on 25 March but Zardari, Sharif, and several other leaders
did not attend the ceremony, presumably to protest against Musharraf’s

ion as president (The News ional, 26 March 2008).

Among the first orders that Gilani issued, after being elected prime
minister, was the removal of all hindrances on the movement of the
deposed chief justice of Pakistan, Iftikhar Mohammad Chaudhry, and
the other judges of the Pakistan Supreme Court who had been kept in
detention. In his maiden speech as prime minister, Gilani announced
that his government would continue to combat terrorism but that the
conflict could not be solved through milftary means only. Efforts would
be made to find a political solution that would establish peace and order
in Pakistan (The News International, 30 March 2008). However, talks
between the PPP and PML-N, about the re-instatement of the judiciary,
ended in deadlock. Both had agreed, in the Bhurban Declaration of
9 March 2008, that the judges would be reinstated, through a resolution,
within 30 days of the formation of government. That did not transpire
and Nawaz Sharif decided to pull his party’s 9 ministers out of the
24-minister federal cabinet. The coalition government continued in
office while the PML-N decided to sit in the opposition.
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TERRORISM IN 2008

The spate of terrorist attacks that caused hundreds of deaths and
injuries during 2007 d from the Federally-Admini d Tribal
Area (FATA) where the Afghan Taliban and AI -Qaeda leaders were
suspected to have taken refuge. They received help and protection from
extremist organizations such as the Haqqani group led by the Afghan
Maulvi Jalaluddin Haqqani and his son Sirajuddin Haqqani who the
Americans suspected enjoyed sanctuary in North Waziristan with the
connivance of the ISL. FATA had not been properly integrated into the
Pakistani mainstream, though it had been granted representation in the
National Assembly and the Senate. Its societal affairs were still regulated
by Pakh li, the traditional code of i ion. Extreme poverty,

and lack of education and i ities, coupled
wnh a traditional arms-bearing culture, rendercd FATA prone to
extremist and violent ideas and practices (Dogar 2009).

At any rate, the restoration of democracy in the rest of Pakistan did
not carry any benign fallout for peace. Terrorist attacks by suicide
bombers, mainly against government personnel and premises,
continued to take place in 2008. On 10 January, a suicide attack outside
the Lahore High Court, before a lawyer's protest march was scheduled
to begin, resulted in 24 deaths and injury to 73 people; the police were
the main targets of the attack (The News, 11 January 2008). On
4 February, students and officials of the Army Medical College near
Military Headquarters in Rawalpindi were the victims of another attack
when a suicide bomber crashed his bike into the bus carrying them; 10
died and 27 were injured (The News, 5 February 2008). In the NWFP,
bomb blasts took place at the election rallies of the PPP and the Awami
National Party (ANP), as did attacks on the police and military, during
February. On 25 February, the head of the medical corps, Lieutenant
General Mushtaq Baig, was killed along with his driver and security
guard, when a suicide bomber attacked their vehicle. Again, the
terrorists launched an attack in Lahore when two suicide bombers blew
themselves up at the Pakistan Navy War College. Eight people were
killed and 24 others injured (The News International, 26 February 2008).

Another gory attack took place in Lahore on 11 March when two
suicide bombers carried out separate missions. In the first attack, the
Federal Investigation Agency (FIA) office on Temple Road, in the centre
of the city, was ripped apart and 30 people were killed, including
16 policemen. The target was the office of the personnel being trained




in ions by the i The second attack
vmonmeoﬂiaofmadvenmnga;emymtheposhmaofMMel
Town near Bilawal House—the latter owned by the late Benazir Bhutto
and her husband, Asif Ali Zardari. Three people lost their lives in that
assaull (The News, 12 March 2008).

once the new g had been sworn in, there was a
respite in the bombing campu;n for a while—probably in the hope that
Musharraf would be forced to step down as president, and then Pakistan
would withdraw from the war on terror and stop helping the Americans.
As that did not happen, another wave of terrorism swept over Pakistan
from July onwards.

A BLooDY JuLy

On Sunday 6 July 2008, a suicide bomber blew himself up near the Lal
Masjid (Red Mosque) in the Pakistani capital, Islamabad. He succeeded
in killing at least 21, including 15 policemen. The mayhem the blasts
caused was a shocking reminder of the fact that terrorist networks that
had been dormant for some time were back in the killing business. The
government claimed to have made proper sccunty amngemems lo
prevent terrorist attacks. Three th P were
d in Islamabad during the i f bemg
held by the Islamists to mark the attack on the Lal Masjid. The Pakistani
media reported that several speakers at the conference whipped up
passions, describing the dead leaders and cadres of the Lal Masjid as
martyrs in the cause of Islam. Not surprisingly, such suggestions placed
the Paluslan mllmry in the role of killers and aggressors. Whatever the
and lations, letting the the
Lal Masud carnage proved to be a myopic decision. On 7 July, six crude
bombs exploded in different parts of Karachi, causing grievous injury
to 25 people. Pakistan blamed Baitullah Mehsud for the attacks—the
Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (TTP) was suspected of establishing its hold
over some Pakhtun-majority areas of Karachi, which had brought the
Taliban into conflict with the MQM (Hussain 2008).

ATTACK ON THE INDIAN EMBASSY IN KABUL

On 7 July 2008, the Indian embassy in Kabul was the object of a major
terrorist assault. The terrorists were able to successfully penetrate the
heavily guarded and fortified locality, where many Afghan ministries
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were located, and explode multiple bombs outside the gate of the
embassy. Fifty-nine people, including four members of the Indian
diplomatic staff, were slain. The Afghans immediately alleged that the
attack had been masterminded by an intelligence agency of a
neighbouring country. Given the strained relations between Afghanistan
and Pakistan, it was not difficult to apprehend that the Afghans were
pointing their finger at Pakistan. A few days later, India made similar
accusations. President Hamid Karzai of Afghanistan went on to claim
that his government had convincing evidence that implicated the
Pakistani intelligence. Although the Amcrican secretary of defense,
Robert Gates, initially stated that he had not seen any evidence of
Pakistani involvement, the United States’ position changed soon
afterwards when the Afghans and Indians presented the evidence they
had collected to the Bush administration (Ahmed 11 July 2008).
President George Bush, as well as presidential candidates John McCain
and Barack Obama, and other lcaders whom Gilani met urged him to
do much more to root out extremism and terrorism. The American
media raised the same concerns. When Bush warned Gilani that the
United States would take serious action, Gilani agreed to investigate.
But, the Pakistan Foreign Office dismissed the accusation, that the ISI
was involved, as rubbish. Notwithstanding the very negative image that
marred Gilani’s visit to the United States, the US Congress voted in
favour of a USS15 billion aid package to Pakistan, of which the major
portion would be spent on economic development. Such a peculiar
discrepancy in US behaviour towards Pakistan was indicative of the
extent to which the Americans were dependent on the latter for the
realization of their long-term goals in Afghanistan, and in South Asia
in general.

On 26 July, the Pakistan governnicnt announced that the ISI had
been placed under the Interior Ministry. However, the same evening,
the Press Information Department (PID) issued a clarification that both
the agencies were still under the prime minister. Later, it was announced
that the IS! had been placed under the defence ministry again (The
News, 6 August 2008). In another move, the government declared, on
25 August 2008, that the TTP had been banned, its bank accounts and
assets frozen, and that it was barred from media appearances. This
measure was undertaken because the TTP had been terrorizing people
|n different parts of the NWFP and, mcreasmgly. attacking governmenl

ies and d ying government buildings and i




EMBARRASSMENT FOR GILANI IN CoLOMBO

Soon afterwards, Gilani attended the SAARC summit in Colombo, Sri
LGka (27 luly-3 Augnsl) There, too, instead of show-casing his
& he had to spend most of the time
assuring his “South Asian counterparts that his government was
determined to fight terrorism. In an interview with a Sri Lankan

he rubbished all ions that the ISI was involved in the
Kabul bombmg. asserting that it took orders from him and reported to
him in accordance with requirements laid down in the Pakistan
constitution. In any case, in a 45-minute long meeting with Indian
Prime Minister Manmohan Singh, Gilani pointed out that Pakistan, too,
was a victim of terrorism and that both Pakistan and India should work
together to fight that evil. In a separate meeting with President Karzai,
he promised to carry out an investigation to ascertain whether there
was any IS1 invol in the Kabul bombing—th dicting his
earlier categorical denial to the Sri Lankan newspaper.

Gilani was making a technically correct statement when he said that,
constitutionally speaking, the ISI was under his jurisdiction and
reported to him. But, for all practical purposes, it is the chief of army
staff to whom the ISI reports and takes its orders from. In the past,
whenever a civilian government had tried to establish its control over
the ISI by appointing a general it trusted, but who was unacceptable to
the military establishment, the establishment trumped it by appointing
its own men to strategic positions dealing with intelligence on internal
politics. Thus, the ISI continued to maintain a watch on the activities
of the civilian government too (Ahmed, 15 August 2008).

In any case, Gilani received support from President Musharraf who
described the ISI as ‘Pakistan’s first line of defence’ (The News, 6 August
2008). In a statement issued by the Pakistan government, the United
States was criticized for blaming Pakistan for the recent terrorist
activities. It was pointed out that, on 24 May 2008, Pakistan had
provided the Americans with the exact location and movement of
Baitullah Mehsud, who had driven to a remote South Waziristan
mountain-post in his Toyota Land Cruiser to address the press, but that
he returned to his abode safely. The statement went on to say that the
United States military has the capacity to direct a missile to a precise
location at very short notice, as it had done close to 20 times in the last
few years to hit Al-Qaeda targets inside Pakistan. However, no action
was taken against Mehsud. This attitude was described by, Pakistan, as




TRANSITION TO DEMOCRACY AND PROLIFERATION IN TERRORISM 357

intriguing and confusing. Pakistan also alleged an Indian hand in the
trouble in Balochi: and that the Afghani government was
protecting Baloch secessionists.

MUSHARRAF ExITS

The strong defence of the ISI was the last significant, but controversial,
statement that Musharraf made because, on 18 August 2008, he finally
resigned. In his resignation speech, Musharraf insisted that he was
acting in the best interests of Pakistan, by stepping down to avoid a
protracted power struggle and political uncertainty. Musharraf's two
indispensable backers—l’aklstans mllnary and the United States—were

ly no longer i g him. His support in the
domestic sphere had declined drasucally. for example, the provincial
assemblies of Punjab, Smdh‘ NWFP and Balochlslan had tabled
motions, with overwhel upport, f seek a vote
of confidence—which he knew he would lose badly (Jetly, 25 August
2008).

ZARDARI AS PRESIDENT

The election for the new president took place within three weeks of
Musharraf’s resignation. Zardari surprised many when he announced
that he would contest the presidential election. He was endorsed by the
PPP and the MQM. The PML-N nominated Justice (Retd.) Saced-uz-
Zaman Siddiqui, and the PML-Q nominated Mushahid Hussain Syed.
Zardari got 481 out of the 702 votes of the electoral college—which
comprise the two houses of the federal parlnmcnl and the provincial

blies. At the i n 9 September 2008, Afghan
President Hamid Karzai was the guest of honour In his address, Zardari
pledged to combat and in Pakistan and

peace in South Asia. However, differences between Zardari and the
military establishment surfaced quite quickly over relations with India.
Indian newspapers referred to an interview, given by Zardari to the Wall
Street Journal, in which he referred to the militants active in Indian
Kashmir as terrorists. He also stated that India did not pose a threat to
Pakistan (Hindustan Times, 5 October 2008; Hindu, 6 October 2008).
That news was not highlighted in the Pakistani media but, on 7 October,
Lahore's Daily Times reported that such an announcement had been
denounced by the leader of the JeT, Hafiz Muhammad Saeed. Another




controversial statement followed in which Zardari said that Pakistan
would not resort to a nuclear strike first in case of war with India (Times
of India, 22 November 2008). It seems reasonable to presume that
Zardari was making such unorthodox pronouncements because he
enjoyed the support and backing of the United States, and may have
been encouraged to make them by the Americans. Obviously, none of
these three positions corresponded to those held by the military. This
was confirmed when the whistle-blowing website WikiLeaks released a
US diplomatic cable reporting that General Kayani did not subscribe to
the position of not striking first with nuclear weapons (Times of India,
6 May 2011).

Although military "spokespersons alluded to the Taliban as the
nmrmnem threat to Palusuns security on a number of occasions, there
was no fund: ideration of India ining the main and
constant threat to Pakistan’s security. In fact, the military, and even
civilian ministers, alleged that the Indian consulates in the border towns
of Afghanistan were being used to spy on Pakistan, and that India was
involved in helping the separatist insurgency in Balochistan.

In April 2011, the Dawn reported a statement by the former British
foreign secretary, David Miliband, that Zardari and Manmohan Singh
had agreed on a deal over Kashmir but General Kayani had been
reluctant to endorse it (Dawn, 4 April 2011). A breakthrough on
Kashmir has been in the offing for a long time and, on a number of
occasions, a settlement seems to have been reached only to be subverted
at the last moment by the conservatives on both sides.

ATTACK ON THE MARRIOTT ISLAMABAD

On 20 September 2008, a dump truck filled with explosives crashed past
the guuds at Islamnbuds prempoux Marriott Hotel—located close to
the di d. At least 54 people were killed
and 255 injured. Ahllough most of the casualties were Pakistanis, at
least 5 foreign nationals were killed and 15 injured. The bomb explosion
took place soon after Zardari had delivered his first address to the
Pakistan parliament. Once again, Pakistan's reputation as the epicentre
of terrorism reverberated loud and clear all over the world. The elected
government seemed helpless, and the military and intelligence services
unable, to stem the continuing spate of terrorist activities.
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‘HE MUMBAI TERRORIST OUTRAGE

akes were raised to a critical level when, on 26 November 2008, a
'ries of terrorist attacks were launched on Indias megalopolis and
nancial capital, Mumbai, by suspected members of the Pakistan-based
hadist organization, the Lashkar-e-Tayyaba (LeT). The phenomenon
{ non-state actors, emanating from Pakistan, spearheading terrorist
tacks on foreign soil gready lraummzed the Indian nation and was
eated with Ision by th ity. While earlier
tacks, such as the July 2006 Mumbai commuter train bombings, had
wsed 209 deaths, the Mumbai attacks attracted greater worldwide
1tention. Not only had the culprits placed the bombs stealthily, but they
ad also carried out their operation in a very public manner. For some
0 hours, the Indian security forces battled with the terrorists. Finally,
nly one, Ajmal Amir Kasab, was captured alive. The Indian authorities
‘aimed to have found the bodies of nine alleged terrorists. The
ttackers had apparently taken the sea route from Pakistan's port city of
arachi, and landed by boat at Mumbai. Indian coastal defence and
relligence apparatuses completely failed to detect them. Some writers
escribed the Mumbai attacks as India's 9/11 because the culprits had
eliberately targeted symbols of Indian affluence and grandeur, such as
1¢ Taj Mahal and Oberoi Trident hotels and places where westerners
athered such as the Leopold Café. Targeting the Jewish centre at
lariman House was certainly meant to create maximum effect and
apture international attention.

A group calling itself the ‘Deccan Mujahideen’ claimed to have
arried out the attacks. Such a label suggested that it was the doing of
ndian Muslims having roots or affiliations with Hyderabad Deccan in
outhern India, but the Indian authorities dismissed it as a fake name
nd a diversion. Indian Muslims, in general, protested against the
srrorist attacks. They refused to give a proper Islamic burial to the
errorists and refused permission to bury their bodies in Muslim
raveyards.

On the other hand, Pakistani and foreign journalists and TV
hannels visited Kasab's village, Faridkot, in southern Punjab and
nterviewed his parents, friends, and neighbours who admitted that the
nan shown on Indian television was indeed Kasab. That created a
urore in India. The Indians believed that such evidence sufficed to
ncriminate him. The Pakistani authorities imposing restrictions on any
ournalists visiting Faridkot.




I arrived in Pakistan on 29 November 2008. The trip had been
planned months ahead, as part of my research on the role of the military
in Pakistan for the Institute of South Asian Studies. Eliciting the views
of senior Pakistani military officers and other public figures, on how
they explained the role of the military, was my main concern. I also
wanted to probe the Indian perceptions of the Pakistani military. There
was no doubt that relations between India and Pakistan had turned
dangerously tense. Whoever masterminded the Mumbai attacks had
succeeded in bringing the two countries to the brink of war. Within
hours of the attacks, Indian Prime Minister Manmohan Singh alluded
to Pakistani invol . Other spokesp also empk i such a
connection. The initial response from Pakistan was conciliatory and
sympathetic, and it offered its cooperation. Newly-elected President Asif
Ali Zardari and Prime Minister Gilani denied that their government
had ordered the attacks. Foreign Mi ister Shah Mchmood Qureshi
promised full coop ini gating the incident. Prime Minister
Gilani even agreed, on India’s request, to send the director-general of
the Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI), Lieutenant General Ahmed Shuja
Pasha, to India to examine the evidence the Indians claimed they had
gathered to prove that the attacks had been carried out by Pakistanis.
Later, however, the Pakistan government retracted the offer, presumably
under pressure from the military: no one from the ISI was sent to India

In any cvent, international diplomacy went into action to defuse the
situation forthwith. The international community, including key players
such as the United States and the United Kingdom, expressed sympathy
for India and condemned terrorism. United States Secretary of State
Condoleczza Rice and Britain's Prime Minister Gordon Brown, were
among those who paid visits. As an escalating armed encounter between
the two South Asian rivals would spell disaster, not only for the region
but for the world as well, the international concerns were understandable.

There is little doubt that the Mumbai attacks reinforced Pakistan’s
already sullied reputation as ‘a roguc state, ‘the epicentre of terrorism,
and so on. Former United States Secretary of State Madeline Albright
succinctly captured the apprehensions being felt in the United States
about Pakistan, in the context of the Mumbai attacks, when she said,
‘Pakistan has everything that gives you an international migraine. It has
nuclear weapons, it has terrorism, extremists, corruption, very poor and
it's in a location that's really, really important to us In the same

Madeleine Albright emphasized that President Asif Ali
Zardari was trying very hard to deal with the situation. She was
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pressing a view widely shared by the Bush administration, and even
dia, that it was not the elected Pakistani government that had ordered
e macks But, on the othcr hand, the role of the military and
g agencies ined a matter of lation. India rejected
e official Pakistani position that the attacks had been carried out by
»n-state or independent actors. This position was stressed by no less
an the Indian president, Pratibha Patil, in her address on the eve of
dia’s Republic Day anniversary. Without naming Pakistan, she said,
that ism is being perp d by independent actors
e self-defeating and cannot be accepted. Countries must own up their
sponsibilities as must the international community in defeating
rroris |

Her reiteration of the accusation, made earlier by other Indian
aders, reflected the frustration Indians felt about the denial mode
wkistan had been operating in after the government's calm and
asonable statements initially. Such frustration was partly the product
“the so-called ‘media war’ between India and Pakistan. Some Indian
»mmentators demanded an all-out military attack on Pakistan, while
hers advocated surgical strikes on the offices and training camps of
ie LeT—Indian anger had manifestly assumed jingoistic overtones.
wkistani warmongers warned India of dire consequences in case of any
ilitary adventure because Pakistan, after all, was a nuclear weapon
ate. Some went on to suggest that the Indian intelligence agencies had
asterminded the whole operation with a view to tarnishing Pakistans
nage and exploiting this to order a military offensive. Agitated Indian
smmentators began to sound even more belligerent, while so-called
tperts counted the troops and weapons on both sides and concluded
1at India had a definite upper hand.

In reaction, the direction of Pakistani media discussions changed
om explaining a possible Pakistani connection to projecting an
nminent threat posed by a belligerent India. Responding to the
‘owing sense of insecurity, Prime Minister Gilani invited all the
slitical parties to a national discussion on the perceived Indian threat.
resolution was adopted which expressed condolences for the loss of
ves, but the main thrust was on all the parties pledging support for the
svernment in case of war. Even the Pakistan Taliban, who were
1gaged in a daily violent conflict with government troops, announced
1at they would fight shoulder-to-shoulder with the Pakistan Army if
ar broke out.




As the days passed, the lndun luders increased the pressure on
Pakistan by d ding that Paki; dofi in the
attacks should be handed over to stand trial in India. As no extradition
treaty existed between the two states, Pakistan refused to comply with
such a demand. However, it kept assuring India that if evidence was
provided that proved the guilt of any Pakistanis, they would then be
punished severely through the due process of law. International pressure
mounted on Pakistan as the Umled Nations dedared the Jamaat ud
Dawa, a charitable front i g the LeT (which had
formally been banned by Pakistan in 2002). a terrorist organization.
Pakistan followed suit. Some of the LeT's top leaders were put under
house arrest and its offices sealed.

Moreover, India supplied both the United States Federal Bureau of
Investigation (FBI) and Pakistan with material it claimed incontrovertibly
established the Pakistani origin of Kasab and the other men. The FBI
declared the Indian evidence reliable and authentic, and declared that
its own independent i i clearly established a link with the
LeT. The Indians again began to demand that Pakistan hand over
culprits involved in terrorism in India; the names of the LeT's chief,
Hafiz Muhammad Saeed, and of Jaish-e-Muhammad's Maulana Masood
Azhar, among others, were on the list. Later, the Indian authorities
asserted that, during interrogations, Kasab had named Zaki-ur-Rahman
Lakhvi as his immediate mentor and the person who had ordered him
to carry out the killings in Mumbai. He, as well as another leader of the
LeT, Yousaf Muzzamil, were named as directly responsible for
masterminding the Mumbai attacks. On 7 January 2009, the Pakistan
government admitted that Kasab could be of Pakistani origin (Ahmed,
30 January 2009).

ViEws OF PAKISTANI MILITARY OFFICERS ON MUMBAI
ATTACKS

1 talked to several retired senior officers during my visit to Pakistan in
2008. COAS General Jehangir Karamat and former ISI director-general,
Lieutenant General Javed Ashraf Qazi, asserted that the Islamists had
been purged from the military and intelli services. They ded,
however, that retired Islamists could still wield influence as they were
part of different networks. Most of the senior officers that I talked to
were of the opinion that India was largely to blame for continuing to
provide the jihadists with an axe to grind by refusing to solve the
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Kashmir issue. This was notwithstanding the fact that General
Musharraf had gone out of his way to placate Indian fears by announcing
that Pakistan no longer insisted on the implementation of the United
Nations Security Council’s resolutions pertaining to Kashmir, and was
willing to consider any solution that could reasonably satisfy India,
Pakistan, and the Kashmiri people. Since that opportunity had been
missed, the jihadis were again up in arms.

General Pervez Musharraf, who made a clean breast of the Pakistan
military’s and ISI's culpability in creating the Islamist monster that was
now striking terror within Pakistan, told me:

The Amcricans wanted us to produce Islamic warriors that could be
deployed in the Afghanistan jihad. We obliged without thinking out the
conscquences such brainwashing would carry for our own society. We
t ined them to become jihadists. We t mrd them to kill. We sent them
into i and in the Indi: Kashmir. Now, they have
unleashed their terror on our own people. They are killing our soldiers and
will stop at nothing to impose their brutal ideology on us. I recently saw a
video in which the throat of a man was being split open with a long knife,
while some bearded men in the background were shouting ‘Allah-o- Akbar'

Lieutenant General (Retd.) Naseer Akhtar—who as corps commander
of Karachi in the early 1990s had considerable experience of dealing
with terrorism fomented by the Mohajir Qaumi Movement and Sindhi
nationalists—was of the opinion that the Mumbai attacks bore the
signature of Al-Qaeda, and that huge amounts of money from Arab
patrons must have gone into its preparation. He was of the view that
the Kashmir dispute needed an early resolution, and converting the Line
of Control into some sort of porous border was the only thing the
Indians were likely to agree to. He, too, stressed that the Indian
leadership had missed a very good opportunity when General
Musharraf’s overtures on Kashmir were not given a proper response.
A senior officer, who until recently held key portfolios in the IS and
was directly responsible for planning national security, confided in
me~—on the assurance that his identity would not be disclosed—that
had India proceeded with military strikes on Pakistan, it would have
resulted in very extensive loss and damage. He believed that the Indians
had gained a lot by behaving as a responsible regional power. He
lamented that Islamism and extremism had been imposed on Pakistan
because of the Afghanistan jihad, and dismissed suggestions that
someone currently serving in the military or the ISI may have ordered




the terrorist attacks of 26 November 2008. According to him, Pakistan
did not stand to gain anything l'rom such a misadventure but had much
to lose. India derived maxil as a responsible and peace-
loving state, by not resorting to force while Pakistan was being
demonized in the world as a rogue state. He believed that the Pakistani
Taliban and Al-Qaeda had co-operated to carry out the attacks in
Mumbai, and was of the view that the extremists had no problem in
getting hold of funds to finance their jihad. Huge amounts of money
from the drugs trade, and donations from Arab patrons in Saudi Arabia
and the United Arab Emirates, furnished abundant resources and
to promote ism and i

The well-known Islamist and ex-ISI chief, Hamid Gul, dismissed all
suggestions that Pakistan, or any Pakistan-based group, had carried out
the attacks. He asserted that the ISI was wrongly blamed for placing a
bomb on the Samjhauta Express in February 2007. Later, it was
established by Indian investigators that Hindu terrorists, including some
from the Indian military—such as Colonel Shrikant Purohit—were
responsible for it. He was emphatic that the Mumbai attacks, too, were
an inside job masterminded by Hindu extremists. On reports that he had
been placed on a terrorist list by the United States, General Gul observed,

1 have been told that after the Mumbai attacks | have been placed on a
terrorist list by the Americans. What hypocrisy! When they needed us to
fight in Afghanistan, they described us as frecdom fighters; now we are
terrorists. I am not worried about such a label being put on me. In fact it is
an honour to be declared a terrorist by a government that is guilty of
unforgivable crimes against humanity by invading Iraq and Afghanistan. The
fact is that socialism failed some years ago. Capitalism is now in tatiers. The
United States is a power i irreversible decline. The future belongs to Islam.

Brigadier (Retd.) Yasub Ali Dogar drew my attention to a theory held
by some Pakistani military and defence analysts that the Taliban's degree
of sophistication in their armed conflict with Pakistani forces was
indicative of the foreign help being rendered to them. Besides drug
money and Arab donors, it was suspected that Indian intelligence was
actively involved in strengthening the Taliban. India had established
several consulates near the Pakistan border in Afghanistan which served
as sources for the supply of money and materials, through clandestine
networks, to the Taliban. The conflict with the Taliban has been
bleeding the Pakistan military in the same way as Pakistani militants,
such as LeT, despatched into Indian-admi d Kashmir have been
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bleeding the Indian military through ambush and sabotage. Quite
simply, tit-for-tat.

INDIAN VIEWS

During my brief visit to India, 1 was able to interview Lieutenant
General (Retd.) Dr B.S. Malik, former chief of western command. He
was of the view that, since Pakistan lacked strong democratic
institutions, it was not surprising that the most efficient organization in
the country, the military, began to call the shots from quite early on. He
did not believe that the military had ordered the Mumbai attacks but
observed that the situation in Pakistan was out of control. Besides the
LeT, any set of conspirators could have been involved in the Mumbai
attacks. In mcetings with the South Asian Cluster at the Indian Defence
Studies and Analysis (IDSA), and the Indian Centre for Land Warfare
Studies, it became clear that India had been rudely shaken by the
Mumbai attacks. While the experts were aware of the grave dangers that
a war between the two rivals could pose, they expressed strong

about the lization of relations between the two
countrics unless Pakistan came clean and co-operated sincerely in the
investigation, and the culprits were properly punished.

CHANGE OF GUARD IN THE WHITE HOoUSE

In N ber 2008, the D ic Party’s candidate, Barack Hussein
Obama, was elected the first African-American and forty-fourth
president of the United States. Obama had emphasized, while
campaigning, that he would continue with the war on terror but would
adopt a strategy requiring Pakistan to deliver more effectively in lieu of
the aid it receives from the United States. The term ‘AfPak’ was coined
by Richard Holbrooke in 2008, to desi hani and Pakistan
as a single theatre of military op Holbrooke was inted the
US special representative to Afghanistan and Pakistan by ll\e Obama
administration. Holbrooke described the AfPak concept in the following
terms:

It is an attempt to indicate . . . the fact that there is one theatre of war,
straddling an ill-defined border, the Durand Line, and that on the western
side of that border, NATO and other forces are able to operate. On the
eastern side, it's the sovereign territory of Pakistan. But it is on the eastern




side of this ill-defined border that the international terrorist movement is
located (World Wide Words 2009).

Pakistan reacted with dismay at the neologism ‘AfPak; which bracketed
it with Afghani In its self-esteem, Pakistan idered itself
qualified to be bracketed with India. Afghanistan, on the other hand, it
considered a loose confederacy of tribes and warlords, with the
go at Kabul rep ing only a rudi Yy type of state
authority. Initially, Holbrooke and some other experts had suggested
that, in order to convince Pakistan to take part whole-heartedly in the
war on terror, it was necessary that it be assured that the United States
was sympathetic to the resolution of Kashmir. Moreover, Pakistan had
serious reservations about Indlas prvmmtm presence in Afghanistan.
Consequently, the Obama ad! did obliquely allude to the
inclusion of India in a broader South Asian concentric arena of

Itifaceted policy i ives, but the neologi AfPakind—was
never formally proposed. India reacted angrily to such a suggestion,
asserting that the Americans were not welcome to any mediatory role
in Kashmir. The Americans quickly retreated and AfPak made no
further reference to India.

The scourge of terrorism continued to spiral out of control, exposing
the Pakistani establishment’s limitations on its capacity to bolster the
‘fortress of Islam’ with unpumly The TTP and its affiliates continued
their d and ined terrorist paign within Pakistan. In

early 2009, the centre of gravity of terrorism shifted to the Swat Valley.

AN ISLAMIC EMIRATE IN THE SWAT VALLEY

Since 1989, Sufi Muhammad—a veteran of the Afghan jihad—had
actively been promoting militant Wahabism in the idyllic Swat Valley.
Unlike other parts of the NWFP. although the people of Swat were
mainly Pakhtuns, they had no tradition of bearing arms. Rather, its
record of a peaceful existence extended to the distant past when a
Buddbhist civilization flourished there. At the time of the partition of
India, many Hindus from the NWFP shifted to Swat because its ruler,
the Wali, was known for his tolerant rule. Although the Wali decided
to accede to Pakistan, Swat was not amalgamated into the NWFP until
1969. Sufi Muhammad’s Tehrik-e-Nifaz-e-Shariat-e-Muhammadi
(TNSM) began to undermine the old order. What supplanted it was the
all-too-familiar obscurantist and brutal way of life and arbitrary
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government that thrives on summary executions of sex offenders and
criminals. The TNSM emergcd asan al’ﬁha«c of the TTP, albeit with its
own local and d ities deriving from its
Wahabi orientation—in distinction to (ht largely Deobandi Taliban. In
terms of politics, there was hardly any difference. In fact, the TNSM’s
zeal in destroying girls’ schools, and modern education for both boys
and girls in general, exceeded that of the Taliban. Peace deals between
the TNSM and the Pakistan government in 2007 and in 2008 allowed
the TNSM to impose Sharia law in areas under its control; in return,
they were required to acknowledge the writ of the state and abstain from
terrorist activities. Neither the TTP nor the TNSM was keen to honour
the pledge it had made. The United States considered such peace deals
to be capitulation, and a betrayal by Pakistan of its pledge to sincerely
and unequivocally take part in the war on terror. Pakistan, however,
continued to insist that the imposition of Sharia law, in limited areas,
did not dict its i to fighting

In January 2009, reports began to emanate of a major offensive
launched by the TNSM to convert Swat into an Islamic emirate. The
TNSM had previously blown up schools and government buildings in
Bajaur and Mohmand agency, and now the Swat Valley was subjected
to the same treatment. The hallmark of such an emirate was the
destruction of hundreds of girl schools, and was part of a wider
campaign that included public amputations, floggings, and stoning of
alleged sexual offenders and other criminals. The military had
previously made deals with Sufi Muhammad which had stipulated that
while the TNSM was allowed to impose harsh Islamic laws, it

knowledged the overall ignty of the Pakistani state. Those deals
foundered quickly as the TNSM continued to violate its terms and
continued the intimidation of the people and harassment of government
troops. That latest deal was made on 5 February 2009 and allowed the
imposition of Sharia laws and the establishment of Sharia courts, but
under the government’s supervision through a Shariat appellate bench
of the Supreme Court in the Malakand region. That was interpreted as
carte blanche by the TNSM—to brutalize the people of Swat. Besides
destroying girl schools, the TNSM ruled that, in future, girls could at
most attend school up to the 5th class. When President Zardari asserted
that appeals against the verdict of the Shariat courts could be moved
before the Pakistan Supreme Court, this was rejected by the TNSM,
which intensified its terror campaign.




In another part of NWFP—the Orakzai Agency—the TTP intensified
its reign of terror by demanding that the Sikh minority pay the poll-tax,
jizya, or flee or face the sword. Hitherto, Sikhs and Hindus in the tribal
areas had lived in peace among the Pakhtuns, in accordance with the
values and practices of Pakh li. Under the ci
thousands of people belonging to the Hindu, Sikh, and Christian
communities began to flee from the tribal areas.

ATTACK ON THE SRI LANKA CRICKET TEAM

Brutalization of the tribal areas and the plains of the NWFP had become
endemic since the 1980s; sectarian terrorism had been wrecking lives
in the Punjab since the end of the 1980s; but, in March, the long hand
of militant extremism did not even spare sport. On 3 March 2009, the
centre of gravity of terrorism shifted to Lahore, the capital of the
dominant Punjab province. As the bus carrying the Sri Lankan cricket
team neared the Qaddafi Stadium, it was attacked with bullets, grenades,
bombs, and rocket launchers. Since the target was a fast-moving one,
not all the deadly ammunition hit the target. Eight Sri Lankan players
were injured, none critically, while five Pakistani security personnel died
defending them. Two other Pakistanis were also reported killed in the
attack. One could see, on television, the twelve terrorists moving around
with great ease and confidence, shooting at will and showing no signs
of nervousness or hurry. Not surprisingly, a senior minister in the
Punjab cabinet, Raja Riaz, unequivocally drew parallels between the
attack and the Mumbai atrocity, alleging that the same forces were
involved in the Lahore attack. Because of the proliferation of terrorism,
other countries had refused to play in Pakistan; only the Sri Lankans
had agreed. This attack proved to be the catalyst that was needed to
make the Pakistani media highlight the imminent danger that home-
grown terrorism posed to Pakistan. However, conspiracy theories
continued to circulate about a sinister Indian-Afghan government hand
behind the assault.

NAWAZ SHARIF ANNOUNCES LONG MARCH

While the public was still coming to terms with the shock of a friendly
country's cricket team being attacked by fanatics, Nawaz Sharif
exacerbated the volatile milieu by announcing, in the second week of
March 2009, his intention of joining the so-called ‘long march’ that the
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lawyers had announced to protest against the continuing deposition of
Justice Chaudhry and his colleagues. Partly, the impetus to join the long
march was decided by the verdict of a three-judge bench of the Lahore
High Court that had declared his brother, Shahbaz Sharif, and him
ineligible to hold public office. It was feared that PML-N and PPP
supporters could be drawn into street power manifestations that, in
turn, could result in violent clashes between them. Undeterred by such
a prospect, Nawaz Sharif th d to bring hundreds of th ds of
protestors to the capital, Islamabad. He claimed that he was willing to
risk his life to resituate the honourable judges to their rightful places on
the Supreme Court benches; such enthusiasm probably reﬂccled an
attempt, on his part, to rehabilitate his ished

his goons’ raid on the Supreme Court during his second govemmem
The J1, and the charismatic leader of the Tehreek-e-Insaf, cricket idol
Imran Khan, also announced their intention to join the march.

Prime Minister Gilani responded by imposing Section 144, which
prohibited groups of more than five people assembling in one place.
The police clashed with demonstrators in Karachi, Lahore, Islamabad,
and other places. Hundreds of protestors were arrested. However, the
government realized that, without the excessive use of force, the long
march could not be prevented. The PPP-MQM coalition government
in Sindh, as well as the governments in the North-West Frontier
Province and Baluchi played a responsible role by i ing the
PPP leadership that, in the event that the long march took place, the
people of their provinces were likely to join it. Alarm bells began to ring
in Washington DC. The United States did not want Pakistan to be
destabilized. Secretary of State Hillary Clinton called both President
Zardari and Nawaz Sharif urging restraint. The United States
ambassador to Pakistan, Anne Petterson, and other officials also
conducted hectic diplomatic activities to defuse the conflict. Nawaz
Sharif, reportedly, informed the Americans that he would not budge
from his stand and that the long march would go ahead if the PPP
continued with its authoritarian policies.

As the prospects of a showdown loomed large, with Nawaz Sharif
planning to start his long march on 16 March 2009, the first signs of
major disagreements within the PPP leadership became public in a
dramatic manner. Information and Broadcasting Minister Sherry
Rehman resigned when the transmissions of the popular private
television channel, Geo News, were stopped without her being
consulted. Earlier, Mian Raza Rabbani resigned as federal minister for




inter-provincial coordination to protest against the appointment of
President Zardari's personal lawyer, Farooq Naik, as chairman of the
Senate. Unlike Rabbani, Naik was not even a member of the Senate. The
Punjab police, also, refused to use further violence and repression
against the people. All this clearly demonstrated that, in the key
province of Punjab, the PPP would not be able to prevail in a showdown
with the PML-N. During his visit to the United States in late February
2009, Kayani had told the Americans that the Pakistan Army would stay
out of politics. However, with Pakistan headed towards another major
showdown between the politicians, he decided to exercise the clout the
military undoubtedly enjoyed. He reportedly advised the government
not to resort to force. The military realized that the people supported
the restoration of Justice Chaudhry and his colleagues. Under the
circumstances, the government was forced to give in.

Consequently, just as the long march was about to begin, Prime
Minister Gilani announced, ‘My countrymen, in accordance with my
commitment and the commitment made by the president of Pakistan,
I declare reinstatement of Mr Iftikhar Muhammad Chaudhry and all
other deposed judges to their positions. At the same time, Gilani
announced that the government would appeal against the debarring of
the Sharif brothers by the Lahore High Court because the public
sentiment against that verdict was very strong.

AMERICAN PRESSURE BUILDS

Events in Pakistan were naturally causing anxmy in faraway Washington
DC. The Americans had invested heavil, terms of money and
material, in Pakistan in the hope that its military could be persuaded
to go after the terrorist enclaves and networks in Pakistan. Internal
instability, that verged on the breakdown of law and order, was hardly
the type of milieu it wanted to prevail in Pakistan. With the advent of
AfPak—a description that Pakistan resented and which the Americans
prudently started using less frequently without compromising its policy
content—visits by senior US officials increased rapidly. It seems the
Americans had decided that constant and frequent trips to Pakistan
were essential to make it stay the coum in the fight agunn Al-Qaeda
and the hard Taliban. Conseq ly, a set rhetorical pattern began
to take shape. While some pmmmenl US official would elpm doubts
about the military’s d 0 fight the

officialdom reacted angrily and rebuﬁed such allegations—another




ould say a few words praising Pakistan's contribution to the war on
rror. This new pattern stabilized after General Kayani became COAS.
lusharraf was associated with the Bush era while Kayani represented
fing the i ¢ luted paternalism of the

3
ilitary.

In particular, Admiral Mike Mullen, the US chairman of joint chiefs
“Staff, paid several visits to Islamabad in 2008 and 2009. In April 2009,
ichard Holbrooke, the new US Special Envoy to Afghanistan and
akistan. and he first visited Afghanistan and then Pakistan. Talking
iformally to some prominent Pakistanis at a dinner hosted by US
mbassador Anne Petterson, they both emphasized that Pakistan lay at
ie core of America’s strategic concerns. The Afghans had apparently
Id them that Afghanistan’s problems lay exclusively in Pakistan and
1t the 181 was the villain of the picce:  olbrooke repeated these
iisgivings. This criticism of the [SI ¢reated a diplomatic row as the
iilitary expressed its displeasure over it. Mullen then tried to mitigate
1w negative fallout by descnibing Kayani as o straight-talking general
ith whom he could work with mutual trust and benefit at the tactical
1 strategic levels. However, Mullen and Holbrooke left no doubt in
ayone’s mind that the economic and muilitary ai - to Pakistan would be
nked to Pakistans concrete support in the war against Al-Qaceda,
Iding that America respected Pakistan’s sovereignty and there was no
ance of American ‘boots on ground” in the Pakistani tribal arcas
Daly Times, 7 April 2009)

illary Chinton alleged that Pakistan had abdicated to the Taliban by
areeing to the imposition of Islamic law in a part of the country, and
1t nuclear-armed Pakistan poses a ‘moral threat’ to world security. In
n interview with CNN soon after Mrs Clinton's remarks, Pakistan's
.mbassador to the US, Husain Haqqani, refuted the threat of
alibanization in Pakistan. He found suggestions made by the US
sedia, that the Taliban were steadily extending their influence and
ower in Pakistan and that their writ prevailed less than 60 miles from
he Pakistani capital, Islamabad, gross exaggerations (The News
wternational, 23 April 2009),

Such denials, however, singularly belied the harsh facts on the
round in Pakistan. A YouTube clip showed Taliban brutes flogging a
irl for appearing in public without a legally-correct male escort. As
Iways, the right-wing media began to circulate stories suggesting that

was a fake. A spokesman for the Taliban also tried to rebuff the
logging allegation. Simultaneously, the Taliban continued to make



almost daily announcements that they were going to enforce Sharia laws
all over Pakistan; in one of their statements, they threatened the legal

with dire qt for functioning within the non-
Sharia legal system inherited from the heathen British. Interior Minister
Rehman Malik tried another tactic: he sought to divert attention, from
mainstream politics, to a joint Indian and Russian plot aimed at
supporting the insurgency mounted by the Balochistan Liberation Army
to realize its secessionist ambitions. Malik urged India to stop interfering
in Balochistan, and upped the ante by describing India as ‘an open
enemy of Pakistan. Such assertions were made in parliament. Some
senators from Balochi hallenged his ions, but he stood his
ground (News, 23 April 2009).

MILITARY DECIDES TO LAUNCH MILITARY OFFENSIVE
AGAINST THE TNSM

Throughout the early months of 2009, daily stories of Taliban atrocities
figured in the Pakistani print media and on television talk shows; some
experts deplored the primitive methods of the jihadists. Alarm bells had
begun to ring in Islamabad from early April as the TNSM destroyed
government offices, civil and military personnel fled in panic, and an
exodus of hundreds of thousands of ordinary people took place. On
Friday 24 April 2009, General Kayani condemned the Taliban in the
strongest terms. ‘The army will not allow the militants to dictate terms
to the government or impose their way of life on the civil society of
Pakistan, (Daily Times, 25 April 2009) he said, referring to the strict
Sharia codes imposed by the Taliban in the areas of their domination.
General Kayani admitted that doubts were being voiced about the intent
and the capability of the army to defeat the Taliban. He went on to say
that the ‘Pakistan Army never has and never will hesitate to sacrifice
whatever it may take, to ensure safety and well-being of the people of
Pakistan and the country's territorial integrity. He went on to say that
“The victory against terror and militancy will be achieved at all costs’
(Daily Times, 25 April 2009). The COAS condemned statements from
a number of countries expressing concerns about the future of Pakistan,
and said that ‘a country of 170 million resilient people under a
democratic dispensation and strongly supported by the army’ was
capable of handling any crisis that it might confront (Daily Times, 25
April 2009).
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OPERATION BLACK THUNDERSTORM

On 26 April 2009, Operation Black Thunderstorm was launched in
several areas adjoining the Swat valley. Beginning with heavy artillery
and aerial bombardment, followed by infantry incursions that cleared
the way, it was followed by Sub-Operation Rah-e-Rast (the right path)
that included airborne troops storming Taliban strongholds in the Swat
valley. After a few weeks, the Taliban were dislodged from the urban
areas. Pakistani soldiers engaged the Taliban in street fighting, and there
were hundreds of casualties on both sides. On 30 May, the Pakistani
military informed that, barring some pockets of resistance, it had
regained control of the main city of Mingora. Prior to the fighting,
Mingora had a population of 200,000 people. Most of them fled to safety
outside Swat. As the fighting was extended to other parts of Swat, there
was a veritable exodus of people from the valley. More than two million
abandoned hearth and home.

Kayani inspected the operation area in Swat from the air. Chief
Marshal Rao Qamar Suleman, who accompanied him, said the army
and air force were united in ending the curse of terrorism (Daily Times,
16 June 2009). Fighting continued during June and July. The military
claimed success all along. One of the leaders of the Swat Taliban, Sufi
Muhammad, was captured in June. The more fanatical Fazlullah was
reportedly hit during air strikes but not captured. The military claimed
to have established a complete hold over the Swat valley. By 22 August,
1.6 million of the 2.2 million returned home.

OPERATION RAH-E-NIJAT (PATH TO SALVATION) IN
SOUTH WAZIRISTAN

Success in Swat encouraged the Pakistan military to pursue the TTP in
their stronghold of South Waziristan. Operation Rah-e-Nijat (Path to
Salvation) started on 19 June 2009. On 5 August 2009, Baitullah Mehsud
was killed by missiles fired by a US drone. It was indicative of the close
cooperation between the American and Pakistani intelligence and
military functionaries. An ful ination attempt on Federal
Minister for Religious Affairs Hamid Saeed Kazmi took place on 2
September. The immediate reason for the attack was that Kazmi had
arranged a meeting of ulema and mashaikh (spiritual guides or Sufi
masters) who had condemned terrorism and issued a fatwa against it.
I met the minister at a conference in Islamabad in May 2009 when he




told me that Barelvi mosques were being taken over, not only in the
NWEP but also in Punjab, including Istamabad, by pro-Taliban maulvis,
but the government felt helpless.

In any event, in early S ber, Kayani i
centre for men whom (he Taliban had indoctrinated and trained in
terrorism and suicide bombing. He emphasized that the military had
broken the terrorists’ backs and Operation Rah-e-Rast would continue
as long as the last terrorist was not eli inated. He told a gathering of
local leaders and soldiers that the terrorist network had been dismantled
and peace restored to the Swat valley. He also discussed issues of

habil g and ling the i lly displaced popul of the
area. The local elders assured him of their compl:le support for the
army (Daily Times, 5 September 2009). On 11 September 2009, the army
arrested some top leaders of the Swat Taliban. The army announced
that, in all, 1800 Taliban were slain during the Swat operation alone.

KERRY-LUGAR BiLL

The determined and effective military operations by the Pakistan Army
received immediate applause from the Americans. On 24 Scptember
2009 the US Senate, and on 30 September the House of Representatives,
approved the ‘Enhanced Partnership with Pakistan Act of 2009'—
popularly known as the Kerry-Lugar bill but more correctly the Kerry-
Lugar-Berman bill, after its three sponsors, Senator John Kerry
(Democrat) and Senator Richard Lugar (Republican) and Representative
Howard Berman (Democrat). It provided economic and military aid
worth more than $7.5 billion to Pakistan over a period of five years. The
bill primarily sought to extract optimal output from the Pakistani civil
and military elites in the fight against Al-Qacda and the Taliban
However, it was also designed as a pol | engincering project that
would fadilitate civilian supremacy over the military in the interest ot
democracy. Moreover, it introduced specific rules and standards for
monitoring the use of the money so that corruption and embezzlement
at the Pakistani end could be kept to a minimum (The Kerry-Lugar Bill,
2009).

A huge ruckus was created by the right-wing Pakistani print media.
while populist intellectuals and Islamists railed against the bill and let
loose conspiracy theories about a devious American plot to subvert
Pakistani sovereignty. In the past, these forces had had no qualms of
conscience about receiving moncy from the Americans to launch jihad
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in Afghanistan. Now, when the Obama administration was trying to
change course and return to the pristine UN Chaner of creaung a world
order anchored in collective security, Paki

were greatly exercised by Pakistan’s sovereignty allcgedly being
compromised. It was alleged that the Kerry-Lugar bill was a sinister
plot to, step-by-step, gain economic, political, and military control over
Pakistan. One of the main author’s of the bill, Senator John Kerry, as
well as President Obama’s special adviser on Afghanistan and Pakistan,
Richard Holbrooke, visited Pakistan to allay Pakistani concerns about
the bill (Daily Times, 20 October 2009). They both asserted that the bill
did not, in any way, impose preconditions on, or compromise, Pakistani
sovereignty.

There was, of course, a critique of the same bill from another quarter
in Pakistan: the military. The Kerry-Lugar bill provided amply for it to
be trained and equipped to fight terrorism, but it also included clauses
requiring the dismantling of terrorist outfits such as the Lashkar-e-
Tayyaba and Jaish h d as well as the liquidation of Al-Qaeda
and Taliban.

The ISPR issued a statement that, in a meeting of the top commanders
with General Kayani in the chair held at the GHQ, ‘The forum expressed
serious concerns regarding clauses impacting national security’ Kayani
was reported as saying, ‘Pakistan is a sovereign state and has all the
rights to analyse and respond to the threat in accordance with her own
national imues(s‘ Howcvcr. it was observed that in the military

der's considered view, ‘it is parli; that rep the will
of the people of Pakistan, which would deliberate on the issue, enabling
the government to develop a national response’ In his concluding
remarks, Kayani reiterated that Pakistan stands committed to global and
regional peace and wishes to live in harmony with its neighbours (The
News International, 8 October 2009).

The military's response was partly a reflection of its anxiety about a
new balance of power coming about in Pakistan, in which civilian
institutions may gain greater clout and prestige at its expense—it was
probably a manifestation of Ayesha Siddiqa’s thesis of an institutional
interest, in the broader sense, explaining the response of the military.
The catch was, of course, that Pakistan could reject the Kerry-Lugar
bill. However, given the endemic ic and military d d
that the military had cultivated over the years—a relationship that
helped maintain its own vantage position in the Pakistani power
equation—there was little chance that the establishment would reject




ATTACK ON THE GHQ

The Taliban upped the ante when, on Saturday 10 October 2009, Taliban
militants donning military attire drove into the compound of the
Pakistan Army’s General Headquarters (GHQ) in Rawalpindi. When
the security guards challenged them, they began to shoot and throw
grenades at them. The security personnel returned fire and. in the
shootout that ensued, six sccurity guards and four terrorists lost their
lives. Some of the Taliban, however, managed to enter the GHQ
premises and took dozens of people hostage. Sporadic shooting
continued through the night, By carly morning, Pakistani commandos
from the clite Special

Services Group had succeeded in frecing most of
the hostages; four more terrorists were killed and one, believed 1o be
their nngleader— Aqeel. also known as Dr Usman was captured
Among the Pakistan Army personnel who lost therr lives were
brigadier and a licutenant-colonel. Fight security personnel, nine
terrorists, and three civilians  altogether, twenty people —were Killed.
Media reports suggest that the conspiracy to attack the GHQ may even
have links 10 Punjab where, in the southern-most districts, fanatical
Ilamists have been growing by the day. A new outlit, The Puniabi
Taliban, began to circulate in the media and on the internet

It wo  undoubtedly, the most audacious and daring assault by
Taliban - Al-Qaceda nexus. Questions were asked about any intelligence
lapse that may have occurred, because the security arrangements around
GHQ are most stringent and impregnable. 1t s difficalt to believe that
complete outsiders plotted the attacks help and assistance from rogue
clements, cither serving or retired or a combination of hoth, must have
played some role in it

The assault on the GHQ was preceded by two other vicious attacks
in the same week. On Monday 5 October, a suicide bomber dressed in
the Frontier Constabulary uniform succeeded in entering the premises
of the UN Food Programme Office and blew himself up. Five people
were killed, including a UN diplomat and three female employees. The
culprit was able to deceive more than twenty security guards who were
on duty at that time. Then, on Friday 9 October, another suicide bomber
blew himself up in Sockarno Square, a very busy and central part of the
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capital of the North-West Frontier Province, Peshawar. Many school
children, who were on a passing bus, were among them; more than 50
fatalities and 100 injuries occurred.

HILLARY CLINTON VISITS PAKISTAN

US pressure on Pakistan continued to mount but with the usual mixture
of carrot and stick. Hillary Clinton visited Pakistan from 28-30 October.
Her visit took place at a critical juncture: the Taliban-Al-Qaeda forces
had sharply accelerated their terrorist campaign against Pakistan;
serious doubts had been expressed, within Pakistani political circles and
sections of the power elite, about US commitment to Pakistan's security
and sovereignty; simultaneously, the Americans continued to be
sceptical about Pakistan's approach to the Taliban-Al-Qaeda nexus.

During Clinton's visit, the Pakistani media highlighted the alleged
presence and activities of a large number of Blackwater security
personnel in Pakistan. The security firm had gained considerable
notoriety for its criminal behaviour in occupied Iraq—which had
resulted in several deaths and incidents of torture and humiliation of
Iraqi detainees. The Pakistani media alleged that Blackwater operatives
were an extension of the CIA and were involved in activities aimed
at getting hold of Pakistan’s nuclear assets, as well as an even more
nefarious conspiracy to subvert Pakistani sovereignty. The Pakistani
Washington DC-based Pakistani analyst, Shuja Nawaz, deplored that
the Americans were not providing the required weaponry to Pakistan
to fight the Taliban in rugged and difficult territories such as Waziristan
(Nawaz 2009). Moreover, according to other Pakistan sources, when
the military launched Operation Rah-e-Nijat and entered South
Waziristan, instead of sealing all entry and exit routes into Waziristan
the Americans did just the opposite: they removed scores of security
checkpolnts on the Afghanistan side of the Pak-Afghan border (Daily
Times, 20 October 2009).

Such a decision allegedly helped the Taliban infiltrate from
Afghani into South iri as well as escape from there into
Afghanistan. General Kayani took up this issue with the top US
commander in Afghanistan, General McChrystal, and urged him to seal
the border. On the other hand, the Americans expressed concern and
criticism about Pakistani actions. They alleged that Pakistan was
restricting its military operation to South Waziristan, where the
Pakistani Taliban (TTP) who had been attacking Pakistani targets were




entrenched, but showed no inclination in going after the Taliban in
northern Waziristan or in the capital of Baluchistan, Quetta, where the
pro-Pakistan, Afghan Taliban and Al-Qacda leadership were hiding,
according to the US. US analysts floated the idea that Pakistan
distinguished between good Taliban (Afghan Taliban) and bad Taliban
(TTP and its Pakistani affiliates). Pakistan vehemently rejected such
accusations. Just before she left Washington DC, a correspondent for
Pakistan’s leading newspaper, Dawn, interviewed Clinton. When asked
to comment whether the United States’ demand was fair, that a Pakistani
military unit using a certain weapon on the Afghan border should leave
that weapon behind when it's transferred to another location, she
responded by saying that ‘A lot of military equipment is ‘fungible’ and
mobile and can be used in different places’ (Dawn, 28 October 2009).
The Pakistani media interpreted this as a move to accommodate Indian
concerns about Pakistan acquiring modern weapons.

quently, when Clinton addressed Pakistani newspaper editors
in Lahore on 29 October and asserted that the Al-Qaeda leadership was
hiding in Pakistan, many Pakistanis were greatly disturbed, but she
insisted that her accusations were based on information she had at her
disposal. She remarked, 'I find it hard to believe that nobody in your
government knows where they are and couldn't get them if they really
wanted to. Maybe that's the case; maybe they're not gettable. 1 don't
know.  As far as we know, they are in Pakistan’ (Daily Times, 30
October 2009). In terms of diplomatic praxis, it was perhaps too blunt
an accusation to be made publicly by a visiting high-ranking diplomat
of a country allied to a host country in an ongoing major violent
conflict, but Clinton only expressed an opinion that had, for quite some
time, been aired by US think-tanks and State Department functionaries.
1 had been told this repeatedly by several US analysts when [ visited
Washington DC in July 2009.

In any event, the overall thrust of Clinton’s interactions with the
public, as well as the government and military, was that fighting
terrorism and defeating the Taliban-Al-Qaeda duo was in the best
interests of Pakistan; that the United States would fight terrorism side
by side with Pakistan; and, therefore, there was no reasonable ground
to suspect bad faith from her country. She, particularly, committed US
help and assistance in bolstering Pakistan’s counter-insurgency
capabilities, and went on to propose a set of practical measures to
improve Pakistan's fiscal and economic performance, urging Pakistan
to expand its tax base and to modernize its taxation system. She also
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announced funding for several educational and developmental projects,
including help in solving Pakistan's serious problem of a shortage of
energy.

She also urged a resumption of the India-Pakistan dialogue which
had remained more or less suspended after the Mumbai terrorist attacks
of November 2008. India had become a strategic partner of the United
States and, following the nuclear deal that was agreed between them in
2009; it enjoyed a special relationship with the latter. The Obama
presidency was viewed with some anxiety in India, but both Obama and
Hillary Clinton assured the Indians that the US would not interfere in
the relationship between the two South Asian rivals and both must
resolve their disputes through bilateral negotiations.

In any case, the American Congress passed a special bill that required
‘efforts to track where US military hardware sent to Pakistan ends up,
as well as a warning that the aid must not upset “the balance of power
in the region”—a reference to tensions between Pakistan and India’
(Daily Times, 24 October 2009). President Obama put his signature to
the bill and it became law. On the whole, the chasm between US and
Pakistani perceptions about each other’s intentions and objectives laid
bare the fact that the actors formally allied to each other, and involved
in fighting terrorism, did not share deep mutual trust and confidence.

PAKISTAN’S NUCLEAR ASSETS

A raid on the so-called state-withi t h d!

office of the Inter-Services Intelligence (I1SI)—in Peshawlr on Fnday 13
November 2009 left at least twenty people dead, including ten ISI
officials. It was yet more proof that the establishment’s vain efforts to
establish a ‘fortress of Islam, through a proliferation of fanatical
jihadists, were egregiously flawed. The Taliban-Al-Qaeda nexus, once
again, d dite bility of hitting the dly most well-

guarded targets rcpresenung the power and authority of the state. On
the other hand, the media reported that some terrorists had tried to
enter the restricted area where the nuclear facilities were located but
were unable to infiltrate it, having been stopped at the outer security
ring. The American journalist Seymour Hersh suggested that the United
States was seeking a greater role in the protection of Pakistan’s nuclear
weapons from terrorists. He referred to President Barack Obama's
positive response to a question, by a journalist, about the safety of those
weapons.




Hersh considered a number of scenarios that could plunge regional
and world peace into jeopardy. The most serious was the possibility of
a mutiny within the military stationed at Pakistan's nuclear weapon
sites. This was based on the assumption that support for radical Istam,
and sympathy for the Taliban-Al-Qaeda ideology, could exist among
the soldiers and officers stationed in locations where the weapons were
kept. Hersh has stated that when he probed that possibility with military
officers he talked to, they rejected such a turn of events and told him
that the personnel working at such locations were thoroughly
scrutinized; those whose ideological ori ion or mindset was suspect
were screened out. Moreover, he was told that the nuclear devices were
kept in deep tunnels that could not be detected by spy satellites. Even
more importantly, the procedure adopted to make the nuclear weapons
operational was exceedingly complex. The different elements and parts
of a nuclear bomb were kept separate from one another. In order to use
them, they needed to be assembled at one place. The procedure had
been streamlined and, in case of war or some threat to national security,
a select group of military personnel could quickly make them
operational (The New Yorker, 10 November 2009).

The chairman joint chiefs of staff committee, Lieutenant General
Tariq Majid, dismissed Hersh's worst-case scenario of a mutiny by the
army stationed at the nuclear weapon sites as sensational and
mischievous. Instead, he emphasized that a strict security regime had
complete control over the weapons. He remarked:

We have operationalised a very effective nuclear security regime, which
incorporates very stringent custodial and access controls. As overall
custodian of the development of strategic programme, | reiterate in very
unambiguous terms that there is absolutely no question of sharing or
allowing any foreign individual, cntity or a state, any access to sensitive
information about our nuclear assets (The News International, 10 November
2009).

ARREST OF HEADLEY AND RANA

Media attention was once again drawn to the Mumbai terrorist attacks
of November 2008 when two US citizens of Pakistani origin, David
Coleman Headley (Dacod Gilani) and Tahawwur Hussain Rana, were
arrested in the US for complicity in the Mumbai attacks. In Pakistan,
the authorities arrested a retired major for allegedly having had links
with both Headley and Rana (Daily Times, 26 November 2009). Such
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ings corrected the imp that the LeT was a purely
Palu&tam - Punjabi territorial entity, and thus its linkages with regional
and global networks were brought into sharp relief.

Later, some newspapers reported that Headley was actually a CIA
plant who had been recruited to infiltrate the LeT. However, he had
double-crossed the CIA and transferred his loyalties to the LeT. The
CIA was aware of his trips to India, and that he had played a pivotal
role in the reahunon of the :nacks in Mnmbn. but had kept quiet. The
Indian auth ytoi gate him, but the
media reported that the A.memans were reluctant to cooperate.

RETIRED SENIOR INDIAN AND PAKISTANI OFFICIALS,
REFLECTIONS ON THE PAKISTAN-INDIA RELATIONSHIP

During my three-year stint (2007-2010) at the Institute of South Asian
Studies (ISAS), Singapore, I met a number of Indian and Pakistani
researchers and senior officials. Extended discussions with them about
current and future India-Pakistan relations provided me with many
useful insights. Two specimens are presented below:

Rajiv Sikri, who retired as secretary of India’s ministry of external
affairs, spoke to me on 25 May 2009 about his book, Challenge and
Strategy: Rethinking India’s Foreign Policy (2009), in Singapore when we
were both at the Institute of South Asian Studies. My impression was
that he was cautiously opti istic about the rigid zero-sum culture that
pervaded Pakistan-India interaction, provided both sides made a
sincere effort. He was, however, of the opinion that as long as the
military called the shots in Pakistan, and did not curb terrorism against
India, it would be difficult to change course. I told him that the Pakistan
military was the most important and powerful institution in Pakistan.
Therefore, any future scttlement with Pakistan would require it to be
on board, and that that was not impossible. He agreed.

In his book, he has expressed the view that India, in the twenty-first
century, should strive to become a major power. It should try to work
for a greater understanding between South Asian nations, and seek to
revitalize SAARC as the framework for greater cooperation among the
peoples and nations of the region on the basis of a common history and

shared culture that p all religious ities. He urged India
to work hard to convince its smaller neighbours that n is not a big
brother or bully, and to support d: and d

in the region. He described Pakistan as India's ‘most difficult neighbour}




and that bad relations became worse after the Mumbai terrorist attacks.
However, he took cognition of Pakistan adopting a flexible position on
Kashmir and noted that, as far as the people of the two nations were
concerned, whenever they have met during cricket matches, their
warmth towards each other has been an embarrassment for the hawks.
The author observed that because the jihadists had even started
targeting personnel of the Pakistan armed forces, both countries had an
interest in weakening them. He also urged that India should encourage
greater trade between the two nations—as a means of developing
mutually beneficial interests. He also emphasized the need for India to
establish a good rapport with the elected government of Zardari and
Gilani. At the same time, he noted that it would be impossible for India
to agree to a change to its borders (Sikri 2009: 16-45). But, he hoped
that, one day, there would be South Asian regional integration within
an EU-type framework, and asserted, ‘It may come about when the
younger generation of South Asians, which does not carry bitter
memories of old feuds and antagonisms, begins to wield political power’
(ibid., 37). He considered the 1960 Indus Waters Treaty unfavourable
to India, and urged the nced to renegotiate it. He stressed that while
India, as the upper riparian, enjoyed an ad\anlage over Pakistan which,
if needed, it could exploit, a lly-ag d settl of
the water question with regard to Kashmlr would be preferential (ibid.,

On Afghani: he re k bable as it may sound,
India will have to work with Pakistan in A{ghamsun if there is to be
any hope for lasting peace and stability there’ (ibid., 289).

My experience of talking to senior Indian military officers and
diplomats has been that they, by and large, share the point of view that
Sikri expressed to me and claborated in his book. They concede that,
in the long run, co-operation and non-conff were in the best
interests of both countries and their peoples.

FORMER PAKISTAN FINANCE MINISTER’S REFLECTIONS
ON THE PAKISTAN-INDIA RELATIONSHIP

1 used the opportunity also to probe the views of another colleague, a
fellow Pakistani, Shahid Javed Burki, former World Bank vice-president
for Latin America and briefly Pakistan's finance minister during the
interim government of Moin Qureshi. Burki, while presenting Pakistan's
experience of dealing with India, asserted that the erstwhile Indian
leadership was not reconciled to the creation of Pakistan. It hoped that
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iPakislan would fail to take-off as a viable state and would, therefore,
ireturn to the Indian fold.
: Burki, subsequently, presented his thoughts in a book in which he
rassessed the past relationship as well as made dations for the
future to rectify the relationship. In it, he has written that three major
1 problems cropped up in the immediate period after Pakistan came into
being. First, was that the Indian government was not willing to pay
Pakistan its share of the money that the British had left behind as
common assets. Financial wherewithal was needed to buy even the most
rudimentary equipment to run the state as everything had to be started
from scratch. Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan and Finance Minister
Ghulam Mohammad Khan had to go to Delhi personally to plead their
case before the money was released (Burki 2011: 70). As already pointed
out, the Indian government had withheld Pakistan's share on the
grounds that it would be spent to buy arms to conduct hostilities in
Kashmir. It was only Gandhi’s fast-unto-death that made the Indian
government relent.

The second problem, according to Burki, was over the distribution
of the waters of the rivers that flowed in the territories of both India
and Pakistan. A standstill agrecment was reached in 1948 to maintain
the status quo. However, during 1949 and 1950, Pakistan fclt that India
was violating the agreement. For a very short while, the Indian
government stopped the flow of water to Lahore and its adjoining arcas.
T'he famous waving of his fist by Liaquat Ali Khan—thrcatening war
with India—was a reaction to the perceived breach of the standstill
agreement. The third crisis in India-Pakistan relations occurred in 1949
when Pakistan refused to devalue its currency although all the other
members of the British Commonwecalth did so in relation to the US
dollar. This decision changed the rate of exchange, betwcen the Indian
and Pakistan rupee, to the disadvantage of India. The Indian deputy
prime minister, Sardar Patel, reacted angrily and imposed a trade
blockade on Pakistan. Burki asserted that while such measures created
a decp sense of insecurity in Pakistan, they also helped it to develop its
cconomy independent of India's—giving priority to industrialization.
He has noted that, before the trade war, more than half of Pakistan's
exports went to India, and India was the source of about the same
proportion of imports; afterwards, both exports to, and imports from,
India were reduced to a mere trickle’ (Burki 2011: 70-72).

The main thrust of his book is that the burden of history must be set
aside and forward-looking pragmatism be adopted by both countries.




Basing his argument on strong economic rationale, he has asserted that
Pakistan and India stand to gain a great deal through co-operation,
especially mutually-beneficial trade (ibid., 145-61).

These two dp are useful of the al ive ways
of thinking that are prevalent on both sides. The notorious zero-sum
postures that often prevail are not without their critics and scep(ncsl
among the influential individuals who have had a close association with ;
policy-making in their respective societies. An arg; to convert
South Asia into a region of peace and prosperity through the SAARC
project has been advanced by a host of researchers at ISAS (Muni 2010).
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The United States Prepares for Exit

President Obama had begun to consider a withdrawal from Afghanistan
after it became clear that the war was unwinnable and most of his

allies were not keen to prolong their participation in the war.
Indeed, public opinion in the NATO countries was largely apathetic to
the war—even in the United States support for it had been declining as
more and more people began to doubt that the Taliban could be
defeated militarily. When President Obama met his NATO allies in
Portugal in November 2009, it was agreed that they would withdraw
their troops from Afghanistan by the end of 2014. By that time, the
training of an effective Afghan military would be completed.

The top US commander in Afghanistan, General Stanley McChrystal,
had been requesting a surge in US troops—up to 50,000—for months,
but Obama was p: icating. Finally, on 30 N ber while add 8
cadets at the West Point Military Academy, he announced a surge of
30,000 troops to Afghanistan. However, the surge was to be accompanied
by plans to begin the withdrawal of the reinforcements in eighteen
months. The Republicans welcomed the surge, but expressed doubts
about the announcement of a firm date for the withdrawal as they
believed that it would embolden the Taliban and Al-Qaeda.

US COMPLAINTS AND MISGIVINGS PERSIST

On 15 December, Admiral Mullen rei d concerns about the Taliban
and Al-Qaeda terrorist groups taking refuge across the border in
Pakistan. While visiting Kabul, to discuss the upcoming build-up and
training of Afghanistan’s security forces, he told reporters that he would
discuss the issue with Pakistani authorities during their talks in
Islamabad later. Meanwhile, the Los Angeles Times claimed that senior
US officials, including some military leaders, were pushing to expand
drone strikes into Quetta in an attempt to pressure the Pakistan




government into pursuing the Taliban in Balochistan's provincial capital.
‘Proponents . . . argue that attacking the Taliban in Quetta—or at least
threatening to do so—is critical to the success of the revised war
strategy’ (Los Angeles Times, 16 November 2009). Increasing American
involvement in Pakistan's politics followed, with Clinton calling for a
resumption in Indo-Pak talks on Kashmir, warning that the terrorists
would try to provoke a conflict between the two countries if that issue
was not resolved.

General David Petraeus chipped in by praising Pakistan's gains in
Waziristan and asserting that he did not believe that the Pakistan Army
had any desire to endanger civilian rule. Dilating upon the new US
policy on Afghanistan, he stated that President Obama would increase
US troops by 30,000 and that all the stakeholders would be engaged
ahead of the start of the troop withdrawals in July 2011—a process that
would be completed by the end of 2014. Such a statement generated
considerable anxiety in some quarters.

India expressed concern; voices of concern were raised in
Afghanistan and Pakistan too. During that time, Afghans were to be
trained to take charge. Meanwhile, rumours that drone attacks could be
extended to Balochistan were refuted by Petraeus, who quoted a
statement by Defence Secretary Robert Gates denying such a plan. Some
further clues, to future US policy in Afghanistan, were provided by him
when he said that the US would work with those Taliban who renounced
violence but that, thus far, only low and middle level Taliban leaders
had responded positively to the US policy of establishing dialogue with
them.

TERRORISM WITHIN PAKISTAN

In December, controversy about whether forcign powers were
orchestrating terrorism in Pakistan surfaced again in the Pakistani
media. Interior Minister Rehman Malik ruled out the presence of any
US-sponsored terrorists in Pakistan. ‘There is no presence of Blackwater
in Pakistan. Unfortunately, all the terrorists in the country are Pakistani
nationals. He further stated that 74 terrorists had been apprehended
(Daily Times, 11 December 2009). Malik had been insisting, for several
months, that he had conclusive and incontrovertible proof of Indian
involvement in terrorism, as well as in secessionism in Balochistan. He
challenged India’s defence minister, A.K. Antony, to come to Pakistan
to see the evidence for himself. Antony ignored the invitation and




rejected his accusations. Apparently, the proof of Indian involvement
was sent to the foreign ministry by the interior ministry. However,
Foreign Minister Qureshi expressed his doubts about the material he
had received. The proof probably comprised disturbing snapshots of
naked, dead, uncircumcised men.

In any case, a horrendous assault in Karachi on 28 December 2009—
the main Shia day of mourning: the 10th of Muharram—claimed at least
43 lives and inflicted injuries on hundreds of others. It was accompanied
by more than 2000 shops and businesses being vandalized or set ablaze.
The damage was estimated to be to the tune of Rs 30-50 billion. The
authorities claimed that the rioting was not a spontaneous expression
of anger by a crowd gone berserk, but well-planned and organized.
During 2009, the highest number of fatalities, as a result of terrorism,
took place in Pakistan.

The announcement of a definite date, for the beginning of the
withdrawal of US and NATO troops, was received, understandably, with
mixed reactions from the different stakeholders. The Taliban and its
affiliates and sympathizers celebrated it as further proof of the decline
of US power and global hegemony, and its inevitable defeat in
Afghanistan and Pakistan. Pakistan officially expressed concern over a
US exit without a viable peace deal having been put into place that
would keep arch-rival India at bay in Afghanistan. The Pakistan military
expected recognition of its competence and capacity, as an effective
fighting force, because it had dealt severe blows to the Taliban in Swat
and South Waziristan. In political terms, this meant that Pakistan had
to be recognized as the p power in south Asia. The Indian
reaction was one of alarm. It perceived the withdrawal of western
troops, without the Taliban having becn defeated, as an invitation for
trouble as it could embolden the Taliban to embark on another jihad
campaign, especially in Kashmir. Iran offered its good offices to help
the political process. It had been providing monetary aid to the Afghan
government, and had also taken care of refugees during the Soviet

pation. It also ised some infll through the Shia Hazaras
(Ahmed 2010).

For quite some time, the key player—the Karzai government—had
been discussing, with the British, the possibility of a deal with the
Taliban. An idea was put forth that if the Taliban accepted the Afghan

itution, which in principle stood for d y and gender
equality of sorts, they could be accommodated into the state structure
including the government. Some analysts began arguing that the Taliban




were a regional entity, uneducated, crude, and li ited to their

dings in their ambi it was asserted
that the Taliban comprised a plethora of groups on both sides of the
border. There were those who had a good standing with the Pakistani
establishment—who considered them to be a strategic asset in terms of
the power game in Afghanistan; however, the Taliban led by the TTP
were loathed by the Pakistani establishment. Then, there were those
who were linked to Russia and Iran (in spite of rabid aversion to
Shiaism). Taliban groups were also involved in drug trafficking in a
massive way—with some collaboration from even American and other
Western elements. Then, there was the Punjabi Taliban which included
Punjabis who had relocated themselves in the tribal belt: it also enjoyed
a stronghold in southern Pakistan (Amin, Osinski, and DeGeorges
2010).

From the American point of view, Al-Qaeda and those groups among
the Taliban and their other affiliates that constituted nexuses directed
against US interests had to be dealt with effectively. The problem, of
course, was that Al-Qaeda was no longer simply a physical entity
consisting of Arab, and other veterans of the Afghan jihad hiding in
Afghanistan and Pakistan. After Bush had extended the war on terror
to an invasion of Iraq, the radicalization of Muslims proliferated
dramatically and Al-Qaeda-inspired groups had come into being all
over the world. Nevertheless, the pursull and destruction of the

hile ‘'Al-Qaeda leadership—especially the iconic Osama bin Laden
who symbolized international terronsm—was imperative. Such an
objective had to be achieved to assuage the American public and remind
the world at large that those who threaten US security would not receive
any quarter anywhere in the world.

The Americans were acutely aware of the fact that the hunt for the
Al-Qaeda leaders required Pakistani cooperation. On the other hand,
their military and intelligence experts were convinced that Al-Qaeda
and Taliban leaders, involved in aiding and abetting terrorism against
US and NATO forces, were hiding in FATA, especially in North
Waziristan, and in Quena, the apllal of Baloduslan in southern

Pakistan. Furth the pected that Al-Qaeda, and
top Afghan Taliban, Ieaders enjoyed the protectlon of powerful clements
in the Pakistani g a ifaceted strategy

including covert activities. That strategy was enupsulated in the Kerry-
Lugar b|ll which committed the United States lo a generous five-year
including a range of develop | inputs, but stipulated




that Pakistan had to go after the strongholds of the fugitive leaders in
North Waziristan and the local networks that supported them, especially
the Haqqani group. On the other hand, during Clinton's visit in October
2009, the Pakistan media had published reports of the presence of
hundreds of undercover Americans—particularly the Blackwater
security firm—in Pakistan.

McChrystal visited Pakistan in early January 2010. Talking to
journalists at the US embassy, he stated that a trust deficit was the main
issue between the United States and Pakistan, as well as between
Pakistan and Afghanistan. He said, ‘The best we can do is build trust’
to achieve the desired results in the war against terror. As usual, he had
some words of appreciation for the Pakistan Army’s recent operations
against the Pakistan Taliban, but he also demanded more action against
the Hagqani group in North Waziristan (Daily Times, 5 January 2010),

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE AT LANCASTER HOUSE

It was against the backdrop of such concerns and objectives that were
emerging in US strategic thinking that the UK prime minister, Gordon
Brown. invited a host of countries to a conference at Lancaster House,
London. Some key players, such as China, Turkey, Iran, and Russia, had
met in Istanbul, preparatory to the conference, to discuss the
conference’s concept and to promote consensus on it. On 28-29 January,
some 70 countries as well as the United Nations backed a US$500
million drive by the Afghan government to tempt fighters to give up
their weapons in exchange for jobs and other incentives. A conspicuous
feature of the conference was that Pakistan's position, as the key player
in any peace deal in Afghanistan, was affirmed. On the other hand,
India was not invited to the Istanbul contact group meeting (Ahmed
2010). At the conference, it became clear that US and NATO troops
would begin a drawback beginning July 2011, which would be
completed by the end of 2014. Fairly large numbers of Afghan military
and security forces were to be trained to take over the main
responsibility of maintaining the peace. The conference was a setback
to India, which had been insisting that the Taliban, as a whole, had to
be defeated because they were committed to an ideology that was
rabidly militaristic and expansi and any ion to them would
gravely threaten India's security.

The Lancaster House confe met with carly disapp an
invitation from President Karzai, to Taliban leaders to attend the




ditional Il bly—the Loya Jirga, was not responded to
by them. On the other hand, luyam made some mteresung observmons
He said, ‘Pakistan doesn't want a “talibani
on the point, he said that Pakistan did not want  for Afghanistan wlut
it did not want for itself. Further, that his country had no intention of
controlling Afghanistan. He offered Pakistan's assistance and help in
training the Afghanistan military. He also made the important point
that Pakistan's geostrategic location continues to be relevant in the
post-Cold War and post-9/11 periods, and urged NATO to fully
appreciate that objective reality (Daily Times, 2 February 2010). A few
days earlier, the Pakistan Army spokesperson, Major General Athar
Abbas, announced that there would be no major offensive for the next
6-12 months. The Pakistan military could bask in the glory that an
elected government remained in power and that the military had helped
the political process take its natural course in Pakistan (Dawn, 22
January 2010).

INDIAN Two-FRONT DOCTRINE AND US ADVICE ON
COOPERATION IN SOUTH ASIA

Meanwhile, during a closed-door seminar in Simla, the Indian Army
Chief, General Deepak Kapoor, remarked that the Indian Army was
preparing to take Pakistan and China on simultaneously in case of a
future war. He said that the Indian forces would ‘have to substantially
enhance their strategic reach and out-of-area capabilities to protect
India's geopolitical interests stretching from the [Persian] Gulf to
Malacca Strait’ and ‘to protect our island territories’ and assist ‘the
littoral states in the Indian Ocean Region’ (Blumenthal, 1 December
2011).

Earlier, on 3 January 2010, Indian External Affairs Minister S.M.
Krishna, in an intervicw, emphasized that China's continued supply of
weapons to Pakistan, as well as the activities of Chinese companies in
Azad Kashmir, were a matter of concern and that India was talking to
China about | these issues. Explaining why India saw the activities in
Azad Kashmir as ‘illegal, Krishna said: ‘Jammu and Kashmir is an
integral part of the country; neither Pakistan nor China has a locus
standi there (Indian Express, 2 January 2010). The reaction from
Pakistan, to Kapoor's doctrine, was one of ridicule. The chairman of the
joint chief of staff committee, General Tariq Majid, expressed doubts
whether General Kapoor had devised any such doctrine—but that, if he




had, then, ‘Leave alone China, General Deepak Kapoor knows very well
what the Indian armed forces cannot and Pakistan armed forces can
pull of militarily’ (Times of India, 2 January 2010).

Amid such jingoistic rhetoric from both sides, Defence Secretary
Robert Gates visited South Asia. While in Delhi, he warned that
Al-Qaeda’s ‘syndicate—which includes the TTP and the Taliban in
Afghanistan, as well as Lashkar-e-Tayyaba—posed a danger to the
region as a whole. It was trying ‘to destabilise not just Afghanistan, not
just Pakistan, but potentially the whole region by provoking a conflict
perhaps between India and*Pakistan through some provocative act,
Gates said. Further, it would be ‘very dangerous' to single out any one
group of the syndicate as a target as all of them needed to be combated
together. He added that it was imp for all the i d
to ‘remain engaged and eliminate the terror groups. Suggesting
transparent Indian and Pakistani operations in Afghanistan, the US
defence secretary denied the idea that India would be given any military
role in such operations. He said that India's support in the development
of Kabul, to the tune of $1.3 billion, was ideal and significant. Then he
remarked:

Let us be honest with one another, there is real suspicion in Pakistan to what
India is doing in Afghanistan. And so I think focusing on development,
humanitarian assistance, probably in some limited areas of training but with
full transparency towards cach other is what will help allay thesc suspicions
and create opportunitics of greater help for the Afghan government; he
addec (Daily Times, 21 January 2010).

GENERAL KAYANI ON PAKISTAN’S SACRIFICES IN THE
WAR oN TERROR

In late Bnuary, Kayani visited NATO headquarters in Brussels where
he exphined Pakistan’s role in the war on terror and its defence
prioritics. Upon his return, he briefed senior Pakistani journalists, and
told them that Pakistan could not close its eyes to the Indian ‘Cold Start
Strategr'—as aired by his Indian counterpart. Responding to US
accusations that Pakistan was playing a double game, he asserted that
the Palkistani nation had offered unprecedented sacrifices in terms of
lives and property. Whereas the NATO and allied forces’ casualties in
the war on terror stood at 1582—over the eight years—2273 officers
and jawans (soldiers) of the Pakistan Army had been martyred; 6512




had sustained injuries during one year alone. Seventy-three Pakistani
intelligence officers were martyred, compared with eleven intelligence
officers of the allied forces, in Afghanistan. He said, ‘Our martyrs
include one three-star general, one two-star general and five brigadiers’
He went on to say, ‘We have made it clear to US that it will have to keep
in view interests of Pakistan before taking any decision with reference
to Afghanistan’ He added that, given the bad track record because of
India-Pakistan relations, vigilance and preparation to face Indian
threats could not be slackened, describing India's military and war
preparations as Pakistan-specific (Nation, 4 February 2010).

Earlier, in the wake of Gates' visit, India had offered to resume talks
with Pakistan. Immediately, the leader of the Hizbul Mujahideen and
chairman of the 16-party Jihad Council, Syed Salahuddin, remarked in
Muzaffarabad, ‘The Kashmir issue cannot be resolved through dialogue.
Jihad (holy war) is the only way to frec Kashmir from Indian rule. . . .
1 want to tell my brothers across the border that we will remain with
you until India quits Kashmir! A statement issued after the meeting
declared, ‘Jihad will continue until India ends its occupation of Kashmir.
If Pakistan cannot offer material support, it should extend its political
and moral support to the Kashmir movement’ (Daily Times, 5 February
2010).

US MILITARY PERSONNEL KILLED IN PAKISTAN,
PROMINENT TALIBAN LEADERS CAPTURED

On 10 February, the Daily Times reported that three US soldiers and
four female students werc among nine killed when a blast targeted a
military-led convoy in Lower Dir, near Swat. The US soldiers were
travelling in a convoy with local troops, journalists, and officials to the
opening of a girls' school. At least 115 people—including 95
schoolgirls—were injured in the attack. According to a statement by the
US embassy in Islamabad, the US troops killed in the attack were
training Frontier Constabulary soldiers on a request by the Pakistani
government. The police gave a figure of nine fatalities—including four
schoolgirls and ‘three foreigners’

Some excitement was caused when the Taliban military commander
and, a close ally of Mullah Omar, Mullah Abdul Ghani Baradar, was
captured from Karachi. The BBC reported that it was the result of a joint
US-Pakistan operation (BBC, 17 February 2010). Some other senior
Taliban were arrested in NWFP. Later, the Pakistan media reported the



arrest, from Karachi, of two more aides of Mullah Omar’s and of the slai
TTP leader Baitullah Mehsud (Daily Times, | March 2010).

SHUJA NAWAZ’s TESTIMONY ON ISLAMIC MILITANCY

Shuja Nawaz, director of the South Asia Center at the Atlantic Council,
Washington DC, testified before the House Foreign Relations
Comnmittee subcommittee on the Middle East and South Asia on 11
March 201). He provided information and analysis on the growing
militancy in Pakistan. He acknowledged that the LeT, set up to assist
the Kashmir freedom movement, had permutated into ‘a powerful
Sunni Punjabi movement with an agenda that appears to have taken on
a broader regional role. He went on to say:

Successive civil and military leaders of Pakistan supported the movement as
a strategic assct 1o counter a powerful India to the East and to force it to
negotiate for a settlement of the disputed territory by waging a war of ‘a
thousand cuts'

Over time, however, the sponsored organization took on a life of its own,
finding the socially disadvantaged arca of Central and Southern Punjab to
be a fertile territory for recruitment of Jihadi warriors. LeT spread its
wings nationwide, using its contacts to raise funds from the public and
gradually auained autarkic status. Collection boxes for the Kashmiri jihad
in shops, at mosques, and around the festivals of Eid al Fitr and Eid al Adha
gave it a steady source of income. It spun off a sacial welfare organization,
the Jamaat ud Dawa, that served to proselytize on behalf of the LeT while
providing much needed social services. In doing this, the LeT was playing
to the weakness of the corrupt political system of Pakistan that failed 10
recognize and meet the basic needs of its population at large while catering
1o the clites. The Inter-Services Intelligence started becoming less
controlling as the LeT became more self-sufficient. But the realization that
the LeT had become was slow in being und d or accepted
in the IS1 and in the military lcadership of Pakistan under eral Pervez
Musharraf. His ambivalence about the LeT even in 2002 was lent in his
confusion during an interview with Australian Broadcasting Corporation
when he challenged the interviewer who stated that the LeT had been
banned. Musharraf thought only the Jaish e Mohammed had been banned,
referring to another surrogate of the 181 in Kashmir. Today, LeT is banned.
But the Jamaat ud Dawa remains a functioning entity.

General Musharraf made an cffort to lower the political temperature in
Kashmir and began distancing the statc from the LeT. However, the process
was not handled as well as it could have been . .. the LeT was cut loose
without a comprehensive plan to disarm, re-t in, and gainfully employ the




fighters. A dangerous corollary was the induction into the militancy of some
former members of the military who had trained and guided the  in their
war in Kashmir,

Enough evidence exists now to link the Sipah-c-Sahaba and Jaish-e-
Mohammed with Al-Qaeda and the Taliban. The LeT's emerging role as a
trans regional force that has broadened its aim to include India and perhaps
even Afghanistan, by linking with the Students Islamic Movement of India
or SIMI and the Harkat ul Jihad al Islami or HUJI of Bangladesh. It poses a
serious threat to regional stability. Another Mumbai-type attack might bring
India and Pakistan close to a conflict, a prospect that should keep us awake
at night. In Pakistan, both the civil and the military now appuar to recognize
the existential threat from home grown militancy. The army appears to have
dislocated the Tehreek-e-Taliban of Pakistan. Yet, it faces a huge threat in
the hinterland. in the form of the LeT.

My own rescarch into the recruitment of the Pakistan army over 1970 to
2005 indicates that the army is now recruiting heavily in the same arca.
Unless we change the undcrlying social and economic conditions. the
Islamist militancy that appears to be taking root there will start sceping into
the military’ (Nawaz Congressional testimony, 11 March 2010).

Such a frank appraisal of the Pakistan situation obviously also reflected
the thinking and information that was prevalent among the Washington-
based security analysts. Earlier, when [ visited Washington DC in July
2009. I spoke to Shuja Nawaz at length and sought several clarifications
about his book, Crossed Swords. 1 also interviewed Syed Mowahid
Hussain Shah, a former member of the Punjab cabinet, about the
troubled Pakistan-US relations. He told me that he was present at the
White House, at President Obama AfPak policy briefing. He was of the
view that the Americans were determined to go after Al-Qaeda and
would focus on such an objective. The executive director of the
Pakistani American Lcadership Center, Taha Gaya. and Amjad and
Norcen Babar also shared their views with me on the US-Pakistan
relationship. They were of the opinion that both sides needed to build
their relations on honesty and not on a purely instrumentalist basis.

I also spoke to a cross-scction of the Amcerican security community;
Walter Andersen; Christine Fair; Ambassador Wendy Chamberlin;
Director South Asia at the Woodrow Wilson Center Robert Hathaway;
Professor Sclig Harrison; Dr Teresita Schaffer. They all lay considerable
stress on the trust deficit that was prevalent in the Pakistan-US alliance
against terrorism. On the other hand, Ambassador Richard Boucher
and Ambassador Robin Raphael, while recognizing the problem of
mutual mistrust, expressed a greater understanding of the difficulties







borders, therefore, the troops deployed on the eastern borders alongside
India have not been thinned out and nor will this strength be scaled
down. ... The number of troops required to be deployed on the eastern
border is still there and any question to relocate them to the western border
stands ruled out.

Some well-informed contacts in Pakistan, however, told me that a
thinning of troops on the border with India had taken place but making
such an admission was not politically correct, especially from the point
of view of the establishment. The India-threat factor was intrinsic to the
national security paradigm upon which the army'’s institutional interests
hinged.

THE EXECUTION OF A FORMER ISI AGENT

On 30 April, a former ISI agent, Khalid Khawaja, was brutally executed
by a hitherto unknown group called the Asian Tigers. He was found
dead in Miranshah, North Waziristan—a month after being kidnapped
by the Asian Tigers. He had gone there along with the legendary
Colonel Imam—Sultan Amir Tarar—and a UK journalist of Pakistani
origin, Saad Qureshi. Khalid Khawaja’s body was found riddled with
bullets. A note left by the executioners stated that this would be the fate
of all agents of the United States. Khalid Khawaja had been a squadron
leader in the Pakistan Air Force (PAF) before he changed career to
become an ISI officer. He claimed to having been close to Osama bin
Laden. Apparently, he was dismissed from the ISI for his outspoken
views on jihad and his support of Al-Qaeda (Daily Times, 1 May 2010).

Some years earlier, I had seen Khalid Khawaja on an international
television network telling the interviewer something like this: ‘You [the
West| value life, we consider worldly existence a transition so how can
you fight with us?’ The message he wanted to convey was precisely that
Jihad was a natural duty for all Muslims and that ‘'martyrdom’ was an
exalted and coveted station to attain. On that occasion, I could not help
but notice the irony in Khalid Khawaja's derision of life on earth: he had
himself ded in growing to middle-age and some grey hairs could
be seen in his beard. He had not volunteered to become a suicide
bomber, but had probably been very successful in convincing others to
do so. As a result, many lives had been destroyed while he lived to
pontificate the virtues of death during jihad. His execution, by some
group who found him to have been not only a CIA agent but also a




Qadiyani (i.c. member of the despised Ahmadiyya community), as some
media reports suggested, was the ultimate irony and tragedy of the self-
righteous terrorism that is prevalent in Pakistan.

FAISAL SHAHZAD

Khalid Khawaja’s execution set in motion a spate of conspiracy theories
about who betrayed him and how he was captured—exposing intricate
networks and rivalries within the intelligence services, notably the ISI,
Islamists cells and nexuses, journalists, and talk-show charlatans.
However, such news generated excitement and sensationalism in the
domestic sphere only. On 1 May, an incident in faraway New York once
again put Pakistan in the spotlight as the epicentre of terrorism. Faisal
Shahzad, 31 years old, married, of Pakhtun ancestry, the son of a retired
Pakistani air vice-marshal, and a naturalized US citizen, was
apprehended for an attempled car bombing in Times Square. A vigilant
passer-by reported something suspicious about a car that was parked
there. The authorities managed to defuse the explosive material just in
time, and a major terrorist incident was prevented. Shahzad was taken
into custody at John F. Kennedy International Airport on 3 May after
he had boarded an Emirates Airline flight bound for Islamabad.

Faisal did not fit the bill of the usual suicide bomber, having been
born and brought up in privileged circumstances. It turned out that he
had been recruited by Islamists in Karachi while visiting Pakistan. Faisal
confessed 1o ten counts related to the bombing attempt. The US media
reported that he had admitted to training in bomb-making at a terrorist
camp run by a militant Islamist faction in Waziristan. His arrest clicited
angry reactions in the United States, and there were some suggestions
that another terrorist attack on American soil, by Pakistan-based
operatives, would be met with a severe punitive response. That it could
entail the deployment of ground troops in Pakistan was a possibility
that became relevant. The Pakistan government and media complained
that Faisal was a US citizen and, therefore, Pakistan could not be blamed
for his actions. The point, valid as it was, did not detract from the fact
that too many things in Faisal's terroristic behaviour had a Pakistani
linkage. On 5 October 2010, Shahzad was sentenced to life imprisonment
without the possibility of parole.

A few days carlier, on 23 September, another US citizen of Pakistani
origin, Dr Aafiya Siddiqui, a ncuroscientist, had been sentenced to an
86-ycar prison term having been found guilty on two counts of




attempted murder, armed assault, using and carrying a firearm, and
three counts of assault on US officers and other US employees. She had
been arrested in 2008 from Afghanistan. The Americans believed she
was a dangerous Al-Qaeda fanatic. Her arrest had evoked angry
responses from different sections of Pakistani society. Prime Minister
Gilani had gone out of his way and committed his government to
footing her defence lawyers’ bill. For Pakistani Islamists, Aafiya became
the epitome of continuing US aggression against Islam and Muslims.

The Ameri ident and his inistration worried the most
about a future terrorist attack, with nuclear weapons, in the United
States. So, he wanted to concentrate on Al-Qaeda rather than the
Taliban movement as a whole. Moreover, he began to plan the US
withdrawal, beginning July 2011, from Afghanistan. Obama told Bob
‘Woodward of The Washington Post that he would tell the Afghans that
the United States was committed to the long-term security and stability
of their country, but that ‘it’'s time for us to start thinking in terms of
how you guys are going to be able to stand on your own two feet’
(Woodward 2010: 377).

ATTACK ON AHMADIS IN LAHORE

Meanwhile, the jihad offensive continued within Pakistan. On, 28 May,
twin suicide bombing attacks took place on congregations of Ahmadi
worshippers at the time of Friday prayers. More than 100 people lost
their lives. Security officials suggested a link to the southern Punjab as
TTP's networking was rapidly spreading beyond the NWFP. The new
crop of terrorists belonged to banned organizations such as the Le}, JeM,
and SSP—all Deobandi affiliates of the TTP and Al-Qaeda. Interior
Minister Rehman Malik remarked that ‘militants who were hiding in
southern Punjab are now surfacing He went on to state that there were
more than 20,000 madrassas in the country, of which 44 per cont were

in Punjab. The g banned 29 izations and put 1764
people on the wamed lists—of those, 729 were from soullum Pun}lb
A security official believed that the headq of Jai

in Bahawalpur, was involved in recruiting volunlcers for the Taliban
(Daily Times, 31 May 2010).







At any rate, even as the United States offered considerable aid and
assistance to Pakistan and its military personal took a leading part in
the relief effort, Clinton and Holbrooke emphasized that Pakistan had
to make its own efforts to cover the total cost of rehabilitation. They
suggested that the rich in Pakistan be taxed to raise the revenues needed
for such a task. Simultancously, Holbrooke, who was visiting Islamabad,
stated that his country would not accept any ‘slackness; on the part of
the Pakistan Army in the fight against the Taliban, due to their
engagement in the flood relief efforts. ‘Neither the security situation has
changed fundamentally, nor the Taliban threat has receded and with the
Americans placed in a difficult situation in Afghanistan, we certainly
will not like to see slackness on the part of the Pakistan Army in the
war on terror’ (Daily Times, 18 September 2010). Such blunt demands
clearly showed that the Americans felt that Pakistan had to render some
services in the war on terror in lieu of the various types of aid America
gave Pakistan.

The response of the d ically-elected g was rather
peculiar. It decided to severely cut funding to the 71 public sector
universities, which impelled the vice-chancellors to resign en bloc. In
sharp contrast, parliament approved a dramatic increase in the projected
defence expenditure: from $5.14 billion to $6.41 billion in the 2010-11
budget, an increase of 30 per cent (Ahmed, 12 October 2010). It is to
be noted that the increase in the defence expenditure took place in
response to a 12 per cent hike in Indian spending on defence announced
earlier in the year. The vicious circle that attended India-Pakistan
relations made no ptions to the unprecedented difficulties that
Pakistan was facing.

MUSHARRAF’S ADMISSIONS

At this stage, the now retired General Pervez Musharraf made some
startling admissions about Pakistan's complicity in promoting terrorism
in Indian-administered Kashmir. Asked why Pakistan trained militant
underground groups to fight India in Kashmir, the former president
said that Nawaz Sharif's apathy to the Kashmir issue was one of the
reasons, as was the fact that the world had turned a blind eye to the
dispute (Times of India, 5 October 2010). He said that he had no regrets
about the Kargil intrusion that he had ordered, which had led to an
armed conflict with India in 1999, and asserted that each country had
the right to promote its national interest. He condemned the




ternational community for courting India with a view to making
rategic dcals, while treating Pakistan as a rogue state. He asserted that
ie worst blunder of the United States would be to quit Afghanistan
ithout winning. He further observed, ‘Then militancy will prevail not
aly in Pakistan, India and Kashmir, but perhaps also in Europe, the
nited Kingdom and in the United States. That's my belief* (ibid.).
Stunned by Musharraf's admission that Pakistan had trained militant
-oups to fight in Kashmir, the Pakistan Foreign Office rubbished the
semer military ruler’s statement as ‘baseless. Foreign Office Spokesman
bdul Basit said, ‘I do not know really what prompted him (Musharraf)
» say this because he is not in Pakistan and [ would not really know as
» the purpose of saying this. Further, he said, ‘But as far as government
f Pakistan is concerned, 1 strongly refute these baseless suggestions”
le also stated that Pakistan supported the Kashmiri people’s struggle
hich he said was ‘purely indigenous and legitimate in accordance with
N charter and in accordance with international law’ (Times of India,
October 2010)
The Dawn, on 18 October 2010, reported that US federal officials
ad acknowledged that David Coleman Headley, who had confessed to
volvement in the Mumbai terror attacks, had been a mole of
erican intelligence agencies in the Lashkar-c-Tayyaba and other
srrorist outfits. In court papers submitted by the FBI, US federal
uthorities said that they hoped to reach top Al-Qaeda leaders through
im, but Headley went rogue and slipped out of their hands. The LeT,
owever, succeeded in brainwashing Headley, who then started leaking
nly selective information to his American bosses.

JS-PAKISTAN ‘STRATEGIC DIALOGUE’

woon afterwards, a United States- Pakistan strategic dialogue took place
n Washington DC against the backdrop of deep-1ooted suspicion and
inease. The Obama administration approved $2 billion in military aid
or the purchase of US-made arms and accessories—specifically for
ounter-insurgency purposes. The aid was subject to approval by
“ongress which, if granted, would be available from 2012 to 2016. A
sowerful editorial in Lahore's Daily Times, dated 24 October 2010,
»bserved that the United States had experienced an unreliable partner
n the Pakistani military: during Musharraf’s time, US military aid was
1sed to amass weapons that had nothing to do with counter-insurgency
sut had everything to do with stockpiling against India. And that, this




time round, the Pakistani ilitary could be sure that the ai
approved, would be subject to extremely close scrutiny ard audit.
Efforts to bolster Pakistan’s counter-insurgency capabilites were
intended to nudge the Pakistan military towards an all-out of:nsive in
North Waziristan where safe havens existed, not just for the Haqqani
network but also for the Pakistani Taliban (TTP) and, alegedly,
Al-Qaeda. Pakistan was clearly seen to be dragging its feet, saving that
if and when it conducted an operation in North Waziristan it vould be
in the light of its ‘national interest. Such a standpoint was seea, by the
Americans, as a strategy to keep the Afghan Taliban intact unti the last
US soldier left Afghanistan. The writer then made the fsllowing
comment:

“The US has not backtracked during this session on its insisterce on an
offensive in North Waziristan. It does not seem likely that Pakstan will
abandon its Afghan cohorts whom it may like to have represented n a post-
US withdrawal Afghan dispensation. The Pakistani military has saked too
much on strategic depth in Afghanistan and if the US tries to keepPakistan
out of any Afghan talks, the Pakist itary is likely to use itsleverage
through the Afghan Taliban, irrespective of diplomacy and dialogse.

The US is aware of the fact that in this war on terror, Pakistanhas been
fexing its muscles to beat back the TTP. The US's real enemy, hiwever, is
still operational and the US is not happy. That is why the sujerpower
continues to use its policy of sweet-talking and coddling with o:casional
threats thrown in for good measure. This cat and mouse game caniot go on
forever. If the present minuet breaks down, a conflict could occurbetween
the two allies, one that Pakistan may end up on the losing side of.

The usual pies were thrown in the sky, namely Kashmir and our civil
nuclear designs. In both cases, the US's preference for India can be xen with
the Obama administ tion siding with its strategic partner over it tactical
one. Resolving Kashmir was Obamas election pledge: it is now an ksue that
the US does not want
when it comes 1o a
of nuclear proliferation in the past and has been described as the picentre
of the region’s troubles. We have no choice therefore but to rely onChina, a
reliable friend and one that will not backtrack on Washington’s insstence.

Allin all, the dialogue is bridging the gulf of mistrust to some e:tent but
the same doubts and legacies rcmain, “process™ and $2 billion
notwithstanding’

In November, President George W. Bush published his mmoi ,
Decision Points, in which he shed light on how his adminitration
became gradually sceptical of, and disillusioned with, Paistan’s




otivations for joining the war against terrorism. He had become
nvinced that Pakistan would not act determinedly against extremist
ilitants. He acknowledged that Pakistan had ‘paid a high price for
king on extremists’ and that its forces were successful for several years

targeting Al-Qaeda militants crossing the porous border with
fghanistan. But, he added, ‘Over time, it became clear that Musharraf
ther would not or could not fulfil all of his promises. Further, ‘Some
1 the Pakistani intelligence service, the IS, retained close ties to
aliban officials. Others wanted an insurance policy in case America
»andoned Afghanistan and India tried to gain influence there! He
:called a meeting with US Special Forces returning from Afghanistan
1+ which someone pleaded with him, ‘We need permission to go kick
>me ass inside Pakistan. He noted that the Predator—an unmanned
redator drone—‘was capable of conducting video surveillance and
ring laser-guided bombs. He admitted, ‘I authorized the intelli
>mmunity to turn up the pressure on the extremists. Many of the
etails of our actions remain classified. But soon after I gave the order,
1e press started reporting more Predator strikes. Bush said that
akistan's cooperation was impeded by its ‘obsession’ with India. ‘In
Imost every conversation we had, Musharraf accused India of
rrongdoing, Bush wrote (Dawn, 10 November 2010).

JRONE ATTACKS

n this context, it is important that the drone attacks—which the
‘akistani media always condemned—had also been claiming innocent
ives. Pakistan had been insisting that the requisite technology and
quipment to launch drone attacks should be transferred to it but the
umericans had not acceded to such requests. The drone attacks
ncreased under President Obama and contributed to his unpopularity,
specially among the ultra-nationalists. right-wing media, and Islamists.
‘rom the American point of view, it was an effective way to target and
:ill Taliban and Al-Qaeda leaders without risking US troops. However,
he Pakistan government’s and ary's public postures—protesting
igainst the drone attacks, denouncing them as violations of Pakistan's
overeignty, and that were killing its civilians and risked worsening
inti-US rather deceptive. As noted already close
:ollaboration between the US and Pakistan militaries and their
ntelligence agencies became public with the liquidation of the TTP
eader, Baitullah Mehsud, in August 2009 as a result of a US drone attack




in which Pakistan had provided intelligence about his location (Ahmed
2009).

ESCALATING VIOLENCE IN BALOCHISTAN

While violence emanating from Islamist sources had become endemic
in Pakistan’s mainstream politics, the situation in Balochistan had
continued to be highly volatile and explosive. The main armed
encounters were between the security forces and Baloch nationalists,
but vicious attacks on the Hazara Shia minority by Sunni fanatics and
attacks on Punjabi settlers by Baloch ethno-nationalists also claimed
hundreds of lives. Besides such recurring patterns of violence, the
Americans continued to claim that Afghan Taliban leaders were hiding
in the province. Balochistan had a large Pakhtun population, and the
Taliban had found sanctuary among them. The Taliban had allegedly
been launching raids on NATO oil tankers and containers, while they
were in transit from Karachi to Kandahar, for years. Balochistan had
become the ghold of lers, dacoits, kidnappers, and other
such criminal nexuses. Many Baloch sardars ran their own private
armies and jails and were involved in criminal activities. But, the main
conflict in the province was political violence—between the federal
government and the Baloch nationalists—that escalated after the
murder of Akbar Bugti. The Baloch complained that hundreds of
Baloch were missing as a result of abduction by the security forces;
many were later found brutally killed or continued to be missing
(‘Conflict and Insecurity in Balochistan’ 2010; Talpur, 3 April 2011).
The Pakistan government continued to reiterate that foreign powers,
especially India, were behind the Baloch insurgency.

MiID-TERM DEFEAT FOR DEMOCRATS AND OBAMA’S
VisIT TO INDIA

President Obama visited India in November, soon after his Democratic
Party suffered a heavy defeat in the US mid-term elections. The rival
Republican Party gained control of the US House of Representatives
while the Democrats managed to maintain their slight lead in the
Senate. The voters were mainly concerned about the poor state of the
US economy. National security issues, including foreign wars and
homeland security, were hardly mentioned by either the voters or the
candidates. Consequently, not only were its NATO allies facing a lack




f support in their national constituencies but the main protagonist
rading the military campaign in the war on terror in the AfPak region
vas also facing diminishing support for the engag The idea that
he war could not be won was gaining strength, much to the chagrin of
hose determined to annihilate Al-Qaeda and its diehard Taliban allies.

According to Chindanand Rajghatta of Times of India (29 September
010), preparatory to his visit to India, Obama began to formulate

strategy that stipulated that India must solve the Kashmir issue
f it wanted a permanent seat at the UN Security Council. Thus,
lotwithstanding India’s categorical objections to the Kashmir issue
reing connected to AfPak, the Americans wanted to make such a
onnection obliquely. In the US perception, that would create a stable
'akistan which could then be persuaded to whole-heartedly commit its
nilitary to eradicating Al-Qaeda and Taliban from its territory and thus
acilitate the of US forces from that theatre. This line of argument
vas reportedly developed by Bruce Riedel, the reputed architect of the
\fPak strategy. However, Riedel and other US policy makers recognized
hat the biggest hurdle to a settlement with India would be the hard-line
‘akistani military. They expected the civilian leadership in Pakistan to
mbrace the deal but doubted if the army chief, General Kayani, would
ome on board. Except for Admiral Mullen, most other top US officials
relieved that Kayani was a hardliner intent on perpetuating hostile
elations with India. Kayani reportedly said, during a meeting with US
oficials, ‘I'll be the first to admit it, I'm India-centric’ (Rajghatta, 29
.eptember 2010).

The Indian government and media, however, expressed displeasure
t this initiative. Most opposition partics also opposed the American
ttempt to broker a deal between India and Pakistan. Having suffered

major defeat in the mid-term clections, Obama’s ability to assert
iimself was no doubt dented. As a result, he prudently avoided
roaching the Kashmir issue during his three-day visit to India. At a
pecial session of the Indian Parliament, Obama spoke of US-India ties
s an ‘indispensable and defining relationship of the 21st century’ He
cknowledged India’s contributions to science and backed India's
lemand for a permanent seat on the United Nations Security Council.
‘or his part, han Singh exp d great sati at the
srowing trust and confidence between the two countries.

Such an exchange of compliments was viewed with concern in
"akistan where the government and media complained about the
\mericans’ discriminatory treatment—in spite of the huge sacrifices




Pakistan had made in human lives and material wealth to participate in
the war against terrorism. The market for conspiracy theories was again
abuzz with fantastic scenarios of a forthcoming assault on Pakistani
sovereignty and integrity, and its nuclear arsenal, by the Christian West
and Hindu India.

ATTACK ON SHRINES

Terrorism within Pakistan continued to find new targets: this time
round it was the shrines of Sufis venerated by mainstream Barelvi-
Sunnis. Some of the famous shrines that were attacked by suicide
bombers included that of Data Sahib in Lahore (1 July 2010), Abdullah
Shah Ghazi in Karachi (7 October 2010), Baba Fariduddin Ganjshakar
at Pakpattan in eastern Punjab (25 October 2010), and Sakhi Sarwar at
Dera Ghazi Khan in southern Punjab (3 April 2011). Hundreds of
devotees have been killed in the mayhem. Attacks on lesser-known
shrines also took place. The Taliban and their affiliates were behind
these atrocities and claimed responsibility. However, one can argue that
extremism flourished because the state had patronized militant
organizations that had probably begun to act on their own and were out
of control. Such attacks were, undoubtedly, carried out to wipe out all
traces of deviation from the fanatical monotheism that the Taliban and
Al-Qaeda uphold as the true Islam. Ironically, in Pakistani textbooks on
history and Pakistan Studies, the advent of Islam in the subcontinent is
attributed to the peaceful efforts of the Sufis. The nihilism that the
Taliban represented seemed determined to put that line of argument
into doubt (Ahmed 2011).

CHINESE PREMIER'’S VISIT TO INDIA AND PAKISTAN

In December 2010, the Chinese prime minister, Wen Jiabao, visited
India and Pakistan. The Pakistani media gave a lot of attention to the
visit; friendship with China tends to be referred to in hyperbolic
terms—as higher than the mountains, deeper than the oceans, and so
on. Understandably, the Pakistani leaders were concerned as to how
such a friend could relate to a country that Pakistan had had constant
enmity with. The Chinese and Indian leaders agreed to increase their
trade to $100 billion by 2015. The Chinese also promised to rectify the
trade imbalance hetween them; China exported much more to, than it
imported from, India. The Chinese premier said that there was room



o both India and China to grow and. therefore, there was no need to
5 down the path of confrontation. He did not, however, make
ncessions on their border disputes. The Chinese were reticent about
1dias ambitions to become a per  anent member of the UN Security
ouncil

Later. when in Pakistan, Jiabao announced that Pakistan would
enefit from Chinese investments to the tune of $25 billion. He also
ssured Pakistan that his country would always be a reliable friend and
ould not let Pakistan down. The Chinese probably wanted to keep the.
ressure on India in case India got too cosy with the Americans. While
1 India. the Chinese also did not agree to refer to a Pakistani hand in
W Mumhm terrorist attacks of 26 November 2008. However, more
ant was that China advised India and Pakistan to resolve the
ashmir dispute through negotiations. On the other hand, it must be

:membered that China was no less worried than India about Pakistan
ecoming a springboard for a Taliban-type of jihad that could entail the
sstabilization of the Muslim-maijority province of Xiniiang (Ahmed, 4

wnuary 2011)



ASSASSINATION OF GOVERNOR SALMAN TASEER

In November 2010, a judge of a lower court in Sheikhupura, Punjab,
sentenced a poor Christian farmhand and a mother of four children,
Aasia Bibi, to death by hanging, and a fine of an equivalent of $1100 for
allegedly blaspheming against Prophet Muhammad (pBUH). This was
the first time that a woman had been sentenced to death for blasphemy.

d dably, the news made headlines all over the world. While
appeals for mercy began to be made from many quarters of the world,

luding the Pope, it g dented hysterical ife
of fanaticism within Pakman and exposed deep chasms within the
ruling PPP federal government. Punjab Governor Salman Taseer, a
stalwart of the PPP, criticized the death sentence. He wanted the
blasphemy law to be rescinded, or radically amended, to prevent it being
used arbitrarily. He met Aasia Bibi in jail, when she denicd having said
a word against the Prophet. She asserted that, because she had drunk
water from the same cup as some Muslim women, they had objected to
it. This had resulted in an altercation with the result that they falsely
accused her of blasphemy. Tascer believed her story and expressed
solidarity with her. He urged President Zardari to grant her a pardon,
which he did. On the other hand, Prime Minister Gilani, Home Minister
Rehman Malik, and Law Minister Babar Awan issued statements that
they were opposed to the blasphemy law being interfered with. The
Lahore High Court stayed the order. Lawyers who had recently brought
down Musharraf, and had been cclcbrated as harbingers of democracy,
now began to spearhead the call for Aasia Bibi's exccution. District bars,
one after the other, passed resolutions to that effect. Such a witch-hunt
by the legal fraternity was reflective of the limits of democracy in s
confessional state.  eanwhile, Ieaders of all the Sunni and Shia religious
parties and organizations formed a ittee to defend, what they
called, the honour and sanctity of the Prophet (News, 12 December
2010). Salman Taseer began to be demonized as a renegade ‘rom Islam
who had taken up cudgels on behalf of Aasia Bibi in order to please the
West. Calls were given for his assassination (Ahmed 2011).

On 4 January 2011, Salman Taseer was slain by his official bodyguard,
Malik Mumtaz Hussain Qadri, a police commando, while his other
bodyguards looked on. Later, Qadri proudly admitted his guilt on




television, and then in court, saying that Taseer deserved to die because
he had described the blasphemy law as d ian. When his death was
announced, hundreds of leading clerics issued fatwas (religious rulings)
that Taseer should not be given an Islamic burial. Munawwar Hasan,
the head of the leading fundamentalist party, the Jama'at-e-Islami,
blamed Taseer for provoking pious sensibilitics by describing the
blasphemy law in an uncharitable manner. The Islamists insisted that
Qadri should be honourably released because he had not committed a
crime but had done his duty, as required under Islamic law, to defend
the honour of the Prophet. Qadri proudly claimed, in the court, that he
was proud of having Killed Tasecr and that it was the duty of all
Muslims. who must punish those who commit sacrilege against the
Prophet of Islam. The court, however, charged him with murder. The
presiding judge took the position that laws on blasphemy were available
in the legal system—which precluded the private execution of alleged
blasphemers. The assassination of the governor put the degree to which
extremism has pervaded the security and police apparatuses into sharp
relief. Also, the mass hysteria that the clerics were able to generate is
indicative of the fact that violent behaviour has become intrinsic in the
wider society. Later, the anti-terrorism court found Qadri guilty of
murdering Taseer and sentenced him to death (Daily Times, 2 October
2011). However, immediatcly afterwards, the presiding judge, Pervez
Ali Shah, went on a visit to Muslim holy places and has remained
abroad. Aasia Bibi remains in prison thus far.

EXECUTION OF THE LEGENDARY COLONEL IMAM

On 24 January, the Nation reported that Sultan Amir Tarar, known as
Colonel Imam, had been killed by his abductors in North Waziristan.
It may be recalled that the colonel had gone there in the spring of
2010—along with former 151 agent Khalid Khawaja and o Dritish
journalist of Pakistani descent, Asad Qureshi. On 30 April 2010, former
151 agent Khalid Khawaja was brutally executed by their captors who
had described Khalid Khawaja as an American agent. Asad Qureshi was
released (presumably after paying a heavy ransom). Colonel Imam was
famous for having played a key rolc in the Afghan jihad, and was also
known as the mentor of Taliban leader Mullah Omar. Before his
execution, video footage—apparently recorded in July 2010—was
released by the abductors in which he was shown saying that his life
was in danger and urging the government to fulfil his kidnappers'



demand of freeing a number of prisoners held for terror «tivities
(Youtube, khalifaconcepts, 22 January 2011).

On his execution, the TTP released video footage showing Colonel
Imam being shot to death in the presence of the TTP chief, Hakmullah
Mehsud. Amid the raising of slogans chanting the glory of Islan, a man
shot Colonel Imam several times. Just before being killed, the colonel
could be seen on his knees in a humiliating posture. The real reison for
his execution was that the ransom money demanded by his kidvappers
had not been paid (Nation, 24 January 2011).

ASSASSINATION OF MINISTER FOR MINORITY AFFAI
SHAHBAZ BHATTI

Terrorizing religious minorities had become endemic in Pikistani
society. In 2009, hordes of fanatics attacked Christians in a village near
Gojra, in Punjab, on the grounds that they had burnt the Qiran—a
charge that the Christians denied but to no avail. Accorting to
established practice, the raiders were given theological cover by clerics
who described death for non-Muslims who committed such crmes as
the bounden duty of all Muslims. The Christians’ houses were setablaze,
and at least cight people died. Many more were injured; the whole
village was subjected to a rampage as the delirious extremiss went
around secking targets to vent their wrath on. On that occason, the
government acted with some determination. Prime Minister Gilani
personally visited the spot, and economic compensation was anmunced
for the victims. He ordered the minister for minority affairs, $ahbaz
Bhatti, to stay on and provide relicf to the beleaguered and traunatized
villagers. Shahbaz Bhatti, a Roman Catholic, described the police
response and later i igation as ineffective—foll g wlich he
began to reccive death threats. Some months later, when Aasia Fibi was
charged with blasphemy, Bhatti was very outspoken in his opjosition
to the continuation of the blasphemy law. After Taseer's murder, he
alone among the mi isters kept insisting that the blasphemy lawshould
be repealed.

In Islamabad, on 2 March 2011, armed men on motorcycles sopped
the vehicle in which Bhatti was returning after visiting his mothe. They
fired a hail of bullets, sparing the driver but aiming at Bhati who
succumbed quickly. Apparently, he had not been provided mazimum
security in spite of daily death threats being issued to him. Home
Mi ister Rehman Malik blamed the deceased for being negligenton his
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the same way as he had killed her husband (Dunya News, 8 February
2011).

A video clip showed that while Davis was being interrogated at the
police station, he was secretly recording the proceedings with a camera.
In the initial enquiry, he can be seen claiming that he was posted at the
US consulate general in Lahore, and that he had given his passport to
the first police officer to arrive at the scene of the shooting. The TV
commentator then asks Naseer Wagah—presumably a journalist
working for Dunya News—to give more details. Wagah asserts that
Davis cannot be a diplomat by any stretch of the imagination and that
he is a spy: a professional who killed the two men with deadly accuracy
and, having shot them through the windscreen of his vehicle and hit
them in their heads, then got out of the car, photographed them, and
then calmly waited in his car until the police arrived. Wagah comments
that Davis had a variety of guns in his car, as well as more than 100
rounds of ammunition and, both, still and video cameras (Dunya News,
9 February 2011). In another clip, dated 15 February 2011, Davis can
be seen claiming to be a diplomat and refusing to answer questions
during police gation. When the i tells him that he is
not a diplomat, Davis retorts by saying that he is not going to answer
any further questions and gets up from his chair waving his hand at the
interrogator in a dismissive manner (Dunya News, 15 February 2011).

While such bizarre events were taking place in Pakistan, the United
States issued a threat that it would break off contact with Pakistan, expel
the Pakistan ambassador, Husain Haqgani, and cut off aid (Dawn,
9 February 2011). A meeting scheduled between Clinton and Foreign
Minister Shah Meh d Qureshi was lled. Later, the Obama
administration refuted that any of these moves were contemplated.
There was no doubt that the Americans were resorting to blatantly
crude methods to extract compliance from the Pakistan government.
Given Pakistan’s chronic economic and military dependence on the
United States and other foreign powers, for which it had been renting
out its services to them, it was equally clear that the issue would not be
decided on the basis of international law and diplomatic praxis. A weak
elected government, that itself was dependent on US support, and a
military that had endemically cultivated American patronage meant that
the Americans would prevail.

The problem was the fierce reaction of the Pakistani people towards
Davis' cowboy bravada. Right-wing and ultra-nationalist media and
religious parties demanded that Davis be tried in court for double




murder. With few exceptions, even liberals raised their brows over
American arrogance and flagrant disrespect for Pakistan's sovercignty.
Columnists wondered how a foreigner could go around Pakistan’s most
famous city bearing fircarms, shooting Pakistani citizens dead on a busy
road, and then calmly taking photographs of the dying men.

The government's response was inconsistent and contradictory.
While the powerful home ministry headed by Rehman Malik affirmed
that Davis carried a diplomatic passport, Foreign Minister Qureshi
denied that Davis enjoyed any such status—for which he was penalized

v: a cabinet reshuffle took place, the portfolio of forcign
minister was taken away from him. and he was offered another mi istry
which he refused. Left in the wilderness, Qureshi retaliated by criticizing
the government for not standing up to the Americans. He stated that
Clinton had tricd to force him to confirm that Davis enjoyed diplomatic
immunity but he had refused (Daily Tomes, 13 February). The PPP
machinery went into action: Qureshi was

ibiected to g severe
reprimand by Zardari and Gilan loyalists. Kavani and some other top
generaly expressed disple. that t United States had planted
hundreds of agents in Pakistan, who were gathering intelligence without
informing the Pakistam orties. The hine taken by the civiban
government was that the isue would be decided o court of law in
accordance with Pakistans laws and legal procedure

Senator John Kerry, the former Democratic presidential candidate
and the architect of the Kerey - Lugar bill, arrived in Pakistan. He gave
a press conference in Lahore on 15 February where he emphasized the
importance of the US-Pakistan relationship. He regretted the loss of
lives and expressed his sympathies to the families of the men. However,
his main thrust was that Davis was a diplomat and, since Pakistan had
igned the Geneva Convention of 1961, he enjoyed diplomatic immunity
according to Article 31 of that instrument of international law
(YouTube) Kerry also met the main opposition leader, Mian Nawaz
Sharif, who also took the line that the issue would be decided in
accordance with Pakistani law. The Jamaat-c-Islami's amir, Munawwar
Hasan, denounced all suggestions that Davis enjoyed diplomatic
immunity. In an extraordinary move, President Obama issued a
statement from the White House that Davis was a diplomat and should
be released because he emoyed immunity. The TTP warned Pakistan
not to release Davis, describing him as a spy (Dawn, 16 February 2011).

US security expert Stephen Cohen took part in a Pakistani talk-show,
on NDTV, in which he argued that it was obvious that Davis was not




an ordinary diplomat as diplomats did not normally carry uns and
shoot people. The lack of awareness of his presence and activities was
also indicative of the Pakistani intelligence services’ faibres. He
asserted, however, that such drastic measures were presumally being
taken because Pakistan was unable to curb and control the errorism
that was striking at US and NATO targets in Afghanistan, and generally
creating insecurity in the AfPak and the wider South Asim region
(NDTV, 23 February 2011). Such a line of argument bliquely
conﬁrmtd the suspicion that the CIA hxd been organizing its own

hering, and Davis' sh g of the two Pikistanis
exposed the ongoing war among the agencles that had been joing on
for quite some time in Pakistan. From the American point of view,
Pakistan had been procrastinating for too long by not strikiig at the
Hagqqani and other terrofist networks despite receiving huge amounts
of US aid.

In any event, the story of why he had shot the two men :hanged.
Instead of their being armed robbers, the media reported that tiey were
ISI operatives who were shadowing Davis to keep track of his inlawful
movements. He was accused of being involved in a sinister conspiracy
to destabilize Pakistan. Such clandestine activities included furding the
TTP and its affiliates in Punjab which, it was widely believd, were
behind the suicide bombings and other acts of terrorism in lakistan.
The ultimate aim of the destabilization conspiracy was to gethold of
Pakistan's nuclear arsenal, and thus render it militarily ineffecive and
weak. In other words, it was alleged that Davis was the key praagonist
in a plot to break-up Pakistan.

Even US officials revealed that Davis was a contractor ~orking
for the CIA. An unnamed ISI official stated that Davis had :ontacts
in FATA and knew both the men he had shot dead (Dailr Times,
9 February 2011). The Dunya News TV channel showed a clip of
photographs taken by Davis, of sensitive areas in and around Lahore
close to the India-Pakistan border. It was also shown that of themen he
had killed, one could be seen carrying a gun in his hand, suggesing that
Davis had shot him in self-defence The media reported that cata had
been retrieved from Davis' phones and from the sophisticatec Global
Positing System or satellite phone device he had in his vehicle (YouTube,
11 February). Such satellite technology helped him determine lications
with accuracy. Davis had been to Islamabad, Lahore, Peshawar,and the
tribal areas and was involved in the drone attacks that had beei taking
place in the region.




Davis' arrest. Damage limitation activities had started immediately after
his arrest. At that point, media discussions also started on Davis paying
‘blood money'—as is permitted under the prevalent Islamic law—to the
victims in order to secure his release. Such a procedure has been
criticized by human rights NGOs as it can be manipulated to free
culprits through monetary inducements; and, in the case of honour
killings, by the family pardoning the culprits. Some clerics argued that
the Islamic law of gisas and dlyul did not apply in Davis' case. The

prudently d the ‘principled’ position, that the
|ssut would be decided according to legal procedure. On 16 March, a
Pakistani court ordered Davis to be relcased after the relatives of the
dead men attended the court—convened in a prison in Lahore—and
received blood money.

The compensation, reportedly some $2.3 million, was sufficiently
attractive. The lawyers representing the families of the victims later
revealed that the Pakistani authorities excluded them from the
negotiations and that the deal was closed in utter secrecy. American
pressure had prevailed, notwithstanding the rage that was cvident at
demonstrations and protest marches all over Pakistan. Clinton denied
that the US government had paid any blood money (The News
International, 17 March 2011). It appears that it was arranged behind-
the-scencs, ostensibly through non-official channels. There was a hue
and a cry about Pakistan having bartered away its sovercignty and
national honour. But, the fuss could not conceal the fact that the
relationship between the United States and Pakistan, since a very long
time, had been one of dependence—where America’s vital interests were
concerned, it could extract compliance from the latter.

i
} It is interesting to note that the drone attacks were disrupted after
|

DRONE ATTACKS RESUMED, PRESSURE ON PAKISTAN
INTENSIFIES

The day after Davis was released, a drone attack took place in North
Waziristan, killing 40 pcople—apparently civilians—who had gathered
to discuss some routine matters. The incident greatly embarrassed the
Pakistani blish as it fested an utter disregard by the
Americans for public sentiments which, at that particular moment in
time, were highly inflamed against the United States. The ISPR
announced that General Kayani strongly condemned the drone attack
as it had caused the death of innocent Pakistani citizens. He reportedly




stated that such attacks would not be acceptable (17 Mara 2011).
Ambassador Munter was d to the Foreign Office to eceive a
strongly worded protest. Ostensibly, the Pakistan Air Force wasordered
to prepare for action in case Pakistani airspace was violatel again.
Drone attacks had been taking place since 2004, and it wa widely
known that they took off from the Shamsi Air Force Base in Balichistan.

It is doubtful if each drone flight was approved by the lakistani
authorities. In this particular case, the attack must have takn place
without any consultation with the Pakistanis. Given the highly nflamed
public opinion in Pakistan, it is very unlikely that the miliary had
acquiesced to the attack. However, as usual, some conciliatory uterances
were made in Washington DC, only to be followed by a cincerted
chorus of top officials questioning Pakistan’s it ions and ojjecti
in not going all out to eli inate terrorist enclaves in North Wiziristan
and elsewhere.

Typical of such tactics was the press conference Admiral Mulen gave
in hil DC, at which he ked that it was ‘hugely inportant’
that Pakistani forces take action against militants in North Wairistan.
He praised Pakistan’s willingness to fight insurg Isewhere bt noted
that the campaign needed to move to North Waziristan where nembers
of the Al-Qaeda and Haqqani networks were based. It was repoted that
he said: ‘They have lost thousands of soldiers and thousands of :ivilians
in a very impressive counter insurgency paign to clear Swit valley
and the other areas. Then, he went on to express an understanding for
Pakistan's concerns about preserving its influence in neighrouring
Afghanistan—so that the latter did not become a proxy for lidia and
remained friendly with Pakistan (Dawn, 18 March 2011).

SOME REGIONAL PEACE INITIATIVES

Cricket diplomacy between Pakistan and India was in action orce again
when Prime Minister Gilani accepted his counterpart Maimohan
Singh's invitation and visited Mohali, in the Indian Punjab, to atend the
semi-final between their two countries’ teams in the Cricket Wald Cup
Tournament 2011. Thousands of Pakistanis were granted visas b attend
the match. As before, they were received with warmth and geneosity—
just as Pakistanis had played host to Indians on similar occasios in the
past. Both leaders pledged to take the peace process forward, ani agreed
to set up a hotline on terrorism so that both sides couli share
intelligence. The Foreign Service bureaucracies were, thus, to le set in




JENERAL PASHA VisiTs CIA HEADQUARTERS

fith regard to Pakistan-US relations, DG ISl General Pasha and his
elegation met the CIA head. Leon Panetta, and his men at CIA
eadquarters in Virginia on 11 April. Given the ficrce reaction that took
lace when Davis was released, Pasha took an ostensibly tough line
weatening that greater control would be exercised on CIA covert
ctivities in Pakistan in the future. The Americans were told that a
»rious breach of trust had occurred, and a ‘clear code of conduct’
eeded 10 be devised. Pasha asked the CIA for a complete list of its
mployees and contractors in Pakistan, and made it clear that some may
e asked 10 leave. From the American point of view, this could entail
astrictions on drone attacks taking off from the Pakistani bases. The
JIA carried out 118 drone strikes in Pakistan in 2010—more than in
Il the previous years of the programme combined—according to
wdependent estimates (Daily Times, 13 April 2011). The CIA confirmed
aat it had 300 men in Pakistan training the Pakistanis on counter-
»rrorism (Daily Times, 14 April 2011). That, of course, referred to those
hose presence in Pakistan had been approved through the proper
hanncls.

\ HIGH-POWERED DELEGATION VisiTs KABUL

n mid-April, a high-powered delegation consisting of Prime Minister
silani, COAS General Kayani, and Director General ISI Licutenant
seneral Pasha visited Kabul in mid- April. As a result of the talks that
rere held, it was agreed that a joint commission would carry forward
he reconciliation process, with the approval of the United States,
ollowing the withdrawal of foreign troops from Afghanistan. The
\fghan president, Hamid Karzai, hoped that the commission would find
way of reaching a peace deal with the Taliban (Daily Times, 17 April
or).

JCATHING CRITICISM OF ISI

uch diverse moves did not mean that the US had relented in its aim of
ompelling Pakistan to take decisive action against terrorist networks it



believed were inimical to its vital interests. In fact, the ante wasupped.
According to a long report—‘Mullen launches diatribe against the IS'—
filed by Dawn’s Bagir Sajjad Syed following an interview with £dmiral
Michael Mullen in Islamabad, the latter stated that the 5I was
protecting the Haqqani and other terrorist networks in North
‘Waziristan and elsewhere, and that such a relationship was at tie core
of ‘Pakistan’s problematic relationship with the United States. H: noted
that the ISI's relationship with the Haqqani group was unaccepuble to
the United States. He indicated that the CIA would continue to nonitor
the situation in Pakistan through a strong physical presence, aid that
drone attacks on the Haqqani group in North Waziristan would
continue until the ISI dissociated itself from the Haqqaris. He
reportedly said: ‘I have a sacred obligation to do all I can to mate sure
that the network is no longer able to support insurgents in Afghaistan.
He depicted a destabilizing scenario in which several terror sroups
would become increasingly interlinked, and said, ‘What I worry about
all these organisations, whether it is Haqqani network, Al-Qaed, JuD,
LeT  there is a syndication which has occurred in the regio here
over the course of last three years, which is more and more worisome

and i ingly so TTP, under [Haki ] Mehsud, has esyoused
aspirations outside the region’
Mullen reil d that such prosp led to no lusions 2xcept

that ‘this area . . . the border area between Pakistan and Afghanitan is
the epicentre of terrorism in the world’ During his interview, or more
than one occasion, he suggested a close collaboration between India,
Afghanistan, and Pakistan to deal with the terror threat emanating from
the tribal areas. Some mitigating remarks were also made pnising

kistan's ¢ ism efforts elsewhere. He stressed that, cespite
the challenges in bilateral ties, ‘the military-to-military rehtions
between the US and Pakistan had remained strong’ (Dawn, 21 April
2011).

For his part, General Kayani rebuffed such categorical accustions
by the United States’ top soldier. He vehemently rejected the ngative
propaganda that Pakistan was not doing enough and that the Palistani
Army lacked clarity on the way forward. He asserted that the ‘wmy’s
ongoing operations are a testimony of our national resolve to lefeat
terrorism’ (Dawn, 21 April 2011). Another drone attack took phce in
North Waziristan the next day, killing at least 21 people inchding
children. The Americans, it seemed, were determined to continue with
their independent efforts to knock terrorist bases out (Dawn, 22 April




)11). More embarrassing material surfaced a few days later when a US
ilitary classified document was published by the New York Times in
hich the ISI was described, in 2007, as ‘a terrorist support entity’
dawn, 25 April 2011). On 26 April, terrorists attacked Pakistan Navy
1ses carrying personnel. Four people were killed and 56 injured. The
TP claimed responsibility and said that such attacks would continue
long as Pakistan’s armed forces killed their own people at the behest

the Americans (Daily Times, 27 April 2011).

The Obama administration submitted its biannual report on the
tuation in Afghanistan and Pakistan to Congress, grimly stating that
iere is ‘no clear path toward defeating the insurgency in Pakistan,
2spite the unprecedented and sustained deployment of over 147,000
*akistani| forces’ (Landay, 5 April 2011). The report expressed concern
sout Pakistan's failure to sustain counterinsurgency operations against
ilitants in the country’s northwest, noting that Pakistani forces had
nducted three major operations in the Mohmand agency in the last
vo years—though the unclassificd report made no explicit calls for
irther operations, especially in troubled North Waziristan. The report
so called Pakistan’s worsening economic situation ‘the greatest threat
» Pakistan’s stability over the medium term’ (New York Times).

JPERATION GERONIMO

1the carly hours of 2 May 2011, the United States finally found Osama
in Laden’s hideout in Pakistan’s garrison town of Abbottabad. US
pecial Forces flew into the compound of the large building and. within
0 minutes, killed the iconic head of Al-Qacda. His dead body, along
ith those of his Pakistani protectors, were loaded onto a US helicopter
nd flown out of Pakistani territory. The hunt had begun even before
11 as Al-Qaeda had hit US targets in both the United States and
lobally. Howevet, following the slaughter of thousands of its citizena
1 the September 2001 attacks, the search for Osama bin Laden became
top security priority for the world's leading superpower. His followers
ad created a mystique around him—as the great hero of Islam who
‘ould restore the glory of Islam through armed struggle. Bin Laden
accessfully cluded his pursuers until he was traced by US Special
orces—who had been rehearsing for such a raid for several weeks in a
rototype construction at a US base.

The first public announcement about the raid was made on television
y President Barack Obama. In a long and carefully prepared speech,




he announced that, shortly after taking office, he had directed tie CIA
director, Leon Panetta, to make ‘the killing or capture of bin Lalen the
top priority of our war against al Qaeda, even as we contined our
broader efforts to disrupt, dismantle, and defeat his nctwork Fe went
on to say, among other things:

Then, last August, after years of pai taking work by our inteligence
community, | was briefed on a possible lead to bin Laden. It was br from
certain, and it took many months to run this thread to ground I met
repeatedly with my national security team as we developed more infomation
about the possibility that we had located bin Laden hiding within a
compound deep inside of Pakistan. And finally, last week, I dctermited that
we had enough intelligence to take action, and authorized an opention to
get Osama bin Laden and bring him to justice.

Today, at my direction, the United States launched a targeted ojeration
against that compound in Abbottabad, Pakistan. A small team of Anrericans
carried out the operation with extraordinary courage and capabiity. No
Americans were harmed. They took care to avoid civilian casualties. After a
fire fight, they killed Osama bin Laden and took custody of his bod.. . .

Over the years, I've repeatedly made clear that we would take action
within Pakistan if we knew where bin Laden was. That is what we'v: done.
But it's important to note that our counterterrorism cooperatimn with
Pakistan helped lead us to bin Laden and the compound where 1e was
hiding. Indeed, bin Laden had declared war against Pakistan as wll, and
ordered attacks against the Pakistani people.

The very next morning, Pakistani experts on the various telvision
channels discussed the assassination of bin Laden. The majorit; were
of the opinion that it was not possible, under any circumstances, to
carry out such a mission without the cooperation of the Palistani
authorities. The day dragged on but neither the prime minister ror the
president addressed the nation, to take it into confidence abait the
official standpoint. After some time, however, the Pakistan F;relgn
Office made a brief that the operation had been
exclusively by the Americans, suggesting that Pakistan had played no
partin it (Dunya News, 2 May 2011; Dawn, 3 May 2011).

The idea that the Americans stood no chance of bringing ther men
into Pakistan in helicopters without Pakistani involvement was dipelled
some time later in the day. A live transmission of a press confirence
given by Deputy National Security Advisor on Security to the White
House John Brennan provided other details about the operation. He
categorically denied that the Pakistanis had been informed abast the




overt opcration. It was an exclusive US commando raid on the
ompound in which bin Laden was suspected of hiding. The US Special
orces men—American Navy Seals—had flown in from Afghanistan in
vo hclicopters. They were joined by two more US aircraft already
:ationed in Pakistan. He stated that Icads to bin Laden’s hideout were
»und when US analysts and agents located one of the Al-Qaeda leader’s
ouriers in Abbottabad.

The courier had previously been a detaince at the Guantanamo
etention facility. Thereafter, sustained surveillance of his movements—

n the basis that bin Laden needed to communicate with his comrades
lsewh

led to ¢ ive circ ial evidence that bin Laden
ras, in all probability, hiding inside the compound. Brennan said that
was inconceivable that bin Laden did not have a support system in
1€ country. and suggested that he had been living there for the last five
r six years. He, however, did not claborate on whether, by that. he
1eant support from the government or, more specifically, the military
nd ISL. Besides bin Laden. three other men and a woman were Killed,
acluding the courier and his brother. a son of bin Laden, and onc of
is wives.

Bin Laden had apparently been living in the building with two of his
sives and six of his children. There were other children there too.
irennan said that the whole operation took just 40 minutes and that it
vas followed, minute-by-minute, by Obama and his close advisers who
vere privy to the operation. The US aircraft had left Pakistani air space
«efore the Pakistanis could react. Although one helicopter was lost, as
ts rotors had struck the wall of the compound, Brennan asserted that
10 US troops were lost and everybody returned 1o base safely. Moreover,
hey collected whatever documents were available on the premises.

Brennan's explanation was a corrective of the initial statement by
dbama in which he had suggested cooperation with Pakistan in the
carch for bin Laden. Brennan informed the audience that hin Laden's
ody was flown out to Afghanistan, and then to a US ship in the
\rabian Sea, where, after Islamic rites, he was consigned to the sea
BBC live news broadcast (YouTube, 2 May 2011).

In Pakistan, sinister conspiracy theories were pedalled in talk-shows.
The fact that the Americans had not shown bin Laden’s dead body was
nterpreted as proof that someonc ¢lse had been killed or that nothing
1ad happened and the whole drama was a charade. So-called security
:xperts, such as Zaid Hamid, Orriya Magbool Jan, and Piracha, were of
he opinion that the fagade had been masterminded to enable Obama




to win the elections in 2011. As expected, they vehemently asserted that
the real plot against Pakistan was only just beginning to unfold—the
penultimate objective was to capture Pakistan's nuclear assets; the
ultimate goal was to break up Pakistan. Party to the grand conspiracy
against Pakistan were not just the Americans and their NATO minions,
but also Indias RAW and Israel's Mossad. Former Ambassador Zafar
Hilaly, however, described the denial of Osama’s death as delusional
(Dunya News, 3 May 2011).

The Indian reaction was expectedly harsh against Pakistan. The
official position was put forth by the Home Ministry: ‘This fact [bin
Laden's presence in Pakistan] underlines our concern that terrorists
belonging to different organizations find sanctuary in Pakistan. We
believe that the perpetrators of the Mumbai terror attack, including the
controllers and handlers of the terrorists who actually carried out the
attack, continue to be sheltered in Pakistan’ (Times of India, - May 2011).

CIA Director Leon Panetta presented further clarification of why
Pakistan had not been taken into confidence before the raid on Osama
bin Ladens compound was carried out. He stated candidy that they
feared that their Pakistani counterparts might alert the Al-Qaeda chief.
Some further details of the plan were revealed by him. He stated that
the options presented to President Barack Obama included bombing
the compound with B-2 bombers or firing a ‘direct shot’ with cruise
missiles. Air strikes were ruled out because of the risk of ahigh degree
of collateral damage in the form of civilian casualties. He ‘urther said
that there was no foolproof evidence, such as satellite phctographs of
bin Laden, available to the Obama team that had masterminded the raid
(The News International, 3 May 2011).

The ISI, on the other hand, came up with the explanaton that the
largish house where bin Laden had been staying was chected in 2003
but nothing suspicious was found. Thereafter, no further checks were
carried out. However, on 3 May. the BBC's correspondent, Aleem
Magbool, was seen on television talking to a young man wao said that
the security services checked the ID cards of people in the neighbour-
hood of bin Laden’s hideout on a daily basis, especially in the evenings.
More details surfaced when other foreign correspondents poke to the
neighbours. One said that a goat was delivered to the housein a red car
every day. Also, the children who played cricket in the area, and
sometimes hit their ball into the compound, were never riturned the
ball but were given a generous sum of money. That al this had



appened without the Pakistan military knowing anything about the
zcupants of the building became increasingly incredible.

Former DG ISI Lieutenant General Asad Durrani, and the well-
nown commentator, Professor Akbar S. Ahmed, were interviewed by
1e BBC. Both ruled out the possibility that the authorities would have
ad no knowledge about bin Laden’s presence in Abbottabad. General
urrani even argued that the actual operation by the American Navy
eals must have received some ground support from Pakistan. He
cplained that Pakistan could not possibly own up to its participation
1 the operation because that could inflame public opinion in Pakistan.
retending that the Americans carried out the raid without any prior
otice to Pakistan was more acceplahle than admlsslon of comphcnly

However, the Obama ini ined that
akistan had not been informed about the raid at all. Widespread
‘ustration and anger was expressed in the US media, and even by
:ading Democrats and Republicans, about Pakistan harbouring a
srrorist. South Florida Cong Allen West exp d the view
1at the government of Pakistan may have aided and abetted Osama bin
aden’s lengthy hideout from US forces. He insisted that, unless the
‘nited States got a clear explanation of what Pakistani officials knew
bout bin Laden’s whereabouts, all aid to the country should be stopped.
[e went on to say that Pakistan may have actually helped bin Laden
lude capture, to keep the $20 billion of aid flowing since the 9/11
ttacks (Daily Times, 5 May 2011). Further information provided by the
imericans indicated that bin Laden did not put up a resistance. That
et in motion a discussion on whether killing him constituted an
nlawful act under international law. The US attorney-gencral asserted
hat, by ordering a terrorist attack on the United States, bin Laden had
ommitted an act of war and, therefore, was a legitimate target for
limination.

Further twists to the incident occurred: the Americans decided not
o show bin Laden’s body on television, on the grounds that it had been
lisfigured because of the gunshots; they claimed that, after he had been
jiven a proper Islamic funeral, his body had been consigned to the
ea—instead of buried on land—to prevent his admirers making his
wrial site a place of pilgrimage (Daily Times, 3 May 2011). Not
urprisingly, the rumour mills in Pakistan began to churn out conspiracy
heories, including: bin Laden had dicd a long time ago and the United
itates had carried out the charade as a face-saving measure to hide the
act that it had been roundly defeated in Afghanistan and Pakistan; bin




Laden had been taken captive and was alive. Later, the Anericans
released video clips showing him in his hideout—in which helooked
much older than in his previous photographs. Some time later, A-Qaeda
confirmed that bin Laden had indeed been killed in the raid caried out
by the US Navy Seals on Abbottabad. Hard-core Islamists held funeral
prayers all over Pakistan, followed by protest marches and slogans
threatening to avenge his assassination (Dawn, 7 May 2011).

Meanwhile, in a belated response to the raid on bin Laden’s rideout
in Abbottabad, the Pakistan Foreign Office expressed displeasire that
Pakistani sovereignty had been breached and that such acts lid not
constitute acceptablc behaviour. Prime Minister Gilani, on a visit to
France, took the position that Pakistan's failure to know abwt bin
Laden’s whereabouts was a failure of the international community as
well—to gather reliable intelligence (Daily Times, 5 May 2011).

On the other hand, one can argue that the Pakistan government had
facilitated the search for bin Laden and other terrorists by issuing
hundreds of visas to CIA agents and other elements. Those people
moved around more or less freely and conducted their covert adivities
in total secrecy. This was amply illustrated by the Raymonc Davis
incident that took place earlier in the year. What is more likelyis that
Zardari and Gilani, and other ministers in the federal govenment
including Interior Minister Malik, had been kept in the dark. It s to be
remembered that protecting bin Laden began long before tle PPP
government came to power.

Later, the Pakistani military and ISI chiefs appeared before Paistan’s
National Assembly where they were quizzed about how the Amricans
could violate Pakistani sovereignty with such ease. The Nuional

bly passed a resoluti demning the US raid on Abbstabad
as a violation of Pakistani territory. It was regretted that while 30,000
Pakistan citizens—men, women, and children—and more tha 5000
military personnel have lost their lives since Pakistan joincd the var on
terror, those unique sacrifices were ignored by the world (Th News
International, 14 May 2011). Just two days later, the US launchd two
missile strikes killing seven people in North Waziristan. Meaiwhile,
General Pasha warned India not to contemplate emulating the LS’ raid
on Abbottabad because it would be met with retaliation in equal
measure (Hindustan Times, 15 May 2011). In a surprising deviation
from the standard response of the military and security fores, of
directing their wrath against India, the opposition leader, Nawazsharif,
urged Pakistanis not to treat India as their ‘biggest enemy’ He caled for




reappraisal of relations with India ‘if we want to go forward and
rogress’ and stated that if Pakistan did that, the government could
:duce its expenditure by 50 per cent (Dawn, 17 May 2011).

More surprises were in store. A top Pakistani air force commander
ld the Pakistani media that the Shamsi airfield was under the control
['the United Arab Emirates, and was used by Arabs coming to Pakistan
r falconry—this I first learnt from Christine Fair in July 2009. That,
owever, did not detract from the fact that the Americans had been
sing it since 2001, and had used it on multiple occasions to launch
rone attacks (Dawn, 19 May 2011). The Dawn of 20 May published
>me very embarrassing US cables, that it acquired exclusively from
vikiLeaks, which suggested that General Kayani had, contrary to his
ublic posture, been urging the Americans for more drone attacks. Such
2quests could be traced as far back as 2008. The next day, more cables
'ere revealed which indicated that the US had obtained considerable
ititude in carrying out undercover activities in Pakistan. Ambassador
ctterson dated such concessions from carly 2009. They included
ntelligence fusion centres’ comprising Pakistani and American
anctionaries in different parts of Pakistan, and joint operations
wnched by those fusion centres (Dawn, 21 May 2011). The Pakistan
wrmy, forthwith, refuted such allegations as groundless. This was
Mowed by some US military trainers being asked to leave Pakistan.

TALIBAN RETALIATION

\fter the killing of Osama bin Laden, fears that revenge attacks would
ollow were proven correct as a number of vicious assaults took place
n the FATA region and elsewhere, but the full impact of such a fury
vas felt on Sunday 22 May when terrorists attacked a Pakistan naval
wase, PNS Mchran. They destroyed two naval surveillance aircraft, ten
ecurity personnel were killed. including one naval officer, three navy
ommandos, three naval fircmen, a sailor, and two paramilitary soldicrs;
ifteen others were wounded. At the time, US ‘contractors’ and some
“hinese engincers were also present at the site (Dawn, 23 May 2011).
The TTP claimed responsibility for the attack and threatened more.
The attack on the naval base sent shivers down the spines of defence
inalysts in the West and India, as questions were raised about whether
’ahsuns nuclear arsenal was in safe hands. The BBC's defence and
d Jonathan Marcus, reported that it was
‘uspeclcd that Paluslan possessed 70 to 80 nuclear bombs which, if they

cor



were to fall into the hands of the Taliban, could spell unimginable
disaster (Marcus, 23 May 2011). Hillary Clinton told the Pakistais that
anti-Americanism and conspiracy theories would not help tham, and
she urged greater cooperation as it was in the interest of both ciuntries
(Dawn, 27 May 2011). The month of May ended with the shockiig news
that the body of a gifted 40-year old Pakistani journalist, Saleem
Shahzad, was found near Islamabad. He had been abducted sone days
earlier and his body bore marks of torture. It was later reveaed that
Shahzad had found evidence that an Al-Qaeda cell in the Pakistm Navy
had facilitated the attack on the Mehran naval base. Apparently the IS
had issued him a warning for one of his reports that Pakisen had
released Mullah Baradar, an associate of Taliban leader Mullal Omar
(Syed, 3 june 2011). Later, the authorities arrested a serving bigadier
and three majors for allegedly having links with the Hizb ut-Talrir—an
organization banned in Pakistan (BBC News, 23 June 2011).

OBAMA ANNOUNCES TROOP WITHDRAWAL
FROM AFGHANISTAN

Although the United States had announced a phased withdnwal of
troops from Afghanistan—to begin in July 2011 and be complted by
the end of 2014—a statement on how it would begin had ni been
made. In the aftermath of the successful raid on the compaind in
Abbottabad where Osama bin Laden had been hiding, and with the
death of the most hated man in America, President Obama fownd the
opportunity to make known his plans for the withdrawal. On 3 May,
he addressed the American people and told them that, begiming in
July, 10,000 US troops would return by the end of the year and33,000
by the next summer. Afghan security forces would take over, ad the
US mission in Afghanistan would change from a combat ote to a
support one. The transition would be completed by 2014, wien the
Afghans would be responsible for their own security. Obama sid that
the United States was ready to carry out more assaults against aiy safe
havens harbouring terrorists, and added that no other country wa more
endangered by violent extremists than Pakistan (Daily Times, 4 June
2011).



RESSURE ON PAKISTAN CONTINUED

mid all this, standard practices continued: the United States warning
ikistan to participate seriously and sincerely in the war against terror;
ikistan complaining against such callous and apathetic behaviour of
e Americans; then some US top official stating that Pakistan was
dispensible to the war on terror and had rendered meritorious
rvices and suffered great loss of life as a result. The ISI arrested five
ikistani informants who had allegedly been feeding information to the
1A before the raid that killed bin Laden. One of the detainces was
‘ported to be a Pakistani army major whom officials said copied
zence plates of cars visiting bin Laden’s hideout in Abbottabad. The
akistan Army. however, denied that a major was among those arrested
Jaily Times, 16 June 2011). Relations further deteriorated when
akistan decided to send some military trainers back to the US, while
top US official alleged that the ISI was involved in the murder of
aleem Shahzad.

Nevertheless, as paymaster, the Americans expected Pakistan to
eliver on Al-Qaeda. Thus, US Secretary of Defence Leon Panetta told
1e Pakistanis that they must go after bin Laden's successor, Al Zawahiri
Daily Times, 10 July 2011). The next day, the Obama administration
nnounced that one-third of the annual $2 billion military aid—$800
rillion—was being withheld because of differences that had arisen
etwcen the two governments over how to conduct the war on terror.
akistan retorted by saying that it had previously requested the United
tates to direct money to non-military projects; later, an official
tatement was issued stating that it did need American money to fight
errorism. Some experts immediately warned that Pakistan may move
loser to the Chinese—something the Americans have always been
oncerned about as they need to maintain consistent pressure on
’akistan to realize their goals beyond the extermination of Osama bin
.aden,

Despite the apparently deteriorating relations, US drones fired a
rarrage of missiles over several days killing forty-cight people in North
ind South Waziristan (Daily Times, 13 July 2011). Thus, there was no
et-up in the American resolve to go after the terrorists they suspected
of carrying out raids on their troops in Afghanistan. However, when the
>akistan Supreme Court released the Lashkar-e-Jhangvi's Malik Ishaq—
iccused of masterminding the attack on the Sri Lankan cricket team in
March 2009—on bail, the action once again underlined the argument



that people accused of serious terrorist crimes are able to rceive a
sympathetic treatment in the country. The credibility of the hkistani
political and legal systems, therefore, remains a matter of coicern to
the international community (Daily Times, 15 July 2011).

On 7 August 2011, RJJ. Hillhouse, a well-connected Amerian who
has specialized on the ‘outsourcing of the war on terror" hiring
specialized firms such as Blackwater to carry out some tasks rdated to
combating terrorism—published a story on her blog entitled ‘B Laden
turned in by Informant—Courier was Cover Story. In it, she has
claimed that the United States obtained the vital information alout bin
Laden from a Pakistani intelligence officer who came forward ts collect
the $25 million prize as well as the right to settle in the Unitel States
with his family. Allegedly, that officer told the Americans tha Saudi
Arabia had been paying the Pakistanis to shelter and keep Osima bin
Laden under house arrest in Abbottabad (The Spy who Biled Me,
7 August 2011).

On 8 August 2011, The New Yorker published a detailed reoort by
Nicholas Schimdle, ‘Getting bin Laden: What happened that iight in
Abbottabad?’ in which he argued that Pakistan's air defences anc radars
were all fixed eastwards towards India and, therefore, were disadwntaged
in picking up any signals from the US helicopters entering Pkistani
airspace from Afghani According to Schimdle, bin Ladn was
unarmed; the decision had already been taken that he should bckilled.

NAWAZ SHARIF’S ADDRESS AT SAFMA CONFERENTE

On 13 August 2011, Nawaz Sharif, made a complete brea with
orthodox Pakistani foreign policy thinking when, while spealing to
Indian journalists and intellectuals who were in Lahore to atend a
conference arranged by the South Asian Media Association (SAFMA),
he said that the people of Pakistan and India were the samein all
essential senses—culture, food, habits, sensibilities, and aesthetcs. He
deplored the fact that his efforts, as prime minister, to improve rdations
with India were subverted by Pervez Musharraf who had stared the
Kargil misadventure. He praised the Indian leaders, especialy Atal
Bihari Vajpayee, for sincerely wanting good relations with Pakisan. He
said that Pakistan and India would gain enormously through trde and
commerce, and the solution to the Kashmir problem would befound
in an overall improvement of relations between the two natiais. He

inded up his speech by pointing out that the concept of God, gven in



ie Quran, was that He was the blesser of all human beings and not just
luslims. Therefore, it was the duty of Pakistan to wish its immediate
sighbour, India, the best. He believed that people on the other side
so nurtured si ilar sentiments (SAFMA, Youtube, 13 August 2011).

'HE SCOURGE OF TERRORISM

akistan's involvement in the so-called ‘war on terror' has been
evastating in terms of loss of life, destruction of property worth
illions of dollars, and the proliferation of terrorism within Pakistan.
akistan has been the major victim of extremism and terrorism. This
as not been fully realized and appreciated by the foreign powers that
»cus on how it affects their interests. That is understandable, but it is
nportant to put, into perspective, the great harm such activities have
one to the Pakistanis. According to the Islamabad-based Pakistan
1stitute for Peace Studies (PIPS), between 2 May and 22 July 2011
lone, in the aftermath of Osama bin Laden's death, 102 terrorist attacks
ave taken place in Pakistan. As a result, 489 people have been killed
nd 698 injured. Terrorism has been afflicting Pakistan since the late
980s, originally as sectarian clashes, raids, and attacks on non-Muslims
ut, afier 9 11, government personnel and installations began to be
wgeted as well. Such activities continued to grow until they gained
1omentum in 2005, and spiralled from 2007 onwards, as disgruntled
ilamists rallied around the TTP. Several organizations and ‘slecping
ells’ came into being over time, thus generating the nightmare of
ecentralized terrorism which is almost impossible for a state, even one
rith garrison capabilities, to control. Such activities have been
ccompanied by reckless parallel propaganda, by not only militant
rganizations (Understanding Militants’ Media in Pakistan 2010), but
Iso ostensibly by parliamentary parties such as the Jamaat-e-Islami
thich maintains a most disciplined publication section and churns out
iews and opinions that maintain an environment of intolerance and
nti-Western and anti-Indian nationalism (Grare 2001). Ultra-
iationalist talk-show charlatans reproduce, on a daily basis, a culture
f fear and hatred. It is not surprising that the impact of such inputs is
nevitably nihilistic.

The PIPS Security Report for 2006 (2007: 2), mentions that as many
s 657 terrorist attacks, including sectarian attacks and clashes, took
lace in 2006. As a result, 907 persons lost their lives and 1543 were
vounded. The economic cost of such destruction ran into billions of




rupees. In 2007, there were 1442 terrorist assaults altogether. The
Taliban, Pakistani jihadists, sectarian groups, and Baloch nafonalist
insurgents were involved in them. There were 3448 fatalities axd 5353
injuries—a sharp increase of 127 per cent and 491.7 per cent, perspec-
tively as compared to 2006 and 2005. This included the assassimtion of
Benazir Bhutto (PIPS Security Report for 2007, 2008: 2). Durirg 2008,
a total of 2148 terrorist, insurgent, and sectarian attacks took place,
killing 2267 persons and injuring 4558. There was an astroromical
increase, of 746 per cent, in terrorist attacks since 2005 (PIPS fecurity
Report for 2008, 2009: 4). Such crimes against human beings peiked in
2009 when a total of 2586 terrorist attacks took place that clained the
lives of 3021 people and 7334 were wounded. The highest nunber of
attacks took place in NWFP (1137), followed by Balochistan (742) and
FATA (559). As many as 46 took place in Punjab, 30 in Sindk 12 in
Islamabad, and 5 each in the Pakistan-administered Kashmir andGilgit-
Baltistan (PIPS Security Report for 2009, 2010: 3). During 201¢, there
was an 11 per cent decrease in terrorist attacks—the total fer such
attacks was 2113, including insurgent and sectari lated attacls. 2913
persons were killed, while 5824 sustained injuries. The highest rumber
of attacks took place in Balochistan (737), followed by FATA (720),
Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa (459), Sindh (111), Punjab (62), Gilgit-Butistan
(13), Islamabad (6), and Pakistani Azad Kashmir (5) (P!PS Security
Report for 2010, 2011: 2). At the beginning of 2011, Punjab Governor
Salman Taseer and Federal Minister for Minorities Shahbaz Bhati were
mercilessly gunned down in Islamabad. How significant the dedine in
terrorist attacks in 2010 is can, therefore, be discussed. The tread that
seems to have emerged is that jihadists willing to spill blooi have
infiltrated the most sensitive areas of state security. 237 terrorist ittacks
have taken place altogether until 22 July 2011, claiming 613 lives and
injuring 541. From 2007, when such activities escalated, till 12 July
2011, there have been 11,726 fatalitics and 23,037 injuries (Pikistan
Institute for Peace Studies 2011).

IN THE AFTERMATH OF OSAMA BIN LADEN’S
LIQUIDATION

In the weeks and months after Operation Geronimo had resultedin the
death of bin Laden, relations between Pakistan and US contirued to
plummet to levels never reached hitherto. US pressure on Pakisin—to
act decisively against the Haqqani network, Mullah Omar, and other




such individuals—now became brazenly emphatic without any pretence
at diplomatic restraint. In this connection, some of the statements by
top US officials are noteworthy. For example, on 22 September, outgoing
US Chairman of Joint Chiefs of Staff Admiral Mike Mullen, asserted in
a US Senate hearing that the Haqqani network in Pakistan’s North
Waziristan was a ‘veritable arm of the ISI" This statement was made in
the wake of an assault on the US embassy in Kabul a week earlier.
Mullen went on to say that Pakistan was exporting violent extremism
1o Afghanistan, and warned of US action to protect American troops.
He remarked: ‘If they keep killing our troops that would not be
something we would just sit idly by and watch’ Defence Secretary Leon
Panetta, who was present at the hearing, also expressed frustration and
reiterated that the United States would safeguard its troops (Dawn, 22
September 2011).

The next day, White House spokesman Jay Carney said: ‘It is critical
that the government of Pakistan breaks any links they have and take
strong and immediate action against this [Hagqani] network’ (ibid., 24
September 2011). This strong-worded statement was made while
Pakistani Foreign Minister Hina Rabbani Khar was in New York. She
expressed her feclings in the following words: ‘Anything which is said
about an ally. about a partner, publicly to recriminate, to humiliate, is
not acceptable’ (The Straits Times, 24 September 2011). Pakistan's top
soldier, General Kayani, termed Mullen's remarks as "very unfortunate
and not based on facts: He went on to say that such remarks did not
help create a climate for a ‘constructive and meaningful engagement for
a stable and peaceful Afghanistan, an objective to which Pakistan is fully
committed’ (Daily Times, 24 September 2011). It was followed by a
statement by a Pakistani official that Pakistan had no plans to
immediately go after the Haqqani Group (Dawn, 26 Scptember 2011).

Apparently, such a standpoint indicated that Pakistan was willing to
defy the US when it came to its vital interest of maintaining the Haqqani
group as an asset in Afghan politics—to contain Indian influence and
clout in Kabul. A couple of days later, the United States modificd its
stance by saying that the White House did not categorically endorse
Admiral Mullen’s claims. White House spokesman Jay Carney put the
concerns of his government in the following words: ‘It is not the
language 1 would use. 1 think the fact that there are links that exist
between the Pakistan government and the Haqqani network—the nature
of those can be assessed and is complicated. But there is no question
that they have safe havens in Pakistan' (ibid., 29 September 2011).




Such toning down did not mean that the US had altered ts basic
stance—that a close relationship existed between Pakistan ind the
Haqqani group. On 4 October, Afghanistan and India announcd their
agreement on a ‘strategic partnership. With regard to ‘palitcal and
security cooperation, they explicitly stated that such a parnership
included cooperation on security, including the combating of tevorism,
and India training and capacity-building the Afghan Nationa: Forces
(Dawn, 5 October 2011). Not surprisingly, concerns were expnssed in
Pakistan over it.

THE MEMOGATE SCANDAL

On 10 October, an American businessman of Pakistani-cescent,
Mansoor ljaz, in an op-ed published in The Financial Times, he, .ccused
Pakistan’s ambassador to the US, Husain Haqqani, of approachng him
to pass a secret memo on to Admiral Mullen, in which taqqani
purportedly urged the US to intervene and help reform Pkistan's
military and intelligence agencies. The ‘disclosure’ became a hat topic
in the Pakistani media and Mansoor ljaz, on 17 November, reterated
his allegations. This resulted in General Kayani calling upon Pesident
Zardari; their photograph, released to the Pakistan media, swgested
that the army had taken strong notice of it. Haqqani denied anywrong-
doing but was d forthwith to Islamabad. The matte: ended
with him submitting his resignation.

In the meanwhile, the BBC aired a documentary that purpirted to
prove that the ISI and the Pakistan military were complicit toa long-
standing conspiracy to support the Afghan Taliban in carryng out
terrorist attacks in Afghanistan. Pakistan's response, expectedl; was a
fierce denial of any such linkage or backing of terrorism. /

However, the Memogate scandal continued to hold centre-tage in
the Pakistani media. Mansoor ljaz claimed that he had met the I'l head,
General Pasha, in London—at the latter’s request—on 22 Octojer and
apprised him of the contents of his article, published in The Fnancial
Times, in which he had presented his evidence against Haqgan: Pasha
later confirmed that he had met him, and that he was satisfied wih what
Mansoor had told him (The News, 16 December 2011). Appareitly, the
memo had been initiated because Zardari wanted the US to help >revent
a coup that the military had, allegedly, been planning against the:ivilian
government for quite some time (The Washington Times, 21 Deember
2011). The British daily, The Independent, quoted Mansoor ljaz a: saying




1at soon after the death of Osama bin Laden, the ISI head, General
asha, toured several Arab countries—most notably Saudi Arabia—
reking their support for the overthrow of the Zardari-Gilani govern-
ient! (The Independent, 14 December 2011). As expected, the ISPR
ismissed the allegation as baseless and mischievous propaganda
Jawn, 22 December 2011).

IS-PAKISTAN RELATIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS

mid such accusations and denials, Pakistan-US relations turned from
ad to worse when, on 26 November, NATO aircraft from Afghanistan
pened fire on Pakistani outposts, killing twenty-four soldiers and
rjuring many more (Daily Times, 27 November 2011). It created an
proar in Pakistan. An immediate halt was imposed on the movement
fNATO supplies through Pakistan; hundreds of tonnes of supplies were
opped on their way to Afghanistan. Some 50 per cent of NATO
applies were normally routed through Pakistan. Moreover, the
mericans were ordered to vacate the Shamsi base from where they had
een flying their drones—in spite of Pakistan's official denials hitherto—
iithin 15 days, i.e. by 11 December. Apologies by the US and NATO,
nd pledges to order an immediate inquiry, failed to placate the
akistanis. China and Russia joined in by condemning the violation of
akistani sovercignty (Daily Times, 29 November 2011). Moreover, the
erce response culminated in Pakistan deciding to boycott the Second
‘onn Conference, scheduled to begin on 5 December 2011. Germany
ad earlier played host to a conference in 2001, after the 9/11 terrorist
ttacks.

The Second Bonn Conference was a follow-up to work out an
nderstanding between the US, NATO, and the regional actors,
acluding Russia, on maintaining peace and stability in Afghanistan after
he US-NATO withdrawal in 2014 (Second International Bonn
Jonference 2011). Pakistan was urged to reconsider its decision by US
ecretary of State Clinton and German Chancellor Angela Merkel who
lescribed Pakistan's decision not to participate in the Bonn Conference
s unfortunate. This time round, however, the Pakistani power elite
emained firm and steadfast and did not yield to such supplications
Dawn, 30 November 2011). The Pakistani decision opened the way for
peculation about Pakistan's intentions with regard to Afghanistan. Later,
"akistan also declined a NATO invitation to participate in a joint inquiry
n the 26 November incident. It is worth noting that an agreement



rupees. In 2007, there were 1442 terrorist assaults altogetter. The
Taliban, Pakistani jihadists, sectarian groups, and Baloch naionalist
insurgents were involved in them. There were 3448 fatalities axd 5353
injuries—a sharp increase of 127 per cent and 491.7 per cent, jerspec-
tively as compared to 2006 and 2005. This included the assassimition of
Benazir Bhutto (PIPS Security Report for 2007, 2008: 2). Durirg 2008,
a total of 2148 terrorist, insurgent, and sectarian attacks toot place,
killing 2267 persons and injuring 4558. There was an astroiomical
increase, of 746 per cent, in terrorist attacks since 2005 (PIPS sccurity
Report for 2008, 2009: 4). Such crimes against human beings paked in
2009 when a total of 2586 terrorist attacks took place that clained the
lives of 3021 people and 7334 were wounded. The highest nunber of
attacks took place in NWFP (1137), followed by Balochistan (7)2) and
FATA (559). As many as 46 took place in Punjab, 30 in Sindl, 12 in
Islamabad, and 5 each in the Pakistan-administercd Kashmir anc Gilgit-
Baltistan (PIPS Security Report for 2009, 2010: 3). During 201), there
was an 11 per cent decrease in terrorist attacks—the total for such
attacks was 2113, including insurgent and sectarian-related attacls. 2913
persons were killed, while 5824 sustained injuries. The highest lumber
of attacks took place in Balochistan (737), followed by FATA (720),
Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa (459), Sindh (111), Punjab (62), Gilgit-Biltistan
(13), Islamabad (6), and Pakistani Azad Kashmir (5) (PIPS lccurity
Report for 2010, 2011: 2). At the beginning of 2011, Punjab Gevernor
Salman Taseer and Federal Minister for Minorities Shahbaz Bhati were
mercilessly gunned down in Islamabad. How significant the dedine in
terrorist attacks in 2010 is can, therefore, be discussed. The tread that
scems to have emerged is that jihadists willing to spill bload have
infiltrated the most sensitive areas of state security. 237 terrorist attacks
have taken place altogether until 22 July 2011, clai ing 613 liwes and
injuring 541. From 2007, when such activities escalated, till :2 July
2011, there have been 11,726 fatalitics and 23,037 injurics (Pikistan
Institute for Peace Studies 2011).

IN THE AFTERMATH OF OSAMA BIN LADEN’s
LIQUIDATION

In the weeks and months after Operation Geronimo had resultec in the
death of bin Laden, relations between Pakistan and US contirued to
plummet to levels never reached hitherto. US pressure on Pakisun—to
act decisively against the Haqqani network, Mullah Omar, anc other



such individuals—now became brazenly emphatic without any pretence
at diplomatic restraint. In this connection, some of the statements by
top US officials are noteworthy. For example, on 22 September, outgoing
US Chairman of Joint Chiefs of Staff Admiral Mike Mullen, asserted in
a US Senate hearing that the Haqqani network in Pakistan'’s North
Waziristan was a ‘veritable arm of the ISI" This statement was made in
the wake of an assault on the US embassy in Kabul a week earlier.
Mullen went on to say that Pakistan was exporting violent extremism
to Afghanistan, and warned of US action to protect American troops.
He remarked: ‘If they keep killing our troops that would not be
something we would just sit idly by and watch’ Defence Secretary Leon
Panetta, who was present at the hearing, also expressed frustration and
reiterated that the United States would safeguard its troops (Dawn, 22
September 2011).

The next day, White House spokesman Jay Carney said: ‘It is critical
that the government of Pakistan breaks any links they have and take
strong and immediate action against this (Haqqani] network’ (ibid., 24
September 2011). This strong-worded statement was made while
Pakistani Foreign Minister Hina Rabbani Khar was in New York. She
expressed her feelings in the following words: ‘Anything which is said
about an ally, about a partner, publicly to recriminate, to humiliate, is
not acceptable’ (The Straits Times, 24 September 2011). Pakistan's top
soldier, General Kayani, termed Mullens remarks as ‘very unfortunate
and not based on facts. He went on to say that such remarks did not
help create a climate for a ‘constructive and meaningful engagement for
a stable and peaceful Afghanistan, an objective to which Pakistan is fully
committed’ (Daily Times, 24 September 2011). It was followed by a
statement by a Pakistani official that Pakistan had no plans to
immediately go after the Haqqam Group (Dawn, 26 September 2011).

ly, such a dicated that Pakistan was willing to
defy :he US when it came to ital interest of maintaining the Haqqani
group as an asset in Afghan politics—to contain Indian influence and
clout in Kabul. A couple of days later, the United States modified its
stance by saying that the White House did not categorically endorse
Admiral Mullen’s claims. White House spokesman Jay Carney put the
concerns of his government in the following words: ‘It is not the
language 1 would use. I think the fact that there are links that exist
between the Pakistan government and the Haqqani network—the nature
of those can be assessed and is complicated. But there is no question
that they have safe havens in Pakistan’ (ibid., 29 September 2011).




that people accused of serious terrorist crimes are able to eceive a
sympathetic treatment in the country. The credibility of the Jakistani
political and legal systems, therefore, remains a matter of coicern to
the international community (Daily Times, 15 July 2011).

On 7 August 2011, R]. Hillhouse, a well-connected Amerian who
has specialized on the ‘outsourcing of the war on terror'—i.. hiring
specialized firms such as Blackwater to carry out some tasks rlated to
combating terrorism—published a story on her blog entitled ‘Bn Laden
turned in by Informant—Couricr was Cover Story. In it, she has
claimed that the United States obtained the vital information aiout bin
Laden from a Pakistani intelligence officer who came forward b collect
the $25 million prize as well as the right to scttle in the Unitd States
with his family. Allegedly, that officer told the Americans tht Saudi
Arabia had been paying the Pakistanis to shelter and keep Osima bin
Laden under house arrest in Abbottabad (The Spy who Biled Me,
7 August 2011).

On 8 August 2011, The New Yorker published a detailed rport by
Nicholas Schimdle, ‘Getting bin Laden: What happened that hight in
Abbottabad?' in which he argued that Pakistan's air defences anl radars
were all fixed eastwards towards India and, therefore, were disadwntaged
in picking up any signals from the US helicopters entering Fikistani
airspace from Afghanistan. According to Schimdle, bin Lawen was
unarmed; the decision had already been taken that he should b- killed.

NAWAZ SHARIF’'S ADDRESS AT SAFMA CONFERENCE

On 13 August 2011, Nawaz Sharif, made a complcte brek with
orthodox Pakistani foreign policy thinking when, while spexing to
Indian journalists and intellectuals who were in Lahore to atend a
conference arranged by the South Asian Media Association (S:FMA),
he said that the people of Pakistan and India were the sam: in all
essential senses—culture, food, habits, sensibilitics, and aestheics. He
deplored the fact that his efforts, as prime minister, to improve rlations
with India were subverted by Pervez Musharraf who had stared the
Kargil misadventure. He praised the Indian leaders, especialy Atal
Bihari Vajpayee, for sinccrely wanting good relations with Pakisan. He
said that Pakistan and India would gain enormously through trde and
commerce, and the solution to the Kashmir problem would b found
in an overall improvement of relations between the two natims. He
winded up his speech by pointing out that the concept of God. given in



the Quran, was that He was the blesser of all human beings and not just
Muslims. Therefore, it was the duty of Pakistan to wish its immediate
neighbour, India, the best. He believed that people on the other side
also nurtured si ilar sentiments (SAFMA, Youtube, 13 August 2011).

THE SCOURGE OF TERRORISM

Pakistan's involvement in the so-called ‘war on terror’ has been
devastating in terms of loss of life, destruction of property worth
billions of dollars, and the proliferation of terrorism within Pakistan.
Pakistan has becn the major victim of extremism and terrorism. This
has not been fully realized and appreciated by the foreign powers that
focus on how it affects their interests. That is understandable, but it is
important to put, into perspective, the great harm such activities have
done to the Pakistanis. According to the Islamabad-based Pakistan
Institute for Peace Studies (PIPS), between 2 May and 22 July 2011
alone, in the aftermath of Osama bin Laden's death, 102 terrorist attacks
have taken place in Pakistan. As a result, 489 people have been killed
and 698 injured. Terrorism has been afflicting Pakistan since the late
1980s, originally as sectarian clashes, raids, and attacks on non-Muslims
but, after 9/11, government personnel and installations began to be
targeted as well. Such activities continued to grow until they gained
momentum in 2005, and spiralled from 2007 onwards, as disgruntled
Islamists rallied around the TTP. Several organizations and ‘sleeping
cells’ came into being over time, thus generating the nightmare of
decentralized terrorism which is almost impossible for a state, even one
with garrison capabilities, to control. Such activities have been
accompanied by reckless parallel propaganda, by not only militant
organizations (Understanding Militants’ Media in Pakistan 2010), but
also ostensibly by parliamentary parties such as the Jamaat-e-1slami
which maintaine a most disciplined publication section and churns out
views and opinions that maintain an environment of intolerance and
anu Western and anti-Indian nationalism (Grare 2001). Ultra-

i harl: , on a daily basis, a culture
of fear and hatred. It is not surprlslng that the impact of such inputs is
inevitably nihilistic.

The PIPS Security Report for 2006 (2007: 2), mentions that as many
as 657 terrorist attacks, including sect ian attacks and clashes, took
place in 2006. As a result, 907 persons lost their lives and 1543 were
wounded. The economic cost of such destruction ran into billions of




rupees. In 2007, there were 1442 terrorist assaults altogether. The
Taliban, Pakistani jihadists, sectarian groups, and Baloch natonalist
insurgents were involved in them. There were 3448 fatalities aid 5353
injuries—a sharp increase of 127 per cent and 491.7 per cent, ferspec-
tively as compared to 2006 and 2005. This included the assassimtion of
Benazir Bhutto (PIPS Security Report for 2007, 2008: 2). Durirg 2008,
a total of 2148 terrorist, insurgent, and sectarian attacks tool place,
killing 2267 persons and injuring 4558. There was an astroromical
increase, of 746 per cent, in terrorist attacks since 2005 (PIPS lecurity
Report for 2008, 2009: 4). Such crimes against human beings peiked in
2009 when a total of 2586 terrorist attacks took place that clained the
lives of 3021 people and 7334 were wounded. The highest nunber of
attacks took place in NWFP (1137), followed by Balochistan (7:2) and
FATA (559). As many as 46 took place in Punjab, 30 in Sindk. 12 in
Islamabad, and 5 each in the Pakistan-administered Kashmir andGilgit-
Baltistan (PIPS Security Report for 2009, 2010: 3). During 2011, there
was an 11 per cent decreasc in terrorist attacks—the total fir such
attacks was 2113, including insurgent and sectarian-rclated attacks. 2913
persons were killed, while 5824 sustained injuries. The highest umber
of attacks took place in Balochistan (737), followed by FATA (720),
Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa (459), Sindh (111), Punjab (62), Gilgit-Biltistan
(13), Islamabad (6), and Pakistani Azad Kashmir (5) (PIPS Scurity
Report for 2010, 2011: 2). At the beginning of 2011, Punjab Gevernor
Salman Taseer and Federal Minister for Minorities Shahbaz Bhati were
mercilessly gunned down in Islamabad. How significant the dedine in
terrorist attacks in 2010 is can, therefore, be discussed. The trend that
scems to have emerged is that jihadists willing to spill blool have
infiltrated the most sensitive areas of state security. 237 terrorist ttacks
have taken place altogether until 22 July 2011, claiming 613 liwes and
injuring 541. From 2007, when such activities escalated, till :2 July
2011, there have been 11,726 fatalitics and 23,037 injuries (Pikistan
Institute for Peace Studies 2011).

IN THE AFTERMATH OF OSAMA BIN LADEN's
L1QUIDATION

In the weeks and months after Operation Geronimo had resultecin the
death of bin Laden, relations between Pakistan and US continied to
plummet to levels never reached hitherto. US pressure on Pakisuin—to
act decisively against the Hagqani network, Mullah Omar, anc other



such individuals—now became brazenly emphatic without any pretence
at diplomatic restraint. In this connection, some of the statements by
top US officials are noteworthy. For example, on 22 September, outgoing
US Chairman of Joint Chiefs of Staff Admiral Mike Mullen, asserted in
a US Senate hearing that the Haqqani network in Pakistan’s North
Waziristan was a ‘veritable arm of the ISI" This statement was made in
the wake of an assault on the US embassy in Kabul a week earlier.
Mullen went on to say that Pakistan was exporting violent extremism
to Afghanistan, and warned of US action to protect American troops.
He remarked: ‘If they keep killing our troops that would not be
something we would just sit idly by and watch. Defence Secretary Leon
Panetta, who was present at the hearing, also expressed frustration and
reiterated that the United States would safeguard its troops (Dawn, 22
September 2011).

The next day, White House spokesman Jay Carney said: ‘It is critical
that the government of Pakistan breaks any links they have and take
strong and immediate action against this [Haqqani] network’ (ibid., 24
September 2011). This strong-worded statement was made while
Pakistani Foreign Minister Hina Rabbani Khar was in New York. She
expressed her feelings in the following words: ‘Anything which is said
about an ally, about a partner, publicly to recriminate, to humiliate, is
not acceptable’ (The Straits Times, 24 September 2011). Pakistan's top
soldier, General Kayani, termed Mullen’s remarks as ‘very unfortunate
and not based on facts. He went on to say that such remarks did not
help create a climate for a ‘constructive and meaningful engagement for
a stable and peaceful Afghanistan, an objective to which Pakistan is fully
committed’ (Daily Times, 24 September 2011). It was followed by a
statement by a Pakistani official that Pakistan had no plans to
immediately go after the Haqqam Gmup (ann, 26 September 2011).

ly, such a d that Pakistan was willing to
defy llu- US when it came lo its vital interest of maintaining the Haqqani
group as an asset in Afghan politics—to contain Indian influence and
clout in Kabul. A couple of days later, the United States modified its
stance by saying that the White House did not categorically endorse
Admiral Mullen's claims. White House spokesman Jay Carney put the
concerns of his government in the following words: ‘It is not the
language I would use. I think the fact that there are links that exist
between the Pakistan government and the Haqqani network—the nature
of those can be assessed and is complicated. But there is no question
that they have safe havens in Pakistan’ (ibid., 29 September 2011).




existed between the US and Afghan governments that, even ater the
formal withdrawal in 2014, a sizeable number of US troops would
remain in Afghanistan until such time that the Afghans had estalished
stable civilian rule and an effective military and security regine. The
future direction of Afghan politics, therefore, remains unclear.

On the other hand, some improvement in Pakistan-India rdations
was noted after Hina Rabbani Khar visited India in July, where he was
warmly received. She, and her Indian counterpart, S.M. Kishna,
expressed the hope that relations between the two countries would
improve significantly. She also called on Manmohan Singh~—to onvey
her government’s greetings as well as a message of goodwill. Onctagain,
brisk diplomatic activities began between the two estranged natins. In
October, Khar announced that Pakistan had, in principle, agred to
grant Most Favoured Nation (MFN) status to India (Dawn, 12 Cctober
2011)—something the latter had granted to Pakistan years earlr. She
issued a statement that the Pakistan military was on board withregard
to the granting of the MFN status to India (The Nation, ¢ Noember
2011). However, Prime Minister Gilani later issued a staement that
while MFN status was being considered for India, a decison hd not
been taken as yet (The Hindu, 17 November 2011). It seems thit final
clearance on MFN status for India has been put on hold for th: time
being.

On the domestic front, temperatures again began to rise as he rift
between the ruling PPP government and the main opposition, PAL-N,
grew and they locked horns. The latter demanded that Zardai and
Gilani should resign or get ready to face the public’s wrath (Davn, 29
October 2011). Former cricketer Imran Khan's Pakistan Tehrek-e-
Insaf (PTI), which for years had failed to win mass appeal surprsingly
pulled a huge crowd at a public rally in Lahore on 30 Ocober 2011.
In his address to the hundreds of thousands of people why had
come to listen to him, Khan demanded an end to corrupton aid tax
evasion and warned the politicians that he would start a countywide
civil disobedience movement if they did not publicly declard their
assets (Daily Times, 31 October 2011). I was in Lahore during10-17
November and witnessed the typical trend of prominent polticiais, one
after the other, decamping from the mainstream parties to join the PTL



ARDARI AND HAQQANI HAD PRIOR KNOWLEDGE
BOUT 2 MAY US RAID ON ABBOTTABAD

n 3 December, Mansoor ljaz—the man involved in the so-called
femogate’ scandal—made the sensational claim, in an article published
the Newsweek magazine, that not only had Husain Haqqani had prior
1owledge about the 2 May US attack on Osama bin Laden’s Abbottabad
deout, but so had President Zardari (Dawn, 3 December 2011).
aqqani immediately denied such an allegation and retorted:

In the strongest terms possible, 1 categorically reject as reckless, bascless and
false the allegations levied against me by Mr Mansoor ljaz about prior
knowledge of US pla for a raid in Abbottabad in violation of Pakistani
sovercignts 1o climinai. Osama bin Laden as well as his earlicr charges about
my role in a memo he wrote and sent to the US Chairman Joint Chiefs”
(Dawn, 3 December 2011)

aqqani threatened to initiate legal action against the magazine unless
ie article, written by Mansoor ljaz, was retracted. On the other hand,
awaz Sharif filed a petition in the Supreme Court requesting a probe
the Memogate scandal. It was admitted after some resistance from
ie Registrar of the Supreme Court. It is interesting to note that when
1e Court ordered the Ministry of Defence to submit a written reply in
ie issue of the memo scandal case, the Ministry of Defence, in its
ritten replv, stated that it has no control over the operations of the
'my/ISI (The News, 21 December 2011) On the other hand, in a
‘joinder submitted to the Supreme Court over the Memogate affair,
eneral Kayani opined that the memo was a reality and was meant to
smoralize the military (Daily Times, 22 December 2011).

RIME MINISTER GILANI'S OUTBURST AGAINST
HE MILITARY

he Ministry of Defence's statement, that it had no control over the
tivities of the military and ISI, elicited a most unusual tirade against
1e army by the prime minister. Although, only a few days earlier, he
ad said that there was no conflict between the government and the
iilitary, Prime Minister Gilani deplored the fact that conspirators were
lotting to bring down his government. Without naming the military
irectly, he left no doubt that he considered the military to be acting
ke the state within the state. In his scathing observations, he asserted



that while the government had stood by the security services over the
storm of American pressure in regards to the 2008 attackson Mumbai,
Osama bin Laden’s killing in May, and the 26 November 2011 NATO
attack, yet the military-1SI nexus had been acting as the state within
the state. In his other scathing remarks he said, among otier things:

1f they say that they are not under the ministry of defence, tien we should
get out of this slavery, then this parliament has no importane, this system
has no importance, then you are not sovereign. . . . They are bing paid from
the State Exchequer, from your revenue and from your taxes . . if somebody
thinks that they are not under the government, they are mistaen. They are
under the government and they shall remain under the governneat, because
we are the elected representatives of the people of Pakistan. o the worst
circumstances we doubled their salaries. They have to be a:countable to
parliament. . .. We arc being asked by the judicial commissicn [examining
the 2 May US raid that killed bin Laden raid and how the al Qaeda leader
lived in Pakistan undetected] about issuance of visas [to Amercars). . . . But
I want 10 ask how was [bin Laden] living here for the past six ytars? On what
type of visa was he living here? Why was security not taken caze of, if he
entered in [sic) Pakistan without a visa? (Dawn, 22 December 2011).

General Kayani responded forthwith that the military was rot planning
to overthrow the government and democracy would not be derailed. It
was followed by Gilani saying that he had full trust in Kaani and the
head of the ISI, General Pasha, and that the government woud complete
its term. Chief Justice Iftikhar Chaudhry issued a statement that, unlike
in the past when military takeovers had been validated urder the so-
called Doctrine of Necessity, this time there would be no sich support
forthcoming from the highest court of the country (Dawn, 24 December
2011). 2011 ended with Gilani announcing that there woulc be no early
general election and that relations between Zardari and Layani were
good (Daily Times, 31 December 2011).

US-PAK RELATIONS AT THE END OF 2011

hile, the A i igh d the screws on Pakisun—the US
Congress voted to freeze $700 million in aid until Padstan gave
convincing assurances that it was serious about fightng against
terrorism. Pakistan expressed regret over such a decision (Daily Times,
13 December 2011). Later, the US Congress did vote to puta freeze on
the aid (The News, 17 December 2011); the bill was sent to the US




-esident for further action according to procedure. The State
epartment issued a statement that the Congress had only passed a bill
» withhold the $700 million, and that it was not law yet. If, however,
ie bill did become law, then the government would look into how it
»uld fulfil its requirements. It was suggested that the civilian aid would
ot be cut.

Pakistani officials announced that US and NATO supplies via
akistan would not be resumed immediately. Emphasis was also laid on
:ro tolerance for the violation of Pakistani territory and attacks on
akistani troops. It was also reported that US troops had vacated the
1amsi air base by 11 December. On the other hand, the NATO military
rief contacted General Kayani to discuss the resumption of normal
:lations with Pakistan. Defence Secretary Leon Panetta issued a
atement that stable ties with Pakistan were critical to success in the
ar against terrorism in Afghanistan (Daily Times, 14 December).
foreover, Pakistan was expected, in 2012, to be the third biggest
:cipient of aid at § 2965 million; Israel and Afghanistan reccive more
Dawn, 14 December 2011). Furthermore, the Pentagon made some
iitigating gestures when it expressed regret over the 26 November
itack on the Pakistani checkpoint that killed twenty-four Pakistani
oldiers, and blamed inadequate coordination for the unfortunate
1cident (Dawn, 22 December 2011). Such conciliatory gestures, after
xpressions of exasperation and disgust, were the typical pattern
xpressing Pakistan-US relations. In other words, the basic donor-
:cipient relationship that has existed between the United States and
akistan could be expected to continue.

Conscquently, at the end of 2011, the situation in Pakistan and in its
nvirons remained hlghly volatile and uncertain. The Pakistan military’s
e facto powers hallenged. In fact, its premium may have
isen sharply in light of the ‘Memogate' scandal and Ihe confrontational
pproach it has assumed towards the US after the 26 November NATO
ttack on Pakistani checkpoints. Whether this is a passing phase, a
eception, or a genuine attempt by Pakistan to break away from US
ependence remains to be scen. The hard facts are: Pakistan's economic
nd military dependence on the US remains considerable; the
umericans have been involved in Pakistani domestic affairs since a long
ime; their military and intelligence connections and linkages with
‘akistani counterparts are of long standing; and, above all, the US, as a
uperpower, still enjoys military and technological superiority—as
vitnessed most dramatically during the raid on bin Laden's hideout in




Abbonabzd Hence, Pakistan cannot easily withdraw from its

to fighting ism. The Americans interpret this
commitment as Pakistan’s duty to go aﬁer the Haqqani growp and other
anti-US networks in the region. Suffice it to say that the halmarks of a
post-colonial garrison state remain manifest and steadfast in the
Pakistani political dispensation.
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Analysis and Conclusion

HISTORICAL LEGACY

The claim that the Muslims of South Asia constituted a nation byvirtue
of their religious faith and were, therefore, entitled to a sejarate,
independent state required a break-up of India. Initially, this clain was
not looked upon favourably by the three main victorious powersof the
Second World War, though for different reasons. While Britan was
hoping to remain the paramount power in South Asia, even ater its
withdrawal, it believed that it had more to gain from an undividecIndia
as a united India would be stronger both economically and militaily—
and thus, in a better position to prevent the Soviet Union from gining
a foothold in the subcontinent. However, that calculation was rwised
in the spring of 1947, and the creation of Pakistan was demed
advantageous to their interests should India be divided. Later, orre the
British accepted the demand for Pakistan, they tried to limit the dmage
to their interests by ensunng that both India and Pakistan rcmaued in
the British C h and thus, p inued to nake
their resources and help available to the metropolitan country. A that
time, the British did not foresee that their role in world politics rould
diminish dramatically once they had pulled out of India.

The United States was a champion of Indian freedom an: put
pressure on Britain, during the war, to grant self-rule to its olony
during the war, but was apathetic towards the concept of Pakistan-even
till the last days before the British handed over power to the Mislim
League leaders. The Muslim League's charm offensive, in markting
itself as a dependable ally against the spread of communism, dii not
impress the Americans at that time. This was especially true ¢ the
Roosevelt administration which wanted to cultivate the friendsbp of
the Soviet Union in favour of collective security, peace, and demoracy.
The Soviet Union, too, was sceptical about the division of Indi: but
seemed to have been convinced, just before the end of British rulethat




was he legitimate demand of the oppressed Muslim mmomy—
beraticn from the domination of Hindu ylenders and capi
» therdore, came around to the idea of Pakistan but remained wary
>out the consequences of a divided sub-continent.

The nost critical aspect of the division of India was the question of
1e Indan Army. For the British, it was a matter of the utmost strategic
nportince. They were hoping to retain control over South Asia, even
fter th: transfer of power to the Indians, and were convinced that the
1dian A\rmy was pivotal to the maintenance of that control and to ward
ff any invasion by Soviet Russia. Therefore, they favoured a united
rmy—:ven if India was partitioned. However, the Muslim League
1sistec that it would only accept power in Pakistan if a separate army,
avy, aid air force were created through the division of the joint Indian
rmed forces. At that stage, the British establishment made another
ssessnent: that Pakistan would be more easily amenable to their quest
o bas:s and other facilities to safeguard their interests in the Persian
iulf ard against communism.

The 3 June 1947 Partition Plan formalized the division of India as
<llas of the Indian Ar y, the Royal Indian Navy, and the Royal Indian
ir Forze. The process, set in motion to bring about the division of the
rmed ‘orces and their assets, was not an easy affair as both Congress
nd th: Muslim League raised objections on some matters. That the
.ongress and Sikh leader, Baldev Singh, were not forthcoming in giving
akist its due share became apparent even before the actual division
f assds was completed. On the other hand, contrary to popular
ercepion in Pakistan, evidence suggests that, until 1 August 1947,
founbatten—who remained governor-general of undivided India till
4 August—wanted to be fair in distributing the assets of the Indian
rmed forces to Pakistan. Later, as governor-general of only India, he
:presnted Indian interests.

"HE DIALECTICS OF GEOGRAPHY

akistin, as it appeared on the world map, possessed almost unique
eograhical featurcs. Its two wings were separated by some 1000 miles.
1 betveen, lay a bigger and more powerful and resourceful neighbour.
uch dfficulties were compounded by the close proximity of its major
rbancentres to the Indian border, coupled with an unfriendly neigh-
our—Afghanistan—on its western border. Pakistan was, therefore, a
ationl security nightmare long before the United States propounded
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the national security doctrine to prepare for the Cold War. On the other
hand, Pakistan could market its sui generis geostrategic locaion to
convince the Americans that it could be useful in the containnent of
communism, not only in South Asia but also in the Middle Eist and
Southeast Asia. Contrary to popular perception, the idea of woang the
Americans originated with the founder of Pakistan, and not vith the
military, though it is possible he was advised on this matter by nilitary
experts. Those experts could have been both British and Pakisani. In
any event, the Pakistani power elite relentlessly lobbied the Peitagon
and State Department for years about lhelr state’s poltnllll as a fontline
state against ism, and d in g both ecinomic
and military aid. —

y
THE THREAT FROM INDIA @{/‘

Pakistan’s defence and security doctrines and foreign policy, fnm the
very outset, acquired India-specific, India-driven, and Kashmir-ficused
properties. Such core issues have remained beyond the purvew of
Pakistani public opinion. This is not to deny that the nascent Pikistan
was beset with a veritable slruggle for survival. Some acions of the

hile Indian leadership that they expected Pakistar to fail
and return to the Indian union.{The Pakistani list of grievancs and
apprehensions is long: the Kashmir dispute; threatening larg:-scale
military exercises by the Indian armed forces along the Patistani
borders in the 1950s and again thereafter; military intervention n East
Pakistan in 1971 resulting in the break-up of Pakistan; India's uclear
test in 1974; and the Brasstacks exercises in the late 1980s. The I
surely, have their own catalogue of grievances but that is
point. Tt is the Pakistani pérception that is the subject of this st \dy
T However))elnefm Indian intentions to not allow Pakistaa to uirvive
needs to be put into perspective  against the puzzling fact that Pikistan
initiated four of the five armed conflicts, including three war, with
Indiz}Since 1 January 1949, when a UN Security Coundl-brikered
ceasefire came into operation, Pakistan has roughly one-thrd of
Kashmir in its possession while the rest is with India. The fear tlat the
Maharaja was secretly contemplating acceding to India, as assered by
Major General Shahid Hamid, has not been established conclusively. k
is correct, however, that if that were to happen, the Indian berder vould
come dangerously close to the GHQ of the Pakistan Army. Nevertieless,
in the last sixty-four years, the only dramatic change that has taken

sife the
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lace is that the 1949 ceasefire line has been converted i
‘ontrol—in 1972 as part of the Simla Agreement.

The second military showdown was at the Rann of Kutch in the
pring of 1965. Apparently, the Pakistanis performed well but deployed
‘atton tanks and other advanced US weapons in contravention of the
greement with the United States. This created a false sense of
uperiority amongst the Pakistani military and the hawks in the Foreign
)fice. Their complacency goaded them into another bid to annexe
{ashmir, by sending infiltrators in under the garb of freedom fighters
T Mujahideen. This time round, the Indians did not hesitate to escalate
he conflict by crossing the international border at Lahore. The full-
ledged war that broke out on 6 September 1965 lasted for seventeen
ays. Field Marshal Ayub Khan and his more hawkish foreign minister,
".A. Bhutto, were shocked into realizing that the Indians were putting
p tough resistance and, in some theatres, out-manocuvring the
‘akistanis. The attrition cost became unbearable within days.

Yet, the propaganda machinery—masterminded by Information
ecretary Altaf Gauhar—perpetuated the myth of superior Pakistani
ighters and glorious victories on land, in the air, and at sea. One myth
ersisted: that Akhtar Malik was about to capture Akhnur and so block
ny Indian advance towards Kashmir but was let down by his superiors
vho ordered a change of command. The crucial date of 4 September is
nentioned as the time when the Pakistani initiative was frittcred away
recause of a suspension of activities during the change of command—
vhich, allegedly, enabled the Indians to regroup and re-organize, and
hus prevent the capture of Akhnur. In this study, different points of
iew have been presented on this controversial incident. The sig-
iificance of the one-day delay, as a result of the change of command,
annot be denied. However it is doubtful if it was enough to change the
ourse of history. Suffice it to say that there were many chinks in Akhtar
Aalik’s artaout. As noted already, movement towards Akhnur was not
iis immediate priority. Therefore, the myth that Kashmir was somehow
rithin the grasp of the Pakistan military must be discarded. Actually,
he Indians came to the battlefield better prepared and executed their
rder of battle with greater coherence and cohesion.

The third war took place when the Indian Army intervencd in East
'akistan in November 1971, to help the Bengalis seeking separation
rom Pakistan. The reason for the outbreak of the civil war was that the
nilitary was not willing to hand over power to the Awami League, even
hough it enjoyed a parliamentary majority. This war resulted in the

(i)
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break-up of Pakistan. While it has been explained away as Hinéu India'
incessant hostility to the existence of Pakistan, it has aeter beer
properly acknowledged that the West Pakistani power elit nay hav:
provided such an opportunity to India. The evidence is overwhelming
that was the case. On the other hand, all evidence suggeststhat Indir:
Gandhi and her generals had a clear plan, which thes xecutec
efficaciously.

Z.A. Bhutto, who came to power as prime minister of the tuncatec
Pakistan, climbed down from his previous hawkish stance vis-a-vi¢
India. But, after India tested a nuclear device, he made he famous
pledge to make Pakistanis eat grass if that was the price they waild have
to pay to make Pakistan’s own nuclear bomb. In that sexsc Indian
provocations continued to inform Pakistani security fears. Ir the 1980s,
Pakistan and India were again involved in a vain attempt totrimp the
other over the Siachen Glacier. That conflict originated with ‘hc¢Indians
establishing permanent posts on the glacier. India had earlier
accentuated Pakistan’s sense of vulnerability by conducting tie Bras-
stacks military exercises near the Pakistani border in the late 1930s. The
May 1998 nuclear test explosions by India and Pakistan raised tle stakes
between them to unprecedented levels of mutually assured desruction.
The Kargil mini-war was, once again, the result of infiltrtos being
sent—by General Musharraf and his clique of generals—to o«wy posts
that the Indians were in the habit of vacating during the wntrs. Not
only did that mini-war prove to be a disaster, but it alse nndered
Pakistan, especially the military, a rogue entity in the eyes of theworld's
leaders. India was the main gainer because, thereafter, whatever
goodwill Pakistan had previously enjoyed over Kashmir in inenational
forums was severely depleted. No war has taken place buw:en the
two but they continue to play zero-sum games. However, 5oh sides

‘ have directed huge amounts of their budgets to brace thar lefence

apabllllles

As Barry Buzan has argued, such spending has not ensurel agreater
sense of security: on the contrary, the arms race has «ffictively
subverted develop agendas and heigh iti nd bas
sustained the vested interests, on both sndes. who draw ecoronic and
other benefits from such a state of confrontation)Machiavell’s hesis—
that the freedom of nations is essentially depen enl on the ezisence of
powerful military fc has been exploited hly. Hiwever,
instead of just realism informing mllllary expenditure, a 2 fair amount of
manipulation of the fear of aggression has resulted in a :ynical




xploitationof it—to clajm vast resources of national wealth by the two
silitary esubhshmenls(: the case of Pakistan, this is all too obvious
hile the Indians can always point at the éven bigger threat from China.? %
With regird to the so-called nuclear assets possessed by both sides,
is importunt to stress that the absence of war does not mean peace.~
n a pervertzd manner, terrorism seems to have thrived in the context
f an all-owt war becoming less likely. It has served as a catalyst to
elusional ileas about getting away with impunity, even with major
*rrorist outrages such as the one carried out in Mumbai m hovcmbcr
008. On tte other hand, some impi in the P Indi
clationship can be discerned ne\enhdesﬁmh s bt steps
> minimiz: the chances of accidental nuclear war. They znnuallyz
xchange irformation about their nuclear installations, terrorism, and
ther related matters for cooperation; a hotline has also been set up.

*he situaticn can hopefully begin to improve. LY
In between, both sides have made several peaceful gestures but
wothing harpened to change the Ily hostile rel p between

he two staies. In this regard, Musharraf’s efforts to reach a settlement
n the Kastmir dispute were a serious attempt to change the equation.
Tajpayce ard Manmohan Singh reciprocated in a similar vein. On the
ole, the Indians have been less forthcoming on the Kashmir issue
er'hopt t» maintain the status quo at all costs. Some sort of non-
erritorial solution to the Kashmir dispute, with tangible win-win
wtcomes for India, Pakistan, and the Kashmiris, is imperative to close

\FGHANISTAN 'Dr),(' n‘_)

\fghanistaa opposed Pakistan's membership of the United Nations, thus
nitiating along period of mutual antipathy. The sticking point was the
durand Iine which the Afghan government did not accept as the
nternatioral border. In the wake of the communist takeover of power
n Rabul ir: April 1978 followed by lhe Soviet Union sending its troops
n the th ds 10 help the ¢ lidate power, an Afghan
esistance evolved that resulted i in bloodshed—{thousands were killed,
ind hundreds of thousands sought refuge in Pakuslan)The US-Saudi
ihad agairst Soviet occupation was conducted through Pakistan. As a
esult, Pakistan gained a prominent physical presence in Afghanistan

 its military commanders began to believe that strategic depth may
10w be possible—some sort of confederation with Afghanistan,

greel?) 5



extending westwards and into central Asia as well. For a while, Pkistan
suffered a setback as the Northern Alliance triumphed oer the
Pakistan-backed Pakhtun Islamists. This was a time when Indiagained
the greater influence as an ally of l.he Northern Alliance.

& ( However, after the Tahban 2 ower in 1996, Pakistars clout
was restored in Afghamstan and al of Tndia margir marginalized. Pkistan
became the main patron of the Taliban regime and, other thar Saudi
Arabia and the United Arab Emirates, the only state to recognze the
Taliban_Jlhe Taliban let loose a reign of terror on its own people which
the Pakistani hawks and Islamists celebrated as an ideal Islami state.
However, even in such a circumstance, the Taliban did not accpt the
Durand Line as the international border: indicating the linits of
Pakistani leverage over the Taliban. The fall of the Taliban, in Noember
2001, and the subsequent coming into power of Hamid Karai put
Pakistan on the back foot once again. The rest of the story is tor well-
known, and adequately narrated in the preceding chapters.

ALLIANCE BUILDING

The story of Pakistan lobbying the United States, offering to ielp it
against the Soviet Union, predated the creation of the state itsel: once
it came into being, the political and military leadership of Pistan
launched a major diplomatic offensive that they pursued relenlessly.
The United States remained unmoved for several years as it dd not
consider South Asia to be significant at that point in tims and
concentrated on building an alliance to contain the Soviet Unon in
Europe. That perception changed gradually. Harry Truman's naional
security doctrine, the onslaught of McCarthyism, and the Coli War
greatly facilitated Pakistan's candidature as a frontline state. In 1911, the
first package of economic and military aid to Pakistan arrived. Later,
Eisenhower and his secretary of slale. lohn Fosler Dulles, bcame

the P: y and, in 194 and
again in 1959, signed military agreements that enabled Pakisan to
acquire more arms and economic aid.

However, the halcyon days of Pakistan-US courtship were of ashont
duration. By the late 1950s, the Americans were clear that the Pakitanis
had essentially entered into a military alliance with them to aquire
weapons to assert themselves vis-a-vis India. However, since Palistan
was providing facilities to the United States for aerial surveillanct oves




ie central Asian Soviet Republics, and other such services, it was
»nsidered a useful arrangement.

In any case, US economic aid served Pakistan well and enabled it to
:hieve impressive industrial develop based on the import-
ibstitution strategy. This created jobs and wealth, but they were not
rared equitably between East and West Pakistan. The Americans were
zen that their allies follow free market principles, and serve as
camples of the superiority of the capitalist system over all forms of
scialism and state capitalism. Pakistan was a precursor of the type of
ee market economy models that lifted South Korea and Taiwan out of
overty and back d That the Pakistanis, instead, decided to
rovoke armed confrontation with India and, as a result, invested in war
ither than economic development must be blamed on the Pakistani
:adership.

The Americans were alarmed when Pakistan deployed the Patton
nk and other advanced US military equipment in the Rann of Kutch
<irmish with India—something they did in contravention of clear
.merican pronouncements that US arms were not 1o be used in a war
ith India. For their part, the Pakistanis scem to have first begun to
zalize, during the 1962 Sino-Indian border showdown, that the
.mericans prioritized the unity of India and would render it all help
gainst China and other powers that may want to harm it. The increase
1 economic and military aid to India, which was not an ally like
‘akistan, deeply exercised Ayub Khan. Yet, the Pakistanis did not secm
» have got the message. Thus, when the United States imposed an arms
mbargo on both India and Pakistan during the 1965 war, Z.A. Bhutto
ngrily protested that India was the aggressor. In any event, the
‘akistan-US alliance cooled off in the aftermath of the 1965 war, but it
as American warnings to India, in late 1971, that dissuaded it from an
nvasion of West Pakistan—something that Indira Gandhi may have
santed to do. In any case, the Pakistan-US equation warmed up once
gain after the Soviet Union, in 1979, sent its soldiers into Afghanistan
o help the communist regime. The Pakistan-US equation was entirely
nased on real-politik calculations on both sides.

With regard to the domestic sphere, it is possible that the Americans
vere in the loop about the military coup in 1958, but there is no
vidence to suggest that they instigated it. During General Zia-ul-Haq’s
ong dictatorship, the Americans prudently remained aloof from
*akistan’s domestic politics—when the dictator brutalized the people of
%akistan through Islamization. As noted already, the American strategy




of cul and p ist Islam, via its cient tate of
Saudi Arab-a. emerged i the 19505 and was formalized in ogani:ational
terms in 1960. Moreover, as Nelson-Pallmeyer has noted, ssing -eligion
to boost dictatorships was part of the so-called natimal scurity
paradigm under which the Americans turned a blind eye tcthe nilitary
juntas in Latin America—juntas that could indulge in masive \uman
rights violations with impunity.

When civilian government was revived, and Benazir Bhuto and
Nawaz Sharif formed governments based on democratic ¢ectims, the
prestige and power of the prime minister's office had,in pactice,
suffered considerable diminution. Instead, the military —a ratler, the
army—and some powerful civil servants had acquired real rowe-in the
Pakistani political dispensation. During that period, the LnitedStates’
involvement and influence in Pakistani domestic politics—as triubles-
shooter and broker—became quite prominent. Needless o say there
were li its 10 its influence in the domestic sphere as well is to ts role
as a facilitator of the Pakistan-India dialogue. The Amerians sepped
back after General Musharraf's Kargil misadventure. After te ovethrew
Nawaz, and established military rule, the US disapprobaton tecame
pronounced. On the other hand, cultivation of India as a sratejic ally
began to be pursued relentlessly by the United States; he hdians
reciprocated in equal mcasure.

However, a reinvigorated US-Pakistan alliance emerge« afte 9/11,
but it was purely instrumentalist in nature in spite of all he rletoric
and hypocrisy that the leaders from both sides expresset abast the
scourge of terrorism and each other's importance and conmitnent to
defeating it. The Americans were willing to pay the Pakistni military
for delivering on Al-Qaeda and Taliban leaders and adre:. The
Pakistanis were willing to render such a service on a selectve bisis, as
some Afghan Taliban were calculated to be valuable t« Pakstan's
interests in Afghanistan in the post-US period

In any case, the unequal nature of the relationship—between a
superpower and a post-colonial middle-range power—becane apjarent
because the Americans were able to exert immense pressure ,n Paistan
to grant hundreds of visas to US undercover agents who, nistristing
Pakistan, conducted their own search for bin Laden. Th dramatic
exposure of such covert operations took place, by chanc. whn an

d er agent, Ray d Davis, was apprehended after h: killd two
Pakistanis who were trailing his vehicle on a motorcycl. Nching
epitomized such a lack of trust more dramatically than Opeation




ieronimo which culminated in US Navy Seals, on 2 May 2011, hunting
own and killing Osama bin Laden in his hideout in the garrison town
f Abbottabad. However, a number of secret communications between
1€ US and Pakistani military functionaries, revealed by Wikilcaks, have
hown that the US drone attacks in FATA were not only assisted by the
akistani military but, in fact, requested by them. Yet, there is no
enying that, after Operation Geronimo, relations between Pakistan and
he United States have inued to deteri he 26 ber 2011
IATO aircraft firc on a Pakistani checkpoint epitomizes the almost total
istrust on both sides. Nevertheless, Pakistan's dependence on the
mericans 1s enormous and although a bigger armed confrontation
retween the two states cannot be overruled, it is most unlikely. Most
rrobably, behind-the-scenes moves will restore some sort of working
elationshif. However, it is very clear that, in this battle of nerves, the
\mericans are not going to give up casily on Pakistan reining in the
1aqqani group, Mullah Omar, and other stalwarts of the Afghan
“aliban. The United States’ ability to wield the infamous carrot-and-
tick policy—that major powers and superpowers are able to exercise—
emains considerable. On the other hand, Pakistan is a major power in
outhwest Asia. Its military prowess, including its nuclear asscts, cannot
re ignored The Americans cannot but take that into account as they
clate to the AfPak region and in the larger context to South Asia.

CHINA

he Pakistan-China liaison has been a down-to-earth, balance-of-
rower, my-enemy's-enemy-is-my-friend type of calculation. However,
ithough China began to supply MIG aircraft and other hardware to
’akistan, this did not mean that it was willing to risk its own security
sy invading India on Pakistan's behalf in 1965 or 1971. However, when
ndia tested a nuclear device, the Chinese allegedly helped Pakistan
ain nuclear weapon capability. This was consistent with Chinese
»olicy to keep India pinned down on its western border with Pakistan. J
China and Pakistan were part of the Afghan jihad as well but, after
)11, a complication and tension began to arise. While China expanded
ts role in the construction of the Gwadar port on the coast of southern
%akistan, and acquired mining rights for gold and other precious
ninerals in Balochi: the Islamist of the Uyghur people
>f Chinas north-western province of Xinxiang was networking with
?akistani jhadist organizations. Some of them went back and fomented




unrest and resistance to Chinese rule. Chinese protests resuked in harsh
treatment from the Pakistani government.

SAUDI ARABIA

The third major patron that Pakistan managed to obtain was Saudi
Arabia. Linkages between the Wahabi regime and its admirers in
Pakistan were established in the 1960s, when an ideological network
was established with the connivance of the Americans who backed
Islamism to counter the left-leaning nationalist regime of Gamal Abdel
Nasser of Egypt. Z.A. Bhutto's Islamic Summit at Lahor: probably
helped market Pakistan to the Saudis because, thereafter, thousands of
Pakistani workers found work in the Persian Gulf. However, it was
General Zia's coup against Bhutto, the 1978 Afghan communist coup,
the rise of Shiite Iran under Khomeini in February 1975, and the
December 1979 Soviet intervention in Afghanistan that fumished the
Saudis with a leading role in Pakistani politics, both internal and
external.

The Iranian clerics demonstrated the power of political Islam as an
ideology that could be used to capture power and establish 1 medieval
tyranny with the trappings of modern practices and institutions, such
as elections and a parliament—albeit both distorted to return a
government dominated by Shite clerics. That message reverberated
throughout the Muslim world, but the arithmetic of sectarian numbers
favoured Sunni leadership. That role was taken over by the Saudis who
found the regime of General Zia, and the Soviet intervention in
Afghani: pp! ities that could be exploited to their advantag
The Iranian-Saudi proxy war, in the context of Pakistan, meant sectarian
terrorism between Pakistani Shias and Sunnis. The depth of the vitiating
impact of Saudi influence is not yet fully fathomed but it would not be
an exaggeration to say that the brutali tion of the sensibilities of
Pakistani socicty, at all levels, has taken place because of it.

Thousands of Pakistani military personnel have being posted to
Saudi Arabia and made fortunes, big and small, because of the lucrative
salaries available to them. Therefore, an ‘institutional interest’ in
maintaining the Saudi connection is rooted in the officer corps of the
Pakistan military. Moreover, hundreds of thousands of Pakistanis who
work in Saudi Arabia are exposed to a form of Islam which is very
different from their own syncretic traditions. It is puzzling that, despite
being comprehensively treated with contempt by the Saudi state and
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ociety, many return to Pakistan immersed in a culture of extremism
nd i and ism now pervade all sections of
ociety; the Taliban and other extremist organizations thrive in such a
alieu.

"HE RISE OF THE MILITARY IN THE INTERNAL DOMAIN

'he induction of the military into politics was largely an outcome of
ne failure of politics. The assassination of Liaquat Ali Khan in 1951, of
)r Khan Sahib in May 1958, and of the deputy speaker of the East
akistan Assembly, Shahid Ali, later the same year, compounded by a
luggish economy and a food crisis, created mass disenchantment with
uch governments which, from the beginning, had been formed without
eneral elections being held to lend them legitimacy. It was under these
ircumstances that the military began to assume a role in politics. On
7 October 1958, Ayub Khan carried out the first military coup. The
2cond coup took place when senior commanders forced Ayub Khan to
and over power to General Yahya Khan in March 1969. LaPorte, who
as described Pakistan as a garrison state, interpreted this as proof of
1e military, as an institution, possessing the power of the final arbiter
1 Pakistani politics.

The third coup was ¢ ried out by General Zia, in July 1977, when
e ousted Z.A. Bhuttos increasingly erratic regime, which had been
\cing mounting resistance from the political opposition for his high-
anded polices against political opponents. General Zia-ul-Haq ruled
akistan with an iron hand and did not even try to acquire the trappings
fa civilian ruler. The ascendency of the military, over the politicians,
as pleted. The elected gov that followed, under Benazir
hutto and Nawaz Sharif, were quite powerless while the military and
»me powerful bureaucrats practically enjoyed the power of veto. The
akistani establishment began to be described as the deep state. Nawaz
narif tried to revive the Islamization project that had been in abeyance,
hen he made a bid to get the Sharia declared as the supreme law of
1e country.

Musharraf overthrew Nawaz Sharif and established the fourth
ry government in 1999. During his rule, the trend to transfer
iilitary personnel to the civil sector greatly accelerated. His fall from
ower, and the restoration of elected civilian government in 2008, did
ot detract from the fact that the de facto veto powers have remained
ith the military. General Kayani let the politicians manage the political




process but has intervened on critical occasions to ensure that Pakistan

is not destabilized again because of the perennial power tusdes between

the government and the opposition. At present, this formua seems to

be working. At the same time, the military’s involvement in 3alochistan

has been controversial, notwithstanding the fact tha: powerful
ist chall have d from that province.

From the time General Zia came to power, there have beea no doubts
as to who has formulated Pakistan's foreign policy in relaton to India
and Afghanistan, as well as its defence policy—especially related to
nuclear armament. President Zardari has been overruled by e military
on a number of ions when he has exp d some thods
opinions: about those involved in terrorism in Indian-acministered
Kashmir; over Pakistan’s policy of not using a nuclear bomb first; and
when Prime Minister Gilani and he expressed a willingness to cooperate
with India in the investigation into the plotters of the Mumtai terrorist
attacks of 26 November 2008. That situation has remaired largely
unchanged although, towards the end of 2011, it seems that some
breakthrough is possible as Pakistan is considering offering UFN status
to India. However, one cannot read too much into this important
change in policy till such time as it is finalized and implemtnted.

Needless 10 say, the rise of the military has been concurrent with the
1S and other intelligence services expanding their roles far beyond their
formal remits. Backing ethnic parties, such as the MQM as well
Kashmir-centric organizations such as HuM, JeM, and LeT, indicates
that the specialists on violence have enioycd far greater powe and clout
than is permissible to the intelli hering agencies of a state.
Howevu. this study also shows that lhere are dissenting voces within
the military. The military is not a monolith. There are hard-line
Islamists as well as pragmatic, secularly-inclined officers and generals.
There is also evidence to suggest that the intelligence agendes do not
always coop or agree, and a petition takes place betveen them.
None of these discoveries is surprising because it is quite normal that
people who work in such large organizations and instituticns tend to
subscribe to different points of view on contentious matters. “he notion
of an establishment or a deep state is, nevertheless, valid because

and institutions do rep collective interest over and
above the interests of their functionaries. Anyhow, there is nc reason to
doubt that the Pakistani military, with the army at the centre enjoys de
facto veto rights over not only foreign and defence policr but also
domestic politics. It is, 50 to say, the state within the state, with the ISI




1 particular playing an extra role in
he ‘fortress of Islam’ myth. However, (heoms that assume that the
ailitary was, from the beginning, seeking to overthrow the civil
overnment and establish its hold over the state have to be discarded
ecause there is no empirical evidence to confirm them. Alavi's
tructuralism takes that for granted: structural explanations are typically
acked up by poor empirical evidence since it is in the nature of the
tructure that society will behave in a particular way. This inquiry shows
1at the military takeovers were the result of the failure of the political
rocess and a lack of clarity on ideology and societal objectives.
Mazhar Aziz has suggested that the first military coup established a
recedent—it was followed by more coups, thus creating a pattern
ecause military interventions weakened the politicians’ positions and
ndermined the prestige of the representative institutions. That
rgument is true but Aziz seemed to assume that path-dependency
1eans a cyclical movement of civil and military governments, one after
1¢e other, as if such a phenomenon has a life of its own. The evidence
rovided in this i igation suggests that, cumulatively, the volatility
nd violence that such a political pattern has acquired has become quite
ifficult to control and, if such a situation persists, can result in systemic
ollapse. Also, stability continues to be conspicuous by its absence at
se level of parli y practice. The showdown between Gilani and
‘ayani, in the last weeks of 2011, indicated that one cannot assume
rilitary dominance to be immutable or absolute. The premium of the
akistani military, with the United States, is currently low. While one
an assume that the Pakistani civilian government stands to gain from
1is, one must also wonder whether the gain will be enough to bring
bout a decisive shift in the balance of power. At present, Pakistan is far
'om a normal chain of d that would instif lize civilian
apremacy over the military and bureaucracy. There are other problems
s well. The current federal and provincial governments came to power
12008 and their term would end in 2013, but the opposition parties
re again on the warpath, threatening to resort to mass power to bring
own the government. Under the circumstances, the fragility and
ulnerability of Pakistan's fledgling democracy remains a persistent
roblem.




HE POLITICS OF IDENTITY
omplications in Pakistan’s political travails have also emaated from
s peculiar preoccupation with national identity. All states have to cull
2t a national identity that distinguishes them from cher states.
ragmatic states can work their way towards a national icentity with
{ative ease because they do not take on, for themselves, nore duties
1an the maintenance of national security, reproduction of the economic
reans to sustain their populations, maintenance of law and order,
\aintenance of basic urwces. and welfare and related lludnary (asb.
n the other hand, ideological states are itted to the reali
fa grand ideal that requires social engineering. If the ideobgical state
rofesses extra-secular objectives, such as ensuring the slvation of
s citizens in the hereafter, as one of its primary objectites, then it
ches on the of individuals in a more comrpreh
ianner. The Objectives Resolution of 7 March 1949 prodaimed the
svereignty of God rather than the Palunam Parliament. That provided
1e ideational basis for the i ion of religicus features
» the constitution. Such features, cumulauvely established the supre-
1acy of Islamic law in the formula that all laws in Pakistas would be
rought in consonance with the Quran and Sunnah. Later, compre-
ensive Islamization during General Zus rule consumnated that
rocess. As a result, the instituti of discrimination through
1¢ legal process against women and religious minorities took place. Aa
nintended consequence of such policies was that the Sunni-Shia
leavage deepened during this period, and relations betweex different
unni sub-sects’ divisions also resulted in tension and conflict.

'ENTRE-PROVINCE RELATIONS

. strong centre, dominated by the military, was a reflection sot only of
1e imbalance between the powerful military and civil burcaucratic
pparatuses of the state and the relative weakness of representative
1stitutions and elected governments, but also an indirect product of
he constant use of executive power to overrule parliamentary practice
rithin the federal systems. It emanated from the dismissal of the Dr
than Sahib ministry in the NWFP, and was followed by similar steps
iter, most notably the declaration of Urdu as the sole national language
f Pakistan—which provoked mass protests by the Bengali majority in
ne former East Pakistan. The grievances of the Baloch, as wellas Sindhi




against the all of agricultural land to the military and
unjabis in Sindh, kept tensions high within the internal domain—
hich, in turn, required the military to always maintain a strong
resence in the centrifugal areas. Military action in East Pakistan
ulminated in the break-up of Pakistan and the establishment of
angladesh. In Balochistan, the centre-province tension has continued
» persist and has, from time to time, reached alarming proportions.
filitary solutions to political issues are, usually, not the wisest way to
ssolve the issues.

"ERRORISM WITHIN PAKISTAN

n the aftermath of the 11 September 2001 terrorist attacks on the
] ited States, ordered by Al-Qaeda, the jihad philosophy has clashed
irectly with the interests of that very same superpower which, along
rith Saudi Arabia, had sponsored it{General Musharraf’s decision to
sin the war on terror exposed Pakistan to terrorism that has been
rerpetrated by the TTP and its affiliates. The havoc wreaked has not
iven quarter to anyone/lt is widely believed that such acts of terrorism
iave taken place with the help of rogue glements—however few—within
he military and intelligence services. At least 35,000 Pakistanis have
ost their lives, and even more badly wounded, because of the violence-
rrone political culture that pervades PakislanjAmung these are military
ind ISI functionaries, as well as Punjab Governor Salman Taseer and
‘ederal Minister for Minority Affairs Shahbaz Bhatti. Fanatical jihadist
jroups and cells seem 1o be present at all levels of state and society.
Jnless it is brought under control and dismantled, home-grown
errorism can set processes of implosion in motion that can, in the long
‘un, pose a veritable existentialist threat to Pakistan.

TERRORISM IN THE EXTERNAL DOMAIN

The catalogue of terrorist crimes, allegedly committed by Pakistan-
»ased groups outside Pakistan, is long. It includes attacks in India
ind the Indian-administered Kashmir by the HuM, JeM, and LeT.
Pakistan-origin US and UK citizens have been involved in several
‘errorist attempts. In one atrocity at least—the carnage in Mumbai on
26 November 2008—enough evidence has been provided to implicate
LeT operatives.



The United States has many grievances about Afghan aliban and
Al-Qaeda operatives hiding in Pakistan and carrying out terorist acts
against their troops in Afghanistan. The Haqqani group, exsconced in
North Waziristan, has repeatedly been named; as have th: names of
Mullah Omar and other Afghan Taliban featured in the Anerican list
of individuals they want arrested or eliminated.

The Americans, of course, bear a great responsibility for sponsoring
extremism among Islamic warriors. Without losing a single soldier of
their own, they were able to drive the Russians out of Afghmistan and,
thus, precipitate the collapse of communism in eastern Europe. But, in
doing so, they left behind a political legacy soaked in blood and armed
with vile ideas about killing and destroying anyone consider:d to be an
enemy of Islam. This legacy exposes the poverty of the Realsm School
of ional Relations in proffering a formula of peace axd stability,
except one which is precariously maintained through weapors, weapons
of mass destruction, and unscrupulous military alliances. It is up to
moral philosophers and historians to assess what harm the United States
did to the world by harnessing the fierce energy of fanaticil Islam to
maintain its status as the champion of the liberal-capitalist word during
the Cold War. That its long shadows continue to haunt the vorld need
not be overemphasized.

THE POST-COLONIAL GARRISON STATE

Tan Tai Yong has argued that a major portion of the colonial Indian
Avmy was inherited by Pakistan. Stephen Cohen has asserted that
recruitment of the Pakistan Army continued to be largely fron the same
narrow regional base representing some 9 per cent of the total
population of Pakistan. More recently, Shuja Nawaz has asserted that
the recruitment base has broadened, though only just; the officer corps
continues, largely, to be from the traditional recruiting districts;
moreover, the ‘Zia-bharti, or Zia recruits, hail from the coaservative
areas of central Punjab and from the radicalized southern Punjab, He
suspects that such an army, especially the officer class, woyld be prone
to an esprit de corps laced with Islamist jihadist values. such a
military has acquired a significant stake in the Pakistani economy has
been demonstrated by Ayesha Siddiga, Moreover, Pakistas faltered
badly by not taking advantage of the economy of growth that US aid
and the World Bank provided in the 1960s. Instead, its leaden frittered
away that head start by the 1965 misadventure in Kashmir tha resulted




n war with India. Since then, Pakistan’s economy has done well from
ime to time but i ption, and mi g have taken
big toll on it. As a result, educated young men continue to seek career
'pportunities in the armed forces. Consequently, social, ideological, and
conomic factors converge to render the Pakistan military a coveted
nstitution. Harold Lasswell has emphasized that the specialists on
‘iolence would constitute the core element in a garrison state, and the
*akistani version of it clearly bears those hallmarks.

Lasswell’s main argument, however, was that the garrison state grows
inl\ara_perpelual fear of forcign aggression—a fear the specialists on
Tolence invoke to éstablish theif political and Tdeological hold over
Tate and society. That has been demonstrated abundantly in this
fiquiry. He also feared that the development of a militaristic culture
d esprit_de corps inevitably claims democracy as its main casualty.
)eﬁwcracmen f it is retained, is reduced to a ritual. Instead, a culture
of fear grows which is manipulated to grow out of proportion; in the
rocess, a docile citizenry comes into being, always looking up towards
he specialists on violence for their security and existence. With regard
o Pakistan, that has indeed been very true.

However, a modifying thesis with regard to the issue of democracy
n PaKistan has been advanced in this study. It has been argued that the
srospects for democracy in Pakistan were never strong from the onset.
The lack of comp politicians and of a g mass political
rarty, compounded by the death of Jinnah and the assassination of
daquat Ali Khan, created conditions that were not conducive to
lemocracy. The powerful landowning class of West Pakistan and the
Nest Pakistan-based national bourgeoisie needed the state to establish
tself and grow. This furnished the social base for Alavi's ‘overdeveloped
tate’ Additionally, and perhaps more importantly, an ambiguity existed
rom the beginning about the purpose for which Pakistan had been
reated. As the special state created for the Muslim nation of the
ubcontinent, the relationship between Islam and the state could not
emain ambiguous once the state came into being. Jinnah's heroic effort
o delink that relationship in his oft-quoted 11 August 1947 speech did
10t convince even his closest associates. On 7 March 1949, the
Dbjectives Resolution established the format for defining the
elationship between Islam, the state, and its citizens. That it
srogressively incorporated Islamist features was not inevitable, but it
vas very likely because of all the negative factors, mentioned above, that
:onverged against democracy.




An authoritarian type of state emerged at a very early stage. Pwerful
civil servants, such as Ghulam Mohammad and Iskander Mirza,
demeaned the role of the prime mnmster while another civil ervant,
Chaudhri Muh d Ali, f 1! itution that decribed
Pakistan as an Islamic republic premlsed on the supremacy of he will
of God Thc mllllary coup of 1958 completed the proess of

has been modernistic unde Ayub

Khan, fundamentalist under Zia, and ‘moderate’ under Musnarraf.

Democracy under Zulfikar Ali Bhutto was compromised by his prsonal

dictatorship and high-handed politics. In the later years, the balince of

power tilted inconvertibly in favour of the military vis-a-iis the
civilians.

The fear of foreign aggression) as the leitmotif of the garriso state
idea, received equally strongly support from the politicians aid the
military establishment. It was Jinnah who invited the Americansto use
Pakistan as a frontline state against communism. Ayub Khan augnented
such a strategy with additional arguments and relentless lobbyin of US
administrations. Therefore, the fear of external aggression—ral and
contrived—existed from the outset because of the perceived threa from
India, compounded by bad relations with Afghanistan. Givn the
exigencies of the Cold War, and the lack of order and a conconitant
unified chain of command in the international system, the aarchy
which existed was exploited by the Pakistani power elite to solicit
American patronage. The arms that were acquired generated \ false
sense of superiority in Pakistan, and led to a number of nilitary
misadventures. Max Weber’s observation that the warrior class nnd its
ethics came to characterize the structure of power in early Nuslim
societies added historical authenticity to the culture of miliarism,
which reached apogee during Zia's rule.

»( Participation in the so-called Afghan jihad greatly enhancd the
power and prestige of the military and ISI in Pakistani politics vhich,
in turn, helped the Pakistani garrison state, acquire pronounced fatures
of the national security state that Nelson-Pallmeyer deplores) Pkistan
acquired nuclear weapons which the Pakistan military’ made its
exclusive preserve. Chinese and Saudi patronage furnished addtional
resources to overcome the problems of underdevelopment, hck of
industrial infrastructure, and meagre indigenous economic reswrces.
All such developments greatly strengthened the military and helped the
top commanders exercise virtually de facto veto powers in Palistani
politics. Thus, the impediments posed by the absence of an adanced
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idustrial infrastructure were surmoumcd by a peculnr mixture of
liance building, realpolitik, and i ion to bring
>out and perpetuate the post-colonial gamson state model symbolized

v the notion of a ‘fortress of Islam.

OME FUTURISTIC REFLECTIONS

1 light of the above discussion, we can now make some projections
>out future developments that can be relevant for Pakistan.

Threat from India

he perceived threat from India cannot be wished away. It is a constant.
s long as mutual trust is found to be wanting, India's military
aperiority will always pose a threat that the Pakistan military will have
> be prepared to meet with some credible deterrentJOn the other hand,

is doubtful if the search for ‘strategic depth’ is the right response to

Any so-called strategic depth cannot alter the fact that Lahore and
ther major towns and cities in Punjab will always be where they are:
1 close proximity to the Indian border. One must discard any hope of
ranscending such negative objective geographical reality. An expansion
1to India through conquest is out of the question, as is a military

of the Indi dmi d Kashmir. Also, wild ambitions
> expand into central Asia, through some arrangement with Afghani-
tan, must be discounted.

Pakistan has the capability to deter India from any misadventure
gainst it. The nuclear bomb and missile technology cannot assure us
ictory over India, but most certainly mutually assured destruction. }
{owever, having a strong and powerful neighbour does not in itself
onstitute a threat. Canada has an overwhelmingly powerful United
tates next to it; so do the smaller nations of Europe, such as Ireland,
lelgium, and the Netherlands. Britain and France are nuclear weapon
tates with the narrow English Channel separating them. They have
long history of wars between them. Yet, now, they are the closest of
llies and much more. If Pakistan and India sort out their differences
ind resolve their disputes by abandoning the zero-sum attitudes that
ievail inthe corridors of power on both sides, the danger posed by
heir nuclear weapons can diminish. )

There is no denying that, even if India did not the initiate armed
‘onflicts with Pakistan, the military exercises close to the Pakistan
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border, |ts npid armament policy after the 1962 war with Chaa, and
the testing of a nuclear weapon in 1974 constantly produced tnsions
and accentuated Pakistan's sense of vulnerability. That such actias were
motivated by the perception of a Chinese threat to India does ot help
remove Pakistani concerns about Indian intentions and desigs. The

[ :','mililary intervention of 1971 led to the break-up of Pakistan,nd the
-+

self-fulfilling prophecy shared by Pakistan’s power elite was corirmed.
The trauma it caused left deep scars in the Pakistani nationalosyche,
notwithstanding the fact that the crisis in East Pakistan was tk result
of the failure of Pakistani politicians and the military to agreeon t on the
rules of democracy and the right to form the government. /

On the other hand, it is true that the Pakistani power elite huhnved
on the threat-from-India dp It is i
Pakistan received its first cache of US weapons m 1951 when,
theoretically, it was at its weakest in relation to India, the latterfid not
take advantage of the situation and invade Pakistan. Equally,it least
since 2009 when the Pakistan Army started its operations in Sat and
South Waziristan, there has been a thinning of troops on the :astern
border—notwithstanding denials by the Foreign Oﬂictﬁl:l housnds of
troops are now stationed in FATA, Swat, and other sensitive ares along
the border with Afghanistan—again, India does not seem to hav taken
advantage of this| T&Bfm’e the whole notion of the Indian threz needs
1o be put into perspective. The duuncnon between a threat and ahreat-

reeption is significant in terms o making sense of perceivedindian
g’:ﬁg{?_ﬁ\?arpe can casily lend itself to exaggertion—
résulting in the mifjtary claiming an unreasonably large porion of
national resources.

Eisenhower warned about the US military-industrial canplex
acquiring too much power and influence; in Pakistan, that poer and
influence is not a matter for suspicion. In practical terms, howeer, it is
a huge drain on development; development that Pakistan ugently
needs. Not only does it cause an appalling neglect of basic neds and
rights such as food, education, and health, but also a huge derth of
electricity and other sources of energy that have led to frustratsn and
despair among the middle and lower-middle classes.

The Pakistani and Indian establishments have lacked the visin and
courage to take the steps that would reduce tensions in a subtantive
way. The bus service between Amritsar and Lahore, and Srinagr and
Muzaffargarh, are good and useful steps but more good will and ourage
is needed to transcend the acrimony of the past 65 years, Bot sides
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and to gain a lot, in ter s of men and material, by resolving the
iachen Glacier imbroglio. It is, at present, probably the most wasteful
snfrontation between any two states./

Current and future realities of South Asia call for a concept of
:curity that is not narrowly defined in terms of national security.
egional security and human security need to be added to it. Environ-
1ental degradation, which now plagues the whole world, particularly
ortends dire consequences for South Asia. Unless Pakistan and India,
nd other states in this region, learn to cooperate to solve the water
roblem, population explosion, and many other egregious challenges
1at industrialization and economic growth have created, South Asia
1ay face great devastation and destruction.

Thereis alot ofgoodwnll on both sides. The only thing needed is the
ourage and conviction to accept good neighbourly relations as the best
emedy to all the ills that afflict their relationship. The Kashmir dispute
i ot the malady; it is the symptom of a confrontation that effectively
[aims, and wastes, scarce resources for military competition. It can also
ymbolize hope and optiriism. After all, the most durable example of
m and mutual accommodation is the Indus Waters Treaty that
ontinues to define the sharing of water between India and Pakistan/In
ecent years, it has resulted in a number of disputes but both sides have
visely submitted to international arbitration and accepted its ruling.
*he Kashmir dispute is, in essence, g hydro-political problemJThere is
10 way of resolving it; it is a case of maintaining the status quo while
naking adjustments and concessions that bring benefit to both Pakistan
nd India.

( One can argue that the current spirit of reconciliation in India-
»akistan relations can help provide the threshold to cross over from a
‘ero-sum games situation to a win-win formula. The Line of Control
an become the international Border, but one that would be rendered
tierely symbolic if it is porous and Kashmiris on both sides— Hindus,
Vuslims, Buddhists, Sikhs, and others—are able to cnjoy substantive
wtonomy and freedom. The global economy is rendering the notion of
nternational borders as impassable barriers, for the movement of
joods, capital, and even people, as an anachronism.(The SAARC
‘ramework exists to facilitate mutually beneficial trade that can generate *
wealth and prosperity, and now is the time to take that opportunity
seriously. Since the 2004 Islamabad SAARC Summit, India-Pakistan
-elations have been moving in the direction of a constructive engage-
ment—notwithstanding the Mumbai terrorist attack of 26 November
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37 2008. There is absolutely no doubt that the people of South sia are
hardworking, industrious, enterprising, and with enough ailtural
variation and wisdom, bequeathed by history, to be able to etablish
( good neighbourly relations)and cultivate ties of friendshp and
solidarity. The Pakistani and Indian leadership must show cowage to
make a determined and decisive break with the past in the inteests of
their people. If India and Pakistan can establish a trade regine that
ensures mutual benefit, the dividends can be Bargladsh and
India have recently agreed to establish joint industrial venture:, most
notably in the jute industry. Similar enterprises can be estalished
between India and Pakistan, ensuring a fair share to Pakislan./ ’

2. Afghanistan
L} ( The most dramatic change that is going to take place immineitly in
South Asia is the withdrawal of US and NATO forces from Afghaistan.
The withdrawal will be completed by the end of 2014—at east, that is
the declared policy of President Obama. However, it is doubiful whether
the Americans will abandon this region in the way they abruptlydid in
1989. This time round, they will try to ensure that they erjoy eiough
clout in Kabul to ensure that the Taliban do not return to power How-
ever, such planning cannot guarantee success, and the post-US-VATO, ;-
situation in Afghanistan remains highly ambiguous and volitile. } case
a pro-Western government in Kabul collapses, civil war could brak out
again—in which case, both Pakistan and India would be drawn itto the
conflict. But, if they abandon the zero-sum strategies that have htherto
marked their behaviour in Afghanistan, they can play a constuctive
role in helping the Afghans establish a moderate government.
In such a situation, Pakistan can legitimately demard thit the
urand Line be recognized as the international border beween
Afghanistan and Pakistan. It could be a basis for negotiations baween
Pakistan and Afghanistan—to remove territorial ambiguitie: with
regard to the formal demarcation of their borders. In this regad, the
United States, along with India, can play a very important nle in
convincing the Afghans that converting the Durand Line into he de
jure international border would not, in any practical way, jeopardee the
existing arrangements which permit easy movement of the nativetribes
on both sides. Rather, Afghanistan would gain the most—as a reuit of
expanding trade between south and central Asia/This would be pissible
if the borders could become mere symbols of state authoritv whie the



eople on both sides of these borders could make use of their historical
ffinities—derived from their ethnicity and shared culture. In other
'ords, normalization and peace in the so-called AfPak region will be
etermined, to a large extent, by normalization and peace between
akistan and India.

. Dependence on External Patrons

Jthough the final word on Pakistan’s dependence is yet to be spoken,
n the whole, patronage from the United States, China, and Saudi
.rabia cannot be taken for granted. One can even argue that it is not
esirable. After the fall of the Soviet Union, Pakistan's frontline status
as become redundant and the current relationship is brittle and
recarious and not likely to last longer than the United States needs to
se Pakistan to destroy whatever threat Al-Qaeda and its affiliates pose
> its security. Current American backing is conditional and limited,
nd it involves penalties as well. Moreover, the United States, and the
Vest in general, are always going to be concerned about Pakistan's
uclear assets. A Taliban-type takeover, or some mad generals declaring
n intention to use nuclear weapons, will almost certainly be met with
letermined pre-emptive action from the West. It is important that
‘akistan curbs extremism and terrorism at home and abides by the
iorms and standards of international law to dispel, or at least keep at
«ay, real or contrived conspiracies by the enemies of Islam and Pakistan.
In the other hand, it will be in Pakistan's interest to maintain good and
riendly relations with the United States. US economic and cducational
ooperation will still be needed to modernize and develop as a
rrogressive South Asian nation.

The Chinese connection will continue to thrive provided we curb
slamism, and as long as the containment of India remains a paramount
oncern of Chinese defence and foreign policy. On the other hand, if
hina and India improve their relations, it need not mean that Pakistan
vill lose Chinese favour. On the contrary, Pakistan can serve as a bridge
setween them. China will probably always back Pakistan to keep a
1andle on India, but is not likely to back Pakistani military mis-
idventures in Kashmir or elsewhere.

The Saudi influence has been very pervasive |deolog|cally. and has
ncluded an i lucrative in Saudi
Arabia and other Arab emirates in the Persian Gulf On the whole, such
1 connection has seriously harmed the modicum of democratic




modernity that existed in Pakistan, and that connection vill continue
to impact in the future. The Arab Spring of 2011 has kinded hopes of
a democratic development in the Muslim world but, aslong as the
rentier states of Iran and Saudi Arabia can leverage ther enormous
wealth and claims to self-styled sectarian leadership of he Muslim
world, the struggle for democracy will always face the theat of sub-
version through their client terrorist militias and an inflow f extremist
propaganda.

¥ 4. The Role of the Military

( The direction Pakistan takes in the coming months anc years will
depend on the role the military plays. It remains the mat powerful
institution in the country and, for any break with the past to naterialize,
it must begin with serious introspection and self-criticism. Chere is no
doubt that, in traditional terms, security means national scurity and
state security; that role can, and must, only be played by he military.
As argued earlier, the problem is not that democracy has beei subverted
in Pakistan because of military coups. The political clas has been
seriously wanting in its commitment to democracy/-tht, in con-
temporary terms, means the prerogative of elected civiliais to make
important decisions on behalf of the nation that cinform to

¥ ds of di y: which means not oily majority
rules and minority rights, but also inalienable humar rights of
individuals, equality between the sexes, and non-disciminatory,
inclusive citizenship. That has not been the basis on which «ep formal ..
democracy has been practised by the politicians in Pakistn.(Equally,
the military’s notion of democracy has meant a strong excutive with
quasi-dictatorial powers vested in the general turned presient. Under
the circumstances, a thorough discussion on demoracy, de-
radicalization, and the rule of law needs to be conducted, anc the search
for a constitutional formula that is practical, enlightned, and
compatible with the rule of law and international law mus be found
and instituted.

L The most egregious problems that Pakistan faces ar rampant

i corrupuon. an economy that is in very bad shape, and masive social
skl 4y
and lities that sprawl throughout the contry. The
"rulmg class, especully the landowners, do not pay taxes. Moreover,
) defence expenditure rcmams too h|gh for a poor nation to bar without

g its p Poverty aflicts large
J > 9 .y
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sections of Pakistani society. In such circumstances, it is not surprising
that poor youths are lured by jihadist organizations. Most of the suicide
bombers come from the most impoverished sections of society. It is not
surprising that most of them have hailed from the tribal areas of

Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa; southern Punjab is also a recruiting ground for i

terrorist organi tion istan will have to give priority to economic
and social development if it is ever to extricate itself successfully from
the quagmire in which it has been gradually been sinking for at least
the last 30 years.

CoNncLusioN

This study demonstrates that Pakistans travails as a post-colonial
garrison state, and its more colourful representation as the ‘fortress of
Islam have been the product of highly complicated historical, geo-
graphical, political, ideological, and military-security factors. Such
factors impinged upon Pakistan's political evolution as a Muslim-
majority state in the context of the Cold War, the anarchic international
polmcal system, (the tension-ridden South Asian regwn"and the
lly chequered domestic freplete with ideological excesses.
Under the circumstances, the state that Pakistan managed to build
acquired the attributes of the garrison state that Harold Lasswell had
propounded in the early 1940s. However, instead of such a gamson
coming into being as a result of a combination of an ad d
development that provided the scope for control over large-scale
production and control over the economy but facing existentialist
threats from an external enemy, the Paknslam power eln(e. comprising
both polnumns and the military, dt bl
of d P through ali with powerful and resourceful
foreign donors willing to provide it with armament and training to
create a Iargc class of specialists on violence. Thus, the obstacles that
d imposed were and
Pakistan could evolve as a garrison stare So, Paluslan became a post-
colonial garrison state, with its hawkish leaders and supporters
romanticizing it as the ‘fortress of Islam’

However—and even when the Pakistani power elite made good use
of the contradictions and room for manoeuvre in the international
system of big and small, and powerful and weak states to graduate from
a poorly endowed polity to a middle-range power armed with nuclear
weapons—its vulnerability to pressure from its powerful donors

e
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compromised its sovereignty in very many different ways. There is no
doubt that the movement towards an Islamic state was largely internal-
driven, but foreign economic and military aid played a very significant
, role in its growth and consolidation. Consequently, abject poverty and
o -Ihtemy continued to afflict large sections of its population.
’ The state seems to have lost control in the internal domain as fanatics
luve been able to hit targets almost at ‘will. Pakistan's reputation as the
! epicentre of global terrorist an state i there to stay for quite
some time. Another major terr outside Pakistan can create
ac ﬁg«m situation Tor the sécurity and ¢
thefefore, imperative that the stakeholders
won—espeaaﬂy the mulxt:ry—work out a long-t
strategy ﬂiﬂ Can create mty ar,c. B;E:L:_'x
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